





Research Report 2009-2011

Télécom ParisTech / LTCI



février 2012



Research Report 2009–2011

Laboratoire Traitement et Communication de l'Information Institut Télécom - Télécom ParisTech & CNRS

February 2012

Contents

1	Gen	neral Su		Ś
	1.1	Organ		ξ
		1.1.1		ξ
		1.1.2	Télécom ParisTech and LTCI (Laboratory for Communication and Process-	
			ing of Information)	(
		1.1.3	Télécom ParisTech and ParisTech	(
		1.1.4	Organization at LTCI	1
		1.1.5	Personnel in the Service of Research	1
	1.2		rch at a glance	2
		1.2.1	Positioning of Telecom ParisTech research	
		1.2.2	Major orientations in the period	
		1.2.3	Highlights of research at Telecom ParisTech over the period	
		1.2.4	International Research program	
		1.2.5	Scientific production	
		1.2.6	Participation to <i>Investissements d'Avenir</i>	
		1.2.0	Tarticipation to investissements a Avenii	•
	•		teetten en de Fleetnertee	_
I	Col	mmun	ications and Electronics 2	1
2	Digi		nmunications 2	Ę
	2.1	Object	ives	!6
	2.2	Main F	Results	7
		2.2.1	Wireless Network Optimization	.7
		2.2.2	Coding for single-user communication	3
		2.2.3	Optical communications	(
		2.2.4	Security issues	(
		2.2.5	Tools for Information Theory and Statistics	;1
	2.3	Refere	nces	2
		2.3.1	ACL: Articles in ISI-Indexed Journals	2
		2.3.2	ACTI: Articles in Proceedings of International Conferences	33
		2.3.3	OS: Books and Book Chapters	16
		2.3.4	AP: Other productions	; 7
		2.3.5	APTH: Phd thesis	
3	Con	nnley D	igital Electronic Systems	ı C
•	3.1		ives	
	3.2		Results	
	0.2	3.2.1	Design Space Exploration and Assisted Refinement of Integrated Systems 4	
		3.2.2	Trusted Computing Hardware	
		3.2.3	Analysis and Design of Reliable Processors Based on Unreliable Technolo-	- 2
		0.2.0	gies	,
		3.2.4	Optimal architectures for complex algorithms implementations	
		5.2.4	Optimal alonitectures for complex algorithms implementations	_

	3.3	References43.3.1 ACL: Articles in ISI-Indexed Journals43.3.2 ACTI: Articles in Proceedings of International Conferences43.3.3 OS: Books and Book Chapters53.3.4 AP: Other productions53.3.5 APTH: Phd thesis5	.5 6 1
4		etronics and RF systems (ELECRF) 5	
	4.1	Objectives	
	4.2	Main Results	
		4.2.2 Nanoelectronics architectures and circuits	
		4.2.3 RF metrology	
		4.2.4 Wireless communication systems technology	
		4.2.5 Antennas and radio channel modelling	8
	4.3	References	
		4.3.1 ACL: Articles in ISI-Indexed Journals	
		4.3.2 ACTI: Articles in Proceedings of International Conferences 6	
	4.4	References	
		4.4.1 OS: Books and Book Chapters	
		4.4.2 DO: Journal or Proceedings Edition	
		4.4.4 APTH: Phd Thesis	
5	Opti	ical Telecommunications (GTO) 6	7
	5.1	Objectives	
	5.2	Main Results	9
		networks	
		5.2.2 Optical network evolutions	
	- 0	5.2.3 Quantum Optics and application in Communications and Cryptography 7	
	5.3	References	
		5.3.1 ACL: Articles in ISI-Indexed Journals	
		5.3.3 OS: Books and Book Chapters	
		5.3.4 AP: Other productions	
		5.3.5 APTH: Phd thesis	
II	Ne	tworks and Computer Science 8	5
6		raction, Cognition and Complexity (IC2)	
	6.1	Objectives	
	6.2	Main Results	
		6.2.1 Databases and the World Wide Web (DBWeb)	
		6.2.2 Advanced Interaction and Visualization (VIA)	
		6.2.4 Complex Systems and Protocols (CSP)	
	6.3	References	
	0.0	6.3.1 ACL: Articles in ISI-Indexed Journals	
		6.3.2 ACTIP: Articles in Proceedings of Major International Conferences 9	
		6.3.3 ACLN: Articles in Other Refereed Journals) 1
		6.3.4 INV: Invited Talks)1

		6.3.5	ACTI: Articles in Proceedings of other International Conferences	
		6.3.6	ACTN: Articles in Proceedings of French Conferences	
		6.3.7	COM: Talks in Conferences Which Do Not Publish Proceedings	
		6.3.8	OS: Books and Book Chapters	
		6.3.9	MS: Miscellaneous	105
7	Matl	hs of S	TIC, MIC 2	107
	7.1	Object	ives	108
	7.2	Main F	Results	108
		7.2.1	Probability, Stochastic Modeling	108
		7.2.2	Discrete Mathematics, Communication, Information	109
		7.2.3	Algebraic Geometry, Number Theory and Cryptography	109
	7.3	Refere	nces	112
		7.3.1	ACL: Articles in ISI-Indexed Journals	112
		7.3.2	ACTI: Selected Articles in Proceedings of International Conferences	114
		7.3.3	OS: Books and Book Chapters	114
		7.3.4	THE: Doctoral Theses	115
8	Netv	vork ar	nd Information Security	117
•	8.1		ives	
	8.2	,	Results	
	V	8.2.1	Security of Internetworking and Its Typical Applications	
		8.2.2	Internet of Things, M2M and Identity Management with Trustworthy Devices	
		8.2.3	Infrastructureless, Wireless and Autonomous Networking	
		8.2.4	Quantum Information	
		8.2.5	Resilience, quantitative security and trust in open and critical infrastructures	
		8.2.6	International Cooperation on Security Research	
	8.3	Refere	ences	
		8.3.1	ACL: Journal Papers	130
		8.3.2	ACTI: Articles in Proceedings of International Conferences	
		8.3.3	OS: Books and Book Chapters	
		8.3.4	PA: Patents	136
		8.3.5	TH: PhD Theses	137
		8.3.6	OT : Miscellaneous	137
^	Note	uo elco	Mahilitu 9 Caminaa (NRAC)	120
9	9.1		Mobility & Services (NMS) ives	139 139
	9.1	•	Results	
	9.2	9.2.1	Cloud and Services Architecture, Applications Services	141
		9.2.1	Wireless Networks and Mobility	
		9.2.2	Future Internet, Internet of Things	144
		9.2.4	Core Networks	144
		•		-
	9.3	9.2.5 Refere	Green Networking	148
	ყ.ა	9.3.1		
				148
		9.3.2	3	150
		9.3.3	OS: Books and Book Chapters	
		9.3.4	AP: Other Productions: Reports, Registred Software, Registred Patent,	155

10	Software, Systems and Services (S3)	157
	10.1 Objectives	158
	10.2 Main Results	160
	10.2.1 General Achievments and results	160
	10.2.2 Model driven development for High-Integrity Real-Time Embedded Sys-	
	tems with realistic resource consumption modeling	160
	10.2.3 Model Driven Engineering with reusable components for the design of pre-	
	dictable middleware in safe and secure real-time systems	161
	10.2.4 Advanced scheduling approaches for new hardware and software architec-	160
	tures in real-time embedded systems	
	10.2.5 Architectures and Frameworks for Autonomic Systems	
	10.2.6 Middleware and distributed algorithms for ad-hoc network based systems . 10.2.7 Architecting convergent and orchestrated services	
	10.3 References	
	10.3.1 ACL: Articles in ISI-Indexed Journals	
	10.3.2 ACTIP: Articles in Proceedings of Major International Conferences	
	10.3.3 ACLN: Articles in Other Refereed Journals	
	10.3.4 INV: Invited Talks	
	10.3.5 ACTI: Articles in Proceedings of other International Conferences	
	10.3.6 ACTN: Articles in Proceedings of French Conferences	
	10.3.7 COM: Talks in Conferences Which Do Not Publish Proceedings	
	10.3.8 OS: Books and Book Chapters	
Ш	Economics and Social Sciences	169
	Ossial & Essential Ostanova	470
11	Social & Economic Sciences	1 73
11	11.1 regulation & Innovation	173
11	11.1 regulation & Innovation	173 174
11	11.1 regulation & Innovation	173 174 175
11	11.1 regulation & Innovation	173 174 175 177
11	11.1 regulation & Innovation	173 174 175 177 178
11	11.1 regulation & Innovation	173 174 175 177 178 179
11	11.1 regulation & Innovation	173 174 175 177 178 179 180
11	11.1 regulation & Innovation	173 174 175 177 178 179 180 180
11	11.1 regulation & Innovation	173 174 175 177 178 179 180 180
11	11.1 regulation & Innovation	173 174 175 177 178 179 180 180 181
11	11.1 regulation & Innovation	173 174 175 177 178 179 180 181 181
11	11.1 regulation & Innovation	173 174 175 177 178 179 180 181 181 181
11	11.1 regulation & Innovation	173 174 175 177 178 179 180 181 181 181 181
11	11.1 regulation & Innovation	173 174 175 177 178 179 180 181 181 181 181
11	11.1 regulation & Innovation 11.1.1 Context and objectives 11.1.2 Sub-theme 1: Innovation in Regulated Industries 11.1.3 Sub-theme 2: Regulation in innovative industries 11.2 Cultural Industries 11.2.1 Objectives 11.2.2 Open Innovation and "economy of contribution" 11.2.3 Autoproduction, autopromotion and the professionnalization of amateurs 11.2.4 Transformation of practices, new formats and new esthetics 11.2.5 Parallel distribution by consumers 11.2.6 New forms of recommendation 11.2.7 New business models 11.2.8 Elements of visibility 11.3 Interaction 11.3.1 Objectives	173 174 175 177 178 179 180 181 181 181 181 183 183
11	11.1 regulation & Innovation	173 174 175 177 178 179 180 181 181 181 181 183 183
11	11.1 regulation & Innovation 11.1.1 Context and objectives 11.1.2 Sub-theme 1: Innovation in Regulated Industries 11.1.3 Sub-theme 2: Regulation in innovative industries 11.2 Cultural Industries 11.2.1 Objectives 11.2.2 Open Innovation and "economy of contribution" 11.2.3 Autoproduction, autopromotion and the professionnalization of amateurs 11.2.4 Transformation of practices, new formats and new esthetics 11.2.5 Parallel distribution by consumers 11.2.6 New forms of recommendation 11.2.7 New business models 11.2.8 Elements of visibility 11.3 Interaction 11.3.1 Objectives	173 174 175 177 178 179 180 181 181 181 182 183 184 184
11	11.1 regulation & Innovation	173 174 175 177 178 179 180 181 181 181 183 184 184 187 188
11	11.1 regulation & Innovation	173 174 175 177 178 179 180 181 181 181 182 183 184 184 184 187
11	11.1 regulation & Innovation	173 174 175 177 178 179 180 181 181 181 182 183 184 184 187 188 188

IV	Signal and Image Processing	201
12	Audio, Acoustics and waves (AAO)	205
	12.1 Objectives	. 206
	12.2 Results	. 206
	12.2.1 Audio and multimedia scenes analysis and indexing	. 206
	12.2.2 Sound capture, separation and rendering	
	12.2.3 Sound sources compression and informed source separation	
	12.2.4 Biomedical signals analysis	
	12.3 References	
	12.3.1 ACLN: Articles in Refereed Journals	
	12.3.2 OS: Books and Book Chapters	
	12.3.3 THE: PhD Theses	
	12.3.4 ACTI: Articles in Proceedings of International Conferences	. 212
13	Multimedia (MM)	217
	13.1 Objectives	218
	13.2 Main Results	
	13.2.1 Robust Compression and Transmission of Visual Data	
	13.2.2 Rich Media, Adaptation and Open Source Software	
	13.2.3 Document Imaging and Interaction	
	13.2.4 Audio-visual Identity/Imposture and Virtual Worlds	
	13.3 References	
	13.4 References	. 225
	13.4.1 ACL: Journal Papers	. 225
	13.4.2 ACTI: Articles in Proceedings of International Conferences	. 227
	13.4.3 BC: Book Chapters	. 233
	13.4.4 BP: Books and Proceedings Edition	. 234
	13.4.5 THE: PhD Theses	
14	Statistics and Applications (STA)	235
	14.1 Objectives	
	14.2 Main results	
	14.2.1 Statistical Learning	
	<u> </u>	
	14.2.2 Blind Source Separation and Identification	
	14.2.3 Sensor Networks	
	14.2.4 Monte Carlo Methods	
	14.2.5 Time Series	
	14.3 References	
	14.3.1 ACL: Articles in ISI-Indexed Journals	
	14.3.2 ACTI: Articles in Proceedings of International Conferences	. 245
	14.3.3 COM: Talks in Conferences Which Do Not Publish Proceedings	. 250
	14.3.4 OS: Books and Book Chapters	. 251
15	Image processing and understanding (TII)	253
IJ	15.1 Objectives	
	15.2 Main results	
	15.2.1 Mathematical methods for images	
	15.2.2 Image understanding and spatial reasoning	
	15.2.3 Learning, indexing and retrieval	
	15.2.4 Computer graphics, digital geometry and rendering	
	15.2.5 Medical imaging	
	15.2.6 Aerial and satellite imaging	
	15.3 References	. 263

15.3.1 ACL: Articles in ISI-Indexed Journals
15.3.2 THE: Theses
15.3.3 HDR: HDR Theses
15.3.4 ACTI: Articles in Proceedings of International Conferences 269
15.3.5 OS: Books and Book Chapters

Chapter 1

General Survey of Research Activities

This report covers the period from June 2009 to December 2011. It takes place in the continuity of the "Research Report 2005-2009" (dated July 2009) issued for the previous AERES evaluation (March 2010) which may be found on our web site¹.

1.1 Organization

1.1.1 Télécom ParisTech and Institut Télécom

Télécom ParisTech is a member of Institut Télécom², which also includes Télécom Bretagne, Télécom SudParis and Télécom Ecole de Management. Institut Télécom animates, federates and coordinates its research activities in the separate schools.

Coordination is made by means of a "Comité Directeur de la Recherche", with two Sections, one devoted to Research, the other to Innovation. Coordination also takes the form of joint representations: for instance a unique Institut Carnot (*Télécom & Société numérique* ³) covers the partenarial research of all the four schools (along with several external partners). In a same way, Institut Télécom is representing all the schools in the KIC ICT Lab ⁴.

Scientific animation at the Institute level is made by use of transversal communities of research (called RT as *Réseaux Thématiques*) which cover the main research domains of the schools. The 9 domains active in 2012 are:

- RT1: Communication & Information Physics & Technology
- · RT2: Networking architecture
- · RT3: Networking services
- RT4: Contents, Knowledge & Interaction
- · RT5: Network & information System Security
- · RT6: Digital Health
- RT7: Information Technologies & Environment

¹ http://www.ltci.telecom-paristech.fr/overview/article/rapports-d-activite-depuis-2002?lang=fr

²On March 1st 2012, Institut Telecom was absorbed by the newly created Institut Mines-Telecom.

³http://www.institut-telecom.fr/p_fr_recherche_carnot_1553.html

⁴http://eit.ictlabs.eu/

- RT8: Information Technologies & Society
- RT9: Applied Maths & Theoretical Computer Sciences

1.1.2 Télécom ParisTech and LTCI (Laboratory for Communication and Processing of Information)

All the research activities of Télécom ParisTech are made within a joint laboratory with CNRS called UMR 5141 or LTCI. LTCI is part of INS2I, "Institut des sciences et technologies de l'information et de leurs interactions". It is also associated with INSIS ("Institut des Sciences de l'Ingénierie et des Systèmes") and with INSMI ("Institut des sciences mathématiques et de leurs interactions").

Within Télécom ParisTech, research is basically within the purview of the Director of Research (Henri Maître) and the Director of Innovation and Development (Armand Lévy).

The Direction of Research is in charge of the academic relationships, with universities and research institutes (CNRS, INRIA, INSERM, ...), the evaluation of research, and the animation of research. The Direction of Innovation and Development acts in defense of the IP, in valorizing research results, in weaving partnerships with industries, in fostering innovation and start-ups. Both directions follow the Telecom ParisTech research and Innovation strategy as elaborated by the Direction Committee (CoDir or Comité de Direction) and discussed in the Research Committee (Comité de la Recherche). The Research Committee brings together representatives of the faculties, external experts from the industry and the university, and Télécom ParisTech Direction. The Lab Council (Conseil de Laboratoire) follows up the execution of research on a monthly basis.

Research at Telecom ParisTech is evaluated by AERES⁵. The last evaluation took place on March 2010. Telecom ParisTech received the highest grade: A^+ . The next evaluation will probably take place in 2015.

An important element of the research activity is the Ecole Doctorale (ED 130 Edite 6), where all the Ph'D candidates of Telecom ParisTech are registered. Edite is a joint Ecole Doctorale between Université Pierre et Marie Curie (UPMC) and Télécom ParisTech. In 2011 CNAM (*Conservatoire National des Arts & Métiers*), joined Edite as a third partner. Télécom ParisTech is entitled to deliver its own doctoral diploma. Edite has been evaluated as an A^+ doctoral school in the 2008 evaluation campaign.

1.1.3 Télécom ParisTech and ParisTech

Télécom ParisTech is a founding member of the PRES (*Pôle de Recherche et d'Enseignement Supérieur*) ParisTech⁷, which groups 12 prestigious Grandes Ecoles on 3 sites: Paris Centre, Palaiseau-Saclay and Marne La Vallée. As an institute of science, technology and management, ParisTech covers the whole spectrum of science and technology plus management, and constitutes a unique potential of education and research. The complementary nature of ParisTech's fields of excellence is of major interest for Télécom ParisTech which finds in these companion schools the qualifications which may be absent rue Barrault.

ParisTech is influential on Télécom ParisTech's research through the *Commission Recherche* which elaborates joint programs (as for instance "Sustainable Mobility" or "Robotics"), federates international actions (with TÜM in Munich, NTU in Singapore, Jiao Tong in Shanghaï or the IITs in India) and fosters joint responses to European calls (ULAB project). The *Collège des Directeurs d'Ecole Doctorale* is also an exceptionnal tool to improve the quality of the PhD programs through an intensive exchange of best-practices, sharing doctoral lectures and associating industrial partners to the doctoral education (*Cercle Docteurs et Entreprise*).

⁵Agence d'Evaluation de la Recherche et de l'Enseignement Supérieur

⁶http://edite-de-paris.fr/

⁷http://www.paristech.fr/

1.1.4 Organization at LTCI

Research is carried out within the four departments of Télécom ParisTech. They are in charge of elaborating the strategy for research in their domain of expertise. They decide upon the academic and industrial partnerships, they have the capability to engage their strengths in projects, to recruit non permanent scientific staff, to allocate means to specific operations. The four departments are:

- department of Communications and Electronics (Comelec), headed by Bruno Thédrez (Part: I), with four teams devoted to Digital Communications (ComNum, Chapter 2), Complex Digital Electronics Systems (SENLabsoc, Chapter 3), Electronics & RF Systems (ElecRF, Chapter 4), Optical Telecommunications (GTO, Chapter 5);
- department of Computer Science and Networks (Infres), headed by Gérard Memmi (Part: II), with five teams: Interaction Cognition & Complexity (IC2, Chapter 6), Mathematics of Information & Computation (MIC², Chapter 7), Network & Information Security (SR, Chapter 8), Networks, Mobility & Services (RMS, Chapter 9), Software, Systems & Services (S3, Chapter 10);
- department of Economics and Social Sciences (SES), headed up to end of 2011 by Christian Licoppe, then by Laurent Gille (Part: III), with only one team but three main research axes: Regulation & Innovation (RINNO, Chapter 11.1), Mutation of Cultural Industries in a Digital World (MICEN, Chapter 11.2), Interaction, Technology & Activity (INTERACT, Chapter 11.3);
- department of Signal and Image Processing (TSI), headed by Yves Grenier (Part: IV) with four teams: Audio Acoustics & Waves (AAO, Chapter 12), Multimedia (MM, Chapter 13), Statistics & Applications (STA, Chapter 14), Image Processing & Understanding (TII, Chapter 15).

1.1.5 Personnel in the Service of Research

The official status of those contributing to research at Télécom ParisTech can be very varied; permanent employees of Institut Télécom or of the CNRS, teaching staff, researchers or research assistants, engineers. Among non-permanent staff can be found professors on sabbatical or on assignment, post-docs, thesis students, engineers on short-term contracts and trainees (cf. Table 1.1).

Permanent personnel In December 2011, contributing to research were the following permanent members of the staff:

- 142 Teachers ("enseignants-chercheurs" or EC) of the Institut Télécom: 52 Professors, 78 Associate Professors, 6 Directors of Studies, 5 Assistant Directors of Studies, 6 Lecturers.
- 11 Engineers or technicians of the Institut Télécom: permanent members of the staff (Directors of Studies, Assistant Directors of Studies, Lecturers) who have chosen to take part in the research activities of the LTCI within a department by contributing to the development or maintenance of scientific or technical platforms (including equipment and software).
- 30 Permanent researchers from the CNRS (13 Research Directors, 17 Research Fellows), representing various sections of the CNRS' National Committee: 07 (19 researchers), 34 (4), 01 (2), 08 (2), 27 (2), 36 (1).
- 1 Engineer of the CNRS assigned to functions on the computer and networking systems.
- 1 Researcher from INRIA (Research Fellows, assigned to work on research in the social sciences;

• 5 Outside adjunct researchers: these researchers belong neither to the Institut Télécom or the CNRS but nonetheless carry out most of their research with teams working within Télécom ParisTech. They often co-author articles with members of the permanent staff of the Institut Télécom and members of the CNRS working within our institution.

Télécom ParisTech				CNRS (+INRIA)		
Prof + Dir Studies	Ass. Prof + Ass. Dir. S.	lecturers	Engin.	DR	CR	Engin.
55	78	15	11	13	18	1

Table 1.1: Numbers of teachers and researchers as in January 2012

Non permanent personnel: doctoral students The doctoral students constitute an important part of Télécom ParisTech's research potential. The institution currently has 334 registered doctoral students (see Table 1.2). Some are supervised by professors outside Télécom ParisTech in some partner's labs: at Eurecom, at INRIA, at ISEP. Their results are not collected in this report. Among the 257 students which are supervised by a professor of Télécom ParisTech, some spend most of their time outside, often in the research lab of a partner company: Orange, Alcatel-Lucent, Thales, among others. Many of them do their research part time at Télécom ParisTech and part-time outside. Their work will be presented in this report only to the extent that there is a significant connection with the research programs of Télécom ParisTech. The number of PhD students present on site is around 220 as an average.

Télécom ParisTech				ļ	Partner's	lab	
Comelec	Infres	Ses	Tsi	Eurecom	Isep	Inria	Total
69	75	30	84	62	4	10	334

Table 1.2: Doctoral students registered at Telecom ParisTech as in January 2012

Among the 257 doctoral students under our supervision, a relatively small number (53) receive institution funding (see Table 1.2). The other students are often engaged on contracted research projects and grants (110) or are directly financed by our various partners (94). The country of origin distribution of our doctoral students is quite varied: 39 % are French, 14 % come from another European country, 6 % from America, 18 % from Africa and 23 % from Asia.

Non permanent personnel: engineers, post-doc. Assigned to contracted research done by Telecom ParisTech, an average of 60 short term employees are strenghtening our teams as ingineers (25) or post-doctoral fellows (35). Their term varies from 12 to 16 months.

1.2 Research at a glance

1.2.1 Positioning of Telecom ParisTech research

LTCI and Telecom ParisTech have a specific positionning in French research to be fully and only addressing the domain of Sciences and Technologies of Information and Communication

allowances from MESR	12
allowances for students from X or ENS	8
allowances from Foreign countries	24
allowances from Institut Telecom: Futur & Ruptures IT	9
allowances from CEA, INRA, CNRS or CNES	11
finite term contract from Telecom ParisTech	51
doctoral contract from Telecom ParisTech	59
salaried employee under a Cifre convention	70
other salaried employees of a company	12

Table 1.3: Origin of the doctoral students salaries as in January 2012 (MESR = Ministry of Higher Education and Research, Cifre convention = state supported contractual relations between a lab and a company)

(STIC). It shares this property with its two sister schools: Telecom Bretagne and Telecom Sud-Paris. These activities range from the hardware layer (microwaves, antennae, electronics, opto-electronics, SOC, ...), to the econonomic and social issues of new communication technologies. They cover protocol and standardisation aspects as well as mathematical ones (graph theory, optimization, probabilities). They encompass studies on audio, video and images as well as studies on user-centric services, or quantum communication issues.

1.2.2 Major orientations in the period

The period covered by this report has seen several new developments of great importance for our lab. Some are presented below. The oher will be discovered in the core of the report.

Modelling imagination, innovation and creation. An academic Chair of Research and Training has been founded in 2010 for a 5 year period: **Modélisations des imaginaires, innovation et création**. Headed by Pierre Musso, Professor in the SES department, it makes a link between the "Technologies of the Mind" (video games, virtual realities, and 3D artificial worlds) with humanities, social and cultural sciences of imagination and imaginary (see Chapter 11.3.3). With four industrial (PSA Peugeot-Citroën, Ubisoft, Dassault Systems and Orange) as sponsors and two academic partners (Telecom ParisTech and University Rennes 2) and the additional partnership of Bell Labs - Alcatel Lucent and DATAR⁸, the Chair is federating efforts issued from the SES department and the TSI and Infres departments as well, in a multidisciplinary attempt to improve the innovation process in high technologies (see Chapter 11.2).

Development of Signal processing for high rate coherent optical communications. At the cross road of Optical Communications and Theory of Communications, a new scientific project appeared to develop very high rate optical communications, taking benefit of advanced coding theories, smart signal processing algorithms and high speed computation (see Chapter 5). This domain is jointly developed by Yves Jaouën and Ghaya Rekaya Ben Otthman with the help of their colleagues of the ComNum and the GTO teams. Their efforts transpose in the domain of coherent optical processing the technologies which were proven efficient for software radio. They take the best of our experience in the ComElec department.

Development of Affective Computing: interaction and embodied conversational agents. A group, devoted to emotional computing, is born with the venue of Catherine Pelachaud, as a CNRS senior scientist in October 2008 (see Chapter 13.2.4). A first step was to set up the

⁸Délégation à l'Aménagement du Territoire et à l'Attractivité Régionale

platform of the embodied agent GRETA which progressively received emotional behaviors, then social behaviors and is now enriched with interactive capabilities. The software has been rewritten to run independently of the technology and adapted to NAO robots. The Emotional Group team is now made of 4 posdocs, 2 engineers and 6 doctoral students and welcomed 3 senior scientists on sabbatical leave. It has been seminal in 6 European projects and 6 national projects (4 ANR and 2 FUI). As a testbed, GRETA is used by several PhD to experiment new theories on emotional behaviors when performing social links with embodied agents.

Computer Graphics, Digital Geometry and Rendering. A new research group arose with the arrival of Tamy Boubekeur in the TII group in 2009 (see Chapter 15.2.4). Fastly growing with the additional arrival of 3 young research scientists (2 from CNRS and 1 from Telecom ParisTech), this group also hosts 6 doctoral students and welcomes several visiting professors. It now covers a large range of domains as 3D geometric modeling, rendering, perception and vizualization. its scientific production has yet been fully appreciated in the main arenas of the computer graphics community: SIGGRAPH and EUROGRAPHICS for instance. One of its middle term goals is to bridge the gap with the image processing and computer vision fields covered by the other scientists of the TII group.

Information Security and Network Team. The extremely fast development of networking activities has fostered the creation of a Team on Network and Information Security. With security-oriented researchers issued from the various teams of the InfRes department, this team is in charge of research to improve the resilience and the security of modern IT infrastructures both from manageability (operator-centric view) and usability (user-centric) aspects (see Chapter 8).

Identity & Security Alliance. March 31, 2011, Morpho (Safran Group) and Telecom ParisTech (InfRes, Comelec and TSI departments) launched a common research laboratory, the IDentity & Security Alliance to address the technological challenges of identity protection and data security. The laboratory will focus on developing and enabling next-generation identity-based applications while guaranteeing security and privacy. It aims to cover research topics such as biometrics, IT security, cryptography, components security, and identity management systems.

Ingénierie des Systèmes Complexes Chair. Thales, Dassault Aviation, DGA (*Direction Générale de l'Armement*), DCNS, as well as three components of ParisTech, Ecole Polytechnique, ENSTA ParisTech et Telecom ParisTech signed on November 2011 an important extension of the chair *Ingénierie des Systèmes Complexes*. This chair settled in Saclay, is focusing on education and research on architecture, design, and development of systems. It will allow the Infres department to develop research on middleware of complex systems, in particular on ambient or autonomous architectures.

1.2.3 Highlights of research at Telecom ParisTech over the period

Main research events in 2009

- Telecom ParisTech, as part of the Institut Telecom, joins the RTRA (Advanced Research Thematic Network) Digiteo, the only Excellence cluster in information science and technology in France, situated in the Saclay Campus. Digiteo is supported by the Ministry of Higher Education and Research, it hosts 1800 researchers from the main research labs: CNRS, INRIA, Polytechnique, Université Paris Sud-Orsay, ENS Cachan, Supelec, Centrale, CEA-LIST.
- Telecom ParisTech participates in the founding of 2 GIS (*Groupements d'Intérêt Scientifique*) with his academic partners to develop his research:

- 1. **GIS PariStic** with the LIP6 Lab of Université Pierre et Marie Curie, in the domains of Computer Science, Data Management, Networking, etc.
- 2. **GIS eSys** with 7 labs: Telecom ParisTech, SupElec, Universities Paris VI and XI, ESIEE, ISEP and CNRS, in the domain of conception of analog and hybrid circuits (see Chapter 3).
- Aslan Tchamkerten, Associate Professor in the Comelec Department receives an ANR Junior Excellence Chair to develop asynchronous communications (see Chapter 2).
- ENSTA ParisTech and Telecom ParisTech decide to coordinate their research in telecommunications. Research teams of ENSTA ParisTech and Telecom ParisTech working on propagation channels, antennae, and electromagnetic propagation, merged in a single team, in a laboratory based at LTCI, and the anechoic room of ENSTA ParisTech transported into the Telecom ParisTech Lab (see Chapter 4).
- In 2009 finished the important Infom@gic project, one of the flagships of Cap Digital cluster in which almost 20 teams of many academic and private labs from the whole lle-de-France region collaborated on the topic of data management. Telecom Paristech has been an important partner of Infom@gic, involved in speech and image indexing and retrieval, in video analysis and in machine learning (see Chapters 12 and 15).
- a joint laboratory between Telecom ParisTech, Telecom Bretagne and Orange is created devoted to studying the effects of electromagnetic waves on the human body. The WHIST lab (Wave Human Interaction & Telecommunication Lab) is directed by Dr Jo Wiard from Orange and located in Telecom ParisTech (see Chapters 15 and 4).
- The **LINC**, a joint Lab with INRIA, Telecom ParisTech, Université Pierre et Marie Curie and Technicolor is created, to foster the theoretical studies on Futur Networks. LINCS is located in a building shared by the 3 academic partners, but in its own spaces, close to the main buildings of Telecom ParisTech (see Chapter 9).
- ParisTech and Renault Foundation create the **Sustainable Mobility Lab**, of which Telecom ParisTech is a partner, involved in research and education as well (see Chapters 9 and 11.3).

Main research events in 2010

- Eric Moulines, Professor in the TSI department, receives the **CNRS Silver Medal** for his career in signal processing and machine learning (see Chapter 14).
- Nancy Bertin, a PhD from TSI/AAO, receives the SPECIF / Gretsi / GdR Isis Theses Award (see Chapter 12).
- Antony Leverrier, a PhD from INFRES/MIC2, receives one of the ParisTech Theses Awards (see Chapter:8).
- Hichem Sahbi, a CNRS research fellow at LTCI in TSI/TII, and Xi Li, a post-doc, receive the best paper prize from ACV2010 Conference at Queenstown (New Zealand) (see Chapter 15).
- Charles Antoine Deledalle (doctoral student at TSI/TII) supervised by F. Tupin (Prof), L. Denis (Ass. Prof in Lyon) receives the **best student paper award** from the IEEE ICIP 2010 in Hong Kong (see Chapter 15).
- Nicolas Widynski (doctoral student at TSI/TII and UPMC) receives the best paper award from RFIA 2010 Conference in Caen (see Chapter 15).

Main research events in 2011

- Éric Moulines, professor at TSI/STA, receives the **Grand Prix 2011 France Télécom de l'Académie des Sciences** (see Chapter 14).
- Laura Draetta, associate professor at SES department in its Sophia-Antipolis premises, receives the Prix 2011 de la Croissance Verte Numérique for her work on the social acceptability of IT (see Chapter 11.1).
- Julien Cornebise, doctoral student from University Pierre et Marie Curie, co-supervised by Éric Moulines, receives the Savage Award from the International Society for Bayesian Analysis (see Chapter 14).
- Results on modelling foetus and pregnant woman from medical imaging and using computer graphics modelling, within the joint Orange / Institut Telecom WHIST Lab, receive the Eurographics Medical Prize Awards (Honorable Mention of the Dirk Bartz Prize for Visual Computing in Medicine(see Chapter 15).
- Elmar Eisemann, associate professor at TSI department receives the **Eurographics Young Researcher Award** from Eurographics Society (see Chapter 15).
- Quang Hien Chu, doctoral student under the supervision of Jean-Christophe Cousin, associate professor at ComElec department, receives the VTC2011 Best Student Paper Award at the IEEE-VTC2011-Fall Conference in San Francisco (see Chapter 4).
- Houssem Maghrebi (doctoral student), Sylvain Guilley (ass. prof.) and Jean-Luc Danger (prof) from ComElec Department receive the WISTP'11 Best Paper Award at the "WISTP'11 Security & Privacy of Mobile Devices in Wireless Communications" Conference in Heraklion (Greece) (see Chapter 4).

1.2.4 International Research program

Distinguished guest visitors

Telecom ParisTech used to host visiting scientists either to foster new collaborations or to strengthen existing ones. The list is presented in Table 1.4 with the hosting team of the visitor.

Telecom ParisTech Professors abroad

Telecom ParisTech encourages also his staff to spend research periods in foreign universities. In Table 1.5 the sabbatical stays of our professors abroad are presented.

1.2.5 Scientific production

Publications

A survey of the scientific publications in the last four years is presented in Table 1.6. We may notice that these publications are more or less steady, with a trend to decrease for communications in conferences and a trend to grow for peer reviewed journals. The objective to have an average of 1 publication in peer-reviewed journal per permanent researcher is constantly overtaken. An exact situation at the team level is provided in the following chapters. Notice the exceptional figure for PhD theses in 2010, the year were the new governmental recommendations to prevent long-during thesis were put in application. Notice also the constant flux of patents which started up in the early 2000.

Visiting guest	University	Period	Host lab
Murad Taqqu	Boston University, (USA)	5-09	STA
-	-	5-10	-
- N. 6 111	- 	5-11	-
Naofumi Homma	Tohoku University, (Japan)	4-09 : 5-10	SEN
Hong Sun	Wuhan University, (China)	7-09 : 8-09	TII
-	-	5-10 : 6-10	-
-	-	6-11 : 9-11	-
Richard Lepage	ETS Montréal (Canada)	5-09 : 8-09	TII
Rod Watson	University of Manchester (GB)	5-09	INTERACT
-	-	6-10	-
-	-	6-11	-
Marat Burnashev	Academy of Sciences - Moscow (Russia)	3-10	COMNUM
-	-	10-10 : 1-11	-
Carlo Cambini	Politecnico di Torino (Italia)	10-10 :12-10	RINNO
Dirk Heylen	University of Twente (Netherland)	6-10 : 10-10	MM
Charles Crook	University of Nottingham (GB)	3-10 : 6-10	INTERACT
Daniela Tuninetti	University of Illinois (USA)	9-09 : 8-12	COMNUM
Lorenzo Bruzzone	University of Trento (Italia)	6-11	TII
Michael Lindenbaum	Technion - Tel Aviv (Israel)	3-11 : 9-11	TII
Kari Kuuti	University of Limerick (GB)	6-11	MICEN
Christian Heath	Kings College London (GB)	6-11	INTERACT
Candy Sidner	Worcester Polytechnic Institute (GB)	8-11	MM
Mariano Tepper	University of Minnesota	10-11	TII
Janos Korner	La Sapienza - Roma (Italia)	6-11 : 7-11	MIC2
Valerio Pascucci	University of Utah - Salt Lake City (USA)	6-11 :7-11	TII

Table 1.4: Foreign visiting scholars invited in the period July 2009 - Dec 2011

HdR: Habilitations à Diriger des Recherches

This grade is an important step in the career of a French scientist. It allows him/her to officially supervise alone a doctoral student. HdR are granted by the universities after a public defense of the candidate. We present in Table 1.7 the list of the HdR which have been obtained by the Telecom ParisTech faculties in the reference period.

Grants and financial supports

Table 1.8 presents a survey of the research funding for each department as a result of the applications to national grants (ANR or FUI), of European grants (STEP, NOE, ...) or as direct partnerships with companies or agencies. Notice the importance of the growth of these resources.

1.2.6 Participation to *Investissements d'Avenir*

The French government decided in 2009 to open a series of programs to stimulate the emergence of novel structures for research. Based on the model of competitive calls for participations, with international committees, these programs received an exceptional attention all over France.

Telecom ParisTech took part with various partners to the different calls. In February 2012, the following projects of which Telecom ParisTech is member have been laureates:

• Initiatives d'Excellence (IDEX): the Université Paris-Saclay Idex built on a consortium of

Professor	University	Period	from Lab
Jean Louis Dessalles	Tokyo University (Japan)	9-09 : 3-10	IC2
François Roueff	Université de Louvain la Neuve (Belgium)	9-10 : 9-11	STA
Elsa Angelini	CSIRO Health Res. Center Brisbane (Australia)	2-10 : 9-10	TII
Cédric Ware	Columbia University - New York (USA)	10-10 : 9-11	GTO
Nadia Boukhatem	Univ. of California Los Angeles (USA)	1-11 : 7-11	RMS
Jean-Louis Rougier	Univ. of California Los Angeles (USA)	1-11 : 7-11	RMS
Annie Gentès	Oxford University (GB)	1-11 : 6-11	MICEN
-	Stanford University (USA)	6-11 : 12-11	-
Marceau Coupechoux	IIT of Bangalore (India)	9-11 : 9-12	RMS
Eric Bergeault	XLIM CNRS Lab, University of Limoges (France)	9-11 : 9-12	RF
David Bounie	Carneggie-Mellon, Pittsburg (USA)	9-11 : 9-12	RINNO

Table 1.5: Scholars from Telecom ParisTech on sabbatical leave in the period July 2009 - Dec 2011, with their hosting labs.

	2008	2009	2010	2011
peer reviewed journals international peer reviewed conferences	196 423	186 395	207 438	203 416
articles in a collection	19	17	10	9
full proceedings of conferences	5	1	3	2
books	16	14	11	14
chapters of a book	29	45	28	32
patents	17	14	6	6
PhD theses	76	79	111	68

Table 1.6: Scientific production

18 partners⁹ has been accepted as one of the 8 French Idex.

· Laboratoires d'Excellence (LABEX):

- Labex Digiworlds, in Saclay, focused on Computer Sciences and STIC, with 3 domains of specific interest:
 - * Software development, Security and Model checking,
 - * Networking and Information Theory,
 - * Big data, Learning and Visualization.
- Labex LMH, in Saclay, on Mathematics, both theoretical and applied to Biology, Engineering, STICS and Physics
- Labex SMART, in Paris, on advanced Man-Machine Interaction in the society (modelling of human, human between real and virtual worlds, etc.)
- Labex UCN@SOPHIA, in Sophia-Antipolis, on user-centric networking.

• Equipements d'Excellence (EQUIPEX):

 Equipex Digiscope, in Saclay and Paris, on Man-Machine Interaction, Visualization and Interaction for very large data bases, with applications in medical imaging, satellite imagery and the Social Sciences

⁹Université Paris-Sud, Université Versailles Saint-Quentin, Polytechnique, Centrale, Sup-Elec, ENSTA ParisTech, Institut d'Optique Graduate School, Agro-ParisTech, HEC, ENSAE ParisTech, Institut Telecom, ENS Cachan, CEA, CNRS, INRIA, Inserm, Onera, INRA, IHES.

Name	Team	University delivering the grade	Date
Brigitte Munier-Temime	Micen	University Paris V	July 2009
Annie Gentès	Micen	University of Avignon	July 2009
Yann Gousseau	Tii	ENS Cachan	Oct. 2009
Jamal Najim	Sta	University of Marne-la-Vallée	Oct. 2009
Valérie Fernandez	Interact	University Panthéon Assas	Dec. 2009
Thomas Bonald	Rms	University Pierre & Marie Curie	Jan. 2010
Gersende Fort	Sta	University Paris-Dauphine	Feb. 2010
Patricia Desgreys	Sen	University Pierre & Marie Curie	Sept. 2010
Maya Baccache	Rinno	University Paris-Sorbonne	Sept. 2010
Ahmed Serhrouchni	Rms	University Pierre & Marie Curie	Oct. 2010
Roland Badeau	Aao	University Pierre & Marie Curie	Nov. 2010
Jean-Louis Rougier	Rms	University Pierre & Marie Curie	Dec. 2010
Jean-Claude Dufourd	Mm	University Pierre & Marie Curie	Dec. 2010
Dario Rossi	Rms	University Pierre & Marie Curie	Dec. 2010
Elsa Angelini	Tii	University of Nice Sophia-Antipolis	Jan. 2011
Hichem Sahbi	Tii	University Pierre & Marie Curie	June 2011
Aslan Tchamkerten	Comnum	University of Marne-la-Vallée	July 2011
Sylvain Guilley	Sen	University Paris Diderot	July 2011
David Bounie	Rinno	University of Strasbourg	Sept. 2011
Julie Delon	Tii	ENS Cachan	Oct. 2011
Pascal Blanchi	Sta	University of Marne-la-Vallée	Nov. 2011
Aurélien Garivier	Sta	University of Paris-Sud Orsay	Nov. 2011
Céline Lévy-Leduc	Sta	University of Paris-Sud Orsay	Dec. 2011

Table 1.7: *Habilitation à Diriger des Recherches* granted to LTCI members in the period July 2009 - Dec 2011

- Equipex FIT Future Internet of Things, in Paris, establishing testbeds on wireless and wired technologies for networked and embedded objects
- Equipex DIME-SHS, in Paris, collecting data on the web for the Social Sciences, developping qualitative data banks and tools and methods to process them.
- Instituts de Recherche Technologique (IRT): IRT SystemX, in Saclay, Paris, and Bruyères-le-Chatel will focus on systems of systems applying technologies like embedded systems, high performance computing, cloud computing and network architecture, simulation and design environments to energy management, multimodal transportation, and digital security and trustworthiness.

	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	Total
Comelec	1 979	1 745	1 686	1 975	2 473	9 858
Ses	1 464	1 574	1 555	2 102	2 405	9 100
Infres	4 181	3 020	3 152	2 945	2 634	15 932
Tsi	1 686	2 018	2 116	3 301	3 558	12 678
Total	9 310	8 356	8 509	10 329	11 072	38 258

Table 1.8: Grants and contracts in keuros by department.

Part I Communications and Electronics

Communications and Electronics Department (COMELEC)

The research led in the "Communications and Electronics" department is devoted to the physical layer of ICT (Information and Communication technology). A useful concept for depicting the department main research concern is that of "physical information", where the information content is actually reached through some physical properties and manipulated using physical laws such as Maxwell electromagnetic equations or Quantum Hamiltonians. The department covers both the field of communication and that of information processing (electronics).

The department accounts for 39 permanent research staff and hosts over 100 non permanent researchers every year, including PhD students. The research activity is covered by four different teams. While fixed communications are dealt with by the **Optical communication team**, the **Electronics and RF systems team** concentrate on the transformation from analog to digital information and to its transmission through wireless means. The **Digital communications team** works on the digital coding of the information, and prepares for the future digital communication breakthrough in cooperative system, multi-hop communications or multi-users wireless communications. Processing information requires extremely sophisticated Silicon chips (processors, FPGAs, SOCs), the architecture of which is central to the **Complex Digital Electronics system team**. Transverse to all these activities, one may also find security as a main topic.

The department research policy claims for a research effort that spreads from fundamental physics to applied results. One may for example note our results in quantum communication (see the optical communication team) or that of metamaterials for advanced antennas (Electronics and RF Systems team). The balance between exploratory research and market oriented results is well expressed by the 1:5 ratio between our private partners funding and our total research contract income (4.7 M€ cumulated over the period). Because of an innovation minded research taking its roots in fundamental theories, the department was granted 16 patents while publishing over 450 papers in journals and conferences in the evaluation period.

The department is also strongly involved in educating students for research. This is reflected by the 51 defended PhD thesis over the period. A budget of about 40 k€ is also spent yearly for master student internships in the department research groups, with a total of about 80 man.month of internship generated every year. Besides its contribution to the "ingenieur courses" of Telecom ParisTech, the department researcher's participate to master courses with Universities Pierre et Marie Curie and Paris-Sud Orsay, as well as with the University of Nice.

The past period has been an exciting and successful period for the department. The success of our research proposals is well expressed by steady 15% growth rate per year of our lab contractual budget. As an indication of the department growing international recognition, the amount of international contract has raised from 13% in 2009 to 39% in 2011. In terms of publication, this growth reflects in as much as 99 published peer reviewed journal papers and 349 conferences accepted in the last two and a half year.

The period has also been very active for our lab facility with the launching in January 2010 of a new 130 m^2 lab area, including a 40 m^2 anechoïc chamber for our antenna tests. Another 300 m^2 of laboratory floor were entirely refurbished, giving rise to an environment entirely devoted to very high frequency experiments. These changes were strengthened by the purchase of nearly

800 k€ of new scientific equipments.

Two other major events with long lasting consequence must also be pointed out.

- A reserch team from ENSTA ParisTech merged with the Telecom ParisTech RFM team in 2010, making Telecom ParisTech an internationally recognized environment for UWB antenna design and applications.
- The joint ParisTech Morpho Lab "Identity & Security Alliance" which was inaugurated in march 2011 was created from teams in the Infres and Comelec department, a recognition of the successful research in embedded electronics security which is led in the department.

The coming period should open new opportunities for the development of our research. Discussions for joint research labs have already been open with several companies. Novel research masters will be proposed in 2012 for accreditation. And overall, a number of exciting new research projects in all of our research segments are already under consideration for fixed and wireless high bit rate communications with terabit/s communications in mind, in opportunistic radio, in secured electronics, or sustainable ICTs.

Faculty [IT, CNRS]	[32.8, 4]
PhD students	65.5
Post-docs, engineers and sabbaticals	16.1
Defended PhD thesis	51
Defended HDR	3
Journal papers [published, in press]	[99, 15]
Papers in conference proceedings	349
Chapters and books	15
Patents and software	[16, 3]
Grants [public, private, european] (k€)	[2667, 876, 1207]

Chapter 2

Digital Communications

```
Team leader Philippe Ciblat (P).

Faculty

Jean-Claude Belfiore (P), Philippe Ciblat (P),

Walid Hachem (DR CNRS), Ghaya Rekaya-Ben Othman (MC),
```

Olivier Rioul (MC), Georges Rodriguez (MC),
Patrick Sole (DR CNRS), Aslan Tchamkerten (MC),

Michele Wigger (MC,12/09-).

PhD students

A. Le Poupon (09/02–09/09), Z. Zhao (10/05–09/10), C. Hucher (01/06-07/09), R. Ouertani (01/06–11/09), M. Badr (09/06–03/10), E. Bouton (09/06-02/10), L. Mroueh (10/06-01/10), A. Salah (10/06–07/10), A. Bouzegzi (11/06–10/09), A. Le Duc (01/07–03/10), M. Nahas (09/07-12/10), C. Abgrall (02/08-10/10), A. Charaf (11/08-), M. Plainchault (11/08-), A. Osmane (10/08–12/11), P. Delesques (09/09–), M. Sefidgaran (10/09-), C. Mihoubi (11/09-), D. Serrano-velarde (11/09-), S. Marcille (01/10-), S.H. Mirghasemi (03/10-), M.M. Azeem (01/11-), F. lutzeler (10/10–), L. Sok (01/11–),

Post-docs and engineers

L. Luzzi (10/07–05/10), M. Sarkiss (02/09–08/10), F. Chapon (11/10–10/11), M.R. Palattella (07/11–10/11).

Sabbaticals

M. Burnashev (09/10–10/10), P. Saxena (12/10–12/10), M.C. Estela Zamora (03/11–04/11), L. Budaghyan (04/11–10/11), C.C. Trinca (04/11–), S. Jitman (09/11–09/11),

S. Belhadjamor (10/11–), Y. Wu (10/11–).

D. Tuninetti (09/11–).

J. Vinogradova (09/11–),

Faculty [IT, CNRS]	[6.8, 2]
PhD students	13
Post-docs, engineers and sabbaticals	1.8
Defended PhD thesis	15
Defended HDR	2
Journal papers [published, in press]	[25, 9]
Papers in conference proceedings	81
Chapters and books	1
Patents	6
Grants [public, private, european] (k€)	[322, 162, 163]

2.1 Objectives

For the last five years, the Digital Communication team has mainly been working on the physical layer of wireless networks. The most important results were in the context of single-user MIMO communication, cooperative communications (i.e., when a source and a destination are helped by additional nodes called relays), and finally multi-user cellular networks (when the communication is one-to-many or many-to-one). In such contexts, the team has focused on finding new:

- · Coding techniques
- Resource allocation algorithms
- · Estimation and synchronization methods

Nowadays, the most important topic is to design, analyze, and optimize many-to-many (wireless) communications where different flows of information are propagating through a common wireless network. Depending on the application, the network may be either centralized or ad hoc. The digital communications group has followed this important evolution by working on so-called Mobile Ad Hoc Networks (MANET). Our contributions cover different points of view: information theory, coding, resource allocation, distributed signal processing, and security (which is a major concern in such networks). Notice that the group has been enforced by hiring new Associate Professors in the area of Information Theory.

Even if our activities on wireless networking are central, we are also pursuing significant research activities on the (more traditional) physical layer of wireless or wired networks. Our main contributions here are new codes (asynchronous codes, etc.) and improved cross-layer designs (hybrid ARQ which takes into account the network layer) for wireless networks, and new signal processing algorithms and codes for next generation fiber-optical systems. This last project is a collaboration with the Optical Telecommunications team. In our research we typically present solutions on the three important facets of signal processing, coding, and information theory.

The team has important international editorial activities: we take part in the technical committee of the flagship conferences and in the editorial board of IEEE Transactions on Information Theory and IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing. All our research activities are supported by national, European, or industrial funding.

Our group is also very active in teaching for the Engineering school as well as for various Masters programmes. In particular, jointly with the Université Pierre et Marie Curie, we are leading the "Master Recherche" called ESCO/STN.

2.2 Main Results

The main research results obtained during the period July 2009 - December 2011 are presented below

2.2.1 Wireless Network Optimization

Faculty J.-C. Belfiore, P. Ciblat, W. Hachem, A. Tchamkerten, M. Wigger

Main events Philippe Ciblat has served as Associate Editor (resp. Area Editor) for IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing since 2008 (resp. 2010) as well as Track Chairman for the European flagship conference EUSIPCO'2001. Philippe Ciblat, Walid Hachem, and Michèle Wigger have been respectively invited professors at the International University of Rabat (Morrocco), the CTTC (Spain), and the Technion (Israel).

Projects ANR Chaire d'Excellence, "Futur & Ruptures" grants, DGA doctoral grant, Digiteo post-doctoral fellowship, ANR SESAME, Emergence Grant from the City of Paris, FP7 NoE NEW-COM++

Wireless network coding Wireless networks for high data rate transmissions are becoming more and more dominated by interference. Fundamental works in Information theory clearly shed a light by using lattices on this problem. But information theory states the fundamental limits but does not say anything about "how to achieve these fundamental limits". Thanks to our expertise concerning lattices for wireless communication, we obtained important results on lattice coding for interference channels. We are now able to propose new lattice coding schemes and analyze them. We are currently working on lattice network coding for which we were able to give a criterion of design for the lattice codes that are used. This work was a generalization of the so-called Compute-and-Forward protocol proposed by Nazer and Gastpar in 2009. In the same spirit, we started to work on the interference channel where we focus on the so-called lattice alignment for the interferers. This work had a big impact, theoretically and practically. We are developing some new tools to understand in a better way the behavior of lattices on such channels and relate it to the fundamental limits.

Fundamental Limits We studied the capacity of wireless networks where the transmitters or the receivers have some side-information, e.g., about other transmitters' messages or signals, or about the signals observed at some of the (other) receivers. Our contributions were twofold:

- i) For the many-to-many interference network where the transmitters have side-information about the adjacent transmitters' messages (e.g., by prior communication over separate bluetooth links) and the receivers have side-information about the signals observed at adjacent receivers (e.g., by communication over a high-rate backhaul link) we studied the high-SNR behavior of the capacity. We mainly focused on Wyner's soft handoff model for cellular systems, for which we determined the degrees of freedom. Our result allowed us to establish a duality between the side-information at the transmitters and the side-information at the receivers in the sense that in terms of degrees of freedom they are equally valuable. We also determined the degrees of freedom when the transmitters only have partial knowledge of their adjacent transmitters' messages.
- ii) For the one-to-two memoryless broadcast channels (BC) where the transmitter has feed-back from both receivers (as is the case in most uplink-downlink scenarios) we studied the capacity region. This problem is unsolved for almost all memoryless BCs. In our works, we determined the capacity region of some BCs, and we proved that the capacity is increased even if the feed-back is noisy. We also showed that for Gaussian broadcast channels in some cases the gain in capacity thanks to perfect feedback can be unbounded, and in most cases the high-SNR capacity is as if both receivers could perfectly cooperate. [5]

Motivated by practical communications systems, such as certain wireless sensor networks, the receiver of a communication system does not know perfectly the timing of information transmission and this leads to the so-called "asynchronous communication". This kind of communication has long been a neglected field in information theory. We have been investigating a new information theoretic model for asynchronous communication. Main results are the characterization of the minimum energy needed to transmit one bit of information asynchronously, and the proof of suboptimality of training in certain communication regimes. The second result says that the prevalent communication architecture where synchronization and information transmission are treated separately can be suboptimal; each transmitted bit should carry information while help the decoder locate the transmitted message [111].

Distributed computation In distributed computation/optimization/estimation communication is becoming a technological bottleneck. The problem arises both at the large and at the micro scales. Consider the task Google faces for search queries. After the query makes its way to a data center, the search task is handled to a number of servers working in cooperation. Yet, the minimum communication requirement to take advantage of multiple servers is not well understood. More traditionally in the field of wireless sensor netwokrs, resource allocation without a fusion center has to operate and can only be done in a distributive way. Similar problems occur for target location, etc.

We have focused on two types of computation: the maximum values of the sensor measurements and the average ones. Concerning the maximum computation, we have develop new algorithms well suitable for wireless communications. The main task has consisting in analyzing theoretically its performance [65]; Concerning the average computation, new powerful algorithms outperfoing exsintg ones have been introduced and analyzed also in depth. These computations are actually the first step of the distributed optimization issue which is a key point in the domain of the decentralized wireless networks. We also developed new algorithms for distributed estimation (one application could be the mobile location). These algorithms (based mainly on the so-called stochastic approximation approach) have been deeply analyzed in terms of convergence, asymptotic properties (such as asymptotic normality, asymptotic covariance). Moreover, we are moving the analysis of such algorithms in a non-stationary environment.

Finally, to better understand some of the communications tradeoffs in distributed computing, we have been investigated function computation of separate sources of information. For this setting, we provided bounds on the minimum number of bits needed to be transmitted by each source so that the receiver can reliably compute the function. For certain functions and sources these bounds are tight. [101].

Detection theory for cognitive radio The random matrix theory has received a lot of attention in probability, statictics and signal processing for communications. We have focused on the applications of this theory to the statistical estimation (direction of arrival, detection at the fusion center, Shannon capacity evaluation, etc). We have especially analyzed the extremal eigenvalues of large random matrices and the corresponding subspaces. [8]

2.2.2 Coding for single-user communication

Faculty J.-C. Belfiore, P. Ciblat, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, P. Solé, A. Tchamkerten

Main events Jean-Claude Belfiore has served as Associate Editor for IEEE Transactions on Information Theory since 2010. Jean-Claude Belfiorer and Patrick Solé are the recipient of the Best Paper Award in IEEE Information Theory Workshop (ITW) in 2009. Patrick Solé and Jean-Claude Belfiore organized the International Conference SETA 2010 at the school site. This conference was supported partly by Digiteo and dealt with all aspects of sequences over finite alphabets. Ghaya Rekaya-Ben Othman has been invited professor at Indian Institute of Technolgy in Bangalore in 2010. Daniela Tuninetti (Ass. Professor at Illinois Univ.

at Chicago) is in sabbatical stay in the lab in 2011. Finally Ghaya Rekaya-Ben Othman has been selected to contribute to the national event "1000 chercheurs parlent d'avenir".

Projects ANR ORIANA, CIFRE MITSUBISHI, CIFRES THALES, FP7 SMARTEN, "Futur & Ruptures" postdoctoral fellowship, Carnot Institute grant

Synchronization codes Our motivation was to study the performance of codes for joint coding and synchronization. A new class of codes intermediary between unrestricted binary codes and constant weight codes, namely bounded weight codes, and allied combinatorial functions, has been introduced. It turns out that the concept is also useful in list decoding, in bounding the list of candidate words at a given distance from the received word. In addition, but closely related, we worked on analytic number theory. We have especially connected the ideas of Alain Connes on a quantum mechanical approach to zeta functions with Jean-Louis Nicolas extremal view of arithmetic functions to derive an infinity of new criteria for Riemann Hypothesis.

Space time codes We still focused on the Space-Time codes design but in an original way. For the first time, codes over rings with non Hamming metrics are used to construct space time codes by a concatenation process similar to the so-called Construction A of lattices. We hope this work will attract the coding community attention to codes over *non commutative* rings an open territory in Coding Theory.

Cooperative communication The best known protocol for cooperative communication is the Dynamic Decode and Forward (DDF) protocol according to its Diversity-Multiplexing Tradeoff (DMT). We were interested on the practical implementation of this protocol for the relay channel with the assumption of relay unaware source. We have defined a new metric called Macro diversity (coming from long term SNRs) which represents the number of links necessary to achieve some QoS when all other links experience very low SNRs. We have proposed patching techniques in order to maximize the achievable micro and macro diversity. This technique consists of creation at the relays linear combinations of symbols already sent by the source and symbols going to be send by the source. The destination realize the same linear combinations (patching) of the received signals to build an equivalent transmission system. We have proposed different schemes using patching: patched Monostream, Patched Alamouti, Patched Golden Code and Patched Silver Code. [27]

To achieve the cooperative diversity, a synchronous communication is actually assumed. This a priori synchronization condition could be quite costly in terms of signaling and hard to handle in a relay networks. To relax this constraint, we have constructed $M \times M$ delay-tolerant codes based on cyclic division algebras of the $M \times M$ perfect codes. For M=2,3,4 and 5, the new codes maintain the same properties (full rate, full diversity and non-vanishing determinants) as perfect codes in synchronous case. These codes are useful in a network without a direct link between the source and the destination. We have also proposed "bounded delay-tolerant STBC" which ensures optimal performances when the cooperative nodes are synchronous an a full diversity and optimal rates for a certain set of delay profiles that depends on the code length.

Hybrid ARQ schemes analysis In modern wireless networks, the physical layer is combined with Automatic ReQuest (ARQ) technique to improve the reliability of the whole system. Moreover the ARQ (or more generally, the Hybrid-ARQ (HARQ) which "belongs" to the MAC layer) can be greatly improved by taking into account the upper Network layer. Our first contribution has consisted in analysing deeply the theoretical performance (packet error rate, delay, jitter and efficiency) of any HARQ scheme at any layer for any channel model (the Gaussian one, the Rayleigh one, ...). We have also taken into account imperfect feedback conditions. We have also proposed new HARQ techniques more robust to imperfect feedback.

2.2.3 Optical communications

Faculty P. Ciblat, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, O. Rioul

Projects FUI 100GFLEX, "Futur & Ruptures" Grants, ANR TCHATER, CIFRE MITSUBISHI

Due to the new applications (video streaming, cloud computing, ...), the amount of data in the optical core networks have strongly increased. To handle the saturation of the core network, advanced digital communications tools have to be applied to the optical communications field. Indeed, the information (passing through the optical fiber) now relies on the wave intensity but also on the wave phase. Therefore standard wireless digital communications can be now advocated for optical communications.

In this new paradigm, we have focused on various facets:

- i) Usually adaptive approaches have been carried out to mitigate the inter-symbol interference (generated by the dispersion of the fiber and also the polarization mixing) and the carrier frequency offset. but as the channel is very slowly time-varying, we have proposed to counter-act these impairements by using block-wise methods. Thanks to simulations and experimental measurements, we have proven that this block-wise approach enables us to speed up significantly the convergence by the expense of moderate extra computational load, and thus is well adapted to burst mode transmission [30]. In addition, we have studied some near maximum a posteriori probability low-complexity phase estimators under phase uncertain channel for BPSK and QAM signals and prove their convergence, via a conditional gradient descent algorithm, towards the Bayesian Cramer-Rao lower bound for which we also found simple expressions depending on the modulation used and other assumption (off line / online, data aided / non data aided scenarios). This in particular explained anatically why such low-complexity estimators perform so well over a wide range of SNRs.
- ii) In order to evaluate the ultimate performance of optical communications, we have also considered a information-theoretic point-of-view. We especially derive Shannon-like channel capacities when nonlinear impairments occur.
- iii) The polarization multiplexed optical systems can be seen as multi-input multi-output (MIMO) systems, and so space-time coding techniques could be applied in this case. The implementation of such codes requires the use of OFDM systems. We have showed that the space-time coding can efficiently mitigate polarization dependent loss (PDL) impairments, and that their performance are very different from those obtained in wireless communication. The Silver Code performs better than the Golden code. This results was explained by an analysis of the error probability. We have also showed that the gain provided by Space-time coding is added to the gain provided by error correcting codes.

2.2.4 Security issues

Faculty J.-C. Belfiore, O. Rioul

Main events Jean-Claude Belfiore has been invited professor at NTU (Singapore).

Physical Layer Security Due the broadcast nature of the wireless channel, the security has also to be takein into account by the physical layer (and not only but the cryptographic point of view). The most famous example is the so-called wiretap channel where one eavedrooper can listen to the message too. Our contribution dealt with the analysis of the nested lattice codes for the Gaussian wiretap channel as well as for the MIMO wiretap channel. The proposed closed-form expressions for the system performance were related to the theta series of the lattice (Gaussian case) and to some zeta function (which can be Epstein or Solomon) in the MIMO case. These results gave a design criterion for the lattice codes which have to be used. We are continuing with the proposition of practical lattice codes now.

Hidden channels for electronic devices Side-channel analysis (SCA) aims at extracting cryptographic keys from a device by analyzing its leakage, knowing its input or output. The general formalisation of SCA models the leakage as well as the data that causes it (called the sensitive variable), from an information theoretic standpoint. The traditional approach consists in distinguishing the correct key from the bad key hypotheses by selecting the key guess that maximizes the mutual information between the leakage and the sensitive variable. Now, it is well known that this mutual information is equal to the Kullback- Leibler divergence between the leakage and the leakage conditioned by the sensitive variable. In this work, we have suggested another distinguisher consisting in the divergence between pairs of conditional leakage. Our goal were twofold: to compare it theoretically with the mutual information, and to study its efficiency for certain types of leakage (especially in the presence of countermeasures to SCA, like masking).

2.2.5 Tools for Information Theory and Statistics

Faculty O. Rioul, A. Tchamkerten

Projects ANR Chaire d'Excellence

About Fitt's law Whether Fitts' law (a well-known model of human pointing movement in experimental psychology) is a logarithmic law or a power law has remained unclear so far. Papers have claimed that the power model they derived from their celebrated stochastic optimized-submovement theory encompasses the logarithmic model as a limiting case. We have shown that this claim is questionable mathematically. Our analysis revealed that these papers implie in fact a quasi-logarithmic (Shannon-like), rather than quasi-power model, the two models being not equivalent. Also, testing the prediction that throughput (TP) is conserved accross variations of speed/accuracy, we found it to be affected by the strategy, which pleads against a currently popular definition of TP which is incompatible with the Shannon equation. We also have shown that the statistical elaboration of the TP suffers from a problematic amount of random variability due to the inadvertent but multiple impact of Jensen's inequality.

About entropy power inequalities While most useful information theoretic inequalities can be deduced from the basic properties of entropy or mutual information, up to now Shannon's entropy power inequality (EPI) is an exception: Existing information theoretic proofs of the EPI hinge on representations of differential entropy using either Fisher information or minimum mean-square error (MMSE), which are derived from de Bruijn's identity. I have derived a unified view of these proofs, showing that they share two essential ingredients: 1) a data processing argument applied to a covariance-preserving linear transformation; 2) an integration over a path of a continuous Gaussian perturbation. Using these ingredients, I developped a new and brief proof of the EPI through a mutual information inequality. The result has the advantage of being very simple in that it relies only on the basic properties of mutual information.

Theory of Optimal Stopping Given sequential observations of a stochastic process, we consider the problem of estimating a stopping time defined with respect to an unobserved process which is correlated to the observation process. This problem, called the tracking stopping time (TST) problem, applies in a number of areas, including communications, monitoring, and forecasting. In spite of its simple formulation, the TST problem is hard as it also generalizes the well-known Bayesian change-point detection problem whose solutions have been reported only for specific (mostly asymptotic) settings. In spite of this apparent difficulty, we obtained interesting results for the natural settings where both the observed and unobserved processes are Gaussian random walks (possibly with drift), with the observed process being either a noisy version of the unobserved process, or a delayed version of the unobserved process. The stopping time to be estimated is some first-passage time of a given threshold. For this setting we characterized the best estimator with respect to arbitrary moment loss functions in the limit of large thresholds.

2.3 References

2.3.1 ACL: Articles in ISI-Indexed Journals

- [1] C. Aguilar, P. Gaborit, J. D. K. Kim, L. Sok, and P. Solé. Classification of extremal and s-extremal binary self-dual codes of length 38. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 2012. To appear.
- [2] E. Ardestanizadeh, M. Wigger, Y.-H. Kim, and T. Javidi. Linear-feedback sum-capacity for gaussian multiple access channels. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 2012. To appear.
- [3] C. Bachoc, V. Chandar, G. Cohen, P. Solé, and A. Tchamkerten. On bounded weight codes. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 57(10):6780–6787, Oct. 2011.
- [4] A. Bouzegzi, P. Ciblat, and P. Jallon. New algorithms for blind recognition of ofdm based systems. *EURASIP Signal Processing*, 90(3):900–913, Mar. 2010.
- [5] S. I. Bross, A. Lapidoth, and M. Wigger. Dirty-paper coding for the multi-access channel with conferencing. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 2012. To appear.
- [6] M. Ezerman, L. San, and P. Solé. Additive asymmetric quantum codes. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 57(8):5536–5550, Aug. 2011.
- [7] D. Gregoratti, W. Hachem, and X. Mestre. Randomized isometric linear dispersion space-time block coding for the df relay channel. *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, 2011.
- [8] W. Hachem, E. Moulines, and F. Roueff. Error exponents for Neyman-Pearson detection of a continuous-time Gaussian Markov process from regular or irregular samples. *IEEE trans. on In*formation Theory, 57(6):3899–3914, June 2011.
- [9] W. Hachem, P. Loubaton, X. Mestre, J. Najim, and P. Vallet. Large information plus noise random matrix models and consistent subspace estimation in large sensor networks. *Random Matrices: Theory and Applications*, 2012. To appear.
- [10] W. Hachem, P. Loubaton, J. Najim, and P. Vallet. On bilinear forms based on the resolvent of large random matrices. *Annales de l'Institut Henri Poincaré*, 2012. To appear.
- [11] Q. Huang, M. Ghogho, J. Weil, and P. Ciblat. Practical timing and frequency synchronization for ofdm based cooperative systems. *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, 58(7):3706–3716, July 2010.
- [12] A. Kammoun, M. Kharouf, W. Hachem, and J. Najim. A Central Limit Theorem for the SINR at the LMMSE estimator output for large dimensional systems. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 55(11), Nov. 2009.
- [13] F. Kharrat-Kammoun, C. Le Martret, and P. Ciblat. Performance analysis of ir-uwb in multi-user environment. IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications, 8(11):5552–5563, Nov. 2009.
- [14] N. Ksairi, P. Bianchi, P. Ciblat, and W. Hachem. Resource allocation for downlink cellular OFDMA systems, Part I - Optimal allocation, Part II - Asymptotic analysis and applications. *IEEE Transactions* on Signal Processing, 58(2):735–749, 720–734, Feb. 2010.
- [15] N. Ksairi, P. Bianchi, and P. Ciblat. Nearly optimal resource allocation fo downlink ofdma 2-d networks with multicell interference. *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, 10(7):2101–2115, July 2011
- [16] A. Lapidoth and M. Wigger. On the awgn mac with imperfect feedback. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 56(11):5432–5477, Nov. 2010.
- [17] L. Luzzi, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, and J.-C. Belfiore. Augmented lattice reduction for mimo decoding. IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications, 9(9):2853 – 2859, Sept. 2010.
- [18] L. Luzzi, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, and J.-C. Belfiore. Algebraic reduction for space-time codes based on quaternion algebras. Advances in Mathematics of Communications (AMC), 2012. To appear.
- [19] A. Mahmood and J.-C. Belfiore. An efficient algorithm for optimal discrete bit-loading in multicarrier systems. *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, 58(6):11627–1630, June 2010.
- [20] S. Mumtaz, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, and Y. Jaouën. Efficient coding/decoding scheme for psk optical systems with differential encoding. *IET Optoelectronics*, 5(6):241–246, Nov. 2011.
- [21] M. Nahas, A. Saadani, and W. Hachem. Performance of asynchronous two-relay two-hop wireless cooperative networks. *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, 9(3), Mar. 2010.
- [22] M. Nahas, A. Saadani, and G. Rekaya-Ben Othman. Bounded delay-tolerant space time block codes for asynchronous cooperative networks. *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, Oct. 2011.
- [23] N. Noels, P. Ciblat, and H. Steendam. Overview of performance lower bounds for blind frequency offset estimation. *URSI Radio Science Bulletin*, (335):26–44, Dec. 2010.
- [24] F. Oggier, P. Solé, and J.-C. Belfiore. Codes over matrix rings for space-time coded modulations. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 2012. To appear.

- [25] M. Pischella and J.-C. Belfiore. Distributed margin adaptive resource allocation in mimo ofdma networks. *IEEE Transactions on Communications*, 58(8):2371 – 2380, Aug. 2010.
- [26] M. Pischella and J.-C. Belfiore. Weighted sum throughput maximization in multicell ofdma networks. *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular Technology*, 59(2):896–905, Feb. 2010.
- [27] M. Plainchault, N. Gresset, and G. Rekaya-Ben Othman. Macro and micro diversity behaviors of practical dynamic decode and forward relaying schemes. *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communi*cations, 2012. To appear.
- [28] O. Rioul. Information theoretic proofs of entropy power inequalities. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 57(1):33–55, Jan. 2011.
- [29] M. Sarkiss, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, M. O. Damen, and J.-C. Belfiore. Construction of new delaytolerant space-time codes. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 57(6):3567 – 3581, June 2011.
- [30] M. Selmi, C. Gosset, P. Ciblat, and Y. Jaouën. Blockwise digital signal processing for polmux qam/psk optical coherent systems. *IEEE Journal of Lightwave Technology*, July 2011.
- [31] F.-X. Socheleau, S. Houcke, P. Ciblat, and A. Aissa El Bey. Cognitive ofdm system detection using pilot tones second and third-order statistics. *EURASIP Signal Processing*, 91(2):252–268, Feb. 2011
- [32] P. Solé and D. Zinoviev. Inversive pseudo random generators over galois rings. *European Journal of Combinatorics*, (30):458–467, Feb. 2010.
- [33] A. Tchamkerten and M. Burnashev. Tracking a gaussian random walk first-passage time through noisy observations. *Annals of Applied Probability*, 2012. To appear.
- [34] S. Yang and J.-C. Belfiore. Diversity-multiplexing tradeoff of double scattering mimo channels. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 57(4):2027 2034, Apr. 2011.

2.3.2 ACTI: Articles in Proceedings of International Conferences

- [35] C. Abgrall, E. Stinati, and J.-C. Belfiore. Distributed power allocation for interference limited networks. In PIMRC, Sept. 2010.
- [36] C. Abgrall, E. Stinati, and J.-C. Belfiore. Multi-cell interference aware resource allocation for half-duplex relay based cooperation. In VTC, July 2010.
- [37] C. Abgrall, E. Stinati, and J.-C. Belfiore. Centralized power allocation for interference limited networks. In VTC, Oct. 2010.
- [38] E. Ardestanizadeh, M. Wigger, Y.-H. Kim, and T. Javidi. Linear sum capacity for gaussian multiple access channel with feedback. In *International Symposium on Information Theory*, Austin (Texas), USA, June 2010.
- [39] M. Badr, M. Damen, and J.-C. Belfiore. Delay-tolerant distributed space-time block codes for the asynchronous multiple-access channel. In *PIMRC*, Sept. 2009.
- [40] M. Badr, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, and J.-C. Belfiore. Unbalanced space-time block codes for non uniform energy distribution multiple access channels. In *PIMRC*, Sept. 2009.
- [41] J.-C. Belfiore. Lattice codes for the compute-and-forward protocol: The flatness factor. In *Information Theory Workshop*, Paraty, Brésil, Oct. 2011.
- [42] J.-C. Belfiore and M. Angeles. Managing interference through space-time codes, lattice reduction and network coding. In *IEEE Information Theory Workshop (ITW)*, Nov. 2010.
- [43] J.-C. Belfiore and F. Oggier. Secrecy gain: A wiretap lattice code design. In ISITA, Dec. 2010.
- [44] J.-C. Belfiore and F. Oggier. Lattice code design for the rayleigh fading wiretap channel. In *International Conference on Communications*, Kyoto, Japon, June 2011.
- [45] J.-C. Belfiore and P. Solé. Unimodular lattices for the gaussian wiretap channel. In *IEEE Information Theory Workshop (ITW)*, Nov. 2010.
- [46] J.-C. Belfiore, F. Oggier, and P. Solé. Lattice codes for the gaussian wiretap channel. In *IWCC*, June 2011.
- [47] E. Bouton, P. Ciblat, and C. Le Martret. Multicode based communications in impulse radio uwb systems. In *IEEE Conference on Ultra Wide Band (ICU)*, Vancouver, Canada, Sept. 2009.
- [48] E. Bouton, N. Ksairi, P. Ciblat, P. Bianchi, and W. Hachem. On outage probability optimization in rician miso channels. In *IEEE International Conference on Wireless and Mobile Computing, Networking and Communications (WiMob)*, Marrakech (Maroc), Oct. 2009.
- [49] E. Bouton, P. Ciblat, and J.-C. Belfiore. A power allocation algorithm for ofdm gaussian interference channel. In *IEEE Workshop on Signal Processing Advances in Wireless Communications (SPAWC)*, Marrakech (Maroc), June 2010.

- [50] M. Burnashev and A. Tchamkerten. Estimating a gaussian random walk first-passage time from noisy or delayed observations. In *International Symposium on Information Theory*, Sept. 2011.
- [51] M. Burnashev and A. Tchamkerten. Tracking a random walk first-passage time from noisy or delayed observations (invited paper). In *Information Theory and Applications Workshop*, Sept. 2011.
- [52] M. Burnashev and A. Tchamkerten. Sequential estimation of a gaussian random walk first-passage time from noisy or delayed observations (invited paper). In *International Workshop on Sequential Methodologies*, Sept. 2011.
- [53] M. Burnashev and A. Tchamkerten. Estimating a wiener process first-passage time from noisy or delayed observations (invited paper). In Asymptotical Statistics of Stochastic Processes VIII, Sept. 2011.
- [54] A. Charaf, G. Rodriguez, P. Pénard, and L. Cariou. Turbo-equalization of Idpc coded mimo inner/outer scheduling. In *International Conference on Wireless Communications & Signal Processing*, Aug. 2010.
- [55] A. Charaf, P. Pénard, L. Cariou, and G. Rodriguez. Study of stopping criteria in Idpc coded iterative mimo ofdm receiver. In the 7th IEEE conference on Wireless and Mobile computing, networking and communications (Performance enhancement on MIMO OFDM systems), Shanghai China, Oct. 2011
- [56] G. Cohen, C. Munuera, and P. Solé. The average radius of codes: survey and new results. In *IEEE-ISIT 2011*. 978-1-4577-0595-3/11 2011 IEEE, July 2011.
- [57] R. Couillet and W. Hachem. Local failure localization in large sensor networks. In Asilomar Conference, Nov. 2011.
- [58] L. Danielsen, M. Parker, and P. Solé. The rayleigh quotient of bent functions. In IMACC, Dec. 2009.
- [59] R. de la Cruz, A. Meyer, and P. Solé. An extension of massey scheme for secret sharing. In IEEE Information Theory Workshop (ITW), Nov. 2009.
- [60] M. Gastpar, A. Lapidoth, Y. Steinberg, and M. Wigger. New achievable rates for the gaussian broadcast channel with feedback. In *Eighth International Symposium on Wireless Communication Sys*tems, Aachen, Allemagne, Nov. 2011.
- [61] D. Gregoratti, W. Hachem, and X. Mestre. Orthogonal matrix precoding for relay networks. In *ISWPC*, Modena, Italy, May 2010.
- [62] N. Gresset, M. Plainchault, and G. Rekaya-Ben Othman. Macro and micro diversity improvement with patched dynamic decode and forward relaying. In *International Conference on Telecommunica*tions, Doha, Qatar, Apr. 2010.
- [63] C. Hucher and G. Rekaya-Ben Othman. A low-complexity protocol for k-parallel-path multihop network. In *IEEE Wireless Communications and Networking Conference (WCNC)*, Sydney, Australia, Apr. 2010.
- [64] C. Hucher, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, and A. Saadani. Diophantine approximation approach for incomplete decoding at relays. In *Informaton Theory Workshop*, Taormina, Sicile, 2009.
- [65] F. lutzeler, J. Jakubowicz, W. Hachem, and P. Ciblat. Distributed estimation of the maximum value over a wireless sensor network. In Asilomar Conference on Signals, Systems, and Computer, Pacific Grove, USA, Nov. 2011.
- [66] A. Kammoun, M. Kharouf, W. Hachem, and J. Najim. On the fluctuations of the mutual information for the non-centered mimo channels: The non-gaussian case. In *SPAWC*, Marrakech, Maroc, June 2011.
- [67] N. Ksairi, P. Bianchi, P. Ciblat, and W. Hachem. A practical scheme to achieve optimal diversity-multiplexing trade-off for high diversity gains for half-duplex relay channels. In *IEEE Information Theory Workshop (ITW)*, Toarmina, Italy, Oct. 2009.
- [68] N. Ksairi, P. Bianchi, and P. Ciblat. A nearly optimal resource allocation algorithm for the downlink of ofdma 2-d networks with multicell interference. In *IEEE Workshop on Signal Processing Advances in Wireless Communications (SPAWC)*, Marrakech (Maroc), June 2010.
- [69] A. Lapidoth, A. Malär, and M. Wigger. Constrained wyner-ziv coding. In *International Symposium on Information Theory*, St. Petersburg, Russia, Aug. 2011.
- [70] A. Le Duc, P. Ciblat, and C. Le Martret. Closed-form expressions for delay and jitter in cross-layer hard schemes. In IEEE Vehicular Technology Conference (VTC), Anchorage, USA, Sept. 2009.
- [71] A. Le Duc, C. Le Martret, and P. Ciblat. Efficiency closed-form expressions for any ir-hard scheme at the ip level. In *IEEE Workshop on Signal Processing Advances in Wireless Communications* (SPAWC), Marrakech (Maroc), June 2010.
- [72] A. Le Duc, P. Ciblat, and C. Le Martret. Analysis of a cross-layer hybrid-arq scheme: application to unequal packet protection. In *IEEE International Conference on Communications (ICC)*, Kyoto,

- Japan, June 2011.
- [73] L. Luzzi, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, and J.-C. Belfiore. Augmented lattice reduction for low-complexity mimo decoding. In *IEEE International Symposium on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communi*cations (PIMRC 2010), Istanbul, Turkey, Sept. 2010.
- [74] A. Malär, A. Lapidoth, and M. Wigger. Constrained wyner-ziv source coding. In *Information Theory Workshop and Applications*, San Diego, USA, Feb. 2011.
- [75] S. Marcille, P. Ciblat, and C. Le Martret. Early-drop based hybrid arq in a cross-layer context. In IEEE International Symposium on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications (PIMRC), Toronto, Canada, Sept. 2011.
- [76] A. Mejri, L. Luzzi, and G. Rekaya-Ben Othman. On the diversity of the naive lattice decoder. In WOSSPA, Tipaza - Algérie, May 2011.
- [77] X. Mestre, P. Vallet, P. Loubaton, and W. Hachem. Asymptotic analysis of a consistent subspace estimator for observations of increasing dimensions. In *SSP*, Nice, France, June 2011.
- [78] L. Mroueh and J.-C. Belfiore. How to achieve the optimal dmt of selective fading mimo channels? In *IEEE Information Theory Workshop (ITW)*, Nov. 2010.
- [79] S. Mumtaz, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, and Y. Jaouën. Space-time codes for optical fiber communication with polarization multiplexing. In *IEEE International Conference on Communications*, Cape Town, Afrique du Sud, May 2010.
- [80] S. Mumtaz, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, and Y. Jaouën. Pdl mitigation in polmux ofdm systems using golden and silver polarization-time codes. In *Optical Fiber Communication Conference (OFC)*, San Diego, Californie, USA, Mar. 2010.
- [81] S. Mumtaz, J.-R. Li, S. Koenig, Y. Jaouën, R. Schmogrow, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, and J. Leuthold. Experimental demonstration of pdl mitigation using polarization-time coding in pdm-ofdmsystems. In SPPCOM 2011, Toronto - Canada, June 2011.
- [82] S. Mumtaz, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, and Y. Jaouën. Quasi-cyclic ldpc based on peg construction for optical communications. In *SPPCOM 2011*, Toronto Canada, June 2011.
- [83] S. Mumtaz, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, Y. Jaouën, J.-R. Li, S. Koenig, R. Schmogrow, and J. Leuthold. Alamouti code against pdl in polarization multiplexed systems. In SPPCOM 2011, Toronto - Canada, June 2011.
- [84] M. Nahas, A. Saadani, and W. Hachem. Performance of asynchronous amplify-and-forward cooperative relay networks. In *Globecom*, Dec. 2009.
- [85] M. Nahas, A. Saadani, and G. Rekaya-Ben Othman. General construction method of bounded delaytolerant space time block codes. In *IEEE GLOBAL COMMUNICATIONS CONFERENCE (GLOBE-COM)*, MIAMI, Florida, USA, Dec. 2010.
- [86] M. Nahas, A. Saadani, and G. Rekaya-Ben Othman. Bounded delay-tolerant space time codes with optimal rates for two cooperative antennas. In *IEEE International Symposium on Personal, Indoor* and Mobile Radio Communications (PIMRC 2010), Istanbul, Turkey, Sept. 2010.
- [87] M. Nahas, A. Saadani, and G. Rekaya-Ben Othman. Asynchronous full-diversity high-rate coding scheme for cooperative relay networks. In *IEEE International Workshop on Signal Processing Ad*vances for Wireless Communications (SPAWC), Marrakech, Morocco, June 2010.
- [88] F. Oggier and P. Solé. Higher dimensional perfect space-time coded modulation. In IEEE Information Theory Workshop (ITW), Nov. 2009.
- [89] A. Osmane, S. Yang, and J.-C. Belfiore. Two-hop relay channels with limited feedback. In *PIMRC*, Sept. 2010.
- [90] A. Osmane, S. Yang, and J.-C. Belfiore. On the performance of the rotate-and-forward protocol in the two-hop relay channels. In *Signal Processing Advances in Wireless Communications*, San Francisco, USA, June 2011.
- [91] R. Ouertani and G. Rekaya-Ben Othman. A stack algorithm with limited tree-search. In *Signals, Circuits and Systems (SCS)*, Jerba, Tunisie, Nov. 2009.
- [92] M. Plainchault, N. Gresset, and G. Rekaya-Ben Othman. Patched distributed space-time block codes. In *IEEE International Conference on Communications*, Cape Town, Afrique du sud, May 2010.
- [93] M. Plainchault, N. Gresset, and G. Rekaya-Ben Othman. Dynamic decode and forward relaying for broadcast transmissions by relay-unaware source. In *IEEE international Conference on Communi*cations (ICC), Cape Town, Afrique du sud, May 2010.
- [94] M. Plainchault, N. Gresset, and G. Rekaya-Ben Othman. Interference relay channel with precoded dynamic decode and forward protocols. In GLOBECOM, Houston - Texas - USA, Dec. 2011.
- [95] G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, L. Luzzi, and J.-C. Belfiore. Algebraic reduction for the golden code. In

- IEEE Information Theory Workshop (ITW), Nov. 2010.
- [96] O. Rioul and Y. Guiard. The power model of fitts' law does not encompass the logarithmic model. In 2011 Meeting of the European Mathematical Psychology Group (EMPG 2011), Paris, France, Aug. 2011.
- [97] F. Rubio, X. Mestre, and W. Hachem. A clt on the sinr of the diagonally loaded capon/mvdr beamformer. In *ICASSP*, Prague, Rep. tchèque, May 2011.
- [98] M. Sarkiss, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, M. O. Damen, and J.-C. Belfiore. Construction of new delaytolerant space-time codes. In *IEEE International Symposium on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications (PIMRC 2010)*, Istanbul, Turkey, Sept. 2010.
- [99] A. Sarwate and M. Wigger. Linear strategies for the gaussian mac with user cooperation. In *Allertong Conference*, Monticello (IL), USA, Oct. 2010.
- [100] H. Sboui, A. Bouallegue, and P. Solé. Cyclic codes and self-dual codes over m2(f2) and m2(f2[i]). In MMS, June 2011.
- [101] M. Sefidgaran and A. Tchamkerten. Computing a function of correlated sources: a rate region. In *International Symposium on Information Theory*, Sept. 2011.
- [102] M. Selmi, P. Ciblat, C. Gosset, and Y. Jaouën. Block versus adaptive mimo equalization for coherent polmux qam transmission systems. In *European Conference on Optical Communications (ECOC)*, Turin (Italie), Sept. 2010.
- [103] M. Selmi, P. Ciblat, Y. Jaouën, and C. Gosset. Pseudo-newton based equalization algorithms for qam coherent optical systems. In *Optical fiber conference (OFC 2010)*, volume paper OThM3, San Diego (USA), Mar. 2010.
- [104] M. Selmi, P. Ciblat, Y. Jaouën, and C. Gosset. Complexity analysis of block equalization approach for polmux qam coherent systems. In OSA Signal Processing Workshop on Photonic Communications 2011 (SPPCOM 2011), Toronto, Canada, June 2011.
- [105] S. Shamai and M. Wigger. Rate-limited transmitter-cooperation in wyner's asymmetric interference network. In *International Symposium on Information Theory*, St. Petersburg, Russia, 2011.
- [106] O. Shayevitz and M. Wigger. An achievable region for the discrete memoryless broadcast channel with feedback. In *International Symposium on Information Theory*, Austin (Texas), USA, June 2010.
- [107] P. Solé and J.-C. Belfiore. Constructive spherical codes near shannon bound. In IWCC, June 2011.
- [108] Y. Steinberg, A. Lapidoth, and M. Wigger. Gaussian broadcast channel with partial feedback. In 26 IEEE Convention Israel, Eilat, Israel, Nov. 2010.
- [109] A. Tchamkerten and M. Burnashev. Tracking threshold crossing times of a gaussian random walk through correlated observations (invited paper). In *International Workshop on Applied Probability* (IWAP), Aug. 2010.
- [110] A. Tchamkerten, V. Chandar, and G. Wornell. Training based schemes are suboptimal for high rate asynchronous communication. In *IEEE Information Theory Workshop (ITW2009)*, Taormina, July 2009
- [111] A. Tchamkerten, V. Chandar, and D. Tse. Asynchronous capacity per unit cost. In *IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory (ISIT)*, Aug. 2010.
- [112] A. Tchamkerten, P. Solé, and G. Cohen. Heavy weight codes. In *IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory (ISIT)*, Austin, USA, Aug. 2010. IEEE Explore.
- [113] P. Vallet, W. Hachem, P. Loubaton, X. Mestre, and J. Najim. On the consistency of the g-music doa estimator. In *SSP*, Nice, France, June 2011.
- [114] P. Vallet, W. Hachem, P. Loubaton, X. Mestre, and J. Najim. An improved music algorithm based on low rank perturbation of large random matrices. In *SSP*, Nice, France, June 2011.
- [115] C. Wang, S. A. Jafar, S. Shamai, and M. Wigger. Interference, cooperation and connectivity a degrees of freedom perspective. In *International Symposium on Information Theory*, St. Petersburg, Russia, Aug. 2011.
- [116] S. Yang and J.-C. Belfiore. Distributed rotation recovers spatial diversity. In *IEEE Information Symposium on Information Theory (ISIT)*, July 2010.

2.3.3 OS: Books and Book Chapters

[117] F.-X. Socheleau, S. Houcke, P. Ciblat, and A. Aissa El Bey. *Signal metrics for vertical handoff towards* (cognitive) Wimax. InTech, 2009.

2.3.4 AP: Other productions

- [118] N. Gresset, M. Plainchault, and G. Rekaya-Ben Othman. Method and device for relaying symbols transferred by a source to a destination. (EP 09 /), Nov. 2009.
- [119] L. Luzzi, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, and J.-C. Belfiore. Méthode de décodage par réseau de points augmenté pour système multi-source. (FR 09/59680), Dec. 2009.
- [120] S. Mumtaz, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, Y. Jaouën, and B. Thedrez. Méthode et système de transmission wdm à codage chromato-temporel. (FR 10/58204), Oct. 2010.
- [121] M. Nahas, A. Saadani, and G. Rekaya-Ben Othman. Méthodologie de construction de codes spatiotemporels pour des réseaux de communications distribués asynchrones. (FR 10/52426), Mar. 2010.
- [122] M. Nahas, A. Saadani, and G. Rekaya-Ben Othman. Procédé de transmission d'un signal numérique pour un système distribué, produit programme et dispositif relais correspondants. (FR10/50200), Jan. 2010.
- [123] M. Plainchault, N. Gresset, and G. Rekaya-Ben Othman. Method and a device for determining if an information word transferred by at least a source has to be relayed. (EP 10), Mar. 2010.
- [124] G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, Y. Jaouën, and S. Mumtaz. Méthode et système de transmission sur fibre optique multi-mode et/ou multi-coeur. (FR 11/), June 2011.
- [125] O. Rioul. Contributions aux théories des ondelettes, du codage conjoint source-canal et de l'information. Technical report, Université Pierre et Marie Curie, Dec. 2009.
- [126] A. Tchamkerten. Information theoretic and statistical perspectives on asynchronism. Technical report, Université Paris-Est, Sept. 2011.

2.3.5 APTH: Phd thesis

- [127] C. Abgrall. Allocation de ressources dans les réseaux sans fil denses. PhD thesis, ENST, Oct. 2010.
- [128] M. Badr. Codage Espace Temps pour les canaux MIMO à accès multiple. PhD thesis, ENST, Feb. 2010.
- [129] E. Bouton. Algorithmes d'allocation de ressouces pour des systèmes à interférence. PhD thesis, TELECOM PARISTECH, Jan. 2010.
- [130] A. Bouzegzi. Algorithmes de discrimination des signaux pour la radio cognitive. PhD thesis, TELE-COM PARISTECH, Sept. 2009.
- [131] C. Hucher. *Definition and performance analysis of new cooperative protocols*. PhD thesis, Telecom ParisTEch, July 2009.
- [132] A. Le Duc. Performance closed-form derivations and analysis of Hybrid ARQ retransmission schemes in a cross-layer context. PhD thesis, TELECOM PARISTECH, Feb. 2010.
- [133] A. Le Poupon. Méthodes optimales et sous-optimales d'allocation de ressources efficace en codage numérique. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Mar. 2010.
- [134] L. Mroueh. On Space Time Coding Design and Multiuser Multiplexing Gain over Selective Channels. PhD thesis, Telecom ParisTech, Jan. 2010.
- [135] S. Mumtaz. *Modern coding techniques for optical communications*. PhD thesis, Telecom ParisTech, Jan. 2011.
- [136] M. Nahas. Réseaux coopératifs asynchrones: étude de performance et construction de code. PhD thesis, ENST, Dec. 2010.
- [137] A. Osmane. Réseaux spontanés et auto-organisants: du codage spatio-temporel au codage de réseaux. PhD thesis, ENST, Dec. 2011.
- [138] R. Ouertani. Algorithmes de décodage pour les systèmes multi-antennaires à complexité réduite. PhD thesis, Telecom ParisTech, Nov. 2009.
- [139] A. Salah. Schéma de décodage à faible complexité pour système MIMO. PhD thesis, ENST, July 2010.
- [140] M. Selmi. Advanced digital signal processing tools for QAM-based optical fiber communications. PhD thesis, Telecom ParisTech, Oct. 2011.
- [141] A. Zhao. Contributions à l'implémentation du MIMO pour le Wifi. PhD thesis, ENST, Oct. 2010.

Chapter 3

Complex Digital Electronic Systems

Team leaders Jean-Luc Danger (DE), Renaud Pacalet (DE).

Faculty

Rabea Ameur-Boulifa (MC),
Sophie Coudert (MC),
Guillaume Duc (MC),

Ludovic Apvrille (MC),
Jean-Luc Danger (DE),
Tarik Graba (MC),

Philippe Hoogvorst (CR CNRS), Philippe Matherat (CR CNRS), Yves Mathieu (DE), Lirida Alves De Barros Naviner (P),

Renaud Pacalet (DE), Alexis Polti (IE).

PhD students

L. Sauvage (09/04-09/10), S. Mekki (01/06-09/09), Y. Liu (06/06-12/09), L. Su (10/06–12/09), N. Muhammad (10/06–07/10), Z. Larabi (11/06–12/10), M.A. Elaabid (10/07-), N. Selmane (10/07-01/11), C. Jaber (12/07-09/11), E. Amador (03/08-03/11), D. Knorreck (09/08-10/11), M. Nassar (10/08–), S. Bhasin (11/08-), O. Meynard (11/08-12/11), Y. Souissi (11/08-), J. Torras Flaguer (12/08–), J. Pedroza Bernal (01/09-), G. Barbu (05/09-), G. Goncalves Dos Santos (05/09-), M.J. Gonzalez Pina (06/09-), S. Thomas (07/09-), T. Ban (09/09–), H. Mokrani (10/09–), F. Ben Abdallah (11/10–), Z. Cherif (11/10-), M. Ben Romdhane (01/11-), N. Debande (01/11-), C. Murdica (02/11-), S. Nascimento (07/11–), R. Heloir (09/11-), T. An (10/11–), J. Brunel (10/11–), K. Liu (10/11–), S. Sarrazin (11/11–), B.Y. Shikur (11/11–).

Post-docs, engineers

F. Flament (09/05–12/10), R. Rasheed (10/06–09/09), D. Comalrena (05/07–12/09), S. Cerdan (10/07–), G. Letourneux (01/08–02/10), H. Gouiaa (06/09–08/09), L. Sauvage (06/07–), S. Somsavaddy (06/09–11/10), F. Lozach (02/10–), A. Becoulet (05/10–), M. Sanpedro (10/10–11/10).

Associate Researchers

H. Chabanne ((P) Chef du pôle Recherche Sécurité et Cryptographie, Sagem Sécurité, 12/08–), S. Guilley ((MC) Corps Interministériel Des Mines, 12/08–)

Sabbaticals

N. Homma (Associate Professor, Tohoku University Japan, 06/09–03/10), Prof. Sorin A. Huss (Darmstadt U., Germany, 11/11).

Faculty [IT, CNRS]	[10 , 2]
PhD students	20.4
Post-docs, engineers and sabbaticals	5.5
Defended PhD thesis	10
Journal papers [published, in press]	[15, 1]
Papers in conference proceedings	113
Chapters and books	2
Patents and software	[3, 3]
Grants [public, private, european] (k€)	[1016, 359, 389]

3.1 Objectives

The "Complex Digital Electronic System" team research topics are about the architectures and methods to design efficiently digital electronic systems under harsh requirements. The objectives are closely linked to the study of cutting edge techniques which allow electronic designers to meet ever growing constraints of complexity management, reliability, power consumption, speed, security and flexibility. The team has research collaborations with well known companies of the area such has STMicroelectronics, NXP, Freescale, ST-Ericsson, CEA, Orange or TexasInstruments. Among the academic laboratories the most representative are the CNRS laboratories LIP6 (UMR7606), LIRMM (UMR5506), GIPSA-Lab (UMR5216) or TIMA (UMR51599). We are also highly involved in the CIM (Centre Intégré de Microélectronique) PACA regional framework and the SAME (Sophia Antipolis MicroElectronics) association, two very important academic-industrials French consortiums. In order to balance industrials concerns and advanced academic research, we increased during the two past years our effort for PhD supervision. We focused our research towards three main themes:

- Design methodologies are coverered by the Design Space exploration and assisted refinement of integrated systems theme.
- Architectures with security constraints are dealt in the Trusted computed hardware theme.
- Architectures with a high constraint in Reliability are in the theme Analysis and Design of Reliable Processors Based on Unreliable Technologies
- Architectures with constraints of complexity and Power Consumption are in the Optimal architectures for complex algorithms implementations theme. Architectures for "Software defined radio" and multimedia applications are covered in this theme.

Team members, located in the sites of Paris and Sophia-Antipolis (LabSoC), have a strong teaching activity in the undergraduate and master level at Telecom ParisTech and at Eurecom. Lectures are in the fields of digital electronic design, embedded systems design, SoC (Systemson-Chip) design and embedded systems security. An important part is given to practical aspects which are covered by supervisions of numerous student projects. The latest research results feed our teaching activity, for example, ANR SoCLib project methods are directly used in the "System-On-Chip Design" track of our master of engineering. Team members have teaching activities and responsibilities at master level in several others institutions such as Paris-6 University.

3.2 Main Results

The main research results obtained during the period mid-2009 - end-2011 are presented below for the research areas of the Complex Digital Electronic System team.

3.2.1 Design Space Exploration and Assisted Refinement of Integrated Systems

Faculty L. Apvrille, R. Pacalet, S. Coudert, R. Boulifa

Main events Release of the free toolkit TTool¹, steering of the SAFA (Sophia-Antipolis Formal Analysis Group) workshop

Projects Cifre Ph.D. with Freescale, FP7 european project EVITA, LIP6-Telecom ParisTech project *Robustar*, Institut Telecom Futur/rupture Ph.D. on power-consumption aware design space exploration

The increasing complexity of Systems-on-Chip requires new design and verification methodologies. The approach developed at LabSoC relies on modeling at a very high level and on early verifications in the design cycle. A strong separation between control and data processing is introduced. At the highest levels data processing is completely abstracted away. Control—oriented tasks exchange abstract and valueless samples, allowing ultra-fast simulations and static formal verification. This approach is supported by a dedicated UML profile (DIPLODOCUS) and a free software toolkit (TTool). For the period 2009–2011 the main achievements are:

System-level Design Space Exploration (DSE): definition of a four-step methodology, comprising requirement / property capture, application modeling, architecture modeling and mapping [152] [287]. Simulation and formal verification are used in the first and second steps [152]. The current focus is on the property modeling step that still needs to be enhanced [152], and the modeling of advanced communication schemes and hierarchical scheduling [287].

Very fast simulation techniques: Design of a new speculative and transaction-based simulator. [172]. The current focus is on adding power consumption estimation during simulation.

Formal verification: formal definition of the sets of primitives used in application and architecture modelling. Formal description and implementation of the mapping phase [219].

Coverage-enhanced simulation: To offer an intermediate scheme between a on-trace simulation, and an exhaustive computation of all system traces, definition of a coverage-enhanced simulation engine that can explore a given percentage of a mapping model [288]. To achieve this, definition and implementation of a new model-checker with possible variability in the system coverage.

The TTool toolkit: design and open—source release of a toolkit. This toolkit shares several features with related works of the team, on embedded systems modeling [168], embedded system dimensioning [276] and methodological assistant [275]. TTool is supported by Freescale. The whole framework is currently used in the context of the European project EVITA for security modelling and analysis on automotive security [245]. It has also been selected for the design of future aeronautics platforms (CORAC project).

Automated and Proved Refinement A new approach based on abstraction refinement [235, 283] intends to automate the refinement validation of high-level models into lower-level ones. That process shall as well guarantee the consistency between two abstraction levels.

Component-based design Whereas refinement approaches decompose complexity of systems "vertically", by splitting the design into multiple design levels, component-based approaches reduce complexity "horizontally" whereby designs are obtained by assembling existing components. The global correctness of a design is based on the correctness of components and their assembly. Using that approach, we have defined a semantic model for the analysis and verification of safety and security properties of component-based applications [146, 165].

¹http://labsoc.comelec.enst.fr/turtle/ttool.html

3.2.2 Trusted Computing Hardware

Faculty J-L Danger, G. Duc, T. Graba, S. Guilley, P. Hoogvorst, Y. Mathieu, R. Pacalet

Main events International DPA Contest V2 & V3, creation of the spin-off "Secure-IC", winner of the CNCE'2010 contest, in "création-développement" section, organization of CryptArchi'2010, chair of IEEE FDTC'2011, sabbaticals of Prof. Naofumi Homma (Tohoku U., Japan) and Prof. Sorin A. Huss (Darmstadt U., Germany).

Projects ANR SeFPGA, ANR SECRESOC, System@tic Pôle "Secure Algorithm", DGA RAPID "BCDL", ANR-JST "SPACES", ENIAC "TOISE", PhD CIFRE BULL, PhD CIFRE OBERTHUR, PhD CIFRE Secure-IC.

Cryptoprocessor implementations can be attacked by taking advantage of the physical behaviour of the VLSI circuit. The passive attacks also called "Side Channel Attacks" are based on the analyzis of the activity which can be made either by observing the power lines or the electromagnetic field radiation. The active attacks consist in injecting faults to modify the circuit's behaviour. The attack goal is to recover the secret key of the known algorithm, or to modify the code stored in external memories. The Trusted Computing Activity of the "Complex Digital Electronic Systems" research group is to understand the attack mechanism and provide prouvable efficient countermeasures.

The attacks and therefore their protections are done at circuit level or board level. At circuit level they aim at recovering the ciphering key or even the algorithm. They can be performed on any circuit from the smartcard to bigger VLSI devices.

Board-level probing attacks use external memories and memory buses as natural targets.

Protection at logical and physical level: During the mid-2009 end-2011 period, the research about the **protection at logical and physical level** has advanced on many point:

The Electromagnetic Analysis has been investigated. It has been shown that the attack can be enhanced by using precharacterized models [230] or by performing a pre-stage of cartography which allows to locate accurately the spatial position of interests for the analysis [249, 291, 248, 250]. The observation traces represented in the frequency domain have also been studied and can greatly enhance the attack [231, 229, 233]. The Template Attack, a powerful attack which does not need any detail about the implementation but a profiling stage, has been investigated. It has been shown that it is possible to improve this attack by reducing the noise and by using good models [158]. Also the technique of Principal Component Analysis has been studied to find and combine the best points of interest [259]. The combination of different parameters of the attack, like the model and the points of interest has also been tried to enhance the attack [203]. The use of digital signal processing techniques, like the Kalman filtering, allowed to reduce the noise of the acquired traces and thus the power of the attack [256, 257]. These techniques can also be used to attack protected implementation where a jitter has been added on traces to avoid a synchronization operation [208]. The attack used for reverse engineering has started by using either the side-channels [207] or the fault injection technique [246]. Some protections have been proposed [184].

The countermeasures with Dual Rail with Precharge Logic (DPL) have been intensively used. It has been shown that the DPL logic which is a good protection against Side-Channel Attack has also good properties against fault attack [253, 178, 292]. Moreover techniques to show the impact and enhance the place and route stages of DPL implementations has been carried out [150, 247, 155]. A powerful DPL logic "BCDL" as Balanced Cell Differential Logic, has been devised to avoid the flaws of the traditionnal WDDL logic [193, 237, 179]. However special care has to be taken to implement a cryptoprocessor in BCDL, as explained in [181]. The technique of countermeasures by masking has been successfully analysed and formalized by using second order attacks [224, 225, 226]. Therefore powerful countermeasure by masking have been devised in order to thwart high-order attacks [227, 238, 271].

Protections at protocol level by using resilience properties have been studied [210]. They greatly reduce the needs to protect the implementations at physical level.

The randomness generation being a key operator for cryptographic systems, a True Random Number Generator has been studied to provide both speed and high level of robustness [148]. A study of Physically Unclonable Function (PUF) has started [186] to characterize the PUF at the design stage.

Protection at board level:

At board level, a complete architecture, called SecBus, has been proposed to protect the confidentiality and the integrity of code and data on the memory bus and on external memories [294]. This architecture has been combined with an internal protection mechanism to build a completely secure MPSoC [187].

The impact of fault injection attacks on smartcards that implement the JavaCard standard has been studied. New combined hardware/software attacks and new attack paths that highlight flaws in the JavaCard standard and on some implementations, have been discovered and some counter-measures have been proposed [175, 176].

Hardware security module: In the scope of the European project EVITA for security modelling and analysis on automotive security, we have participated to the definition and implementation of a secure architecture for automotive embedded system. A new global methodology has been settled, from requirement and attack tree captures, to the definition of the architecture [252] - including a hardware security module, and cryptographic protocols relying on this hardware security module - and the formal verification of this architecture [245] [244], and until its implementation and tests (on-going work). Future work will consist in applying techniques and architecture we have defined in EVITA for other kinds of systems, e.g. for future aeronautics platforms (CORAC project).

3.2.3 Analysis and Design of Reliable Processors Based on Unreliable Technologies

Faculty L. Alves de Barros Naviner, P. Matherat, A. Polti , J-L Danger, G. Duc

Main events Invited seminar on DSM Reliability Issues at Universida Federal do Ceara (Fortaleza, Brazil/August 2011). Organization of STIC-AmSud workshop on Design for reliability and portability of RF Interfaces based on Nanoscale CMOS technology (Paris, French/May 2010). Invited conference at the Schloss Dagstuhl for Informatik GmbH (Dahstuhl, Germany/September 2008).

Projects STIC-AmSud NanoRadio, CATRENE Rely, ANR RobustFPGA, CIFRE STMicroeletronics, CIFRE EDF, CIFRE THALES.

Fault-tolerant architectures have been historically targeted to mission critical applications, but the current research shows that with the expected reduction in the reliability of nanoscale CMOS, even ordinary circuits will need fault protection. On these cases, the associated overheads must be minimized to guarantee some gain in the scaling process. Indeed, deep submicron technologies (DSM) process is reaching some important limits that reflect negatively in the reliability of the integrated circuits. Some of these are manufacturing imprecision, increased susceptibility to environmental factors and physical parameters variability. This results in accelerated aging of components and increased number of faults in the system. Our work deals with the challenges related to reliability analysis and reliability improvement of digital circuits. The objective is to propose efficient methods and tools for, on the one hand, accurate reliability analysis and, on the other hand, design of economically viable reliable complexe processors. Initial results have led to the establishment of cooperation with renowned academic laboratories (Delft University, IMEC, Fraunhofer Institutes, CEA, LIP6, TIMA, UDR, UFRJ, UFRGS...) and with suppliers/endusers industrials (ATMEL, EADS, NXP, ARM, THALES, STMicroelectronics, ...) in the context of cooperative or billateral contracts.

Reliability Assessment: Our initial studies focused on estimating the reliability of logic circuits and we proposed two new approaches (Probabilistic Binomial Reliability-PBR- and Signal

Probability Reliability- SPR-) as mentioned in previous report. Both proposed approaches deal with different fault models and allow several trade-offs between accuracy and computation complexity for reliability assessment that outcome state of the art solutions. During the period concerned by this report, we have explored new approaches to the analysis of reliability, such as the use of Petri nets [223] and progressive analysis [198]. Our search for even more effective approaches lead to two new methods (CPA and H-CPA) [284, 157, 270] based on SPR. These solutions use conditional probabilities and clustering approach to produce accurate estimation with linear complexity. We also proposed a smart IP for generating fault vectors[191]. This IP has been embedded in a FPGA based solution to accelerate reliability analysis of digital circuits. This fully parameterizable platform, named FIFA and based on PBR model, deals with several fault models as well as multiple faults are supported [142]. Furthermore, we studied the problem of defining appropriate metrics for reliability assessment taking into account the processor target application [190] and in order to compare some fault tolerance approaches [265]. Work in progress include reliability analysis of probabilistic circuits and bottom-up reliability prediction of SoCs.

Reliability Improvement: Studies on improving the reliability voluntarily began after those on the analysis of reliability. This is because the development of efficient algorithms and tools for reliability assessment is crucial to establish effective cost-quality trade-offs related to different reliability improvement schemes. Among the produced results, we can mention a simple fault-tolerant voter for TMR schemas [173], a tool for automatic reliability improvement based on TMR [147], a progressive module redundancy approach [145]. We have defined the concept of significance as an indicator of the relative importance of a sub-system with respect to reliability properties of the system which it is part of [159]. This powerful approach allows to guide efficient redundancy insertion and constitutes the basis of our actual work on selective hardening. Work in progress include design of defect-tolerant FPGA, design of cost-effective self-controlled digital arithmetic operators, hardening/test of embedded processors.

3.2.4 Optimal architectures for complex algorithms implementations

Faculty P. Matherat, Y. Mathieu, L. Naviner, R. Pacalet, A. Polti

Main events

Projects Telma(ANR) Calder(ANR), IDROMel (ANR), PFMM (French cluster SCS, DGE), SYMPA (French cluster SCS, DGCIS), SACRA (FP7 European project), SPECTRA (CELTIC European project, DGCIS)

Architectures for image and multimedia processing: Studies on n-dimensional generic cache architectures for FPGA-based image processing systems gave promising results. We have demonstrated the efficiency of a low-cost cache solution exploiting spatial and temporal locality in a smarter manner than classical associative caches [153, 228, 289]. This work was carried out in collaboration with the Gipsa-Lab laboratory with the support of the ANR project TELMA. This work will continue in the framework of a new collaboration with the TIMA labs and control theory specialists from LAAS.

Energy consumption of digital circuits and clockless systems:

We continue the study of the origin of the dissipation of digital circuits, by focusing on the logical origins rather than the technological ones of this dissipation. The thesis beign carried by Mariem Slimani is an overview of these issues, and tries to understand how aspects that appear to be technological are in fact related to architectural issues. In particular, the leakage currents of modern technologies have to be balanced with the switching energy, and this balance is clearly related to the choice of architecture implementations [255, 254]. In addition, we continue the study of more fundamental sources of dissipation related to synchronization issues, and this leads us to explore the logical foundations of clockless circuits [154, 282]. Regarding education, we published a book on the history of microelectronics [272].

Flexible architecture for the Software Defined Radio (SDR)

Nowadays mobile communication systems operate in different radio spectrum, radio access technologies, and protocol stacks depending on the network being utilized. Moreover, new services and applications, like Cognitive Radio (CR), require new digital signal processing capabilities (sensing, etc.) This gives rise to the need of a flexible hardware platform that would be capable of supporting the baseband processing for all the different standards in the entire wireless communication frequency range. This platform shall of course be extremely power efficient.

In a large multi-projects context we propose a generic baseband prototype architecture for SDR applications[215, 240]. This architecture embeds a general purpose micro-controller and a collection of specialized Digital Signal Processors (DSP), each dedicated to a class of algorithms like, for instance, interleaving - de-interleaving of sequences of data samples[242], sample rate conversion[151, 251] or channel decoding[285, 144, 143]. Most existing works in the field are based on specialized micro-processors (vector processors, VLIW, ASIP, etc.) and on advanced interconnects (Networks on Chip). Unfortunately these solutions are still usually above the maximum power budget for such applications. Our approach mainly consists in identifying a small set of very complex hardwired processing blocks that will take in charge 90 to 95% of the total baseband processing power in a very power-efficient way. Each block is highly parametrizable and is assisted by a minimal 8 bits micro-controller allowing it to run sequences of operations (e.g. channel estimation) from basic commands (Fourier transforms, component-wise products, etc.) The platform is open and the whole project will be distributed under the French equivalent of the GPL-LGPL open source licenses, both for hardware models and embedded software.

The baseband processor is complemented by an open source software development kit comprising a high level Application Programming Interface (API), an embedded Operating System (OS), cross-compilers, linkers, debuggers and several simulation environments. It is currently used in several national and European projects (SYMPA, SACRA, SPECTRA); depending on the projects' specificities, several target technologies are considered, from high end, FPGA-based, prototyping boards to System-on-Chip integrated circuits.

3.3 References

3.3.1 ACL: Articles in ISI-Indexed Journals

- [142] L. Alves de Barros Naviner, J. F. Naviner, G. Gonçalves dos Santos Jr, E. Crespo Marques, and N. Maciel. Fifa: A fault-injection-fault-analysis-based tool for reliability assessment at rtl level. *Micro-electronics Reliability Journal*, 51(9-11):1459–1463, Oct. 2011.
- [143] E. Amador, R. Knopp, R. Pacalet, and V. Rezard. High Throughput and Low Power Enhancements for LDPC Decoders. *International Journal On Advances in Telecommunications*, 4(1-2):143–155, Sept. 2011.
- [144] E. Amador, R. Knopp, R. Pacalet, and V. Rezard. Dynamic Power Management for the Iterative Decoding of Turbo Codes. *IEEE Transactions on Very Large Scale Integration Systems*, 99:1–5, Oct. 2011.
- [145] T. Ban and L. Alves de Barros Naviner. Progressive module redundancy for fault-tolerant designs in nanoelectronics. *Microelectronics Reliability Journal*, 51(9-11):1489–1492, Oct. 2011.
- [146] T. Barros, R. Ameur-Boulifa, A. Cansado, L. Henrio, and E. Madelaine. Behavioural Models for Distributed Fractal Components. *Annals of Telecommunications*, Nov. 2009.
- [147] E. Crespo Marques, L. Alves de Barros Naviner, and J.-F. Naviner. An efficient tool for reliability improvement based on tmr. *Microelectronics Reliability Journal, Elsevier*, 50(9-11):1247–1250, Oct. 2010
- [148] J.-L. Danger, S. Guilley, and P. Hoogvorst. High Speed True Random Number Generator based on Open Loop Structures in FPGAs. *Elsevier Microelectronics Journal*, 40(11):1650–1656, Nov. 2009.
- [149] G. Gonçalves dos Santos Jr, E. Crespo Marques, L. Alves de Barros Naviner, and J. F. Naviner. Using error tolerance of target application for efficient reliability improvement of digital circuits. *Microelectronics Reliability Journal, Elsevier*, 50(9-11):1219–1222, Oct. 2010.
- [150] S. Guilley, L. Sauvage, F. Florent, V.-N. Vong, P. Hoogvorst, and R. Pacalet. Evaluation of Power-

- Constant Dual-Rail Logics Counter-Measures against DPA with Design-Time Security Metrics. *IEEE Transactions on Computers*, 59(9):1250–1263, Sept. 2010.
- [151] R. Knopp, C. Schmidt-Knorreck, and R. Pacalet. Hardware Optimized Sample Rate Conversion for Software Defined Radio. FREQUENZ, Journal of RF-Engineering and Telecomuncations, Nov. 2010.
- [152] D. Knorreck, L. Apvrille, and P. De Saqui-Sannes. Tepe: A sysml language for time-constrained property modeling and formal verification. ACM SIGSOFT Software Engineering Notes, 36(1):1–8, Jan. 2011.
- [153] S. Mancini, Z. Larabi, Y. Mathieu, T. Toczek, and L. Pierrefeu. Exploration of 3d grid caching strategies for ray-shooting. *Journal of Real-Time Image Processing*, pages 1–17, Aug. 2010.
- [154] P. Matherat and M.-T. Jaekel. Relativistic causality and clockless circuits. ACM JETC, 7(4):Article n. 20, Dec. 2011.
- [155] L. Sauvage, M. Nassar, S. Guilley, F. Florent, J.-L. Danger, and Y. Mathieu. Exploiting Dual-Output Programmable Blocks to Balance Secure Dual-Rail Logics. *International Journal of Reconfigurable Computing*, Dec. 2010.
- [156] L. Sauvage, S. Guilley, F. Flament, J.-L. Danger, and Y. Mathieu. Blind cartography for side channel attacks. *International Journal of Reconfigurable Computing*, Oct. 2011. To appear.
- [157] J. Torras Flaquer, J.-M. Daveau, L. Alves de Barros Naviner, and P. Roche. Fast reliability analysis of combinatorial logic circuits using conditional probabilities. *Microelectronics Reliability Journal*, *Elsevier*, 50(9-11):1215–1218, Sept. 2010.

3.3.2 ACTI: Articles in Proceedings of International Conferences

- [158] M. a. Elaabid and S. Guilley. Practical Improvements of Profiled Side-Channel Attacks on Hardware Crypto-Accelerator. AFRICACRYPT, 6055:243–260, May 2010.
- [159] L. Alves de Barros Naviner, J. F. Naviner, T. Ban, and G. Gonçalves dos Santos Jr. Reliability analysis based on significance. In *IEEE Conference on Micro-nanoelectronics, Technology and Applications (CMTA)*, Buenos Aires, Argentina, Aug. 2011.
- [160] L. Alves de Barros Naviner, J. F. Naviner, G. Gonçalves dos Santos Jr, E. Crespo Marques, and N. Maciel. Fifa: A fault-injection-fault-analysis-based tool for reliability assessment at rtl level. In European Symposium on Reliability of Electron Devices, Failure Physics and Analysis (ESREF), Bordeaux, France, Oct. 2011.
- [161] E. Amador, R. Knopp, R. Pacalet, and V. Rezard. On-the-fly syndrome check for LDPC decoders. In Sixth International Conference on Wireless and Mobile Communications, ICWMC 2010, Sept. 2010.
- [162] E. Amador, R. Knopp, V. Rezard, and R. Pacalet. Hybrid Iteration Control on LDPC Decoders. In Sixth International Conference on Wireless and Mobile Communications, ICWMC 2010, Valencia, Spain, Sept. 2010.
- [163] E. Amador, R. Knopp, V. Rezard, and R. Pacalet. Dynamic Power Management on LDPC Decoders. In IEEE Annual Symposium on VLSI, ISVLSI 2010, Washington, DC, USA, July 2010.
- [164] R. Ameur-Boulifa, L. Henrio, and E. Madelaine. Behavioural models for group communications. In *Workshop on Components and Service Interoperability (WCSI)*, Malaga (Spain), June 2010.
- [165] R. Ameur-Boulifa, R. Halalai, L. Henrio, and E. Madelaine. Verifying safety of fault-tolerant distributed components. In 8th International Symposium on Formal Aspects of Component Software – FACS 2011, Oslo, Norway, Sept. 2011.
- [166] L. Apvrille and A. Becoulet. Fast and multi-platform prototyping of embedded systems from uml/sysml models. In *The 14th edition of the Sophia Antipolis MicroElectronics Forum (SAME'2011)*, Sophia-Antipolis, France, Oct. 2011.
- [167] L. Apvrille and A. Becoulet. Prototyping an embedded automotive system from its uml/sysml models. In ERTSS'2012, Toulouse, France, Feb. 2012.
- [168] L. Apvrille and P. De Saqui-Sannes. Turtle: Four weddings and a tutorial. In Embedded Real Time Software and Systems (ERTS2'2010), Toulouse, France, May 2010.
- [169] L. Apvrille and P. De Saqui-Sannes. An open-source simulator for real-time sysml models. In Simulation in Aerospace 2011, Toulouse, France, June 2011.
- [170] L. Apvrille, P. De Saqui-Sannes, and A. Mifdaoui. A uml framework for the dimensioning and formal verification of embedded systems. In *Second annual SAFA workshop*, Sophia-Antipolis, France, Sept. 2009.
- [171] L. Apvrille, R. El Khayari, O. Henniger, Y. Roudier, H. Schweppe, H. Seudié, B. Weyl, and M. Wolf.

- Secure automotive on-board electronics network architecture. In FISITA 2010 World Automotive Congress, Budapest, Hungary, June 2010.
- [172] L. Apvrille, D. Knorreck, and R. Pacalet. Interactive System Level Debugging of Systems-on-Chip. In *S4D 2010*, Southampton, UK, Sept. 2010.
- [173] T. Ban and L. Alves de Barros Naviner. A simple fault-tolerant digital voter circuit in tmr nanoarchitectures. In *IEEE International NEWCAS Conference*, pages 269–272, Montreal, Canada, June 2010.
- [174] T. Ban and L. Alves de Barros Naviner. Progressive module redundancy for fault-tolerant designs in nanoelectronics. In European Symposium on Reliability of Electron Devices, Failure Physics and Analysis (ESREF), Bordeaux, France, Oct. 2011.
- [175] G. Barbu, G. Duc, and P. Hoogvorst. Java card operand stack: Fault attacks, combined attacks and countermeasures. In Smart Card Research and Advanced Application Conference (CARDIS), Leuven, Belgique, Sept. 2011. To appear.
- [176] G. Barbu, P. Hoogvorst, and G. Duc. Application replay on java card 3 when the garbage collector gets confused. In *e-Smart*, Sept. 2011.
- [177] G. Barbu, P. Hoogvorst, and G. Duc. Application-replay attack on java cards: When the garbage collector gets confused. In *International Symposium on Engineering Secure Software and Systems (ESSoS)*, Eindhoven, The Netherlands, Feb. 2012.
- [178] S. Bhasin, J.-L. Danger, F. Florent, T. Graba, S. Guilley, Y. Mathieu, M. Nassar, L. Sauvage, and N. Selmane. Combined SCA and DFA Countermeasures Integrable in a FPGA Design Flow. In *ReConFig*, pages 213–218, Cancun, Mexico, Dec. 2009. IEEE Computer Society.
- [179] S. Bhasin, S. Guilley, F. Flament, N. Selmane, and J.-L. Danger. Countering early evaluation: An approach towards robust dual-rail precharge logic. In *WESS 2010*, Scottsdale, Arizona, USA, Oct. 2010. ACM.
- [180] S. Bhasin, S. Guilley, L. Sauvage, and J.-L. Danger. Unrolling Cryptographic Circuits: A Simple Countermeasure Against Side-Channel Attacks. In CT-RSA, volume 5985, pages 195–207, San Francisco, CA, USA, Mar. 2010. Springer LNCS.
- [181] S. Bhasin, S. Guilley, T. Graba, Y. Souissi, and J.-L. Danger. Efficient dual-rail implementations in fpga using block rams. In *ReConFig 2011*, Cancun, Mexico, Dec. 2011. To appear.
- [182] S. Bhasin, S. Guilley, Y. Souissi, and J.-L. Danger. Efficient fpga implementations of dual-rail countermeasures using stochastic models. In *NIAT 2011*, Nara, Japan, Sept. 2011.
- [183] S. Bhasin, S. Guilley, Y. Souissi, T. Graba, and J.-L. Danger. Dpl implementations in fpga using embedded bram. In *TrustED 2011*, Leuven-BELGIUM, Sept. 2011. To appear.
- [184] J. Bringer, H. Chabanne, and J.-L. Danger. Protecting the noekeon cipher against scare attacks in fpgas by using dynamic implementations. In *RECONFIG*, pages 183–188, Cancun, Mexico, Dec. 2009. IEEE.
- [185] Z. Cherif, F. Florent, S. Bhasin, J.-L. Danger, S. Guilley, and H. Chabanne. Evaluation of white-box and grey-box Noekeon implementations in FPGA. In *ReConFig*, pages 310–315, Cancun, Quintana Roo, Mexico, Dec. 2010. IEEE Computer Society.
- [186] Z. Cherif, J.-L. Danger, and L. Bossuet. Performance evaluation of physically unclonable function by delay statistics. In *NEWCAS*, Bordeaux, June 2011.
- [187] P. Cotret, J. Crenne, G. Gogniat, J.-P. Diguet, L. Gaspar, and G. Duc. Distributed security for communications and memories in a multiprocessor architecture. In 18th Reconfigurable Architectures Workshop, Anchorage, Alaska, USA, May 2011.
- [188] E. Crespo Marques, L. Alves de Barros Naviner, and J. F. Naviner. An efficient tool for reliability improvement based on tmr. In European Symposium on Reliability of Electron Devices, Failure Physics and Analysis (ESREF), Monte Cassino, Italie, Oct. 2010.
- [189] E. Crespo Marques, L. Alves de Barros Naviner, and J. F. Naviner. A method for efficient implementation of reliable processors. In *IEEE International Midwest Symposium on Circuits and Systems (MWSCAS)*, Seattle, Washington, USA, Aug. 2010.
- [190] E. Crespo Marques, G. Gonçalves dos Santos Jr, L. Alves de Barros Naviner, and J. F. Naviner. Effective metrics for reliability analysis. In *IEEE International Midwest Symposium on Circuits and Systems (MWSCAS)*, Seattle, Washington, USA, Aug. 2010.
- [191] E. Crespo Marques, N. Maciel, L. Alves de Barros Naviner, and J. F. Naviner. A new fault generator suitable for reliability analysis of digital circuits. In *IEEE Conference on Micro-nanoelectronics*, *Technology and Applications (CAMTA-CUMTA'10)*, Montevideo, Uruguay, Oct. 2010. IEEE.
- [192] J.-L. Danger and L. Sauvage. BCDL: Dual Active and Passive Side-Channel Attacks Countermeasure. In *e-smart*, Sophia Antipolis, FRANCE, Sept. 2010.

- [193] J.-L. Danger, S. Guilley, S. Bhasin, M. Nassar, and L. Sauvage. Overview of Dual Rail with Precharge Logic Styles to Thwart Implementation-Level Attacks on Hardware Cryptoprocessors. In SCS, pages 1–8, Djerba, Tunisia, Nov. 2009. IEEE.
- [194] N. Debande, Y. Souissi, S. Guilley, J.-L. Danger, M. Nassar, and T.-H. Le. Re-synchronization by moments: an efficient solution to align side-channel traces. In *WIFS 2011*, Foz do Iguaçu BRAZIL, Dec. 2011. To appear.
- [195] N. Debande, Y. Souissi, T.-H. Le, S. Guilley, and J.-L. Danger. A multiresolution time-frequency analysis based side channel attacks. In WIFS Poster Session, Brazil, Nov. 2011.
- [196] N. Debande, Y. Souissi, M. Nassar, S. Guilley, T.-H. Le, and J.-L. Danger. Side channel analysis enhancement: A proposition for measurements resynchronisation. In *CryptArchi 2011*, Bochum, Ruhr, GERMANY, Mar. 2011.
- [197] H. Ezzat and L. Alves de Barros Naviner. An iterative tool for reliability analysis of nanoscale circuits based on ptm model. In *International conference on Design & Technology of Integrated Systems*, Hammamet, Tunisia, Mar. 2010.
- [198] H. Ezzat and L. Alves de Barros Naviner. Level matrix propagation for reliability analysis of nanoscale circuits based on probabilistic transfer matrix. In *International Symposium on Quality Electronic Design*, San Jose, CA, USA, Mar. 2010.
- [199] F. Florent, S. Guilley, J.-L. Danger, M. a. Elaabid, H. Maghrebi, and L. Sauvage. About probability density function estimation for side channel analysis. In COSADE, pages 15–23, Darmstadt, Germany, Feb. 2010.
- [200] G. Gonçalves dos Santos Jr, E. Crespo Marques, L. Alves de Barros Naviner, and J. F. Naviner. Using error tolerance of target application for efficient reliability improvement of digital circuits. In European Symposium on Reliability of Electron Devices, Failure Physics and Analysis (ESREF), Monte Cassino, Italie, Oct. 2010.
- [201] S. Guilley and P. NGUYEN. Smart-SIC Analyzer: A Circuit-Level Vulnerability Assistant. In e-smart, Sophia Antipolis, FRANCE, Sept. 2010.
- [202] S. Guilley, S. Chaudhuri, L. Sauvage, J.-L. Danger, T. Beyrouthy, and L. Fesquet. Updates on the Potential of Clock-less Logics to Strengthen Cryptographic Circuits against Side-Channel Attacks. In *ICECS*, pages 351–354, Medina, Yasmine Hammamet, Tunisia, Dec. 2009. IEEE.
- [203] S. Guilley, J.-L. Danger, O. Meynard, and M. a. Elaabid. Combined side-channel attacks. In *WISA*, volume 6513, pages 175–190, Jeju Island, Korea, Aug. 2010. Springer.
- [204] S. Guilley, O. Meynard, L. Sauvage, and J.-L. Danger. An empirical study of the eis assumption in side-channel attacks against hardware implementations. In COSADE, pages 10–14, Darmstadt, Germany, Feb. 2010.
- [205] S. Guilley, L. Sauvage, J.-L. Danger, and N. Selmane. Unified resilience against passive and active attacks. In *CHES*, Santa Barbara, CA, USA, Aug. 2010.
- [206] S. Guilley, L. Sauvage, J.-L. Danger, and N. Selmane. Fault Injection Resilience. In FDTC, volume IEEE Computer Society, pages 51–65, Santa Barbara, CA, USA, Aug. 2010. IEEE Computer Society.
- [207] S. Guilley, L. Sauvage, J. Micolod, D. Réal, and F. Valette. Defeating Any Secret Cryptography with SCARE Attacks. In *LatinCrypt*, volume 6212, pages 273–293, Puebla, Mexico, Aug. 2010. Springer.
- [208] S. Guilley, K. Khalfallah, V. Lomne, and J.-L. Danger. Formal Framework for the Evaluation of Waveform Resynchronization Algorithms. In WISTP, volume 6633, pages 100–115, Heraklion, Greece, June 2011. Springer.
- [209] S. Guilley, O. Meynard, M. Nassar, G. Duc, P. Hoogvorst, M. a. Elaabid, S. Bhasin, Y. Souissi, N. Debande, L. Sauvage, and J.-L. Danger. Vade Mecum on Side-Channels Attacks and Countermeasures for the designer and the Evaluator. In *DTIS*, pages 1–6, Athens, Greece, Apr. 2011. IEEE.
- [210] S. Guilley, L. Sauvage, J.-L. Danger, N. Selmane, and D. Réal. Performance Evaluation of Protocols Resilient to Physical Attacks. In *HOST*, pages 51–56, San Diego, CA, USA, June 2011. IEEE.
- [211] S. Guilley, Y. Souissi, H. Maghrebi, and J.-L. Danger. Quantifying the quality of side channel acquisitions. In COSADE 2011, Darmstadt, GERMANY, Mar. 2011.
- [212] O. Henniger, L. Apvrille, A. Fuchs, Y. Roudier, A. Ruddle, and B. Weyl. Security requirements for automotive on-board networks. In *The 9th International Conference on ITS Telecommunication (ITST'2009)*, Oct. 2009.
- [213] P. Hoogvorst. The Variance Power Attack. In COSADE, pages 4-9, Darmstadt, Germany, Feb. 2010.
- [214] P. Hoogvorst, J.-L. Danger, and G. Duc. Software implementation of dual-rail representation. In COSADE, Darmstadt, RFA, Feb. 2011.
- [215] R. Knopp, F. Kaltenberger, D. Nussbaum, N. Nikaein, R. Pacalet, C. Bonnet, M. Wetterwald, and

- A. M. Hayar. Architectures for cognitive radio testbeds and demonstrators An overview. In *The 5th International Conference on Cognitive Radio Oriented Wireless Networks and Communications, CrownCom 2010*, Cannes, France, June 2010.
- [216] D. Knorreck, L. Apvrille, and R. Pacalet. An interactive system level simulation environment for systems on chip. In *Second annual SAFA Workshop*, Sophia-Antipolis, Sept. 2009.
- [217] D. Knorreck, L. Apvrille, and P. De Saqui-Sannes. Tepe: A sysml language for time-constrained property modeling and formal verification. In *Third IEEE International workshop UML and Formal Methods*, Shanghai, China, Nov. 2010.
- [218] D. Knorreck, L. Apvrille, and R. Pacalet. An interactive system level simulation environment for systems- on-chip. In Embedded Real Time Software and Systems (ERTS2'2010), Toulouse, France, May 2010.
- [219] D. Knorreck, L. Apvrille, and R. Pacalet. Formal system-level design space exploration. In The 10th annual international conference on New Technologies of Distributed Systems (NOTERE'2010),, Tozeur, Tunisie, June 2010. IEEE.
- [220] D. Knorreck, L. Apvrille, and R. Pacalet. Demonstration of an interactive system level simulation environment for systems-on-chip. In 10th annual international conference on New Technologies of Distributed Systems (NOTERE'2010), Tozeur, Tunisia, June 2010.
- [221] D. Knorreck, L. Apvrille, and R. Pacalet. Partitioning of in-vehicle systems-on-chip: a methodology based on diplodocus. In 13th Sophia-Antipolis MicroEletronics forum (SAME'2010), Sophia-Antipolis, France, Oct. 2010.
- [222] I. Krikidis and L. Alves de Barros Naviner. Cognitive radio for mimo uplink channels via svd-based space alignment. In *IEEE Wireless Communications and Networking Conference*, Cancun, Mexico, Mar 2011
- [223] A. Liraneto Torres Costa and L. Alves de Barros Naviner. Modelling stuck-at faults in combinational circuits with generalized stochastic petri nets. In *International Symposium on VLSI Design, Automation & Test (VLSI-DAT)*, Hsinchu, Taiwan, Apr. 2010.
- [224] H. Maghrebi, J.-L. Danger, F. Flament, S. Guilley, and L. Sauvage. Evaluation of Countermeasure Implementations Based on Boolean Masking to Thwart Side-Channel Attacks. In SCS, pages 1–6, Djerba, Tunisia, Nov. 2009. IEEE.
- [225] H. Maghrebi, S. Guilley, J.-L. Danger, and F. Flament. Entropy-based Power Attack. In *Hardware-Oriented Security and Trust (HOST)*, pages 1–6, Anaheim, CA, USA, June 2010. IEEE.
- [226] H. Maghrebi, S. Guilley, and J.-L. Danger. Formal Security Evaluation of Hardware Boolean Masking against Second-Order Attacks. In *HOST*, pages 40–46, San Diego, CA, USA, June 2011. IEEE.
- [227] H. Maghrebi, S. Guilley, and J.-L. Danger. Leakage squeezing countermeasure against high-order attacks. In WISTP, volume 6633, pages 208–223, Heraklion, June 2011. Springer.
- [228] S. Mancini, L. Pierrefeu, Z. Larabi, and Y. Mathieu. Calibrating a predictive cache emulator for soc design. In NASA/ESA Conference on Adaptive Hardware and Systems (AHS), pages 273–280, Anaheim, USA, June 2010. IEEE.
- [229] O. Meynard, S. Guilley, J.-L. Danger, Y.-I. Hayashi, and N. Homma. Identification of Information Leakage Points on a Cryptographic Device with an RSA Processor, booktitle = EMC, publisher = IEEE, address = Long Beach, CA, USA, year = 2011, month = aug, annote = category=inproceedings language=en audience=2 state=published project=tcp dept=comelec group=sen id=11610.
- [230] O. Meynard, S. Guilley, J.-L. Danger, and L. Sauvage. Far Correlation-based EMA with a Precharacterized Leakage Model. In *DATE*, pages 977–980, Dresden, Germany, Mar. 2010. IEEE.
- [231] O. Meynard, D. Réal, S. Guilley, F. Flament, J.-L. Danger, and F. Valette. Characterization of the electromagnetic side channel in frequency domain. In *INSCRYPT 2010*, volume 6584, pages 471– 486, Shangai, China, Oct. 2010. LNCS.
- [232] O. Meynard, S. Guilley, D. Réal, and J.-L. Danger. Time Samples Correlation Attack. In *COSADE*, pages 67–72, Darmstadt, Germany, Feb. 2011.
- [233] O. Meynard, D. Réal, S. Guilley, J.-L. Danger, and N. Homma. Enhancement of Simple Electro-Magnetic Attacks by Pre-characterization in Frequency Domain and Demodulation Techniques. In *DATE*, pages 1–6, Grenoble, France, Mar. 2011.
- [234] H. Mokrani and R. Ameur-Boulifa. A refinement approach to design and verification of on-chip communication protocols. In *SAFA 2011, Octobre*, Nice, Oct. 2011.
- [235] H. Mokrani, R. Ameur-Boulifa, S. Coudert, and E. Encrenaz-Tiphene. Communication refinement for soc design. In *The 3nd Annual SAFA Workshop (SAFA'2010)*, Sophia-Antipolis, France, Oct. 2010.
- [236] W. Muhammed, S. Coudert, R. Ameur-Boulifa, and R. Pacalet. Assisting abstraction and verification of ip modules by control-data slicing. In *TENCON*, Singapore, Nov. 2009.

- [237] M. Nassar, S. Bhasin, J.-L. Danger, G. Duc, and S. Guilley. BCDL: A High Speed Balanced DPL for FPGA with Global Precharge and no Early Evaluation. In *DATE*, pages 849–854, Dresden, Germany, Mar. 2010. IEEE.
- [238] M. Nassar, S. Guilley, and J.-L. Danger. Formal Analysis of the Entropy / Security Trade-off in First-Order Masking Countermeasures against Side-Channel Attacks. In *INDOCRYPT*, volume 7107, pages 22–39, Chennai, India, Dec. 2011. LNCS, Springer.
- [239] M. Nassar, Y. Souissi, S. Guilley, and J.-L. Danger. Rank correction: A new side-channel approach for secret key recovery. In *Info Sec HiComNet*, Haldia INDIA, Oct. 2011. To appear.
- [240] D. Nussbaum, C. Moy, J. Martin, B. Mercier, and R. Pacalet. Open Platform for Prototyping of Advanced Software Defined Radio and Cognitive Radio Techniques. In 12th Euromicro Conference on Digital System Design, DSD 2009, Patras, Greece, Aug. 2009.
- [241] R. Pacalet. Security of Hardware Devices: a Survey of Threats and Countermeasures. In *SAME* 2011, Sophia-Antipolis, France, Oct. 2011.
- [242] R. Pacalet and J. Gonzalez-Pina. Full-Reconfigurable Interleaver Architecture for High-performance SDR applications. In SDR'2010, pages 509–514, Washington, DC, USA, Dec. 2010.
- [243] G. Pedroza, L. Apvrille, and R. Pacalet. Formal security model for verification of automotive embedded applications. In *The 3nd Annual SAFA Workshop (SAFA'2010)*, Sophia-Antipolis, France, Oct. 2010.
- [244] G. Pedroza, M. S. Idrees, L. Apvrille, and Y. Roudier. A formal methodology applied to secure overthe-air automotive applications. In *The 74th IEEE Vehicular Technology Conference: VTC2011-Fall*, San Francisco, USA, Sept. 2011.
- [245] G. Pedroza, D. Knorreck, and L. Apvrille. Avatar: A sysml environment for the formal verification of safety and security properties. In *The 11th IEEE Conference on Distributed Systems and New Technologies (NOTERE'2011)*, Paris, France, May 2011.
- [246] M. San Pedro, M. Soos, and S. Guilley. FIRE: Fault Injection for Reverse Engineering. In WISTP, volume 6633, pages 264–279, Heraklion, Greece, June 2011. Springer.
- [247] L. Sauvage, M. Nassar, S. Guilley, F. Flament, J.-L. Danger, and Y. Mathieu. DPL on Stratix II FPGA: What to Expect? In *ReConFig*, pages 243–248, Cancun, Mexico, Dec. 2009. IEEE Computer Society.
- [248] L. Sauvage, S. Guilley, F. Florent, J.-L. Danger, and Y. Mathieu. Cross-correlation Cartography. In *ReConFig*, pages 268–273, Cancun, Quintana Roo, Mexico, Dec. 2010. IEEE Computer Society.
- [249] L. Sauvage, O. Meynard, S. Guilley, and J.-L. Danger. ElectroMagnetic Attacks Case Studies on Non-Protected and Protected Cryptographic Hardware Accelerators. In *EMC*, Fort Lauderdale, Florida, USA, July 2010. IEEE.
- [250] L. Sauvage, S. Guilley, J.-L. Danger, N. Homma, and Y.-I. Hayashi. Practical results of em cartography on a fpga-based rsa hardware implementation. In *EMC2011*, Long Beach, CA, USA, Aug. 2011. To appear.
- [251] C. Schmidt-Knorreck, R. Knopp, and R. Pacalet. Hardware Optimized Sample Rate Conversion for Software Defined Radio. In *WSR 2010, 6th Karlsruhe Workshop on Software Radios*, Karlsruhe, Germany, Mar. 2010.
- [252] H. Schweppe, Y. Roudier, B. Weyl, L. Apvrille, and D. Scheuermann. C2x communication: Securing the last meter. In *The 4th IEEE International Symposium on Wireless Vehicular Communications: WIVEC2011*, San Francisco, USA, Sept. 2011.
- [253] N. Selmane, S. Bhasin, S. Guilley, T. Graba, and J.-L. Danger. Wddl is protected against setup time violation attacks. In FDTC (IEEE Fault Diagnosis and Tolerance in Cryptography), pages 73–83, Lausanne, Switzerland, Sept. 2009.
- [254] M. Slimani and P. Matherat. Multiple threshold voltage for glitch power reduction. In *10th Edition of "Faible Tension Faible Consommation"*, pages 67–70, Marrakech, Maroc, July 2011. http://ieeexplore.ieee.org/xpls/abs_all.jsp?arnumber=5948921.
- [255] M. Slimani, F. Silveira, and P. Matherat. Variability-speed-consumption trade-off in near threshold operation. In *PATMOS*, volume 6951 LNCS, pages 308–316, Madrid (Espagne), Sept. 2011. Springer Berlin / Heidelberg.
- [256] Y. Souissi, J.-L. Danger, S. Mekki, S. Guilley, and M. Nassar. Techniques for electromagnetic attacks enhancement. In DTIS, pages 1–6, Hammamet, Tunisia, Mar. 2010. IEEE.
- [257] Y. Souissi, S. Guilley, J.-L. Danger, G. Duc, and S. Mekki. Improvement of power analysis attacks using kalman filter. In ICASSP, pages 1778–1781, Dallas, TX, USA, Mar. 2010. IEEE.
- [258] Y. Souissi, M. Nassar, S. Guilley, and J.-L. Danger. [pdf] the rank correction technique to improve side-channel attacks. In *CryptArchi 2010*, June 2010.

- [259] Y. Souissi, M. Nassar, S. Guilley, J.-L. Danger, and F. Florent. First principal components analysis: A new side channel distinguisher. In *ICISC*, volume 6829, pages 407–419, Seoul, Korea, Dec. 2010. Springer.
- [260] Y. Souissi, M. a. Elaabid, N. Debande, S. Guilley, and J.-L. Danger. Novel applications of wavelet transforms based side-channel analysis. In *NIAT 2011*, JAPON, Sept. 2011. To appear.
- [261] Y. Souissi, S. Bhasin, M. Nassar, S. Guilley, and J.-L. Danger. Combination of measurements to accelerate side channel attacks. In *CHES (Poster Session)*, Nara, Japan, Sept. 2011.
- [262] Y. Souissi, S. Guilley, S. Bhasin, and J.-L. Danger. Common framework to evaluate modern embedded systems against side-channel attacks. In *HST 2011*, Boston USA, Nov. 2011. To appear.
- [263] Y. Souissi, M. Nassar, S. Bhasin, S. Guilley, and J.-L. Danger. Embedded systems security: An evaluation methodology against side channel attacks. In *DASIP 2011*, Tampere - FINLANDE, Oct. 2011. To appear.
- [264] Y. Souissi, S. Bhasin, M. Nassar, S. Guilley, and J.-L. Danger. Towards different flavors of combined side channel attacks. In *CT-RSA*, San Francisco (USA), Feb. 2012.
- [265] D. Teixeira Franco, M. R. Vasconcelos, L. Alves de Barros Naviner, and J. F. Naviner. On evaluating the signal reliability of self-checking arithmetic circuits. In *Symposium on Integrated Circuits and System Design (SBCCI)*, São Paulo, Sept. 2010. IEEE.
- [266] S. Thomas, D. Regis, D. Faura, M. Gatti, G. Duc, and J.-L. Danger. Non intrusive fault detection through electromagnetism analysis. In *Emerging Technologies and Factory Automation (ETFA)*, Toulouse, France, Sept. 2011.
- [267] J. Torras Flaquer, J.-M. Daveau, L. Alves de Barros Naviner, and P. Roche. Fast reliability analysis of combinatorial logic circuits using conditional probabilities. In *European Symposium on Reliability* of Electron Devices, Failure Physics and Analysis (ESREF), Monte Cassino, Italy, Oct. 2010.
- [268] J. Torras Flaquer, J.-M. Daveau, L. Alves de Barros Naviner, and P. Roche. Fast reliability analysis of combinatorial logic circuits using conditional probabilities. In *European Symposium on Reliability* of Electron Devices, Failure Physics and Analysis (ESREF), Monte Cassino, Italie, Oct. 2010.
- [269] J. Torras Flaquer, J.-M. Daveau, L. Alves de Barros Naviner, and P. Roche. Handling reconvergent paths using conditional probabilities in combinatorial logic netlists reliability estimation. In IEEE International Conference of Electronics, Circuits and Systems (ICECS), Athens, Greece, Dec. 2010.
- [270] J. Torras Flaquer, J.-M. Daveau, L. Alves de Barros Naviner, and P. Roche. An approach to reduce computational cost in combinatorial logic netlist reliability analysis using circuit clustering and conditional probabilities. In *IEEE International On-Line Testing Symposium (IOLTS)*, Athens, Greece, July 2011.

3.3.3 OS: Books and Book Chapters

- [271] b. Badrignans, J.-L. Danger, V. Fischer, G. Gogniat, L. Torres, and S. Guilley. Security Trends for FPGAS. Springer, 2011.
- [272] P. Matherat. *Une histoire de la microélectronique*. Éditions universitaires européennes, Sarrebruck, isbn 978-613-1-52405-9 edition, 2010.

3.3.4 AP: Other productions

- [273] R. Ameur-Boulifa, R. Halalai, L. Henrio, and E. Madelaine. Verifying safety of fault-tolerant distributed components. Technical Report RR7717, INRIA, Sept. 2011.
- [274] L. Apvrille and P. De Saqui-Sannes. Avatar/ttool: un environnement en mode libre pour sysml temps réel. *Génie Logiciel*, (98):22–26, Sept. 2011.
- [275] L. Apvrille and P. De Saqui-Sannes. Un assistant méthodologique uml. modélisation et vérification formelle de protocoles guidées par des patrons. *Technique et Science Informatiques*, 30/3:309–337, Mar. 2011.
- [276] L. Apvrille, A. Mifdaoui, and P. De Saqui-Sannes. Real-time distributed systems dimensioning and validation: The turtle method. *Studia Informatica Universalis*, 8(3):47–69, Oct. 2010.
- [277] J.-L. Danger. Logiciel "LPUF", 2010.
- [278] J.-L. Danger. Circuit intégré en silicium comportant une fonction physiquement non copiable, procédé et système de test d'un tel circuit. (FR-1050297), Jan. 2010.
- [279] J.-L. Danger and S. Guilley. Circuit électronique de faible complexité protege par masquage personnalise. (FR 09/58030), Nov. 2009.
- [280] J.-L. Danger, S. Guilley, and P. Hoogvorst. Logiciel "openloop-trng", 2010.

- [281] S. Guilley. Logiciel "MMM-Cascaded", 2010.
- [282] P. Matherat. Calculer avec des phases. HAL Archives ouvertes, page 54 pages, Dec. 2010.
- [283] H. Mokrani, R. Ameur-Boulifa, S. Coudert, and E. Encrenaz-Tiphene. Approache pour l'intégration du raffinement formel dans le processus de conception des socs. *Journal Européen des Systèmes Automatisés – JESA*, 45, Nov. 2011.
- [284] J. Torras Flaquer, J.-M. Daveau, L. Alves de Barros Naviner, and P. Roche. Procédé d'estimation de la fiabilité d'un circuit électronique, système informatique et produit programme d'ordinateur correspondants. (B10-1155FR), Mar. 2010.

3.3.5 APTH: Phd thesis

- [285] E. Amador. Aspects of energy efficient LDPC decoders. PhD thesis, Eurecom, Télécom ParisTech, Mar. 2011.
- [286] S. Bhasin. Logic-Level Counetermeasures to Secure FPGA based designs. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Dec. 2011. To appear.
- [287] C. Jaber. HIGH-LEVEL SOC MODELING AND PERFORMANCE ESTIMATION APPLIED TO A MULTI-CORE IMPLEMENTATION OF LTE ENODEB PHYSICAL LAYER. PhD thesis, Telecom Paris-Tech, EDITE, Sept. 2011.
- [288] D. Knorreck. UML-based Design Space Exploration, Fast Simulation and Static Analysis. PhD thesis, Telecom ParisTech, EDITE, Oct. 2011.
- [289] Z. Larabi. Architecture et stratégies de caches pour les circuits de traitement d'images. PhD thesis, Telecom-Paristech, Dec. 2010.
- [290] S. Mekki. Digital processing algorithms and architectures for UWB low cost communication system. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, July 2009.
- [291] L. Sauvage. Cartographie Électromagnétique pour la Cryptanalyse Physique. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Sept. 2010.
- [292] N. Selmane. Global and local Fault attacks on AES cryptoprocessor: Implementation and Countermeasures. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Dec. 2010.
- [293] Y. Souissi. Méthodes optimisant l'analyse de cryptoprocesseurs sur les canaux cachés. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Dec. 2011. To appear.
- [294] L. Su. Confidentialité et Intégrité du Bus Mémoire. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Mar. 2010.

Chapter 4

Electronics and RF systems (ELECRF)

Team leaders Bernard Huyart (P), Patrick Loumeau (P).

Faculty

Xavier Begaud (P), Eric Bergeault (P). Jean-Christophe Cousin (MC), Patricia Desgreys (MC), Bernard Huyart (P), Anne Claire Lepage (MC), Jean-François Naviner (MC), Patrick Loumeau (P),

Van Tam Nguyen (MC), Hervé Petit (MC), Christophe Roblin(MC,09/10–), Alain Sibille (P,09/10–)

PhD students

M. Bahouche (02/06-12/10), H. El Arja (11/06–09/10), W. Altabban (12/06–12/09), C. Jabbour (10/07–09/10), R. Moghrani (11/07–07/11), M. Grelier (10/07–03/11), D. Bibiano Brito (10/08–12/10), A. Gruget (10/08–12/11), P. Maris Ferreira (10/08–09/11), A. Thior (10/08-), R. Mohellebi (10/08–), Q. Chu (11/08-), S. Kowlgi (11/08–10/11), F. Ghanem (01/09–), A. Maalej (01/09–), M. Masoumi (09/09–09/09), D. Pham (01/10-), C. Djoma (07/10-), F. Guidi (10/10-), Z. Mhanna (10/10-), H. Cai (09/10-), Y. Wei (10/10-), M.A. Yousuf (10/10-10/11), M. Sacko (10/10-), X. Zeng (02/11-), A. Aghedu (07/11–07/11), M.T. Nguyen (07/11–), M. Clemente (09/11–), O. Jamin (10/11–), T.N. Mai (11/11-), J.L. Ramirez Bohorquez (11/11-), R. Kumar (12/11-),

J. Enriquez Gonzalez (12/11-).

Post-docs and engineers

Hussein Fakhoury (IR),

H. Khushk (09/06-12/10), A. Khy (09/06-), F. Linot (11/07–09/11), R. Planas (07/09–09/10), K. Mabrouk (10/09–10/09), A. Beydoun (02/08–08/09), J. Enriquez Gonzalez (03/10-11/11), S. Kaleem (04/10-04/10), C. Jabbour (10/10-),

C. Ouffoue (11/10-), J. Sarrazin (02/11-).

Sabbaticals

A. D'assuncao (10/09–10/09), J.P. Barbot (11/11–), F. Rangel De Souza (12/11–).

Faculty IT	10
PhD students	18.4
Post-docs, engineers and sabbaticals	4.1
Defended PhD thesis	11
Defended HDR	1 1
Journal papers [published, in press]	[30, 3]
Papers in conference proceedings	77
Chapters and books	9
Patents	6
Grants [public, private, european] (k€)	[674, 244, 498]

4.1 Objectives

Future "ambient intelligence" systems strongly depends on the emergence of a new type of embedded and mobile wireless RF systems that can sense their local environment and react to it by switching to some environment taylored configuration. The primary bottlenecks to address before the widespread use of ambient intelligence are related to communication requirements, energy sobriety, and security. Our research has developed along these lines innovating concepts at several levels of the physical layer: components (antenna), characterization and modeling (Power Amplifier, radio channel), system architectures (cognitive radio) and communication schemes (modulation) for wireless communication systems.

The need for terminals that provide their users ubiquitous access to a multitude of services calls for frequency-agile, multi-standard and multi-band terminals integrating the cellular standards GSM/EDGE, UMTS, LTE, LTE-Advanced as well as any additional wireless communication standards. Driven by these future wireless communications systems, our micro-electronics research has focused on agile deep-submicron CMOS circuit designs and architecture, and on the associated signal processing to correct errors, non-linearity and mismatch calibration. Our work on microwave technology concentrates on the so-called "RF front-end" which is one of the most sensitive parts of communicating objects. It involves improved RF modulation/demodulations schemes as well as the study of novel antenna technologies applied to several wireless communication standards from 450 MHz to 40 GHz. Another research topic has focused on wideband and low-profile antennas and arrays using artificial materials for the antenna's reflector.

Other relevant challenges to the ELEF RF group are designing ultra-low power solutions for future generation ICs. We have targetted circuits with the largest energy consumption, such as PAs in the RF transmitters. To enhance the performances of RF power amplifiers, nonlinear power components operating in the Q band (33-50 GHz) have been characterized with advanced RF metrology. For integrated components, we have developed optimized low voltage microarchitectures.

Electronics and RF Systems designers have also to face many challenges to handle nanoscale technology: variability, new CMOS technology for the AMS parts, integration of novel technologies for the RF parts. In this context, our main research objectives were to design reliable and robust mixed-signal circuits in response to limited technological accuracy and repeatibility, and to use design techniques impervious to technology suited to performance, cost and reliability compromises.

Finally, there is a great benefit in considering radio channel physical properties in conjunction with RF transceivers design. In this context, the sounding of RF propagation channels using relay between transmitter and receiver in a LTE communications scenario has been performed, in order

to provide an adequate propagation model with well matched parameters. The radio channel has been modeled by taking into account jointly the local propagation environment and the antennas. The method is based on a new statistical approach which has been applied to various use cases such as BAN networks, multiple antennas on terminals and UWB RFID tags. In particular, parametric models of UWB antennas have been developed, allowing a strong compression rate of the radiation data and lending themselves to statistical modeling of the antenna electromagnetic behavior.

4.2 Main Results

The main research results obtained during the period mid 2009 to end 2011 are presented below for the research areas of the "Electronics and RF systems" team.

4.2.1 From frequency-agile and reconfigurable transceiver to cognitive radio systems:

Faculty V.T.Nguyen, P.Loumeau, H. Fakhoury, P.Desgreys, H.Petit, J.F.Naviner

Main events Coordinator of the TEROPP project between 6 Carnot Institutes and 3 Fraunhofer institutes, 3 new European projects, leader of the task on multi-standard and multiband transceiver for cellular applications in ENIAC ARTEMOS project.

Projects FP7 SACRA, ENIAC ARTEMOS, CATRENE PANAMA, ANR-07-P2IC TEROPP, ANR-06-TCOM HyperSCAN.

Frequency-agile and reconfigurable receiver: The focus is on frequency agile high dynamic range digital friendly RF architectures suitable for nanoscale CMOS. The properties such as the RF carrier frequency, channel bandwidth, noise figure, linearity and selectivity characteristics can be adapted to the requirements of the communication standard. This work which is a close collaboration with ST-Ericsson, is a part from European ENIAC ARTEMOS project starting on April 2011 where we are the leader of the task on multi-standard and multiband transceiver for cellular applications.

High performances, reconfigurable ADCs: One of our main research topics for years is high performances, reconfigurable ADCs for various applications. It is one of the key building components of the receiver. Our main expertise is on innovative delta sigma modulator architecture and the design in advanced CMOS technology. We has proposed innovative architecture for high-pass delta sigma modulator [309, 310], reconfigurability with high-pass and low-pass [366], unity signal transfer function with global feedback loop [381] and high performance ADC designed in 65nm CMOS technology [348]. We have been also working on continuous-time modulator in order to improve the performance in terms of low power consumption and higher bandwidth. A very high performance ADC designed in 65 CMOS technology with 40MHz of bandwidth, 76dB of SNR, 88dB of SFDR and with less than 100 mW of power consumption using an innovative continuous-time modulator is recently sent to foundry. This work is a part of FP7 SACRA project and ENIAC ARTEMOS project. This ADC will be part of a demonstrator on cognitive radio systems in FP7 SACRA project.

The development of the software radio is still very much limited by the available resolution and speed of the ADC stage. Parallel ADCs seem to be the best suited way of increasing analog-to-digital conversion rates. After the study of time-interleaved (TI) Sigma Delta ADC with a four-channel [331, 297, 298], we studying TI architecture employing Nyquist pipeline ADCs. The objective is to compensate the frequency response error between the different channels. This work is ongoing in a bilateral project with an industry. An alternative solution for parallel architecture is to employ hybrid filter banks. The advantage of this approach compared to TI architecture is the robustness against channel mismatch at the cost of more complex analog and

digital parts. An innovative solution has been proposed [356, 357] using time multiplexing and frequency multiplexing at the same time in order to retain the advantages of both architectures (TI and hybrid filter banks). This work is a part of ANR-07-P2IC TEROPP focusing on opportunistic and cognitive radio, but this approach can be used for other applications as well.

Non-uniform sampling: To deal with the suppression of RF anti-alias filtering, Non Uniform Sampling (NUS) based receiver architectures have been studied in a collaborative project with SUP'COM Tunis. We have demonstrated relaxed constraints on both RF filter and ADC dynamic power consumption using appropriate NUS architecture. The results have been published recently [296]

Disruptive technologies Disruptive technologies offer new ways to accomplish breakthroughs in cognitive and opportunistic radio. Based on superconductivity physics, the RSFQ (Rapid Single Flux Quantum) logic is a very low power consumption and ultra-fast electronic logic which is considered as the best alternative to CMOS in the ITRS for ultra high frequency applications. The team has proposed an RFSQ Analog to Digital architecture in a work conducted within the ANR Hyperscan project. The goal is a 2x8 bits and 500 MHz BW Sigma-Delta analog-to-digital converter (ADC or CAN) circuit with performance specifications to achieve space telecoms at 30 GHz carrier frequency. To verify the project feasibility, we have developed a model that implements superconductivity physics into the RFSQ ADC circuit simulation [350].

ADC design in the non linearity correction path of base station PA Power amplifiers (PA) are inherently non-linear and even more if we aim to reduce its power consumption, therefore they introduce unbearable distortions for new modes of communication. The digital predistortion (DPD) is a very effective linearization technique due to the increasing use of digital modulations and progress in digital signal processing. This technique requires digitizing at least five times the input PA signal bandwidth as the distorted output PA is spectrally made up of a high power signal band and of lower power adjacent signal bands resulting from intermodulation. To digitize this signal we need an Analog to Digital Converter (ADC). The design of one single ADC meeting the requirements of high dynamic range (>60 dB) and wide bandwidth (>75 MHz) would produce an oversized solution consuming much power than using several parallel converters with adapted specifications. We suggest using one primary A/D converter to convert the high power signal band (15 MHz) and two secondary converters for the adjacent bands (30 MHz each) with lower signal powers. The problem is that the secondary converters may be saturated by high power signal band so this band has to be attenuated. We propose to use the inherent signal shaping achieved in Delta Sigma modulators to do this attenuation. A patent is pending for this innovative solution.

Cognitive Radio Systems: CRS is a disruptive technology targeting very high spectral efficiency. In CRS, cognition and intelligence are introduced in the terminal and cognitive network to take benefit of the high number of interacting devices to increase the spectral efficiency. Even interference is considered as an opportunity rather than a drawback by exploiting intelligently the degrees of freedom in CRS. CRS covers multidisciplinary areas attracting a large number of researches with many interesting obtained results. The challenges remain numerous, namely intelligence distribution and implementation, security, delay/protocol overhead, cross-layer design, flexible hardware design, etc. In this topic, we are working on high level concept of CRS [384], convincing use cases, RF receiver for spectrum sensing [356, 357, 418] and sensing algorithms talking into account the implementation constraints. We will study also cognitive radio resource management and smart spectrum management, all these taking into account the implementation constraints and perspectives. The work on CRS is part of ANR-07-P2IC TEROPP, FP7 SACRA project and ENIAC ARTEMOS project.

4.2.2 Nanoelectronics architectures and circuits

Faculty P.Desgreys, J.F.Naviner, H.Petit

Projects CATRENE RELY

Reliability of mixed-signal architectures and circuits: Works on reliability of analog or mixed-signal architectures were initiated in Oct. 2008 with a PhD thesis. Considering that many circuits are today Systems-on-Chip (SoC), that they include often various analog or mixed-signal sub-circuits and that the reliability level of a SoC results from both the reliability of each sub-parts and the connections/interactions between them, our main objectives are:

- to assess the reliability of basic functions considering the physical causes of failures (ageing effects or other causes),
- to assess the reliability of an architecture working at an abstracted behavioural level,
- to compare basic functions circuitries and architectures on both performance and reliability criteria.
- to define methods of architecture/circuit design that includes the reliability in the design criteria.

The present work is focusing on the reliability of A/D converters [299]. After studying the causes of degradation and failures in nanoscale integrated circuits with ageing [313], we are working on the prediction (early in the design process) of circuit lifetime facing process variability and devices aging (European project: RELY). This prediction will be based on physical models provided by physical design kits.

4.2.3 RF metrology

Faculty X.Begaud, E.Bergeault, J.C. Cousin, B.Huyart

Projects Bilateral project with LNE and Orange Labs, French ANR Smartvision (Système multi senseur de détection d'objets cachés)

Power probes and PAs: Our research in fundamental metrology with the LNE have yielded significant results on the RF power sensors (1-18 GHz) [307, 324, 368, 420] and the probe measurements of MMIC components (Monolithic Microwave Integrated circuits) over a wide frequency band (few kHz-40 GHz) [327, 326, 413]. Our efforts have focused since 2009 on the design and implementation of a load & source Pull measurement setup in the Q-band. The nonlinearities of the components of the RF front-end (PAs) causes spectral spreading over adjacent channels and distort the base band data. Numerical predistortion techniques have been used to fight the degradation of the RF signal [295]. The originality of our setup is that the excitation signals of the device under test have modulation bandwidths of gigabits/s [379].

Radio communications channel sounding: 2 sounders have been designed and realized for non stationary MIMO channel in the Wifi & UWB frequency bands. Our studies have been focused on the simultaneous determination of the angles of departure and arrival of transmitted and received signals [314] and the measurement of arrival time [345, 346]. Comparisons between measurement and models were made from a 3D ray tracing [378]. Another aspect of channel sounding has been led with Orange Labs to estimate the contribution of relays in a multi link propagation channel modeling for the 4G systems. To this end, a multi link measurement campaign with relays has been carried out in realistic urban environments. These have allowed to assess the relaying aspects and to focus on the path loss models developed for the 4G systems [337], the shadow fading correlation [339, 338] and the impact of the relay antenna height [335]. A particular attention has been paid for the Base station-Relay Station link which had not been studied yet.

Smart vision project: An ANR project with Thales Service as the main leader has been developed since two years. This project has dealt with the realization of a smart corridor dedicated to an electronic body scanner to check people without a body search in airports for example. In this project, we have participated in the realization of the active body scanner based on a 77 GHz radar structure initially developed for the help drivers [385].

4.2.4 Wireless communication systems technology

Faculty X.Begaud, B. Huyart, A.C.Lepage

Main events Publication of the book "UWB antennas" (Wiley), co-edited by X. Begaud, GDR ONDES, CNRS (X.Begaud)

Projects European projects FP7 SACRA (Spectrum and Energy Efficiency through multi-band Cognitive Radio) and Celtic SPECTRA (Spectrum and energy efficiency in 4G and beyond communication systems), EDA project MIMiCRA (Metamaterial Inspired Microwave Conformal Radar Antenna), projects from the French Cluster SYSTEM@TIC PARIS-REGION: CONRAHD/OPTIMUM (CONnexion Radio sans fil Haut Débit) and PUMA (Produit Ultra haut débit sur bande millimétrique), bilateral projects with Thales Airborne Systems (2), Thales Air Systems (1), CNES, Innovation project "DEMODU" from Institut Telecom

MMIC design for RF "front-end": Our research activity has been focused on the design of demodulator dedicated to software defined radio applications. 2 three-phase demodulators using MMIC technology have been designed in the 1-24 GHz bandwidth [369] and Q band (33-45 GHz). This demodulator architecture shows a better rejection of adjacent channels [312].

Metamaterial inspired wideband antennas: The RF team's research is devoted to the design of wideband antennas and arrays. We initially focused our work on UWB (UltraWideBand) applications [323, 322, 408, 403] and add today the design of novel artificial materials to reduce the size/thickness of wideband antennas [406]. On one hand, the developed materials use periodic structures in order to exhibit the behaviour of an Artificial Magnetic Conductor (AMC) as well as that of an electromagnetic band-gap (EBG) structure [427, 426]. On the other hand, the extraordinary properties of Left Handed materials are exploited to develop miniaturized filters and directive antennas [423, 332] and Leaky-wave antennas [399]. We are developing a new methodology that takes into account the interaction between the radiating element and its artificial ground plane [304, 354, 347, 302]. We are also considering refined characterizations of the artificial material itself, a necessary step for improving our control on the phenomena occurring in these metamaterials [305, 343]. Finally, we are applying our artificial materials to the problem of reducing the coupling between elements in a wideband antennas array, with a focus on analytical models [426].

Antennas for cognitive radio: One of the main challenge of cognitive radio is to improve the efficiency of the system, ie. energy efficiency, spectrum efficiency and also reduction of the number of components. The following topics aim to propose solutions to these needs. In the framework of the European project SACRA, our research is focused on compact dual band dual polarized antennas for the terminal side dedicated to future systems using LTE and having also cognitive radio capabilities in the TVWS band (TeleVision White Space) [380]. Diversity performances studies are also performed for different environments. We are also studying codesign between antenna and filters: the objective of this topic is to develop an ultra wideband dual polarized antenna associated to a filter with non standard features in order to suppress any matching circuit. In the framework of the European project SPECTRA, we propose to design a compact wideband antenna associated with an automatic matching circuit. In fact, over a wide band, the input impedance of the antenna varies due to intrinsic properties, but also due to the environment.

4.2.5 Antennas and radio channel modelling

Faculty (from September 2009) C. Roblin, A. Sibille

Main events Publication of the book "MIMO: From Theory to Implementation" (Elsevier), coedited by A. Sibille.

Projects European FP7 SELECT project on UWB RFID system, French FUI URC project on urban planning for radiocommunications, French ANR BANET on body area networks, French

FUI RECOSS project on high data rate communications for security services, European COST 2100 Action and COST IC 1004 Action on mobile networks.

Parametric models for ultra wide band antennas: The full characterisation of the radiation of UWB antennas requires a significant amount of data arising from either measurement or electromagnetic simulations. It is therefore desirable to use "data compression" methods to handle them more easily. A complete (parametric) modeling of both frequency and time domain far field antenna responses (for any direction of radiation) with extremely high order reduction ("ultra compression") has been developed [408]. It is based on both the singularity expansion and the spherical mode expansion methods. Theoretical properties of the model parameters and relationships with global indicators of performance of UWB antennas have been derived. The modeling has been applied to full 3D measurements of omni-directional or moderately directive UWB antennas with a good accuracy and high data compression rates of more than 97% (and up to more than 99.9% for some cases) [391, 391]. These models can be efficiently used in simulations of the physical or link layers, or in deterministic propagation simulators based on asymptotic methods (UTD/GTD "ray tracing", etc.).

Joint antennas and channels statistical modelling: Wireless networks need channel models in order to be able to test competing physical/link layer schemes and perform network level simulations. However there is an increasing complexity in the current and future communications standards, which are multiantennas, multifrequency and where the behaviour of terminals in a use context is highly variable. The group has initiated and developed since a few years a statistical approach of this behaviour [321], taking into account the variability of the terminals characteristics in their close environment. The method combines full antenna performance data to local propagation characteristics in order to arrive a an effective gain concept, seen as a stochastic quantity. It has been applied to the efficiency and effective gains of handsets in proximity to a user head and hand [395, 316] and to multiple antenna systems [392]. In body area networks, the influence of the human body on the behaviour of antennas is often of prime importance; the properties of the on-body propagation channel are very specific, and are notably sensitive to the subject movement for most scenarios. Both aspects, which are intricately related, have been studied with a statistical approach [390, 318, 319]. Joint space and frequency correlated path loss data have also been modelled through a simple semi-Kronecker approximation [320]. The latest works address the statistical analysis and modelling of UWB tag antennas employed in a backscattering based RFID system [396, 300, 301, 377]. A patent has benn issued on non regenerative relays [414].

4.3 References

4.3.1 ACL: Articles in ISI-Indexed Journals

- [295] G. I. Abib, E. Bergeault, S. Bensmida, and R. Mohellebi. Power amplifier optimization using base band and multiharmonic source/load-pull characterization with digital predistortion. *International Journal of Microwave and Wireless Technologies*, June 2009.
- [296] M. Ben Romdhane, C. Rebai, A. Ghazel, P. Desgreys, and P. Loumeau. Non-uniformly controlled analog-to-digital converter for sdr multistandard radio receiver. *IEEE Transac*tions on Circuits and Systems II, 58(12), Dec. 2011.
- [297] A. Beydoun, C. Jabbour, V. T. Nguyen, and P. Loumeau. A new interpolation technique for time interleaved sigma-delta a/d converters. *Journal of Analog Integrated Circuits and Signal Processing (AICSP)-Springer*, July 2011.
- [298] A. Beydoun, V. T. Nguyen, and P. Loumeau. A novel digital calibration technique for gain and offset mismatch in ti sigma delta adcs. *International Journal of Electrical and Electronic Engineering*, 5(1):6–16, June 2011.
- [299] H. Cai, H. Petit, and J. F. Naviner. Reliability aware design of low power continuous-time sigma—delta modulator. *Microelectronics Reliability Journal*, page 5, Aug. 2011.

- [300] D. Dardari, R. D'Errico, C. Roblin, A. Sibille, and M. Win. Ultrawide bandwidth rfid: The next generation? *IEEE Proceedings*, 98(9):1570 1582, July 2010.
- [301] D. Dardari, F. Guidi, C. Roblin, and A. Sibille. Ultra-wide bandwidth backscatter modulation: Processing schemes and performance. *EURASIP JWCN*, July 2011.
- [302] f. linot, X. Begaud, M. Soiron, C. Renard, and M. Labeyrie. Characterisation of a loaded high impedance surface. *International Journal of Microwave and Wireless Technologies*, 1(9):483–487, Dec. 2009.
- [303] G. Gonçalves dos Santos Jr, E. Crespo Marques, L. Alves de Barros Naviner, and J. F. Naviner. Using error tolerance of target application for efficient reliability improvement of digital circuits. *Microelectronics Reliability Journal, Elsevier*, 50(9-11):1219–1222, Oct. 2010.
- [304] M. Grelier, f. linot, A. C. Lepage, X. Begaud, J. M. Le Mener, and M. Soiron. Analytical methods for amc and ebg characterisations. *Applied Physics A: Materials Science & Processing*, 102(2), Feb. 2011.
- [305] M. Grelier, M. Jousset, S. Mallegol, A. C. Lepage, X. Begaud, and J. M. Le Mener. Wide-band qamc reflector's antenna for low profile applications. *Applied Physics A: Materials Science & Processing*, 102(2), Feb. 2011.
- [306] S. D. Hamieh, P. Desgreys, and J. F. Naviner. Scattering effects on the performance of carbon nanotube field effect transistor in a compact model. *European Physical Journal B*, 73(2):223–227, Jan. 2010.
- [307] A. Kazemipour, F. Ziadé, D. Allal, and E. Bergeault. Nonlinear modeling of rf thermistor: Application to bolometer mount calibration. *IEEE Transactions onInstrumentation and Measurement*, 60(7):2445 2448, July 2011.
- [308] A. Kazemipour, X. Begaud, and M. Z. M. Jenu. Dipole model of rectangular patch antenna, application to self and mutual impedance analysis. *Microwave and Optical Technology Letters*, Apr. 2012.
- [309] H. Khushk, V. T. Nguyen, P. Loumeau, and C. Jabbour. Novel architecture for high-pass cascaded delta sigma modulator. *Journal of Analog Integrated Circuits and Signal Pro*cessing (AICSP)-Springer, 65(3):345–357, Dec. 2010.
- [310] H. Khushk, P. Loumeau, and V. T. Nguyen. A comparative study of loop filter alternatives in second-order high-pass $\sigma\delta$ modulators. *IEEE TCAS-I*, 58(11):2604–2613, Nov. 2011.
- [311] A. Maalej, M. Ben Romdhane, C. Rebai, P. Desgreys, P. Loumeau, and A. Ghazel. Pseudorandom direct sampler for non-uniform sub-sampling architecture in a multistandard receiver. *Journal of Computer*, Oct. 2010.
- [312] K. Mabrouk, F. Rangel, B. Huyart, and G. Neveux. Architectural solution for second-order intermodulation intercept point improvement in direct down-conversion receivers. *IET Microw. Antennas Propag*, 4(9):1377–1386, Sept. 2010.
- [313] P. Maris Ferreira, H. Petit, and J. F. Naviner. A synthesis methodology for ams/rf circuit reliability: Application to a dco design. *Microelectronics Reliability Journal, Elsevier*, Dec. 2010.
- [314] S. Martinez Lopez, J. Braga, B. Huyart, and J. C. Cousin. Multiplexing technique for dod and doa estimation. *IET Microwaves, Antennas & Propagation*, 3(6):1011–1017, Sept. 2009.
- [315] A. Mellah, C. Roblin, and A. Sibille. Uwb antennas integration effects for wireless communications applications. *Ultra-Wideband Short-Pulse Electromagnetics (UWB-SP)*, 9: 449–455, 2010.
- [316] A. Mellah, A. Sibille, C. Roblin, M. Nedil, and T. Denidni. Statistical modeling of the antenna-head interaction. *IEEE ANTENNAS AND WIRELESS PROPAGATION LET-*TERS, 10:454 – 457, Apr. 2011.
- [317] A. Riaz, J. F. Naviner, and V. T. Nguyen. A novel approach to non coherent uwb reception. In D. M. A. Hussain, A. Q. K. Rajput, B. S. Chowdhry, and Q. Gee, editors, *Wireless Networks, Information Processing and Systems*, volume 20, pages 100–109. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Jan. 2009.
- [318] C. Roblin, J.-M. Laheurte, R. D'Errico, A. Gati, D. Lautru, T. Alvès, H. Terchoune, and

- F. Bouttout. Antenna design and channel modeling in the ban contextpart i: antennas. *Annals of telecommunications (Springer)*, 66(3/4):139–155, Mar. 2011.
- [319] C. Roblin, J.-M. Laheurte, R. D'Errico, A. Gati, D. Lautru, T. Alvès, H. Terchoune, and F. Bouttout. Antenna design and channel modeling in the ban contextpart ii: channel. *Annals of telecommunications (Springer)*, 66(3/4):157–175, Mar. 2011.
- [320] A. Sibille. Efficient generation of spatially and frequency correlated random values for cognitive radio network simulators. *IEEE Transactions on Vehicular technology*, 59(3): 1121 1128, Mar. 2010.
- [321] A. Sibille and C. Roblin. Analysis and modelling of the randomness in terminals antennas. *WAVES*, pages 39–48, July 2010.
- [322] M. Vahdani and X. Begaud. Wideband integrated cps-fed dual polarized quasi bow-tie antenna. *Microwave and Optical Technology Letters*, 51(9):2130 2136, Sept. 2009.
- [323] M. Vahdani and X. Begaud. Wideband integrated feeding system for a dual polarization sinuous antenna. *Microwaves Antennas and Propagation, IET*, 4(11):1704–1713, Nov. 2010.
- [324] F. Ziadé, E. Bergeault, B. Huyart, and A. Kazemipour. Realization of a calculable rf power standard in coplanar technology on alumina substrate. *Microwave Theory and Techniques*, *IEEE Transactions on*, 58(6):1592 – 1598, 2010.

4.3.2 ACTI: Articles in Proceedings of International Conferences

- [325] W. Altabban, P. Desgreys, H. Petit, K. Ben Kalaia, and L. Rolland du Roscoat. Merged digitally controlled oscillator and time to digital converter for tv band adpll. In *IEEE Inter*national Symposium on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS), May 2010.
- [326] M. Bahouche, E. Bergeault, and D. Allal. Determination of the reference impedance of line-attenuator-reflect for on-wafer vector network analyzer calibration. In *Conference on Precision Electromagnetic Measurement*, Austin, Texas, USA, May 2009.
- [327] M. Bahouche, E. Bergeault, and D. Allal. A new method to determine the reference impedance of line attenuator reflect for on-wafer vector network analyzer calibration. In *instrumentation and Measurement Technology Conference Proceedings*, Vancouver, Canada, May 2009.
- [328] X. Begaud and A. C. Lepage. Wideband low profile antennas and metamaterials. In International Microwave and Optoelectronics Conference (IMOC 2011), Natal Brazil, Oct. 2011.
- [329] M. Ben Romdhane, C. Rebai, P. Desgreys, A. Ghazel, and P. Loumeau. Flexible base-band analog front-end for nus based multistandard receiver. In *Joint Conference IEEE NEWCAS TAISA'09*, Toulouse, France, July 2009.
- [330] A. Beydoun, P. Loumeau, and V. T. Nguyen. A digital correction technique for channel mismatch in ti sd adcs. In *IEEE IMWS 2010*, Aveiro Portugal, July 2010.
- [331] A. Beydoun, V. T. Nguyen, and P. Loumeau. A novel digital calibration technique for gain and offset mismatch in parallel tisd adcs. In *IEEE ICASSP 2010*, pages 4158–4161, Dallas USA, 2010.
- [332] D. B. Brito, X. Begaud, A. G. D'Assunção, and H. C. C. Fernandes. Ultra wideband monopole antenna with complementary split ring resonator. In *Eucap 2010*, Barcelone Espagne, Apr. 2010.
- [333] D. B. Brito, H. C. C. Fernandes, A. G. D'Assunção, and X. Begaud. Ccomplementary split ring resonator stop- band filter for uwb applications. In *International Microwave and Optoelectronics Conference (IMOC 2011)*, Natal Brazil, Oct. 2011.
- [334] H. Cai, H. Petit, and J. F. Naviner. Reliability analysis of continuous-time sigma-delta modulators. In European Symposium on Reliability of Electron Devices, Failure Physics and Analysis (ESREF), Bordeaux, France, Oct. 2011.
- [335] Q. Chu, J.-M. Conrat, and J. C. Cousin. On the impact of receive antenna height in a lte-advanced relaying scenario. In *ECWT*, Paris, Oct. 2010.

- [336] Q. Chu, J.-M. Conrat, and J. C. Cousin. Path loss characterization for Ite-advanced relaying propagation channel. In COST2100, Bologne, Italie, Oct. 2010.
- [337] Q. Chu, J.-M. Conrat, and J. C. Cousin. Propagation path loss models for Ite-advaned urban relaying systems. In *APS IEEE Antenna and Propagation Symposium*, Washington (USA), July 2011.
- [338] Q. Chu, J.-M. Conrat, and J. C. Cousin. On the characterization of multi-link shadow fading correlation for urban relayign systems. In *PIMRC (IEEE Symposium on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications)*, Toronto, Canada, Sept. 2011.
- [339] Q. Chu, J.-M. Conrat, and J. C. Cousin. Experimental characterization and modeling of shadow fading correlation for relaying systems. In VTC (IEEE Vehicular Technology Conference), San Francisco, Sept. 2011.
- [340] E. Crespo Marques, L. Alves de Barros Naviner, and J. F. Naviner. An efficient tool for reliability improvement based on tmr. In European Symposium on Reliability of Electron Devices, Failure Physics and Analysis (ESREF), Monte Cassino, Italie, Oct. 2010.
- [341] E. Crespo Marques, L. Alves de Barros Naviner, and J. F. Naviner. A method for efficient implementation of reliable processors. In *IEEE International Midwest Symposium on Circuits and Systems (MWSCAS)*, Seattle, Washington, USA, Aug. 2010.
- [342] E. Crespo Marques, G. Gonçalves dos Santos Jr, L. Alves de Barros Naviner, and J. F. Naviner. Effective metrics for reliability analysis. In *IEEE International Midwest Symposium on Circuits and Systems (MWSCAS)*, Seattle, Washington, USA, Aug. 2010.
- [343] L. Damaj, A. C. Lepage, and X. Begaud. Low profile, directive and very wideband antenna on a high impedance surface. In *Eucap 2010*, Barcelone Espagne, Apr. 2010.
- [344] P. Desgreys, F. Ghanem, G. Pham, H. Fakhoury, and P. Loumeau. Beyond 3g wideband and high linearity adcs. In *IEEE Faible Tension Faible Consommation (FTFC)*, pages 59–62, Marrakech, Morocco, May 2011.
- [345] H. El Arja, K. Mabrouk, B. Huyart, and X. Begaud. Joint toa/doa measurements for uwb indoor propagation channel using music algorithm. In *European Microwave Conference* 2009, EUMC, Rome, Italie, Sept. 2009.
- [346] H. El Arja, B. Huyart, and X. Begaud. Uwb simo channel measurements for joint toa and doa estimation. In *EuMW*, Paris France, Sept. 2010.
- [347] f. linot, R. Cousin, X. Begaud, and M. Soiron. Design and measurement of high impedance surface. In *Eucap 2010*, Barcelone Espagne, Apr. 2010.
- [348] H. Fakhoury, C. Jabbour, H. Khushk, V. T. Nguyen, and P. Loumeau. A low-power sigma delta adc optimized for gsm/edge standard in 65-nm cmos. In *IEEE International Sympo*sium on Circuits and Systems (IEEE ISCAS 2011), Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, May 2011.
- [349] H. Gassara, P. Desgreys, P. Loumeau, and P. Febvre. Design of an i/q mixer for bandpass sigma delta adc in superconducting technology. In *Euroflux International Conference*, Avignon, France, Sept. 2009.
- [350] H. Gassara, P. Desgreys, and P. Loumeau. Parallel architecture for bandpass sd adc in superconducting technology. In *IEEE NEWCAS Conference*, Bordeaux, France, June 2011.
- [351] F. Ghanem, C. Jabbour, P. Desgreys, P. Loumeau, C. Erdmann, and P. Gandy. A new implementation of a random sampling technique for bandwidth mismatch ti adcs. In *Conference on Design of Circuits and Integrated Systems DCIS*, Albufeira, Portugal, Nov. 2011.
- [352] G. Gonçalves dos Santos Jr, E. Crespo Marques, L. Alves de Barros Naviner, and J. F. Naviner. Using error tolerance of target application for efficient reliability improvement of digital circuits. In European Symposium on Reliability of Electron Devices, Failure Physics and Analysis (ESREF), Monte Cassino, Italie, Oct. 2010.
- [353] M. Grelier, A. C. Lepage, X. Begaud, and J. M. Le Mener. A simple mixed analytical-numerical method for modelling and design planar periodic structures. In *Metamaterials* 09, London, Sept. 2009.
- [354] M. Grelier, f. linot, A. C. Lepage, X. Begaud, J. M. Le Mener, and M. Soiron. Analytical methods for amc and ebg characterisations. In *META'10 & NATO ARW*, Le Caire Egypte,

- Mar. 2010.
- [355] M. Grelier, M. Jousset, S. Mallegol, A. C. Lepage, X. Begaud, and J. M. Le Mener. Wide-band qamc reflector's antenna for low profile applications. In META'10 & NATO ARW, Le Caire Egypte, Feb. 2010.
- [356] A. Gruget, M. Roger, V. T. Nguyen, C. Lelandais-Perrault, P. Benabes, and P. Loumeau. Wide-band multipath a to d converter for cognitive radio applications. In *IEEE International Microwave Workshop Series on "RF Front-ends for Software Defined and Cognitive Radio Solutions*, Aveiro, Portugal, Feb. 2011.
- [357] A. Gruget, M. Roger, V. T. Nguyen, C. Lelandais-Perrault, P. Benabes, and P. Loumeau. Optimization of bandpass charge sampling filters in hybrid filter banks converters for cognitive radio applications. In *European Conference on Circuit Theory and Design*, Linkoping, Sweden, Aug. 2011.
- [358] F. Guidi, N. Decarli, D. Dardari, C. Roblin, and A. Sibille. Performance of uwb backscatter modulation in multi-tag rfid scenario using experimental data. In *ICUWB*, pages 1–5, Bologna, Sept. 2011.
- [359] F. Guidi, M. Sacko, C. Roblin, and A. Sibille. Electromagnetic analysis of rfid tag backscattering. In *JNCW*, pages 1–6, Paris, Mar. 2011.
- [360] F. Guidi, M. Sacko, A. Sibille, and C. Roblin. Analysis of uwb rfid tag backscattering in the presence of scatterers. In URSI GASS, pages 1–4, Istanbul, Turkey, Aug. 2011. To appear.
- [361] F. Guidi, A. Sibille, D. Dardari, and C. Roblin. Uwb rfid backscattered energy in the presence of nearby metallic reflectors. In *EUCAP*, pages 1–5, Rome, Italy, Apr. 2011.
- [362] B. Huyart, X. Begaud, R. Planas, and J. Enriquez. Design and analysis of q band microstrip directive and sectorial antenna arrays. In COST Action IC0803 Action IC0803: RF/Microwave Communication Subsystems for Emerging Wireless Technologies (RFC-SET), Castelldefels, Spain, Sept. 2011.
- [363] C. Jabbour, A. Beydoun, V. T. Nguyen, and P. Loumeau. A new interpolation technique for ti sd a/d converters. In *IEEE ISCAS 2010*, pages 4013–4016, Paris France, May 2010.
- [364] C. Jabbour, V. T. Nguyen, and P. Loumeau. A technique to reduce the impact of hysterisys in ds analog to digital converters. In *IEEE ISCAS 2010*, pages 4017–4020, Paris France, May 2010.
- [365] C. Jabbour, H. Fakhoury, V. T. Nguyen, and P. Loumeau. A novel design methodology for multiplierless filters applied on delta sigma decimators. In *International Conference on Electronics, Circuits, and Systems (ICECS)*, Beirut, Dec. 2011. IEEE.
- [366] C. Jabbour, H. Khushk, H. Fakhoury, V. T. Nguyen, and P. Loumeau. A umts/gsm lp/hp delta sigma adc suited for a zero-if/low-if receiver. In *IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (IEEE ISCAS 2011)*, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, May 2011.
- [367] C. Jabbour, H. Khushk, V. T. Nguyen, and P. Loumeau. High-pass or low-pass delta sigma modulators? In *International Conference on Electronics, Circuits, and Systems (ICECS)*, Beirut, Dec. 2011. IEEE.
- [368] A. Kazemipour, F. Ziadé, D. Allal, E. Bergeault, and A. Litwin. Non-linear modeling of rf thermistor, application to bolometer mount calibration. In *Conference on Precision Elec*tromagnetic Measurements, CPEM 2010, Daejeon, Korea, June 2010.
- [369] A. Khy and B. Huyart. A (35 45)ghz low power direct-conversion gilbert-cell mixer in 0.13µm gaas phemt technology. In *EUMW*, Paris, Sept. 2010.
- [370] P. Loumeau, P. Desgreys, V. T. Nguyen, H. Fakhoury, and C. Jabbour. Reconfigurable adc, architecture and performance: Review and perspectives. In *European Microwave Week Conference EuMW*, Manchester, UK, Oct. 2011.
- [371] A. Maalej, M. Ben Romdhane, P. Desgreys, P. Loumeau, C. Rebai, and A. Ghazel. Data acquisition test platform for non uniformly controlled adc. In *IEEE DTIS 2010*, pages 1–4, Hammamet Tunisie, Mar. 2010.
- [372] A. Maalej, M. Ben Romdhane, C. Rebai, P. Desgreys, P. Loumeau, and A. Ghazel. Non uniform sampling for power consumption reduction in sdr receiver baseband stage. In Symposium of International Union of Radio Science URSI-GASS, Istanbul, Turkey, Aug.

2011.

- [373] A. Maalej, M. Ben Romdhane, C. Rebai, A. Ghazel, P. Desgreys, and P. Loumeau. Towards time-quantized random sampling for multistandard receiver baseband stage. In *IEEE International Conference on Microelectronics*, Yasmine Hammamet, Tunisia, Dec. 2011. To appear.
- [374] P. Maris Ferreira, H. Petit, and J. F. Naviner. Wlan/wimax rf front-end reliability analysis. In *IEEE Conference on Micro-nanoelectronics, Technology and Applications (CAMTA-CUMTA'10)*, Montevideo, Uruguay, Oct. 2010. IEEE.
- [375] P. Maris Ferreira, H. Petit, and J. F. Naviner. Ams and rf design for reliability methodology. In *IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems (ISCAS)*, Paris, France, May 2010.
- [376] P. Maris Ferreira, H. Petit, and J. F. Naviner. A new synthesis methodology for reliable rf front-end design. In *Circuits and Systems (ISCAS)*, *Proceedings of 2010 IEEE Interna*tional Symposium on, Rio de Janeiro, Brésil, May 2011. IEEE.
- [377] Z. Mhanna and A. Sibille. Statistical modeling of the power gain pattern of a random set of parameterized planar dipoles. In *COST IC 1004*, pages 1–12, Lund, Sweden, June 2011.
- [378] R. Moghrani, J.-M. Conrat, X. Begaud, and B. Huyart. Performance evaluation of a 3d ray tracing model in urban environment. In *IEEE International Symposion on Antennas and Propagation*, Toronto Canada, July 2010.
- [379] R. Mohellebi, E. Bergeault, G. I. Abib, and B. Huyart. A millimeter wave six-port reflectometer for active load-pull characterization. In *EUMC 2010*, Paris, Sept. 2010.
- [380] L. Mouffok, L. Damaj, X. Begaud, A. C. Lepage, and H. Diez. Mutual coupling reduction between dual polarized microstrip patch antennas using compact spiral artificial magnetic conductor. In *Eucap 2011*, Rome, italie, Apr. 2011.
- [381] V. T. Nguyen, H. Fakhoury, P. Loumeau, and P. Benabes. Generalized multi-stage closed loop sigma delta modulator. In *IEEE International Symposium on Circuits and Systems* (*IEEE ISCAS 2011*), Rio de Janeiro, Brazil, May 2011.
- [382] V. T. Nguyen, H. Khushk, C. Jabbour, and P. Loumeau. High pass filter implementation comparison in unity stf high pass $\delta\sigma$ modulator. In *International Conference on Electronics, Circuits, and Systems (ICECS)*, Beirut, Dec. 2011. IEEE.
- [383] V. T. Nguyen, P. Loumeau, and P. Desgreys. Cognitive and opportunistic radios. In *Tutorials at IEEE International NEWCAS conference*, Bordeaux, France, June 2011.
- [384] V. T. Nguyen, F. Villain, and Y. Le Guillou. Cognitive radio systems: Overview and perspectives. In *Invited paper at 3rd International Conference on Awareness Science and Technology (iCAST 2011)*, Dalian, Chine, Sept. 2011. To appear.
- [385] r. zouaoui, R. Czarny, F. Diaz, A. Khy, and T. Lamarque. Multi sensor millimeter wave system for hidden objects detection by non collaborative screening. In *SPIE Defense, Security and Sensing 2011*, Orlando , USA, Apr. 2011.
- [386] C. Roblin. Analysis of the separability of the "on-body" cluster and the "off-body" clusters in the modeling of the uwb wban channels for various indoor scenarios. In *EuMW/EuWiT*, Paris, Sept. 2010.
- [387] C. Roblin. On the separability of "on-body" and "off-body" clusters in the modeling of uwb wban channels for various indoor scenarios. In *EuCAP*, Roma, Italy, Apr. 2011.
- [388] C. Roblin. Analysis of the channel power delay profile of wban scenarios in various indoor environments. In *ICUWB*, Bologna, Italy, Sept. 2011.
- [389] C. Roblin. Modelling of the path loss variability due to body-worn uwb antennas in ban scenarios. In *IWPCM*, Lyon, France, Mar. 2011.
- [390] C. Roblin and A. Sibille. Modeling of the influence of body-worn antennas upon the path loss variability in uwb wban scenarios. In URSI GASS, page 4, Istanbul, Turkey, Aug. 2011.
- [391] C. Roblin and M. A. Yousuf. Statistical models of wideband and uwb omni-directional antennas based on a parametric modelling. In *EuCAP*, Barcelona, Spain, Apr. 2010.
- [392] A. Sibille. A first step towards statistical modeling of mimo terminals accounting for local

- propagation. In COST 2100, pages 1-8, Athens, Greece, Feb. 2010.
- [393] A. Sibille and J. Braga. Propagation aware statistical modeling of mimo terminal antennas. In *IEEE Antennas & Propagation Symposium*, pages 1–4, Toronto, Canada, July 2010. IEEE Xplore.
- [394] A. Sibille and Y. Lostanlen. Spatial variability of cognitive radio channels. In *IWPCM*, Lyon, Mar. 2011.
- [395] A. Sibille and A. Mellah. A statistical model of handsets effective gain accounting for user influence and local propagation. In *EUCAP*, pages 1–4, Barcelona, Spain, Apr. 2010. IEEE Xplore.
- [396] A. Sibille, M. Sacko, Z. Mhanna, F. Guidi, and C. Roblin. Joint antenna-channel statistical modelling of uwb backscattering rfid. In *ICUWB*, pages 1–5, Bologna, Italy, Sept. 2011.
- [397] M. Slimani, R. Guelaz, P. Desgreys, and P. Loumeau. Decimation filter design for rsfq sigma-delta converter. In *Joint Conference IEEE NEWCAS TAISA'09*, pages 1–4, Toulouse France, July 2009.
- [398] D. Teixeira Franco, M. R. Vasconcelos, L. Alves de Barros Naviner, and J. F. Naviner. On evaluating the signal reliability of self-checking arithmetic circuits. In *Symposium on Integrated Circuits and System Design (SBCCI)*, São Paulo, Sept. 2010. IEEE.
- [399] A. Thior, X. Begaud, O. Maas, and A. C. Lepage. Bandwitdth enhancement of crlh leakywave antennas. In *Eucap 2011*, Rome, italie, Apr. 2011.
- [400] J.-C. Villegier, D. Renaud, C. Bornier, P. Febvre, P. Desgreys, P. Loumeau, and M. Maignan. Design and elaboration of 9k nbn adc circuits. In *Applied Superconductivity Conference ASC-10*, Washington DC, USA, Aug. 2010.
- [401] M. A. Yousuf and C. Roblin. Analysis & generation of statistical population of planar uwb antennas. In *EuCAP*, Barcelona, Spain, Apr. 2010.
- [402] M. A. Yousuf and C. Roblin. Tri-band antenna for wlan ieee-802.11 a/n, b/g/n and y: A generic planar antenna design approach. In *EuCAP*, Roma, Italy, Apr. 2011.

4.4 References

4.4.1 OS: Books and Book Chapters

- [403] X. Begaud. *Les antennes Ultra Large Bande*. Hermes Lavoisier, 14, rue de Provigny 94236 Cachan cedex, France, 1 edition, 2010.
- [404] X. Begaud. *Antennes large bande et conducteurs magnetiques artificiels*, chapter Chapitre 9:, pages 181–200. Hermes Sciences, Oct. 2010.
- [405] X. Begaud. Antennes large bande, chapter 8, pages 159-182. Hermes Sciences, 2011.
- [406] X. Begaud. Wideband antennas and Artificial Magnetic Conductors, chapter 9, pages 183–200. Iste/Wiley, 2011.
- [407] X. Begaud. Wideband Antennas, chapter 8, pages 160–183. Iste/Wiley, 2011.
- [408] X. Begaud and et al. UWB Antennas. Iste/Wiley, Nov. 2010. ISBN 9781848212329.
- [409] A. C. Lepage, X. Begaud, and J. Sarrazin. *Wideband directive antennas with High Impedance Surfaces*. Wiley, 2012. To appear.
- [410] A. Sibille and M. Dohler. Energy efficiency in wireless sensor networks: Selected papers from ieee pimrc 2008. In *Special Issue*, pages 99–101. Springer, 2009.
- [411] A. Sibille, C. Oestges, and A. Zanella. *MIMO: From Theory to Implementation*. Academic Press, 2010.

4.4.2 DO: Journal or Proceedings Edition

[412] J. N. O. B. M.A. Pavanello, R.C. Silverio Freire, editor. Microelectronics Technology and Devices -SBMicro 2011, Pennington, NJ USA, Aug. 2011. The Electrochemical Society.

4.4.3 AP: Other productions

- [413] D. Allal, M. Bahouche, E. Bergeault, and A. Litwin. Etalonnage d'un analyseur de réseau vectoriel à partir d'un atténuateur pour des mesures sous pointes. *Revue Française de Métrologie*, 2010-3: 21–26, Nov. 2010.
- [414] R. D'Errico, A. Conti, D. Dardari, and A. Sibille. Localization method and system using non regenerative uwb relays. (11 352013.4):40, Dec. 2011.
- [415] P. Desgreys. Interface analogique numerique pour les telecommunications modelisations et conceptions flexibles. Technical report, Télécom ParisTech, Sept. 2010.
- [416] M. Grelier, S. Mallegol, M. Jousset, A. C. Lepage, and X. Begaud. Dispositif d'antenne comportant une antenne plane et un reflecteur d'antenne large bande et procede de realisation du reflecteur d'antenne. (EP2365584 (A1)), Sept. 2011.
- [417] M. Grelier, S. Mallegol, M. Jousset, and X. Begaud. Réflecteur d'antenne large bande pour une antenne filaire plane a polarisation circulaire et procédé de réalisation du réflecteur d'antenne. (FR 1003 900), 2012. To appear.
- [418] V. T. Nguyen, A. Gruget, and P. Loumeau. Banc d'échantillonneurs avec fonctions de filtrage inherent et versatile étrndue pour conversion analogique numérique large bande multivoie. (FR 11 53041), Apr. 2011.
- [419] M. Soiron, f. linot, B. Perpere, and X. Begaud. Antenne directive large bande à plan de masse actif. (FR 1101 005), 2012. To appear.
- [420] F. Ziadé, M. Bourghes, A. Kazemipour, E. Bergeault, and D. Allal. Etalon calculable de puissance radiofréquence. *Revue Francaise de Metrologie*, 2009-4(20), 2009.

4.4.4 APTH: Phd Thesis

- [421] W. Altabban. Conception portable d'une ADPLL pour des applications TV. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Dec. 2009.
- [422] M. Bahouche. Etude et traçabilité du calibrage "Line-Attenuator-Reflect" pour des mesures sous pointes à l'aide de l'analyseur de réseau vectoriel. PhD thesis, Telecom-Paristech, Dec. 2010.
- [423] D. B. Brito. METAMATERIAL INSPIRED IMPROVED ANTENNAS AND CIRCUITS. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Dec. 2010.
- [424] Q. Chu. A contribution to multi link propagation channel modeling for 4G radio mobile ralaying systems. PhD thesis, Telecom Paristech, Dec. 2011. To appear.
- [425] H. El Arja. Sondeur de canal de propagation multi-capteurs appliqué à la mesure de canal de propagation pour l'Ultra Large Bande (6 GHz - 8.5 GHz) à l'intérieur des bâtiments. PhD thesis, Telecom ParisTech, Sept. 2010.
- [426] f. linot. Apport des surfaces à haute impédance à la conception d'antennes réseaux compactes et d'antennes réseaux à très large bande passante. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Apr. 2011.
- [427] M. Grelier. *Miniaturisation des antennes large bande à l'aide de matériaux artificiels.* PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Jan. 2011.
- [428] A. Gruget. Convertisseur à bancs de filtres hybrides utilisant des filtres à échantillonnage de charge pour applications de radio cognitive. PhD thesis, Telecom ParisTech, Dec. 2011.
- [429] C. Jabbour. Reconfigurable Parallel Delta Sigma Analog to Digital Converters. PhD thesis, Telecom ParisTech, Sept. 2010.
- [430] H. Khushk. *Modulateur Delta Sigma passe-haut et application dans la réception RF multistandards*. PhD thesis, Telecom ParisTech, Nov. 2009.
- [431] M. A. Yousuf. Parametric Modeling of Small Terminals and Multiband or UWB Antennas. PhD thesis, Ecole Polytechnique EDX, Sept. 2011.

Chapter 5

Optical Telecommunications (GTO)

```
Team leader Didier Erasme (P).
Faculty
      Guy Debarge (MC), Didier Erasme (P),
      Renaud Gabet (MC), Philippe Gallion (P),
      Yves Jaouën (P),
                           Cedric Ware (MC).
PhD students
      E. Gueorguiev (10/01-07/09),
                                      D.Y. Cong (07/05-04/10),
                                                                   J. Petit (09/05-10/10),
      M. Sabban (09/05–08/09),
                                      D. Fafchamps (10/05–12/10), V. Lanticq (05/06–08/09),
                                      S. Hocquet (09/06-11/09),
      B.A. Bennai (09/06–01/10),
                                                                   W. Akhtar (10/06–11/10),
      A. Farhat (10/06–08/09),
                                      M. Gharaei (10/06–09/10),
                                                                   S. Cordette (12/06–08/10),
      O. Bertran Pardo (01/07–09/10), F. Saliou (07/07)06/10),
                                                                   C. Caillaud (09/07-12/10),
      S. Mumtaz (10/07–02/11),
                                      J.C. Antona (12/07-09/11),
                                                                   G. De Valicourt (10/08-),
      M. Selmi (10/08–10/11),
                                      H. Brahmi (01/09-09-11),
                                                                   Y. Sikali Mamdem (09/09–),
      A. Azarian (11/09-),
                                      S. Tsyier (11/09–),
                                                                   Q. Deniel Liu (10/10-),
      E. Lucas (01/11-),
                                      E. Awwad (10/11-),
                                                                   V. Henry (10/11-).
Post-docs and engineers
```

Christophe Gosset (IR),

Q. Xu (08/05–10/09), M.N. Ngo (09/10–03/12), H.T. Nguyen (11/10–),

E. Giacoumidis (11/11–).

Sabbaticals

M. Zghal (10/10–10/10).

Associate Researchers

J.C. Bouley (01/05-06/10), F. Grillot (09/10-),

Faculty IT	6
PhD students	13.75
Post-docs, engineers and sabbaticals	4.7
Defended PhD thesis	15
Journal papers [published, in press]	[32, 2]
Papers in conference proceedings	91
Chapters and books	3
Patents	2
Grants [public, private, european] (k€)	[654, 111, 157]

5.1 Objectives

The evolution of optical communication systems represents a particularly challenging guideline for the research activities taking place in the Optical Communications group of Télécom Paris-Tech. In addition to the topics directly relevant to the upgrading of optical networking techniques, architectures, devices, components, etc., our field of activity expands both to subjects that use similar methods and technologies and to characterization systems for telecommunication devices.

Following a meditated focus on access network technical solutions (FTTx) bridging the "last mile" by means of optical support, the new evolution step in the field of optical communications is related to a merging with digital communications and fast digital electronics and affects all the levels of the optical network. Technical forecasts predict a constant increase of bit-rate demand for networks with a steady rising factor of 40 to 60% per year (according the Systematic Parisregion Telecom roadmap). This tendency is supported presently by video-related application associated with new terminal facilities. Presently, the three traditional fixed-network segments are all going through a strong evolution process:

- with the deployment of FTTH (Fibre-to-the-home), the optical access network has relied
 first on rather traditional solutions while advanced optical technologies are still under strong
 competitive development (WDM PON, OCDMA, ...). New generation PON (NG-PON) investigating 10Gbit/s solutions are being normalized. A strong requirement on components able
 to fit the constraint of access network (technical specification, cost, consumption, foot-print)
 leads to some renewed question on sources and receivers;
- the metropolitan network has to cope with an enhanced connectivity and some constraints related to equipment cost which requires new technical solutions. New end-to-end network architecture are investigated;
- in the core network, traditional individual channel bit-rates enhancement up to 40 Gbit/s is progressively replaced by new paradigms making use of the digital communication knowledge that was the development key of RF mobile communication. Multi-levels or multi-carriers modulations associated with digital signal processing thanks to high rate digital circuits, brings the required spectral efficiency enhancement.

In this wide panorama, the GTO group relies on its theoretical competence and its modelling and experimental know-how for developing new concepts and for participating in advanced collaborative research on optical systems.

A first research axis concerns the development of new optical signal processing techniques and functional analysis of new components for communication systems. This field covers several related studies concerning light emission, light amplification, light transmission and new reception

techniques. Although a number of applications lie in the field of telecommunication, the activity expands to other application areas such as energy, industrial process and defense.

The second research axis lies closer to the actual networks and transmission systems structures, approaching multiplexing techniques, high bit rate communication, new optical network architectural topics.

Finally, a specific research axis is related to quantum communications in particular to quantum key distribution for cryptography systems.

These research axes usually associate theoretical investigation and modelling activities, simulation using internal or commercial software and experimental activities. The latter rely on a rather well-equiped optical laboratory which includes a 4*10Gbit/s transmission platform, picosecond optical facilities allowing some 40Gbit/s experiments, very high sample rate arbitrary waveform generator associated to a real time oscilloscope and dedicated characterisation and sensor set-ups. The equipment for the assessment of coherent transmission systems and algorithm experimental testing, internally named "plateforme Penser 100Giga" has received a Region Ile-de-France SESAME-programme sponsorship.

The reporting period has been characterized by many national initiative interactions, (ANR, Cifre) and a strong activity on the European landscape. Through FP7-BONE and FP7-EURO-FOS Networks of Excellence our international activity has been pushed to a high level. In addition to project review papers involving many teams, we can count journal publications with laboratories representing many different countries (Denmark, Japan, USA, Germany, Mexico, China, Greece, Tunisia, China, Sweden).

5.2 Main Results

The main research results obtained during the period mid-2009 to 2011 are presented below for the research areas of the GTO team.

5.2.1 Optical functionalities and novel devices for communication systems and networks

Faculty G. Debarge, D. Erasme, R. Gabet, P. Gallion, Y. Jaouën, C. Ware, F. Grillot (CNRS-Photon)

Projects PôleSystem@tic-CARRIOCAS(10/06—09/09),ANR AROME (01/07—12/09), ANR L2CP, ANR MODULE (11/09-11/12), FUI TRILOB(09/09-09-12), FP7-EUROFOS (05/08—04/12), trilateral projet with EDF and LCPC, Bilateral project with ONERA and with CEA, 3 cifre Thesis, collaboration with Shanghaï Jiao Tong and Tondjï universities.

The widespread introduction of broadband at all levels of communication networks, the ubiquity of data exchange, the wired network infrastructure increasingly using the optical medium, and its being extended over the last mile all the way to the end-users, are changing the deal on signal processing functions implemented directly in the optical domain, giving them a foremost place in system design. These optical functionalities aim at keeping, as best can be done, the optical signal's integrity, avoiding optical-to-electrical conversions. The intrinsically high speed of the physical phenomena to be used allows them to take over processes, which were traditionally implemented in the electrical domain, and the development of devices adapted to these applications.

Clock recovery

After yielding record results during the previous reporting period, our clock recovery activity was rewarded by an invited paper in the Journal of Lightwave Technology. It was built upon,

mostly through collaborations with international partners, especially in the framework of FP7-EUROFOS¹. Bit rate was pushed up to 0.87 Tbit/s [536], including phase modulation.

Now that this level of performance and versatility has been shown, this activity is now reduced in favor of network-oriented functionalities.

Integrated semiconductor optical sources and receivers

The recent evolution of the optical communication network led to a large demand for new lowcost and high-performance components. Following a proposal and some initial results obtained at the end of the CARRIOCAS project [524], the concept of "dual modulation", consisting in modulating simultaneously the laser and the modulator of an EML source leads to the proposal of the new ANR project MODULE2, which we are leading. Condition for optimum modulation procedure for access—type distance range up to over 140km and rates up to 20Gbit/s. Single sideband modulation dedicated to radio-over-fibre and OFDM transmission have been demonstrated also [544, 504]. Simulation software has been used to confirm and explore transmission effect in dispersive fibres with dual-modulation. We also participated in the design of new "colourless" (wavelength-independent) devices for WDM-PONs and RoF applications, notably through a Cifre Thesis with Alcatel-Lucent III-V Lab, which more than doubled the state of the art for systems based on RSOAs (Reflective Semiconductor Optical Amplifiers) both in distance (100 km over standard fibre) and (separately) in bit rate (10 Gbps without any electronic processing). [433, 480, 562]. Additionally, another project FUI-TRILOB³ studies the integration of ELM with a SOA in order to enhanced the budget of downstream access transmission in PONs. We have recently demonstrated the effect of chirp compression induced by the SOA, which allows the transmission distance to be augmented strongly [521, 522]. The group has been involved in other devices development through 2 more Cifre theses with III-V lab (on 100G receivers and reflective SOA modules for access networks). The former resulted in the development of state-of-the-art integrated very-high rate SOA-PIN receivers [560]. Modelling of semiconductor lasers have been push forward; Some new understanding on chirping effect and reduction in various configuration, especially in the case of feedback has been accessed [447],[503].

Optical Code-division access coders-decoders

For OCDMA implementation (see next chapter), the most commonly used optical component is fiber Bragg grating (FBG). Part of the ANR-SUPERCODE⁴ project was focused on FBGs both for direct-sequence codes (DS-OCDMA) and spectral phase encoding (SPE-OCDMA).

The FBG-based coding method has the disadvantage that each FBG-based component can only generate one code word while as much as 64 may be required. We have proposed to realize the coding devices by using the Hadamard transform on a 2 dimensional multimode interference couplers (2DMMIC). The approach demonstrates the possibility to achieve the higher order Hadamard transform using simple 2D structures and provides a possible solution for all optical CDMA systems. It is worth mentioning that although the discussion is based on the MMI structure, the method of extension of 1D structure to 2D can be generalized for other devices, such as the LPFGs based Hadamard transform devices. The simulation results match the theoretical prediction precisely. [463]. In addition, we have analyzed the optical switch based on the MMI couplers and proposed the operation principles for this device based on an analytical transfer matrix theory. The device can be controlled by proportionally adjusting the inter-stage variable phase

¹FP7-EUROFOS (: Institute of Communication & Computer Systems/ National Technical University of Athens (leader), Heinrich-Hertz Institute, University of Essex, Universitat Politecnica de Catalunya, ACREO AB, Technical University of Eindhoven, Research and Educational Laboratory in Information Technology, Chalmers University of Technology, University of Karlsruhe, Politechnico di Torino, University College Cork, Scuola Superiore Sant'Anna, Universidad Polytecnica de Valencia, Interuniversitair Micro-Elektronica Centrum IMEC, Instituto de Telecomunicaoes, Technical University of Denmark

²Partners: GIE Alcatel-Thalès III-V lab, CNRS-LPN, IRCOM, Orange labs

³Partners: 3S-Photobics (leader), GIE Alcatel-Thalès III-V lab, Egide, ESPCI, Orange labs

⁴Partners: Institut Carnot de Bourgogne (leader), CNRS PhLAM, XLIM

shifter array. An 8*8 MMI coupler based switch is analyzed in detail, which demonstrates the feasibility of the proposed operation principles he theoretical prediction is verified by the numerical simulations. Fabrication error tolerance analysis is provided afterwards. The design principles presented here can be used for the design of the integrated MMI coupler based switches with either thermal-optical or electro-optical index tuning. [464]

Distributed Raman amplification

The distributed amplification based on the Raman effect, appears as an alternative or an additional technique to the doped fiber amplifier (EDFA) widely used in today optical communications systems. It offers the benefits of low noise due to gain distribution over large span and of the potentiality of pump polarization attraction. However noise transfer from the pump noise to the signal, the pump polarization fluctuations and the double Rayleigh scattering (DRB) strongly impact the noise figure and the single pump configuration is bandwidth limited.

Raman amplifiers (RAs) with time-division-multiplexed (TDM) pumps have been analyzed using a computational cost-effective Fourier series approach. It gives deeper insight into the pump modulation induced noise (PMIN) in TDM pumped RAs. Moreover, the approach allows the analytical analysis of the TDM pumped RAs with multiple pumps. By optimizing the pumping order of the multiple pumps, more than 3-dB reduction of the PMIN can be achieved. For short fibres, by properly choosing the modulation frequency, more than 3-dB reduction of the PMIN can be realized. [465]

We have analyzed the Raman amplifiers (RAs) with time division multiplexed (TDM) pumps via analytical approaches for the forward and backward propagating configurations. The gain and the optimal analytical formulas of the pump power configuration have been derived, by using the least mean square (LMS) method. Explicit analytically formulas have been derived for double Rayleigh scattering (DRB) and ASE noises as well as the impact of the pump modulation. They provide a performing tool for the design, the analysis and the optimization of multi pump amplification. [462]

Brillouin-based optical sensors

Given its low required power threshold, the Brillouin effect in optical fibre is one of the most promising nonlinear effect to design new all-optical processing or optical sensors. A self-referenced technique for measuring the Brillouin gain in an optical fibre has been recently proposed, and the importance of acousto-optic effective area in place of optical effective area on the Brillouin efficiency has been confirmed for the first time [446]. The analysis of optical and acoustic properties of optical fibers is required for accurate Brillouin gain spectrum (BGS) determination. Under collaboration with EDF, a 2 D FEM model has been proposed for BGS calculation in acoustic guiding and anti-guiding singlemode optical fibres [533, 532]. The intrinsic residual draw-induced stresses during the cooling from fusion to temperature to room temperature can impact significantly optical and acoustic mechanical properties, and should be taken into account in the calculation of BGS. Different fibres all coming from a same perform but with different conditions have been realized by Draka. The predicted theoretical BGS show very good agreement with corresponding measurement [534]. The following step in the EDF collaboration should be the analysis of Brillouin frequency shift dependence with strain and temperature and finally propose a fibre design specially devoted to optical sensing.

High-power fiber lasers

The technology of rare-earth doped optical fibres - Ytterbium (Yb3+) for amplification at 1µm and Erbium/Ytterbium (Er3+/Yb3+) at 1.55µm - represents a strong contender for applications requiring high optical power. Our contribution is carried out mainly through collaborations with external laboratories (ONERA, CEA) and Keopsys Company. With ONERA we have participated in the

design of LMA fibre amplifiers, in the analysis of Brillouin spectrum of doped fibres in connection with doping, and more recently the combination of coherent fibre amplifiers in continuous regime [471, 466] and pulsed regime respectively [448, 508, 509, 473]. Spectral broadening is required on high power lasers to avoid Brillouin scattering in high power laser chains such as Laser Mégajoule. The collaboration with CEA concerns the spectral broadening properties on FM-AM conversion induced by non-sinusoidal phase modulation in comparison to the sinusoidal phase modulation case [442, 441, 523]. Taking into account recent developments in Thulium and Holmium fibres technology, more than 100W output powers with very good beam quality have been achieved at 2µm and are an alternative to actual laser solutions. In collaboration with Keopsys Company and ONERA, we develop currently advanced architectures of pulsed fibre Thulium laser for LIDAR or remote sensing.

Optical Low Coherence reflectometry

The optical low-coherence reflectometer (OLCR) developed in our laboratory has been upgraded over the years and has proven to be a unique investigation tool for the study and the characterization of new photonic components. Through collaboration with component makers, we have been able to measure some otherwise inaccessible parameters in optical wavelength mux-demux, speciality optical fibers, fiber Bragg gratings, semiconductor devices, including semiconductor optical amplifiers... Our state-of-the-art phase-sensitive OLCR spatially resolves internal reflections of the device under test, and allows measurement of different polynomial terms of dispersion, birefringence, loss / gain material coefficient, phase/amplitude coupling coefficients. It has attracted many national and international collaborations, industrial and academic. The latest results concern the study of photonic bandgap semiconductor waveguides under the ANR-L2CP⁵ project [477, 478, 482, 535, 458, 439] in collaboration with Thalès R&T and specialty fibers characterization [468, 469] for which the OLCR provides incomparable elements of analysis.

5.2.2 Optical network evolutions

Faculty D. Erasme, P. Gallion, C. Gosset, Y. Jaouën, C. Ware.

Projects ANR-SUPERCODE (11/06—11/09), ANR ECOFRAME (-12/09), ANR-TCHATER (10/07—12/10), ANR OCELOT(01/11-01/14)⁶, FUI 100G-Flex(06/10-05/13), FP7-BONE (1/08—12/10), FP7-EUROFOS (05/08—04/12), research project Orange labs, 3 Cifre PhD.

Fast development of bandwidth consuming services like high-definition/on-demand television, network gaming, cloud computing, makes stringent the need to further network capacity. The objective to provide broadband to a maximum of users ("broadband-for-all") has been leading research and development in the field of fibre-to-the-home (FTTH) technology for the deployment of high bit-rate access networks. Deployment of FTTH, on one hand, of Cloud-computing on the other, will significantly impact the capacity requirement carried by metro and core transport networks in a medium-term future. The fibre capacity must also be maximized through the deployment of new techniques such as new multi-level modulation formats eventually combined with coherent detection, new techniques for multiplexing and routing (packet switching). Finally, a strong driver concerning the design of the physical layer or optical networks today is energy consumption.

Optical access (PON) and code-division multiple access

Today, passive optical network (PON) have been largely accepted as a robust technique for the last mile bottleneck. TDM PON is the commonly accepted technique for resource sharing. For

⁵Partners: Thalès R&T (leader), CNRS-LPN, IEMN, Télécom SudParis, Télécom ParisTech

⁶Partners:Apex(Leader),Université de Rennes, GIE Alcatel-Thalès III-V lab

the next generation PON, hybrid-multiplexing solutions (WDM/TDM, WDM/OCDMA...), will be considered as well as source-less of color-less ONUs, long reach PON, and private networking. Our research in PON architecture and components is facilitated through collaboration and 2 successive Thesis with FT-Orange labs on new generation PON including extended PON, WDM PON, etc [570, 467]. The former thesis presents a complete study of expended PON solution and established design rules for such networks. Although large amount of the research field of WDM-PON is presently concerned with the matching of proper components or devices structure for obtaining the performance in terms of budget and splitting ratio, distance (see previous part)... specific techniques can be accessed embracing the overall architecture.

The ANR-SUPERCODE⁷ project started off combining WDM and OCDMA by designing a supercontinuum pulsed source which can be shared among many users by being sliced into WDM channels, each of which supports multiple users through all-optical encoding and decoding. It also demonstrated the use of spectral phase encoding (SPE-OCDMA), which makes a better use of the bandwidth of the optical fiber, as in the long-haul context, by using the phase of the optical field instead of just the amplitude. Enhanced FBG-based encoders developed for this project were shown in a proof-of-concept SPE-OCDMA demonstration [539], which also used an all-optical power thresholder at the receiver. The latter is the last non-cost-effective piece of the puzzle, which will require higher-nonlinearity materials to fully enable this technique in the access network.

In addition we propose a novel decentralized scheme supporting multiple optical private networking (PNs) over ring-based PON taking benefit of asynchronous OCDMA technique. This technique leads to interconnect optical network units (ONUs) in the same PN sharing the same codeword while other PNs benefiting from different code words. We have experimentally demonstrated the feasibility of 2-active PNs over ring at 625 Mbps. [494].

The network scalability and throughput performance of the proposed scheme have been analyzed and its bit error rate (BER) performance have been experimentally demonstrated. Finally, the network scalability and throughput performance of the proposed scheme are analyzed. Impact of time and wavelength domain crosstalk on capacity performance of a WDM/Optical CDMA have been investigated [436]

Optical Digital communications techniques for next generations of Metropolitan and Core networks

Today's processing capability allows performing digital signal processing for optical communication systems at high bit rates. In close collaboration with the Digital Communications group, the potential and future trends of electrical signal processing techniques to mitigate e.g. noise accumulation, linear and nonlinear distortions are beginning to be investigated.

Under the project ANR-ECOFRAME⁸ we have modelled and simulated the physical channel of an optical ring WDM network architecture. We provide the parameters of the statistical distribution χ^2 and estimate the performance in collaboration with XLIM working on FEC implementation. An extension of the concept to mesh networks has been proposed.

Optical signal propagation simulations performed in the case of a new concept of packet ring network reveals that the Gaussian model is not sufficiently accurate to constitute a valuable model of noise-corrupted optical systems. We have proposed an alternative Chi-square model, which is more accurate and corrects deficiencies of the Gaussian model. In such specific channel, we design a FEC scheme based on Low Density Parity Check (LDPC) codes in the case of soft decoding. The performance of a Chi-square-based LDPC soft decoder and a Gaussian-based one are compared, both applied to a real Chi-square optical channel. We point out that the design can be done assuming an AWGN statistic but that considering the real channel statistics is essential to achieve optimal performance. [456, 563]

⁷Partners: Institut Carnot de Bourgogne (leader), CNRS PhLAM, XLIM

⁸Partners: ALU (leader), Orange, Prism Laboratories, XLIM

The convergence of digital communications and optical transmission is a key enabling factor to increase the capacity and flexibility of optical networks. Progresses in digital signal processing and optical integration have enabled a new generation of optical transmission systems using complex modulation formats, coherent detection and digital algorithms to compensate for transmission impairments.

The project ANR-TCHATER⁹ concerns the design of a real-time coherent receiver at 40Gbit/s using a FPGA implementation. Our contribution concerns the design of hard and soft FEC solutions adapted to optical coherent systems. We have proposed an original construction of low-density parity-check (LDPC) code suitable for high bit-rate implementations and that have good performance compared to the codes proposed in the literature [517]. To improve the performances of the FEC, it is very important to consider the specificities of the channel. In particular, coherent and direct detection systems both require differential modulation and this degrades the performance. We have proposed a new structured interleaving of the FEC codewords with a corresponding decoding scheme, in order to reduce the penalties introduced by differential modulation [513]. Moreover, the proposed scheme allows decoding complexity reduction and redundancy decrease without any performance loss [454].

We have investigated the interest of space-time codes for optical transmission systems. They have been developed for MIMO wireless channels but can be employed in polarization multiplexed optical systems. However their implementation requires the use of optical orthogonal frequency multiplexing (OFDM). For the first time, we have shown that space-time coding can efficiently mitigate polarization dependent loss impairments. We have also shown that their performance is very different than in wireless transmission and explained the reason [515, 514]. In collaboration with Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, we have proposed for the first time an experimental implementation of Polarization-Time code for optical communications [518, 516]. The performance of Silver, Golden and Alamouti PT codes for PDL mitigation are compared to the uncoded case.

Taking into account recent advances in ADC and DSP circuits, real-time implementation of polarization multiplexing coherent receiver is currently available at 40Gb/s and 100Gb/s. The implemented algorithms in circuits running are well adapted for QPSK formats. As higher modulation formats are more sensitive to signal distortions, accurate estimators and more robust equalizers are still required for QAM formats. Our contribution concerns the development of robust Digital Signal Processing (DSP) tools specific to the optical channel. A new adaptive blind and decision-directed equalizers based on Pseudo-Newton gradient-descent algorithm that are well adapted to QAM and that offers a better convergence speed with only a little extra computational load has been introduced [529]. According to the fact that the channel is very slowly time varying (compared to the data rate), we have proposed block-wise implementation of the blind-time CMA equalizers [528]. We have shown that block-wise version outperform the sampleper-sample adaptative CMA approach in term of convergence speed only at a moderate expense of computational load [531]. Moreover, a new CFO estimator very adapted to QAM modulation yields remarkable performance and enables the system to work without penalty [527]. Our proposed algorithms should be tested using a simulation setup of an optical transmission system using coherent detection and validated with off-line processing of real measurements in collaboration with HHI in the framework of the European NoE EURO-FOS and Orange Labs respectively. We are currently investigated in the project FUI9 100GFlex¹⁰, dedicated to metropolitan and core transmissions systems based on multi-band OFDM approach for 100Gb/s in 50GHz. Particularly, the concept of optical sub-band switching can be use advantageously to realize a multi-band OFDM-based reconfigurable optical add-drop multiplexer (ROADM). A very high-baud transmission platform is currently in developing, including a 100Gb/s transmitter/receiver and a 400 km recirculating loop. This versatility and upgradability will enable us to investigate different aspects of digital optical communications: Tx/Rx characterization, propagation techniques, new detection schemes, digital processing and coding techniques dedicated to the optical channel.

⁹Partners: ALU (leader), E2V semiconductors, INRIA Lyon, ENS Lyon

¹⁰ Partners: Mitsubishi Electric(leader), ENSAAT, Orange Labs, Télécom-Bretagne, Ekinops, Yenista

Analysis of High Bit Rate Optical Signals in amplitude and phase

The asynchronous optical linear sampling of very high rate (>100Gbps) optical signals with advanced modulation formats, especially in phase (x-PSK), by short laser pulses source (<1ps) is a low cost technique, very competitive constellation oscilloscope market. It allows extracting amplitude and phasing information and displaying it in a constellation diagram, for system design characterization and survey. In the frame of the OCELOT project, aiming the development and the technology the transfer from a research industry, we have start to perform the identifications of the basics limit and the utilization range for this technique, as well as the associated signal processing. [487]. Classical real time phase and frequency signal measurement schemes have been revisited [455] following renew demand for signal assessment in new specific application in particular access networking components in collaborative project (MODULE, TRILOB)

Optical switching

The evolution of optical networks toward more efficient and more flexible architectures leads to tasking optical systems with more work than just what the physical layer requires, tending towards a "cross-layer" approach. The prime research axis in this direction is to route data packets or bursts directly on the optical layer.

In collaboration with Columbia University, we demonstrated a fast-failure-recovery-enabled architecture in an optical packet switching matrix based on a bandwidth-flexible wavelength-striping packet format and semiconductor optical amplifiers used as gates [445]. Other avenues for cutting across the classical network layers are being pursued.

Also, following previous work on packet switching architecture, a whole addressing architecture based on the OCDMA technique and a flip-flop operation has been proposed and has been tested within a co-tutelle thesis in collaboration with Sup'Com Tunis. Within the frame of FP7-EUROFOS full scale experiments have been performed] leading to a demonstration of the feasibility of the architecture including flip-flop operation [474] and OCDMA addressing [476, 475].

5.2.3 Quantum Optics and application in Communications and Cryptography

Faculty P. Gallion.

Project ANR-HQNet (12/06—11/09)¹¹, collaboration CICISE-Mexico-BC

Balanced homodyne detection (BHD) system implementation

We have implemented an all fiber one-way QPSK quantum key distribution system at 1550nm using both photon counting and balanced homodyne detection (BHD) configurations. It includes an automatic optoelectronic feedback loop for the interferometric phase drift compensation and a dual-threshold decision scheme for the BHD signal post-detection. Experimental comparison points out that BHD is potentially more effective in terms of quantum key generation rate and system flexibility.

We have also investigated the security issues of the BHD QKD system under two main individual attacks: intercept-resend attack and intermediate-base attacks. A mixed attack strategy of signal power modification has also been analyzed [460]. As the use of decoy states improves the security, facing the photon number splitting (PNS) attacks, we have generalized the standard QKD security analysis to the proposed systems based on coherent detection [453].

¹¹ Partners: GEORGIA TECH, FEMTO, PHOTLINE

Optical carrier recovery for weak optical signals (WCS)

Access to the optical carrier phase is important in a diversity of applications, not only in coherent telecommunications but also in other fields such a coherent optical sensor and instrumentation, coherent Lidar, etc., that require the measurement of the two field quadratures. Costas loops or decision driven loops that detect both field quadratures simultaneously, require 2 BHD receivers at the expense of additional measurement uncertainty which is introduced due to the vacuum fields that leak through the unused ports.

We implemented a receiver structure in which a sequential measurement scheme alternatively switches the local oscillator phase between 0° and 90° to sequentially beat with the signal. We implemented our digital Costas loop in the signal processor block, and we obtained good long-term stability. The measurements on the post-detection statistics were close to the uncertainty limit, especially for small values of the photon number. Similarly our measurements of BER were close to the standard quantum limit for low photon numbers [459, 461, 511].

Space quantum communications

Optical communications with in low photon number for each transmitted symbol constitutes an expanding field in a diversity of applications. Beyond cryptography, many applications requiring power economy frequently deal with these quantum level signals, such as quantum communications for airborne, space to ground and inter satellite scenarios.

By using the quantum coherent state model of the radiation field, we have compared the different quantum receiver implementations and derived the minimum signal energy required to achieve a given bit error rate, or a given bit erasure rate in high bit rate, quantum level communications [542]. We have implemented an optical Costas loop at 1550 nm based on polarization splitting of the laser field to detect I and Q quadratures simultaneously. We have obtained results on the performance in phase error and bit error rate and compare with corresponding quantum limit [543].

Holistic quantum security approach

The security of quantum communications is traditionally considered as limited only by the basic principles of physics and not, as in merely conventional safety, in terms of resources that Eve could realistically have. However the needs of a time independent truly unconditional security will be very limited and it is not proven that its cost will be finite, making the widely used unconditional security limitation discussion under risk of confining into academics or thought experiments, with weak economics or societal interest. Furthermore an unconditional security of the quantum layer is not sufficient to achieve an end-to-end security up to the application layer. The only way for quantum security to keep a credible role and to create a wide industrial application range is a progressive infiltration into the classically secured system technologies and culture, including an end-to-end security approach and to clarify its compatibility with optical fiber technologies and systems. In collaboration with local Electronics group and the Computer Science Department we have developed a holistic approach of quantum security [512, 490].

5.3 References

5.3.1 ACL: Articles in ISI-Indexed Journals

- [432] N. Belabas, C. Minot, J. A. Levenson, and J.-M. Moison. Ab initio design, experimental validation, and scope of coupling coefficients in waveguide arrays and discrete photonics patterns. *Journal of Lightwave Technology*, 29(19):3009–3014, Oct. 2011.
- [433] G. de Valicourt, M. A. Violas, D. Wake, F. van Dijk, C. Ware, A. Enard, D. Maké, Z. Liu, M. Lamponi, G. H. Duan, and R. Brenot. Radio over fibre access network architecture based on new optimized

- RSOA devices with large modulation bandwidth and high linearity. *IEEE Transactions on Microwave Theory and Techniques*, 58(11):3248–3258, Nov. 2010. to a.
- [434] G. de Valicourt, G. Duan, C. Ware, M. Lamponi, M. Faugeron, and R. Brenot. Experimental and theoretical investigation of mode size effects on tilted facet reflectivity. *IET Optoelectronics*, 5(4): 175–180, Aug. 2011.
- [435] I. Fsaifes, S. Cordette, A. Tonello, V. Couderc, C. Lepers, C. Ware, P. Leproux, and C. Buy-Lesvigne. Nonlinear pulse reshaping with highly birefringent photonic crystal fiber for OCDMA receivers. *IEEE Photonics Technology Letters*, 22(18):1367–1369, Sept. 2010.
- [436] M. Gharei, C. Lepers, S. Cordette, I. Fsaifes, and P. Gallion. Ring-based pon supporting multiple optical private networks using ocdma technique. *Journal of Opical and Quantum Electronics, Opt Quant Electron*, 42(42):241–250, Feb. 2011.
- [437] M. Gharei, C. Lepers, and P. Gallion. Impact of time and wavelength domain crosstalk on capacity performance of a wdm/optical cdma. *Journal of Optical Communications and Networking (JOCN) ISSN*, Nov. 2011. To appear.
- [438] F. Gómez Agis, L. K. Oxenløwe, S. Kurimura, C. Ware, H. C. Hansen Mulvad, M. Galili, and D. Erasme. Ultra-fast phase comparator for optoelectronic clock recovery PLL-based systems. *Journal of Lightwave Technology*, 27(13):2439–2448, July 2009.
- [439] Y. Gottesman, S. Combrié, A. De Rossi, A. Talneau, P. Hamel, A. Parini, R. Gabet, Y. Jaouën, B. e. Benkelfat, and E. Rao. Time-frequency analysis for an efficient detection and localization of side-coupled cavities in real photonics crystals. *Lightwave Technology*, 28(5):816–821, Mar. 2010.
- [440] F. Grillot, N. Naderi, J. Wright, R. Raghunathan, M. Crowley, and L. Lester. A dual-mode quantum dot laser operating in the excited state. *Applied Physics Letters*, 99:231110, Dec. 2011.
- [441] S. Hocquet, D. Penninckx, J.-F. Gleze, C. Gouedard, and Y. Jaouën. Non-sinusoidal phase modulations for improved performance of high power lasers. *Journal of Physics*, 244(3):032024, Feb. 2010.
- [442] S. Hocquet, D. Penninckx, J.-F. Gleze, and Y. Jaouën. Non-sinusoidal phase modulations for high power laser performance control: Stimulated brillouin scattering and fm-to-am conversion. *Applied Optics*, 49(7):1104–1115, Feb. 2010.
- [443] V. Jagtap and C. Minot. Internally integrated active-type patch antenna for semiconductor superlattice thz oscillators. *IEEE Transactions on Terahertz Science and Technology*, Mar. 2011.
- [444] P. Johannisson, C. Gosset, and M. Karlsson. A blind phase stabilization algorithm for parallel coherent receivers. *Journal of Ligntwave Technology*, Nov. 2011.
- [445] C. P. Lai, D. Brunina, C. Ware, B. G. Bathula, and K. Bergman. Demonstration of failure reconfiguration via cross-layer enabled optical switching fabrics. *IEEE Photonics Technology Letters*, 22(23): 1679–1681, Nov. 2011.
- [446] V. Lanticq, S. Jiang, R. Gabet, Y. Jaouën, F. Taillade, G. Moreau, and G. P. Agrawal. Self-referenced and single-ended method to measure Brillouin gain in monomode optical fibers. *Optics Letters*, 34 (7):1018–1020, Apr. 2009.
- [447] C.-Y. Lin, F. Grillot, Y. Li, R. Raghunathan, and L. Lester. Microwave characterization and stabilization of timing jitter in a quantum-dot passively mode-locked laser via external optical feedback. *IEEE JOURNAL OF SELECTED TOPICS IN QUANTUM ELECTRONICS*, 17(5):1311–1317, Dec. 2011.
- [448] L. Lombard, a. Azarian, k. Cadoret, P. Bourdon, J. D. Ania-Castanon, d. Goulard, G. Canat, V. Jolivet, Y. Jaouën, and O. Vasseur. Coherent beam combination of narrow linewidth 1.5μm fiber amplifiers in long pulse regime. *Optics Letters*, 36(6):523–525, Feb. 2011.
- [449] M. Martin, J. Mangeney, L. Travers, C. Minot, J. C. Harmand, O. Mauguin, and G. Patriarche. Epitaxial growth and picosecond carrier dynamics of gainas/gainnas superlattices. *Applied Physics Letters*, 95(14):141910 1–3, Oct. 2009.
- [450] C. Minot, Y. Todorov, D. Armand, F. Garet, and J. L. Coutaz. Long-wavelength limit and fano profiles of extraordinary transmission through metallic slit gratings in the thz range. *Physical Review B*, 80 (15):153410 1–4, Oct. 2009.
- [451] C. Minot, N. Belabas, J. A. Levenson, and J. M. Moison. Analytical first-order extension of coupled-mode theory for waveguide arrays. *Optics Express*, 18(7):7157–7172, Mar. 2010.
- [452] J. M. Moison, N. Belabas, C. Minot, and J. A. Levenson. Discrete photonics in waveguide arrays. Optics Letters, 34(16):2462–2464, Aug. 2009.
- [453] H. S. Mousavi and P. Gallion. Decoy state quantum key distribution using homodyne detection. *Phys. Rev. A*, 80(1):012327–1–4, July 2009.
- [454] S. Mumtaz, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, and Y. Jaouën. Efficient coding/decoding scheme for psk optical systems with differential encoding. *IET Optoelectronics*, 5(6):241–246, Nov. 2011.

- [455] J.-G. Provost and F. Grillot. Measuring the chirp and the linewidth enhancement factor of optoelectronic devices with a mach-zehnder interferometer. *IEEE Photonics Journal*, 3(3):476–488, June 2011.
- [456] S. Sahuguede, D. Fafchamps, A. Julien-Vergonjanne, G. Rodriguez, J.-P. Cances, and P. Gallion. Ldpc code design and performance analysis on ook chi-square based optical channels. *IEEE PhotonicsTechnology Letters*, 21(17):1190–1192, Sept. 2009.
- [457] M. Selmi, C. Gosset, P. Ciblat, and Y. Jaouën. Blockwise digital signal processing for polmux qam/psk optical coherent systems. *IEEE Journal of Lightwave Technology*, July 2011.
- [458] A. Talneau, I. Sagnes, R. Gabet, Y. Jaouën, and H. benisty. Ultrasharp edge filtering in nanotethered photonic wires. *Applied Physics Letters*, 97:191115, Nov. 2010.
- [459] Q. Xu, A. Arvizu, P. Gallion, and F. J. Mendieta. Homodyne in-phase and quadrature detection of weak coherent states with carrier phase tracking. *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Quantum Electronics*, 15(6):1581 – 1590, Nov. 2009.
- [460] Q. Xu, M. B. Costa E Silva, M. Sabban, P. Gallion, and F. J. Mendieta. Dual-threshold balanced homodyne detection at 1550nm optical fiber quantum key distribution system. *IEEE /OSA Journal* of Lighthwave Technology, 27(15):3202–3211, Aug. 2009.
- [461] Q. Xu, M. Sabban, and P. Gallion. Homodyne detection of weak coherent optical pulse with selection of descision opportunity: Applications to quantum cryptography. *Microwave and Optical Technology Letters*, 51(8):1934–1939, Aug. 2009.
- [462] J. Zhou and P. Gallion. Analytical design, analysis and optimization of raman fiber amplifiers with tdm pumps. *IEEE Journal of Quantum Electronics*, 46(11):1597 1604, Nov. 2010.
- [463] J. Zhou and P. Gallion. Increase the number of input for hadamard transform using two dimensional multimode interference couplers. *IEEE Photonics Technol. Lett.*, 23(18):1289–1291, Apr. 2011.
- [464] J. Zhou and P. Gallion. Operation principles for optical switches based on two multimode interference couplers. *IEEE Journal of Quantum Electronics (JQE)*, Nov. 2012. To appear.
- [465] J. Zhou, S. Jiang, and P. Gallion. A fourier series approach to analyze raman amplifiers with tdm pumps. IEEE Journal of Ligtwave Technology, 21(24):1879–1881, Dec. 2009.

5.3.2 ACTI: Articles in Proceedings International Conferences

- [466] a. Azarian, O. Vasseur, B. Bennai, L. Lombard, G. Canat, V. Jolivet, Y. Jaouën, and P. Bourdon. Global sensitivity analyses of coherent beam combining of fiber amplifier arrays by use of numerical space filling designs. In *Photonics West 2011*, pages paper 7941–31, San Franscisco, Jan. 2011.
- [467] L. Anet Neto, P. Chanclou, B. Charbonnier, A. Gharba, N. Genay, R. Xia, M. Ouzzif, C. Aupetit-Berthelemot, J. Le Masson, D. Erasme, E. Grard, and V. Rodrigues. On the interest of chirped lasers for amoofdm transmissions through long distance pon networks. In *Optical Fiber Communicat*. *OFC'11*, number OWK4, Los Angeles, CA, USA, Mar. 2011.
- [468] C. Baskiotis, Y. Jaouën, R. Gabet, D. Molin, P. Sillard, G. Bouwmans, Y. Quiquempois, and M. Douay. Investigating micro-bend sensitivity of a large-mode-area bragg fiber. In *ECOC 2009*, page paper 2.2.1, Vienne, Autriche, Sept. 2009.
- [469] C. Baskiotis, Y. Jaouën, R. Gabet, D. Molin, P. Sillard, G. Bouwmans, Y. Quiquempois, and M. Douay. Analyse de la sensibilité aux micro-courbures des fibres de bragg à grande aire effective. In *JNOG* 2009, page Session affiches, Lille, July 2009.
- [470] N. Belabas, C. Minot, J. A. Levenson, and J.-M. Moison. Band structures for functionalized waveguide arrays: Theory and experiment. In 2011 13th International Conference on Transparent Optical Networks (ICTON 2011), pages 247–250, Stockholm, Suède, June 2011. Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE).
- [471] B. Bennai, P. Bourdon, V. Jolivet, L. Lombard, G. Canat, O. Vasseur, and Y. Jaouën. Coherent combining efficiency assessment for few-mode fibers with higher-order mode content. In *LEOS* annual meeting, page paper ThV4, Belek-Antalya, Turquie, Oct. 2009.
- [472] A. Bizopoulos, P. I. Lazaridis, T. Panagiotis, Z. zaharias, G. Debarge, and P. Gallion. Comparative study of dct and discrete legendre transform for image compression. In ETAI 2011, OHRID Macedonia, Sept. 2011.
- [473] P. Bourdon, k. Cadoret, L. Lombard, a. Azarian, d. Goulard, G. Canat, V. Jolivet, B. Bennai,
 O. Vasseur, and Y. Jaouën. Coherent combining of low-peak-powerpulsed fiber amplifiers with 100 ns pulse duration. In *Photonics West 2011*, pages paper 7914–52, San Francisco, Jan. 2011.
- [474] H. Brahmi, M. Bougioukos, M. Menif, A. Maziotis, C. Stamatiadis, C. Kouloumentas, D. Apostolopoulos, H. Avramopoulos, and D. Erasme. Experimental demonstration of an all-optical packet forward-

- ing gate based on a single soa-mzi at 40 gb/s. In *Optical Fiber Communicat. OFC'11*, number OMK5, Los Angeles, CA, USA, Mar. 2011.
- [475] H. Brahmi, M. Menif, M. Bougioukos, and D. Erasme. Conception de flip-flop tout-optique en utilisant des portes ou-exclusif. In *Journées Nationales d'Optique Guidée 2011 - Optique-Marseille*, number P147, page 158, Marseille, July 2011.
- [476] H. Brahmi, M. Menif, and D. Erasme. Blocs d'extraction de labels cod'es en cdma optique. In Journées Nationales d'Optique Guidée 2011 - Optique-Marseille, number P146, page 155, Marseille, July 2011.
- [477] S. Combrié, P. Colman, A. De Rossi, M. Patterson, S. Hughes, R. Gabet, and Y. Jaouën. The role of the coherent scattering in photonic crystals. In *Photonic Europe*, number 7713-20, Apr. 2010.
- [478] S. Combrié, P. Colman, N. V. Q. Tran, J. Bourderionnet, A. De Rossi, G. Demand, M. Patterson, S. Hughes, R. Gabet, and Y. Jaouën. Toward a miniature optical true-time delay line. In SPIE newsroom, June 2010.
- [479] S. Cordette, I. Fsaifes, B. Kibler, C. Ware, C. Lepers, C. Finot, and G. Millot. évaluation expérimentale des performances d'un système hybride WDM/DS-OCDMA. In *Journées Nationales d'Optique Guidée (JNOG'10)*, Besançon, France, Oct. 2010.
- [480] G. de Valicourt and R. Brenot. 10gbit/s modulation of reflective soa without any electronic processing. In *OFC*, number OThT2, Los Angeles, Mar. 2011.
- [481] P. Delesques, P. Ciblat, G. Froc, Y. Jaouën, and C. Ware. Influence of guard-band on channel capacity for optical transmission systems. In *IPC 2011*, page paper TuN2, Arlington (USA), Oct. 2011
- [482] G. Demand, M. Patterson, S. Combrié, P. Colman, R. Gabet, Y. Jaouën, A. De Rossi, and S. Hughes. Probing disorder-induced scattering in photonic crystal waveguides through time-frequency transmission maps. In *Photonic North*, volume Photonic nanostructures, June 2010.
- [483] I. Fsaifes, S. Cordette, A. Tonello, V. Couderc, C. Lepers, C. Ware, P. Leproux, and C. Lesvigne-Buy. Fonction de seuillage optique non-linéaire accordable à base d'une fibre microstructurée hautement biréfringente. In *Journées Nationales d'Optique Guidée (JNOG'09)*, number A10.7, pages 42–44, Lille, France, July 2009.
- [484] I. Fsaifes, A. Millaud, S. Cordette, C. Lepers, M. Douay, and C. Ware. Spectral phase OCDMA encoder/decoder using travelling interference fringephoto-writing technique. In *Asia Communications and Photonics Conference (ACP)*, number TuY3, Shanghai, China, Nov. 2009.
- [485] I. Fsaifes, S. Cordette, A. Tonello, V. Couderc, C. Lepers, C. Ware, P. Leproux, and C. Buy-Lesvigne. A highly birefringent photonic crystal fiber based nonlinear thresholding device for OCDMA receiver. In *Nonlinear Photonics (NP) 2010*, number NThA4, Karlsruhe, Germany, June 2010.
- [486] M. Galili, H. C. Hansen Mulvad, H. Hu, L. K. Oxenløwe, F. Gómez Agis, C. Ware, D. Erasme, A. T. Clausen, and P. Jeppesen. 650 Gbit/s OTDM transmission over 80 km SSMF incorporating clock recovery, channel identification and demultiplexing in a polarisation insensitive receiver. In *Optical Fiber Conference*, number OWO3, San Diego, CA, USA, Mar. 2010.
- [487] P. Gallion and C. Gosset. Stroboscopic analysis of high bitrate optical signals. In 1st EOS Topical Meeting on Photonics for Sustainable Development. Tunis. Mar. 2012.
- [488] P. Gallion and F. J. Mendieta. Minimum energy per bit in high bit rate optical communications and quantum communications (invited paper). In *Photonics in Sustainable Energy Engineering, SPIE Eco-Photonics Symposium*, Strasbourg, Mar. 2011.
- [489] P. Gallion and F. J. Mendieta. New trends in quanum cryptography (invited paper). In 1st EOS Topical Meeting on Photonics for Sustainable Development, TUNIS, Mar. 2012.
- [490] P. Gallion, F. J. Mendieta, and P. Bellot. Security in quantum based cryptography: Toward an holistic approach. In 8th IEEE International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies RIVF 2010, HANOI, Oct. 2010. IEEE.
- [491] M. Gharei, S. Cordette, P. Gallion, C. Lepers, and I. Fsaifes. Enabling internetworking among onus in epon using ocdma technique. In 3rd International Conference on Signals, Circuits and Systems (SCS'09), Djerba, Tunisia, Nov. 2009.
- [492] M. Gharei, C. Lepers, O. Affes, and P. Gallion. Teletraffic capacity performance of wdm/ direct sequence-ocdma pon. In IEEE 9th International Conference on Next Generation Wired/Wireless Networking. NEW2AN 2009, St.Petersburg, Russia, Sept. 2009.
- [493] M. Gharei, C. Lepers, S. Cordette, I. Fsaifes, and P. Gallion. A novel ring architecture of multiple optical private networks over epon using optical cdma technique. In 11th International Conference on Transparent Optical Networks, Th.B3.2,, Island of São Miguel, Azores, Portugal, July 2009.
- [494] M. Gharei, S. Cordette, C. Lepers, and P. Gallion. Multiple optical private networks over epon using

- optical cdma technique. In *Optical Fiber Communication Conference, Optical Fiber Communication (OFC), collocated National Fiber Optic Engineers Conference,* San Diego, California, Mar. 2010.
- [495] M. Gharei, C. Lepers, and P. Gallion. Impact of crosstalk in capacity performance of wdm/ocdma system. In *Optical Fiber Communication Conference, collocated National Fiber Optic Engineers Conference (OFC/NFOEC)*, volume 2010, San Diego, California, Mar. 2011.
- [496] F. Grillot. External control in semiconductor quantum nanostructure lasers for future integrated photonic devices. In *International Photonics Conference*, Tainan, Taiwan, Dec. 2011.
- [497] F. Grillot and N. Dubey. Influence of the linewidth enhancement factor on the modulation response of a nanostructure based semiconductor laser operating under external optical feedback. In *SPIE Photonics West*, San Francisco, Jan. 2011.
- [498] F. Grillot, N. Naderi, J. Wright, R. Raghunathan, N. Rahimi, M. Crowley, and L. Lester. Dual-mode quantum dot laser operating in the excited state. In *The 24th International Photonics Society Meet*ing, Arlington, USA, Sept. 2011.
- [499] F. Grillot, J.-G. Provost, K. Kechaou, D. Erasme, and B. Thedrez. Contrôle de la dérive de fréquence dans les lasers dfb à puits quantiques rétroactionnés optiquement. In *Journées Nationales d'Optique Guidée 2011 - Optique-Marseille*, number P167, page 218, Marseille, July 2011.
- [500] S. Hocquet, D. Penninckx, J.-F. Gleze, C. Gouedard, and Y. Jaouën. Non-sinusoidal phase modulations for improved performance of high power lasers. In *IFSA 2009*, page paper 10.025, San-Francisco, Sept. 2009.
- [501] J. Karaki, E. Pincemin, T. Guillossou, Y. Jaouën, and R. Le Bidan. Approche multi-bandes pour la transmission wdm longue distance à 100 gbps de signaux ofdm cohérents multiplexés en polarisation. In *JNOG 2011*, Marseille, July 2011.
- [502] J. Karaki, E. Pincemin, Y. Jaouën, and R. Le Bidan. First and second-order pmd impact over 100gbps polarization-multiplexed multi-band coherent ofdm system under realistic "field" conditions. In *IPC* 2011, Arlington (USA), Oct. 2011.
- [503] K. Kechaou, D. Erasme, B. Thedrez, F. Grillot, G. Aubin, and C. Kazmierski. Modélisation d'un laser modulateur intégré à modulation duale (d-eml). In *Journées Nationales d'Optique Guidée 2011 - Optique-Marseille*, number P172, page 233, Marseille, July 2011.
- [504] K. Kechaou, T. Anfray, K. Merghem, C. Aupetit-Berthelemot, G. Aubin, C. Kazmierski, C. Jany, P. Chanclou, and D. Erasme. First demonstration of dispersion limit improvement at 20 gb/s with a dual electro-absorption modulated laser. In *Optical fiber communication OFC'12*, number OTh3F.1, Los Angeles, Mar. 2012.
- [505] C. P. Lai, C. Ware, B. G. Bathula, D. Brunina, A. S. Garg, and K. Bergman. Intelligent highly-functional cross-layer optimized interfaces for future access/aggregation networks. In *International Conference* on *Transparent Optical Networks (ICTON)*, number GOC-III-2, Stockholm, Sweden, June 2011. Invited conference.
- [506] J. Lazaro, J. Prat, C. Kazmierski, P. Chanclou, I. Tomkos, E. Tandiongga, I. Monroy, X. Qiu, A. Teixeira, R. Soila, P. Poggiolini, R. Sambaraju, K. Langer, D. Erasme, F. Gómez Agis, E. Kehayas, and H. Avramopoulos. Subsystems for future access networks. In *ICT Future Network & Mobile Summit 2010*, number Paper 4C.1., Florence (It), June 2010.
- [507] J. Lazaro, V. Polo, B. Schrenk, F. Bonada, I. Cano, E. Lopez Ruiz, C. Kazmierski, G. de Valicourt, R. Brenot, J. Bauwelinck, X. Z. Qiu, P. Ossieur, M. Forzati, p. J. Rigole, I. Monroy, E. Tandiongga, M. Morant, L. Nicolau, A. Teixera, D. Erasme, D. Klonidis, I. Tomkos, J. Prat, C. Kouloumentas, and H. Avramopoulos. Optical subsystems for next generation access networks inveted paper. In Access Networks and In-house Communications (ANIC), Toronto, Canada, June 2011.
- [508] L. Lombard, a. Azarian, k. Cadoret, P. Bourdon, d. Goulard, G. Canat, V. Jolivet, Y. Jaouën, and O. Vasseur. First demonstration of coherent beam combination of 1.5μm fiber amplifiers in 100ns pulse regime. In CLEO 2011, page paper CFE2, Baltimore, May 2011.
- [509] L. Lombard, a. Azarian, k. Cadoret, P. Bourdon, d. Goulard, G. Canat, V. Jolivet, Y. Jaouën, and O. Vasseur. Coherent combination of pulse fiber amplifiers in 100ns-pulse regime. In *CLEO Europe* 2011, page paper CJ9.2, Munich, May 2011.
- [510] L. Lombard, a. Azarian, k. Cadoret, P. Bourdon, d. Goulard, G. Canat, V. Jolivet, Y. Jaouën, and O. Vasseur. Combinaison cohérente d'amplificateurs à fibre en régime 100-ns. In JNOG 2011, Marseille, July 2011.
- [511] F. J. Mendieta, A. Arvizu, R. MURAOKA, P. Gallion, and J. Sanchez. Coherent photodetection with applications in quantum communications and cryptography. *Proc. SPIE, Vol. 7499, 749905*, Vol. 7499:749905–749905, Dec. 2009.

- [512] F. J. Mendieta, P. Gallion, P. Bellot, E. GARCIA, j. Loppez, and A. Arizu. Holistic approach to security in quantum key distribution systems. In *Theory and Realisation of Practical Quantum Key Distribution Waterloo*, Waterloo, June 2010.
- [513] S. Mumtaz, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, Y. Jaouën, and G. Charlet. Efficient interleaving of fec for optical psk systems. In *ECOC 2009*, number paper P3.02, Vienne, Autriche, Sept. 2009.
- [514] S. Mumtaz, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, and Y. Jaouën. Space-time codes for optical fiber communication with polarization multiplexing. In *IEEE International Conference on Communications*, Cape Town, Afrique du Sud, May 2010.
- [515] S. Mumtaz, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, and Y. Jaouën. Pdl mitigation in polmux ofdm systems using golden and silver polarization-time codes. In *Optical Fiber Communication Conference (OFC)*, San Diego, Californie, USA, Mar. 2010.
- [516] S. Mumtaz, J.-R. Li, S. Koenig, Y. Jaouën, R. Schmogrow, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, and J. Leuthold. Experimental demonstration of pdl mitigation using polarization-time coding in pdm-ofdmsystems. In SPPCOM 2011, Toronto - Canada, June 2011.
- [517] S. Mumtaz, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, and Y. Jaouën. Quasi-cyclic ldpc based on peg construction for optical communications. In SPPCOM 2011, Toronto - Canada, June 2011.
- [518] S. Mumtaz, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, Y. Jaouën, J.-R. Li, S. Koenig, R. Schmogrow, and J. Leuthold. Alamouti code against pdl in polarization multiplexed systems. In SPPCOM 2011, Toronto - Canada, June 2011.
- [519] N. Naderi, F. Grillot, V. Kovanis, and L. Lester. Simultaneous low linewidth enhancement factor and high bandwidth quantum-dash injection-locked laser. In *The 24th International Photonics Society Meeting.*, Arlington, USA, Sept. 2011.
- [520] M. N. Ngo, Q. Deniel, N. Genay, and D. Erasme. Impact de la saturation du gain d'un amplificateur optique à semiconducteurs utilisé pour l'amplification 'booster' du réseaux d'accès sur la qualité du signal optique. In *Journées Nationales d'Optique Guidée 2011 Optique-Marseille*, page 23, Marseille, July 2011.
- [521] M. N. Ngo, H. T. Nguyen, C. Gosset, and D. Erasme. Control of chirp parameter in electroabsorption modulator laser integrated with semiconductor optical amplifier. In 2nd EOS Topical Meeting on Lasers (ETML'11), Capri, Italy,, Sept. 2011. European Optical Society.
- [522] M. N. Ngo, H. T. Nguyen, C. Gosset, D. Erasme, Q. Deniel, and N. Genay. Transmission performance of chirp-controlled signal emitted by electroabsorption modulator laser integrated with a semiconductor optical amplifier. In *Optical fiber communication OFC'12*, number OW4F.6, Los Angeles, Mar. 2012.
- [523] D. Penninckx, S. Hocquet, C. Gouedard, J.-M. Sajer, and Y. Jaouën. Phase modulation optimization for high power ns-lasers. In *IFSA 2011*, page paper P.Mo 54, Bordeaux, Sept. 2011.
- [524] J. M. Petit, D. Erasme, R. Gabet, C. Kazmierski, C. Jany, J. Decobert, F. Alexandre, and N. Dupuis. Augmentation de la portée de transmission à 10gb/s par modulation duale d'une nouvelle source d'emission : le d-eml. In *Journées nationales d'optique guidée - JNOG*, Lille, July 2009.
- [525] J. M. Petit, W. Aktar, J. C. Bouley, P. Gallion, D. Erasme, C. Kazmierski, C. Jany, J. Decobert, F. Alexandre, and N. Dupuis. Dual-modulation of a novel electro-absorption modulated laser for radio-over-fiber systems. In *Photonics Europe*, volume Vol. 7720, Brussels, Apr. 2010. SPIE.
- [526] R. Raghunathan, M. Crowley, F. Grillot, V. Kovanis, and L. Lester. Direct characterization of carrier relaxation in a passively mode-locked quantum dot laser. In *The 24th International Photonics Society Meeting*, Arlington, USA, Sept. 2011.
- [527] M. Selmi, Y. Jaouën, and P. Ciblat. Accurate digital frequency offset estimator for coherent polmux qam transmission systems. In *European Conference on Optical Communications (ECOC)*, number paper P3.08, Vienne, Autriche, Sept. 2009.
- [528] M. Selmi, P. Ciblat, C. Gosset, and Y. Jaouën. Block versus adaptive mimo equalization for coherent polmux qam transmission systems. In *European Conference on Optical Communications (ECOC)*, Turin (Italie), Sept. 2010.
- [529] M. Selmi, P. Ciblat, Y. Jaouën, and C. Gosset. Pseudo-newton based equalization algorithms for qam coherent optical systems. In *Optical fiber conference (OFC 2010)*, volume paper OThM3, San Diego (USA), Mar. 2010.
- [530] M. Selmi, P. Ciblat, Y. Jaouën, and C. Gosset. A robust deflation based demultiplexing algorithm for qam coherent optical systems. In *ECOC 2011*, page paper WE.10.P1.56, Genève, Sept. 2011.
- [531] M. Selmi, P. Ciblat, Y. Jaouën, and C. Gosset. Complexity analysis of block equalization approach for polmux qam coherent systems. In OSA Signal Processing Workshop on Photonic Communications 2011 (SPPCOM 2011), Toronto, Canada, June 2011.

- [532] Y. Sikali-Mamdem, X. Pheron, F. Taillade, Y. Jaouën, R. Gabet, V. Lanticq, G. Moreau, A. Boukenter, and Y. Ouerdane. Prise en compte du profil de dopage pour l'analyse modale des spectres brillouin de fibres optiques monomodes. In *JNOG 2010*, Besancon, Oct. 2010.
- [533] Y. Sikali-Mamdem, X. Pheron, F. Taillade, Y. Jaouën, R. Gabet, V. Lanticq, G. Moreau, A. Boukenter, Y. Ouerdane, S. Lesoille, and J. Bertrand. Two-dimensional fem analysis of brillouin spectra in acoustic guiding and acoustic antiguiding single mode optical fibers. In COMSOL conference, page session Acoustic II, Paris, Oct. 2010.
- [534] Y. Sikali-Mamdem, E. Burov, L.-A. De Montmorillon, F. Taillade, Y. Jaouën, G. Moreau, and R. Gabet. Importance of residual stresses in the brillouin gain spectrum of singlemode optical fobers. In ECOC 2011, page paper We.10.P1.16, Genève, Sept. 2011.
- [535] A. Talneau, I. Sagnes, R. Gabet, Y. Jaouën, and H. benisty. Ultra-sharp edge filtering in nanotethered photonic wire evidenced by delay measurement. In EOS annual meeting, number 3535, Oct. 2010.
- [536] E. Tipsuwannakul, M. Galili, M. Bougioukos, M. Spyropoulou, J. Seoane, B. Zsigri, C. Peucheret, C. Lundström, G.-W. Lu, P. O. Hedekvist, C. Kouloumentas, H. Avramopoulos, C. Ware, D. Erasme, and P. Andrekson. 0.87 Tbit/s 160 Gbaud dual-polarization D8PSK OTDM transmission over 110 km. In European Conference on Optical Communication (ECOC), Turin, Italy, Sept. 2010.
- [537] S. Tsyier, ph. Yvernault, a. Millaud, I. Fsaifes, Y. Jaouën, R. Gabet, M. Douay, and b. Poumellec. Mesure du profil d'indice en module et phase de réseaux de bragg par luminescene bleue. In JNOG 2011, Marseille, July 2011.
- [538] S. Tsyier, ph. Yvernault, I. Fsaifes, a. Millaud, Y. Jaouën, R. Gabet, and M. Douay. Index phase profile and pitch measurement technique of fiber bragg gratings using uv-induced blue lumine. In CLEO 2011, page paper CFM5, Baltimore, May 2011.
- [539] C. Ware, S. Cordette, C. Lepers, I. Fsaifes, A. Tonello, V. Couderc, M. Douay, B. Kibler, C. Finot, and G. Millot. Optical CDMA enhanced by nonlinear optics. In *International Conference on Transparent Optical Networks (ICTON)*, number Tu.C1.3, Munich, Germany, June 2010. Invited conference.
- [540] C. Ware, C. P. Lai, D. Brunina, W. Zhang, A. S. Garg, B. G. Bathula, and K. Bergman. Cross-layer reconfigurable optical network: Fast failure recovery in testbed for routing algorithms. In *International Conference on Transparent Optical Networks (ICTON)*, number GOC-III-3, Stockholm, Sweden, June 2011. Invited conference.
- [541] C. Ware, C. P. Lai, D. Brunina, W. Zhang, A. S. Garg, B. G. Bathula, and K. Bergman. Démonstration expérimentale d'un réseau optique cross-layer reconfigurable. In *Journées Nationales d'Optique Guidée (JNOG'11)*, Marseille, France, July 2011.

5.3.3 OS: Books and Book Chapters

- [542] P. Gallion and F. J. Mendieta. Minimum energy per bit in high bit rate optical communications and quantum communications. In P. A. D. C. C. E. W. K. Z. T. K. P. P. Meyrueis, editor, *Proceedings of SPIE, Sustainable Design, Manufacturing and Engineering Workforce Education for a Green Future*. SPIE, SPIE Bellingham, WA, 2011.
- [543] j. Loppez, E. GARCIA, F. J. Mendieta, A. Arvizu, and P. Gallion. Simultaneous quadrature detection of suppressed-carrier weak-coherent-states using a homodyne optical costas loop receiver. In E. Ronald E. Meyers; Yanhua Shih; Keith S. Deacon, Editors, editor, *Quantum Communications and Quantum Imaging IX*, chapter Vol 8163. SPIE, Bellingham, WA, 2011.
- [544] J. M. Petit, W. Aktar, J. C. Bouley, P. Gallion, D. Erasme, C. Kazmierski, C. Jany, J. Decobert, F. Alexandre, N. Dupuis, and et al. Dual-modulation of a novel electro-absorption dual-modulation of a novel electro-absorption modulated laser for radio-over-fiber systems. In M. V. A. A. M. R. Panajotov, Krassimir; Sciamanna, editor, *Proceedings of the SPIE*,, volume 7720, pages pp. 772027– 772027–6. SPIE, Apr. 2010.

5.3.4 AP: Other productions

- [545] T. Anfray, C. Aupetit-Berthelemot, D. Erasme, K. Kechaou, G. Aubin, C. Kazmierski, M. Galili, A. Garreau, and P. Chanclou. Simulations de performances à 10gbps d'un laser contrôlé en chirp associé à un modulateur électro-absorbant pour l'augmentation des distances de transmission sans compensation de dispersion chromatique. In DEUXIEME COLLOQUE francophone PLUridisciplinaire sur les Matériaux, l'Environnement et l'Electronique, pages 1A–14, Limoges, May 2011.
- [546] P. Gallion. Le déploiement de la fibre optique. In Tchat du Journal Le Monde, Paris, Dec. 2009.
- [547] P. Gallion. La cryptographie quantique. In *Tunisia Student Chapter (O&PTSC)*, Tunis, Dec. 2010.

- [548] P. Gallion. Les lasers et les communications fibrées. In Workshop URSI-France, GDR Ondes, ABRET et euroFOS, Paris, Dec. 2010.
- [549] P. Gallion. La cryptographie quantique: des promesses de la physique aux réalités de l'ingénieur. In Célébration du 125ème anniversaire d'IEEE et de l'attribution du Prix Nobel de physique à W.S. Boyle, G.E. Smith et C.K. Kao (fellows IEEE), Abbaye de Royaumont (Val d'Oise), Nov. 2010.
- [550] P. Gallion. Optoélectronique et communications optiques à très haut débit. In Conférences Sharesight GlobalExperts, Paris, Nov. 2010.
- [551] P. Gallion. Le laser fête ses 50 ans. In Le Bar des Sciences, Paris, May 2010.
- [552] P. Gallion. Le monde des communications numériques. In Journée des Cordées de la Réussite, ParisTech, Paris, Jan. 2011.
- [553] P. Gallion. Les signaux numériques. In *Journée des Cordées de la Réussite, ParisTech, Ecole des Mines*, Paris, Jan. 2012.
- [554] S. Mumtaz, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, and Y. Jaouën. Procédé et dispositif de modulation mettant en œuvre une modulation différentielle, procédé et dispositif de démodulation, signal et produits programme d'ordinateur correspondants. (FR 09/52207), Apr. 2009.
- [555] S. Mumtaz, G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, Y. Jaouën, and B. Thedrez. Méthode et système de transmission wdm à codage chromato-temporel. (FR 10/58204), Oct. 2010.
- [556] G. Rekaya-Ben Othman, Y. Jaouën, and S. Mumtaz. Méthode et système de transmission sur fibre optique multi-mode et/ou multi-coeur. (FR 11/), June 2011.

5.3.5 APTH: Phd thesis

- [557] J.-C. Antona. Novel design tools enabling to predict the qulity of transmission and to design optical betworks modulated at 10, 40 and 100 Gb/s. PhD thesis, Telecom ParisTech, Sept. 2011.
- [558] B. Bennai. Mise en phase de lasers à fibre: Etude de l'influence de la turbulence atmosphérique et de l'utilisation de fibres faiblement multimodes. PhD thesis, Telecom ParisTech, Jan. 2010.
- [559] O. Bertran-Pardo. On coherent detection for optical transmission at 40Gb/s and 100Gb/s. PhD thesis, Telecom ParisTech, Sept. 2010.
- [560] C. Caillaud. Photorécepteur intégré SOA-PIN pour les applications à 100 Gbit/s. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Dec. 2010.
- [561] S. Cordette. Continuum de fréquences optiques pour application OCDMA. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, July 2010.
- [562] G. de Valicourt. Design and Fabrication of Reflective Semiconductor Optical Amplifier for Access and R-o-F Network. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Oct. 2011. To appear.
- [563] D. Fafchamps. Communications numériques dans les réseaux d'accès optique : Modélisation, codage, performances. PhD thesis, Thèse de Télécom ParisTech, Nov. 2011.
- [564] A. Farhat. Etudes des performances d'un système CDMA optique. PhD thesis, Thèse l'Université El Manar, Ecole Nationale d'Ingenieurs de Tunis,, July 2011.
- [565] M. Gharei. *Nouveaux concepts pour les réseaux d'accés optiques*. PhD thesis, ELECOM ParisTech, ENST, July 2010.
- [566] E. Gueorguiev. Conception et réalisation d'amplificateurs de forte puissance à base de fibre dopée Erbium et Erbium-Ytterbium double gaine fonctionnant en régimes continu et impulsionnel. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, July 2009.
- [567] S. Hocquet. Optimisation de la modulation de phase utilisée pour les lasers de puissance : minimisation de la conversion FM-AM tout en conservant les fonctionnalités d'élargissement spectral nécessaire à la fusion. PhD thesis, Telecom ParisTech, Nov. 2009.
- [568] S. Mumtaz. Modern coding techniques for optical communications. PhD thesis, Telecom ParisTech, Jan. 2011.
- [569] J.-M. Petit-Ferrufino. "Dual Electroabsorption odulated Laser" Etude et caractérisation d'une nouvelle source optique laser-modulateur intégrée pour les transmission numériques à haut-débit et les applications radio-sur-fibre. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Sept. 2010.
- [570] F. Saliou. Etudes des solutions d'accès optique exploitant une extension de portée. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, June 2010.
- [571] M. Selmi. Advanced digital signal processing tools for QAM-based optical fiber communications. PhD thesis, Telecom ParisTech, Oct. 2011.

Part II Networks and Computer Science

Networks and Computer Science Department (INFRES)

Research Themes

The Network and Computer Science Department scientific work has been evolving around three main research themes: mobility, security, and complexity (where complex systems must be understood as encompassing large, complicated, distributed, exposed, dynamic, and possibly embedded systems). Energy efficiency is a relatively recent theme for the department, and new projects were defined and developed across different research groups during the period of evaluation.

Very large distributed systems are of particular interest with three particular instantiations: the Web, CloudComputing, and SmartGrid. The department recognizes the strategic importance of this kind of systems in our society of today and tomorrow and is organizing and applying its research to these particular use cases. In parallel, attention has to be paid to "smart" and communicating objects as they regroup into networks called "internet of things" which in turn can communicate to one another, access to the Web or to a cloud and globally form an instance of a complex distributed system that was described few lines sooner. These "things" may dynamically appear or disappear from their environment, often, they are mobile, they may be exposed to many users which enables many novel consumer applications but by the same token raises questions of security and privacy. Their interfaces are highly heterogeneous and it is a challenge to be overcome when compounding them. At last, interacting with them (as a machine or as a user) poses a set of new challenges.

Designing and verifying such systems or networks requires investigating multiple topics: visualization, fragmentation, ambient/auto-organizing systems, very large graphs, resilience, green it, probabilistic modelization just to name a few addressed in the department.

It also requires to partner, develop oneself a key and well-chosen set of disciplines.

Partnership

In order to participate to the unprecedented string of proposals *investissements d"avenir* in France such as: IRT, IEED, labex, Equipex called by ANR or ADEME, the department had to minimize its usually important involvement in European projects in 2010 and 2011. It shows on Table 2 where it can be seen that the percentage of European contract moves down from 27-35% range to 22% in 2011. The department has devoted a lot of time of its very best members to this endeavor with a noticeable success: two Equipex were selected Digiscope to design and build collaborative applications; FIT to prototype and study internet of things. It is now time to refocus our partnership outside of France and the department will prioritize three geographic areas: Europe, USA, and China. This does not mean that no other cooperation will be undertaken elsewhere, this rather means that a particular effort will be put to create and foster cooperation in these areas.

Infres staff evolution

Our faculty staff is usually extremely stable, however, in this period, an important portion of our staff reached their retirement age. We succeeded to replace them with high potential young associated professors. Also, we were at the same time able to keep a strong relationship with members of our staff who departed: three former professors are today emeritus.

We have three visiting faculty members.

We also consolidated the quantum information activity by welcoming Isabelle Zaquine in the NIS group coming from the TSI department.

Four new HDR have been defended in 2010. Four professors have been promoted from associated professors. Teaching workload remains very important in the department: faculty members spend on average 35-40% of their time in research 65-60% of his time in education activities.

Infres in few numbers

Academic indicators

The number of defended thesis continues to vary between 15 and 25 theses each year with a low every other 3-4 years. This often matches with a pick amount of students defending their thesis in December the precedent year. This is what has happened in 2011 with only 11 theses against a high score of 26 in 2010 (Table 5.1).

The total number of publications is fairly stable approaching 200 publications in 2010 or 2011.

	2009	2010	2011	Total
PhD	13	26	11	50
Journal papers	25	59	61	145
Papers in conference proceedings	57	121	110	288
Chapters and books	10	8	19	37
Patents and software	2	5	1	8
Software		3		3

Table 5.1: Academic indicators

The total amount of receivables is relatively stable since three years. The unusual percentage of industrial contracts in 2011 due to an important cooperation with Citelum on optimization and forecast for charging electric cars (Table 5.2).

	2009		2010		2011	
European contracts	716,424	27,5 %	967,776	34,4 %	620,295	22,1 %
Industrial contracts	547,310	21 %	381,657	13,6 %	903,266	32,1 %
Public contracts	770,443	29,5 %	795,208	28,3 %	791,200	28,1 %
Contracts with Clusters (Pôles)	573,087	22 %	666,857	23,7 %	496,301	17,7 %
Total	2,607,254		2,811,498		2,811,062	

Table 5.2: Contractual yearly receivables along four categories of contracts (in €).

The department has experienced a string of various important events which are a very good omen for the future of its endeavor.

Few selected accomplishments

As said earlier, the department is laureate of two Equipex: FIT and Digiscope. This will allow to partner with Paris11 U. and the TSI department in the case of Digiscope; with Paris6 and TSP in the case of FIT. End of 2011, the department joined the chair "Complex Systems" funded by Thales, this will allow to develop our research on ambient systems and partner with Ecole Polytechnique.

Two common labs were created: the LINCS with Paris 6U., Inria, and Alcatel Lucent; and ISA which a cross department lab involving not only INFRES but Comelec and TSI.

The IRT SystemX has been selected in December 2011, the department has had an important involvement in the proposal and G. Memmi became member of the board representing Institut Telecom.

Last but not least, for the first time since 8 years TPT earned the *prix de these ParisTech* with A. Leverrier highlighting the excellence of the department research on quantum information.

Chapter 6

Interaction, Cognition and Complexity (IC2)

Team leader T. Abdessalem (MC).

- **Faculty** T. Abdessalem (MC), P. Bellot (P), B. Burtschy (P), B. Cautis (MC), A. Danzart (MC), J.L. Dessalles (MC), J. Eagan (MC, 04/11–), Y. Guiard (DR CNRS), G. Hebrail (P, -01/11), E. Lecolinet (MC), C. Potier (MC, -11/10), F. Rossi (P, -08/11), P. Senellart (MC), M. Vazirgiannis (Chair Professor, 05/11–).
- PhD students K.-M. Adjanor (11/09–10/10), M. Baglioni (11/08–), L. Baud (01/07–04/10), I. Ben Dhia (10/10–), N. Derouiche (10/08–), A. Dimulescu (10/08–11/10), M. Durut (03/09–), M-K. El-Mahrsi (07/09–), N. Gabsi (11/07–05/11), R. Guigoures (10/10–), S. Malacria (10/07–05/11), S. Maniu (10/09–), D. Munch (10/09–), T-L. Nguyen (03/08–08/10), M. Oita (11/09–), S. Perrault (10/09–), A. Roudaut (11/06–02/10), N. Sokolovska (01/07–02/10), A. Souihli (10/09–), D-B. Vo (12/09–), Y. Wang (12/09–).
- Post-docs, engineers and sabbaticals G. Bailly (06/09-01/11), N. Benguigui (10/08-09/09), Y. Chabchoub (11/09–09/10), A. Gomes Da Silva (10/09–12/11), V. Gomez Berdugo (12/10–11/11), H. Olafsdottir (10/08–), T. Pietrzak (09/09–12/10), A. Tabard (03/09–09/09).
- **Hosted external collaborators** Y. Amsterdamer (PhD Student, Tel Aviv University & INRIA Saclay, 02/11–09/11), M. Gueye (PhD student, Cheikh Anta Diop University at Dakar, 02/10–), E. Kharlamov (PhD student, Free University of Bozen-Bolzano & INRIA Saclay, 01/09–09/10), F. Suchanek (Post-doc, INRIA Saclay, 07/10–11/11).

6.1 Objectives

The IC2 team is working on several research problems in computer science, in the area of human-computer interaction, databases and web data management, cognitive computing, business intelligence, and complex systems and protocols. The research activity of the team is organized in four institutional projects: two main projects in the fields of data and knowledge management (DBWeb) and human computer interactions (VIA), a former joint project with EDF company on business intelligence (BiLab), and a new project on complex systems and protocols (CSP). The objectives of these projects are presented in the following.

Databases and the World Wide Web (DBWeb Project)

In this project, we study the fundamental issues raised in modern data and knowledge systems, especially on the World Wide Web and in collaborative contexts oriented towards peer-to-peer networks. Research interests cover theoretical foundations, as practical solutions, applications, and cognitive aspects of data and knowledge management systems. The main challenges we are interested in are:

- Web data management, with a special focus on information extraction, Web sources selection, and Web archiving;
- Query optimization over structured or semi-structured data, possibly with restricted access patterns (deep Web);
- · Probabilistic databases;
- Relevance in communication and its applications in modern knowledge systems;
- Social web and social networks, with an emphasis on signed (trust–distrust) networks and collaborative applications, inference of signed links, access control, search and recommendation in social applications.

Advanced Interaction and Visualization (VIA Project)

This project is devoted to fundamental and applied research on Human Computer Interaction (HCI). It focuses on the double challenge of representing and manipulating more and more data, and to allow this not only on standard computers but also on small, mobile and non traditional devices. Our main contributions take place in the following domains:

- Novel interaction techniques and principles, which an emphasis on the leveraging of input dimensions that had been overlooked so far;
- Mobile interaction, with a special effort toward increasing the "interaction bandwidth" between users and their devices;
- Information visualization, and more specifically interactive visualization, which aims at allowing users to explore and manipulate the data actively;
- Fundamental HCI research on simple reaching movements, overwhelmingly frequent in HCI, with a project aimed at providing a more general understanding of the Fitts' law;
- End-user programming and reverse engineering, specifically with aims at giving end users more control over the functionality of and interaction with their software.

Business Intelligence (BILAB Project)

The activity of the BILab Project covers several aspects of the Business Intelligence field in relation to both theoretical approaches and industrial applications. A major activity of the project has been related to data stream processing. As a matter of fact, one of the main challenges today is the burst of the volume of available data that feed BI systems. One solution which has been studied recently is to process data *on the fly* as they arrive instead of storing them beforehand in a data warehouse. This approach is referred as Data Stream Querying (if the goal is to query data) or Data Stream Mining (if the goal is to mine data).

Within this context, the BlLab Project has acquired skills in this research domain and developed an activity on summarizing the history of data streams. Indeed, all existing data stream processing approaches can only provide results from the part of the stream posterior to the definition of queries or mining tasks.

Since 2007, the main activity of the project was within a joint research laboratory (the BILab, see http://bilab.enst.fr) with the research center of EDF (Electricité de France). This work was completed in late December 2011.

Complex Systems and Protocols (CSP Project)

In this project, we study systems and communication protocols that can be described as complex, which means that their global behavior cannot be easily deduced from the properties of their components. The main goals are:

- to develop complex systems and protocols which emerging properties can be used to enhance computing and communication;
- to study complex systems and to build mathematical models for them.

Our research works focus on overlay protocols to ensure routing resilience, on the development of a novel method based on Complex System theories to define and measure the capacity of Air Transport Management (ATM) resources, and, finally, on the study of the World Wide Web properties. Our experimental studies are taken from the industrial collaborations we developed with EDF Research & Innovation, Eurocontrol Experimental Centre and with Hadopi Research.

6.2 Main Results

6.2.1 Databases and the World Wide Web (DBWeb)

Faculty T. Abdessalem, B. Cautis, J.-L. Dessalles, P. Senellart, M. Vazirgiannis (40%).

Main events and external collaborations J.-L. Dessalles visited the Tokyo University of Foreign Studies (6 months) in 2009–2010.

P. Senellart organized the ACM SIGMOD programming contest in 2010 [716]; he chaired the Industrial track of EDBT 2011 and the tutorials of ICDE 2011.

Ongoing collaborations with the database groups of the University of California San Diego (B. Cautis and A. Deutsch), Renmin University (T. Abdessalem, B. Cautis, P. Senellart and J. Lu), and the University of Oxford (P. Senellart, M. Benedikt, G. Gottlob and D. Olteanu).

Projects FP7 IP ARCOMEM (2011–), COOPOL VMS3D (2010–), ANR DataRing (2009–), ANR ISICIL (2009–), MODIM Chair (2010–), ANR LPOD (2008–2010), ANR PANIC (2010–2012), Advanced ERC Project DIADEM (2010–), Advanced ERC Project Webdam (2009–).

Relational and semi-structured databases. We study the problem of querying data sources that accept a limited set of queries, such as sources accessible by Web services which can implement very large (potentially infinite) families of queries. For the relational data model, we revisit in [574] a classical setting in which the application queries are conjunctive queries and the source accepts families of (possibly parameterized) conjunctive queries specified as the expansions of a (potentially recursive) Datalog program with parameters, under the assumption that sources satisfy integrity constraints. For semi-structured databases, we study in [593, 575] the problem of querying XML data sources that accept only a limited set of queries, such as sources accessible by Web services which can implement very large (potentially infinite) families of XPath queries. We also consider the problem of answering queries under access pattern restrictions (deep Web), in [604] where we characterize the complexity of determining if a given source is relevant to a query.

We have done extensive research on the management of probabilistic databases, and probabilistic XML in particular. In [572], we present a common model for and compare the expressiveness of different ways of organizing probabilistic information in trees. We also investigated the complexity of aggregate queries over probabilistic XML [688, 585, 573], introducing in the process the possibility of representing continuous distributions of data values. We proposed an alternative model for probabilistic XML based on recursive Markov chains [592] that allow for trees of arbitrary depth and width, which is akin to XML schemas [689, 586]. We researched the complexity of a number of other probabilistic XML data management problems: updates [663], join queries [664], mining [710]. We study in [690] the complexity of query answering using views in a probabilistic XML setting, identifying large classes of XPath queries – with child and descendant navigation and predicates – for which there are efficient (PTime) algorithms. Finally, we looked at practical aspects of implementing a probabilistic XML database engine, in particular with the help of approximation algorithms [698, 613].

Web data. We propose in [583, 596] a novel approach for extracting structured data from the Web, whose goal is to harvest real-world items from template-based HTML pages (the structured Web). It illustrates a two-phase querying of the Web, in which an intentional description of the data that is targeted is first provided, in a flexible and widely applicable manner. The extraction process leverages then both the input description and the source structure. Our approach is domain-independent, in the sense that it applies to any relation, either flat or nested, describing real-world items. Extensive experiments on five different domains and comparison with the main state of the art extraction systems from literature illustrate its flexibility and precision.

We study in [667, 609] the inference of a signed network (a "web of trust") from interactions on user-generated content in Wikipedia. We investigate mechanisms by which relationships between Wikipedia contributors – in the form of signed directed links – can be inferred based their interactions. Our study sheds light into principles underlying a signed network that is captured by social interaction. We look into whether this network over Wikipedia contributors represents indeed a plausible configuration of link signs. We assess connections to social theories such as structural balance and status, which have already been considered in online communities. We also evaluate on this network the accuracy of a learned predictor for edge signs, obtaining strong evidence that our network does reveal an implicit signed configuration and that it has similar characteristics to the explicit ones, even though it is inferred from interactions. This trust network can then be used to annotate Wikipedia articles with confidence information in each revision, a task that we handle using probabilistic XML [584, 634].

Similar graph mining algorithms are also applied to determining truth values of facts stated by independent sources [692, 603] and to a probabilistic approach to the matching of very large ontologies [699, 614].

We propose in [632] an access control model for online social networks, where access control rules are expressed as reachability constraints. Our work generalizes access constraints by taking into account the properties of the users, the indirect connections between these users, and is able to express complex relationships. The main idea is the specification of the target

audience of each access rule in terms of a reachability constraint, which is expressed as a path expression over the social network graph. Thus, the enforcement of an access rule consists in the evaluation of a path, which should be computed on the fly when the resource is requested by the seeker.

We propose in [693] a matrix factorization technique that aims at improving the accuracy of recommender systems. Matrix factorization models allow a high quality of rating prediction. However, a major drawback of the existing techniques is their static nature that results in a progressive declining of the accuracy of the predictions after each factorization. Matrix factorization can not be done very often because of its high computational cost. The goal of our work was to enable online integration of new ratings, in order to maintain a good quality of the predictions between two factorizations. We proposed a solution that combines clustering and users' biases in order limit the computational cost.

Finally, we have conducted a number of research works in the field of Web archiving. One line of work considers using semantic clues from RSS feeds to extract and archive the main content of a Web page [695, 671]. We have also surveyed the methods used for estimating the dynamics and freshness of Web pages [672], which is of great importance in Web crawling. We are currently investigating the introduction of intelligent, adaptive, behavior, in archival Web crawler, in particular in the context of the archiving of the social Web.

Cognitive computing. We propose in [577, 706, 624, 623, 655, 622, 704, 705, 707, 578, 625] a consistent model of social communication. Altruistic communicative acts are possible when agents maximize their own benefit (in contrast with cooperative models), if they provide reliable clues about some quality that is socially in demand. In this model, relevant communication is profitable to the emitter because it advertises definite qualities (relevance) that are appraised by listeners. This model crucially relies on the role played by communication in building and preserving of social networks.

We focus in [621, 597, 598, 599] on the simplicity theory (see http://www.simplicitytheory.org/) and we show that the interesting events are unexpected. Unexpectedness is formally defined as cognitive complexity drop. This law correctly predicts that events close in time and space are more likely to raise interest. It also explains in detail why coincidences are experienced as fascinating; it predicts story rounds, and several other spectacular aspects of spontaneous communication.

Additional and up to date information on DBWeb main results and publications can be found on the project web page http://dbweb.enst.fr/

6.2.2 Advanced Interaction and Visualization (VIA)

Faculty E. Lecolinet, Y. Guiard, J. Eagan

Main events and external collaborations Official launching of the DIGISCOPE Equipex project (2011); Ongoing collaborations to the UBIMEDIA joint lab. with Bell Labs; various research collaborations (1 PhD, several scientific papers) with LIG IIHM (Grenoble) and INRIA/Aviz & INRIA/InSitu (Orsay); Industrial collaborations with Technicolor, Movea and Archos.

Projects NIU project with Alcatel-Lucent Bell Labs (2008–), OSEO Quaero/PVAA (2008–), ANR TennisServer (2006-09), Cap Digital ENEIDE (2006-2010) and QUATRO 2 (2010–).

Our work on novel interaction techniques have led us to develop new kinds of Marking menus, such as LeafMenus [611], Wavelet Menus [602] and Finger-Count and Radial-Stroke Shortcuts [588]. These techniques, based on gestural interaction, allow users to easily learn in novice (i.e., closed-loop) mode and later quickly execute in expert (i.e., open-loop) mode fairly large sets of commands. Recently we have extended this work by considering 3D gestures for increasing the interaction bandwidth with mobile devices [610] [587] and gesture-aware remote controls [589].

In the context of Interactive TV, we have also investigated free-hand interaction techniques [590] using the Kinnect.

Our work on gestural interaction includes the leveraging of input dimensions that have been overlooked so far, such as pseudo-pressure for improving navigation in long lists [635]. We have also proposed several techniques that exploit the shape and the kinematics of gestures to enrich the input vocabulary of tactile surfaces. Thanks to rolling gestures, MicroRolls [612] make it possible to interact very efficiently with the thumb. Motion-Pointing [601] and Cyclostar [607] rely on elliptical oscillatory gestures: Motion-Pointing allows selecting targets without pointing, CycloStar is a powerful approach for improving navigation tasks such as panning and zooming. Interestingly, most of these techniques are very well adapted for facilitating the interaction with mobile devices.

During this period we have also worked on augmented classrooms by developing the U-Note system [673] [608]. By using digital pen and capturing events that occurs during the class, U-Note allows to leverage the advantages of paper while letting teachers and pupils benefit from the richness that digital media can bring to a lecture.

We have also expanded our research focus into the area of end-user programming and reverse engineering, particularly with regards to aiding end-users and third-party programmers at modifying the functionality and interaction of existing software applications to better suit their needs. This direction is off to an auspicious start with the first prototype system, Scotty [600], having received a notable paper award at UIST 2011.

Finally, we have started casting some new light on Fitts' law, a famous empirical regularity of experimental psychology. In particular, we have clarified in what sense Fitts' law constitutes an instance of a speed-accuracy tradeoff [715]. We have also shown that the traditional definition of the independent variables involved in the law suffers a high degree of indeterminacy, and suggested a novel way of defining the basic dimensions of the problem [605].

For working on these subjects, we have developed long-term collaborations with several industrial and academic partners: Alcatel Lucent Bell Labs (and the UBIMEDIA joint research laboratory), LIG / IIHM (Grenoble), INRIA InSitu and Aviz projects (Orsay), etc.

Finally we are also part of the DIGISCOPE EquipeX which is a high-performance visualization infrastructure for collaborative interaction with extremely large data sets. DIGISCOPE involves 10 academic partners (CNRS LRI and LIMSI, INRIA, CEA, ECP...) and will foster lasting collaborations between them and the industrial parters that are associated to the project.

6.2.3 Business Intelligence (BILab)

Faculty B. Burtschy, A. Danzart, G. Hebrail, C.Potier, F. Rossi.

Main events and external collaborations A joint research laboratory with EDF R&D was created in 2007 for four years (2007-2011). The BiLab was headed by G. Hebrail until 2010, and by F. Rossi in 2011.

Industrial collaborations with Orange Labs (1 CIFRE PhD student), with Lokad (1 CIFRE PhD student).

Projects ANR MDCO MIDAS (2008-2010).

Data stream management. Our main activity related to data stream processing focuses on summarizing structured data streams: this requires the summaries to be built incrementally with little computation for each record and bounded or slowly growing disk space for storage [681]. We have developed several new approaches to summarize one or several structured data streams [708, 652],[683, 658, 651] and designed solutions to query the summaries both on the history of the stream and on the current stream [684, 594, 659]. We have extended the temporal sampling approach called 'Master' developed in 2008. Master builds an optimized summary of a large number of distributed streams produced by remote sensors. A clustering strategy was introduced

to Master and gave rise to Clusmaster (clustering on master). Clusmaster applies a clustering method to the SSE (Sum of Square Errors) matrix in order to identify similar sensors before the execution of the optimized summarization phase. Experiments with time series from electric power meters were carried out and are described in [595, 576].

Also, we have analyzed data streams describing the working phases of a nuclear power plant [711]. The goal is to detect periods of dysfunctional states. The approach applied is a clustering based on non-overlapping windows to monitor system and detect changes in evolving data [702]. The main novelty in this approach concerns the change detection strategy which is based on the clustering extension, i.e., individual memberships reflecting the current system state.

Most of the work on data stream management has been done within the MIDAS ANR Project from 2008 to mid 2011. The BILab team was the leader of this project. The main result of the project is a demonstration platform which has been designed and integrated by the BILab team (see http://midas.enst.fr).

Finally, a new approach has been designed for forecasting the generation of photo-voltaic (PV) electric power. The goal is to forecast local production at a very short term (a few hours). The approach uses the history of the local production and is enhanced by a collaboration between neighbor sites [661, 694].

Time series and functional data mining. Bl deals frequently with time varying objects. Such objects are not standard data described by a fixed set of numerical and/or nominal values. They are better understood as functional data: each object is described by some functions that map time to appropriate values describing the object on a given dimension at the specified date.

We provide exploratory analysis of functional datasets via a combined clustering and segmentation approach. Functions are clustered into homogeneous clusters with the specific property that each cluster is represented by a simple functional prototype, for instance a piecewise constant function. The complexity of the prototype set is globally optimized by an efficient dynamic programming scheme [662, 713, 579]. Related work include [665] in which a piecewise constant approximation of functional data is built in a supervised manner: one finds a simplified representation optimized according to an external criterion (such as the ability to separate efficiently two classes of functions). We have also continued our work on supervised modelling of functional data, in particular on the use of derivatives to capture some shape aspects of functional data [631, 582].

In [703], we handle time varying data in a quite different manner: in this case, the evolution through time of an unique system (a web server) is studied. A time aware clustering algorithm is used to track the evolution of the web server usage patterns.

Graph exploratory analysis. We have been developing graph/network exploratory analysis techniques, with a focus on social networks. We have proposed in [674, 630, 581] a new topological quality measure for graph clustering, inspired by the self organizing map algorithm. Our deterministic annealing based algorithm optimizes this way a tradeoff between a graph clustering quality measure (Girvan and Newman's Modularity measure) and a visualization quality measure. The method results in a coarse grained graph that is both a faithful simplification of the original graph and easy to draw. We have used this method and similar graph clustering techniques to analyze successfully real world networks in the genetic domain [666], in the epidemic domain [654, 653] and in the historical domain [697]. We have also modelled information propagation in social networks and used similar visualization technique to display local propagation in important clusters [712].

Large scale data analysis. Large scale data analysis has recently gained interest in database and data mining communities, and in the information industry. Processing and analyzing large volumes of data provides both opportunities and challenges. In France, the forthcoming deployment of new communication power meter (Linky) in 35 million households until 2020 will generate

massive load curves in real time. New approaches are needed in order to deal with such a voluminous and dynamic data. A proactive work has been initiated in collaboration with EDF R&D in order to look for solutions to storage and manage massive time-changing data series. A prototype solution based on HDFS (Hadoop distributed file system) for distributed storage and Hadoop ecosystem (Pig, Hive, Hbase) for massive data analysis has been designed and tested in a private cloud at EDF R&D. In addition, cloud based implementation of data mining techniques have been studied in collaboration with Lokad [656, 691].

6.2.4 Complex Systems and Protocols (CSP)

Faculty P. Bellot

Main events and external collaborations Conference organizations (IEEE RIVF 2009 and 2010). Best research paper award at WebTech 2010.

Ongoing collaboration with EDF Research (Chatou, STEP departement), Eurocontrol Experimental Centre (Brétigny sur Orge), and Hadopi Research (Paris).

Projects ANR HQNET (2006-2010), EUROCONTROL (2009).

One of our main results is the design and implementation of ROSA (Robust Overlay with Self-Adaptive topology) [618, 642, 640, 641, 639, 638, 636, 646, 637]. Overlay networks offer a way to bypass the routing characteristics of the underlying network. ROSA used this property to offer a resilient routing to critical applications. Unlike other overlay networks dealing with the routing resilience issue, we oriented our research towards building a locally robust overlay network topology instead of a robust routing function. Resilience is an emerging property of the system. ROSA is basically an unstructured overlay network. We proposed a structure, called Chain of Lumps (CoL) which provides the advantage of structuring ROSA. Once ROSA endowed with the structure, we proposed a reliable storage system deployed over ROSA. We showed using simulations and the Watts and Strogatz model, that the routing algorithm of ROSA, based on a DHT, is a case of small-word phenomenon. This is interesting from a routing point of view. Indeed, a routing algorithm with the small-world property is not influenced anymore by the size of the network. That means that the number of virtual hops to route a message is nearly constant and does not depend on the size of the network. In the post Fukushima context, we have set up a collaboration with EDF Research & Innovation to study the possibility of using ROSA as an emergency routing algorithm for an intelligent and autonomous middleware for the orchestration of contextual services of the nuclear plant control command.

In collaboration with Eurocontrol, the European Organisation for the Safety of Air Navigation, we develop a new method, based on Complex Systems theories, to define and evaluate the capacity in terms of ATM resources availability [591, 677, 616]. Measurements and analysis of traffic flow characteristics and controllers activities provide meaningful indicators to evaluate the intrinsic difficulty of the ATM tasks as well as the methodologies to quantify these indicators impact on the system performance. An hybrid model of the availability of system resources is currently built embedding a macroscopic level of controller cognition. Mechanisms that are used to balance cognitive complexity and desired system performance will be described. We hope that the proposed model and mechanisms not only can estimate the available capacity but will also provide an effective way to allocate traffic to traffic management.

Complementary to the previous works, we have developed a toolkit named SAW-SDK (Stand Alone Web application SDK) [645, 620, 644, 643, 619] for an easy Java development of efficient Web and Mobile applications. Available at http://www.infres.enst.fr/saw, it has been used for the IEEE RIVF 2010 conference that can be seen at http://www.infres.enst.fr/rivf2010. It is used internally to provide a Web and a mobile Android application for students evaluation. One of its avatar will probably be incorporated in the middleware we are currently developing with EDF Reasearch & Innovation for services implementation.

6.3 References

6.3.1 ACL: Articles in ISI-Indexed Journals

- [572] S. Abiteboul, B. Kimelfeld, Y. Sagiv, and P. Senellart. On the expressiveness of probabilistic XML models. VLDB Journal, 18(5):1041–1064, Oct. 2009.
- [573] S. Abiteboul, E. Kharlamov, W. Nutt, T.-H. H. Chan, and P. Senellart. Capturing continuous data and answering aggregate queries in probabilistic XML. *TODS (Transactions on Database Systems)*, 36 (4), 2011.
- [574] B. Cautis, A. Deutsch, and N. Onose. Querying data sources that export infinite sets of views. Theory of Computing Systems (ToCS), 2011.
- [575] B. Cautis, A. Deutsch, N. Onose, and V. Vassalos. Querying XML data sources that export very large sets of views. *ACM Transactions on Database Systems (TODS)*, 36(1), 2011.
- [576] A. Da Silva, R. Chiky, and G. Hébrail. A clustering approach for sampling data streams in sensor networks. *Knowledge and Information Systems (KAIS)*, Nov. 2011.
- [577] J.-L. Dessalles. Reasoning as a lie detection device (commentary on Mercier & Sperber: 'Why do humans reason? Arguments for an argumentative theory'). *Behavioral & Brain Sciences*, 34(2): 76–77, Apr. 2011.
- [578] J.-L. Dessalles. The real mystery about language. Physics of Life Reviews, 8(4), Dec. 2011.
- [579] G. Hébrail, B. Hugueney, Y. Lechevallier, and F. Rossi. Exploratory analysis of functional data via clustering and optimal segmentation. *Neurocomputing*, 73(7–9):1125–1141, Mar. 2010.
- [580] S. Manegold, I. Manolescu, L. Afanasiev, J. Feng, G. Gou, M. Hadjieleftheriou, S. Harizopoulos, P. Kalnis, K. Karanasos, D. Laurent, M. Lupu, N. Onose, C. Ré, V. Sans, P. Senellart, T. Wu, and D. Shasha. Repeatability & workability evaluation of SIGMOD 2009. SIGMOD Record, 39(3):40–43, Sept. 2009.
- [581] F. Rossi and N. Villa. Optimizing an organized modularity measure for topographic graph clustering: a deterministic annealing approach. *Neurocomputing*, 73(7–9):1142–1163, Mar. 2010.
- [582] F. Rossi and N. Villa. Consistency of functional learning methods based on derivatives. Pattern Recognition Letters, 32(8):1197–1209, June 2011.

6.3.2 ACTIP: Articles in Proceedings of Major International Conferences

- [583] T. Abdessalem, B. Cautis, and N. Derouiche. ObjectRunner: Lightweight, targeted extraction and querying of structured Web data. *Proceedings of the VLDB Endowment, presented at The 36th International Conference on Very Large Data Bases, Singapore.*, 3(2), Sept. 2010.
- [584] T. Abdessalem, M. L. Ba, and P. Senellart. A probabilistic XML merging tool. In EDBT (Extending DataBase Technology), Uppsala, Sweden, Mar. 2011.
- [585] S. Abiteboul, T.-H. H. Chan, E. Kharlamov, W. Nutt, and P. Senellart. Aggregate queries for discrete and continuous probabilistic XML. In *ICDT (International Conference on Database Theory)*, pages 50–61, Lausanne, Switzerland, Mar. 2010.
- [586] S. Abiteboul, Y. Amsterdamer, D. Deutch, T. Milo, and P. Senellart. Finding optimal probabilistic generators for xml collections. In *ICDT (International Conference on Database Theory)*, Berlin, Germany, Mar. 2012.
- [587] M. Baglioni, E. Lecolinet, and Y. Guiard. Jerktilts: Using accelerometers for eight-choice selection on mobile devices. In ICMI (13th International Conference on Multimodal Interaction), Alicante Espagne, Nov. 2011. ACM Press.
- [588] G. Bailly, E. Lecolinet, and Y. Guiard. Finger-count and radial-stroke shortcuts: Two techniques for augmenting linear menus. In ACM CHI (Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems), pages 591–594, Atlanta, USA, Apr. 2010. ACM Press.
- [589] G. Bailly, D.-B. Vo, E. Lecolinet, and Y. Guiard. Gesture-aware remote controls: guidelines and interaction techniques. In *ICMI (13th International Conference on Multimodal Interaction)*, Alicante, Espagne, Nov. 2011. ACM Press.
- [590] G. Bailly, R. Walter, J.-P. Müller, T. Ning, and E. Lecolinet. Comparing free hand menu techniques for distant displays using linear, marking and finger-count menus. In *INTERACT 2011 (13th IFIP TC13 Conference on Human-Computer Interaction)*, Lisbon, Portugal, Sept. 2011. Springer Verlag.
- [591] P. Bellot, M. Hu, F. Vormer, V. Duong, and Y. Wang. Spatial, temporal, and grouping behaviors in controller communication activities. In *Ninth USA/Europe ATM R&D Seminar*, page 10, Berlin, Germany, June 2011.

- [592] M. Benedikt, E. Kharlamov, D. Olteanu, and P. Senellart. Probabilistic XML via Markov chains. Proceedings of the VLDB Endowment, 3(1):770–781, Sept. 2010.
- [593] B. Cautis, A. Deutsch, N. Onose, and V. Vassalos. Efficient rewriting of XPath queries using query set specifications. In 35th International Conference on Very Large Data Bases (VLDB) 2009, Lyon (France), Aug. 2009.
- [594] R. Chiky, L. Decreusefond, and G. Hébrail. Aggregation of asynchronous electric power consumption time series knowing the integral. In *Extending Data Base Technology*, pages 675–680, Lausanne, Suisse, Mar. 2010.
- [595] A. Da Silva, R. Chiky, and G. Hébrail. Clusmaster: A clustering approach for sampling data streams in sensor networks. In *IEEE International Conference on Data Mining (ICDM)*, Sydney, Australie, Dec. 2010. IEEE.
- [596] N. Derouiche, B. Cautis, and T. Abdessalem. Automatic extraction of structured web data with domain knowledge. In 28th IEEE International Conference on Data Engineering (ICDE), Washington, Apr. 2012.
- [597] J.-L. Dessalles. Emotion in good luck and bad luck: predictions from simplicity theory. In 32nd Annual Conference of the Cognitive Science Society, Portland, Or, Aug. 2010.
- [598] J.-L. Dessalles. Simplicity effects in the experience of near-miss. In 33rd Annual Conference of the Cognitive Science Society, pages 408–413, Boston, MA, USA, July 2011. Cognitive Science Society.
- [599] A. Dimulescu and J.-L. Dessalles. Understanding narrative interest: Some evidence on the role of unexpectedness. In 31st Annual Conference of the Cognitive Science Society, pages 1734–1739, Amsterdam, NL, July 2009.
- [600] J. Eagan, M. Beaudouin-Lafon, and W. Mackay. Cracking the cocoa nut: User interface programming at runtime. *Proceedings of the ACM Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology*, pages 225–234, Oct. 2011.
- [601] J.-D. Fekete, N. Elmqvist, and Y. Guiard. Motion-pointing: Target selection using elliptical motions. In ACM CHI (Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems), pages 289–298, Boston, USA, Apr. 2009.
- [602] J. Francone, G. Bailly, L. Nigay, and E. Lecolinet. Wavelet menus on handheld devices: Stacking metaphor for novice mode and eyes-free selection for expert mode. In ACM AVI (Int. conf. on Advanced Visual interfaces), pages 173–180, Rome, Italy, May 2010.
- [603] A. Galland, S. Abiteboul, A. Marian, and P. Senellart. Corroborating information from disagreeing views. In *WSDM* (*Web Search and Data Mining*), pages 131–140, New York, USA, Feb. 2010.
- [604] G. Gottlob, M. Benedikt, and P. Senellart. Determining relevance of accesses at runtime. In *PODS* (*Principles of Database Systems*), pages 211–222, Athens, Greece, June 2011.
- [605] Y. Guiard. The problem of consistency in the design of fitt's law experiments: Consider either target distance and width or movement form and scale. In ACM CHI (Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems), pages 1809–1818, Boston, USA, Apr. 2009.
- [606] Y. Guiard, H. B. Olafsdottir, and S. T. Perrault. Fitts' law as an explicit time/error trade-off. In *CHI* (ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems), Vancouver, Canada, May 2011.
- [607] S. Malacria, E. Lecolinet, and Y. Guiard. Clutch-free panning and integrated pan-zoom control on touch-sensitive surfaces: the cyclostar approach. In ACM CHI (Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems), pages 2615–2624, Atlanta, GA, USA, Apr. 2010. ACM Press.
- [608] S. Malacria, T. Pietrzak, E. Lecolinet, and A. Tabard. U-note: Capture the class and access it everywhere. In *INTERACT 2011 (13th IFIP TC13 Conference on Human-Computer Interaction)*, volume 6946, pages 643–660, Lisbon, Portugal, Sept. 2011. Springer Verlag.
- [609] S. Maniu, T. Abdessalem, and B. Cautis. Casting a web of trust over Wikipedia: an interaction-based approach. In 20th International World Wide Web Conference (WWW 2011), Hyderabad, India, Mar. 2011
- [610] A. Roudaut, M. Baglioni, and E. Lecolinet. Timetilt: Using sensor-based gestures to travel through multiple applications on a mobile device. In *Interact (IFIP Conference in Human-Computer Interac*tion), Uppsala, Suède, Aug. 2009.
- [611] A. Roudaut, G. Bailly, E. Lecolinet, and L. Nigay. Leaf menus: Linear menus with stroke shortcuts for small handheld devices. In *Interact (IFIP Conference in Human-Computer Interaction)*, pages 616–619, Uppsala, Suède, Aug. 2009.
- [612] A. Roudaut, E. Lecolinet, and Y. Guiard. Microrolls: Expanding touch-screen input vocabulary by distinguishing rolls vs. slides of the thumb. In ACM CHI (Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems), pages 927–936, Boston, USA, Apr. 2009.
- [613] P. Senellart and A. Souihli. Proapprox: A lightweight approximation query processor over proba-

- bilistic trees. In SIGMOD (Special Interest Group on Management of Data), Athens, Greece, June 2011.
- [614] F. M. Suchanek, S. Abiteboul, and P. Senellart. PARIS: Probabilistic alignment of relations, instances, and schema. *Proceedings of the VLDB Endowment*, Dec. 2011.
- [615] F. M. Suchanek, A. Varde, R. Nayak, and P. Senellart. The hidden Web, XML, and semantic Web: A scientific data management perspective. In EDBT (Extending DataBase Technology), Uppsala, Sweden, Mar. 2011.
- [616] Y. Wang, V. Duong, F. Vormer, and M. Hu. Empirical analysis of air traffic controller dynamics. In 4th International Conference on Research in Air Transportation, pages 401 – 407, Budapest, Hungary, Oct. 2010. Vu Duong, David Lovell.

6.3.3 ACLN: Articles in Other Refereed Journals

- [617] T. Abdessalem and P. Senellart. Gestion de données dans les réseaux sociaux. *Telecom*, 156: 56–58, Jan. 2010.
- [618] L. Baud and P. Bellot. Small-world routing in rosa an interesting property of the chain of lumps. GSTF Journal on Computing, 1(3), July 2011.
- [619] P. Bellot and L. Baud. A dedicated architecture for efficient web server technology. Journal of Science and Technology, Special Issue on Theories and Application of Computer Science, 48(4): 26–37, Sept. 2010.
- [620] P. Bellot and L. Baud. Java autonomous web applications with standalone entities. *GSTF Journal on Computing*, 1(3), July 2011.
- [621] J.-L. Dessalles. Destin ou coïncidences? Cerveau&Psycho, 35:18-21, Sept. 2009.
- [622] J.-L. Dessalles. In praise of resemblance: Human communicational universals as basis for mutual acceptance. *Generalized Science of Humanity Series*, 5:65–73, Mar. 2010.
- [623] J.-L. Dessalles. Et si la coopération était un mythe ? Un pilier des sciences sociales ébranlé par la simulation. Nouvelles perspectives en sciences sociales, 5(2):79–89, May 2010.
- [624] J.-L. Dessalles. Comment le langage est venu à l'homme. La Recherche, 445:64-65, Nov. 2010.
- [625] J.-L. Dessalles, E. Machery, J. McKenzie Alexander, and F. Cowie. Symposium on J.-L. Dessalles's Why we Talk. *Biology and philosophy*, 25(5):851–901, Dec. 2010.
- [626] Y. Guiard and H. B. Olafsdottir. On the measurement of movement difficulty in the standard approach to fitts' law. PLoS ONE, 6(10), Oct. 2011.
- [627] C. Le-Quoc and P. Bellot. How can quasi-trusted nodes help to securely relay qkd keys. *International Journal of Network Security*, 9(3):233–241, Nov. 2009.
- [628] C. Le-Quoc and P. Bellot. A novel approach to build qkd relaying models. Wiley's International Journal of Security and Communication Networks, Aug. 2009.
- [629] B. Nguyen, A. Vion, F.-X. Dudouet, D. Colazzo, I. Manolescu, and P. Senellart. XML content ware-housing: Improving sociological studies of mailing lists and Web data. *Bulletin of Methodological Sociology*, 112(1):5–31, Oct. 2011.

6.3.4 INV: Invited Talks

- [630] N. Villa and F. Rossi. Méthode de classification organisée pour les recherche de communautés dans les réseaux sociaux. In 41èmes Journées de Statistique, SFdS, Journée satellite STID, Bordeaux, France, May 2009.
- [631] N. Villa and F. Rossi. Classification and regression based on derivatives: a consistency result. In II Simposio sobre Modelamiento Estadístico, Valparaiso, Chile, Dec. 2010.

6.3.5 ACTI: Articles in Proceedings of other International Conferences

- [632] T. Abdessalem and I. Ben Dhia. A reachability-based access control model for online social networks. In Proc. of the first ACM SIGMOD Workshop on Databases and Social Networks (DBSocial), Athens, June 2011.
- [633] S. Abiteboul, S. Amer-Yahia, A. Galland, A. Marian, and P. Senellart. Birds of a tag flock together. In SSM (Search in Social Media), New York, USA, Feb. 2010.
- [634] M. L. Ba, T. Abdessalem, and P. Senellart. Towards a version control model with uncertain data. In PIKM (PhD Students in Information and Knowledge Management), Glasgow, United Kingdom, Oct. 2011.

- [635] M. Baglioni, S. Malacria, E. Lecolinet, and Y. Guiard. Flick-and-brake: Finger control over inertial/sustained scroll motion. In CHI-EA (Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems), Vancouver, Canada, May 2011. ACM Press.
- [636] L. Baud and P. Bellot. The rosa protocol adapted to aeronautical mobile ad-hoc network. In 8th Innovative Research Workshop & Exhibition (INO 2009), Brétigny sur Orge, France, Dec. 2009.
- [637] L. Baud and P. Bellot. Robust overlay network with self-adaptive topology: The chain of lumps structure. In 2009 International Workshop on Peer-To-Peer Networking, St. Pertersburg, July 2009.
- [638] L. Baud and P. Bellot. A purpose adjustable overlay network. In 6th EuroNF Conferencece on Next Generation Internet (NGI 2010), Paris, France, June 2010.
- [639] L. Baud and P. Bellot. Securing a critical infrastructure. In 2010 IEEE-RIVF International Conference on Computing and Communication Technologies Research, Innovation and Vision for the Future, pages 188–191, Hanoi (Vietnam), Nov. 2010. Akim Demaille, Ralf-Detlef Kutsche.
- [640] L. Baud and P. Bellot. Robust overlay network with self-adaptive topology: Scalability and connectivity. In The First International Conference on Networking and Future Internet (ICNFI 2011), Paris (France), Apr. 2011.
- [641] L. Baud and P. Bellot. Virtual routing in the small world of rosa. In *International Conference on Web Technologies & Internet Applications (WebTech 2011)*, Penang (Malaysia), Mar. 2011.
- [642] L. Baud and P. Bellot. The ciso multitool knife. In SAR-SSI 2011 (The 6th Conference on Network Architectures and Information Systems Security), Sainte-Marie de Ré (France), May 2011.
- [643] P. Bellot and L. Baud. A dedicated architecture for efficient web server technology. In 3rd International Conference on Theories and Applications of Computer Science (ICTACS 2010), Can Tho (Vietnam), Sept. 2010.
- [644] P. Bellot and L. Baud. Efficient entities management for java autonomous web applications. In International Conference on Web Technologies & Internet Applications (WebTech 2011), Penang (Malaysia), Mar. 2011.
- [645] P. Bellot and L. Baud. Sessions design and management for java autonomic web applications. In 23rd International Conference on Software & Systems Engineering and their Applications (IC-SSEA'11), Paris (France), Nov. 2011.
- [646] P. Bellot and M. D. Dang. Bb84 implementation and computer reality. In IEEE-RIVF International Conference on Computing and Communication Technologies (IEEE-RIVF 2009), Danang (Vietnam), July 2009.
- [647] B. Burtschy and F. Popentiu-Vladicescu. A robust face recognition algorithm. In Russian Acadmy Of Sciences, pages 510–515, Saint-Petersburg, Russia, Mar. 2010. ISBN 978-5-8088-0541-5.
- [648] B. Burtschy, G. . Albeanu, and F. Popentiu-Vladicescu. Fuzzy methods in optimal sotware reliability alocation. In *Russian Academy of Sciences*, pages 206–211, Saint-Petersburg, Russia, Mar. 2010. ISBN 978-5-8088-0541-5.
- [649] B. Cautis. Tutorial: Xpath rewriting using views: The more the merrier. In *The Second International Workshop on XML Data Management (with APWeb 2011))*, Pekin (Chine), Apr. 2011.
- [650] B. Cautis and G. Ruberg. Tutorial: Answering queries using views the XML chapter. In SBBD 2010 (25th Brazilian Symposium on Databases), Belo Horizonte, Brazil, Oct. 2010.
- [651] Y. Chabchoub and G. Hébrail. Sliding hyperloglog: Estimating cardinality in a data stream over a sliding window. In *IEEE International Conference on Data Mining (ICDM) Workshops'2010*, page p.1297 1303, Sydney, Australie, Nov. 2010.
- [652] R. Chiky and G. Hébrail. Spatial and temporal sampling of distributed data streams. In Conference of International Federation of Classification Societies (IFCS), Dresde, Allemagne, Mar. 2009.
- [653] S. Clémençon, H. De Arazoza, F. Rossi, and V. C. Tran. Visual mining of epidemic networks. In 11th International Work-Conference on Artificial Neural Networks (IWANN 2011), volume 6692, pages 276–283, Malaga, Spain, June 2011.
- [654] S. Clémençon, H. De Arazoza, V. C. Tran, and F. Rossi. Hierarchical clustering for graph visualization. In *European Symposium on Artificial Neural Networks (ESANN)*, pages 227–232, Bruges, Belgique, Apr. 2011.
- [655] J.-L. Dessalles. Have you anything unexpected to say? The human propensity to communicate surprise and its role in the emergence of language. In 8th International conference on the evolution of language, pages 99–106, Utrecht, Netherlands, Apr. 2010.
- [656] M. Durut and F. Rossi. Communication challenges in cloud k-means. In European Symposium on Artificial Neural Networks (ESANN), pages 387–392, Bruges, Belgium, Apr. 2011.
- [657] G. Ebrard, M. A. Fernández, J.-F. Gerbeau, F. Rossi, and N. Zemzemi. From intracardiac electrograms to electrocardiograms. models and metamodels. In *Functional Imaging and Modeling of the*

- Heart, Nice (France), June 2009.
- [658] M. K. El Mahrsi, G. Hébrail, C. Potier, and F. Rossi. Spatiotemporal sampling for trajectory streams. In ACM SAC, pages 1627–1628, Sierre, Switzerland, Mar. 2010. ACM.
- [659] N. Gabsi, F. Clérot, and G. Hébrail. Efficient trade-off between speed processing and accuracy in summarizing data stream. In *Pacific-Asia Conference on Knowledge Discovery and Data Mining (PAKDD)*, Hyderabad, India, June 2010.
- [660] P. Gallion, F. J. Mendieta, and P. Bellot. Security in quantum based cryptography: Toward an holistic approach. In 8th IEEE International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies RIVF 2010, HANOI, Oct. 2010. IEEE.
- [661] V. GOMEZ BERDUGO, C. Chaussin, L. Dubus, G. Hébrail, and V. Leboucher. Collaborative analog method for very short term pv predictions (poster). In *International Conference on Meterology and Energy*, Gold Coast, Australia, Nov. 2011.
- [662] B. Hugueney, G. Hébrail, Y. Lechevallier, and F. Rossi. Simultaneous clustering and segmentation for functional data. In *European Symposium on Artificial Neural Networks (ESANN)*, pages 281–286, Bruges, Belgium, Apr. 2009.
- [663] E. Kharlamov, W. Nutt, and P. Senellart. Updating probabilistic XML. In *Updates in XML*, page /, Lausanne, Switzerland, Mar. 2010.
- [664] E. Kharlamov, W. Nutt, and P. Senellart. Value joins are expensive over (probabilistic) XML. In *LID* (Logics in Databases), Uppsala, Sweden, Mar. 2011.
- [665] C. Krier, M. Verleysen, F. Rossi, and D. François. Supervised variable clustering for classification of nir spectra. In *European Symposium on Artificial Neural Networks (ESANN)*, pages 263–268, Bruges, Belgium, Apr. 2009.
- [666] L. Liaubet, N. Villa, A. Gamot, F. Rossi, P. Chérel, and M. San Cristobal. The structure of a gene network reveals 7 biological functions underlying eqtls in pig. In 9th World Congress on Genetics Applied to Livestock Production (WCGALP), Leipzig, Germany, Aug. 2010.
- [667] S. Maniu, B. Cautis, and T. Abdessalem. Building a signed network from interactions in Wikipedia. In *First ACM SIGMOD Workshop on Databases and Social Networks (DBSocial)*, Athens, Greece, June 2011. ACM.
- [668] F. J. Mendieta, P. Gallion, P. Bellot, E. GARCIA, J. Loppez, and A. Arizu. Holistic approach to security in quantum key distribution systems. In *Theory and Realisation of Practical Quantum Key Distribution Waterloo*, Waterloo, June 2010.
- [669] T. Muhammad, G. Bailly, Y. Guiard, and E. Lecolinet. Tactile assistance for selecting list favorites with a bifocal absolute and relative representation. In *ChiNL'09*, Leiden, Netherlands (Pays-Bas), June 2009.
- [670] T. Muhammad, G. Bailly, E. Lecolinet, and G. Mouret. Categorization, analysis and properties of tactile patterns. In *ChiNL'09*, Leiden, Netherlands (Pays-Bas), June 2009.
- [671] M. Oita and P. Senellart. Archiving data objects using Web feeds. In IWAW (International Workshop on Web Archiving), pages 31–41, Vienna, Austria, Sept. 2010.
- [672] M. Oita and P. Senellart. Deriving dynamics of Web pages: A survey. In TWAW (Temporal Web Analytics Workshop), Hyderabad, India, Mar. 2011.
- [673] T. Pietrzak, S. Malacria, A. Tabard, and E. Lecolinet. What do u-note? an augmented note taking system for the classroom. In *PaperComp: International Workshop on Paper Computing*, Copenhagen, Denmark, Sept. 2010.
- [674] F. Rossi and N. Villa. Topologically ordered graph clustering via deterministic annealing. In European Symposium on Artificial Neural Networks (ESANN), pages 529–534, Bruges, Belgium, Apr. 2009.
- [675] A. Vellido, J.-C. Martin, F. Rossi, and P. Lisboa. Seeing is believing: The importance of visualization in real-world machine learning applications. In *European Symposium on Artificial Neural Networks* (*ESANN*), pages 219–226, Bruges, Belgium, Apr. 2011.
- [676] A. Viard, G. Bailly, E. Lecolinet, and E. Fritsch. Augmenting quantums-gis for collaborative and interactive tabletops. In *International Cartographic Conference*, Paris, July 2011.
- [677] Y. Wang, V. Duong, and M. Hu. Fluctuation scaling in the air traffic controller communication activities. In *The Second ENRI International Workshop on ATM/CNS*, Tokyo, Japan, Nov. 2010.

6.3.6 ACTN: Articles in Proceedings of French Conferences

[678] K. Adjanor, E. Lecolinet, Y. Guiard, and M. Ribière. Visualisation interactive de données temporelles: un aperçu de l'état de l'art. In *IHM (Conférence francophone sur l'Interaction Homme Machine)*, Luxembourg, Sept. 2010. ACM Press.

- [679] M. Baglioni, E. Lecolinet, and Y. Guiard. Espace de caractérisation des interactions gestuelles physiques sur dispositifs mobiles. In IHM (Conférence francophone sur l'Interaction Homme Machine), Grenoble, Nov. 2009.
- [680] Y. Chabchoub and B. Grossin. Agrégation robuste de données massives à la volée : application aux compteurs électriques communicants. In *Extraction et Gestion des Connaissances (EGC)*, pages 179–190, Brest, France, Nov. 2011.
- [681] Collectif auteurs projet ANR MIDAS. Résumé généraliste de flux de données. In Extraction et Gestion des Connaissances (EGC), Hammamet, Tunisie, Jan. 2010.
- [682] J. Francone, G. Bailly, L. Nigay, and E. Lecolinet. Wavelet menu: une adaptation des marking menus pour les dispositifs mobiles. In IHM (Conférence francophone sur l'Interaction Homme Machine), Oct. 2009.
- [683] N. Gabsi, F. Clérot, and G. Hébrail. Résumé hybride de flux de données par échantillonnage et classification automatique. In Extraction et Gestion des Connaissances (EGC), number RNTI-E15, pages 229–240, Strasbourg, France, Jan. 2009.
- [684] N. Gabsi, F. Clérot, and G. Hébrail. Interrogation des résumés de flux de données. In Extraction et Gestion des Connaissances (EGC), Hammamet, Tunisie, Jan. 2010.
- [685] S. Malacria and E. Lecolinet. U-note: Classe augmentée et stylo numérique. In IHM (Conférence francophone sur l'Interaction Homme Machine), pages 255–258, Grenoble, France, Oct. 2009. ACM Press.
- [686] S. T. Perrault, G. Bailly, Y. Guiard, and E. Lecolinet. Promesses et contraintes de la joaillerie numérique interactive: Un aperçu de l'état de l'art. In IHM'11 (Conference Internationale Francophone sur l'Interaction Homme-Machine), pages 1–4, Nice - Sophia Antipolis, Oct. 2011. ACM Press.
- [687] D.-B. Vo, G. Bailly, E. Lecolinet, and Y. Guiard. Un espace de caractérisation de la télécommande dans le contexte de la télévision interactive. In *IHM (Conférence francophone sur l'Interaction Homme Machine)*, Nice - Sophia Antipolis, France, Oct. 2011. ACM Press.

6.3.7 COM: Talks in Conferences Which Do Not Publish Proceedings

- [688] S. Abiteboul, T.-H. H. Chan, E. Kharlamov, W. Nutt, and P. Senellart. Agrégation de documents XML probabilistes. In *BDA (Bases de Données Avancées)*, Namur, Belgium, Oct. 2009.
- [689] S. Abiteboul, Y. Amsterdamer, D. Deutch, T. Milo, and P. Senellart. Optimal probabilistic generators for XML corpora. In BDA (Bases de données avancées), Rabat, Morocco, Oct. 2011.
- [690] B. Cautis and E. Kharlamov. Challenges for view-based query answering over probabilistic XML. In *Proceedings of the 5th Alberto Mendelzon International Workshop on Foundations of Data Management*, Santiago (Chili), May 2011.
- [691] M. Durut and F. Rossi. K-means on azure. In LCCC: NIPS 2010 Workshop on Learning on Cores, Clusters and Clouds, Whistler, Canada, Dec. 2010.
- [692] A. Galland, S. Abiteboul, A. Marian, and P. Senellart. Corroboration de vues discordantes fondées sur la confiance. In *BDA* (*Bases de Données Avancées*), Namur, Belgium, Oct. 2009.
- [693] M. Gueye, T. Abdessalem, and H. Naacke. A cluster-based matrix-factorization for online integration of new ratings. In 27-èmes journées Bases de Données Avancées (BDA'11), Rabat, Maroc, Oct. 2011.
- [694] G. Hébrail, V. GOMEZ BERDUGO, L. Dubus, V. Leboucher, and C. Chaussin. Analog method for collaborative very-short-term forecasting of power generation from photovoltaic systems. In *Next Generation Data Mining Summit*, Athènes, Grèce, Sept. 2011.
- [695] M. Oita and P. Senellart. Archivage du contenu éphémère du Web à l'aide des flux Web. In BDA (Bases de Données Avancées), Toulouse, France, Oct. 2010.
- [696] O. Rioul and Y. Guiard. The power model of fitts' law does not encompass the logarithmic model. In 2011 Meeting of the European Mathematical Psychology Group (EMPG 2011), Paris, France, Aug. 2011
- [697] F. Rossi, N. Villa, and F. Hautefeuille. Exploration of a large database of french charters with social network methods. In *International Medieval Congress*, page 1607, Leeds, United Kingdom, July 2011.
- [698] P. Senellart and A. Souihli. Un système de gestion de données XML probabiliste. In BDA (Bases de Données Avancées), Toulouse, France, Oct. 2010.
- [699] F. M. Suchanek, S. Abiteboul, and P. Senellart. Ontology matching at the instance and schema level. In *BDA (Bases de données avancées)*, Rabat, Morocco, Oct. 2011.

6.3.8 OS: Books and Book Chapters

- [700] S. Abiteboul, I. Manolescu, P. Rigaux, M.-C. Rousset, and P. Senellart. *Web Data Management*. Cambridge University Press, New York, USA, 2012.
- [701] M. Benedikt and P. Senellart. Databases. In E. K. Blum and A. V. Aho, editors, Computer Science. The Hardware, Software and Heart of It. Springer, 2012.
- [702] A. Da Silva. Analyse des données évolutives de l'usage du Web. Editions universitaires europeennes, 2011.
- [703] A. Da Silva, Y. Lechevallier, F. Rossi, and F. De Carvalho. Clustering dynamic web usage data. In *Innovative Applications in Data Mining*, chapter 4, pages 71–82. Springer, Berlin, Allemagne, 2009.
- [704] J.-L. Dessalles. L'émergence du langage au cours de l'évolution. In La fabrique du signe Linguistique de l'émergence, pages 22–33. Presses Universitaires du Mirail, Toulouse, 2010.
- [705] J.-L. Dessalles. Préface. In La langue d'Adam, pages v-ix. Dunod, Paris, France, 2010.
- [706] J.-L. Dessalles. Aux sources du langage. In *Le langage*, pages 126–135. Editions Sciences Humaines, Auxerre, France, 2010.
- [707] J.-L. Dessalles. Pragmatics and evolution. In *The Cambridge Encyclopedia of the language sciences*, pages 649–651. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 2011.
- [708] N. Gabsi, F. Clérot, and G. Hébrail. An hybrid data stream summarizing approach by sampling and clustering. In Advances in Knowledge Discovery and Management, pages 181–200. Springer, 2010.
- [709] B. Hammer, A. Hasenfuß, and F. Rossi. Median topographic maps for biomedical data sets. In *Similarity-Based Clustering*, pages 92–117. Springer, Berlin / Heidelberg, 2009.
- [710] E. Kharlamov and P. Senellart. Modeling, querying, and mining uncertain XML data. In *XML Data Mining: Models, Methods, and Applications*. IGI Global, 2011.
- [711] Y. Lechevallier, A. Da Silva, and R. Seraoui. A Clustering Approach to Monitor System Working: an Application to Electric Power Production. Chapman&Hall, 2011.
- [712] A. Rona-Tas, S. Clémençon, S. Blanchemanche, F. Rossi, and C. Dhanjal. The unexpected link: Dissemination of health information within social networks. In *Networks in Social Policy Problems*. Cambridge University Press, 2010.
- [713] F. Rossi and Y. Lechevallier. Constrained variable clustering and the best basis problem in functional data analysis. In R. V. Bernard Fichet, Domenico Piccolo and M. Vichi, editors, Classification and Multivariate Analysis for Complex Data Structures, pages 435–444. Springer Berlin / Heidelberg, 2011.
- [714] M. Verleysen, F. Rossi, and D. François. Advances in feature selection with mutual information. In *Similarity-Based Clustering*, pages 52–69. Springer, Berlin / Heidelberg, 2009.

6.3.9 MS: Miscellaneous

- [715] Y. Guiard. Langage ordinaire et modélisation mathématique: quelle fonction d'échange dans la loi du mouvement canalisé d'accot et zhai ? In *IHM, conference francophone d'interaction homme-machine*, pages 11–18, IRCAM (Paris, France), 2007.
- [716] V. Hudlet, C. Genzmer, H. Park, D. Schall, and P. Senellart. The sigmod 2010 programming contest: A distributed query engine. *SIGMOD Record*, 39(2):61–64, June 2010.

Chapter 7

Mathematics of Information, Communications and Computation (MIC²)

Team leader L. Decreusefond (P) (01/09–11/11), O. Hudry (P) (11/11–)

Faculty I. Charon (P) (-06/11; Emeritus Professor since 06/11), G. Cohen (P), L. Decreusefond (P), O. Hudry (P), A. Lobstein (CR CNRS), D. Madore (MC), B. Meyer (MC) (09/11-), H. Randriambololona (MC), J. Sakarovitch (DR CNRS), A.S. Üstünel (P).

PhD students P.-Y. Angrand (09/08–), D. Auger (10/07–06/10), I. Camilier (07/07–09/10), C. Cardenas (01/07–), E. Ferraz (01/09–01/12), I. Flint (11/10–), J.-P. Flori (09/08–), T. Fuhr (10/08–10/11), B. Kindarji (09/07–06/10), R. Lassalle (09/09 –), A. Patey (05/11 –), J. Valentin (04/09–), A. Vergne (10/10 –), T. Vu (09/08–).

Post-docs, engineers and sabbaticals J. Körner (05/09-07/09, 04/11-05/11)

External collaborators H. Chabanne, N. Puech, G. Zémor.

7.1 Objectives

Our research is devoted to concepts, methods and models coming from mathematics and computer sciences. Our works are twofold: on the one hand, we apply abstract and generic mathematical results to the computer real world (biometry, optical networks, quantum networks, mobile networks). On the other hand, we consider new mathematical problems raised by the applications (differential geometry, algebraic geometry, automata, infinite dimensional calculus). For instance, classic tools of combinatorial optimization, such as graphs and linear programming, are revisited for their applications to the design of optical networks. We also strongly believe in the necessity to develop abstract theories like algebraic geometry or infinite dimensional analysis, in order to forge the tools which will be used in a near future to model and analyze more and more complex phenomena.

7.2 Main Results

The main research results obtained during the period 2009-2011 are presented below for the research areas of the MIC² team.

7.2.1 Probability, Stochastic Modeling

Faculty: I. Camilier, **L. Decreusefond**, E. Ferraz, I. Flint, R. Lassalle, **A.S. Üstünel**, J. Valentin, A. Vergne, T. Vu.

Projects: Projet structurant: MONGE

- MASTERIE, ANR blanc (10/10–10/13)
- CRE Orange Labs (01/11 12/13)

Historically, the team was interested in analysis in infinite dimension, mainly Malliavin calculus and nuclear spaces, and its applications to telecommunications networks.

The optimal transportation problem dates back to the eighteenth century. Its modern approach was introduced in the forties by Kantorovitch as an optimization problem in a space of probability. A full solution for the quadratic cost was found in the nineties by Y. Brenier. Because of its numerous applications, for instance to functional inequalities, it is sensible to look at a generalization of this problem to infinite dimension spaces. The optimal transportation problem for a singular quadratic cost on the Wiener space was solved a few years ago. We are now in position to develop consequences and applications. In particular, we found necessary and sufficient conditions for a perturbation of the identity to be invertible in the Wiener space. We also gave some applications to filtering theory. In [768], Üstünel found a simple result: a causal process on the Wiener space is the unique strong solution of a SDE (stochastic differential equation) if and only if the kinetic energy of its drift is equal to the relative entropy of the law of the process with respect to the Wiener measure. Applications and extensions of this result is the subject of the PhD of R. Lassalle. At least, three papers are in the course of publication. During last year, Üstünel also extended Talagrand's transport inequality to general diffusion processes with Lipschitz continuous diffusion coefficient and with a very singular drift coefficient, in such a way that this inequality applies to Wigner process which is of fundemental importance in the topics of random matrices and Riemann's conjecture. In financial mathematics, the quasi-linear inequality for American options pricing has already been solved by Üstünel a couple of years ago in the hypoelliptic case with smooth coefficients, using the stochastic calculus of variations of Paul Malliavin [767]. In his Ph.D. thesis, J. Valentin extended these results to the diffusions whose (degenerate) coefficients possess only some Sobolev regularity by making some deep applications of harmonic analysis in this frame.

The 9th Workshop on stochastic analysis and related fields was organized in honor of A.S. Üstünel for his 60th birthday.

The mathematical properties of point processes are well known only for a very few number of processes. Unfortunately, in real life, it is seldom true that the real phenomenon can be modeled precisely by one of the known processes. It is thus of the utmost importance to increase the set of "known" point processes. In [744], we established the basis of the stochastic calculus with respect to determinantal and permanental point processes. In particular, we computed an integration by parts formula in the sense of Malliavin calculus. This work is now continued in the thesis of I. Flint who is interested in the further properties of these point processes.

Several years ago, we started a collaboration with P. Martins (NMS team) on new mathematical paradigms for the performance evaluation of telecommunication systems. Using concentration inequalities (see [780] for an introduction to this formula in the context of point processes), we developed robust dimensioning formulas for LTE radio-systems like OFDMA [776] and then further evaluated the energy consumption of such systems (see the thesis soon to be defended of T.T. Vu). Another line of thought is the usage of algebraic topology for sensor and cellular networks. For randomly located points, representing either mobiles, base stations orsensors, etc. we construct not only its proximity graph (there is an edge between two nodes if they are less than some distance apart) but also its proximity complex. A proximity complex is a list 3-uples, 4-uples and so on such that an *n*-uple $[x_1,...,x_n]$ belongs to this list if and only if the intersection of the balls centered on the n points $(x_1,...,x_n)$, with the previous distance as a radius, is not empty. Such a construction contains much more information on the underlying topology of the cloud of points. We know from algebraic topology that we can then recover the number of connected components but also the number of holes: the number of domains of the plane which are not covered. E. Ferraz in his thesis to be defended soon, computed some characteristics of such random complexes using Malliavin calculus formulas [745] and concentration inequality. The thesis of A. Vergne continues this work. We devised an algorithm based on these ideas to optimally switch off some sensors in order to save some power with coverage maintained. The mathemical analysis of this algorithm is our current work.

7.2.2 Discrete Mathematics, Communication, Information

Faculty: P.-Y. Angrand, D. Auger, I. Charon (Emeritus Professor since June 2011), G. Cohen, J.-P. Flori, T. Fuhr, O. Hudry, B. Kindarji, J. Körner, A. Lobstein, D. Madore, A. Patey, H. Randriambololona, J. Sakarovitch, R. de Souza, G. Zémor.

Projects: Projet structurant: COOPT

- European grant VIPBOB
- ANR project Computational Social Choice n° ANR-09-BLAN-0305-03

7.2.3 Algebraic Geometry, Number Theory and Cryptography

One research direction is the approach to problems of arithmetic nature (transcendence, Diophantine equations) by geometric methods (algebraic geometry, Arakelov geometry, Hermitian lattices). But of equal importance is also the application of these same geometric methods to concrete problems in combinatorics, coding theory, cryptography, analog and digital modulations, quantum information theory, etc. And indeed, during the last two years we made important contributions in a variety of domains such as number theory, algebraic geometry, combinatorics, algebraic complexity, cryptography, and perhaps more marginally also in probability theory, and algebraic topology. Of the most notable interest are the following four:

1. We gave new proofs, and then improvements, of some results about the number of solutions of systems of polynomial equations over finite fields. We then gave applications of these new results to problems in coding theory.

- 2. We constructed a space-time code for 2×2 MIMO channels that is optimal both for maximum likelihood decoding and for iterative decoding. This construction was made possible by the use of objects from various branches of mathematics: matrix groups, quadratic forms, algebraic number theory, generalized quaternions.
- 3. We explained how to hash (efficiently) into elliptic curves. The proof that the hash function thus constructed satisfies cryptographic resistance criteria relies on the careful analysis of the geometry of an algebraic surface.
- 4. We studied a combinatorial conjecture on the number of carries in a modular addition, that was motivated by applications in cryptography.

The results of these works can be found in [733], [771], [764], [?], [777].

Besides these works, in [?] we started a whole new field of research by explaining how to use deep methods from number theory and algebraic geometry to construct (2,1)-separating systems of asymptotic rate beating the probabilistic bound. We also explain how the very same methods lead to results on the bilinear complexity of multiplication in finite fields, and on the construction of secured multi-party computation schemes.

Also, in public-key cryptography, we began to explore the possibilities of finding cryptosystem not relying on the hardness of the discrete logarithm or the factorization, and if possible, efficient. That is why we are studying the potentialities of objects stemming from algebraic geometry such as algebraic tori, semi-abelian varieties, cubic hypersurfaces, in existing cryptosystems (especially on elliptic or hyperelliptic curves, e.g., pairings). We also study links with coding theory (e.g. toric codes) and information theory (secret sharing) and the possibility of applying combinatorial game theory to cryptographic protocols (so as to formalize them).

Last, the activities of the team during this period include the following PhD supervisions: Thomas Fuhr (Conception, proof, and analysis of cryptographic hash functions), Jean-Pierre Flori (Boolean functions, algebraic curves and complex multiplication), Eduardo Ferraz (Topology of random simplicial complexes and applications to sensor networks).

Combinatorics and Optimization

The external co-authors are L. Belgacem (FuturMaster), Y. Ben-Haim (University of Tel-Aviv, Israel), S. Gravier (CNRS, Institut Fourier, Grenoble), I. Honkala (University of Turku, Finland), B. Leclerc (École des hautes études en sciences sociales, J. Moncel (University Toulouse 1), B. Monjardet (University Paris 1))

Once we realize that any technological system will eventually suffer errors or failures, it is necessary to develop tools to handle such events. For instance, in a multiprocessor architecture, we may want to locate the malfunctioning processors. The so-called identifying codes in graphs are one of the best possible ways to achieve this goal. Hence, we studied the properties of these codes, as well as the ones of the graphs admitting identifying codes, called twin-free graphs. Different aspects are considered: structural and combinatorial properties [720, 723, 739], generalization to watching systems, study of special graphs [737, 730], complexity and algorithmic issues [722, 719].

The study of identifying codes of a graph G for a radius r greater than 1 can be related to the study of identifying codes of the r-th power of G for a radius equal to 1. This led us to study the powers of graphs and their properties [724, 727, 787].

Another direction of research deals with mathematical aspects of the aggregation of preferences, through the linear ordering problem for tournaments and consensus procedures [760, 735, 784]. More specifically, this includes complexity issues [755, 756, 782] and comparisons between different methods [736].

A last topic is about combinatorial optimization and more generally operations research [783]. This includes works on the design of exact methods [779, 774] or of some metaheuristics [734] in order to solve NP-hard problems [759]. An application can be found in [770?, 729] for the resolution of the so-called Routing and Wavelength Assignment Problem.

Besides the publications associated with these works, we may mention also the organization of conferences (2010 workshop Optimization in networks; 7th Spain-Italy-Netherlands Meeting on Game Theory (SING7), 2011; workshop to the memory of Jean-Pierre Barthélemy, 2011; 2011 conference of the European Mathematical Psychology Group (EMPG 2011)) or of special issues of journals (numbers 187 and 190 of Mathematics and Social Sciences, 2009 and 2010).

Information Theory

Our contribution to the field can be divided into 3 main themes:

1. Combinatorial coding

Our work on identifying codes as continued [737]; a new notion of identification has been put forward: that of witness, where we want a code such that its codewords can be recognized by inspecting a small window acting as a "witness" [775?]. From a more graph-oriented perspective, we have been interested in zero-error capacity issues in various spaces [731, 742]. Finally, in a more classical coding concern, we have studied thresholds in on of the most used classes of codes, the Reed-Solomon codes [772] and cardinalities of codes under weight constraints [728].

2. Cryptography and biometry

This application of coding theory to biometrical identification is potent. However, a number of questions needed to be addressed. In practice, the distribution of biometric traits is far from uniform and the scheme is liable to leak undesirable partial knowledge to an unauthorized third party. It was thus desirable to have a protocol for which zero information leakage to potential eavesdroppers is guaranteed. We dealt with this issue by considering the information leakage as a wire-tap channel problem [?].

Then, we explored the possible applications of this approach to devise biometric identification techniques, in the framework of cooperation programs and joint PhD students with SAGEM/Morpho [773, 732]. Indeed, Morpho and Telecom ParisTech launched a collaborative research center, the IDentity & Security Alliance, to address the technological challenges of identity protection and data security, in March 2011. The IDentity & Security Alliance will have an international scope and will focus on developing and enabling next-generation identity-based applications while guaranteeing security and privacy. It aims to build a scientific knowledge base covering research topics such as biometrics, IT security, cryptography, components security and identity management systems. Projects will be based on a mutual exchange of research and technology expertise, involving researchers from both Morpho and Telecom ParisTech. The IDentity & Security Alliance is co-directed by Vincent Bouatou, Deputy Director of Research and Technology at Morpho and Gérard Memmi, Head of the Networks and Computer Science Department at Telecom ParisTech, while Gérard Cohen is a scientific adviser of the IDentity & Security Alliance.

3. Codes and cryptography

The intersection of these two fields was for us bent functions, related to Reed-Muller codes, and of use in symmetric cryptography. Our approach was arithmetical and combinatorial [777?].

In addition to the publications, the results include invited talks, invited session in a conference (ITW 2010 Dublin), contribution to technical program committees (SETA 2010, ISIT 2011), SAGEM/Morpho contrats (CIFRE grant Sagem Bruno Kindarji 2007-2010, CIFRE grant Morpho Alain Patey 2011-2014, ANR COCQ "domaines emergents" 2008-2011), PhD thesis supervision (Bruno Kindarji [788]; Jean-Pierre Flori: Méthodes algébriques, combinatoires et géométriques en sûreté de l'information, 2008-2011; Zizhu Wang: Novel protocols for quantum networks, 2009-2012, Multi-party quantum cryptographic primitives in realistic environments; Alain Patey: Distributed secure biometric matching, 2011-2014).

Automata Theory

The activity in this domain is conducted by J. Sakarovitch, his PhD student (P.-Y. Angrand) and several external collaborators, mainly S. Lombardy. It may be described under three themes: synthesis, research, and construction of software for handling finite automata.

Two chapters ([781, 786]) in collaborative books have been published, in addition to the English corrected version of the monography on automata ([785]). The research activity may be illustrated by a work on weighted transducers ([778]) that allowed to answer a problem that was stated 30 years ago and by the study of a variant of the derivation of expressions ([718]) that may reverse the construction of expressions from automata ([762]).

As for the software activity, the development of VAUCANSON, a C++ platform for computing with weighted automata and transducers written in collaboration with a team from EPITA, has been carried on. A first stable version, VAUCANSON 1.4, has been released and will serve both as a test suite and a milestone for future versions. The bases for a completely new design of the core have been defined. The realisation of a new version following these new specification will be conducted in the framework of an ANR project attributed in October 2010 (starting March 2011).

The features of the contract ANR Vaucanson 2 on the "programme Blanc inter SIMI 2" are the following:

- Object: New architecture of the core of the platform Vaucanson 1, stronger specification of the programming interface of automata, and modular graphical user interface.
- Partners: IGM at Univ. Paris-Est (coordinator), LRDE at EPITA, LTCl at CNRS/TPT, EE Dept. at National Taiwan Univ.

7.3 References

Below is the full list of articles published, since January 2009, in international journals, in books, or in proceedings of international conferences by current members of the team). The full list of publications of the team is available at the following URL:

http://www.infres.enst.fr/wp/mic2/publications/

7.3.1 ACL: Articles in ISI-Indexed Journals

- [717] P.-Y. Angrand and J. Sakarovitch. Radix enumeration of rational languages. *RAIRO Theoret. Informatics and Applications*, 44:19–36, 2010.
- [718] P.-Y. Angrand, S. Lombardy, and J. Sakarovitch. On the number of broken derived terms of a rational expression. *J. Automata, Languages, and Combinatorics*, 15(1/2):27–51, 2010.
- [719] D. Auger. Minimal identifying codes in trees and planar graphs with large girth. European Journal of Combinatorics, 31(5):1372–1384, May 2010.
- [720] D. Auger, I. Charon, I. Honkala, O. Hudry, and A. Lobstein. Edge number, minimum degree, maximum independent set, radius and diameter in twin-free graphs. Advances in Mathematics of Communications, 3(1):97–114, 2009.
- [721] D. Auger, I. Charon, I. Honkala, O. Hudry, and A. Lobstein. Edge number, minimum degree, maximum independent set, radius and diameter in twin-free graphs: erratum. *Advances in Mathematics of Communications*, 3(4):429–430, Dec. 2009.
- [722] D. Auger, I. Charon, O. Hudry, and A. Lobstein. Complexity results for identifying codes in planar graphs. *International Transactions in Operational Research*, 17(6):691–710, 2010.
- [723] D. Auger, I. Charon, O. Hudry, and A. Lobstein. On the existence of a cycle of length at least 7 in a (1, j= 2)-twin-free graph. *Discussiones Mathematicae Graph Theory*, 30:591–609, Nov. 2010.
- [724] D. Auger, I. Charon, O. Hudry, and A. Lobstein. On the sizes of the graphs g, gr, gr g: the directed case. *Australasian Journal of Combinatorics*, 48:87–109, Sept. 2010.
- [725] D. Auger, I. Charon, O. Hudry, and A. Lobstein. Maximum size of a minimum watching system and the graphs achieving the bound. *Discrete Applied Mathematics*, Nov. 2011.
- [726] D. Auger, I. Charon, O. Hudry, and A. Lobstein. Watching systems in graphs: an extension of identifying codes. *Discrete Applied Mathematics*, 2011.
- [727] D. Auger, I. Charon, O. Hudry, and A. Lobstein. On the sizes of graphs and their powers: the undirected case. *Discrete Applied Mathematics*, 159:1666–1675, Sept. 2011.
- [728] C. Bachoc, V. Chandar, G. Cohen, P. Solé, and A. Tchamkerten. On bounded weight codes. IEEE Transactions on Information Theory, 57(10):6780–6787, Oct. 2011.
- [729] L. Belgacem, I. Charon, and O. Hudry. A post-optimization method to route scheduled lightpath demands with multiplicity. *Electronic Notes in Discrete Mathematics*, 36:263–270, July 2010.

- [730] Y. Ben-Haim, S. Gravier, A. Lobstein, and J. Moncel. Adaptive identification in torii in the king lattice. Electronic Journal of Combinatorics, 18(1):P116, May 2011.
- [731] G. Brightwell, G. Cohen, E. Fachini, M. Fairthorne, J. Korner, G. Simonyi, and A. Toth. Permutation capacities of families of oriented infinite paths. *SIAM J. Discrete Maths.*, 24(2):441–456, 2010.
- [732] J. Bringer, H. Chabanne, G. Cohen, and B. Kindarji. Private interrogation of devices via identification codes. *Springer LNCS 5922*, pages 272–289, Oct. 2009.
- [733] F. Castro, H. Randriam, I. Rubio, and H. Mattson Jr. Divisibility of exponential sums via elementary methods. *Journal of Number Theory*, 130:1520–1536, 2010.
- [734] I. Charon and O. Hudry. Self-tuning of the noising methods. Optimization, 58(7):1-21, 2009.
- [735] I. Charon and O. Hudry. An updated survey on the linear ordering problem for weighted or unweighted tournaments. Annals of Operations Research, 175:107–158, 2010.
- [736] I. Charon and O. Hudry. Maximum distance between slater orders and copeland orders of tournaments. Order, 28(1):99–119, 2011.
- [737] I. Charon, G. Cohen, O. Hudry, and A. Lobstein. New identifying codes in the binary Hamming space. *European Journal of Combinatorics*, 31:491–501, 2010.
- [738] I. Charon, O. Hudry, and A. Lobstein. Extremal values for the maximum degree in a twin-free graph. *Ars Combinatoria*, 2011.
- [739] I. Charon, O. Hudry, and A. Lobstein. Extremal values for identification, domination and maximum cliques in twin-free graphs. *Ars Combinatoria*, 101:161–185, Sept. 2011.
- [740] I. Charon, O. Hudry, and A. Lobstein. Minimum sizes of identifying codes in graphs differing by one edge. *Journal of Graph Theory*, Sept. 2011.
- [741] I. Charon, O. Hudry, and A. Lobstein. Minimum sizes of identifying codes in graphs differing by one vertex. *Graphs and Combinatorics*, Sept. 2011.
- [742] G. Cohen, E. Fachini, and J. Korner. Skewincidence. IEEE Trans. Inform Theory, 57(11):7313–7316, Nov. 2011.
- [743] L. Coutin, L. Decreusefond, and J. S. Dhersin. A Markov model for the spread of viruses in an open population. *Journal of Applied Probability*, 47(4), Dec. 2010.
- [744] L. Decreusefond and I. Camilier. Quasi-invariance and integration by parts for determinantal and permanental processes. *Journal of Functional Analysis*, 259:268–300, 2010.
- [745] L. Decreusefond and E. Ferraz. On the one dimensional Poisson random geometric graph. *Journal of Probability and Statistics*, 21, Aug. 2011.
- [746] L. Decreusefond, A. Joulin, and N. Savy. Upper bounds on Rubinstein distances on configuration spaces and applications. *Communications on Stochastic Analysis*, 4(3):377–399, Oct. 2010.
- [747] L. Decreusefond, J.-S. Dhersin, P. Moyal, and V. C. Tran. Large graph limit for an sir process in random network with heterogeneous connectivity. *Annals of Applied probability*, Mar. 2011.
- [748] L. Decreusefond, E. Ferraz, H. Randriambololona, and A. Vergne. Simplicial homology of random configurations. *Submitted*, Mar. 2011.
- [749] L. Decreusefond, P. Martins, and T.-T. Vu. On noise limited cellular networks. Queueing systems, Aug. 2011.
- [750] D. Feyel and A. S. Ustunel. Log-concave measures. *TWMS J. Pure Applied Math*, 1:92–105, Nov. 2010.
- [751] J.-P. Flori, H. Randriam, G. Cohen, and S. Mesnager. On a conjecture about binary strings distribution. *Lecture Notes in Computer Science*, 6338:346–358, Nov. 2010.
- [752] S. Fossier, E. Diamanti, T. Debuisschert, R. Tualle-Brouri, and P. Grangier. Improvement of continuous-variable quantum key distribution systems by using optical preamplifiers. *Journal of Physics B*, 42(11):114014, June 2009.
- [753] S. Fossier, E. Diamanti, T. Debuisschert, A. Villing, R. Tualle-Brouri, and P. Grangier. Field test of a continuous variable quantum key distribution prototype. *New Journal of Physics*, 11(4):045023, Apr. 2009.
- [754] M. Gagnaire and S. Al Zahr. Impairment-aware routing and wavelength assignment in translucent networks: state of the art. *IEEE Communications Magazine*, 47(5):55–61, May 2009.
- [755] O. Hudry. A survey on the complexity of tournament solutions. *Mathematical Social Sciences.*, 57: 292–303, 2009.
- [756] O. Hudry. On the complexity of slater's problems. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 203: 216–221, Oct. 2010.
- [757] O. Hudry. Complexity of the computation of extensions of median orders to different types of remoteness. Annals of Operations Research, Dec. 2011.
- [758] O. Hudry. On the computation of median linear orders, of median complete preorders and of median

- weak orders. Mathematical Social Sciences, June 2011.
- [759] O. Hudry. Machines de turing et complexité algorithmique. In M. Serfati, editor, De la méthode (recherches en histoire et philosophie des mathématiques), pages 179–212. Presses universitaires franc-comtoises, 2011.
- [760] O. Hudry and B. Monjardet. Consensus theories. an oriented survey. Mathematics and Social Sciences, 190:139–167, Nov. 2010.
- [784] O. Hudry, B. Leclerc, B. Monjardet, and J.-P. Barthélemy. Metric and latticial medians. In M. P. e. H. P. D. Bouyssou, D. Dubois, editor, *Concepts and methods of decision-making process*, pages 771–812. Wiley, 2009.
- [762] S. Lombardy and J. Sakarovitch. Corrigendum to our paper: "how expressions can code for automata". RAIRO Theoret. Informatics and Applications, 44(3):339–362, 2010.
- [763] E. Mayer-Wolf, A. S. Ustunel, and M. Zakai. Some covariance inequalities in Wiener space. *Journal of Functional Analysis*, 255:2563–2578, Feb. 2009.
- [764] H. Randriambololona and J. J. Boutros. Le code spatio-temporel d'aladin-pythagore. Treitement du signal, 27(2):147–160, 2010.
- [765] J. Sakarovitch and R. de Souza. Lexicographic decomposition of k-valued transducers. Theory of Computing Systems, 47:758–785, 2010.
- [766] N. Skorin-Kapov, O. Tonguz, and N. Puech. Towards efficient failure management for reliable transparent optical networks. *IEEE Communications Magazine*, Mar. 2009.
- [767] A. S. Ustunel. Probabilistic solution of American options. *Journal of Functional Analysis*, 256(9): 3091–3105, Feb. 2009.
- [768] A. S. Ustunel. Entropy, invertibility and variational calculus of adapted shifts on wiener space. *Journal of Functional Analysis*, 257(11):3655–3689, Dec. 2009.
- [769] A. S. Ustunel. Persistence of invertibility in the Wiener space. Commun. Stoch. Anal., 4(2):201–213, 2010.

7.3.2 ACTI: Selected Articles in Proceedings of International Conferences

- [770] L. Belgacem, I. Charon, and O. Hudry. Minimizing the number of wavelengths for the routing and wavelength assignment problem in optical network. In 9th Balkan Conference on Operational Research (BALCOR 2009), volume CD Rom, Constanta, Roumanie, Sept. 2009.
- [771] J. Boutros and H. Randriambololona. Optimal linear precoding for both maximum likelihood and iterative probabilistic decoding: The aladdin space-time code. In *2009 IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory*, pages 2823–2827, Seoul, Korea, June 2009.
- [772] H. Chabanne, G. Cohen, and B. Kindarji. On the threshold of maximum-distance-separable codes. In *IEEE- ISIT 2010*. arXiv:1001.2463 [cs.DM] 14 jan 2010, Nov. 2010.
- [773] H. Chabanne, G. Cohen, and B. Kindarji. On iterated logarithm solution to identification protocols. In *ITW IEEE jan 2010*. Digital Object Identifier: 10.1109/ITWKSPS.2010.550313, Nov. 2010.
- [774] I. Charon and O. Hudry. A branch and bound method for a clique partitioning problem. In 9th Cologne-Twente Workshop on Graphs and Combinatorial Optimization, pages 43–46., Cologne, Allemagne, May 2010.
- [775] G. Cohen. Separation and witnesses. In *International Workshop on Coding and Cryptography*, volume LNCS, pages 12–21, Hunan, Chine, June 2009.
- [776] L. Decreusefond, E. Ferraz, and P. Martins. Upper bound of loss probability for the dimensioning of ofdma systems with multi class randomly located users. In WiOpt, workshop SPASWIN 2009, Seoul, South Korea, June 2009.
- [777] J.-P. Flori, H. Randriam, G. Cohen, and S. Mesnager. On a conjecture about binary strings distribution. In *SEquences and Their Applications*, volume Lecture Notes in Computer Science, pages 346–358, Paris, Sept. 2010. Springer.
- [778] S. Lombardy and J. Sakarovitch. Radix cross-sections for length morphisms. In *LATIN 2010*, pages 184–195, (A. Lopez-Ortiz, ed.), Lect. Notes in Comp. Sci. 6034, Springer, 2010.

7.3.3 OS: Books and Book Chapters

- [779] I. Charon and O. Hudry. *Branch-and-bound methods*, chapter 3, pages 41–69. Wiley-ISTE Ltd, 2010.
- [780] L. Decreusefond and P. Moyal. *Modélisation et analyse stochastiques des réseaux de télécommunications*. Hermès, Paris, France, 2011.

- [781] C. Frougny and J. Sakarovitch. Number representation and finite automata, chapter 2, pages 34–107. Cambridge University Press, 2010. ISBN ISBN-13: 9780521515979.
- [782] O. Hudry. Complexity of voting procedures. In R. Meyers, editor, *Encyclopedia of Complexity and Systems Science*, pages 9942–9965. Springer, New York, 2009.
- [783] O. Hudry. Description of the French Operational Research and Decision-Aid Society: Société française de recherche opérationnelle et d'aide à la décision (ROADEF). Wiley, 2011.
- [784] O. Hudry, B. Leclerc, B. Monjardet, and J.-P. Barthélemy. Metric and latticial medians. In M. P. e. H. P. D. Bouyssou, D. Dubois, editor, *Concepts and methods of decision-making process*, pages 771–812. Wiley, 2009.
- [785] J. Sakarovitch. Elements of Automata Theory. Cambridge University Press, 2009.
- [786] J. Sakarovitch. Rational and recognisable power series, chapter 4, pages 105–174. Springer, 2009.

7.3.4 THE: Doctoral Theses

- [787] D. Auger. *Problèmes d'identification combinatoire et puissances de graphes*. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Feb. 2010.
- [788] B. Kindarji. Questions de sécurité et de vie privée autour des protocoles d'identificiations de personnes et d'objets. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, 2010.

Chapter 8

Network and Information Security (NIS)

Responsable Artur Hecker (MC).

Permanents R. Alléaume (MC), E. Diamanti (CR CNRS), A. Hecker (MC), H. Labiod (MC), J. Leneutre (MC), D. Markham (CR CNRS), A. Serhrouchni (P), P. Urien (P), I. Zaquine (MC).

Doctorants A. Al Mamou (02/06 - 01/10), M. Aljnidi (10/05 - 12/09), L. Aranda (11/07 - −), A. Bocquet (07/08 - 12/11), H. Dau (11/09 - 08/11), S. Delamare (10/06 - 06/10), A. Famulari (03/11 - −), M. Faycal (04/05 - 05/10), D. Fotue (10/10 - −), J. Ghalbouni (10/10 - −), H. Guerid (11/10 - −), T. Guillet (12/06 - 09/10), R. He (11/07 - 10/10), P. Jouguet (09/10 - −), M. Kasraoui (05/11 - −), C. Kiennert (01/10 - −), A. Marin (10/09 - −), R. Moalla (04/11 - −), S. Natouri (11/10 - −), D. Ngueguia Nyamy (11/07 - −), T. Nguyen (12/11 - −), A. Pappa (11/10 - −), H. Qin (11/11 - −), B. Rodier (01/09 - 09/09), R. Saad (11/06 - 09/10), M. Sokhn (11/07 - 09/11), C. Thibaud (01/09 - −), Z. Wang (10/09 - −), G. Zhioua (04/11 - −).

Postdocs, ingénieurs contractuels, sabbatiques N. Ababneh (04/09 - 06/11), I. Agha (10/10 - -), A. Ahmad (03/10 - 08/10), J. Aranda Buenos (10/10 - 12/11), Y. Benchaib (07/07 - -), A. Boukerche (11/09 - 12/09), X. Chen (09/10 - 12/11), P. Desfonds (10/11 - -), S. Elrharbi (11/07 - 01/11), S. Felloni (04/10 - 04/11), S. Haddad (01/09 - 03/11), K. Haddadou (03/10 - 04/10), P. Jouguet (03/09 - 02/10), C. Kiennert (08/08 - 12/09), S. Ktari (01/10 - 7/11), P. Laurier (06/08 - 04/10), T. Lawson (10/11 - -), P. Marie (02/09 - 12/09), R. Moalla (01/11 - -), N. Nogueira Lima (10/09 - 11/09), N. Oualha (09/09 - 08/10), B. Rai (09/10 - 06/11), T. Räty (01/09 - 07/10), J. Victor (10/10 - 10/10).

Associés M. Riguidel (Prof. emeritus), E. Kashefi (visiting associate professor, Univ. Edinburgh)

8.1 Objectives

Modern ICT technologies are increasingly software-driven. Software components in networks and infrastructures account for more flexibility in operations, but also render the infrastructures more complex in their behavior and, in fine, more vulnerable. In current systems, the fragility of the software predominates even in high-availability infrastructures. The proliferation of the generalized connectivity (locally, through short range radios and xDSL technologies, and globally through the democratization of the Internet) on the one hand, and the abundance of personal digital devices on the other hand (smartphones, netbooks, tablets, portable PCs) are responsible for the ongoing opening of previously closed and often isolated, private, ICT infrastructures. It becomes increasingly more and more difficult to address the cyber-security through the classical security methodology, which studies the impacts of events on an asset from its environment, since, in practice, both the environment and the actual ICT system per se are not fixed, but rather react and adapt in mutual interdependency.

The current situation is rather worrisome. Since software has found its way in almost all activities of the modern society, no industry sector can ignore IT security problems. Furthermore, since the ongoing trend to the generalized networking and continuous connectivity is rendering all these installations generally accessible through different means, no industry player can feel secure and has to face the challenges of cyber-security. Indeed, alone for 2011, the press has reported major cyber-security breaches in such branches as electronics, gaming, commerce, banking, defense, energy production, water supply and traffic control. States increasingly feel the pressure of the cyber-security risk and start programs spanning from protective measures and additional regulatory obligations over emergency trainings to the troubling notion of "cyber warfare", i.e. of a coordinated big-scale counter-attack.

Needless to say, ordinary citizens have long been lost in the maze of security settings and security warnings of all kinds. Ignoring both what is on stake and how to mitigate it, they often make fatal decisions with regard to their privacy, reputation and their civil or financial responsibilities. Often they serve as ignorant middlemen whose systems are used to mount large-scale attacks. The same is in principle true for small and middle enterprises. Networking is at the heart of all these developments. For systems to be secure, system architectures - i.e. today, including networks - have to address some security questions at the earliest stages. The problem is further amplified by the inherently multi-tenant nature of networking, which often involves external partners and third-party authorities with different security policies or traversal of public networks or systems with unclear security properties.

That is why, the Computer Science and Networking department has opted for the creation of a research group dedicated to questions of Networks and Information Security (in French even more explicitly called "Sécurité et Réseaux"). Gathering security-oriented researchers from different other groups, this new research group has been established at January, 1, 2010 at the CS and Networking department with an explicit focus on networks and security. As of December 2012, members of this group include 2 full professors, 6 associated professors, 2 CNRS researchers, about 20 faculty (post-docs, engineers, PhD students) and 1 professor emeritus.

The objectives of this research group is to produce industrially usable high-quality solutions and academically relevant theoretical approaches to improve the resilience and the security of modern networked IT systems, starting from the security of links and individual components and mechanisms and going to the architectural and administrative aspects such as gouvernance. This challenge includes aspects of manageability (operator-centric view) and usability (user-centric view), both of the security provisions and of the resulting IT systems and services.

8.2 Main Results

The results of the group are presented along the following research activities:

1. Security of Internetworking and of Its Typical Applications

- Internet infrastructure security
- · Internet Applications security
- 2. Internet of Things, M2M and Identity Management with Trustworthy Devices
 - · Internet of Things and M2M communications
 - · Smartcards and smart tokens
- 3. Infrastructureless, Wireless and Autonomous Networking
 - · Vehicular networks
 - · Autonomous networks
 - New security models, self-protections for autonomous networking
- 4. Quantum Information
 - · Quantum key distribution, and experimental platform
 - · Quantum cryptography, entanglement and quantum information theory
 - · Entangled-photon sources and quantum repeater
- 5. Resilience, quantitative security and trust in open and critical infrastructures
 - · Critical infrastructures and processes security
 - · Operational security evaluation
- 6. International Cooperation on Security Research

In the following, we present the main results of the research group for the period June 2009 - December 2011 by these research activities.

8.2.1 Security of Internetworking and Its Typical Applications

Permanents A. Serhrouchni, H. Labiod, A. Hecker

Faits marquants A. Serhrouchni has been appointed Chairman of IFIP TC 6.5; organization of Intl Future Internet Security and Trust workshops in 2009 and 2011; co-organization with RMS of EuroNF NGI 2010 conference at TPT in June 2010.

The objective of this activity is dedicated to the improvement of the security of internetworking and of its typical protocols. Consequently, the body of work in this domain is of a tremendous thematic span, going from specific provisions in the authentication phases of the protocols as required by the corresponding services and to the architectural decisions regarding service overlay levels and Internet infrastructure security.

I. We have defined and elaborated a new approach to communication protocol security based on the addition of new semantics to the protocol runs [950][944][943][942][911][885][857][856]. By relying on a semantic interpretation of the available data elements of standard protocol executions, our approach remains fully interoperable with the existing implementations - a nonnegligible fact when facing a broad industry acceptance and deployment. Moreover, such an interpretation is not required from all entities. However, the supporting entities can benefit from the new properties provided by our method at the service level. Concretely, we use the random data, so called nonces, used e.g. in SIP (Session Initiation Protocole) or HTTP (HyperText Transfert Protocol). Our research has concentrated on a secure way to give a meaning to this opaque blocks in order to improve the security level and to offer new security services, e.g. 1) capability for a user to verify communication billing by the service providers 2) capability to counter BYE and CANCEL attacks on the SIP protocol, 3) capability to optimize the authentication phase of SIP

resulting in a gain of one RTT (round trip time) for an equal security level. We formally verified all results using AVISPA. Besides, we implemented and tested our proposals in open source platforms, e.g. for SIP using modifications in the Jain API or in the widely deployed Asterisk server. The perspective is to add these capabilities to SSL/TLS. These contributions have been published academically [911][885][857][856][859][883][883][858], and have resulted in three patent applications [944][943][942] and the PhD thesis of Thomas Guillet [950].

II. To improve the Internet infrastructure resilience, we continued our work on IP traceback, necessary to stop distributed denial of service attacks. We concentrated on a specific Internet traffic using the ICMP protocol, and notably its ping service (echo-request/echo-reply). We have proposed a probabilistic marking solution to efficiently trace this kind of traffic in-band. To validate our approach, real-scale experiments have been conducted and a simulator using real traffic data has been implemented [880].

III. We continued working on P2P control, optimization and security. Our objectives here are twofold: we would like to make some overlay parts private, while improving the transport characteristics over the typical multi-AS system like the Internet without any central authority. The most prominent P2P protocols right now are DHT-based approaches (used for data organization and search) and Bittorrent (used for an efficient data retrieval). DHTs are hash tables projecting a common identification space; the latter is distributed, according to the used algorithm, over all participating nodes. To obtain an ID of a node responsible for an object, classically, a usual hash function is calculated over the object identifier to determine the identifier of the researched object in the DHT. Then, the mechanisms permit to route to such an identity. In such a way, every object remains essentially universally searchable and universally accessible. Our objective was to make some objects private: to do that, we needed to cut the ID space in virtual slices, the access to which needed to be controlled. Our solution relies on the usage of a keyed HMAC function instead of the normal hash function. In the resulting proposal, only a group knowing the secret key can locate the objects in the virtual space. Yet, our method does not affect other principles of the DHT (routing, retrieval, etc.) and therefore remains transparent. We have validated this proposal through large-scale simulations, and we could show the advantages namely for peering between different AS in the Internet [926][924][925]. In another effort, dedicated to structure-aware routing in current DHTs, we have developed a rewiring method for current overlays [951]. We reuse the existing structure and the existing signaling to significantly improve routing performance at practically no additional cost: as described in [813], we use graph theory to find topologically important nodes, which we then use to shorten network diameter and improve general resilience to (untargeted) errors. Note that despite the apparent promise of balanced structure, we always observed strongly skewed node degrees in all current DHTs [902]. Interestingly, in our approach, the topologically important elements emerge from the existing operational structure, and do not need to be chosen in advance. We conceived, implemented and evaluated our PowerDHT approach [903][902], which exploits the available knowledge at nodes such that the typical DHT routing profits from the partly scale free properties of the graph. Then, owing to the heterogeneous nature of nodes participating in most overlay networks, we also proposed an algorithm to transform an existing, deployed overlay in a real scale free network [900]. Our algorithm can be used with practically any existing DHT (Chord, Pastry, Kademlia, etc.) and remains backwards compatible in the sense that PowerDHT nodes can participate in a normal DHT network without changes - which allows progressive deployments. In another effort, to improve the actual data retrieval, we have adapted an FEC (Forward Error Correction) mechanism for bittorrent by using it on data segments in order to reduce the latency in data access. We have validated our approach in [924].

8.2.2 Internet of Things, M2M and Identity Management with Trustworthy Devices

Permanents P. Urien

Faits marquants Best Demonstration award at the IEEE CCNC conference 2010; CARTES

2009 Best Software Award; Best Paper award at the ICDT 2010 conference; OSEO Award attribution to EtherTrust spinoff.

Projets FP7 SecFuNet, Systematic FEDER ONDEMAND, ANR T2TIT.

The goal of this activity is to tackle practical security issues in the networks, the Internet, the Internet Of Things (IoT) and the emerging Machine to Machine (M2M) infrastructures. The tentative solutions rely on tamper resistant devices, based on secure microcontrollers such as smart cards or more generally speaking a Secure Element (SE).

Three PhD students are currently working on these subjects, another thesis ended in 2010 and deals with the security in SIP [914]. Other doctoral works target privacy for the IoT and Identity for the Cloud Computing and Mobile Services.

In fall 2009, the ANR project T2TIT (Things to Things in the Internet of Things), which ended in the beginning of 2010, won the CARTES 2009 Best Software Award. The HIP-RFID protocol [916] issued from the T2TIT project is currently a working item group [960] at the IRTF (Internet Research Task Force), which should be finalized by the end of 2012, and whose editor is P. Urien. The T2TIT team also published two books in 2010 [935] and 2011 [937], targeting RFIDs and the lot

In January 2010, the demonstration detailed in the paper [913] received the Best Demonstration award from the IEEE CCNC conference, and demonstrated the first OPENID infrastructure based on smartcards.

A paper [915] co-written with Christophe Kiennert, a CIFRE student funded by EtherTrust Company (Spinoff of Télécom ParisTech, http://www.ethertrust.com/), won a Best Paper award at the ICDT 2010 conference. A new prepayment architecture was designed for a big player and is detailed in [917]. Secure channels are managed between secure elements located in bearers' cards and merchants' terminals. This platform was successfully tested with a set of beta-test users, and is a step towards trusted computing for M2M networks.

In 2011, two new research contracts were won, OnDemand and Secfunet. Ondemand is a French FEDER project addressing security for on demand virtual networks. SecFuNet (http://www.gta.ufrj.br/secfunet/) is an international European-Brazilian FP7 project targeting Identity for virtual networks.

The EtherTrust spinoff, created in 2007, won the OSEO award in fall 2009 (http://www.ethertrust.com/?p=71). It engaged three employees in 2010 (among them one CIFRE, linked to INFRES department), and two others in 2011. Main industrial achievements are prepayment system designed for a big player, and mobile identity model (SIMply Me!) developed in a partnership with Morpho company.

8.2.3 Infrastructureless, Wireless and Autonomous Networking

Permanents H. Labiod, J. Leneutre

Faits marquants H. Labiod is one of the main organizers of the NTMS conference series; coorganized in April 2010 the 3rd IEEE International Conference on Software Testing, Verification and Validation (ICST); co-organized in September 2010 the 3rd International Workhop on Autonomous and Spontaneous Security (SETOP2010) co-located with the ESORICS Symposium, J. Leneutre co-editor of the corresponding proceedings published in the Lecture Notes in Computer Science series (Springer); Ruan He received the honorific mention of the CONET AWARD 2011 for his PhD work (see below); the paper [887] receives the Best Paper Award.

Projets ANR TRAFIC, ANR VELCRI

This research activity is dedicated to the infrastructure-less, wireless and autonomous networks and their specific needs in terms of organization, security, management, etc. This also explicitly includes vehicular networks (VANET), ad hoc networks or sensor networks (WSN).

These networks are formed by independent nodes and often have to be self-organized, even though a portal connection to an infrastructure may be available in more specific scenarios. The self-organization in a changing environment spanned over simplistic nodes requires secure and robust yet rapid and simple mechanisms for mobility management, routing, sensing, data plane organization and application APIs. Yet, the security in these environments is hard to establish, mainly because of the performance constraints (bandwidth, calculation, energy), and because of lacking security anchors (usually, no individual device can be presumed physically integer or secure).

This research can be presented along three axis:

- · Vehicular Networks
- · Autonomous networks;
- The modelling of wireless security based on non cooperative game theory.

Vehicular networks :

Regarding the routing in vehicular networks, we have proposed new routing mechanisms based on trajectories of nodes. Our trajectory-based routing shows good results compared to position-based routing, geographic protocols and opportunistic mechanisms [866][851][904][862]. This work has been conducted in the French national project ANR TRAFIC. We currently work on the security of these routing mechanisms, notably in cases of cooperative mobility.

Beyond this work, we studied a dedicated architecture for intelligent transportation systems (ITS). Our current proposal is a hybrid fixed/wireless/sensor/VANET architecture that supports group mobility management and end-to-end routing mechanisms so as to enable ITS services in an efficient manner [904][862]. In a related effort, we proposed a global security architecture for hybrid ad hoc networks [847].

We conceived an Adaptive Traffic Signal control system based on inter-vehicular communication (V2V). This system permits to diminish risks of traffic jams, limit crossroads waiting times and increase the fluidity of the transportation traffic [831][910][934].

In the ongoing ANR project VELCRI, we currently conduct research on secure electrical vehicle charging. This will become part of an innovative, end-to-end security architecture, currently under development in cooperation with Renault.

Autonomous networking :

Regarding data sensing and retrieval in wireless and autonomic environments, we worked on the combination of data aggregation with routing, specifically in wireless sensor networks [875][878][877]. In order to tackle a related problem of resource allocation in NEMO, we proposed an optimization of the resource reservation in these kinds of networks [907]. We conducted an analytical research of the intra-domain handover mechanism in multi-homed NEMO [815].

Accounting for specific needs of such systems, we specifically addressed the security needs of these systems. As a result, we defined models and mechanism for self-protection in autonomous networks. The goal of this axis of research is to propose security models and their associated mechanisms for self-protection of e.g. wireless autonomous networks. Our approach introduces context-awareness into the security mechanisms themselves in order to make them autonomic. We mainly focussed on the access control function.

Adopting a policy-based management approach, we presented in [807, 888] ASPF (Autonomic Security Policy Framework), a policy-driven security framework which realizes several feedback loops. Enforced authorization policies in a device are adapted according to the security context both at the network and device levels.

In [886, 887], we proposed VSK (Virtual Security Kernel), a lightweight adaptable OS authorization architecture suitable for self-protection of pervasive devices. A virtual management plane, separate from execution resources, is defined for full run-time control by applications of

their execution environment. This plane also performs non-invasive and yet effective authorization thanks to optimized access request checking. The VSK component-based architecture provides flexibility both in the execution plane (for resource customization) and in the management plane (for run-time reconfiguration of authorization policies). The paper [887] receives the Best Paper Award.

In complement to previous work, we defined in [889] a domain specific language to describe security adaptation policies. The DSL is based on the condition-action approach and on a taxonomy of threats and applicable reactions. The DSL also allows to capture trade-offs between security and other concerns such as energy efficiency during the decision making phase.

These previous results have been obtained in the context of the CIFRE PhD thesis of Ruan He, co-supervised by Marc Lacoste from Orange Lab. Ruan He received the honorific mention of the CONET AWARD 2011 for his PhD work.

Modelling of wireless security based on non cooperative game theory :

During recent years, we applied non cooperative game theory to model and analyze selfish and malicious behaviors in wireless networks. Through this approach, we are able to characterize some quantitative aspects in the design of security mechanisms.

We proposed in [798] a distributed pricing framework for cooperative relaying in wireless networks: sources pay relay nodes to forward their packets, and the payment is shared equally whenever a packet is successfully relayed by several nodes at once. This scenario is modelled as a Stackelberg (leader-follower) game, in which sources set the payment rates they offer, and relay nodes respond by choosing the flows to cooperate with. A systematic analysis of the fundamental structural properties of this generic model has been provided: multiple follower equilibria exist in general due to the non concave nature of the game, yet only one equilibrium possesses certain continuity properties that further lead to a unique system equilibrium among the leaders. This work has been done in collaboration with Lin Chen from University of Orsay and Lavy Libman from University of Sydney.

We considered in [797] the problem of jamming attacks in a wireless context performed by attackers with a limited energy amount. We proposed a defense strategy to defeat the jammer by draining its energy as fast as possible. The interaction between the jammer and the victim network is modelled as a non-cooperative game which is proven to admit two equilibria. As a result, the proposed defense strategy can eliminate the undesirable equilibrium from the network perspective and increase the jammer's energy consumption at the remaining equilibrium without degrading the performance of the victim network. We also investigate the game dynamics by developing the update mechanism for the players to adjust their strategies just based on observable channel information. This work has been done in collaboration with Lin Chen from University of Orsay.

Finally we provided a general methodology for designing efficient MAC protocols for autonomous wireless networks in [864].

8.2.4 Quantum Information

Permanents R. Alléaume, E. Diamanti, D. Markham, I. Zaguine.

Faits marquants Organization of QuPa workshop series (8 workshops so far); organization of workshop on Post-Quantum Security Models; creation of a unique experimental platform on security of quantum communications in Europe.

Projets ANR-EU CHIST-ERA Project HIPERCOM, EU FP7 Marie-Curie IAAP QCERT, IdF C'nano GENEPHY, ANR Blanc International France-Canada FREQUENCY, ANR Blanc EQUANET, ANR Jeunes Chercheurs CRYQ, ANR SEQURE

A team of researchers of the NIS group is focusing its activity on different aspects of quantum information science, ranging from fundamental problems related to entanglement theory or

theoretical aspects of quantum cryptographic protocols, to experimental work on quantum communications and practical quantum cryptography, with an important effort towards the development of quantum key distribution technology. The team, composed of four permanent members (see above) is also actively participating in the scientific life of the community, through the organization of scientific workshops and conferences (notably, High Performance Coherent Quantum Communications (HIPERCOM) kick-off meeting and Continuous-Variable Quantum Information Processing (CV-QIP'11) workshop held at Télécom ParisTech, Paris in September 2011; and Workshop on Post-Quantum Security Models (PQSM), held at Télécom ParisTech, Paris in October 2010), including the conference series QuPa, which have gathered speakers and participants from research groups interested in quantum information in the Paris area (Quantum Information in Paris (QuPa) workshop series - 8 so far - held with Institut Henri Poincaré and Télécom Paris-Tech, Paris, May 2009-present). Finally, the dynamism of our activity is also illustrated by an important number of collaborations, as well as the participation in scientific committees at a national and international level (e.g. participation in the Steering committee of the GdR "Information Quantique: Fondements et Applications", program committee for the international conferences such as DCM 2010, DCM 2011, CLEO Europe/EQEC 2011, QCRYPT 2011).

Quantum key distribution (QKD) :

Our team has a recognized expertise in the field of QKD, illustrated by several important publications [789][872][803][836], as well as a network of collaborators (French-Canadian collaboration in ANR FREQUENCY, European collaboration in FP7 IAAP Q-CERT, French-European collaboration in ANR-EU CHIST ERA project HIPERCPM) that are key players in the European and international QKD community. These collaborations date back from the beginning of the FP6 European project SECOQC [2004-2008] and have fruitfully developed into new projects and research themes, ranging from the experimental development of continuous-variable QKD systems, to theoretical studies on QKD security models [795] or QKD networks [790][841], as well as a theme of growing importance: the practical security of QKD systems.

- 1. Practical security of QKD systems: side-channels, attacks, counter-measures
 - QKD is the first technology emerging from quantum information science that reaches a level of maturity that is sufficient to target industrial development and commercial applications. However, this transition is far from easy, as QKD has mainly been thought and developed as an exciting and stimulating playground for the development of quantum communication techniques, with a (too) distant eye on cryptography and security questions. The challenge for QKD, in order to become a recognized security technology is twofold.
 - One has to better understand how QKD compares to other crypto technologies and this was the purpose of our review paper [789], studying how QKD could be used, in combination with other cryptographic primitives, to achieve different security functions, while comparing it with classical cryptographic alternatives.
 - More importantly, one has to study not only the theoretical security of QKD, but also
 the practical security of QKD implementations. As a matter of fact, while several QKD
 protocols are proven to be unconditionally secure, if the practical implementation differs from the ideal model used in the proof, this can open the door for effective attacks
 on the systems, as this has been demonstrated in the last years.

The ambition of the project Q-CERT, in which we collaborate with world leaders in QKD (University of Geneva and IdQuantique) is precisely to study, on our experimental platform (financed by IdF SESAME "Sécurité Quantique" as a platform for quantum security experiments) some family of vulnerabilities of QKD systems in order to develop counter-measures and thus move forward towards the security certification of QKD.

2. Continuous-Variable QKD (CVQKD)

The research on CVQKD has been initiated at the Institut d'Optique in collaboration with Thales Research and Technologies, teams with which we have a history of close collaborations and joint work [803][802][836]. The goal we are now pursuing is to study the material security of CVQKD, but also to improve the systems in order to reach higher performances. Following ideas developed earlier in the group and in collaboration with SeQureNet, the expected performance of the systems in terms of maximal key distribution distance, which was up to know strongly limited by the error correction efficiency, has been considerably increased, from 30 km to 150 km [808].

3. Valorization: intensive collaboration with a spin-off company

The start-up SeQureNet (http://www.sequrenet.fr/) was founded in 2008 and has considerably developed its activities during the period 2009-2011 following the recent recruitment of two full-time employees: S. Kunz-Jacques, technical director, and P. Jouguet, R&D engineer. SeQureNet develops and commercializes quantum cryptography systems, specializing in particular in the technology of continuous variable quantum key distribution. It exploits a patent held by CNRS/Thales, for which it has signed a licensing agreement, and is in the process of negotiating a licensing agreement for a second patent, held by CNRS/Institut Télécom. SeQureNet is in close collaboration with the quantum information research activities within NIS, in particular via joint participation in several projects: FP7 Q-CERT, ANR Frequency, and ANR-EU Hipercom. SeQureNet is planning to produce in 2012 its first quantum cryptography product, which will be of interest to research laboratories.

4. Experimental platform

An experimental platform "Sécurité Quantique" is currently under development with funding from Region Ile-de-France, Institut Télécom and CNRS. It serves the purpose of examining the practical security of quantum key distribution systems (FP7 Q-CERT, ANR-EU HIPER-COM) and testing new quantum cryptographic protocols in two and multi-partite settings (ANR FREQUENCY, ANR CRYQ). It is worth noting that this experimental platform is one of only 5 of this type in the world.

Quantum cryptography and entanglement :

There is great subtlety and great potential in the use of multipartite quantum states for information processing. Almost all of the known applications of quantum information to date either involve two parties (for example Quantum Key Distribution), or a large number of systems (quantum computing - currently well beyond the best technologies). In fact there is a wealth of unexplored variation in the behavior of quantum systems between these two extremes.

Our goal is to understand and exploit multipartite quantum states for information processing in a distributed network setting. There are two parts to this; one is to understand the great subtleties of the quantum mechanics of multiparty entangled states. The other part is to understand how we may apply this in a useful manner. Indeed these parts are often much intertwined and both necessitate and support the other.

We have studied how two broad classes of entangled states can be used for quantum information processing: graph states and symmetric states. Both these classes are at the forefront of experimental implementation, and we are working closely with the top experimental groups around the world to implement our findings. For graph states we have developed the theory of quantum secret sharing to a high degree [810][811][956], so that we are now working at how we can both implement proof of principle experiments, and theoretically how these protocols can be integrated into more involved many party schemes (such as multiparty secure function evaluation [908]. For symmetric states we are still at an earlier stage of understanding what the key quantum features of use are. We have shown how these states exhibit a full range of entanglement features, with deep relationship to the symmetries involved [826][854][793]. We then went on to explore how this entanglement can be used to perform non-local tasks in the forms of extended Bell inequalities [961]. Currently we are working on both implementing first proof of principle experiments and also how these protocols can be understood deeper in an information theoretic

sense, for example their ability to reduce communication complexity and their power as quantum games. Much of this work has contributed to the project ANR FREQUENCY (ANR blanc international France-Canada).

As multipartite quantum states are of great importance in multiple applications in a network setting, a fundamental question is whether the users can trust the source that generates the states or whether they can efficiently verify that the right state is produced and distributed. We have studied this problem for the so-called GHZ states, and we have shown these can be efficiently verified in the adversarial model, even in the presence of multiple malicious players [835].

For all the above protocols, the role of entanglement is crucial. Exploring the exact role of entanglement in the performance of quantum computation and cryptographic protocols is in fact very interesting. Some tasks do not require entangled resources; we have developed for example a practical quantum coin flipping protocol with security guarantees strictly better than any classical protocol can achieve [834]. This protocol can be implemented with standard technology, using for example attenuated laser pulses, over up to 20 km of optical fiber and work is currently underway in our experimental platform [88] for the practical implementation of the proposed protocol in a two and multi-partite setting (projects ANR CRYQ, ANR FREQUENCY).

Entangled-photon sources and quantum repeaters :

The quantum repeater is one of the major challenges towards long distance quantum communications. It requires entangled photon pairs and the possibility of storage of the photonic qubits in a quantum memory. Our goal is to build a source of entangled photon pairs based on spontaneous parametric down conversion (SPDC) that is suitable for long distance propagation in telecom optical fibers and also compatible with the quantum memory. This objective is pursued in collaboration with experimental groups in Nice and Orsay (ANR project EQUANET). In order for the quality of entanglement to be conserved, in spite of the necessary filtering, fiber coupling and various causes of losses, the design of the source must be optimized. We have calculated the respective weights of these various possible contributions to source quality degradation, and shown how to find the best compromise, providing a "users guide" to the design of narrowband pulsed SPDC sources [844]. We have also shown a simple way to evaluate the quality of entanglement that can be obtained with a given source, using very simple measurements [845]. We are also investigating the possibility of multi-user distribution of entangled photon pairs, with only one source. Using commercial telecom DWDM filters, we can take advantage of the natural wide band of SPDC sources, to improve the photon rate and prepare the way to cheap quantum communication networks.

8.2.5 Resilience, quantitative security and trust in open and critical infrastructures

Permanents A. Hecker, M. Riguidel, C. Chaudet (RMS)

Faits marquants Creation of industry special group (ISG) on information security indicators (ISI); A. Hecker is vice-chairman of the ISG ISI at ETSI; acceptance for publication of an ETSI standard [955] reflecting our work on operational security assurance.

Projets CELTIC BUGYO BEYOND, ANR SINARI

This research activity is dedicated to a vision of a rational and quantifiable security, i.e. to reasoning about the conformity, cohesion, quality and efficiency of the security mechanisms deployed in an operational networked IT environment. The goal is to provide network and security administrators with a set of tools for a better handling of security mechanisms of their systems. We believe that current tools are rather inadequate and often very specific; they do not permit security management at the system level. Instead, system administrators have to tinker with specialized tools for device-level configurations to achieve system-wide results at the service level. Given the inextricability of the existing real-life IT installations, we currently advocate an empirical

approach to this problem, as opposed to the "security by design" approach based on a formal transformation process. Contrary to formal methods, usable for new designs, we would like to render more resilient the existing, deployed systems. In IT security, a lack of knowledge of the local administration with regard to the security posture of the managed system is well-established. The main idea is therefore to render the existing security resiliently manageable and, through this provision, to ultimately render the overall system more resilient, in spite of the undeniable presence of faults and attacks in modern networked IT systems.

It is difficult to evaluate conformity in an operational, distributed environment. Even more difficult is the evaluation of cohesion (i.e. the mutual non-disturbance) and of the efficiency of the deployed security mechanisms. Testing, pentesting, fuzzing and other approaches need to be used from different topological points without disturbing the control traffic required to launch the tests and to gather results. We studied and elucidated the related problems in the European research project Celtic Bugyo Beyond [83], which the team has successfully finished in October 2011, and through publications on the distributing monitoring and evaluation framework. We studied the fundamental problems related in our early work [892]. They can be roughly subdivided in "how to measure resiliently" i.e. in spite of faults, reconfigurations and attacks, and "how to make sense of the gathered data", i.e. how to evaluate such data. More specifically:

- 1. The first part of the problem has been extensively studied: we have formulated functional requirements and a layered model for an operational measurement framework in this context [809][895]. One of the crucial requirements on such frameworks is resiliency with respect to node and path failures of all kinds. To address these issues, we have developed a dedicated P2P-based overlay for simple, server-less, resilient communications [809].
- 2. The latter problem is mainly related to the information model. For security to make sense, such models require profound understanding of both the objectives and the realizations. Since both vary a lot, this does not have an easy solution. We proposed a viable mid-way through the use of patterns called Assurance Profiles [884]. This approach has found a strong echo within the standardization community: ETSI TISPAN WG7 is about to standardize the format of the proposed profile as TR 187 023 [955].
- 3. To fulfill partly contradictory requirements on P2P structures in this context (resiliency, efficiency, furtiveness), we can use the work developed in the thesis of S. Ktari [951]. With a simple parameterization, the proposal [813] yields a generalized P2P overlay capable of dynamically adjusting its structure from equally distributed over decentralized, hub-based to fully centralized networks. We use the same algorithm to adapt the structure to the perceived criticality level. Such adaptability permits to use the same implementation in changing environmental security conditions (threat level).
- 4. To study incident propagation effects and impacts on the behavior of our proposals, we have designed and implemented a network virtualization tool, VIRCONEL [794][861], capable of deploying real software (OS, servers, clients, etc.) in a given network topology; it also enables us to alter any link, any node and any defined service element as of a scenario definition. This permits us to evaluate different IT service realizations under attacks and fault scenarios. VIRCONEL is available as an open-source (LGPL) software under http://virconel.enst.fr.
- 5. Incidents, which hit the network and disturb communications delivery to users, cannot be always prevented. Network recovery mechanisms are used to redirect communications to a non-failing part of the network. We have studied a new kind of recovery mechanism based on peer-to-peer routing (also called overlay routing) in [947]. The proposed mechanism relies on a virtual network, made of a network nodes set performing routing operations. Its advantages are that it can be used to recover any kind of IP communications, and does not depend on the network infrastructure. It also allows an end-to-end protection of communications. This is contrary to usual recovery mechanisms, such as typical routing protocols, which only operate inside the various networks used to forward a communication and do

not cooperate between themselves. Finally, this mechanism is deployed by network users, and thus can be adapted to the dependability needs for each of their communications. Our system can improve communications dependability when incidents hit the network, particularly if recovery mechanisms deployed by network operators cannot bring the dependability level pursued by a user.

6. In order to enhance the dependability, survivability and resilience of EU ICT-based critical infrastructures by introducing appropriate Middleware Improved Technology components, suitable for preventing and limiting cascading effects and supporting automated recovery and service continuity in critical situations, the security models and crisis management for metasystem need to be revised [919]. The electrical power infrastructure and its supporting telecommunication infrastructure have been chosen as first priority example test case that has been extensively studied in [948].

8.2.6 International Cooperation on Security Research

Permanents M. Riguidel, A. Hecker, D. Markham

Faits marquants M. Riguidel is FIA caretaker of trust and security; security related policy-making in Europe through the authorship of the RISEPTIS report; co-organization of a workshop in the French Senate on the security of critical infrastructures in June 2009; creation of a joint lab on security and trust with Jiao Tong University in Shanghai; signature of a MoU with School of Informatics of the University of Edinburgh.

Projets FP7 ThinkTrust, FP7 IncoTrust, FP7 BIC, FP7 Panorama

There is significant investment and worldwide research activity aimed at creating complex networked systems that can be justifiably trusted to perform as expected: to be resilient; to remain dependable and secure, in spite of problems that they may experience; to be adaptable; and to be able to evolve in response to changed requirements and environments. Therefore, within FP7, the European Commission has a requirement to develop global partnerships with their international peers in these areas.

Besides, owing to the inherently international nature of modern networking, security solutions call for international coordination in terms of identification, reporting and taxonomy of security incidents, security data sharing, enforcement of common policies, objectives, functions and distributed mechanisms and the like.

To answer these challenges, our group actively participates in the international cooperation and coordination of security research activities. Such coordination includes research agencies from partnering countries as described in more details in the following.

ThinkTrust :

ThinkTrust (http://www.think-trust.eu/) was a Coordination Action project (Jan 2008 - Dec 2010) of the European Commission FP7 work program. The objective was to formulate recommendations on policy environments and future research agenda, addressing security, dependability, privacy and related ethical issues across different challenges [838] and objectives of this work program. Think-Trust has produced a list of research challenges, which need to be addressed to work towards a trustworthy ICT environment [936]. The Think-Trust project included the support of an Advisory Board (RISEPTIS for "Research and Innovation for SEcurity, Privacy and Trustworthiness in the Information Society") in ICT research on security and trust formulating recommendations on:

 Policy environment - The development of coherent legal and administrative frameworks, operational environments, and human behavior relating to security, privacy and confidence, in view of the technological changes leading to and arising from the future Information Society, Research Agenda - Future European research and development that can facilitate the creation of an Information Society that will be secure, whilst respecting freedom and privacy of its citizens, with due attention given to the ICT infrastructures, networks, services and applications.

RISEPTIS made six recommendations for action, covering both technical and supportive regulatory measures, presented by V Reding at the European Parliament [959].

INCOTrust :

IncoTrust (http://www.inco-trust.eu/) was a Coordination Action project (Jan 2008 - Dec 2010) of the European Commission FP7 work program, specifically targeting international cooperation in the area of Trustworthy, Secure and Dependable ICT infrastructures:

- To promote collaboration and partnerships between researchers from the developed countries (European Commission, US-National Science Foundation NSF, US-Department of Homeland Security DHS, Japan Science and Technology Agency JST and Australian National ICT Australia NICTA) with the goal of coordinating the multiple research efforts underway in the areas of ICT Trust, Security and Dependability.
- To leverage and harmonize efforts on the respective sides related to the building and maintenance of large-scale trustworthy ICT systems and infrastructures and the services they deliver with a long term visions and research roadmaps.

The INCO-Trust project identified the following two groups of recommendations [957] that are labeled under the categories Strategic and Tactical which are road-mapped for FP7/FP8 calls. The Strategic group are meant to be the pre-requisite enablers for international cooperation, setting out the frameworks, common understandings and motivations, and overall landscape to ensure the possibility and effectiveness of the more concrete Tactical group recommendations. In the frame of this project, we also have tackled the global governance [839] and the security of the Internet of Things [918].

BIC:

Starting on 1st January 2011, the Coordination Action BIC project - Building International Cooperation for Trustworthy ICT: Security, Privacy and Trust in Global Networks & Services, http://www.bic-trust.eu/ - will expand the co-operation models of EU researchers and program management with their peers in new ICT high-growth countries, specifically Brazil, India and South Africa, who represent emergent world-impacting information economies through the scale and sophistication of their growing ICT sectors [865]. In addition, the project will provide continuity and bring together a truly global collaboration with the participation of the already established connections from the INCO-TRUST project between the EU and the United States, Japan, Australia, South Korea and Canada.

Panorama:

PANORAMA is a FP7 FET project to coordinate the pervasive adaptation (Perada) network for the organization of the research agenda and the management of activities. The goal of the PANORAMA coordination action is to bring together the wide range of researchers in the field covered by the PERADA proactive initiative, and to build a new community of researchers who can work together on common goals, so ensuring that the research carried out by members of that community is integrated, coordinated and informed. We produced a vision paper [837].

FIA (Future Internet Assembly) :

The European Future Internet Assembly, also known as FIA (http://www.future-internet.eu/fileadmin/documents/misc/What_is_FIA.pdf), is a collaboration between projects that have

recognized the need to strengthen European activities on the Future Internet to maintain European competitiveness in the global marketplace. Currently FIA brings together around 150 research projects that are part of Challenge 1 of the ICT program of FP7. We are member of the FIA caretakers of the Working Group Trust and Security (http://security.future-internet.eu/index.php/Main_Page).

Joint Lab between Jiao Tong University and Telecom ParisTech

A joint Lab in Security research was launched on July, 2011. The Lab is addressing the need of creating a research environment for investigating and experimentally validating innovative ideas in security and trust for new networking and service paradigms: , new models, new cryptographic protocols, new architectures for the Future Internet. The academic research and a wide-scale experimentation that is required for industry (such as Huawei) aim to provide a framework in which security and trust paradigms can be integrated in the design of the Future Internet.

MoU with School of Informatics of the University of Edinburgh

Based on ongoing and future collaborations, we initiated and saw to fruition a memorandum of understanding between the School of Informatics in the University of Edinburgh and Télécom ParisTech, cementing our relationships and facilitating many activities such as student exchanges. The School of Informatics in the University of Edinburgh is the biggest and best computer science department in the UK (top in the last RAE) and one of the top centres in the world. The project with the quantum information team in NIS focuses on the future of networked quantum information, beyond the limited focus of much of the current field on two party protocols (QKD) and a quantum computer, to explore the wealth of possibilities in between. This includes blind quantum computation, distributed computation and the exploration of many new multiparty quantum protocols.

8.3 References

8.3.1 ACL: Journal Papers

- [789] R. Alléaume, N. Lutkenhaus, R. Renner, P. Grangier, T. Debuisschert, G. Ribordy, N. Gisin, P. Painchault, T. Pornin, L. Salvail, M. Riguidel, A. Shields, T. Länger, M. Peev, M. Dianati, A. Leverrier, A. Poppe, J. Bouda, C. Branciard, M. Godfrey, J. Rarity, H. Weinfurter, A. Zeilinger, and C. Monyk. Quantum key distribution and cryptography. Special issue of TCS for the 25th anniversary of BB84. July 2009.
- [790] R. Alléaume, F. Roueff, E. Diamanti, and N. Lutkenhaus. Topological optimization of quantum key distribution networks. *New Journal of Physics*, 11, July 2009.
- [791] J. Anders, M. Hajdusek, D. Markham, and V. Vedral. How much of one-way quantum computation is just thermodynamics? *Foundations of Modern Physics*, 38(6):506–522, June 2009.
- [792] P. Arrighi, R. Fargetton, and Z. Wang. Intrinsically universal one-dimensional quantum cellular automata in two flavours. *Fundamenta Informaticae*, 91(2):197–230, Apr. 2009.
- [793] M. Aulbach, D. Markham, and M. Murao. The maximally entangled symmetric state in terms of the geometric measure. *New Journal of Physics*, 12(073025), Jan. 2010.
- [794] Y. Benchaïb and A. Hecker. Virconel, un laboratoire pour la création d'architectures réseaux virtuelles. *GNU/Linux Magazine*, HS46:62–68, Feb. 2010.
- [795] A. Bocquet, A. Leverrier, and R. Alléaume. Optimal eavesdropping on quantum key distribution without quantum memory. *J. Phys. A: Math. Theor.*, 45:025305, Jan. 2012.
- [796] L. Chen and J. Leneutre. On multipath routing in multihop wireless networks: Security, performance and their tradeoff. EURASIP Journal on Wireless Communications and Networking, 2009, June 2009.
- [797] L. Chen and J. Leneutre. Fight jamming with jamming a game theoretic analysis of jamming attack in wireless networks and defense strategy. *Computer Networks*, 55(9):2259–2270, June 2011.

- [798] L. Chen, L. Libman, and J. Leneutre. Conflicts and incentives in wireless cooperative relaying: A distributed market pricing framework. *IEEE Transactions on Distributed and Parallel Systems*, 22(5): 758–772, May 2011.
- [799] J.-L. Dessalles. The real mystery about language. Physics of Life Reviews, 8(4), Dec. 2011.
- [800] M. Dianati, R. Alleaume, M. Gagnaire, and X. Shen. Architecture and protocols of the future european quantum key distribution network. Security and Communication Networks, 1(1):57–74, Apr. 2008.
- [801] Y. Dumeige, R. Alléaume, P. Grangier, F. Treussart, and J.-F. Roch. Controlling the single-diamond nitrogen-vacancy color center photoluminescence spectrum with a fabry–perot microcavity. *New Journal of Physics*, 13:42011, Feb. 2011.
- [802] S. Fossier, E. Diamanti, T. Debuisschert, R. Tualle-Brouri, and P. Grangier. Improvement of continuous-variable quantum key distribution systems by using optical preamplifiers. *Journal of Physics B*, 42(11):114014, June 2009.
- [803] S. Fossier, E. Diamanti, T. Debuisschert, A. Villing, R. Tualle-Brouri, and P. Grangier. Field test of a continuous variable quantum key distribution prototype. *New Journal of Physics*, 11(4):045023, Apr. 2009.
- [804] X. Gréhant and I. Demeure. A survey of task mapping on production grids. ACM Computing Surveys, Nov. 2012.
- [805] M. Hayashi, D. Markham, M. Murao, M. Owari, and S. Virmani. Entanglement and group symmetries: stabilizer states, symmetric and antisymmetric states. *Physical Review A*, 77(1):012104, July 2008.
- [806] M. Hayashi, D. Markham, M. Murao, M. Owari, and S. Virmani. The geometric measure of entanglement for a symmetric pure state with positive amplitudes. J. Math. Phys, 50(122104), Jan. 2009.
- [807] R. He, M. Lacoste, and J. Leneutre. Aspf: A policy administration framework for self-protection of large-scale systems. IARA International Journal On Advances in Security, 3(3&4), Nov. 2010.
- [808] P. Jouguet, S. Kunz-Jacques, and A. Leverrier. Long-distance continuous-variable quantum key distribution with a gaussian modulation. *Physical Review A*, 84:062317, Dec. 2011.
- [809] T. Kanstrén, R. Savola, S. Haddad, and A. Hecker. An adaptive and dependable distributed monitoring framework. *International Journal on Advances in Security*, 4(1&2):80–94, July 2011.
- [810] E. Kashefi, D. Markham, M. Mhalla, and S. Perdrix. Information flow in secret sharing protocols. *EPTCS*, 9:87–97, 2009.
- [811] A. Keet, B. Fortescue, D. Markham, and B. Sanders. Quantum secret sharing with qudit graph states. *Phys. Rev. A*, 82(062315), 2010.
- [812] J.-M. Kélif, M. Coupechoux, and P. Godlewski. On the dimensioning of cellular ofdma networks. *Elsevier Physical Communication*, 2012.
- [813] S. Ktari, A. Hecker, and H. Labiod. Symmetric routing in dht overlays. *Telecommunication Systems*, (1018-4864), June 2010.
- [814] S. Ktari, A. Hecker, and H. Labiod. Symmetric routing in dht overlays. *Teleccomunication Systems*, 48(1-2):163–172, 2011.
- [815] H. Labiod, H. Lin, and R. Nonni. Analytical study of intra-domain handover in multihomed nemo networks. *Computer Networks*, 54(18):3280–3294, Jan. 2010.
- [816] A. Leverrier and N. Cerf. Quantum de Finetti theorem in phase space representation. *Physical Review A*, 80(1):010102, July 2009.
- [817] A. Leverrier and P. Grangier. Unconditional security proof of long-distance continuous-variable quantum key distribution with discrete modulation. *Physical Review Letters*, 102(180504), May 2009.
- [818] A. Leverrier and P. Grangier. A simple proof that gaussian attacks are optimal among collective attacks against continuous-variable quantum key distribution with a gaussian modulation. *Physical Review A*, 81(6):062314, June 2010.
- [819] A. Leverrier and P. Grangier. Continuous-variable quantum key distribution protocols with a discrete modulation. *New Journal of Physics*, July 2010.
- [820] A. Leverrier and P. Grangier. Long distance quantum key distribution with continuous variables. Physical Review A, July 2010.
- [821] A. Leverrier, R. Alleaume, J. Boutros, G. Zémor, and P. Grangier. Multidimensional reconciliation for continuous-variable quantum key distribution. *Physical Review A*, 77(4), Apr. 2008.
- [822] A. Leverrier, E. Karpov, P. Grangier, and N. Cerf. Security of continuous-variable quantum key distribution: towards a de finetti theorem for rotation symmetry in phase space. *New Journal of Physics*, 11(11):115009, Nov. 2009.
- [823] A. Leverrier, F. Grosshans, and P. Grangier. Finite-size analysis of continuous-variable quantum key distribution. *Physical Review A*, 81(6):062343, June 2010.

- [824] H. Lin and H. Labiod. Aggregation methods for integrated services. *International Journal of Communication systems*, 24(8):978–1001, 2012.
- [825] L. Magnin, F. Magniez, A. Leverrier, and N. Cerf. Strong no-go theorem for gaussian quantum bit commitment. *Physical Review A*, 81(1):010302, Jan. 2010.
- [826] D. Markham. Entanglement and symmetry in permutation symmetric states. Phys. Rev. A, 83 (042332), 2011.
- [827] D. Markham and B. Sanders. Graph states for quantum secret sharing. *Physical Review A*, 78(4): 042309, July 2008.
- [828] D. Markham, J. Anders, V. Vedral, M. Murao, and A. Miyake. Survival of entanglement in thermal states. *EuroPhysics Letters*, 81(4):40006–42000, July 2008.
- [829] D. Markham, J. Miszczak, Z. Puchala, and K. Zyczkowski. Quantum state discrimination: a geometric approach. *Physical Review A*, 77(4):42111, July 2008.
- [830] A. Martin, J.-L. Smirr, F. Kaiser, E. Diamanti, A. Issautier, O. Alibart, R. Frey, I. Zaquine, and S. Tanzilli. Analysis of elliptically polarized maximally entangled states for bell inequality tests. *Laser Physics*, 2012.
- [831] N. Maslekar, J. Mouzna, M. Boussedjra, and H. Labiod. Cats: an adaptive trafic signal system based on car-to-car communication. *Journal of Network and Computer Applications*, 2012.
- [832] J. Mathieu, C. Jouvray, F. Kordon, A. Kung, J. Lalande, F. Loiret, J. Navas, L. Pautet, and J. Pulou. Flex-eware: a flexible mde-based solution for designing and implementing embedded distributed systems. Software Practice and Experience, Dec. 2011.
- [833] Y. Nakata, D. Markham, and M. Murao. Thermal robustness of multipartite entanglement of the 1-D spin 1/2 XY model. *Physical Review A*, 79:042313, Apr. 2009.
- [834] A. Pappa, A. Chailloux, E. Diamanti, and I. Kerenidis. Practical quantum coin flipping. *Physical Review A*, 84:052305, Nov. 2011.
- [835] A. Pappa, A. Chailloux, S. Wehner, E. Diamanti, and I. Kerenidis. Multipartite entanglement verification resistant against dishonest parties. *arXiv:quant-ph*, 1112.5064, Dec. 2011.
- [836] M. Peev, C. Pacher, R. Alléaume, C. Barreiro, W. Boxleitner, J. Bouda, R. Tualle-Brouri, E. Diamanti, M. Dianati, T. Debuisschert, J. Dynes, S. Fasel, S. Fossier, M. Fürst, J.-D. Gautier, O. Gay, N. Gisin, P. Grangier, A. Happe, Y. Hasani, M. Hentschel, H. Hubel, G. Humer, T. Länger, M. Legré, R. Lieger, J. Lodewyck, T. Lorsünser, N. Lutkenhaus, A. Marhold, T. Matyus, O. Maurhart, L. Monat, S. Nauerth, J.-B. Page, E. Querasser, G. Ribordy, A. Poppe, L. Salvail, S. Robyr, M. Suda, A. Sharpe, A. Shields, D. Stucki, C. Tamas, T. Themel, R. Thew, Y. Thoma, A. Treiber, P. Trinkler, F. Vannel, N. Walenta, H. Weier, H. Weinfurter, I. Wimberger, Z. Yuan, H. Zbinden, and A. Zeilinger. The SECOQC Quantum Key Distribution Network in Vienna. New Journal of Physics, 11(075001), July 2009.
- [837] M. Riguidel. Une épistémologie des modèles informatiques de l'espace ambiant : Les verrous de l'intelligence ambiante. Revue Génie Logiciel, (91):2–20, Dec. 2009.
- [838] M. Riguidel. The digital technology of the future: new threats and new vulnerabilities. *Revue Cahiers de la sécurité*, (6):29–39, Jan. 2009.
- [839] M. Riguidel. Réflexions sur les questions de gouvernance numérique mondiale. Cahier de la Sécurité. (14):68–78, Oct. 2010.
- [840] L. Rosero, J. Aranda, M. Riguidel, and D. Gidoin. A fine-grained document-based access control model. *International Journal of Machine Learning and Computing*, pages 317–324, 2011.
- [841] L. Salvail, M. Peev, E. Diamanti, R. Alléaume, N. Lutkenhaus, and T. Länger. Security of trusted repeater quantum key distribution networks. *Journal of Computer S ecurity*, 18(1):61–87, Feb. 2010.
- [842] S. Secci, M. Huaiyuan, B. E. Helvik, and J.-L. Rougier. Resilient inter-carrier traffic engineering for internet peering interconnections. *IEEE Transactions on Network and Service Management*, 8(4), Dec. 2011.
- [843] J. L. Smirr, M. Deconinck, R. Frey, E. Diamanti, I. Agha, and I. Zaquine. Optimal photon-pair single mode coupling in narrow-band spontaneous parametric down-conversion with arbitrary pump profile. *Physical Review A*, Dec. 2011.
- [844] J. L. Smirr, R. Frey, E. Diamanti, R. Alléaume, and I. Zaquine. Intrinsic limitations to the quality of pulsed spontaneous parametric down conversion sources for quantum information applications. *Journal of the Optical Society of America B*, 28(4):832–841, Apr. 2011.
- [845] J. L. Smirr, S. Guilbaud, J. Ghalbouni, R. Frey, E. Diamanti, R. Alléaume, and I. Zaquine. Simple performance evaluation of pulsed spontaneous parametric down-conversion sources for quantum communications. *Optics Express*, 19(2):616–627, Jan. 2011.
- [846] F. M. Suchanek, S. Abiteboul, and P. Senellart. Paris: Probabilistic alignment of relations, instances, and schema. *Proceedings of the VLDB Endowment*, Dec. 2011.

[847] V. Toubiana, H. Labiod, L. Raynaud, and Y. Gourhant. A global security architecture for operated hybrid wlan mesh networks. Computer Networks Journal, 54(2):218–230, Feb. 2010.

8.3.2 ACTI: Articles in Proceedings of International Conferences

- [848] N. Ababneh and H. Labiod. Safety message dissemination in vanets: Flooding or trajectory-based ? In *IFIP Medhocnet*, Juan-Les-Pins, France, 2010.
- [849] N. Ababneh and H. Labiod. A performance analysis of vanets routing protocols using different mobility models. In WCNIS, 2010.
- [850] N. Ababneh, A. Viglas, H. Labiod, and N. Boukhatem. Ectc: Energy efficient topology control algorithm for wireless sensor networks. In In Proceedings of the IEEE International Symposium on a World of Wireless Mobile and Multimedia Networks (WoWMoM), Kos Island, Greece, June 2009.
- [851] N. Ababneh, H. Labiod, and N. Boukhatem. Evaluation of routing protocols for vanets in urban environments. In *IEEE SARNOFF Symposium 2010*, Princeton (USA), Apr. 2010.
- [852] S. Abiteboul, Y. Amsterdamer, D. Deutch, T. Milo, and P. Senellart. Finding optimal probabilistic generators for xml collections. In *ICDT* (*International Conference on Database Theory*), Berlin, Germany, Mar. 2012.
- [853] M. Aljnidi and J. Leneutre. Asrbac: A security administration model for mobile autonomic networks (mautonets). In 4th International Workshop, DPM 2009 and Second International Workshop, SETOP 2009, Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Springer Verlag, volume 5939, St. Malo, France, Sept. 2009.
- [854] M. Aulbach, M. Murao, and D. Markham. Geometric entanglement of symmetric states and the majorana representation. In TQC 2010, volume LNCS, pages 141–158, Tokyo, JAPON, 2010.
- [855] I. Ayadi, A. Serhrouchni, and G. Pujolle. Web applications: Architecture and security. In ICICS'09 7th international conference on Information, communications and signal processing, Macau Fisherman's Wharf, Macau, Dec. 2009. ACM.
- [856] I. Ayadi, A. Serhrouchni, and G. Pujolle. Web applications: Architecture and security. In Workshop on Wireless & Internet Services (WISe) in Proceedings of LCN 2010, Denver, USA, Oct. 2010.
- [857] I. Ayadi, A. Serhrouchni, G. Pujolle, and N. Simoni. Http session management: Architecture and cookies security. In *SAR-SSI*, La Rochelle France, May 2011.
- [858] M. Badra, A. Serhrouchni, and T. Guillet. Random values, nonce and challenges: Semantic meaning versus opaque and strings of data. In *IEEE 70th Vehicular Technology Conference: VTC2009-Fall*, Anchorage, Alaska, USA, Sept. 2009.
- [859] Y. Begriche and A. Serhrouchni. Bayesian statistical analysis for spam. In *Workshop on Wireless & Internet Services (WISe) in Proceedings of LCN 2010*, Denver, USA, Oct. 2010.
- [860] Y. Benchaïb and A. Hecker. VIRCONEL: A New Emulation Environment for Experiments with Networked IT Systems. In *HPCS*, Nicosia, Cyprus, June 2008.
- [861] Y. Benchaïb and A. Hecker. Virconel: a network virtualizer. In *19th MASCOTS*, Singapore, July 2011. IEEE.
- [862] N. Brahmi, L. Boukhatem, N. Boukhatem, M. Boussedjra, H. N. Dau, H. Labiod, and J. Mouzna. End-to-end routing through a hybrid ad hoc architecture for v2v and v2i communications. In *IFIP Medhocnet*, Juan-Les -Pins, France, June 2010.
- [863] C. Chaudet, I. Demeure, and S. Ktari. A model to evaluate performance of a multi-brokers overlay for publish/subscribe in wireless sensor networks. In 9th International Conference on Wireless Ondemand Network Systems and Services, Courmayeur, Italy, Jan. 2012.
- [864] L. Chen and J. Leneutre. Efficient medium access control design: A game theoretical approach. In 34th IEEE Conference on Local Computer Networks (LCN 2009), Zurich, Switzerland, Oct. 2009.
- [865] J. Clarke, M. Riguidel, N. Suri, and A. Pasic. Building a long term strategy for international collaboration in trustworthy ict security, privacy and trust in global networks and services. In 1st SysSec Workshop, Amsterdam The Netherlands, July 2011.
- [866] H. N. Dau and H. Labiod. Opportunistic trajectory-based routing for v2v communications. In *IEEE PIMRC*, Toronto, Canada, Sept. 2011.
- [867] T. Debuisschert, S. Fossier, R. Tualle-Brouri, P. Grangier, E. Diamanti, A. Leverrier, R. Alléaume, P. Pache, P. Painchault, P. Jouguet, and S. Kunz-Jacques. Renforcer la sécurité du chiffrement en couplant cryptographie quantique et cryptographie classique. In COLOQ'12, Marseille, France, July 2011.
- [868] L. Decreusefond and J. Najim, editors. *Proceedings of the 9th Worskhop on stochastic analysis and related fields*, Proceedings of Mathematics (PROM), Paris, France, Nov. 2012. Springer, Berlin.

- [869] N. Derouiche, B. Cautis, and T. Abdessalem. Automatic extraction of structured web data with domain knowledge. In 28th IEEE International Conference on Data Engineering (ICDE), Washington, Apr. 2012.
- [870] F. Didi, H. Labiod, G. Pujolle, and M. Feham. Physical rate and contention window based admission control (prcw) for 802.11 wlans. In *IEEE ISCC*, 2010.
- [871] J. Dumoulin, M. Sokhn, E. Mugellini, O. A. Khaled, and A. Serhrouchni. Multiview browsing and visualization of distributed information. In *NOTERE*, PARIS France, May 2011. IEEE.
- [872] D. Elkouss, A. Leverrier, R. Alleaume, and J. Boutros. Efficient reconciliation protocol for discrete-variable quantum key distribution. In ISIT 2009., Séoul, Corée du Sud, June 2009.
- [873] A. Famulari and A. Hecker. Network-independent support for using multiple ip interfaces in applications. In *SAR-SSI 2011*, La Rochelle, France, May 2011.
- [874] S. Fossier, E. Diamanti, T. Debuisschert, R. Tualle-Brouri, and P. Grangier. Démonstration d'un système de cryptographie quantique à variables continues sur un réseau fibré existant. In COLOQ'11, Nice, France, Sept. 2009.
- [875] D. Fotue, F. Melakessou, T. Engel, and H. Labiod. Design of new aggregation techniques for wireless sensor networks. In 18th IEEE/ACM MASCOTS, pages 400–402, Miami, Florida, USA, Aug. 2010.
- [876] D. Fotue, F. Melakessou, H. Labiod, and T. Engel. Effect of sink location on aggregation based on degree of connectivity for wireless sensor networks. In *IMIS*, pages 271–276, 2011.
- [877] D. Fotue, F. Melakessou, H. Labiod, and T. Engel. Mini-sink mobility with diversity-based routing in wireless sensor networks. In 8th ACM PE-WASUN, Miami, Florida, USA, Oct. 2011.
- [878] D. Fotue, F. Melakessou, H. Labiod, and T. Engel. A distributed hybrid channel selection and routing technique for wireless sensor networks. In 74th IEEE VTC-Fall, pages 1–6, San Francisco, USA, Sept. 2011.
- [879] J. Ghalbouni, I. Agha, E. Diamanti, R. Frey, and I. Zaquine. Source de photons intriqués large bande pour distribution multiutilisateurs. In *COLOQ'12*, page 105, Marseille, July 2011.
- [880] H. Guerid, A. Serhrouchni, M. Achemlal, and K. Mittig. A novel traceback approach for direct and reflected icmp attacks. In *SAR-SSI*, La Rochelle France, May 2011. IEEE.
- [881] S. Guilbaud, J. L. Smirr, I. Agha, E. Diamanti, R. Frey, and I. Zaquine. Source de photons intriqués de faible largeur spectrale pour les communications quantiques du futur. In COLOQ'12, page 109, Marseille, July 2011.
- [882] T. Guillet and A. Serhrouchni. Authentification http digest sip renforcée. In MAnifestation des JEunes Chercheurs en Sciences et Technologies de l'Information et de la Communication (Majecstic), Avignon, France., Nov. 2009.
- [883] T. Guillet, R. Moalla, and A. Serhrouchni. Sip authentication based on hotp. In *ICICS'09 7th international conference on Information, communications and signal processing*, Macau Fisherman's Wharf, Macau, Dec. 2009.
- [884] S. Haddad, S. Dubus, A. Hecker, T. Kanstrén, B. Marquet, and R. Savola. Operational security assurance evaluation in open infrastructures. In *CRISIS 2011*, Timisoara, Romania, Sept. 2011.
- [885] B. Hamdane, A. Serhrouchni, A. Montfaucon, and S. Guemara. Using the hmac-based one-time password algorithm for tls authentication. In *SAR-SSI*, La Rochelle France, May 2011. IEEE.
- [886] R. He, M. Lacoste, and J. Leneutre. Virtual security kernel: A component-based os architecture for self-protection (short paper). In 11th International Symposium on Stabilization, Safety, and Security of Distributed Systems (SSS'09),, volume 5873, Lyon, France, Nov. 2009. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Springer Verlag.
- [887] R. He, M. Lacoste, and J. Leneutre. Virtual security kernel: A component-based os architecture for self-protection. In *Third IEEE International Symposium on Trust, Security and Privacy for Emerging Applications (TSP-10)*, Best Paper Award,, Bradford, UK, July 2010.
- [888] R. He, M. Lacoste, and J. Leneutre. A policy management framework for self-protection of pervasive systems. In Sixth International Conference on Autonomic and Autonomous Systems (ICAS'10), Cancun, Mexico, Mar. 2010.
- [889] R. He, M. Lacoste, and J. Leneutre. A dsl for specifying autonomic security management strategies. In Third IEEE International Workshop on Autonomous and Spontaneous Security 2010 (SETOP 2010, joint Workshop with ESORICS), Lecture Notes in Computer Science, volume 6514, pages 216–230, Athens, Feb. 2011.
- [890] A. Hecker. On System Security Metrics and the Definition Approaches. In SECUREWARE 2008 -DEPEND 2008, pages 412 – 419, Cap Esterel, France, Aug. 2008.
- [891] A. Hecker and M. Riguidel. Survivability as a Complementary Operational Security Model for IT Services (position paper). In *PERADA Workshop, IEEE SASO 2008*, Venice, Italy, Oct. 2008.

- [892] A. Hecker and M. Riguidel. On the operational security assurance evaluation of networked it systems. In NEW2AN 2009, volume LNCS, pages 266–278, St Petersburg, Russia, Sept. 2009. Springer.
- [893] S. Iellamo, L. Chen, and M. Coupechoux. Imitation-based spectrum access policy for csma/ca-based cognitive radio networks. In *IEEE Wireless Communications and Networking Conference (WCNC)*, Paris, France, Apr. 2012.
- [894] H. Kamal, M. Coupechoux, and P. Godlewski. Tabu search for dynamic spectrum allocation (dsa) in cellular networks. *European Transactions on Telecommunications*, Jan. 2012.
- [895] T. Kanstrén, R. Savola, A. Evesti, H. Pentikäinen, A. Hecker, M. Ouedraogo, K. Hätönen, P. Halonen, C. Blad, O. López, and S. Ros. Towards an abstraction layer for security assurance measurements (invited paper). In *MeSSa*, Copenhagen, Denmark, Aug. 2010.
- [896] S. Ktari and A. Hecker. A peer-to-peer social network overlay for efficient information retrieval and diffusion. In *Springer Communications in Computer and Information Science, in proc. 6th FutureTech*, volume 185, pages 24–33, Loutraki, Greece, June 2011. Springer.
- [897] S. Ktari, A. Hecker, and H. Labiod. Power-law chord architecture in p2p overlays. In ACM CoNext 2008, Madrid, Espagne, Dec. 2008.
- [898] S. Ktari, F. Springinsfeld, and A. Hecker. Effet de la mobilité manet sur système p2p. In CFIP 2008, Les Arcs, France, Mar. 2008.
- [899] S. Ktari, M. Zoubert, A. Hecker, and H. Labiod. Symmetric Replication for Efficient Flooding in DHTs. In ACM MobiHoc 2008, pages 441–442, Hong Kong, China, May 2008.
- [900] S. Ktari, A. Hecker, and H. Labiod. A construction scheme for scale-free dht-based networks. In *GLOBECOM*, Hawaii, USA, Dec. 2009. IEEE.
- [901] S. Ktari, A. Hecker, and H. Labiod. Empowering chord dht overlays. In *HPSR 2009*, Paris, France, June 2009. IEEE.
- [902] S. Ktari, A. Hecker, and H. Labiod. Exploiting routing unfairness in dht overlays. In *ISCC 2009*, Sousse, Tunisia, July 2009. IEEE.
- [903] S. Ktari, A. Hecker, and H. Labiod. Exploiting power-law node degree distribution in chord overlays. In NGI 2009, Aveiro, Portugal, July 2009.
- [904] H. Labiod, N. Ababneh, and M. García de la Fuente. An efficient scalable trajectory based forwarding scheme for vanets. In 24th IEEE International Conference on Advanced Information Networking and Applications (AINA'10), Perth, Australia, Apr. 2010.
- [905] M. Lafaye, L. Pautet, E. Borde, M. Gatti, and D. Faura. Model driven resource usage simulation for critical embedded systems. In *IEEE/ACM Design, Automation, and Test in Europe*, Dresde, Mar. 2012.
- [906] A. Leverrier, R. Alleaume, J. Boutros, G. Zémor, and P. Grangier. Multidimensional reconciliation for continuous-variable quantum key distribution. In *ISIT 2008. IEEE International Symposium on Information Theory, 2008.*, pages 1020 1024, Toronto, Canada, July 2008.
- [907] H. Lin and H. Labiod. Advance reservation optimization in ip-based mobile networks. In *IFIP/IEEE NOMS*, Osaka, Japan, Apr. 2010.
- [908] D. Markham, J. Anders, M. Hajdusek, and V. Vedral. Measurement based quantum computation on fractal lattices. In *DCM2010*, pages 109–115, Edinburgh, UK, 2010.
- [909] N. Maslekar, M. Boussedjra, J. Mouzna, and H. Labiod. A stable clustering algorithm for efficiency applications in vanets. In *IWCMC*, pages 1188–1193, 2011.
- [910] N. Maslekar, M. Boussedjra, J. Mouzna, and H. Labiod. Vanet based adaptive traffic signal control. In 73 rd IEEE VTC-Spring, Budapset, 2011.
- [911] R. Moalla, A. Serhrouchni, S. Guemara, and T. Guillet. Intégration des mots de passe à usage unique dans sip. In CARI-Colloque Africain sur la Recherche en Informatique, Yamoussoukro, Côte d'Ivoire, Oct. 2010.
- [912] M. Ouedraogo, H. Mouratidis, A. Hecker, C. Bonhomme, D. Khadraoui, and D. Preston. A new approach to evaluating security assurance. In 7th International Conference on Information Assurance and Security, Melaka, Malaysia, Dec. 2011. IEEE.
- [913] p. urien. An openid provider based on ssl smart cards. In CCNC 2010, Las Vegas USA, Jan. 2010.
- [914] p. urien and et al. A lite security solution for sip networks. In GLOBECOM 2010, Miami USA, Dec. 2010.
- [915] p. urien and et al. An innovative solution for cloud computing authentication: Grids of eap-tls smart cards. In *ICDT 2010*, Athènes Grèce, June 2010.
- [916] p. urien and et al. Hip-tag, a new paradigm for the internet of things. In *CCNC 2011*, Las Vegas USA, Jan. 2011.
- [917] p. urien and et al. A breakthrough for prepaid payment: end to end token exchange and management

- using secure ssl channels created by eap-tls smart cards. In CTS 2011, Philadelphia USA, Jan. 2011.
- [918] M. Riguidel. An epistemology of information technology models for pervasive computing. In *Internet of Things 2010*, Tokyo Japan, Jan. 2010.
- [919] M. Riguidel. System security and crisis management. In *Complex Systems Design & Management (CSDM) 2011*, Paris France, Dec. 2011.
- [920] L. Rosero, J. Aranda, and M. Riguidel. A fine-grained document-based usage control model. In International Conference on Machine Learning and Computing, pages 318–323, Singapore, Oct. 2011.
- [921] L. Rosero, J. Aranda, and M. Riguidel. A software tool for content-based access control. In *International conference on Information Systems*, Avila Spain, Aug. 2011.
- [922] L. Rosero, J. Aranda, and M. Riguidel. A control model for delegation in cloud computing. In Conference on Computers, Communications, Control and Automation, Hong Kong, Sept. 2011. Proceedings of the IEEE CCCA 2011.
- [923] L. Rosero, D. Gidoin, and M. Riguidel. Reputation-based trust management in cloud computing federations. In *International Conference on Machine Learning and Computing*, pages 30–35, Singapore, Sept. 2011. Proceedings of the IEEE ICMLC.
- [924] R. SAAD, A. Serhrouchni, Y. Begriche, and K. Chen. Evaluating forward error correction in bittorrent protocol. In Workshop on Wireless & Internet Services (WISe) in Proceedings of LCN 2010, Denver, USA, Oct. 2010.
- [925] R. SAAD, A. Serhrouchni, and K. Chen. htracker: Towards a service provider oriented peer-to-peer architecture. In NOTERE, Tozeur - Tunisia, May 2010. IEEE.
- [926] R. SAAD, A. Serhrouchni, and K. Chen. Spop: A service provider oriented peer-to-peer architecture. In *IEEE, International Conference on Software, Telecommunications and Computer Networks Softcom*, Split-Bol, Croatie, Sept. 2010.
- [927] J. L. Smirr, I. Zaquine, G. Mouret, P. Busch, R. Alléaume, E. Diamanti, and R. Frey. Source de photons intriqués de faible largeur de raie à 1550 nm pour les communications quantiques. In COLOQ11, Nice France, Sept. 2009.
- [928] Z. Wang and D. Markham. Nonlocality of symmetric states. In 1er Workshop du GDR IQFA, Paris, France, Nov. 2011.

8.3.3 OS: Books and Book Chapters

- [929] S. Abiteboul, I. Manolescu, P. Rigaux, M.-C. Rousset, and P. Senellart. *Web Data Management*. Cambridge University Press, New York, USA, 2012.
- [930] M. Badra and A. Hecker. Security in WLAN, pages 695-709. IGI Global, Hershey, PA, USA, 2008.
- [931] M. Benedikt and P. Senellart. Databases. Springer, 2012.
- [932] C. Chaudet and A. Hecker. *QoS dans Wi-Fi-IEEE 802.11 e/k/h*, chapter 7. HERMES Science Publishing Ltd, London, United Kingdom, 2008.
- [933] A. Hecker and M. Badra. Security in 4G, pages 272-296. IGI Global, Hershey, PA, USA, 2008.
- [934] N. Maslekar, M. Boussedjra, J. Mouzna, and H. Labiod. *Data Dissemination in Vehicular Networks: Challenges and Issues*. IGI global Publications, 2011.
- [935] p. urien and et al. *RFID et l'internet des choses Traite Reseaux et Telecoms, IC2*. Lavoissier, Paris France, isbn 978-2746222991 edition, 2012.
- [936] M. Riguidel. Digital security in the future. In ETSI, editor, ICT Shaping the World, a scientific view, chapter 12, pages 159–189. J Wiley, Chichester, United Kingdom, 2009.
- [937] P. Urien and et al. RFID and the Internet Of Things. ISTE Ltd WILEY, London UK Hoboken USA, isbn 9781848212985 edition, 2011.

8.3.4 PA: Patents

- [938] M. Adib and A. Serhrouchni. Procede et systeme de distribution de cles cryptographiques dans un reseau hierarchise. (EP2210363 (A2)), July 2010.
- [939] I. Ayadi, A. Serhrouchni, and G. Pujolle. Integrity cookie management. Technical Report IETF-Draft, International, Oct. 2010.
- [940] P. Laurier and M. Riguidel. Procédé de sécurisation de données numériques et d'identités notamment au sein de processus utilisant des technologies de l'information et de la communication. (PCT/EP2011/059068):116, July 2011.

- [941] M. Riguidel, P. Laurier, and L. Ladouari. method of tracing and of resurgence of pseudonymized streams on communication networks, and method of sending informative streams able to secure the data traffic and its adressees. (WO2009/147163A1):52, Sept. 2009.
- [942] A. Serhrouchni. Procede permettant aux usagers de verifier les factures telephoniques les concernant emises par un operateur. (FR2945175 (A1)), Nov. 2010.
- [943] A. Serhrouchni. Procede de securisation de documents par application d'un numero d'identification propre et appareil pour l'authentification dudit numero. (FR2945650 (A1)), Nov. 2010.
- [944] A. Serhrouchni, T. Guillet, and M. Badra. Procédé d'authentification. (FR2928798), Sept. 2009.

8.3.5 TH: PhD Theses

- [945] A. Bocquet. *Modèles de sécurité réalistes pour la distribution quantique de clés.* PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Dec. 2011.
- [946] L. P. Cambacédès. Des relations entre sûreté et sécurité. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, June 2010.
- [947] S. Delamare. Routage pair-à-pair pour la fiabilité des communications. PhD thesis, Télécom Paris-Tech, July 2010.
- [948] A. A. Diallo. Sécurisation des infrastructures critiques : modélisation des interdépendances, simulation et détection des propagations des défaillances. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Sept. 2010.
- [949] M. Fayçal. Optimisation du trafic P2P sur les réseaux d'opérateurs. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, May 2010.
- [950] T. Guillet. Sécurité de la téléphonie sur IP. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Oct. 2010.
- [951] S. Ktari. Interconnexion et routage dans les systèmes pair à pair. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Dec. 2009.
- [952] A. Leverrier. Etude théorique de la distribution quantique de clés à variables continues. PhD thesis, Telecom ParisTech, Nov. 2009.
- [953] R. SAAD. A Service Provider oriented Peer to Peer architecture. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Sept. 2010.
- [954] M. Sokhn. Ontology driven framework for multimedia information retrieval in P2P networ. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Aug. 2011.

8.3.6 OT: Miscellaneous

- [955] ETSI. Operational security assurance profile statement of needs for security assurance measurement in operational telecom infrastructures. Technical Report TR 187 023, TISPAN WG7, Jan. 2012.
- [956] A. Marin and D. Markham. Quantum and classical secret sharing using graph states, for all access structures. 2012.
- [957] M. Riguidel. The inco-trust final recommendations report. Technical Report 216867, Télécom Paris-Tech, Dec. 2010.
- [958] M. Riguidel. évolution de la cybersécurité. In *Cyber-pouvoir et Cyber-sécurité*, Lausanne Suisse, Oct. 2011.
- [959] M. Riguidel and et al. Trust in the information society. Technical report, European Commission, Brussels. Oct. 2009.
- [960] P. Urien and et al. draft-irtf-hiprg-rfid-00. Technical report, June 2010.
- [961] Z. Wang and D. Markham. Non-locality of symmetric states. 2011.

Chapter 9

Networks, Mobility & Services (NMS)

[NMS]

Team leader Maurice Gagnaire (P).

Faculty Thomas Bonald (MC), Nadia Boukhatem (P), Claude Chaudet (MC), Marceau Coupe-choux (MC), Philippe Godlewski (P), Daniel Kofman (P), Philippe Martins (P), Dario Rossi (MC), Jean-Louis Rougier (MC), Noëmie Simoni (P).

Faculty [IT, CNRS]	[11, 0]
PhD students	30.4
Post-docs, engineers and sabbaticals	16
Defended PhD theses	19
Defended HDR	3
Journal papers	33
Papers in conference proceedings	84
Chapters and books	6
Patents and software	2
Grants [public, private, european] (k€)	[1229, 831, 1103]

9.1 Scientific Environment, Positioning and Objectives

Services have evolved very quickly during the last years. In particular, we have assisted to a fast development of virtualization and the outsourcing of services 'in the cloud'. In this new environment, the global service that are offered to customer need to be composed from unitary services involving a whole chain of stakeholders (Content provider, Software providers, Data Center provider, Network providers etc.) — a composition that has been extensively studied in our team. Market-oriented parameters inherent to the multi-tenant environment of Cloud have a close interaction with the resource allocation procedure. For confidentiality purposes, network operators do not provide the Cloud Service Provider (CSP) a real view of their infrastructure. We

have evaluated these two aspects of Cloud computing Finally, the legacy fixed client/server model is no longer valid in this new environment and more flexible service and network architectures (like overlay networks) need to be designed. The activities of the group related to cloud, service architectures and service applications are summarized in section 9.2.1 below.

At the same time, the fast development of mobile applications (in particular with the advent of sophisticated smart-phones) has led to the saturation of wireless access networks. The demand for capacity is particularly challenging and new access methods and radio network architectures had to be designed. Our group has a strong expertise in the modeling and dimensioning of wireless network and has thus contributed to these network evolutions from this point of view. As frequency bands are limited by nature, the concept of cognitive radio has also arisen as a means to better use these scarce radio resources. We have made several contributions in this area. Finally, the services need to be ubiquitous in heterogenous network environments (3G, 3.5G, 4G, Wimax, Wifi, ...). In particular, the handover and simultaneous access management in this heterogeneous network environment has been deeply investigated. All these contributions related to wireless networks and mobility are outlined in section 9.2.2.

With its extraordinary success and growth, the Internet is confronted with difficult scalability and limitation issues. In particular, the Internet needs to be rethought with the advent of the so-called 'Internet of things', where an extremely large number of objects, in particular sensors, are expected to be connected to the Internet. Furthermore, the TCP/IP stack is not adapted to such 'things' with very limited resources and need to be adapted. Our group has started to investigate these issues and to propose solutions. Furthermore, carriers seem to have difficulties in offering advanced added-value services on top of the global Internet. One of the reasons is that the current Internet business model offers little incentives for ISPs to collaborate in order to offer end-to-end services. On a technical point of view, one of the main issues is related to Internet routing architecture (based on BGP) where end points are offered a single, best effort route. It is acknowledged that the addition of multi-path capabilities would bring more robustness and traffic engineering features. We have several contributions in this area (towards a multipath internet) at both the routing and transport layers. Once offered, the route diversity can be exploited using multi-path transport protocols and Dynamic load balancing (DLB) mechanisms, that were also studied extensively. Finally, there is a growing need in IP networks for 'on the fly' flow identification in order to dynamically allocate resources in the network (in particular for value-added services). All these contributions are presented in section 9.2.3.

Ever increasing Internet traffic demand challenges the use of electronic switching in today's networks. The routing bottleneck can be alleviated by means of transparent optical switching, which enables payload to be carried exclusively in the optical domain. The activities of the team on optical networks are focused on failure monitoring, quality of transmission-aware routing, wavelength assignment and Optical Burst Switching — they are briefly presented in section 9.2.4.

Finally, The NMS group has a transversal activity concentrated on energy efficiency (also nicknamed as 'green networking' activity), on both IP, cellular/wireless and optical networks. Our main results are summarized in section 9.2.5.

The team is greatly involved in national and international collaborative research projects (financed by the FP7, the ANR and national competitiveness clusters). Our group was the initiator of the PF7's European Network of Excellence Euro-NF and has chaired this NoE's Steering Committee (in particular responsible for coordination of all research activities) since it was created.

Moreover, by way of an example, during this period the team participated in several European projects (FP7 BONES, DICONET, EuroNF, ETICS, NapaWine, TIGER2, TRANS) and in the ANR (3MING, DIAFORUS, ECOFRAME, SUN, TEROPP, UBIS) among others. The team is actively involved in the System@tic (trust platform) and CapDigital (wireless high-speed Internet) competitiveness clusters. It is also involved in numerous bilateral research contracts with industrials, and particularly with Orange, SFR, Alcatel-Lucent and Thales.

The NMS group also maintains close links (joint works, double Ph.D. program, co-advisorship, sabbaticals and visits) with various international laboratories, including UCLA (USA), University of Waterloo (Canada), UPC (Barcelona, Spain), Politechnico of Turino and Politechnico of Milano (Italy), Université Catholique de Louvain and University of Ghent (Belgium), NCRL (National

Mobile Communications Research Laboratory, Nanjing, China), NTU (Singapore).

The team is also one of the cofounder of the LINCS laboratory (Laboratory of Information, Network and Communication Sciences), a common lab with ALBLF (Alcatel-Lucent Bell Labs France), INRIA and UPMC (LIP6).

The members of our group are deeply involved in the ANR's VERSO program, as technical experts or chairman of the expert committee. Moreover, the team regularly responds to requests for expertise from various French and European institutions.

9.2 Main Results

9.2.1 Cloud and Services Architecture, Applications Services

Faculty Maurice Gagnaire, Dario Rossi, Noëmie Simoni.

Projects FP7 NAPAWINE; ANR UBIS; Systematic CompatibleOne, CARIOCAS, TIOSAFE; CapDigital Sebastian 2.

Service Architectures. Integration of new usages in the field of mobility and ubiquity has led to the redefinition of the means of how content should be delivered. In this concept, our work have concentrated on the design and engineering of service-oriented architectures that allows to offer a seamless continuity of services.

Our main outcome is the definition of an 'autonomous service', insuring a 'user centric' approach and that represents an excellent candidate for the 'Cloud' architectures. More precisely, our system is designed as a self-managed composition of services (application, network, hardware and presentation services) in order to meet the expectations of users that evolve in a mobile environment (encompassing the mobility of users, terminal, networks and services). Our approach is also based on QoS models for the management of end-to-end services, insuring a continuity of services with maximal transparency. The personalization of the user workflow (which is now in the heart of the mechanism) leads to a cross-organizational context where session mobility must be handled.

In the context of the ANR UBIS project, we have proposed a new cross-organizational structure of personalized services, based on dynamic service composition under QoS constraints in a generalized mobility context [986, 999, 1100, 1053, 1102, 1104, 1077, 1078, 1079, 1063, 1080, 1012, 1061, 1062, 1060]. Self-management is introduced through the management of the interest communities and through QoS management at the level of each service component. The global organization relies on an ubiquitous and mutualized service composition. The main originality of our approach is to move away from the legacy client-server model, by proposing to implement a user centric service logic (workflow) in a single mobile session based on mutualization of service components. We have proposed in particular the SIP+ protocol that allows for integration of application services. Our results led us to propose our expertise for the FNS CloudForce project that has been accepted (2012-2015).

Cloud Computing. Two aspects of Cloud Computing are strongly related: market-oriented constraints and computing/storage/networking resources allocation [962]. In this matter, we have considered a discrete time approach for dynamic resource allocation under flexible scheduled traffic in the context of layer-2 virtual privates networks (VPN). Our objective was to exploit the end-users time requirements in order to provide a fair management of the various resources while in considering the economical constraints of the CSP. For that purpose, we have introduced a weighted cost function enabling a service differentiation relying on time constraints disparities between customers' requests. This cost function has been itself introduced in an ILP formulation considering the various constraints and objectives of the problem [1008], [1009], [1010]. In the

context of the Sebastian2- research project, we have considered the same type of problem applied to an original application: the collaborative production of digital high definition movies via a private Cloud. For that purpose, we have introduced two additional innovative services: multicast stream data transfers and distributed storage [1011]. In the context of the Compatible-1 research project, we proposed extensions to bin packing strategies enabling to take into account the dynamicity of computing, storage and networking resources consumption. In accordance with one of our industrial partners in this project, we have assumed that each job could be characterized statistically by a specific resource consumption profile. We have exploited such traffic profiles to define a quadratic distance enabling to optimize the fit of each job (each Virtual Machine) onto a physical machine [1040], [1103]. We have also worked in the context of the BONE Network of Excellence with the team of Prof. Dimitra Simoneidou (Essex University) on the impact of the level of abstraction of the network resources onto the efficiency of the resource allocation problem.

Peer-to-peer (P2P) Applications. Recently, BitTorrent has changed its file transfer algorithm, such that most of BitTorrent traffic is now transported by LEDBAT (on top of UDP) and no longer TCP. Our recent works concentrated on this congestion control dedicated for low priority traffic defined within the LDBAT IETF working group. In particular we have identified a weakness ('latecomer unfairness', where the latest flow can monopolize network ressources) in the original algorithm [1092], and proposed some solutions to overcome this problem [1030]. These solutions have contributed to the evolutions of the LEDBAT protocol (and are cited in the IETF document). We have also compared LEDBAT with similar proposals (e.g., TCP-LP, NICE) [1029] and studied the performance of the implementation of this protocol made by BitTorrent [1093]. Finally, we studied the impact of LEDBAT on the bitTorrent system, in particular regarding the download completion time (the main performance metric in this system). These on-going works [1105] have allowed to discover some possible solutions to further reduce the downloading times (that shall be explored in the future).

With the increase of P2P traffic in the 2000s, it has become very important to better understand the nature of P2P traffic and its impact on networks. We have contributed to this issue with the design and development of the Sherlock software [1086, 994]. The recent explosion of video traffic has led us to particularly focus on P2P-TV applications. We have studied the topological awareness¹ of the most widely used P2P-TV applications [992] and their impact on the Internet [1001].

9.2.2 Wireless Networks and Mobility

Faculty Thomas Bonald, Nadia Boukhatem, Marceau Coupechoux, Philippe Godlewski, Philippe Martins.

Projects ANR 3MING, TEROPP; SYSTEMATIC URC, NimbleNet; External research contracts with Orange Labs and Cassidian.

Cellular Network Dimensioning. We are working with Orange Labs with the aim of deriving easy-to-use outage probability formulas in multi-cellular networks. These formulas are taking into account path-loss, shadowing and fast fading [965], assume Alamouti MIMO transmission [1015, 1014], Zero-Forcing Beamforming [1016], or best server policy [1067]. They have been efficiently used to evaluate the capacity or coverage loss when base-station transmit power is reduced in so called green cellular networks [1059]. There are all based on a fluid model developed at Orange Labs [983]. We also had a special attention to OFDMA networks (WiMAX, LTE, LTE-Advanced). For example, dimensioning rules with multi-profile traffic have been proposed in [976]. Frequency reuse schemes are analyzed in [990, 1118]. LTE uplink control is optimized in [1037]. As relay based cellular networks will be part of future systems (IEEE 802.16j and LTE-Advanced), we have

¹By topology awareness, we mean the potential capability of an application to consider in priority peers that are close geographically or within the same Autonomous System, which would reduce ISP transit costs.

started performance evaluations assuming the presence of relay nodes in [1068] in collaboration with NTU (Singapore).

In the context of a joint work with S.E. Elayoubi, A. El Falou, J.B. Landre (Orange Labs), we study the radio capacity improvement provided by an HSPA+ key feature, dual-cell, combined with MIMO [1024]. The proposed method combines drive test measurements, link-level simulations, and a queuing theory- based statistical capacity model, thereby providing a reliable estimate of the network radio capacity. Simulation results show that dual cell combined with MIMO and non-linear receivers using Successive Interference Cancellation (SIC) significantly increases network radio capacity. These results confirm that HSPA networks evolutions are promising.

Spatial models for wireless networks. Algebraic topology is a branch of topology that tries to classify topological spaces according to the number and to the features of their areas of discontinuity (commonly referred as "holes"). That methods have recently arise significant interest in the community of wireless and mobile communications. Our contributions lay in the design of decentralized algorithms that do not require location information on sensor nodes. The results obtained have been in published in [1108, 975] and submitted [1003]. This is a joint work with L.Deucreusefond from the MIC2 team of Telecom ParisTech.

Stochastic geometry and Point Process theories can be used to design capacity and to obtain dimensioning models for mobile communications networks. Our contributions in that area are twofold. On the first hand, new dimensioning methods have been proposed for OFDMA networks. Concentration inequalities have been applied to obtain an analytical upper bound of the loss probability in terms of resources blocks or sub-channels. The upper bound is less accurate than classical approximation methods such as Gaussian or Edgeworth expansions. However it is more robust to systems parameters inaccuracy [1039]. Other works, carried out in cooperation with NCRL (National Mobile Communications Research Laboratory, Nanjing, China), have proposed average transmission capacity and upper bound transmission capacity expressions, for cognitive radio systems in a primary/secondary network scenario [964, 1013].

Dynamic Spectrum Management and Cognitive Radio. We have studied inter-operator spectrum sharing schemes within the URC project [1038]. In [982, 1056], we have proposed optimal, Q-learning based and heuristics algorithms for the dynamic spectrum allocation problem that take benefit from the time heterogeneities of the traffic. Spatial heterogeneities have been then taken into account in [1058, 1057]. In the ANR project TEROPP, we have studied distributed radio resource allocation schemes for cognitive radio networks in collaboration with LRI - University of Paris XI Orsay [1033]. We have first proposed an auction mechanism [1034, 974]. We have then proposed and analyzed an algorithm that both solves the Multi-Armed Bandit problem and controls the switching cost of secondary users [1035]. We are now working on large populations scenarios [1054, 1055].

Random access schemes. In conjunction with M.Feuillet (INRIA), we analyze the performance of CSMA in multi-channel wireless networks, accounting for the random nature of traffic [971]. Specifically, we assess the ability of CSMA to fully utilize the radio resources and in turn to stabilize the network in a dynamic setting with flow arrivals and departures. We prove that CSMA is optimal in ad-hoc mode but not in infrastructure mode, when all data flows originate from or are destined to some access points, due to the inherent bias of CSMA against downlink traffic. We propose a slight modification of CSMA, that we refer to as flow-aware CSMA, which corrects this bias and makes the algorithm optimal in all cases.

We also worked on wireless mesh networks with UMPC/LIP6, where we designed OFDMA based MAC protocols [1036].

Handover management in heterogeneous and simultaneous access. We have developed expertise in the field of mobility and handover management in heterogeneous and simultane-

ous mobile access. Studies on dynamic interface selection, considering various attributes such as network characteristics, applications requirements, and user preferences, were carried out [1107]. A prototype (a linux based mobile terminal with Wi-Fi and 3G) has been developed with the collaboration of Bell Labs France for performance evaluation and validation. The prototype implements the IEEE 802.21 standard to discover network parameters.

Layer-2 handover solutions have also been investigated. The developed solutions take advantage of multi-homing to enable soft handover and make-before-break handover in the integrated and tight coupling architectures of WiMAX and UMTS. The solutions aim at achieving lossless and short latency handover procedures [989, 988, 1066].

While the integration of heterogeneous radio access is seen by the network operators as a solution for providing their customers with a large variety of services with a seamless access, the simultaneous access provides many interesting benefits enabling traffic to be distributed over the available networks taking into account the application requirements and/or network congestion situations.

The problem of distributing simultaneously multiple applications to the suitable network interfaces while maximizing terminal global utility is first addressed. Stochastic heuristic optimization methods are studied and a novel diversification technique of the Tabu search has been proposed [1072]. We have also investigated the flow/interface association strategies using evolutionary game theory [1106]. In the game, the terminals compete for common network resources and seek for maximizing their utility by associating the application flows to the radio interfaces. The network orients the association choices of the terminals while seeking for optimizing the system global utility.

9.2.3 Future Internet, Internet of Things

Faculty Thomas Bonald, Claude Chaudet, Nadia Boukhatem, Daniel Kofman, Jean-Louis Rougier.

Main events Organization of EuroNGI 2010.

Projects CELTIC TRANS; FP7 EuroNF, ETICS; ANR DIAFORUS, 3MING, SUN; External research contract with Orange Labs; I-GATE (Institut Telecom/ Futures et Ruptures).

Wireless Sensor Networks / **Internet of Things.** Our objective is to create distributed algorithms that are lightweight alternatives to the functions of a classical network. Solutions shall be efficient in terms of energy, complexity and memory usage to be embarked on low-cost, low-power and low-capacity nodes. Our contributions are on the topics if network self-organization, localization and on experimental platforms.

We participate in the DIAFORUS project in the conception of a middleware for wireless sensor networks, designing an efficient publish/subscribe-based communication brick that relies on an overlay of brokers. We compared various criteria to build this overlay in order to optimize energy efficiency, memory space and raw performance [1032, 1031]. We are currently working on a distributed algorithm that builds and maintains such an overlay.

We also work in the smart home environment to provide accurate indoor localization techniques for wireless terminals without adding dedicated hardware. We show that in an indoor environment, the signals captured by the radio interface cannot be correlated with distance without calibration of the environment and of the node and constant update of this calibration parameters. Localization algorithms using RF signals for trilateration are bound to be imprecise unless a strong collaboration exists between a large number of nodes. We are currently looking at alternative, using RF signals to deduce relative positions rather than absolute distance measures. Within the SUN ANR project, we investigated location management systems and developed an IP-based RFID architecture for indoor location management [1002, 1119].

We have started in 2011 to build a federated platform that aims at becoming a reference for mobile sensor networks. The platform will be composed of fixed and mobile sensors and will focus on the interactions between the environment (composed of LEDs and sound generators) and the sensors. At the first stage, Telecom ParisTech is conceiving a scenario description language that aims at being simple, descriptive and provable in order to automate experiments.

Towards a multi-path Internet Routing diversity has been identified as essential for both network robustness and traffic engineering. The Internet possesses by its very nature a large path diversity. However this diversity cannot be fully exploited due to several architecture limitations, in particular at the level of routing protocols (namely BGP) and transport layers. Our contributions covers both the routing and transport aspects.

On routing aspects, our work first concentrated on possible collaboration schemes between providers. Today, each carrier uses selfish routing policy (e.g. preference of a free peering link over a transit link) in order to choose the route used to transit traffic. If it is quite natural for 'best effort' traffic, this approach clearly limits the range of potential inter-domain services that can be offered in the Internet. We have formulated a simple but realistic non-cooperative routing framework that arises between two ISPs on their peering links. Our approach allow to select paretoefficient routes, which allows to greatly reduce congestion and improve route stability. At the same time, our approach is based on non-collaborative game theory, thus protecting operators' independence and incentives [1098, 997]. We proposed an multi-path extension of this approach which further improve performances [1097, 998]. This is a joint work with Prof. A.Patavina (Politechnic of Milano, Italy) funded by ANR ACTRICE and IGATE projects. The proposed approach was also enhanced to offer a high resiliency against network failures [1099, 996], in collaboration with H.Ma and Prof. B.E.Helvik (NTNU, Norway).

We also studied a higher level of collaboration between carriers within a alliance of carriers. In this context, a routing architecture for end-to-end MPLS services was proposed [995] where disjoint routes are computed for resiliency purposes. We also studied how the distributions of incomes within this context of an alliance can be naturally linked to network dimensioning [1076].

In the context of the european ETICS project, we are currently studying solutions based on a *maps-and-encaps* scheme to by-pass current BGP limitations in order to use arbitrary paths and thus utilize the inherent Internet path diversity.

Exploiting path diversity We also focused on multi-path transport layer solutions able to utilize route diversity. We developed a forward predictive scheduling mechanism which alleviates the out-of-order data reception problem. It estimates the delays incurred to data on each path, and then schedules the transmission of a data packet such that the re-ordering cost is minimized [1071, 1070].

The scheduling scheme has been integrated to both SCTP and MPTCP (multi-path TCP) implementations. A prototype was developed with the collaboration of BearsTech Enterprise within the 3MING project[1069]. In collaboration with UPMC/LIP6, a cross-layer extension of the scheduling algorithm has been proposed. It contributes to accurate path delay calculations using layer-2 information for 802.11 wireless links [1073].

Dynamic load balancing (DLB) also represents a powerful traffic engineer tool as it leads opportunistically to an optimal network utilization without any prior knowledge of traffic (e.g. like traffic matrices). Most existing DLB mechanisms are however based on simple unrealistic cost functions (such as M/M/1 delay formulae). We proposed instead new load balancing schemes based on cost functions measured through non-parametric regression [1094, 985]. Thanks to modern learning heuristics and proposed enhancements, we also proved that our DLB mechanism is very robust w.r.t. abrupt traffic variations. Finally, our proposal is compared on realistic network topologies with robust routing (the most common alternative TE mechanism) [1064, 1065, 973].

We obtained approximations for various performance measures in a multi-rate link sharing bandwidth under an insensitive sharing mechanism called balanced fairness [1025]. Balanced fairness can be viewed as the large system limit of proportional fairness. For a large system, we obtain closed form expressions for the calculation of long run fraction of time that the system is congested, the probability that an arriving flow will not obtain its maximum bit rate and the average fraction of time that an arriving flow is not allocated its maximum bit rate while in the

system. The techniques are based on local limit theorems for convolution measures. This is a joint work with J-P. Haddad and R. Mazumdar (U. Waterloo, Canada)

Classification of Internet Traffic There is a growing need in IP networks for 'on the fly' flow identification in order to dynamically allocate resources in the network. This is important to insure a certain quality of expectation to critical flows, for instance. Our method is based on both knowledge of the network, P2P systems and on learning theory (like Pearson's statistical Chisquare test, bayesian inference or support vector machines). Our contributions are twofold:

The first approach relies on similarities with verbal communications, with a new class of methods called 'Stochastic Packet Inspection' (SPI), which ca be seen as a statistical extension of the well-know DPI. SPI starts with a keyword search in traffic (e.g. like 'GET' for Web traffic or 'BT' for BitTorrent) like in DPI, and uses statistical tools to automatically define stochastic signatures [977]. First designed for UDP traffic, this method was extended for TCP traffic [1045].

Our second approach analyses the behavior of applications solely on traffic characteristics, regardless of the content of packets. The similarity with human interactions is here particularly relevant: e.g. a 'shy' application prefers long communications with a limited number of hosts while 'hearty' applications rather prefers short exchanges with many hosts. This analysis technic, named Abacus [966], as it only keeps track on the number of packets exchanged, is particularly appreciated by network operators as it can directly be applied to Netflow [1087] and robust to sampling [1088].

A software implementing both technics has been provided to the scientific community [1046]. It allowed to compare both technics [1047]. These technics are now used for the observation and classification of network traffic in several european Internet Service Providers (ISP) [1074, 978].

With the constant increase of traffic volumes, ISPs are required to use sampling for monitoring traffic. We have thus studied the impact of sampling on the monitoring of different variables [1082] and on performances of traffic classification [1089].

9.2.4 Core Networks

Faculty Thomas Bonald, Maurice Gagnaire.

Projects FP7 DICONET, BONES; ANR ECOFRAME; FIMOBA (Institut Telecom/Futures et Ruptures).

Transparent WDM network design. A translucent WDM optical network can be viewed as a transparent optical network in which sparse nodes proceed to electrical regeneration either form traffic grooming or quality of transmission (QoT) purposes. Considering mesh topologies with finite optical channels capacity per fiber and static traffic matrices, we have investigated the most efficient way to proceed to electrical regeneration in order to guarantee an admissible Bit Error Rate (BER) at the end of each established lightpath [979]. Four transmission impairments (namely: amplified spontaneous emission, chromatic dispersion, polarization mode dispersion, and nonlinear phase shift) have been considered in our studies. Electrical regenerators are costly and power consuming. The originality of our approach consists in trying to minimize simultaneously the total number of regenerators while minimizing the number of regeneration sites [1004]. We have shown how these two parameters have a strong impact on the cost of investment and operation and maintenance of the network. In a first step, we have proposed an original heuristic called COR2P (Cross Optimization for RWA and Regenerator Placement) achieving this double objective [1110], [1109]. We have then extended this optimization problem in considering the time-space correlation of the traffic demands. Our objective was to optimize regenerators' utilization [1007]. We have outlined the fact that, whatever the traffic matrix, the nodes with the highest physical degree are good candidates to be regeneration sites [1042]. We have proposed an original exact ILP formulation of this problem. In contrast with existing exact approaches that rely on linear approximations of the signal degradation, we have made use of a realistic estimate of the optical signal quality taking into account the simultaneous effect of the four impairments mentioned above. We have also investigated a tradeoff between optimized network costs on one hand, and flexibility against traffic uncertainty on the other hand. To this end, we have extended our ILP formulation to multiple traffic forecasts. Our concern is to judiciously deploy regenerators so that network design remains optimized under different traffic forecasts [1048], [963], [1081]. These works have been carried out either in the context of the DICONET European project [1043] or within the BONE European Network of Excellence. In collaboration with the Univ. of Barcelona (UPC), we have contributed to the hardware implementation of the COR2P control plane in FPGA. An experimental testbed has outlined the efficiency of the COR2P algorithm.

Fault management and traffic engineering in transparent WDM networks. Two techniques have been recently proposed in the literature for single failure detection in translucent WDM networks: monitoring cycles (m-cycles) and monitoring trails (m-trails). We have proposed an original meta-heuristic called MeMoTA (Meta-heuristic for Monitoring Trail Assignment) enabling to determine the number of m-trails and their routes that is able to deal with very large networks and under dense traffic matrices [981, 1041, 1050]. Our algorithm is inspired from the Tabu Search meta-heuristic. It has been accepted as a European patent [1120]. The main drawback of the m-trail approach is its inherent cost in number of required out-of-band optical channels. We have developed the concept of "monitoring-tree" that considerably increases network capacity while enabling a non-ambiguous single failure localization. The concept of m-tree has been the subject of a European patent [1121]. An ILP formulation has been proposed to determine the most efficient tree to be mapped onto any meshed network topology. In parallel, we have investigated dynamic lightpath rerouting strategies that can be used after a fiber cut. The same strategies can also be used in order to provide a better usage of the network resources while the network is active [984]. The originality of this study consists in considering simultaneously three types of traffic: permanent, scheduled and random.

Optical burst switching. We analyze different network architectures based on optical burst switching for metro networks [1023, 1022, 1026]. In particular, we propose a novel MAC protocol for a ring slotted WDM network. The protocol is based on both opportunistic access ensuring efficient utilization of slots and dynamic reservations that maintain a certain degree of fairness between stations. We show that, while a purely opportunistic access scheme is perfectly efficient, the impact of introducing the proposed reservation algorithm is limited in terms of lost capacity in any realistic traffic scenario. This is a joint work with R-M. Indre, S. Oueslati and C. Rolland (Orange Labs).

Radio over Fiber We have worked on the specification of an innovative all-optical WDM access infrastructure that could be used as a Next-Generation Radio Access Network (RAN). This infrastructure relies on traditional Passive Optical Networks considered today to connect fixed broadband users to the Internet. Thanks to reflective modulators, optical add-drop multiplexers and a low-cost AWG optical router, we exploit the potentialities of analog Radio-over-Fiber to distribute in parallel to fixed traffic, radio carrier frequencies(RF) to a set of antennas connected to the leaves of the optical tree. Optical sub-carrier modulation is considered to transport RFs from the Central Office to the antennas' sites. The main originality of our works consists in designing an ad hoc control plane enabling to redistribute radio equipment between different geographical areas according to their traffic load fluctuations. This control plane operates in a cross-layer mode since the physical layer constraints must be considered imperatively, both in the optical and in the radio domains [1052].

9.2.5 Green Networking

Faculty Claude Chaudet, Marceau Coupechoux, Maurice Gagnaire, Philippe Godlewski, Dario Rossi, Jean-Louis Rougier.

Projects CELTIC TIGER2; FP7 DICONET, BONES; external collaboration with Orange Labs.

Minimum Energy Routing in IP Networks. We have studied green networking technologies and issues focusing on fixed networks [967]. One of the main issue we encountered was the lack of reliable figures on energy consumption and the lack of standard measurement methods and evaluation metrics. In particular we pointed out the incongruence of several results published and made several proposals in order to overcome these issues [1019, 967, 969, 968].

We then concentrated on the 'resource consolidation' approach, which consists in concentrating traffic on a subset of nodes/interfaces when utilization is low, thereby allowing to put other equipments in sleeping (low power) modes or simply to switch them off. We formulated the problem of minimum energy routing [1017] and derived results with realistic energy models and network topologies. Results showed that potential energy savings strongly depend on the type of network studied, ranging from very low (in particular for core IP networks) [1018] to significant (e.g. in redundant access networks). We then concentrated on the tradeoff between energy savings and network resiliency. We have proposed a new method for computing the importance of nodes/links in a network, which is based on a collaborative game theory approach (namely on the Shapley value). This ranking is used to decide which nodes/links should be switched off [1020]. Results highlighted better network resilience properties with similar energy gains.

Our previous solutions to the 'resource consolidation' problem were centralized. We have then started to investigate distributed green routing mechanisms ('à la' OSPF) [1021], which result easier to be deployed when considering current and foreseen network devices.

Power aware routing in optical networks In current WDM networks, transceivers are powered-on permanently, whatever the activity of the data sources at the electrical layer. Our objective is to minimize network's power consumption in considering the transceivers with fixed data rates actually deployed in carriers' networks. In this context, we have proposed an optimal mapping of a set of scheduled traffic demands at the electrical layer onto an optical mesh infrastructure. The number of optical channels per optical fiber being upper-bounded, this mapping also enables to minimize connection rejection. This optimization problem has been solved by means of an ILP formulation [1111].

Green cellular Networks. In the field of green cellular networking, we have started a study with Orange Labs with the aim of evaluating the impact of power reduction on the coverage and the capacity of cellular networks [1059]. Power reduction is directly beneficial on energy consumption, potential risks for health and on interference mitigation, which stimulates the deployment of opportunistic radios in the same spectrum. Power control is however likely to degrade network performances. We have established closed form formulas of outage probability by taking into account shadowing, thermal noise and base stations (BS) transmitting power impacts. We have shown that transmit power can be significantly reduced without affecting the quality of service and that increasing the BS density results in a reduction of the global power density in the network.

9.3 References

9.3.1 ACL: Articles in ISI-Indexed Journals

[962] O. Audouin, D. Barth, R. Aoun, M. Gagnaire, and et al. Carriocas project: towards converged internet infrastructures supporting high performance distributed applications. OSA/IEEE Journal of Lightwave Technology, 27(12), June 2009.

- [963] S. Azodolmolky, J. Parello, M. Angelou, F. Agraz, L. Velasco, S. Spadaro, Y. Pointurier, A. Francescon, C. Saradhi, P. Kokkinos, E. Varvarigos, S. Al Zahr, M. Gagnaire, M. Gunkel, D. Klonidis, and I. Tomkos. Experimental demonstration of an impairment aware network planning and operation tool for transparent/translucent optical networks. *IEEE/OSA Journal on Lightwave Technology*, 29(4), Feb. 2011.
- [964] X. Bao, P. Martins, S. Tiecheng, and L. Shen. Stable throughput and delay performance in cognitive cooperative systems. *IET*, 5(2):190 198, Jan. 2011.
- [965] D. Ben Cheikh, J.-M. Kélif, M. Coupechoux, and P. Godlewski. Sir distribution analysis in cellular networks considering the joint impact of path-loss, shadowing and fast fading. EURASIP Journal on Wireless Communications and Networking, 2011(137), Oct. 2011.
- [966] P. Bermolen, M. Mellia, M. Meo, D. Rossi, and S. Valenti. Abacus: Accurate, fine-grained classification of p2p-tv traffic. Elsevier Computer Networks, Dec. 2011.
- [967] A. P. Bianzino, C. Chaudet, D. Rossi, and J.-L. Rougier. A survey of green networking research. IEEE Communications Society Surveys & Tutorials, Dec. 2010.
- [968] A. P. Bianzino, A. RAJU, and D. Rossi. Greening the internet surf: Experimental measurements of web power-consumption. *IT Professional, Special Issue on Green IT*, 13(1), Jan. 2011.
- [969] A. P. Bianzino, A. RAJU, and D. Rossi. Apples-to-apples: a framework analysis for energy-efficiency in networks. *ACM SIGMETRICS Performance Evaluation Review*, 38(3):81–85, Dec. 2011.
- [970] R. Birke, M. Mellia, M. Petracca, and D. Rossi. Inspecting voip by measurements from a large isp. International Journal of Network Management, Nov. 2010.
- [971] T. Bonald and M. Feuillet. On the stability of flow-aware csma. *Performance Evaluation*, 67(11), Nov. 2010.
- [972] C. Cardenas, M. Gagnaire, V. Lopez, and J. Aracil. Admission control for grid services in ip networks. Journal on Optical Switching and Networking, Elsevier, 6(1), Jan. 2009.
- [973] P. Casas, F. Larroca, J.-L. Rougier, and S. Vaton. Taming traffic dynamics: Analysis and improvements. Computer Communications, Nov. 2011.
- [974] L. Chen, S. Iellamo, M. Coupechoux, and P. Godlewski. Spectrum auction with interference constraint for cognitive radio networks with multiple primary and secondary users. *Springer Wireless Networks*, pages 1–17, May 2011.
- [975] L. Decreusefond, P. Martins, and T.-T. Vu. On noise limited cellular networks. Queueing systems, Aug. 2011.
- [976] S. Doirieux, B. Baynat, M. Maqbool, and M. Coupechoux. An efficient analytical model for the dimensioning of wimax networks supporting multi-profile best effort traffic. *Elsevier Computer Communications*, 33(10):1162–1179, June 2010.
- [977] A. Finamore, M. Mellia, M. Meo, and D. Rossi. Kiss: Stochastic packet inspection classifier for udp traffic. IEEE Transactions on Networking, Apr. 2010.
- [978] A. Finamore, M. Mellia, M. Meo, M. Munafo, and D. Rossi. Experiences of internet traffic monitoring with tstat. IEEE Network Magazine, Special Issue on Network Traffic Monitoring and Analysis,, May 2011.
- [979] M. Gagnaire and S. Al Zahr. Impairment-aware routing and wavelength assignment in translucent networks: state of the art. *IEEE Communications Magazine*, 47(5):55–61, May 2009.
- [980] M. Gagnaire, P. Vicat-Blanc Primet, and D. Simeonidou. Towards market-oriented clouds. *Annals of Telecommunications*, 65(11/12):647–651, Dec. 2010.
- [981] A. Haddad, E. A. Doumith, and M. Gagnaire. A fast and accurate meta-heuristic for failure localization based on the monitoring trail concept. *Springer Journal on Telecommunication Systems*, 48, Aug. 2011.
- [982] H. Kamal, M. Coupechoux, P. Godlewski, and J.-M. Kélif. Optimal, heuristic and q-learning based dsa policies for cellular networks with coordinated access band. *European Transactions on Telecommunications*, 21(8):694–703, Dec. 2010.
- [983] J.-M. Kélif, M. Coupechoux, and P. Godlewski. A fluid model for performance analysis in cellular networks. EURASIP Journal on Wireless Communications and Networking, 2010, July 2010.
- [984] M. Koubaa and M. Gagnaire. Lightpath rerouting strategies in wdm all-optical networks under scheduled and random traffic. *IEEE/OSA Journal of Optical Communications and Networking*, 2(10):859 871, Oct. 2010.
- [985] F. Larroca and J.-L. Rougier. Minimum delay load-balancing via nonparametric regression and noregret algorithms. Computer Networks, Nov. 2011.
- [986] E. Lavinal, N. Simoni, M. Song, and B. Mathieu. A next-generation service overlay architecture. Annales des Télécommunications, Nov. 2009.

- [987] W. Li, P. Martins, and L. Shen. Determination method of optimal number of clusters for clustered wireless sensor networks. Wireless Communications and mobile computing, Feb. 2010.
- [988] B. Liu, N. Boukhatem, and P. Martins. New efficient cross-layer and multihoming mechanisms at layer-2 for inter-rat handover between umts and wimax. Wireless Communications and Mobile Computing Journal, 2010.
- [989] B. Liu, P. Martins, and P. Bertin. Cross-layer design of the inter-rat handover between umts and wimax. EURASIP Journal on Wireless Communications and Networking, Vol.2010(Article ID 763614):14, Dec. 2010.
- [990] M. Maqbool, P. Godlewski, M. Coupechoux, and J.-M. Kélif. Analytical performance evaluation of various frequency reuse and scheduling schemes in cellular ofdma networks. *Performance Evaluation*, 67(4):318–337, Apr. 2010.
- [991] L. Piètre-Cambacédès and C. Chaudet. The sema referential framework: Avoiding ambiguities in the terms security and safety. *International Journal of Critical Infrastructure Protection*, 3(2):55–66, July 2010.
- [992] D. Rossi and P. Veglia. An hybrid approach to assess the network awareness of p2p-tv applications. International Journal on Digital Multimedia Broadcasting, special issue on Network-Aware Peer-to-Peer (P2P) and Internet Video,, Nov. 2010.
- [993] D. Rossi, R. Fracchia, and M. Meo. On the quality of broadcast services in vehicular ad hoc networks. Wiley Security and Communication Networks Journal, [J9] Special Issue on QoS Assured Wireless and Mobile Networks, Nov. 2010.
- [994] D. Rossi, E. Sottile, and S. Valenti. Black-box analysis of internet p2p applications. Peer-to-Peer Networking and Applications, pages 1–19, Aug. 2010.
- [995] S. Secci, J.-L. Rougier, and A. Pattavina. As-level source routing for multi-provider connection-oriented services. *Computer Networks*, 54(14):2453–2467, Oct. 2010.
- [996] S. Secci, M. Huaiyuan, B. E. Helvik, and J.-L. Rougier. Resilient inter-carrier traffic engineering for internet peering interconnections. *IEEE Transactions on Network and Service Management*, 8(4), Dec. 2011.
- [997] S. Secci, J.-L. Rougier, A. Pattavina, F. Patrone, and G. Maier. Multi-exit discriminator game for bgp routing coordination. *Telecommunication Systems*, 48(1-2), Sept. 2011.
- [998] S. Secci, J.-L. Rougier, A. Pattavina, F. Patrone, and G. Maier. Peering equilibrium multipath routing: a game theory framework for internet peering settlements. *IEEE/ACM Transactions on Networking*, 19(2):419–432, Apr. 2011.
- [999] N. Simoni, N. Ornelas, C. Yin, and A. Boutignon. Vpin: An event based knowledge inference for a user centric information system. *The International Journal On Advances in Internet Technology is Published by IARIA.*, 2(1):29–44, Dec. 2009.
- [1000] N. Simoni, N. Ornelas, C. Yin, and A. Boutignon. Vpin: An event based knowledge inference for a user centric information system. *The International Journal On Advances in Internet Technology*, 2 (1):29–44, Sept. 2009.
- [1001] M. Telek, A. Horvat, D. Rossi, P. Veglia, d. R. N. Antonieta, E. Leonardi, and M. Mellia. Network awareness of p2p live streaming applications: a measurement study. *IEEE Transactions on Multi*media, 12(1):54–63, Jan. 2010.
- [1002] P. N. Tra and N. Boukhatem. Ip-based rfid architecture and location management. *Journal of Communications, Software and Systems*, 2010.
- [1003] F. Yan, P. Martins, and L. Decreusefond. Accuracy of homology based approaches for coverage hole detection in wireless sensor networks. 2011.
- [1004] M. Youssef, S. Al Zahr, and M. Gagnaire. Translucent network design from a capex/opex perspective. Springer Journal on Photonic Network Communications, 22(1), Aug. 2011.

9.3.2 ACTI: Articles in Proceedings of International Conferences

- [1005] N. Ababneh, H. Labiod, and N. Boukhatem. Evaluation of routing protocols for vanets in urban environments. In *IEEE SARNOFF Symposium 2010*, Princeton (USA), Apr. 2010.
- [1006] N. Ababneh, A. Viglas, S. Selvakennedy, and N. Boukhatem. A topology control algorithm with good spanner properties for wireless sensor networks. In CNSR 2010, Montreal (Canada), May 2010.
- [1007] S. Al Zahr, E. A. Doumith, and M. Gagnaire. An exact approach for translucent network design considering scheduled lightpath demands. In *IEEE International Conference on Telecommunications*, Ayia Napa, Cyprus, May 2011.

- [1008] R. Aoun and M. Gagnaire. An exact optimization tool for market-oriented grid middleware. In 2009 Annual IEEE CQR International Workshop, Naples-Florida USA, May 2009.
- [1009] R. Aoun and M. Gagnaire. Towards a fairer benefit distribution in grid environments. In *IEEE International workshop on Grid Computing*, Rabat, Morroco, May 2009.
- [1010] R. Aoun and M. Gagnaire. Service differentiation based on flexible time constraints in marketoriented grids. In *IEEE Global Communications Conference*, Dec. 2009.
- [1011] R. Aoun, E. A. Doumith, and M. Gagnaire. Resource provisioning for enriched services in cloud environments. In *IEEE CloudCom Conference*, Indianapolis-IN, USA, Nov. 2010.
- [1012] I. Ayadi, A. Serhrouchni, G. Pujolle, and N. Simoni. Http session management: Architecture and cookies security. In *SAR-SSI*, La Rochelle France, May 2011.
- [1013] X. Bao, P. Martins, S. Tiecheng, and S. Lianfeng. Stable throughput analysis of multi-user cognitive cooperative systems. In *Globecom 2010*, Miami (USA), Dec. 2010.
- [1014] D. Ben Cheikh, J.-M. Kélif, M. Coupechoux, and P. Godlewski. Outage probability in a multi-cellular network using alamouti scheme. In *IEEE Sarnoff Symposium*, Princeton, USA, Apr. 2010.
- [1015] D. Ben Cheikh, J.-M. Kélif, M. Coupechoux, and P. Godlewski. Dynamic system performance of siso, miso and mimo alamouti schemes. In *IEEE Sarnoff Symposium*, Princeton, USA, May 2011.
- [1016] D. Ben Cheikh, J.-M. Kélif, M. Coupechoux, and P. Godlewski. Multicellular zero forcing precoding performance in rayleigh and shadow fading. In *IEEE Vehicular Technology Conference*, VTC Spring, Budapest, Hungary, May 2011.
- [1017] A. P. Bianzino, C. Chaudet, F. Larroca, D. Rossi, and J.-L. Rougier. Energy-aware routing: a reality check. In 3rd International Workshop on Green Communications (GreenComm3), Miami, USA, Dec. 2010.
- [1018] A. P. Bianzino, C. Chaudet, D. Rossi, and J.-L. Rougier. Energy-awareness in network dimensioning: a fixed charge network flow formulation. In ACM SIGCOMM eEnergy'10, Passau, Germany, Apr. 2010.
- [1019] A. P. Bianzino, A. Raju, and D. Rossi. Apple-to-apple: A common framework for energy-efficiency in networks. In *ACM SIGMETRICS, GreenMetrics Workshop*, New York, USA, June 2010.
- [1020] A. P. Bianzino, C. Chaudet, D. Rossi, J.-L. Rougier, and S. Moretti. The green-game: Striking a balance between qos and energy saving. In *23rd International Teletraffic Congress (ITC)*, San Francisco, CA, USA, Sept. 2011. IEEE / ACM.
- [1021] A. P. Bianzino, L. CHIARAVIGLIO, and M. MELLIA. Grida: a green distributed algorithm for backbone networks. In *IEEE Online Green Communications Conference*, Sept. 2011.
- [1022] T. Bonald, R.-M. Indre, S. Oueslati-Boulahia, and C. Rolland. Throughput-delay trade-offs in slotted wdm ring networks. In *Broadnets*, Japon, Feb. 2010.
- [1023] T. Bonald, R.-M. Indre, S. Oueslati-Boulahia, and C. Rolland. On virtual optical bursts for qos support in obs networks. In ONDM, Nov. 2010.
- [1024] T. Bonald, S. El Ayoubi, A. El Falou, and J.-B. Landre. Radio capacity improvement with hspadual-cell. In ICC, Nov. 2011.
- [1025] T. Bonald, J.-P. Haddad, and R. Mazumdar. Congestion in large balanced multirate links. In ITC 23, Nov. 2011.
- [1026] T. Bonald, R.-M. Indre, and S. Oueslati-Boulahia. Adaptive optical burst switching. In ITC 23, Nov. 2011.
- [1027] T. Bonald, L. Muscariello, and N. Ostallo. Self-priorization of audio and video traffic. In ICC, Nov. 2011.
- [1028] M. Bouissou and L. Piètre-Cambacédès. Beyond attack trees: dynamic security modeling with boolean logic driven markov processes (bdmp). In 8th European Dependable Computing Conference (EDCC-8), pages 199–208, Valence, Espagne, Apr. 2010.
- [1029] G. Carofiglio, L. Muscariello, D. Rossi, and C. Testa. A hands-on assessment of transport protocols with lower than best effort priority. In 35th IEEE Conference on Local Computer Networks (LCN'10), Denver, CO, USA, Oct. 2010.
- [1030] G. Carofiglio, L. Muscariello, D. Rossi, and S. Valenti. The quest for ledbat fairness. In IEEE Globecom'10, Miami, FL, USA, Dec. 2010.
- [1031] C. Chaudet, I. Demeure, S. Ktari, N. Costagliola, and S. Tardieu. Publish/subscribe for wireless sensor networks (invited paper). In Asian Internet Engineering Conference (AINTEC) 2011, Bangkok, Thaïlande, Nov. 2011. ACM.
- [1032] C. Chaudet, I. Demeure, and S. Ktari. A model to evaluate performance of a multi-brokers overlay for publish/subscribe in wireless sensor networks. In 9th International Conference on Wireless Ondemand Network Systems and Services, Courmayeur, Italy, Jan. 2012.

- [1033] L. Chen, S. Iellamo, and M. Coupechoux. Game theoric spectrum access in cognitive radio networks. In *York-Zhejiang Summer School on Cognitive Communications*, Zhejiang, China, Oct. 2010.
- [1034] L. Chen, S. Iellamo, M. Coupechoux, and P. Godlewski. An auction framework for spectrum allocation with interference constraint in cognitive radio networks. In *IEEE INFOCOM*, San Diego, USA, Mar. 2010.
- [1035] L. Chen, S. Iellamo, and M. Coupechoux. Opportunistic spectrum access with channel switching cost for cognitive radio networks. In *IEEE International Conference on Communications, ICC*, Kyoto, Japan, June 2011.
- [1036] H. Chevreau, M. Coupechoux, and P. Fouilhoux. Optimisation des protocoles ofdma orchestrés pour les réseaux sans-fil maillés. In Congrès de la Société Française de Recherche Opérationnelle et d'Aide à la Décision (ROADEF), Toulouse, Feb. 2010.
- [1037] M. Coupechoux and J.-M. Kélif. How to set the fractional power control compensation factor in Ite? In IEEE Sarnoff Symposium, Princeton, USA, May 2011.
- [1038] M. Coupechoux, H. Kamal, and P. Godlewski. Quelques problèmes d'optimisation dans le domaine de l'accès dynamique au spectre. In *Journée Optimisation des Réseaux*, Paris, France, June 2010.
- [1039] L. Decreusefond, P. Martins, and T. Tung Vu. Overloading probability in ofdma multi-cells networks. In ICC 2011, Dec. 2011.
- [1040] F. Diaz, E. A. Doumith, and M. Gagnaire. Impact of resource over-reservation (ror) and dropping policies on cloud resource allocation. In *IEEE International CloudCom Conference*, Athens, Greece, Nov. 2011
- [1041] E. A. Doumith, S. Al Zahr, and M. Gagnaire. Monitoring-tree: an innovative technique for failure localization in wdm translucent networks. In *IEEE Global Communications Conference*, Miami, USA, Dec. 2010.
- [1042] E. A. Doumith, S. Al Zahr, and M. Gagnaire. Mutual impact of traffic correlation and regenerator concentration in translucent wdm networks. In *IEEE International Conference on Communications*, Kyoto, Japan, June 2011.
- [1043] M. Eiselt, T. Zami, I. Tomkos, S. Azodolmolky, Y. Pointurier, R. Piesiewicz, C. Vijaya Saradhi, M. Gunkel, U. Mahlab, M. Chen, Y. Ye, M. Pickavet, M. Gagnaire, E. Varvarigos, J. Sole Pareta, R. Nejabati, and Y. Qin. "diconet": future generation transparent networking with dynamic impairment awareness. In *Future of the Internet Conference 2009*, Prague Tchécoslovaquie, May 2009.
- [1044] E. Elena, J.-L. Rougier, and S. Secci. Characterisation of as-level path deviations and multipath in internet routing. In 2010 6th Conference on Next Generation Internet (NGI 2010), Paris, France, June 2010.
- [1045] A. Finamore, M. Mellia, M. Meo, D. Rossi, and G. La Mantia. Stochastic packet inspection for top traffic. In *IEEE International Conference on Communications (ICC'10)*, Cape Town, South Africa, May 2010.
- [1046] A. Finamore, M. Mellia, M. Meo, D. Rossi, and S. Valenti. Peer-to-peer traffic classification: exploiting human communication dynamics. In *IEEE Globecom'10*, *Demo Session*, Miami, FL, USA, Dec. 2010.
- [1047] A. Finamore, M. Mellia, M. Meo, D. Rossi, and S. Valenti. Kiss to abacus: a comparison of p2p-tv traffic classifiers. In *Traffic Measurement and Analyis (TMA'10)*, Zurich, Switzerland,, May 2010. Springer Verlag LNCS.
- [1048] M. Gagnaire, E. A. Doumith, and S. Al Zahr. A novel exact approach for translucent wdm network design under traffic uncertainty. In *IEEE/IFIP International Conference on Optical Networking Design and Modeling*, Bologna, Italy, Feb. 2011.
- [1049] J. Ghalbouni, I. Agha, E. Diamanti, R. Frey, and I. Zaquine. Source de photons intriqués large bande pour distribution multiutilisateurs. In *COLOQ'12*, page 105, Marseille, July 2011.
- [1050] A. Haddad, E. A. Doumith, and M. Gagnaire. A meta-heuristic approach for monitoring trail assignment in wdm optical networks. In *IEEE/IFIP International Workshop on Reliable Networks Design and Modeling*, Moscow, Russia, Oct. 2010.
- [1051] A. Haddad, E. A. Doumith, and M. Gagnaire. Impairment-aware control plane for next generation radio-over-fiber access networks. In *IFIP International Networks of Future Conference*, Paris, France, Nov. 2011.
- [1052] A. Haddad, M. Gagnaire, and E. A. Doumith. Impairment-aware control plane for next generation radio-over-fiber access networks. In *IFIP/IEEE second Network of the Future*, Dec. 2011.
- [1053] A. Hammami and N. Simoni. Sécurité et mobilité:les nouveaux défis du contexte ngn. In *GRES 2010*, Montreal, Canada, Oct. 2010.
- [1054] S. Iellamo, L. Chen, and M. Coupechoux. Imitation in csma/ca based cognitive networks. In Work-

- shop on Algorithmic Game Theory: Dynamics and Convergence in Distributed Systems, AlgoGT, Grenoble, France, June 2011.
- [1055] S. Iellamo, L. Chen, and M. Coupechoux. Population games for cognitive radios: Evolution through imitation. In *GDR ISIS*, Paris, France, May 2011.
- [1056] H. Kamal, M. Coupechoux, and P. Godlewski. Inter-operator spectrum sharing for celullar networks using game theory. In *IEEE Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications Symposium* (*PIMRC*), Tokyo, Japan, Sept. 2009.
- [1057] H. Kamal, M. Coupechoux, and P. Godlewski. An efficient tabu search dsa algorithm for heterogeneous traffic in cellular networks. In *IFIP Wireless Days*, Venice, Italy, Oct. 2010.
- [1058] H. Kamal, M. Coupechoux, and P. Godlewski. A tabu search dsa algorithm for reward maximization in cellular networks. In *IEEE International Conference on Wireless and Mobile Computing, Networking and Communications (WiMob 2010)*, Niagara Falls, Canada, Oct. 2010.
- [1059] J.-M. Kélif, M. Coupechoux, and F. Marache. Limiting power transmission of green cellular networks: Impact on coverage and capacity. In *IEEE International Conference on Communications, ICC*, Cape Town, South Africa, May 2010.
- [1060] S. Kessal and N. Simoni. Service provisioning oriented qos. In CNSM 2011, volume Poster, Paris, France, Oct. 2011.
- [1061] S. Kessal and N. Simoni. A deployment of service elements based on qos. In SERVICES 2011, volume Poster, Washington, USA, July 2011.
- [1062] S. Kessal, R. Nassar, and N. Simoni. Semantic handover for seamless service continuity within user ambient context. In *International Conference on Next Generation Mobile Applications, Services and Technologies 2011 (NGMAST'11)*, Cardiff, Pays de Galles, Sept. 2011.
- [1063] S. Kessal, N. Simoni, X. Xiong, and C. Yin. Model-driven dynamic service delivery in mobility and ambient environment. In *ICIW'11*, St. Maarten, Mar. 2011.
- [1064] F. Larroca, P. Casas, and S. Vaton. Robust routing mechanisms for intradomain traffic engineering in dynamic networks. In *IEEE/IFIP 6th Latin American Network Operations and Management Symposium (LANOMS 2009)*, Punta del Este, Uruguay, Oct. 2009.
- [1065] F. Larroca, J.-L. Rougier, S. Vaton, and P. Casas. Robust routing vs dynamic load-balancing a comprehensive study and new directions. In 7th International Workshop on the Design of Reliable Communication Networks (DRCN 2009), Washington D.C., Oct. 2009.
- [1066] B. Liu, N. Boukhatem, P. Martins, and P. Bertin. Multihoming at layer-2 for inter-rat handover. In PIMRC 2010, Istambul, Turquie, Sept. 2010.
- [1067] M. Minelli, M. Coupechoux, and J.-M. Kélif. Average sir estimation in cellular networks with best server policy. In *IFIP Wireless Days*, Venice, Italy, Oct. 2010.
- [1068] M. Minelli, M. Coupechoux, J.-M. Kélif, M. Ma, and P. Godlewski. Relays-enhanced Ite-advanced networks performance studies. In *IEEE Sarnoff Symposium*, Princeton, USA, May 2011.
- [1069] F. H. Mirani and N. Boukhatem. Forward prediction scheduling: Implementation and performance evaluation. In *ICT 2011*, Cyprus, May 2011.
- [1070] F. H. Mirani, M. A. Tran, and N. Boukhatem. Intelligent data-striping: A predictive scheduling mechanism. In ACM IWCMC 2010, Caen, France, June 2010.
- [1071] F. H. Mirani, M. A. Tran, and N. Boukhatem. Data-scheduling mechanism for multi-homed mobile terminals with disparate link latencies. In *IEEE VTC2010 Fall*, Ottawa, Canada, Sept. 2010.
- [1072] F. H. Mirani, N. Boukhatem, and P. N. Tran. On terminal utility for multiple flow/interface association in mobile terminals. In *IFIP Wireless days 2011*, Nigara Falls, Canada, Oct. 2011.
- [1073] F. H. Mirani, X. Zhang, N. Boukahtem, and T. M. T. Nguyen. Cross-layer fps: A sctp-based cross-layer data scheduling approach. In *IEEE CCNC Workshop PerNets 2011*, Las Vegas, USA, Jan. 2011.
- [1074] M. Munafo, A. Finamore, M. Mellia, M. Meo, and D. Rossi. Live traffic monitoring with tstat: capabilities and experiences. In 8th International Conference on Wired/Wireless Communication (WWIC'10), Invited Paper, Lulea, Sweden, June 2010. Springer LNCS 6074,.
- [1075] M. Mycek, M. Pioro, S. Secci, J.-L. Rougier, and A. Pattavina. A shapley value-based incentive scheme for cooperative multi-provider traffic management. In *PTS 2009*, Lodz, Poland, Sept. 2009.
- [1076] M. Mycek, S. Secci, M. Pioro, J.-L. Rougier, A. Tomaszewski, and A. Pattavina. Cooperative multiprovider routing optimization and income distribution. In 2009 7th Int. Workshop on the Design of Reliable Communication Networks (DRCN 2009), Washington, USA, Oct. 2009.
- [1077] R. Nassar and N. Simoni. Composants de service pour une mobilité sans couture. In GRES 2010, Montreal, Canada, Oct. 2010.
- [1078] R. Nassar and N. Simoni. Ngn/ngs components for service personalization in a mobile and hetero-

- geneous context. In IWUSP, Kyoto, Japan, Oct. 2010.
- [1079] R. Nassar and N. Simoni. E2e mobility management in ubiquitous and ambient networks context. In International ICST Conference on Mobile and Ubiquitous Systems 2010 (MobiQuitous'10),, Sydney, Australie, Dec. 2010.
- [1080] R. Nassar and N. Simoni. Cloud management architecture in ngn/ngs context: Qos-awareness, location-awareness and service personalization. In *International Conference on Cloud Computing and Services Science 2011 (CLOSER'11)*,, Noordwijkerhout, Pays-Bas, May 2011.
- [1081] J. Parello, S. Spadaro, F. Agraz, M. Angelou, S. Azodolmolky, Y. Qin, R. Nejabati, D. Simeonidou, P. Kokkinos, E. Varvarigos, S. Al Zahr, M. Gagnaire, and I. Tomkos. Experimental evaluation of centralized failure restoration in a dynamic impairment-aware all-optical network. In *IEEE OFC/NFOEC Conference*, Los Angeles, USA, Mar. 2011.
- [1082] A. Pescape, D. Rossi, D. Tammaro, and S. Valenti. On the impact of sampling on traffic monitoring and analysis. In 22nd International Teletraffic Congress (ITC22), Amsterdam, The Netherlands, Sept. 2010.
- [1083] L. Piètre-Cambacédès and M. Bouissou. Modeling safety and security interdepedencies with bdmp (boolean logic driven markov processes). In *IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics (SMC 2010)*, Istanbul, Turquie, Oct. 2010. IEEE.
- [1084] L. Piètre-Cambacédès and M. Bouissou. Attack and defense dynamic modeling with bdmp. In 5th International Conference on Mathematical Methods, Models, and Architectures for Computer Networks Security (MMM-ACNS-2010), Saint Pétersbourg, Russie, Sept. 2010. Springer.
- [1085] L. Piètre-Cambacédès and C. Chaudet. Disentangling the relations between safety and security. In The 9th WSEAS International Conference on Applied Informatics and Communications (AIC09), Moscou, Russie, Aug. 2009.
- [1086] D. Rossi and E. Sottile. Sherlock: A framework for p2p traffic analysis. In IEEE P2P, Seattle, USA, Sept. 2009.
- [1087] D. Rossi and S. Valenti. Fine-grained traffic classification with netflow data. In ACM IWCMC 2010, 1st International Workshop on TRaffic Analysis and Classification (TRAC), Caen, France, June 2010.
- [1088] D. Rossi and S. Valenti. Identifying key features for p2p traffic classification. In *IEEE International Conference on Communications (ICC'11)*, Kyoto, Japan, Dec. 2011.
- [1089] D. Rossi and S. Valenti. Fine-grained behavioral classification in the core: the issue of flow sampling. In *IEEE International Workshop on TRaffic Analysis and Classification (TRAC'11)*, Istanbul, Turkey, July 2011.
- [1090] D. Rossi and P. Veglia. Assessing the impact of signaling on the qoe of push-based p2p-tv diffusion algorithms. In IFIP International Conference on New Technologies, Mobility and Security (NTMS'11), Paris, France, Feb. 2011.
- [1091] D. Rossi, E. Sottile, S. Valenti, and P. Veglia. Gauging the network friendliness of p2p applications. In *ACM SIGCOMM*, Barcelona, Spain, Aug. 2009.
- [1092] D. Rossi, C. Testa, S. Valenti, and L. Muscariello. Ledbat: the new bittorrent congestion control protocol. In *International Conference on Computer Communication Networks (ICCCN'10)*, Zurich, Switzerland, Aug. 2010.
- [1093] D. Rossi, S. Valenti, and C. Testa. Yes, we ledbat: Playing with the new bittorrent congestion control algorithm. In *Passive and Active MeasuremeSnt (PAM'10)*, Zurich, Switzerland, May 2010. Springer Verlag.
- [1094] J.-L. Rougier, F. Larroca, and et al. Robust regression for minimum-delay load-balancing. In ITC21, PARIS, Sept. 2009.
- [1095] S. Secci, J.-L. Rougier, A. Pattavina, M. Mycek, M. Pioro, and A. Tomaszewski. Connection-oriented service management in provider alliances: a shapley value perspective. In Euro-NF Fifth International Workshop on Traffic Management and Traffic Engineering for the Future Internet, Paris, France, Dec. 2009.
- [1096] S. Secci, J.-L. Rougier, A. Pattavina, F. Patrone, and G. Maier. Peering games for critical internet flows. In *Euro-NF Fifth International Workshop on Traffic Management and Traffic Engineering for the Future Internet*, Paris, France, Dec. 2009.
- [1097] S. Secci, J.-L. Rougier, A. Pattavina, F. Patrone, and G. Maier. PEMP: Peering Equilibrium MultiPath routing. In 2009 IEEE Global Communications Conference (GLOBECOM 2009), Honolulu, USA, Dec. 2009.
- [1098] S. Secci, J.-L. Rougier, A. Pattavina, F. Patrone, and G. Maier. ClubMED: Coordinated Multi-Exit Discriminator Strategies for Peering Carriers. In 2009 5th Euro-NGI Conference on Next Generation Internet Networks (NGI 2009), Aveiro, Portugal, July 2009.

- [1099] S. Secci, M. Huaiyuan, B. E. Helvik, and J.-L. Rougier. A resilient routing policy for peering management. In *IEEE GLOBECOM 2010*, Miami, USA, Dec. 2010.
- [1100] N. Simoni, C. Yin, and P. Coude. Converged service delivery: Modeling and engineering. In *SCC 2010*, Miami, USA, July 2010.
- [1101] R. Soule de Castro, P. Godlewski, and P. Martins. Cognitive beacon channel via gsm and umts. In PIMRC 2010, Istambul, Turquie, Sept. 2010.
- [1102] H. Soulimani, N. Simoni, P. Coude, and A. Boutignon. Modèle organisationnel pour le pilotage dynamique de la qualité de service de bout en bout pour une session "user centric". In GRES 2010, Montreal, Canada, Oct. 2010.
- [1103] D. Tammaro, E. A. Doumith, S. Al Zahr, and M. Gagnaire. Dynamic resource allocation in cloud environment under time-variant job requests. In *IEEE International CloudCom Conference*, Athens, Greece, Nov. 2011.
- [1104] Y. Taoufik, C. Zied, and N. Simoni. User-centric services dynamic composition of designed components. In GRES 2010, Montreal, Canada, Oct. 2010.
- [1105] C. Testa and D. Rossi. The impact of utp on bittorrent completion time. In *IEEE Peer to Peer (P2P'11)*, Kyoto, Japan, Sept. 2011.
- [1106] M. A. Tran, P. N. Tran, and N. Boukhatem. Strategy game for flow/interface association in multi-homed mobile terminals. In *The IEEE International Conference on Communications (ICC'10)*, Cape Town, South Africa, May 2010.
- [1107] P. N. Tran and N. Boukhatem. An utility-based interface selection scheme for multi-homed mobile terminals. In *The 20th Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications Symposium 2009* (PIMRC'09), Tokyo, Japan, Sept. 2009.
- [1108] F. Yan, P. Martins, and L. Decreusefond. Connectivity-based distributed coverage hole detection in wireless sensor networks. In *Globecom'11*, Houston, Texas, USA, Aug. 2011.
- [1109] M. Youssef, S. Al Zahr, and M. Gagnaire. Traffic-driven vs topology-driven strategies for regeneration sites placement. In *IEEE International Conference on Communications*, Cape Town, South Africa, May 2010.
- [1110] M. Youssef, S. Al Zahr, and M. Gagnaire. Cross optimization for rwa and regenerator placement in translucent wdm networks. In *IEEE/IFIP International Conference on Optical Networking Design and Modeling*, Kyoto, Japan, Feb. 2010.
- [1111] M. Youssef, E. A. Doumith, and M. Gagnaire. Power-aware multi-rate wdm network design under static/dynamic traffic. In *IEEE Global Communications Conference*, Houston, USA, Dec. 2011.

9.3.3 OS: Books and Book Chapters

- [1112] A. P. Bianzino, A. RAJU, and D. Rossi. *Energy Consumption in the Internet Core: a Sensitivity Analysis*. IGI Global, Hershey, Pennsylvania (USA), 2011.
- [1113] T. Bonald and M. Feuillet. Performances des réseaux et des systèmes informatiques. Hermes, 2011.
- [1114] T. Bonald and M. Feuillet. Network performance analysis. Wiley, 2011.
- [1115] T. Bonald and A. Proutière. A queueing analysis of data networks. Springer, 2011.
- [1116] A. Finamore, M. Mellia, M. Meo, and D. Rossi. KISS: Stochastic Packet Inspection for UDP Traffic Classification. Fridericiana Editrice Universitaria, 2009.
- [1117] B. Liu, P. Martins, P. Bertin, and A. E. Samhat. *Inter-RAT Handover Between UMTS And WiMAX*. Intech, 2009.
- [1118] M. Maqbool, M. Coupechoux, P. Godlewski, and V. Capdevielle. *Achieving Frequency Reuse 1 in WiMAX Networks with Beamforming.* In-Tech, 2009.
- [1119] P. N. Tran and N. Boukhatem. IP-based RFID location system. INTECH, 2010.

9.3.4 AP: Other Productions: Reports, Registred Software, Registred Patent, ...

- [1120] E. A. Doumith, S. Al Zahr, and M. Gagnaire. A method and a system for unambiguous failure localization in translucent optical networks preserving network capacity. (EP10290134), Mar. 2010.
- [1121] E. A. Doumith, S. Al Zahr, and M. Gagnaire. Procédé et système pour la localisation de défaillances non équivoque dans des réseaux optiques translucides conservant la capacité du réseau. (EP10290134), Aug. 2011.

Chapter 10

Software, Systems and Services (S3)

Team leader E. Najm (P).

- Faculty E. Borde (MC,01/11-), I. Demeure (P), A. Diaconescu (MC, 09/09-), E. Najm (P), L. Pautet (P), T. Robert (MC, 10/09-), S. Tardieu (MC), S. Vignes (MC).
- PhD students X. Jean (CIFRE, 06/11–05/14), C. Castellanos (CIFRE, 05/11–04/14), Fabien Cadoret (11/09–10/12) J. Michaux (10/10), G. Nicolas (CIFRE, 02/10), G. Lasnier (10/08-), V. Legout (09/11–), M. Lafaye (CIFRE, 11/09–) B. Debbabi (co-tutored, 2009 –), S. Faye (co-tutored, 11/11–), S. Frey(CIFRE, Nov 2010 –), X. Grehant (10/06 09/10) H. Ha Duong (10/06 09/10), R. Hu(co-tutored 10/10–), Y. Maurel(co-tutored 10/07 12/10), B. Rodriguez (02/09 –), B. Wang (Oct 2010 –).
- **Post-docs, Engineers, Sabbaticals** S. Gardoll, S. Ktari (08/11 12/11, with RMS), N. Costagliola (11/10–06/12, with RMS)
- External collaborations A. Fantechi (Univ. Florence), P. Lalanda (Univ. Grenoble, LIG-ADELE), P. Sens (UPMC-LIP6), R. Doursat (Complex Systems Institute), Jan Carlson (Univ. de Malardalens), Y. Sorel (INRIA), M. Gatti (Thales Avionics), K. Sbata (Orange Labs), J.-C. Fabre and M. Roy (LAAS/CNRS).

10.1 Objectives

It is an inescapable fact that we entered an era where the vast majority of current and future systems, designed and constructed to support human activities, applications and services, are in their various and versatile forms, predominantly characterized by being either distributed or embedded or jointly distributed and embedded. Avionics, Automotive, and the diverse real time systems, on one end; Smart Grids, Clouds, Mobile, Pervasive, Ad hoc or Sensor based, and the various open or large scale systems on the other end; all share at least one of these characteristics. Hence the major role played by Middleware which is a central and essential constituent in providing the functions required by these systems. Middleware is the middle software layer which lies between the hardware resources and the applications and which is responsible for providing proven and working solutions to the increasingly complex problems that are brought by the continuously evolving modern applications. Just to name a few, Middleware is responsible for bringing solutions for the management, distribution, communication, mobility, schedulability, power management and dependability of these systems. More importantly, Middleware is responsible for offering solutions that should operate jointly and in a well coordinated fashion (e.g., communication in the context of mobility, etc.). Hence this incurs an incresed complexity in designing and engineering it.

Thus, the research conducted by the S3 group addresses the main challenges faced in designing and building the right middleware functions for the targeted application domains. The variety of the studied systems motivates a variety in the needed functions and in the associated engineering methods. The place of the middleware itself within these systems is dependent on the system categories and on the supported applications. In embedded systems, it is closer to the hardware and processing resources as higher control on these resources is needed to guarantee the real time and dependability constraints. In open or large scale systems, it is more loosely coupled with hardware resources and more turned towards applications and services. But, nevertheless, in all system categories, rigorous model based approaches are sought in designing and developing middleware solutions in order to reduce development costs while improving quality and correctness.

Hence, the main challenges addressed by the S3 team tackle jointly the two dimensions: (i) Designing the right Middleware, i.e., Finding and developing the needed middleware functions and solutions; and (ii) Designing the Middleware right, i.e., Crafting rigorous methods to design and engineer these functions and solutions. Hereafter we describe these two dimensions in more detail, and in the next section, we present a selection of the findings of the group showing in each how these two dimensions were addressed.

Designing the right Middleware

In many cases, when building applications for complex systems, the taken approach is to rely on middleware that are slightly modified versions of existing general purpose middleware for communications or scheduling... This approach is not satisfactory, and reaches its limititation especially in large scale, dynamic or highly constrained systems.

For instance, existing middleware technologies for Distributed Real time Embedded Systems (DRE) provide general purpose execution platforms targeting a large spectrum of application domains. Their complex design patterns induce large memory footprints and execution overheads but also produce systems that are difficult to analyze and verify. Also, the constraints and performance of the real system resources, in terms of processing power, are not suitably captured for the analysis in the design stages. This problem is aggravated with the introduction of multi-core processors, for which existing resource management and scheduling solutions are no more valid. Especially that these new types of resources need to be considered in the context of green computing and energy consumption constraints.

A first track in our research is precisely aimed at addressing these pitfalls. Our general goal is to produce highly configurable middleware factory correct by construction (i.e. with verifiable strong semantics). The factory has to rely on a flexible, modular and versatile architecture that allows for clear definition of its interfaces and internal structure to allow early decision making with respect to how specific application requirements will be matched. Such a capability would also help in building provably correct code generation processes. The factory should allow for the verification of its individual components as well as their sound integration in the delivered middleware.

Conversely, a number of situations require dynamically adaptable solutions. For example, in ad-hoc networks, nodes may dynamically enter and leave the network, hence the system must dynamically reconfigure itself; if the nodes are mobile, it should dynamically adapt to the evolving topology. Similarly, the number of devices involved in a pervasive system is a priori unknown and will change over time. Hence the system must dynamically adapt to the evolving configuration. We are therefore designing middleware that takes the dynamic nature of the target systems, as well as their specific capacity and mobility constraints into account. These are the goals pursued in designing middleware for MANets (Mobile Ad-hoc Networks) and in particular for sensor networks.

Going further, autonomic Computing refers to the self-managing (self-configuration, self-healing, self-optimization, self-protection) characteristics of (distributed) computing resources, adapting to runtime changes and hiding intrinsic complexity to operators and users. Hence the team works at developing software architectures and frameworks for facilitating the creation and maintenance of autonomic software systems. We mainly target large-scale, distributed and highly-dynamic systems, such as pervasive or enterprise applications.

Designing the Middleware right

In order to support our activity in designing next generation middleware, new engineering methodologies have to be defined and experimented. We mainly focussed on Model Driven Approaches to support this track of investigation on the engineering process itself. Our main endeavor is to define and build development processes, mainly relying on dedicated transformational tool chain, enabling the design, verification and production tasks to ensure application specific high-level requirements. Model Driven Engineering (MDE) is a key enabling technology: models are versatile as they can describe various software and system engineering artefacts: from requirements down to resources, platforms, application components, infrastructure components, etc.

For instance, the applicability of MDE to Distributed Real time Embedded sytems(DREs) remains one of the sharp edges to be adressed by the research community. One important issue that is still lacking is how to consider the behavior and properties of the resources of the target infrastructure in the early design and verification phases. Our aim is precisely to bring the potential benefits of MDE to reality. Thus, the sought and delivered tool chain has distinctive features that are hard to obtain in DREs. Cost reduction and higher quality are to be achieved by extending the automatic code generation capabilities to distributed code and to the automatic deployment of the system. System quality and correctness is to be enhanced by the use of formal verification of both the functional (deadlock/starvation non-appearance) and non-functional (schedulability, response time) properties of systems. The delivered process should address and integrate the different domains of expertise that are involved in building complex space and avionics systems, from requirements capture, through formal modeling and property assessment, down to to the final implementations.

Furthermore, we apply the model driven approach to the realm of web services. The problems to be solved are those of making autonomously defined and developed services interact safely. Another problem is how to compose and orchestrate services belonging to the Web and Telco domains. Addressing these issues will foster the development of the eco-system of open services.

10.2 Main Results

10.2.1 General Achievments and results

Distinctions, Awards and Positions in Scientific Societies

M. Lafaye and L. Pautet received the Best Paper Award at the IEEE Digital Avionics Systems Conference for their paper: *Model Driven Early Exploration of IMA Execution Platform*. Isabelle Demeure was nominated "Officier" dans l'ordre des palmes académiques (decoration for services to education).

E. Najm is the elected Chair of Working Group 6.1 of IFIP.

E. Najm received the silver core medal from IFIP.

Organized Events

ETR'09 organized by L. Pautet
NEPTUNE'10 organized by E. Najm and L. Pautet
NOTERE'11 organized by A. Serhouchni, I. Demeure and T. Robert.
MAASC'11 organized by A. Diaconescu
ICSSEA'10 and ICSSEA'11 organized by E. Najm and T. Robert
AADL Standardization Meeting (June 2010)
DIAG 21 Workshops organized by T. Robert

Participation in Joint Labs

The S3 group is member of the new Chaire (joint lab) relative to complex systems that was officially set up on November 7 (duration 3 years). The joint Lab involves 4 industrial partners: Thales, Dassault Aviation, DGA (Direction Générale de l'Armement), DCNS and 3 ParisTech schools: Ecole Polytechnique, ENSTA ParisTech and Télécom ParisTech. The goal of this "chaire" is to create a reference research and reference master program in France regarding complex system architecture and engineering.

10.2.2 Model driven development for High-Integrity Real-Time Embedded Systems with realistic resource consumption modeling

Faculty E. Borde, L. Pautet

Main events and external collaborations Jan Carlson (Univ. de Malardalens, Sweeden), Olivier Hachet (Thales Communications), Marc Gatti (Thales Avionique), Jérôme Hugues (ISAE), Peter Feiler (SEI/CMU). Best Paper Award at IEEE Digital Avionics Systems Conference. Patent with Thales on "Procédé de modélisation, simulation et évaluation en avance de phase d'une plate-forme de calcul". Active participation to the AADL standard committee. Specification of the ARINC653 annex for AADLv2.

Projects finalization of Etienne Borde's post-doc, ANR/PARSEC, PhD thesis of M. Lafaye (CIFRE), PhD thesis of M.Lasnier (Ministry scholarship).

Building High-Integrity Distributed Real-time and Embedded Systems (DRE) is a tedious task. Such systems come with strong requirements to ensure safety, reliability and security properties. Model Driven Engineering (MDE) and Component-Based Software Engineering (CBSE) are two distinct but not incompatible approaches that are recognized to be efficient in improving the

design process of these systems. MDE allows a better control on the individual steps of the process and thus reduces development time, complexity and cost. Pursuing a parallel objective, Component-Based Software Engineering (CBSE) is also meant to ease the reuse and integration of existing software libraries into a software application. MDA and CBSE are also useful for the early validation of a system under the condition that the component model exhibits an analyzable semantics.

Hence we worked on the development of a combined MDE and CBSE approach, with specific aims. Our endeavor is to ensure that properties satisfied by the semantics exhibited at some higher modeling stage is enforced at deployment time. To reach this objective, the sought process needs to satisfy two requirements: (i) to preserve the component model semantics along the compilation process, and (ii) to provide for a sufficiently rich and faithful representation of software and/or hardware components so that hardware capacity and behavior is reflected in early design models. These two requirements are not straightforward to fulfill. Considering the first, it is well established that higher level models have different concurrency semantics than the ones underlying execution models and semantics equivalency is difficult to achieve in model transformation. With respect to the second requirement, problems are twofold (i) the characteristics of each hardware component is usually provided as sets of predefined properties corresponding to the general category of the component and hence they are raw approximations, and (ii) the interactions between components in terms of distribution over time lack precision for performance evaluation since the resource consumption estimates are obtained independently of the usage context of these resources, as opposed to the real execution.

We addressed the above problems and we defined and developed a model transformation and code generation process that (i) refines an architectural model into an equivalent one where the semantics properties of the initial model have been mapped into representations of interactions between the applicative components in the underlying runtime environment, and that (ii) integrates compositions of hardware components so as to model and simulate their interactions and to evaluate real resource consumption. Our new refinement approach uses AADLv2 and the AADL behavior annex. We participated to the standardization process as advanced users and contributors of this annex. It lead to several internship with the team in charge of this component model at SEI/CMU. It helped us to specify the middleware as a set of AADL architectural components with their explicit behavior. The successive refinements allow to integrate the middleware components in an AADL architectural description, to configure them with the system properties extracted from the model and to analyze the overall system including both the application and middleware components. Also, interactions among hardware components can be described with different levels of granularity, in order to provide early estimates of the hardware resources consumption. This part of the process takes advantage of two standardized languages, AADL for high-level system modeling, and SystemC, for refined execution platform description and simulation thanks to its simulation kernel. We target the TLM abstraction level, which is the best compromise between simulation speed, simulation accuracy and modeling time, and which fits best our expectations of early modeling and hardware resources usage estimation. This work is part of a fruitful long term collaboration with THALES on MDE approaches to provide for early validation of software systems (applied to avionics), and lead to several publications in major conferences (DASC and DATE).

10.2.3 Model Driven Engineering with reusable components for the design of predictable middleware in safe and secure real-time systems.

Faculty E. Borde, L. Pautet, T. Robert

Projects CIFRE contracts, COUVERTURE and CORAC projects, MNESR (J. Delange).

Our work aims at enabling the design and assessment of Fault Tolerant Architectures through

component based middleware frameworks with predictable dependability and security attributes and encompassing software failures.

Two main tracks are followed in the field of Model Driven engineering. On the one hand, many formal models acquired an operational semantics enabling code generation processes from models. This kind of approach is identified as a key technology to produce so called "fault-free" code. In this field, we can notice the growing community building around synchronous execution models and model based approach designed to prove that the code deployed is predictable. On the other hand, fault-free software is an odd concept for assessing dependability or security, and another track of research is followed which is based on further decomposition of system architectures aiming at understanding and assessing fault confinement architectural patterns and their properties with respect to dependability and security attributes.

Thus, we developed and improved the state of the art in test based and fault injection methodologies especially through the COUVERTURE project. Nevertheless, our work mainly belongs to the second track of investigation. Especially, we apply our research to partitioned systems for which fault containment is a key issue to ensure system security as well as for system dependability. In that context, we rely on mature dependability assessment approaches based on model-checking. It is now possible to perform model checking on non-trivial dependability and security models (like CTMCs or Markovian Decision Processes, and even hidden markov models). Yet, no method provides a clear interpretation of failure probabilities for software systems in terms of fault or attack models and this is due to the various possible meanings that can be associated with this notion of failure probability: likelihood, possibility, or absolute failure rate. For this reason our approach is based on Architectural Description Languages (ADLs) which are dedicated for embedded system (e.g. MARTE, AADL), and which provide means to model systems with both their software and hardware artifacts and to explicitly define dependencies between these two domains with respect to fault activation and propagation. This ability to model both aspects helped us solve many issues related to dependability assessment. The CORAC projet provides us the means to continue this effort in building a unifying modeling framework for both security and dependability integrity concepts together with verification methodologies.

10.2.4 Advanced scheduling approaches for new hardware and software architectures in real-time embedded systems

Faculty E. Borde, L. Pautet, T. Robert

Projects PARSEC, MESR PhD thesis.

This work is concerned with new scheduling schemes that address the issues of scheduling in the context of task execution overhead and energy consumption management.

Schedulability analysis validate task models with respect to various assumptions made on the properties of the execution platform that will host the task set. But it is still a major issue to assess schedulability when the execution platform induces overheads on the execution of tasks. Many scheduling methods have been proposed to deal with different types of overhead costs. Nevertheless, these methods do not cope with the increasing complexity of hard-real time systems. Indeed, the number of services integrated on embedded execution platforms is increasing, thus diversifying the possible sources of overhead. Hence, defining a scheduling scheme and associated feasibility analysis method to handle various sources of CPU consumption overheads is still an open problem.

Several approaches have been proposed to schedule real-time systems while reducing the energy consumption. They extend classical scheduling techniques designed for mono-core architectures. Basically, they take advantage of two mechanisms available on processors which

offer energy management. The first (DVFS) provides Dynamic Voltage and Frequency Scaling. The second one (DPM) Dynamic Power Management allows switching off the processor for a period of time. During the last decades, new algorithms have been designed to schedule real-time systems on multi-core architectures. But these algorithms have not yet been revisited to manage energy consumption.

Hence, our global aim is to design new scheduling algorithms and their middleware counter parts to take into account non-functional properties such as system overheads or energy consumption. To handle these properties, our approach is to provide for system models analysis resulting either in the definition or in the selection of an application specific scheduler. More precisely, we have defined a scheduling scheme and a feasibility analysis method to handle new issues in real-time embedded systems such as non-determinism due to CPU consumption overheads or energy consumption in multi-core architectures. This work is related to our results from the PARSEC project but go behond the boundaries of this project. Our approach is generic to take into account various kinds of overhead sources. It is based on exploiting high-level execution traces which integrate and test overhead sources incrementally with respect to the initial execution model. Application properties are extracted to propose a scheduling scenario taking into account overhead sources. Our generic approach is currently integrated in our Eclipse environment with other model transformation works like those conducted in the context of the PARSEC project. It is currently experimented on various avionic case studies.

10.2.5 Architectures and Frameworks for Autonomic Systems

Faculty I. Demeure, A. Diaconescu

Main events and external collaborations Philippe Lalanda (ADELE team, LIG laboratory), University Joseph Fourrier, René Doursat (The Complex Systems Institute).

Projects CIFRE EDF R&D, Cube (University of Grenoble), MEDICAL (Minealogic project).

Autonomic Computing refers to the self-managing (self-configuration, self-healing, self-optimization, self-protection) characteristics of (distributed) computing resources, adapting to runtime changes and hiding intrinsic complexity to operators and users. The design and development of such systems is rather complex and should be assisted by well defined architectures, patterns and frameworks. The field is active, however few frameworks and architectures have been proposed since the introduction of this concept by IBM about 10 years ago. The existing ones are limited either in the purpose (dedicated to specific systems), in the scale of the targeted systems, or their ability to integrate or federate various autonomic systems.

Our research focuses on developing software architectures and frameworks for facilitating the creation and maintenance of autonomic software systems. We mainly target large-scale, distributed and highly-dynamic systems, such as pervasive or enterprise applications. We have two main contributions that we realized in the past two years. The first contribution lies in the development of a generic model-based approach and framework for enabling software systems to self-grow and self-maintain in highly dynamic and unpredictable environments. This work is carried out as part of the Cube project (in collaboration with University of Grenoble). The Cube framework has evolved through two incremental iterations. A comprehensive prototype for large-scale distributed applications is expected by the end of 2011.

The second contribution consists in the design and development of generic architectures and frameworks for facilitating the creation and maintenance of autonomic management systems. A number of reusable design patterns have been identified and defined for facilitating the integration of complex and adaptive autonomic management systems based on simpler reusable modules.

We also have a contribution in the realm of micro-smart grids. We adopted a scenario-driven approach and identified and then specified (jointly with designers from the SES department) a number of application scenarios relative to micro-smart grids where the objective is to leverage energy consumption in homes. Another scenario was identified and prototyped for dynamic surveillance of electricity consumption in ultra large scale systems (with help from researchers of the BiLAB).

10.2.6 Middleware and distributed algorithms for ad-hoc network based systems

Faculty C. Chaudet (RMS team), A. Diaconescu, I. Demeure, Annie Gentes (SES department), S. Tardieu.

Main events and external collaborations Pierre Sens (REGAL team, LIP6, UPMC).

Projects Transhumance (ANR 2006-2009), DIAFORUS (ANR 2009-2012), 2 EDITE PhD grants (sources: MESR and CNAM).

Distributed systems built on top of ad-hoc networks, must adapt to the evolving topology of such networks. When the network involves limited capabilities such as sensors and smartphones, they must also take these limitations into account. This work seeks to develop middleware solutions and distributed algorithms adapted to these constraints.

We have designed publish/subscribe based middleware solutions and distributed algorithms for information dissemination and information sharing targeting systems relying on ad-hoc networks.

In a first project, we were concerned with the design and development of a middleware for a small scale mobile ad-hoc network of internet tablets. We designed and developed an energy-aware publish/subscribe middleware robust to the frequent disconnections that occur in mobile ad-hoc networks when participants are moving. At the time when this research was conducted, we could not find an equivalent solution. Another contribution of this project was the design of original distributed algorithms for data sharing in stable neighborhoods in such networks. They used semantic information to do statistical replication of data over the participant devices. The project was conducted with a scenario-driven approach. This allowed us to design and develop a treasure hunting game that very well demonstrated the essence and the results of the project.

In a second ongoing project, we are concerned with the design of a publish/subscribe based middleware for a wireless sensor network. We are currently designing a solution taking into consideration the limited capabilities of the network nodes as well as the limited energy (the sensors are battery operated). The choice of the proper number of publish/subscribe brokers as well as their placement is a key problem. Finally, we are investigating algorithmic solutions for information dissemination in large-scale ad-hoc networks. We have proposed a new criterion named "effectual fanout" for the comparative study of epidemic algorithms over a variety of random topologies.

10.2.7 Architecting convergent and orchestrated services

Faculty E. Najm

Main events and external collaborations K. Sbata (Orange Labs).

Projects MOTELI (Digiteo), Orange bilateral project, PhD CIFRE.

This work is concerned with architectures and engineering methods for the provision of Web and Telco services. The general endeavour is to foster a business model offering rich and convergent services. Our results are twofold: the first is related to an end-to-end architecture for convergent Web and Telco services. The second addresses the issue of enforcing compatibility between orchestrated web services. We describe these two results hereafter.

Over the last few years, significant evolutions such as the mobile phones' enhanced Webbrowsing capabilities and the technical incursion of Web major players into the Telco world (e.g. Google, Facebook) have reduced the gap between Telecom and Web worlds. In this context, converging IMS (Internet Multimedia Subsystems) and Web service platforms have become a key challenge that needs to be addressed by both Web and telecom players. Several interesting solutions, illustrating different convergence approaches, have been proposed so far. Unfortunately, none of them has been able to provide an efficient way to set up end-to-end converging services. Indeed, Web-based applications are synchronous, as they rely on HTTP. On the other hand, IMS services can be provided in both asynchronous and synchronous modes. We define synchronous applications as services in which each provided resource or piece of information has to be explicitly requested by the consumer and asynchronous applications as services that can notify their consumers anytime they need. But recently, the W3C and the IETF have released new standards (HTML5 and Websocket protocol), introducing important evolutions in the Web paradigm. In particular, the Websocket technology allows a native support for asynchronous Web applications. Our proposal is a converging framework (called WSE, standing for WebSocket Enabler) that takes advantage of this new technology to achieve end-to-end service convergence.

In the context of web services described using the BPEL orchestration language, services may interact in an inappropriate and incompatible manner resulting in run-time errors and/or complex exception handling when unexpected messages or when messages containing values with unexpected types are received. Current approaches to solve this problem are limited to checking the syntactic compatibility between sent and received operations. Our approach to solve this issue is using a session based approach. We enhanced BPEL with the session paradigm, and we made sessions as first class citizens. During a session, a client and a service can engage in a complex series of interactions. We introduced session types in order to prescribe the correct orderings of these interactions. Service providers must declare their provided and required session types. We defined also a typing algorithm that checks if an orchestrated service behaves according to its declared provided and required types. Using compatibility and a subtyping relation defined on session types, we show that any collection of well typed service partners with compatible session types are interaction safe, i.e., no message comes unexpected to any of the involved partners.

10.3 References

10.3.1 ACL: Articles in ISI-Indexed Journals

- [1122] J. Bourcier, A. Diaconescu, P. Lalanda, and J. McCann. Autohome: an autonomic management framework for pervasive home applications. *ACM Transactions on Autonomous and Adaptive Systems (TAAS)*, 6(1):8:1–8:10, Jan. 2011.
- [1123] A. Gentes, A. Guyot-Mbodji, and I. Demeure. Gaming on the move: Urban experience as a new paradigm for mobile pervasive game design. *Springer Multimedia Systems Journal*, 16(1), Jan. 2010.
- [1124] A. R. Khakpour and I. Demeure. Chapar: A persistent overlay event system for manet. Mobile Networks and Applications, 15(6):866–875, Nov. 2010.

10.3.2 ACTIP: Articles in Proceedings of Major International Conferences

[1125] E. Borde and J. Carlson. Towards verified synthesis of procom, a component model for real-time embedded systems. In 14th International ACM SIGSOFT Symposium on Component Based Software

- Engineering (CBSE), pages 129-138, Boulder USA, June 2011. ACM.
- [1126] C. Chaudet, I. Demeure, and S. Ktari. A model to evaluate performance of a multi-brokers overlay for publish/subscribe in wireless sensor networks. In 9th International Conference on Wireless Ondemand Network Systems and Services, Courmayeur, Italy, Jan. 2012.
- [1127] M. Lafaye, D. Faura, M. Gatti, and L. Pautet. Model driven early exploration of ima execution platform. In *IEEE Digital Avionics Systems Conference*, Seattle, USA, Oct. 2011.
- [1128] M. Lafaye, L. Pautet, E. Borde, M. Gatti, and D. Faura. Model driven resource usage simulation for critical embedded systems. In *IEEE/ACM Design, Automation, and Test in Europe*, Dresde, Mar. 2012.
- [1129] Y. Maurel, A. Diaconescu, and P. Lalanda. Ceylon: A service-oriented framework for building autonomic managers. In 7th IEEE Conference and Workshops on Engineering of Autonomic and Autonomous Systems (EASe), Oxford, England, Mar. 2010.
- [1130] Y. Maurel, P. Lalanda, and A. Diaconescu. Towards introspectable, adaptable and extensible autonomic managers. In *International Conference on Network and Service Management*, Oct. 2011.
- [1131] Y. Maurel, P. Lalanda, and A. Diaconescu. Towards a service-oriented component model for autonomic management. In *IEEE International Conference on Services Computing (SCC)*, Washington, DC, USA, July 2011.
- [1132] G. Nicolas, K. Sbata, and E. Najm. Architecting end-to-end convergence of web and telco services. In *iiWAS*, Ho Chi Minh, Vietnam, Dec. 2011. ACM.
- [1133] S. Tardieu and A. Polti. Complementing ada with other programming languages. In *ACM SIGAda* international conference on *Ada*, pages 105–114, St. Petersburg, Florida, USA, Nov. 2009.

10.3.3 ACLN: Articles in Other Refereed Journals

- [1134] J. Delange, L. Pautet, A. Plantec, M. Kerboeuf, F. Singhoff, and F. Kordon. Validate, simulate, and implement arinc653 systems using the aadl. *Ada Lett.*, 29:31–44, November 2009. ISSN 1094-3641. doi: http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/1653616.1647435. URL http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/1653616. 1647435.
- [1135] J. Delange, L. Pautet, and F. Kordon. Model Based Approach for the configuration of ARINC653 embedded systems, chapter Model Based Approach for the configuration of ARINC653 embedded systems. IGI Global, Hershey, PA 17033, USA, 2010.
- [1136] J. Mathieu, C. Jouvray, F. Kordon, A. Kung, J. Lalande, F. Loiret, J. Navas, L. Pautet, and J. Pulou. Flex-eware: a flexible mde-based solution for designing and implementing embedded distributed systems. Software Practice and Experience, Dec. 2011.
- [1137] L. Pautet and et al. Couverture: an innovative open framework for coverage analysis of safety critical applications. *Ada User Journal*, 30(4):248 255, Dec. 2009.

10.3.4 INV: Invited Talks

- [1138] E. Najm. Service orchestration with orcharts and typecharts. In Seminaire INRIA, Rennes, France, Mar. 2010.
- [1139] E. Najm. Enforcing compatibility between web services. In *Invited Seminar at KAIST*, Daejeon, South Korea, Dec. 2011.
- [1140] E. Najm. Why don't our services get along? In *Invited Seminar at Postech*, Pohang, South Korea, Dec. 2011.
- [1141] E. Najm. Controllability of orchestrated sessions. In *Invited Talk WWV'11, 7th Int'l Workshop on Automated Specification and Verification of Web Systems*, Reykjavik, Iceland, June 2011.

10.3.5 ACTI: Articles in Proceedings of other International Conferences

10.3.6 ACTN: Articles in Proceedings of French Conferences

- [1142] S. Frey, F. Huguet, I. Demeure, A. Diaconescu, D. Menga, and C. Mivielle. Scénarios pour un micro smart grid autonomique. In *UbiMob*, pages 88–95, Toulouse, France, June 2011. ISBN: 978-2-917490-16-7.
- [1143] A. Polti and S. Tardieu. D'élève à collègue en 10 semaines. In *Questions de pédagogies dans l'enseignement supérieur*, Angers, France, June 2011.

[1144] B. H. Rodriguez, J.-C. Moissinac, and I. Demeure. Multimodal services for the pervasive semantic web. In *UBIMOB 2010*, Lyon, June 2010.

10.3.7 COM: Talks in Conferences Which Do Not Publish Proceedings

[1145] A. Diaconescu, D. Bassem, and P. Lalanda. Self-growing software from architectural blueprints. In *Morphogenetic Engineering Workshop (MEW), European Conference on Artificial Life (ECAL)*, Paris, France, Aug. 2011.

10.3.8 OS: Books and Book Chapters

- [1146] S. Haddad, F. Kordon, L. Pautet, and L. Petrucci. *Distributed Systems: Design and Algorithms*. Wiley, 2011.
- [1147] S. Haddad, F. Kordon, L. Pautet, and L. Petrucci. *Models and Analysis in Distributed Systems*. Wiley, 2011.

Part III Economics and Social Sciences

Social and Economic Sciences (SES)

The department of economic and social sciences (which composes one single "team" for the purposes of this evaluation document) is an interdisciplinary department for teaching and research, At the 1st of November 2011, it is composed of 29 permanent members in teaching and/or research positions (among which 4 researchers from CNRS and 1 from INRIA), 8 associate researchers, 28 ongoing Ph.D projects, 19 non permanent members and post-doc (among which four visiting professors from abroad for various durations), and 3 persons employed in administrative capacities.

It is original in the French landscape by being highly multi-disciplinary: it involves researchers in economics, management sciences, sociology, information and communication sciences, cognitive psychology and ergonomics, liable to several sections of the CNRS, 29, 34, 36, 37, 40 and 44, as well as CNU section 71 (not represented in CNRS). Its focus is therefore not disciplinary but thematic. It aims to cover the Information and Communication Technology (ICT)"human"-oriented perspectives, with two sets of equally stringent, and sometime cross-cutting exigencies: operating at the cutting edge of each disciplinary field, while also participating to collaborative and innovative research projects (involving cooperation either between social sciences or between social science and more 'technology-oriented' departments and industries) which directly benefit from the involvement of multiple disciplines. But in this particular domain, trying to satisfy both exigencies as much as possible is a key to original, innovative research which may shed new light on the uses of ICTs, for these are usually oriented with respect to multiple normative orders, economic, social, technological, etc.

For management purposes, the department is organized in three research groups, two in Paris and one in Sophia Antipolis. Its research activities are structured around three axes which are deliberately not congruent with the boundaries of the three groups (because they aim towards stimulating various forms of interdisciplinary collaboration). These three research axes each explore significant issues regarding mediated interactions and transactions, but at several scales. At the "macro level" Axis 1 one looks at regulation and innovation-related phenomena in the telecommunication sector. At the "meso level", Axis 2 studies the production, circulation and reception of media and cultural contents with an eye towards the blurring of the boundaries between producers and consumers, professional and amateurs, etc. At the "micro level" Axis 3 focuses on mediated interactions and the local management of situations and activities relying on communication technologies and services.

Chapter 11

Social & Economic Sciences

11.1 Regulation and Innovation (RINNO)

Faculty animators Maya Bacache (MdC) and Marc Bourreau (P).

Faculty members Maya Bacache, David Bounie, Marc Bourreau, Myriam Davidovici-Nora, Dana Diminescu, Laura Draetta, Valerie Fernandez, Laurent Gille, Thomas Houy, Rémi Maniak, Gerard Pogorel.

External Research associates: Michael Ballé, Philippe Barbet, Godefroy Beauvallet, Abel Francois, Chiraz Karamti, Tommaso Valletti.

Doctoral students: Yassine Bouhdaoui, Benjamin Chevalier, Joeffrey Drouard, Germain Gaudin, Christian Grèce, Tania Horquin, Lionel Janin, Yun Jiang, Bruno Karoubi, Carine Khalil, Laurie Marrauld, Serge Pajak, Raphael Raieb, Lilia Rebai, Dominique Vian, Winston Maxwell.

Post-doctoral students: Frago Kourandi (2010-2011), Mattia Nardotto (2010-2011).

Visiting researchers: Carlo Cambini (2010), Martin Peitz (Nov. 2011).

Research contracts

SportViews European project, COST Action IS0605 EconTel (2008-2011), Research contracts with the Department of Regulatory Affairs of France Telecom (2007-2011), Research contracts with the Groupement Cartes Bancaires "CB"(2005-2011), Contracts with regulatory authorities in developing countries, Chaire "Regulation and Innovation in Digital Services" Orange-Ecole Polytechnique-Telecom ParisTech, Contract with the Department of Justice (2011-2012), Project LETTI (2009), CNRS ANR Corpus -Mobitic (2007-2010)

PhD projects

Yassine Bouhdaoui, (started 2010): "Currency systems, technological changes and the social cost of cash."

Benjamin Chevallier (started 2006, ended 2010): "The structuration of new market services and the management of regulation costs by mediated communities."

Joeffrey Drouard (started 2006, ended 2010): "Competition and investment in telecommunications."

Germain Gaudin (started 2009): "Innovation and regulation in the telecommunication industry."

Christian Grece (started 2006): "Management and pricing of the hertzian spectrum." Tania Horquin (started 2007): "The forms of emergence of the markets for teleservices." Lionel Janin (started 2009, ended 2011): "Competition and regulation."

Yun Jiang (started 2004, ended 2010): "The structuration of the value chain for mobile technology in the context of the growth of multimedia technologies: which economic models?"

Laurie Marrauld (started 2010): "Mobilité équipée par les TIC : analyse de comportements émergents."

Bruno Karoubi (started 2006): "Economics of payments."

Carine Khalil (started 2008, ended 2011): "Les méthodes de développement agile et les dynamiques d'organizing : une approche par la pratique."

Serge Pajak (started 2007, ended 2011): "Intellectual property and innovation strategies."

Raphael Raieb (started 2011): "Gouvernance des communautés médiatiées : le cas d'un collectif d'auteurs de livres scolaires numériques."

Lilia Rebai (started 2004, ended 2009): "Identifying relevant telecom markets in Tunisia."

Dominique Vian (started 2006, ended 2010): "From the assessment of invention to its transformation in innovation: cognitive processes."

Winston Maxwell (started 2011): "Achieving audiovisual policy objectives via telecommunications regulation."

Alexis Maingard (started 2009): "Reforms, sector outcomes and economic growth in Telecommunications in Africa".

Hai Xiaodong (started 2009): "Pricing strategy for App stores"

Aude Shoentgen (started 2011): "Risk assessment in valuation of telecom investments in Africa".

11.1.1 Context and objectives

The dynamics of ICT industries are influenced by a tension between innovation and regulation [1341]. Indeed, these industries are characterized both by a high pace of innovation (affecting the supply side and the demand side), and strong regulation (through intellectual property, the scrutiny of competition authorities, and sector-specific regulation). On the one hand, due to the endogenous relationship between technological progress and industry structure, regulatory policies clearly affect the speed of technological change, via two different channels. First, price regulations (e.g., the regulation of interconnection charges and retail prices in telecoms, the regulation of the interchange fee in the payment industry, the control of prices in the health sector, etc.) alter industry profits, and hence the incentives to innovate. Secondly, both price and entry regulations (e.g., spectrum licenses, patents, banking licenses, ...) change the terms of entry, and hence innovation decisions regarding new entry. But on the other hand, to the extent that technological changes alter the organization of the industry, the speed of innovation – particularly in the new markets – should also be reflected in any regulatory intervention. If regulatory authorities cannot respond fast enough to follow the rapid change of the market, many regulatory measures then become either inefficient or obsolete.

Consequently, new flexible forms of regulation are called for. Indeed, though a regulation which would not adapt fast enough to changes in technologies or market structures would be inefficient, an unregulated environment would probably also lead to inefficient outcomes, as the current economic crisis illustrates. We therefore need to rethink public policy, by taking into account innovation dynamics and the institutional constraints.

This research project tackles the two dimensions of the relation between innovation and public policy through two different areas of research:

Sub-theme 1: Innovation in Regulated Industries. In this second area of research, we study innovation strategies in industries where regulatory constraints are binding (intellectual property, constraints on R&D collaboration in Europe and US, specific regulations, etc.).

Sub-theme 2: Regulation in Innovative Industries. In this first area of research, we study the design of public policy in innovative industries. In particular, we examine how sector-specific regulation should be designed to take into account its effects on innovation strategies.

11.1.2 Sub-theme 1: Innovation in Regulated Industries

In this area of research, we focus on innovation strategies, and on the effects of innovation on the industrial organization of specific markets.

Innovation strategies, value and organization

A first research project focused on the impact of a modular product design on (i) component-sharing between competitors [1190], and (ii) cooperation strategies at the R&D stage [1191, 1368]. The main idea behind this research is that sharing technologies may bring forth some benefits in terms of economies of R&D costs, but also has costs due to lower possibilities of differentiation. We have therefore explored the consequences of these benefits and costs on market competition.

We have also continued our research on the different regimes of value, which was started by Laurent Gille 10 years ago with a book on the sources of value (published at L'Harmattan in 2006). This reflection is going forward, with questions of trust and complementary currencies as the main areas of interest, and it should result in a book in 2013.

We recently expanded our research program about value in the management science discipline. This led us to settle the concept of "Full Value" which designates the indirect profits generated by one or several companies selling an innovative product – in analogy to the "full cost" logic. We initiated this research program with two communications [1405, 1406]. It is now the foundation of two research contracts initiated in the automotive industry, and one public research program (with ADEME, to be confirmed). We build methodologies to evaluate the provisional profitability of innovations regarding a wide spectrum of values, in one firm or in one innovative ecosystem. At least one article and one book are in the pipe regarding this research program.

Regarding the issue of "organization for innovation", we ended a 5-year research program initiated with the Innovation Management Chair of Ecole Polytechnique, which compared the organizational settings for innovation of 9 car makers based on the detailed study of 26 innovative features. We submitted an article in the best specialized journal –the "Journal of Product Innovation Management"—to promote the results [1168]. A book is also currently under editing.

Money, payments, and technological innovations

The payments industry has experienced profound changes in the last decades, due in part to many technological innovations: debit and credit cards, electronic money, private money, electronic payment systems on the Internet, mobile phone payments, ATMs, automated compensation procedures, etc. These innovations affect consumer choices in terms of payment instrument and in turn affect economic, monetary and banking activities.

First, the characteristics of payment instruments (in terms of cost, safety, etc.) impact the willingness to pay of consumers and, therefore affect how (well) markets can operate. Second, the use of payment instruments determine partly banks' income, the magnitude of deposits and, in turn, the possibilities of financial intermediation. Third, and finally, the use of payment instruments orient the demand for money (both cash and central bank money) of economic agents. While these questions were for long considered as a by-product in the economic model of the bank, our research has shown that the payment instruments, that lie at the intersection of the economic, banking and monetary spheres, constitute a field of original and fundamental research for banking and monetary economics.

Our contributions have focused on three areas. First, prior to analyzing the impacts of technological innovations, it is important to understand first what are the determinants of the consumer choice between payment instruments. As a first step, we have regrouped the contributions that seek to validate and extend the theoretical models explaining consumer choices in the use of payment instruments [1176, 1177]. Then, in a second step, we have evaluated how technological innovations associated with payments affect the economic, monetary and banking spheres [1172, 1187]. Finally, in a last step, we question the effectiveness and cost of cash

payments primarily in the context of the development of new competing payment technologies [1176, 1180, 1169, 1171, 1170].

A final research project, still ongoing, is to study innovations in payment systems, how they can diffuse and how to encourage firms to develop and implement these innovations. We are particularly interested in mobile payment technologies. In this area, we have shown that there are different business models, whose main characteristics is the degree of dependence with the three pillars of a mobile payment offer: access to the payer's bank account, access to the acceptance network, access to the mobile terminal [1194].

ICT and the health sector

ICT innovations profoundly affect both the supply, demand and market structure of care [1342]. Our research has attempted to address two general questions: what could be the right market design (particularly in relation to issues of technology standards and interoperability of technological systems)? What are the factors of emergence of business ecosystems for a market of e-health? First, we look for recommendations for innovative projects in the medico-social sector. Our research [1342] stresses that, in order to create a business model able to support the deployment of a device, one needs to anchor the technological device in an area, to develop a business model which incorporates the key skills of the health ecosystem, and to clarify the value proposition of the innovation.

Second, we analyzed what are the characteristics of the health ecosystem in the mediumand long-term and what role will ICT play in the future health ecosystem. Our research [1419] emphasizes the possible emergence of a "duty of health" in compensation for the "right to health", which represents a possible displacement of the cursor to a more preventive and restorative medicine.

Third, we have analyzed how the characteristics of demand and supply of care in France will evolve over time. The answer to this question depends on our mastery of emerging health risks, new regulations of the productive sphere, acceptance by the population to undergo preventive courses, the sustainability of the system of risk pooling. We proposed different scenarios of evolution [1420, 1421]. The answer to the question of the evolution of supply will depend on the nature of the relationship between patients and health professionals, the path followed by the organization of the production of care, the place of the protocols in medicine, and the position of health players in the value chain.

Finally, we studied the specificities of the management of hospital information system (HIS) (publications in progress). The issues are those of governance of increased interoperability, the constraints created by the nature of supply of HIS, a change management which is atypical and opportunistic use of the structuring effect of IS.

Information systems and lean management

Lean management is a radical innovation in the production and management process [1251]. What are the specificities of lean management in terms of Human Resource Management? We focus on middle managers in support of production, upstream from other support services, on new tasks operators have in charge with respect to their role in the dynamics of improvement of production processes of the company.

We also analyzed whether the acquisition of a demand forecasting tool by a company can be considered as a substitute for stockpiling by the same company. Counter-intuitively, using a heuristic model, we show that there are situations where protective behaviors (precautionary stock) and prediction behaviors (acquisition of a demand forecasting tool) are complementary to a company [1249].

The "lean" philosophy is also used for the management of computer science projects. It is argued that these approaches are in line with the "interactionist" current in Management Science that highlights the managerial issues of "Organizing." This reflection is going forward [1396].

11.1.3 Sub-theme 2: Regulation in innovative industries

Regulation, competition and investment

A first research project was interested in the functioning of wholesale markets in network industries, where many companies have an infrastructure of its own. The results of this research [1200] showed that network competition on the wholesale market may not emerge. In a similar vein, we studied foreclosure incentives in input markets [1294].

A second research project concerned the so-called ladder of investment in telecoms. This approach has been popularized by the British economist Martin Cave to regulate access to telecommunications networks. It allows new entrants to enter the market rapidly while building an infrastructure gradually [1197, 1199]. The research project (Marc Bourreau, Maya Bacache, Pinar Dogan (Harvard Kennedy School), Germain Gaudin (PhD) and Matthieu Manant (Université Paris XI, Sceaux)) had an empirical component and a theoretical component. First, we tested empirically, from a database of 15 European member States, if the ladder of investment approach has favored the deployment of new access networks by new entrants, as is often claimed. Our results show that this has not been the case. We have also adopted a theoretical approach by modeling the impact of this type of regulation on investment.

We focused more recently on the relationship between regulation and deployment of fiber optic networks. On this subject, our research (a collaboration between Marc Bourreau, Pinar Dogan (Harvard Kennedy School), Carlo Cambini (Politecnico Torino), and Steffen Hoernig (University of Lisbon)) has focused on (i) the relationship between the regulation of traditional (copper) networks and the migration to fiber, (ii) the differentiation of access remedies according to the geography and its impact on the deployment of fiber networks, and (iii) strategies of co-investment in fiber and the relationship between the regulation of access and co-investment decisions [1316, 1196, 1198].

We have also a specific interest in the economics and telecommunications regulation in Africa [1340]. The explosion of demand for services in Africa raises specific business model and regulation issues to address the very specific characteristics of these markets and their context. Whether through the work of students in our courses ("Badge en régulation des télécommunications" opened in sub-Saharan Africa), through specific contributions (Communication to the ITS 2010 Biennial in Tokyo), in researches related to contractual problems of network's interconnection, or the organization in October 2011 of the first edition of the CARET conference (African Conference on Regulation and Economy Telecommunications - 200 participants), research on the conditions for the development of networks and services in Africa is progressing. A textbook is also being prepared.

We have finally examined the paradigmatic example of the taxi market and the impact of the regulation of entry into the market on competition. Bacache and Janin [1253] have quantified the sensitivity of demand for taxi to the waiting time, and therefore to the number of taxis, and they have shown that an increase of over 70% of the number of taxis would not be sufficient to rent that is due to the barrier to entry. Implications are drawn in terms of public policy and the political determinants of such policy.

Territorial governance of ICT

Our thesis is that the question of strategic management of ICT in their relationship to space (and the specific forms of spaces, such as territories and places) requires the use of new analytical tools. In terms of territorial governance, for example, the object is not to question the classical opposition public vs. private, but the issue of new management methods in synergy between these two spheres [1332].

Political economy of regulation

The normative study of public policy must be associated to a positive study with a political economy approach [1233]. The regulator has introduced ICT in its relation to the user. Our research question [1161] is whether e-government was granted to users who have the highest demand for public services or whether, because of a digital divide, it has benefited to the wealthiest. We show by an econometric study controlling for selection bias that the users of e-government are the beneficiaries of social transfers.

A second question concerns the specific methods of economics of human resources in the public service. Bacache [1157] shows the negative effects of variable compensation on equal treatment of users and Bacache and Audier [1158] shows the transformation of the business of regulator, in particular that of prosecutor.

Finally we are concerned with the paradoxical situation of the European market of mobile broadband, or rather the absence of such a market. The European regulatory framework for telecommunications has resulted in a fragmented market, with as many markets as member states. The construction of a European telecommunications sector has not occurred and operators located in several markets are benefiting from this fragmentation, to the detriment of consumers and businesses. The lack of access to pan-European services makes that Europe is lagging behind the U.S. and China, and that it is losing the leadership achieved at the time of GSM. We have made proposals that go beyond those of the European Commission to remedy this situation and create a single market for mobile broadband.

11.2 Mutations of Cultural Industries in a Digital World (MI-CEN)

Faculty animators: Nicolas Auray (MdC) et Patrick Waelbroeck (MdC)

Faculty: Nicolas Auray (MdC), Maya Bacache (MdC), Valérie Beaudouin (DE), David Bounie (P), Marc Bourreau (P), Antonio Casilli(MdC), Myriam Davidovici-Nora (MdC), Olivier Fournout (IE), Isabelle Garron (MdC), Michel Gensollen, Annie Gentès (MdC), Ludovic Lebart DR CNRS émérite), Dominique Pasquier (DR CNRS), Patrick Waelbroeck (MdC),

PhD students Defended (dates are for the defense):

Post-docs, engineers and sabbaticals: Brigitte Bleuzen, Michael Bourgatte, Fanny Georges.

External collaborators: Serge Proulx (UQAM)

Research contracts:

- ANR (program "Content and Interaction") PANIC: "User as Prosumer, active audiences and digitization of Cultural Industries" (2008-2011).
- Contract with the Adami (the french civil society for the administration of the rights of artists and musiciens), M. Bacache, M. Bourreau, M. Gensollen
- Contrat with the Ministry of Culture on the evolution of cultural diversity: M. Bourreau, M. Gensollen
- Contrat with the Département des Etudes from Ministry of Culture, July 2011 to January 2013, "Rise of amateur critics and new forms of cultural recommendations: AlloCiné"; D. Pasquier
- FUI (Fonds unique Interministériel) SOLEN : "Interoperable mobile electronic reading " (2010–2012); I. Garron

- FUI (Fonds unique Interministériel) CINECAST 2010-2012, Film annotation systems V. Beaudouin
- DIME SHS (Equipex), Platform for the collection and dissemination of data for qualitative and quantitative research in SHS, leadership: IEP Paris, Valérie Beaudouin.

PhD thesis

- Bora Eang, supervisors: P. Waelbroeck, D. Bounie, Economics of electronic commerce
- Sébastien François (Futur and Ruptures), supervisor : D. Pasquier, Fan fictions and derived texts
- Irène Bastard (CIFRE Orange), supervisor : D. Pasquier, Readership contribution in the press industry
- Bruno Vétel (CIFRE Orange), supervisors : M. Bourreau, N. Auray, Virtual currencies in videogames
- Benjamin Chevalier, supervisor: M. Gensollen, D. Bounie, *Communities of practice and consumers*. Graduated in 2010.
- Etienne Chantrel, supervisor : M. Bacache, *Competition and Innovation in the press industry*
- Sisley Maillard (CIFRE Orange), supervisor: M. Bourreau, New forms of cultural assessments

Research assistants:

- Stagiaire: Marlène Plard (Paris 1) 3 mois Juin-sept 2011 Financement ANR Panic
- Stagiaire: C de Vulpian (Paris 1) 1 an 2009-2010.
- Tomas Legon (EHESS) 18 mois 2011 -2012.

11.2.1 Objectives

The research project studies the transformation of media content and cultural activities in the digital era. Although some cultural activities have already experienced disruptive technological change, today's fast and easy access to digital content over the internet has revolutionized all cultural industries. Moreover, productivity gains associated with digital copies and internet communications go beyond the productive system and have generated new activity and participation from audiences. This leads us to question the linear model of production.

Beyond the empirical studies detailed below, the project proposes a multidisciplinary approach to the understanding of new forms of coordination and cooperation between authors, editors, producers, retailers and broadcasters, as well as an in-depth study of the transformation of formats linked to new forms of interactions between producers and consumers. The strength of MICEN lies in a comparative analysis of the main cultural industries: music, books, movies, videogames, and press. Three approaches complement each other in this project; each of them has met international standards of visibility and publications.

Cultural economics to understand how cultural industries supply and consumer demand adapt to new forms of digital communication:

1. A pragmatic approach that analyzes culture as performance, and that seeks to understand how material conditions affect cultural activities and how consumer tastes and amateur work are reflected by different forms of attachment between an individual and an artistic object.

2. A sociological approach to cultural audiences that analyzes the collective dimensions of the process by which cultural products and performances are perceived in a community.

The axis is led by researchers who have already studied the four main cultural industries (music, movies, book, videogames) and therefore offers a perspective on how different supports have adapted to the media convergence. The interdisciplinary component and the competence across different cultural industrial sectors allow this project to target a comparative analysis, which is promoted by regular seminars.

In 2011 we have organized 5 sessions:

- · March 2011 : general presentation of the research in the axe
- June 2011: presentations by Valérie Beaudouin on film annotation, Maya Bacache on public subsidies to multimedia artists and David Bounie on the electronic commerce of cultural goods
- October 2011: Presentation by Marc Bourreau on self-releasing entrepreneurs in the music industry.
- November 2011: Presentation by Nicolas Auray on the sociology of overchoice
- December 2011: Presentation by Antonio Casilli on the use of algorithms in sociology

11.2.2 Open Innovation and "economy of contribution"

The digitization of cultural industries allows some users to adjust, transform, or co-create cultural products. This section proposes empirical studies of the new creative role of readers, viewers and listeners as well as a review of "open innovation" strategies which allow spillovers and avoid cannibalization.

Beaudouin [1167] identifies the mechanisms that have gradually made the consumer an active participant in the process of producing cultural commodities.

In videogames industry, Davidovici-Nora [1206] studies the control of open innovation and the strategies of promotion by editors. "Open innovation" leads to the topic of the new forms of organizations of online communities. Auray [1148] studies the governance issues and the management of online communities. Auray [1305] has studied the three main explanations of the contribution and participation to online communities.

11.2.3 Autoproduction, autopromotion and the professionnalization of amateurs

The structure of cultural industries traditionally modeled as an oligopoly with a competitive fringe is challenged by the digital transformation of the value chain. Lower entry barriers allow amateurs to build their own reputation and reach their audiences. The diffusion and promotion of cultural products now includes the self promotion of niche artists.

Bacache, Bourreau, Gensollen and Moreau [1308] study the impact of digital technologies on musicians. Using a survey of French professional musicians, they show that adopting digital technologies allow musicians to increase their revenues. Besides, they show that digital tools increase the propensity of artists to self-release their music, both for star artists and for musicians with less notoriety.

François [1235] studies challenges in identity construction among fanfiction writers.

Beaudouin and Fréard are pursuing a research project that aims at determining how the careers of a sample of online writers have evolved over a period of 10 years. They distinguish among star contributors who do not update frequently their content and newcomers who experiment new formats.

11.2.4 Transformation of practices, new formats and new esthetics

This section analyzes newly invented formats related to the increased participation of active audiences. Pasquier [1351] analyzes the evolution of press coverage of cultural events and releases in two newspapers on the time period 1960-2000. She also studies how cultural practices may be used for gendered presentation of self in youth society [1291]. Next, Auray and George [1400] investigate the organizational schemes of a "digital culture" where users enrich contents produced by publishers of video games: the machinima avantgarde. Beaudouin and Garron study how new reading technologies such as the iPad changes editorial strategies and content creation (V.Beaudouin et I.Garron Les revues à l'ère du Web et de l'ipad, manquant dans la base). Finally, in an article submitted to peer-reviewed journal, and arising from the CINECAST contract, Beaudouin and Fournout show how users of a film annotation technology collaboratively interact to produce a new way to watch movies.

11.2.5 Parallel distribution by consumers

Bacache, Bourreau, Gensollen and Moreau study whether the opinions of artists on piracy are in line with their economic interests. Using a survey from French musicians, they show that those who do more live performances are more tolerant of piracy, whereas the attitude of self-released artists is closer to that of the record companies –they are less tolerant of piracy [1349]. Bounie and Waelbroeck [1181] use survey data from the INSEE to analyze the impact of piracy on the purchase of legal online audio-visual content.

11.2.6 New forms of recommendation

The increasing visibility of online communities allows consumers to broadcast and share their views and comments. Audiences are becoming more active, often led by expert consumers. This process is interactive and self-reinforcing as the frontier between consumers and artists, between amateur and professional critics has become blurred.

Pasquier, in a forthcoming book, analyzes advice networks on plays and groupings for theater going (D.Pasquier, *Le théâtre, une sortie sociale,* Paris DEPS Questions de Culture, 2012). In parallel, she characterizes forms of sociabilities in a group of female theater goers in France (D.Pasquier - "Les sociabilités de la culture cultivée: étude des groupes d'amis du théâtre de Chaillot" in PJ Benghozi et T. Paris (eds), Howard Becker et les mondes de l'art, Paris, L'Harmattan, sous presse 2012). Finally, Pasquier studies how families regulate the use of Internet by their children.

Beaudouin, Bleuzen and Garron are studying how communities of readers influence the way people read content on iPads as well as book recommendations. In a related research, Auray [1359] examines search engines and their influence on the exploratory behavior of members of online communities, such as folksonomies.

Finally, Bourreau, Gensollen, Moreau and Senellart have measured how the diversity of consumption of music has evolved over the last decade [1201].

11.2.7 New business models

Research in the section analyzes how online distribution technologies have transformed the value chain in cultural industries and their Impacts on business models. Researchers associated with contract PANIC have published a book on the transformation of four cultural industries in the digital era [1306].

Bounie, Eang, Sirbu and Waelbroeck analyze online price dispersion of cultural products sold on various Amazon marketplaces. They show that internet users do not necessarily purchase form the seller with the lowest price [1189]. They also argue that new online platforms that gather buyers and sellers represent an opportunity for producers of niche orold cultural products [1188].

Finally, they compare online to physical sales of books and show that new online distribution channels segment the demand for books [1186].

Auray [1149] studied the construction and reception of "unlimited" commercial offers. Users trade off between curiosity and anxiety, under anomic dynamics.

11.2.8 Elements of visibility

Scientific Committees; Editorial Boards, Research Fundings:

- N.Auray, Scientific Board of Game and Entertainment Technologies (IADIS) 2011, Genre et Jeu Video Conference (Lyon 1, 2012)
- N.Auray, Scientific Board of Reset (Recherches en sciences sociales sur Internet)
- M. Bourreau, co-editor of *Information Economics and Policy*, member of the editorial board of *Telecommunications Policy* and *Communications & Strategies*.
- D.Pasquier, Scientific Board of Réseaux, Northern Lights, Popular Communication, Journal of Children and Media, Télévision.
- D.Pasquier Vice-chair of comité de suivi de l'appel d'offre "Formes et mutations de la communication "ANR, 2008-2012
- D.Pasquier Présidente du comité d'évaluation de l'appel d'offre "Communication and Information Sciences" de la Fundação para a Ciência e a Tecnologia (Portugal), 2007, 2009, 2010, 2011
- D.Pasquier -Responsable de l'équipe française du programme de la Commission Européenne " EUkids Online ". 2009-2011.
- D.Pasquier, Guest Editor of the special issue- "Les séries télévisées ", Réseaux 2011, n°165 (avec O Donnat)
- D.Pasquier, Guest Editor of the special issue- "Enfance et cultures "Réseaux, 2011 n° 168/169 (avec S Octobre)
- P. Waelbroeck, member of the editorial board of the Journal of Cultural Economics
- P. Waelbroeck, member of the board of the association European Policy for Intellectual Property
- M. Bourreau & P. Waelbroeck, member of the scientific committee of the Telecom ParisTech international conference on the economics of ICT, 2009, 2011
- P. Waelbroeck, member of the scientific committee of the Applied Econometric Association on the econometrics of the internet, 2009

Organization of workshops and seminars:

- I.Garron, Workshop coordinator for the Chair "Modélisation des Imaginaires" (mars-avril 2011)
- D.Pasquier Co organisatrice du colloque international "Enfance et cultures", Paris, 15-17 décembre 2010
- M. Bourreau & P. Waelbroeck, co-organisateurs du workshop recherche du groupe économie et gestion,
- P. Waelbroeck, co-organisateur du séminaire "économie et économétrie de l'innovation avec U. Paris 1, U. Paris 2, Mines ParisTech

11.3 Interaction, technology, activity (INTERACT)

Team leader Françoise Détienne (DR CNRS) and Christian Licoppe(P).

Faculty Nicolas Auray (MdC), Michael Baker (DR CNRS), Valérie Beaudouin (DE), Béatrice Cahour (CR CNRS), Jérôme Denis (MdC), Françoise Détienne (Dr CNRS), Dana Diminescu (IE), Valérie Fernandez (MdC), Annie Gentès (MdC), Christian Licoppe (P), Julien Morel (MdC), Marc Relieu (IE), Willemien Visser (CR INRIA)

PhD students (starting - ending)

Jeremy Boy (end 2011-), Maria laneva (2007-), Stéphane Couture (2007-), Aude Guyot (2011-), Anne-Marie Hébert (end 2008-), François Huguet (2011-), Caroline Jullien (2008-), Laurie Marrauld (end 2011-), Cédric Mivielle, (2011-), Claudine Nguyen (2009-), Cyril Thomas (2009), Magali Prost (2009-), Stéphanie Vidal, (2010-), Hanene Jomaa (-2009), lan Hing Ting (-2010), Dominique Vian (-2010), Dimitri Voilmy (-2011)

Post-docs, engineers: Dominique Fréard, Julien Figeac, Caroline Guillot, Yoriko Inada, Marie-Christine Legout, Maud Verdier

Visiting researchers and sabbaticals Charles Crook (Nottingham U, UK), Christian Heath (King's College London, UK), Kari Kuutti (U. of Oulu, Finland), Paul Luff (King's College London, UK), Rod

Watson (previously at U. of Manchester, UK; now associate professor at Telecom ParisTech)

Research contracts

As principal Coordinator:

- ANR: EPE "Ecologies end politics of writing" (2006-2009); CCCP-prosodie (2009-2012)
- CNRS: Graphic ecologies of public spaces (2009);
- Others: Géovélo Nantes (2011); Géovélo Paris (2011-2012); Paris Métropole (2011)

As active funded participants:

- ANR: COMUT (2009-2011); PLUG (2009-2009); Myblog3D (2007-2010); MOBITIC (2007-2009); e-diasporas-atlas (2008 -2012); ADAM (2010-2013); INTERMED (2008 2011); UrbanD (2010-2012); PROSE (2010-2012)
- FUI: Turbulences (2009-2011); WITE2.0 (2010-2012)
- European projects: Mignet (2009-2013), 3DLife (2010-2013), Bridge IT (2008-2011); Avidicus 2 (2011-13)
- Institut Supérieur de Communication du CNRS: MOTISTAR (2008-2009)
- Joint Research laboratory: Alcatel-Lucent Bell Labs- Institut Télécom "Ubimedia"
- · Others: GIP justice

Chaire

Modélisations des imaginaires, Innovation et Création, Pierre Musso (coord), (Télécom Paris-Tech, Université Rennes 2, Dassault Systèmes, Ubisoft, Orange, PSA Peugeot-Citroën)

11.3.1 Objectives

The INTERACT research axis deals with the a) way people interact, collaborate and move in complex information ecologies; and b) the ways in which artefacts and larger scale infrastructures supporting interaction and mobility are designed as collective endeavours. On the one hand this research axis is the locus for fundamental research on the dynamics of interaction, mobility and infrastructure (Part 1). On the other, it uses the growing expertise on these topics to support and initiate transverse thematic cutting edge research projects which interweave these themes (Part 2), such as "Migration and communication", and more recently, "Reflexive technologies".

This axis is interdisciplinary in several respects. First it actually combines research done in psychology, ergonomics, sociology, information and communication sciences, management sciences. Second, through its strong orientation towards the direct observation of practice it combines several qualitative methodologies (participant observation, video recording, explicitation interviews, auto-confrontations, as well as more traditional forms of interviews and surveys) and explores their interplay and its limits. Third it tries to treat human practice and the information ecologies it unfolds in symmetrically. Hence there is an autonomous focus on infrastructure studies and design, and an effort to collaborate with technology-oriented specialist fields. Within this project there is a high potential for developing a dialogue between social and human sciences on the one hand and computer sciences on the other.

11.3.2 Fundamental research on interaction, mobility and infrastructure

Sub Theme 1: Collaboration, emotion and presence in technology-mediated contexts

Human-human interaction either in co-presence or at distance is more or less transformed by ICT. Our research is focused on three fundamental mechanisms on which technology mediation may operate: collaboration processes as related to collective knowledge elaboration, relations between social, affective and cognitive dimensions of interactions, and the formats of presence.

Collaboration and knowledge co-elaboration in online communities

Collaboration and cooperation, between humans through technology mediation and between humans and machines, is a first topic of research addressed to understand new forms of knowledge co-elaboration at a distance, online epistemic communities [1329] and technology-mediated design [1412, 1413] as compared to presential design situations [1401, 1299, 1417] [1358] [1418], as well as new forms of services offered to customers through speech interaction [1364]. Fundamental research issues addressed in two ANR projects (CCCP Prosodie; Intermed) on online communities concern: the new forms of "open regulations" [1304]; the interplay between design and regulation activities [1399, 1328]; design-use mediation [1377, 1165, 1363]; inequality of participation and digital divide.

As a transversal issue, research for understanding quality or "qualities" of collaboration [1370, 1379, 1413] is conducted for better approaching the relationship between collaboration, its outcomes and characteristics of tools that mediate collective action. An international workshop [1409] was organised by F. Détienne and M. Baker on this theme in mid-2010, that has given rise to the coordination of a journal special issue (CoDesign Journal, ed Taylor & Francis, to appear in 2012).

Emotion and affective regulation in interactions Emotions are an integral part of human activities, they frequently give orientation to action, reflexion and relations towards others [1203]. Research carried out on the topic of interaction and emotion aims to understand how different types of technological mediation exert influence on the interactive circulation and regulation of emotions [1380], and on the way that different collective activities like risk management or online social support [1352] are carried out. In this context, there is a need to further develop

methodological approaches for understanding the relations between social, affective and cognitive dimensions of interactions [1303]. A workshop funded by the European Science Foundation was organised by M. Baker on this theme in mid-2009, that has given rise to the publication of a book [1314, 1317].

Furthermore, a promising avenue of research that is being explored concerns the interrelations between the analysis of the dynamics of emotions as observed in interactions, and the reflexive study of emotions experienced by interactants, using explicitation interviews, or autoconfrontation [1204, 1404]. Since 2008, this research topic has been reinforced in LTCI by B. Cahour's coordination of one of the five themes (emotions and cognitive load in activity) of the CNRS G.D.R. "Psycho Ergo".

The formats and repertoires of presence. The development of ICT and the proliferation of the modalities of electronic communication also transform the formats and repertoires of presence. One direction of research has been to promote videoconference and its technology-augmented variants as a way to achieve the promise of remote presence or "telepresence", that is a way for remote participants of "being there" that might dense enough to mimic co-presence to some extent. We have launched a large scale study of the uses of video communication regarding both interpersonal and professional or institutional communication. We have constituted several corpora of Skype-based video calls, mobile video calls, meetings in advanced telepresence rooms at OrangeLabs, and Second Life meetings. Our research has highlighted the sequential importance of the 'talking heads' format in mobile video communication [1275], the organization in family-based multi-party video calls, through which participants are "doing being a family" and the interrelation between participation frames and uses of communication media in professional second life meetings [1381]. This has led to new studies being under way, such as how participants are using video communication and camera motions to show or point at something and the management of heterogeneous participation frames in video communication.

A large scale research has also been launched regarding the introduction of video conference technologies in the courtroom for remote testimonies and interrogations. Judiciary settings offer an interesting field to study the articulation of communication technologies and institutional concerns into new politics and regimes of presence. We have been authorized to video record courtroom hearings, which is exceptional, and to constitute a unique corpus of distributed courtroom hearings, in the frame of two successive projects funded by the G.I.P. Justice. This has led to a systematic study of the development of video communication in French courtrooms [1223, 1264], of the way distributed judicial hearings are accomplished as multimedia performances requiring specific competences, and of the way some formal speech acts characteristic of the judiciary ritual could be omitted in distributed hearings [1267]. Current research focuses on the pragmatics of mediated appearances and interactions in the courtroom, on how participants handle the choice between appearing in presence or through the video, and specific problems regarding the dual mediation of the video technology and the use of an interpreter (the latter through participation to the European project AVIDICUS).

The limits of the classical model of presence: from focused engagements to multi-activity Beyond efforts to constitute a sense of presence as a capacity for involvement, the development of ICT also seems to weaken it. For instance, the explosion of communication resources lead to the proliferation of calls and notifications, which threaten the very possibility of keeping focused commitments in a given activity. Presence seems to waver between the kind of layering and fragmentation which characterize multi-activity and its fading away through ever increasing levels of sheer dispersion. We have been studying the design and accomplishment of technology-related dispersive events such as notifications or 'mediated appearances' and shown how their proliferation might lead to a "crisis of the summons" [1263, 1266]. The occurrence of such mediated events in increasing number also seems to favor the development of 'multi-activity'. In the framework of the ANR project COMUT, we have been studying both its positive and negative facets,

on one hand the skillful and methodical management of multiple engagements and, on the other hand, negatively valued dispersion.

Sub Theme 2: Mobility and locative media

Communication and mobility practices are deeply interwoven and affected by the current development of ubiquitous computing, and this sub theme explores their various articulations.

Innovative methodologies for studying mobile uses on the move. The direct observation of users on the move requires innovative methods. In the frame of this project, a growing expertise has been developed in the recording of mobile terminals (phones, smartphones, iphones) activity, combined with the video recording of contextual information (with mobile users wearing various forms of camera or glasscams). We are currently trying to build on this expertise to develop a mobile multimedia recording facility which will be available for teaching and research alike.

Mobility as an accomplishment in transport situations. This methodological expertise in recording mobilities as an accomplishment has led us to assemble a growing corpus of mobility situations. Though progress is being made on the study of public transport situations, the most advanced domain of study in that respect today is car driving in various innovative configurations:

- The experience of driving in GPS-augmented cars.
- Fundamental research in the use of verbalization techniques to study car driving as an activity.
- The use of the battery gauge as an affordance in the experience of driving electric cars [1408], in the frame of collaborations with Renault (through the Institut de la Mobilité Durable).
- Autololib and car sharing experiments, via the participation to large scale projects just submitted (Sysmo 2015, Vedecom)

Mobile communication. In the frame of this methodological expertise, we have started to build several corpora of mobile phone conversations, Skype-based video communications, and mobile video communication. This serves as a basis for a thriving effort at understanding better the specific dynamics of mobile communication, as well as the way mobile talk refer to space and place [1276, 1271]. Our research has also oriented towards mobile communication organization and the practices of mobile workers, based on interviews and mobility diaries, within the frame of the MOBITIC project and one PhD [1398].

Mobile communication and locative media. We have done ethnographic studies aiming at understanding the ways in which various forms of location awareness or proximity awareness supported urban sociality and the development or avoidance (due to privacy concerns) of mediated encounters encounters between acquainted or non-acquainted users, either in a GPS-tracking case like the uses of the Mogi game in Japan [1261, 1346, 1269], or a proximity-sensitive game in France and Japan. These studies provide a global and advanced picture of how locative media are rehaping our sense of mutual proximity and the social implications of such an awareness.

Sub Theme 3: Infrastructures, design and the production of space

Amongst the researches that analyze the role of artifacts in social life, more and more studies have highlighted the importance of infrastructures and design, which give forms and consistence to the material and technological texture of exchanges. We address three main issues in this

domain: the nature of work in the backroom of information production, the political stakes of design and infrastructures in urban settings, and the renewal of accountability through ICT.

Since this domain is emerging in our department, we both present here our first results and point to ongoing projects.

Invisible work has long been an essential issue in science and technology studies, and is to-day deeply renewed. In a time where information services draw on such notion as transparency and immateriality, there is a urge to conduct in-depth studies about the nature of the work done in the backstage of information and to study the "**back-offization**" of the world it leads to [1210]. Analyzing work and its invisibility is notably a way to re-address the question of the sociomateriality of information. Thus, our first results in the domain show that **fragility** can be an important mode of existence for information technologies [1209] and emphasize the role of **maintenance** in the day-to-day production of our "information society" [1212].

Nowadays, more and more information technologies tend to become infrastructure for **public settings**: present, but invisible for users ("pervasive", "ubiquitous"). Numerous researches in our department address this phenomena, trying to understand how such devices produce new geographies, and to study the **fabric of territories by ICTs** at the articulation of infrastructures and uses [1332]. Several issues are analyzed in this perspective: the emergence of new forms of **urban fragmentation** [1224]; the production of specific **attention politics** in public displays; the **tension** between **civic inattention** and **connectedness** in pervasive technologies [1270]. We are also working on a research project on Distributed Architecture and Multiple Multimedia Services, studying **mobile P2P networks** aiming at harnessing

contextual resources in communicative environments (Project ADAM, Gentes, Huguet).

Finally, we question the configuration and uses of ICTs dedicated to **accountability** and **visualization** in/of public settings. We recently studied their ability to equip **sustainable practices** such as transportation [1388], and deal today with several under way projects: a study aiming at understanding the **mobility of things** its transformation through the use of RFID-based tracking technologies (FUI project ASPECT, Delanoé, Draetta, Kornig and Licoppe); an analysis of the role of design and ICTs in the renewal of **urban heritage** (Project "Mémoires Métropolitaines", Gentes, Bourgatte); or a study of the emergence of **new geographical knowledge** through the use of participatory devices (Projects Geovelo — Nantes and Paris, Denis).

11.3.3 Transverse projects

These are large scale thematic projects which cover important or strategic issues and which builds on the kind of expertise developed above on the dynamics of communication and mobility, infrastructure and design. One is well developed and mature ("Migration and ICT") and one is currently emerging as a significant domain of research ("Reflexive technologies").

Migration and ICT

Studying Migration & ICT is a natural transverse project between the axes mobility and interaction at distance as well as infrastructural and web studies. The development of communication practices —from simple 'conversational' methods where communication compensates for absence, to 'connected' modes where the services maintain a form of continuous presence in spite of the distance — produced the most important change in migrants' lives, their experience of mobility, their relational design and integration social strategies [1187], [1220].

In the frame of the FP7 Mignet project we have been looking at how video-communication technologies influence everyday-life patterns of communication in transnational milieus. Based on empirical case studies conducted in the three partner cities (Paris, Athens and Ljubljana) the research will exemplify the complex combinations of global media use and face-to-face encounters that emerge in response to the specific needs of transnational populations and bring about new global forms of "being at home".

The Internet has displaced both the space of diaspora (from physical geography towards network topology) and the media of collective memory (from oral and written traditions to digital formats and networked, media environments). In the ANR Project atlas of e-diasporas, we have adapted and developed web cartographic tools We have thus archived 28 corpus of diasporas; we propose a innovative digital methodological chain, we developed tools like Navicrawler and Gephi and we have design a collaborative platform (http://ks20876.kimsufi.com/eda_proto_final/) to map and analyse the occupation of the web by diasporas. We have thus archived 28 corpus of diasporas through the collaboration of more than 80 persons from 14 countries, several institutions, involving a close dialogue between developers, designers and social scientists.

"Reflexive Technologies"

Digital network activities always leave traces. There is a growing interest in the way these traces could be used to induce new forms of awareness for users regarding their own practices (hence the concept of 'reflexive' technologies) as well as that of related relevant others, and thus set in motions bottom-up forms of behavioral regulation [1204]. This could be particularly useful in domains for which public policies are insufficient or inadequate such as sustainability issues, as well as in settings in which individual users' willpower fails them such as weight control. Such regulatory system always articulate advanced data-mining infrastructures (to construct real-time representations of practice), interface design (to frame the visibility of such representations and shape users' awareness) and ethnographic observations (to understand how users relate to such reflexive affordances). Work has started in this field in the domain of energy consumption through the Gridteam project, funded by the PACA region via the PACALABS, whih was awarded the "Prix de la croissance verte".

Modelizing imagination, innovation and creation

The Chair of Research and Training was founded in late 2010 for a period of five years by two academic institutions, Telecom ParisTech and Rennes 2 University. Four industrial partners follow us in this project: Dassault Systemes, Ubisoft, PSA Peugeot Citroën and Orange, later joined by Alcatel Lucent Bell Labs. The "official" launching was on October 6 at the Palate of the Discovery in Paris. The financing has been brought by Paris-Tech Telecom, Rennes University and by the partners.

Imagination and imaginary refer here to the many stories and complex dynamic worlds that shape technical objects in the innovation process. Information technology and communications are saturated with social representations, fictions and images, producing differentiation or mimicry. These "technologies of the mind" such as video games, virtual worlds or 3D world, seize the "raw material" of the imaginary, model and transform it. Conversely, those imaginaries are always more technological producing an intensification and an acceleration of innovation. But another temporality acts deeply, that of social representations that operate over very long periods, such as a memory broadcasts, informing imaginaries of actors and objects. At the intersection of those trajectories, social and cultural representations are crystallized in concepts and objects, aggregating themselves into "new artificial worlds", in turn feeding on new imaginaries. The challenge of this new chair is to explore the possibility of modeling those worlds at the intersection of computer science, design and the humanities.

11.4 References

11.4.1 ACL: Articles in refereed Journals

- [1148] N. Auray. Le web et le tissu des solidarités. Communications, (88), May 2011.
- [1149] N. Auray. La consommation en régime d'abondance. la confrontation aux offre culturelles dites illimitées. Revue française de socio-économie, 8:76–104, Nov. 2011.

- [1150] N. Auray, P. Pons, and C. Poudat. Democratizing scientific vulgarization: the balance between conflict and cooperation in french wikipedia,. *Observatorio*, vol 1(3):20–55, Mar. 2008.
- [1151] N. Auray, C. Poudat, and M. Hurault-Plantel. La négociation des points de vue : une cartographie sociale des controverses dans wikipedia francophon. *Réseaux*, 27(154):15–50, May 2009.
- [1152] M. Bacache. Marché et droit: la logique économique du droit de l'enironnement. *Pouvoirs*, (127): 35–47, Nov. 2008.
- [1153] M. Bacache. Economie politique des déficits publics. Idées, pages 18-26, Mar. 2008.
- [1154] M. Bacache. Les cycles politiques. Idées, pages 10-18, Mar. 2008.
- [1155] M. Bacache. Que nous apprend l'économie politique sur l'économie publique ? Idées, pages 4–8, Mar. 2008.
- [1156] M. Bacache. Concurrence et performance dans la recherche : l'effet des indicateurs. *Géoéconomie*, pages 45–54, May 2010.
- [1157] M. Bacache. 2." impact des rémunérations variables dans les services publics. *Actes de la Recherche en Sciences Sociales*, 189:58–71, Sept. 2011.
- [1158] M. Bacache and F. Audier. Le métier de procureur de la république. *Economies et Sociétés*, pages 27–54, Jan. 2009.
- [1159] M. Bacache and L. Janin. Régulation et dérégulation, le cas des taxis. *Concurrences*,, (2):40–51, Oct. 2009.
- [1160] M. Bacache and E. Lehmann. Minimum wage or negative income tax: why skilled workers may favor wage rigidities. *Spanish Economic Review*, 10(1):63–81, Oct. 2008.
- [1161] M. Bacache, D. Bounie, and A. François. Existe-t-il une fracture numérique dans l'usage de l'administration en ligne. *Revue Economique*, 62(2):215–236, Mar. 2011.
- [1162] M. Baker, F.-X. Bernard, and I. Dumez-Féroc. Integrating computer-supported collaborative learning into the classroom: the anatomy of a failure. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, Nov. 2011.
- [1163] F. Barcellini, F. Détienne, and J.-M. Burkhardt. User and developer mediation in an open source software community: boundary spanning through cross participation in online discussions. *International Journal of Human Computer Studies*, 66(7):558–570, May 2008.
- [1164] F. Barcellini, F. Détienne, J.-M. Burkhardt, and W. Sack. A socio-cognitive analysis of online design discussions in an open source software community. *Interacting With Computers*, 20(1):141–165, May 2008.
- [1165] F. Barcellini, F. Détienne, and J.-M. Burkhardt. Participation in online interaction spaces: design-use mediation in an open source software community. *International Journal of Industrial Ergonomics*, June 2009.
- [1166] V. Beaudouin. Powerpoint : le lit de procuste revisité. Social Sciences Information, 47(3):371–390, May 2008.
- [1167] V. Beaudouin. Prosumer. Communications, 88:131–139, May 2011.
- [1168] R. Beaume, C. Midler, and R. Maniak. Crossing innovation and product projects management: A comparative analysis in automotive industry. *International Journal of Project Management*, 27(2): 166–174, Feb. 2011.
- [1169] Y. Bouhdaoui and D. Bounie. Distribution des transactions en espèces et efficacité des paiements en euro. *Revue Economique*, 2012.
- [1170] Y. Bouhdaoui, D. Bounie, and L. Van Hove. Central banks and their banknote series: the efficiency-cost trade-off. *Economic Modelling*, 8(4):1482–1488, 2011.
- [1171] Y. Bouhdaoui, D. Bounie, and L. Van Hove. The "principle of invariance" in currency systems: A comment on caianiello et al. *International Journal of General Systems*, Sept. 2011.
- [1172] D. Bounie. Le rôle des instruments de paiement dans l'économie. Horizons Bancaires, 2009.
- [1173] D. Bounie and A. François. Is baumol's 'square root law' still relevant? evidence from micro-level data. *Applied Financial Economics*, 18(13):1091–1098, July 2008.
- [1174] D. Bounie and A. François. The economics of bill payments: An empirical analysis. *Applied Economics*, 2008.
- [1175] D. Bounie and A. François. Pourquoi les détenteurs de carte de retrait retirent-ils encore des espèces aux guichets bancaires? *Revue d'Economie Industrielle*, 2009.
- [1176] D. Bounie and A. François. Une analyse des facteurs de l'acceptation et de l'usage des instruments de paiement par les commerces en france. Revue d'Economie Financière, Feb. 2009.
- [1177] D. Bounie and A. François. The economics of bill payments: An empirical analysis. *Applied Economics Letters*, 18(10):961–966, 2011.
- [1178] D. Bounie and L. Gille. How much information: Results, methodological issues and statistical perspectives. *International Journal of Communication*, 2011.

- [1179] D. Bounie and N. Houy. La structure du système des divisions monétaires européen est-elle efficace ? Revue Française d'Economie, 2009.
- [1180] D. Bounie and N. Houy. What europe needs is an 80 cents coin. *Applied Economics Letters*, June 2009.
- [1181] D. Bounie and P. Waelbroeck. Les réseaux pair-à-pair ont-ils un impact sur les achats légaux de produits audio-visuels numériques? Economie et prévision, Nov. 2011.
- [1182] D. Bounie, M. Bacache, and A. François. Explaining the use of on-line administrative services: Economic approach and empirical evidences. 08/05/ESS Telecom Paris Working Paper in Economics and Social Sciences, 2008.
- [1183] D. Bounie, M. Bourreau, A. François, and M. Verdier. La détention et l'usage des instruments de paiement en france. *Revue d'Economie Financière*, 91:53–76, Mar. 2008.
- [1184] D. Bounie, M. Bourreau, and P. Waelbroeck. Do online customer reviews matter: Evidence from the video game industry. *Journal of Cultural Economics*, 2008.
- [1185] D. Bounie, A. François, and N. Houy. The demand for currency versus debitable accounts: Reconsideration. *International Jurnal of Central Banking*, 2009.
- [1186] D. Bounie, B. Eang, and P. Waelbroeck. Marché internet et réseaux physiques: comparaison des ventes de livres en france. *Revue d'Economie Politique*, 120(1):141–163, 2010.
- [1187] D. Bounie, A. François, and D. Diminescu. Une analyse socio-économique des transferts d'argent des migrants par téléphone. *Réseaux*, 28(159):91–110, 2010.
- [1188] D. Bounie, B. Eang, and P. Waelbroeck. Les plateformes de ventes sur internet: une opportunité pour les industries culturelles. Revue Economique, 62(1):101–112, 2011.
- [1189] D. Bounie, B. Eang, P. Waelbroeck, and M. Sirbu. Une analyse empirique de la dispersion des prix sur internet. *Revue Française d'Economie*, 4(25):121–146, 2011.
- [1190] M. Bourreau and P. Dogan. Component sharing through licensing. *Communications&Strategies*, (77):113–132, 2010.
- [1191] M. Bourreau and P. Dogan. Cooperation in product development and process r&d between competitors. *International Journal of Industrial Organization*, 28(2):176–190, Mar. 2010.
- [1192] M. Bourreau and C. Grèce. L'impact de la suppression de la publicité sur les chaînes de télévision publiques. *Revue Economique*, 62(5), Sept. 2011.
- [1193] M. Bourreau and M. Verdier. Private cards and the bypass of payment systems by merchants. *Journal of Banking & Finance*, 34(8):1798–1807, 2010.
- [1194] M. Bourreau and M. Verdier. Cooperation for innovation in payment systems: the case of mobile payments. *Communications & Strategies*, (79):95–113, Nov. 2010.
- [1195] M. Bourreau, M. Gensollen, and F. Moreau. The digitization of the recorded music industry: Impact on business models and scenarios of evolution. 2008.
- [1196] M. Bourreau, C. Cambini, and S. Hoernig. National ftth plans in france, italy and portugal. *Communications & Strategies*, (78):107–126, Sept. 2010.
- [1197] M. Bourreau, P. Dogan, and M. Manant. A critical review of the "ladder of investment" approach. *Telecommunications Policy*, 34(11):683–696, Dec. 2010.
- [1198] M. Bourreau, C. Cambini, and S. Hoernig. Ex-ante regulation and co-investment in the transition to next generation access telecommunications policy. *Telecommunications Policy*, 2011.
- [1199] M. Bourreau, P. Dogan, and M. Manant. Incitations à l'entrée et incitations aux investissements dans le secteur des télécoms. *Revue Française d'Economie*, 25(4), Jan. 2011.
- [1200] M. Bourreau, J. M. Hombert, J. Pouyet, and N. Schutz. Upstream competition between vertically integrated firms. *Journal of Industrial Economics*, Nov. 2011.
- [1201] M. Bourreau, F. Moreau, and P. Senellart. La diversité culturelle dans l'industrie de la musique enregistrée en france (2003-2008). *culture études*, (5), Nov. 2011.
- [1202] B. Cahour and J. F. Forzy. Does projection into use improve trust and exploration? an example with a cruise control system. *Safety Science*, 47(9):1260–1272, Dec. 2009.
- [1203] B. Cahour and A. Lancry. Emotions et activités professionnelles et quotidiennes. *Le Travail Humain*, 74(2):87–106, June 2011.
- [1204] B. Cahour and C. Licoppe. Confrontations aux traces de son activité. compétences, développement et régulation de l'agir dans un monde de plus en plus réflexif. *Revue d'anthropologie des connaissances*, 4(2):243–253, Sept. 2010.
- [1205] N. Cortési-Grou. Suivre un stage long à distance : la dimension symbolique. Education-Formation, e-289, Dec. 2008.
- [1206] M. Davidovici-Nora. The dynamics of co-creation in the video game industry: The case of world of warcraft. *Communications & Strategies*, 1st quarter(73):53–66, Mar. 2009.

- [1207] J. Denis. Projeter le marché dans l'activité. les saisies du public dans un service de production télévisuele. Revue Française de Socio-économie, 1(2):161–180, Jan. 2008.
- [1208] J. Denis. Le travail de l'écrit en coulisses de la relation de service. Activités, 8(2):30–50, Oct. 2011.
- [1209] J. Denis. L'informatique et sa sécurité. Réseaux, Mar. 2012.
- [1210] J. Denis. Travailleurs de l'écrit, matières de l'information. Revue d'anthropologie des connaissances, 6(1), Mar. 2012.
- [1211] J. Denis and D. Pontille. Sécurité informatique et valeur des écrits au travail. Semen, (28):85–100, 2009.
- [1212] J. Denis and D. Pontille. Performativité de l'écrit et travail de maintenance. *Réseaux*, (163), Nov. 2010.
- [1213] J. Denis and D. Pontille. Placing subway signs. pragmatic properties of signs at work. Visual Communication, 9(3), Nov. 2010.
- [1214] J. Denis and D. Pontille. Aménager des espaces circulables : la dynamique des déïctique. Sciences de la société, (80):177–192, Sept. 2011.
- [1329] F. Détienne, F. Barcellini, M. Baker, J.-M. Burkhardt, and D. Fréard. Online epistemic communities: theoretical and methodological directions for understanding knowledge co-elaboration in new digital spaces. In *IEA 2012, International Ergonomics Association Conference*, Recife, Brazil, Feb. 2012.
- [1216] D. Diminescu. The connected migrant. an epistemological manifesto. SSI, 47(4):656–678, Nov. 2008.
- [1217] D. Diminescu. The connected migrant. an epistemological manifesto. *Social Science Information*, 47(4):565–579, 2008.
- [1218] D. Diminescu. e-diasporas : les nouvelles communautés de migrants connectés. Ecorev. Revue critique d'écologie politiqu, 37, Aug. 2011.
- [1219] D. Diminescu and M. Renault. Tic et parrainage dans les mouvements militants de défense des sans-papiers en france. *TIC&Société*, 3(1-2), Nov. 2009.
- [1220] D. Diminescu and M. Renault. The matrimonial web of migrants. the economics of profiling as a new form of etnic business. *SSI*, 50(3-4):656–678, Sept. 2011.
- [1221] D. Diminescu, D. Bounie, and A. François. Une analyse socio-économique des transferts d'argent des migrants par téléphone. *Réseaux*, (159):91–111, Feb. 2010.
- [1222] D. Diminescu, M. Renault, and M. Jacomy. Le web matrimonial des migrants l'économie du profilage au service d'une nouvelle forme de commerce ethnique. *Réseaux*, (159):17–57, Feb. 2010.
- [1223] L. Dumoulin and C. Licoppe. Les policy transfer studies : analyse critique et perspectives. Critique Internationale, (48):117–133, 2010.
- [1224] V. Fernandez and G. Puel. Socio-technical systems, public space and urban fragmentation: the case of "cybercafés" in china. *Urban Studies*, Sept. 2011.
- [1225] V. Fernandez, L. Draetta, and et al. Nouvelle politique industrielle et constitution de systèmes territoriaux d'innovation : le cas du secteur tic. *Revue d'Économie Régionale et Urbaine*, Sept. 2009.
- [1226] V. Fernandez, V. Fautrero, and G. Puel. The business ecosystem of alternative high-speed internet technologies: between stimulating and foreclosing the french market. *Communication and Strategies*, Sept. 2009.
- [1227] J. Figeac. L'appropriation de la mobile tv autour des réseaux de communication. *Réseaux*, 4(156): 81–111, 2009.
- [1228] J. Figeac. La participation des usagers de la mobile tv aux formes visuelles de la coordination sociale. *Les Cahiers du Numérique*, 6(2):39–62, Sept. 2010.
- [1229] O. Fournout. Diatextes. Communication & Langages, (156):3–20, June 2008.
- [1230] O. Fournout. La matrice relationnelle. du diatexte à l'anthropologie de la communication. *Communications & Langage*, pages 29–48, Dec. 2009.
- [1231] A. François. Pourquoi les détenteurs de carte de retrait retirent-ils encore des espèces aux guichets bancaires ? *Revue d'Economie Industrielle*, 2009.
- [1232] A. François and D. Bounie. Acceptation et usage des moyens de paiement par les commerces en france. *Revue d'Economie Financière*, 96(1):187–214, Jan. 2010.
- [1233] A. François, M. Foucault, and F. Baumgartner. Public budgeting in the french fifth republic: The end of. *West European Politics*, Mar. 2009.
- [1234] A. François, M. Foucault, E. Dubois, and F. Facchini. Un modèle explicatif du vote finsea aux élections des représentants des chefs d'exploitation aux chambres d'agriculture départementales (1995-2001). *Economie rurale*, 2009.
- [1235] S. FRANCOIS. Fanf(r)ictions. tensions identitaires et relationnelles chez les auteurs de récits de fans. *Réseaux*, 27(153):157–189, Jan. 2009.

- [1236] L. Gagnière, M. Betrancourt, and F. Détienne. When metacognitive prompts help information search in collaborative setting. REPA, European Review of Applied Psychology., Sept. 2012.
- [1237] C. Genakos and T. Valletti. Seesaw in the air: Interconnection regulation and the structure of mobile tariffs. *Information Economics and Policy*, 23(2):158–170, June 2011.
- [1238] A. Gentès. Design et médiation créative dans les technologies de l'information. *Hermès*, (50), Mar. 2008.
- [1239] A. Gentes. Pervasive gaming: testing future context aware applications. *communications and strate-gies*, (73), Mar. 2009.
- [1240] A. Gentes. De la traduction comme médiation et création interlinguistique des interactions humaines. Revue des interactions humaines médiatisées, 10(1):3–26, Oct. 2010.
- [1241] A. Gentes and A. Guyot-Mbodji. The demonstrator as the first step towards the co-creation of services. *International Journal of Design*, Oct. 2010.
- [1242] A. Gentes and C. Jutant. Exploration de l'expérimentation technique : du breaching experiment à la mise en performance. *Communication et Langages*, Feb. 2010.
- [1243] A. Gentes and C. Jutant. The game mechanics of pervasive applications: Visiting the uncanny. *New Review of Hypermedia and Multimedia*, Sept. 2010.
- [1244] A. Gentes and C. Jutant. De la convergence à la performance : le cheminement dans l'invention d'un média. *Culture et Musée*, Oct. 2010.
- [1245] A. Gentes and I. rakatoniania. Design partagé : de la collaboration à la perlaboration. *Revue tic&société*, Apr. 2010.
- [1246] A. Gentès and A. Powell. Design and communications in information technology research: "turning the end user upside down". *Artifact*, Mar. 2008.
- [1247] L. Grzybowski and C. Karamti. Hedonic study on mobile telephony market in france: price-quality strategies. *Netnomics*, 11(3):255–289, Nov. 2010.
- [1248] L. Grzybowski and C. Karamti. Competition in mobile telephony in france and germany. *Manchester School*, 78(6):702–724, Nov. 2010.
- [1249] N. Houy and T. Houy. Outils de prévision de la demande (opd) et pratiques de réduction des stocks. Revue d'Economie Industrielle, 2012.
- [1250] T. Houy and G. Beauvallet. L'adoption des pratiques de gestion lean dans les entreprises industrielles françaises. Revue Française de Gestion, 35(197):83–106, 2009.
- [1251] T. Houy and G. Beauvallet. Research on hrm and lean management: A literature survey. *International Journal of Human Resources Development and Management*, 10(1):14–33, Jan. 2010.
- [1252] T. Houy and N. Houy. Outils de reporting structuré (ors) et pratiques d'amélioration continue (ac). Revue Française de Gestion, 35(196):81–103, 2009.
- [1253] L. Janin and M. Bacache. 3." taxicab licence value and market regulation". *Transport Policy*, Sept. 2011.
- [1254] K. Lan Hing Ting. Ethnographier le bruit en centre d'appels : une analyse située de l'activité des téléopérateurs. Activités.org, 6(2):100–118, Nov. 2009.
- [1255] K. Lan Hing Ting and B. Pentimalli. Le "bruit" comme ressource pour la coopération et la coordination entre téléopérateurs dans les centres d'appels. *Ethnographiques.org*, (19), Dec. 2009.
- [1256] K. Lan Hing Ting and D. Voilmy. L'evitement du blanc radiophonique comme accomplissement multimodal. *Communication*, 27(2):168–188, Feb. 2009.
- [1257] C. Levallois-Barth. Géolocalisation : du service au traçage. Hermès, Apr. 2009.
- [1258] C. Licoppe. Logiques d'innovation, zapping et multiactivité au travail. Hermes, 50:171-178, 2008.
- [1259] C. Licoppe. Aux limites du paradigme de la distribution: l'écoute des appels de détresse et le traitement de la souffrance des suicidaires, du téléphone à l'e-mail. Sociologie du Travail, 50(3): 417–433, 2008.
- [1260] C. Licoppe. Dans le carré de l'activité : perspectives internationales sur le travail et l'activité. *Sociologie du Travail*, 50(3):287–302, 2008.
- [1261] C. Licoppe. Recognizing mutual 'proximity' at a distance. weaving together mobility, sociality and technology. *Journal of Pragmatics*, 41(10):1924–1937, 2009.
- [1262] C. Licoppe. Pragmatique de la notification. Tracés, 16(1):77-98, 2009.
- [1263] C. Licoppe. The "crisis of the summons": a transformation in the pragmatics of "notifications", from phone rings to instant messaging. *The Information Society*, 26(4):288–302, 2010.
- [1264] C. Licoppe. The "performative turn" in science and technology studies. *Journal of Cultural Economy*, 3(2):181–188, 2010.
- [1265] C. Licoppe. Les apparitions médiatisées et leurs effets performatifs. le cas des sonneries téléphoniques et la "crise de la sommation". *Réseaux*, 28(163):131–162, Sept. 2010.

- [1266] C. Licoppe. What does answering the phone mean? a sociology of ringtones. *Journal of Cultural Sociology*, 5(3):367–384, Sept. 2011.
- [1267] C. Licoppe and L. Dumoulin. The "curious case" of an unspoken speech act: a video-ethnography of the use of video communication in courtroom activities. Research on Language and Social Interaction, 43(3):211–231, 2010.
- [1268] C. Licoppe and Y. Inada. Geolocalized technologies, location aware communities and personal territories: The mogi case. *Journal of Urban Technology*, 15(3):pp. 5–24, 2008.
- [1269] C. Licoppe and Y. Inada. Locative media and cultures of proximity: the case of the mogi game location-aware community. *Environment and Planning D: Society and Space*, 28(4):691–709, 2010.
- [1270] C. Licoppe and C. Levallois-Barth. Configurer l'accessibilité des voyageurs équipés à des services mobiles multimédia : le cas des publicités " augmentées " par bluetooth dans le métro parisien. *Reseaux*, 27(156):15–48, Dec. 2009.
- [1271] C. Licoppe and J.-M. Morel. La référence aux lieux et à la proximité mutuelle et l'émergence de projets de rencontre dans les conversations mobiles. Revue d'anthropologie des connaissances, 5 (2):364–389, Sept. 2011.
- [1272] C. Licoppe, D. Diminescu, Z. Smoreda, and C. Ziemlicki. Using mobile phone geolocalisation for 'socio-geographical' analysis of coordination, urban mobilities and social integration patterns. *Tijd-schrift voor Economische en Sociale Geografie*, 99(5):584–601, 2008.
- [1273] C. Licoppe, S. Proulx, and R. Cudicio. L'émergence d'un nouveau genre communicationnel dans les organisations fortement connectées : les "questions rapides" par messagerie instantanée. *Etudes de communication*, (34):93–107, 2010.
- [1274] R. Maniak and C. Midler. Shifting from co-development to co-innovation. *International Journal of Automotive Technology and Management*, 8(4):449:468, 2008.
- [1275] J.-M. Morel and C. Licoppe. La vidéocommunication sur téléphone mobile : quelle mobilité pour quels cadrages ? *reseaux*, 27(156):165–201, Dec. 2009.
- [1276] J.-M. Morel and M. Relieu. Locating mobility in orientation sequences. *Nottingham French Studies*, 50(2):94–113, June 2011.
- [1277] B. Munier. Patrimoine, roman et culture populaires en france au xixe siècle. Délits de curiosité II Cahiers du Gepecs, II:85 à 109, Jan. 2008.
- [1278] B. Munier. Formes et enjeux des récits de la technique. *Enjeux et représentations des sciences, de la technologie et de leurs usages*, Dec. 2010.
- [1279] B. Munier. Du kula à facebook : le poids du nom. Revue Hermès CNRS éditions, Jan. 2011.
- [1280] B. Munier. Le patrimoine culturel à l'épreuve du jeu occasionnel. Hermès/CNRS, Oct. 2012.
- [1281] P. Musso. La "revolution numerique": Techniques et mythologies. *La Pensée*, (355):103–120, June 2008.
- [1282] P. Musso. Existe-t-il un sarkoberlusconisme? Le Temmps des Médias, (10):129-141, Apr. 2008.
- [1283] P. Musso. Territoires numériques. Medium, (15):25-38, Apr. 2008.
- [1284] P. Musso. Saint-simon, penseur du changement social. Medium, (14):155-163, Jan. 2008.
- [1285] P. Musso. L'éternel non-retour à l'ortf. QUADERNI, (65):81-92, Feb. 2008.
- [1286] P. Musso. La barbarie managériale. Les Cahiers européens de l'imaginaire, (1):126–134, June
- [1287] P. Musso. Perroux lecteur du saint-simonisme. Economies et sociétés, Nov. 2009.
- [1288] P. Musso and et al. Critique de la notion de territoire numérique. QUADERNI, (66):15–30, Apr. 2008.
- [1289] D. Pasquier. Conflits professionnels et luttes pour la visibilité à la télévision française. *Ethnologie Française*, 38(1):23–31, May 2008.
- [1290] D. Pasquier. Les barèmes de l'originalité. Réseaux, (148-149):175-201, May 2008.
- [1291] D. Pasquier. "culture sentimentale et jeux vidéos : le renforcement des identités sexuées à l'adolescence". *Ethnologie Française*, XL(1):93–100, Jan. 2010.
- [1292] D. Pasquier and O. Donnat. "une sériphilie à la française". Réseaux, 29(165):9-21, Feb. 2011.
- [1293] R. Préget and P. Waelbroeck. What is the cost of low participation in french timber auctions? Applied Economics, 44(11):1337–1346, Apr. 2012.
- [1294] T. Valletti and R. Inderst. Incentives for input foreclosure. *European Economic Review*, 55(6):820–831, Aug. 2011.
- [1295] M. Verdier. Payment card systems in europe: Convergence or disappearance? *Communication&Strategies*, 69:127–147, Mar. 2008.
- [1296] M. Verdier. Optimal interchange fees for card payments and cash withdrawals. June 2008.
- [1297] W. Visser. Design: one, but in different forms. Design Studies, 30(3):187-223, Jan. 2009.
- [1298] W. Visser. La conception : de la résolution de problèmes à la construction de représentations. Le

- Travail Humain, 72(1):61-78, Sept. 2009.
- [1299] W. Visser. Les gestes dans des réunions de conception architecturale. *@ctivités. revue électronique*, 8(2):75–97, Oct. 2011.
- [1300] D. Voilmy. Présentation du dossier "ethnographier les phénomènes sonores". ethnographiques.org, (9), Dec. 2009.
- [1301] D. Voilmy and J. C. Sévin. Une pensée de la modalité. entretien avec jean-françois augoyard. *ethno-graphiques.org*, (19), Dec. 2009.
- [1302] D. Voilmy, Z. Smoreda, and C. Ziemlicki. Geolocation and video ethnography: capturing mobile internet used by a commuter. *Mobilities*, 3(2):201–222, July 2008.

11.4.2 OS: Books and Book Chapters

- [1303] J. Andriessen, M. Baker, and C. van der Puil. *Socio-cognitive tension in collaborative working relations*, pages 222–242. Routledge, Londres, Royaume-Uni, 2011.
- [1304] N. Auray. communities and open governance: boundaries, statuses and conflicts. In E. Brousseau, M. Marzouki, and C. Méadel, editors, *Governance, Regulations and Powers on the Internet*,, chapter 5, pages 100–140. Cambridge University Press, 2011.
- [1305] N. Auray. *Le web participatif et le tournant néo-libéral*, chapter 1, pages 33–51. Presses Universitaires de Québec, Canada, 2011.
- [1306] N. Auray, M. Bacache, I. Bastard, V. Beaudouin, F. Benhamou, M. Bourreau, T. Couronné, M. Davidovici-Nora, S. FRANCOIS, M. gambardella, I. Garron, F. Georges, M. Gensollen, K. Mellet, F. Moreau De Saint-Martin, N. Moureau, S. Peltier, S. Proulx, J.-S. Beuscart, T. Beauvisage, and D. Pasquier. *Culture numérique. Regards sur les industries créatives.* manuscrit.com, Paris France, 2011.
- [1307] M. Bacache. "L'économie du personnel", chapter "L'économie du personnel". Vuibert, paris, 2011.
- [1308] M. Bacache, M. Bourreau, M. Gensollen, and F. Moreau. *Les Musiciens dans la révolution numérique : Inquiétude et enthousiasme*. IRMA, Paris, France, 2009.
- [1309] M. Baker. Argumentative interactions and the social construction of knowledge, pages 127–144. Springer Verlag, New York, USA, 2009.
- [1310] M. Baker. *Intersubjective and intrasubjective rationalities in pedagogical debates: Realizing what one thinks*, pages 145–158. Routledge, Londres, Royaume-Uni, 2009.
- [1311] M. Baker and J. Andriessen. *Collaborative Learning and Problem Solving: An introduction for teachers*, pages 27–52. ScriptaWeb, Naples, Italie, 2009.
- [1312] M. Baker, F. Détienne, K. Lund, and A. Séjourné. Etude des profils interactifs dans la conception collective en architecture, chapter 6, pages 183–220. PUN, Collection "Langage, Cognition, Interaction ", 42-44 avenue de la libération, Nancy, France, 2009.
- [1313] M. Baker, F. Détienne, K. Lund, and A. Séjourné. Étude des profils interactifs dans une situation de conception collective en architecture, pages 183–220. Presses Universitaires de Nancy, Nancy, France, 2009.
- [1314] M. Baker, J. Andriessen, and S. Järvelä. Affective Learning Together. Routledge, London, 2012.
- [1315] F.-X. Bernard and M. Baker. *CoFFEE*, un environnment informatique pour l'apprentissage coopératif en co-présence, pages 168–178. INRP, Lyon, France, 2009.
- [1316] M. Bourreau, D. Lescop, and G. Pogorel. *Les enjeux de la régulation des infrastructures*, pages 147–164. éditions fyp, Limoges (France), 2009.
- [1317] B. Cahour. *Emotions: characteristics, emergence and circulation in interactional learning*, pages 62–74. Routledge, London, 2012.
- [1318] D. Cohen and M. Bacache. Sortie de crise, vers l'émergence de nouveaux modèles de croissance. CAS, 2009.
- [1319] J. Denis. Le travail invisible de l'information. FYP, Paris, 2009.
- [1320] J. Denis. Les ressorts de la sécurité informatique. Des hommes, des machines, des données. FYP, Paris, 2009.
- [1321] J. Denis and D. Pontille. L'écologie informationnelle des lieux publics. Le cas de la signalétique du métro. FYP, Paris, 2009.
- [1322] J. Denis and D. Pontille. Petite sociologie de la signalétique. Les coulisses des panneaux du métro. Presses des Mines ParisTech, 2010.
- [1323] F. Détienne and V. Traverso. *Méthodologies d'analyse de situations coopératives de conception: Corpus MOSAIC*. PUN, Collection "Langage, Cognition, Interaction", 42-44 avenue de la libération, Nancy, France, 2009.

- [1324] F. Détienne and V. Traverso. *Introduction*, pages 7–15. PUN, Collection "Langage, Cognition, Interaction", 42-44 avenue de la libération, Nancy, France, 2009.
- [1325] F. Détienne and V. Traverso. Présentation du corpus et de la situation, chapter 3, pages 61–68. PUN, Collection "Langage, Cognition, Interaction", 42-44 avenue de la libération, Nancy, France, 2009.
- [1326] F. Détienne, M. Baker, and W. Visser. La co-conception du point de vue cognitif et interactif, chapter 1, pages 19–37. PUN, Collection "Langage, Cognition, Interaction", 42-44 avenue de la libération, Nancy, France, 2009.
- [1327] F. Détienne, L. Greco, L. Mondada, V. Traverso, and W. Visser. *Principes de Transcription*, chapter 4, pages 69–84. PUN, Collection "Langage, Cognition, Interaction", 42-44 avenue de la libération, Nancy. France, 2009.
- [1328] F. Détienne, F. Barcellini, and J.-M. Burkhardt. La conception dans les communautés en ligne : questionnements thématiques et méthodologiques sur ces nouvelles pratiques. In M.-C. L. G. Vallery, M. Zouinar, editor, *Ergonomie des produits et des services médiatisés : nouveaux territoires, nouveaux enjeux*. PUF, 2010.
- [1329] F. Détienne, F. Barcellini, M. Baker, J.-M. Burkhardt, and D. Fréard. Online epistemic communities: theoretical and methodological directions for understanding knowledge co-elaboration in new digital spaces. In *IEA 2012, International Ergonomics Association Conference*, Recife, Brazil, Feb. 2012.
- [1330] L. Draetta. L'ambigüité de la relation Entreprise-Environnement : de la technique au management, entre préoccupation écologique et prudence économique, page 16. Édisud, Aix-en-Provence, 2009.
- [1331] L. Draetta and V. Fernandez. Les TIC comme artefact de médiation de la connaissance à l'échelle des territoires, pages 176–182. FYP, France, 2009.
- [1332] V. Fernandez and G. Puel. *La gouvernance territoriale des TIC*. Hermes, Lavoisier, coll. Mondialisation, Hommes et Sociétés, isbn: 978-2-7462-2994-5 edition, 2010.
- [1333] J. Figeac. Vers une pragmatique de la pratique télévisuelle. Etude de l'appropriation de la Mobile TV en situation de mobilité, pages 57–70. Apogée, Rennes, France, 2011.
- [1334] A. François and M. Foucault. General Policy Speech of Prime Ministers and Fiscal Choices in France: "Preach water and drink wine!". Springer, 2009.
- [1335] A. François, C. Fauvelle-Aymar, and P. Vornetti. *The 2007 Presidential Election and the 2005 Urban Violence in French Deprived Urban Areas.* Willan editions, 2009.
- [1336] B. Fribourg, C. Licoppe, and J. Denis. Carrières des relations interpersonnelles équipées. Eléments de réflexion sur les bifurcations, chapter 13, pages 239–253. La Découverte, Paris France, 2010.
- [1337] L. Gille. *Imaginer un nouveau réseau pour la logistique urbaine*, pages 145–158. La Documentation Française, Paris, 2009.
- [1338] L. Gille. Les dilemmes de l'économie numérique. FYP éditions, Limoges (France), 2009.
- [1339] L. Gille. Les industries de réseau dans l'innovation territoriale, pages 353–357. La documentation française, Paris, France, 2011.
- [1340] L. Gille and I. Garron. La téléphonie mobile et le lien social en Afrique subsaharienne, pages 33–44. FYP éditions, Limoges (France), 2009.
- [1341] L. Gille, P.-J. Benghozi, and A. Vallée. *Innovation and Regulation in the Digital Age: a Call for New Perspectives*, pages 503–525. Physica-Verlag, Heildeberg (FRG), 2009.
- [1342] T. Houy, R. Picard, and A. Vial. *Des Technologies de l'Information et de la Communication pour la Santé et l'Autonomie*. TSP, 2011.
- [1343] E. Kredens, D. Pasquier, and J. Simoes. *Agents of mediation and sources of safety awareness: a comparative overview.* S Livingstone et L Haddon, London, 2011.
- [1344] C. Levallois-Barth. Navigo: simplification ou traçabilité absolue. Fyp, 2009.
- [1345] C. Licoppe. L'évolution des cultures numériques. De la mutation du lien social à l'organisation du travail. FYP Editions, Limoges, 2009.
- [1346] C. Licoppe and Y. Inada. *Mediated mutual 'proximity' and its dangers in a location aware community. A case of stalking*, pages 100–126. Peter Lang, New York, 2009.
- [1347] C. Licoppe and Y. Inada. Shared encounters in a location aware and proximity aware mobile community. The Mogi case., chapter 6, pages 105–125. Springer, Berlin, 2010.
- [1348] B. Ligorio, J. Andriessen, M. Baker, N. Knoller, and L. Tateo. *Talking over the computer*. ScriptaWeb, Napoli, Italie, 2009.
- [1349] F. Moreau, M. Bourreau, and M. Bacache. *Portrait des musiciens à l'heure du numérique*. Edition ENS rue d'Ulm Opuscule Cepremap,, Paris, 2011.
- [1409] I. R. on Socio-informatics, editor. *Proceedings of the International Workshop on Quality of Collabo- ration*, Bonn, Allemagne, June 2010. International Institute for Socio-informatics Publishers.

- [1351] D. Pasquier. When the elite press meets the rise of commercial culture. Intellect, Chicago, 2009.
- [1352] M. Prost, B. Cahour, and F. Détienne. *Collectifs virtuels de soutien entre professionnels : formes des échanges et vécus associés.* L'Harmattan, Paris, 2011.
- [1353] M. Relieu. "Les usages d'une carte dynamique en situation de catastrophe naturelle. Une étude des annotations d'un mashup proposé après le passage de l'ouragan Katrina sur la Nouvelle-Orléans", pages 179–199. Europia Productions, Paris, 2010.
- [1354] C. Silavong and P. Waelbroeck. *Innovation et R&D dans l'industrie culturelle française*, chapter 1-3, pages 43–50. Ministère économie, finance, industrie, Paris, 2011.
- [1355] V. Traverso and W. Visser. *Co-élaboration de solutions et rôle du graphico-gestuel : confrontation de méthodologies*, chapter 5, pages 87–182. Presses Universitaires de Nancy, Nancy (France), 2009.
- [1356] W. Visser. Co-élaboration de solutions en conception architecturale et rôle du graphico-gestuel : Point de vue de la psychologie ergonomique, chapter 5.3, pages 129–167. Presses Universitaires de Nancy, Nancy (France), 2009.
- [1357] W. Visser. *The function of gesture in an architectural design meeting*, chapter 15. Taylor & Francis, London, 2009.
- [1358] W. Visser. Function and form of gestures in a collaborative design meeting, pages 61–72. Springer, Heidelberg, 2010.

11.4.3 ACTI: Articles in Proceedings of International Conferences

- [1359] N. Auray. Les technologies de l'information et le régime exploratoire. In *Cerisy La Salle Colloque la Sérendipité*, pages 109–131, Cerisy La Salle, Oct. 2010. Hermann.
- [1360] M. Baker. Close collaboration, dialogical thinking and affective regulation. In COOP 2010 Conference, Proceedings of workshop on Quality of Collaboration, volume 7, pages 57–64, Aix-en-Provence, France, June 2010. International Institute for Socio-informatics Publishers.
- [1361] F. Barcellini, F. Détienne, and J.-M. Burkhardt. Participation, conscience sociale et conscience du processus dans des communautés de logiciels libres. In *SELF 2009*, Toulouse, France, Sept. 2009.
- [1362] F. Barcellini, F. Détienne, and J.-M. Burkhardt. Role-based analysis of collective activity in online communities. In *CHI'2010, Workshop "Studying online behavior"*, Atlanta, USA, Apr. 2010.
- [1363] F. Barcellini, F. Détienne, and J.-M. Burkhardt. Distributed design and distributed social awareness: exploring inter-subjective dimensions of roles. In *COOP'2010, Cooperative Systems Design*, Aix en Provence, F, May 2010.
- [1364] V. Beaudouin. Dialogues vocaux entre clients et automates ou comment l'homme et la machine s'entendent dans la réalisation d'un service. In JADT, volume 2, pages 865–876, Rome, Italie, June 2010. LED Edizioni Universitarie di Lettere Economia Diritto.
- [1365] F.-X. Bernard and M. Baker. Une analyse des processus d'appropriation d'un environnement informatique pour l'apprentissage collaboratif dans la classe. In EIAH 2009 Environnements Informatiques pour l'Apprentissage Humain, Le Mans, France, June 2009. INRP.
- [1366] F.-X. Bernard and M. Baker. Débats instrumentes sur les questions socialement vives au lycée : l'étude longitudinale de l'appropriation d'outils technopédagogiques. In AREF 2010 : Actualité de la recherche en éducation et en formation, Genève, Suisse, Sept. 2010.
- [1367] D. Bounie and A. François. Debit card and demand for money. In Consumer Payment Choice and the Demand for Money, Austrian Central Bank, Vienna, July 2010.
- [1368] M. Bourreau, P. Dogan, and M. Manant. Size of rjvs and degree of cooperation in product development. In *Industrial Organization Conference*, Boston, USA, Apr. 2009.
- [1369] J.-M. Burkhardt, F. Détienne, A.-M. Hébert, and L. Perron. Assessing the quality of collaboration in technology-mediated design situations with several dimensions. In *INTERACT 2009*, Uppsala, Sweden, Aug. 2009.
- [1370] J.-M. Burkhardt, F. Détienne, A.-M. Hébert, L. Perron, P. Leclercq, and S. Safin. An approach to assess the quality of collaboration in technology-mediated design situations. In ECCE 2009, European Conference of Cognitive Ergonomics, Helsinki, Finland, Sept. 2009.
- [1371] B. Cahour, J. F. Forzy, and C. Martin. Feelings and strategies of senior drivers: ways of coping with fear? In *ECCE 2010 (Europ.Conf. Cog. Ergonomics)*, Delft, Pays-Bas, 2010.
- [1372] F. Charue-Duboc, C. Midler, and R. Maniak. The role of experimentations in managing electric vehicle deployment. In GERPISA, Paris, France, June 2011.
- [1373] P. Corten, O. Fournout, V. Beaudouin, and et al. "des étudiants réalisent un sketch théâtral ou un clip vidéo pour faire évoluer leurs préconceptions. In *Questions de Pédagogie dans l'Enseignement Supérieur*, number VI, Angers, June 2011.

- [1374] J. Denis. Les règles et leur disponibilité. In Écritures normatives, écritures normées, Lille, France, Apr. 2009.
- [1375] J. Denis and D. Pontille. Organization, materiality, maintenance. In 61st Annual Conference of the International Communication Association, Boston, USA, July 2011.
- [1376] J. Denis and D. Pontille. Materiality, maintenance, fragility. the care of things. In *How Matter Matters, 3rd International Symposium on Process Organization Studies*, Corfu, Greece, July 2011.
- [1377] F. Détienne, F. Barcellini, and J.-M. Burkhardt. Collaboration et conception distribuée dans les communautés en ligne: questionnements en ergonomie. In EPIQUE 2009, Colloque de Psychologie Ergonomique, Nice, Sept. 2009.
- [1378] F. Détienne, M. Baker, and J.-M. Burkhardt. Analysing the quality of collaboration in task-oriented computer-mediated interactions: introduction to the workshop proceedings. In COOP'2010, Cooperative Systems Design, Workshop Analysing the quality of collaboration in task-oriented computermediated interactions"", Aix en Provence, F, May 2010.
- [1379] F. Détienne, M. Baker, and J.-M. Burkhardt. Quality of collaboration in computer-mediated interactions. In COOP 2010 Conference, Workshop on Quality of Collaboration, volume 7, pages 57–64, Aix-en-Provence, May 2010. International Institute for Socio-informatics Publishers.
- [1380] F. Détienne, B. Cahour, and L. Lefebvre. Why do users communicate via such or such media? some insights from users' daily experiences. In *NordiCHI'2010*, Reykjavik, Iceland, Oct. 2010.
- [1381] F. Détienne, B. Cahour, M.-C. Legout, and M. Relieu. Participation framework(s) in second life meetings: communication media and roles. In ECCE 2011, European Conference of Cognitive Ergonomics, Rostock, Germany, Aug. 2011.
- [1382] D. Diminescu. Digital diasporas atlas exploration and cartography of diasporas in digital networks. In *ICWSM*, Barcelone, Espagne, July 2011.
- [1383] L. Draetta and et al. The eco-design of ict: a socio-technical approach to the state of the art. In Ecodesign 2009, 6th International Symposium on Environmentally Conscious Design and Inverse Manufacturing, Sapporo, Japon, Dec. 2009.
- [1384] L. Draetta and et al. La recherche en éco-conception: un état de l'art dans le secteur des tic. In Conférence Francophone sur l'Eco-conception en Génie Electrique (CONFREGE), Toulouse, France, Dec. 2010.
- [1385] L. Draetta and F. Labarthe. Tic et systèmes régionaux d'innovation : vers quels changements ? le cas du dispositif paca labs. In *EUTIC 09 Enjeux et Usages des TIC. Stratégies du changement dans les systèmes et les territoires*, Bordeaux, Nov. 2009.
- [1386] L. Draetta and F. Labarthe. Le tournant des usages dans les politiques d'aide à l'innovation : vers une nouvelle forme de partenariat université-entreprise ? le cas du dispositif paca labs. In *EUTIC 10 Enjeux et Usages des TIC. Le numerique au coeur des partenariats*, Dakar, Senegal, Nov. 2010.
- [1387] L. Draetta and F. Labarthe. The living labs at the test of user-centered innovation. proposal of a methodological framework. In ICE 2010 - 16th International Conference on Concurrent Enterprising: Collaborative Environments for Sustainable Innovation, Lugano, Suisse, June 2010.
- [1388] L. Draetta, V. Fernandez, and M. Relieu. Système d'information multimodale pour une mobilité durable : réseaux socio-techniques, scénarii d'usages et gouvernance de projet. In *The 14th IBIMA Conference on Global Business Transformation through Innovation and Knowledge Management*, Istanbul, Turquie, June 2010.
- [1389] V. Fautrero. L'intégration de "green it" dans les datacenters : une composante stratégique de leur modèle économique. In *Colloque de l'AIM*, La Rochelle, May 2010.
- [1390] V. Fautrero. Stratégies de niche de marché géographique et dynamiques concurrentielles : le cas de l'internet haut débit en france. In *Conférence de l'AIMS*, Luxembourg, June 2010.
- [1391] V. Fautrero. La fibre optique jusqu'à l'abonné : vers une rupture des usages internet ? In *IBIMA Conference*, June 2010.
- [1392] V. Fernandez and V. Fautrero. The business ecosystem of alternative high-speed internet technologies: between stimulating and foreclosing the french market. In *IBIMA 11th*, Le Caire, Egype, Jan. 2009.
- [1393] V. Fernandez and T. Houy. Management des systèmes d'information hospitaliers : des questionnements spécifiques. In *Association Information et Management*, Marrakech, Maroc, June 2009.
- [1394] V. Fernandez and H. Jomaa. Modéliser la dynamique du changement organisationnel : une perspective spatio-temporelle. In *Colloque Association Information et Management*, lle de la Réunion, May 2011.
- [1395] V. Fernandez and C. Khalil. The implementation of agile project management: A practice-based analysis. In *The 27th egos colloquium*, Gothenburg, Sweeden, July 2011.

- [1396] V. Fernandez and C. Khalil. Agile development teams in a plan-driven organization: Interplay between agile and traditional software methodologies. In *International symposium on information System and Software Engineering: ISSE 2011*, Orlando, USA, Mar. 2011.
- [1397] V. Fernandez and C. Khalil. Implementation of agile practices in a distributed and large organization: A contextual factors analysis. In *IASTED International Conference on software engineering*, Innsbruck, Austria, Feb. 2011.
- [1398] V. Fernandez and L. Marrauld. La mobilité "équipée " des salariés : une étude exploratoire. In *Association Information et Management*, La Réunion, May 2011.
- [1399] D. Fréard, A. Denis, F. Détienne, M. Baker, M. Quignard, and F. Barcellini. The role of argumentation in online epistemic communities: the anatomy of a conflict in wikipedia. In *ECCE 2010: European Conference on Cognitive Ergonomics*, pages 91–98, Delft, Pays Bas, Aug. 2010. Mediamatics.
- [1400] F. Georges and N. Auray. Hypermédia et pratiques numériques. In *H2PTM*, pages 110–139, Metz France, Nov. 2011. Hermès.
- [1401] A.-M. Hébert, F. Détienne, and C. Licoppe. An ethnographic study of collaborative design: multi-modal generation and (re)-attribution of design ideas. In *ICDC'2010, International conference on Design Creativity*, Kobe, Japon, Nov. 2010.
- [1402] A.-M. Hébert, F. Détienne, and C. Licoppe. Design ideas evolution through collaborative creative design processes. In DESIRE 2011, Creativity and Innovation in Design, Eindhoven, the Netherlands, Oct. 2011.
- [1403] C. Licoppe and J.-M. Morel. The collaborative work of producing meaningful shots in mobile video telephony. In *Mobile HCI 09*, pages 254–263, Bonn, Germany, 2009. ACM Press. ISBN 978-1-60558-281-8.
- [1404] A. Light, B. Cahour, and N. Otero. How critical thinking relates to collecting accounts of experience using explicitation techniques. In CHI 2010 - Workshop "Critical Dialog", Atlanta, USA, 2010.
- [1405] R. Maniak. Mapping the "full value" of innovative features in projectified firms. In *EURAM*, Rome, Italie, May 2010.
- [1406] R. Maniak, R. Beaume, and C. Midler. Innovation projects are strategic. ok, but how much? In *EURAM*, Tallinn, Estonie, June 2011.
- [1407] C. Nguyen, B. Cahour, J. F. Forzy, and C. Licoppe. Conforts et inconforts émotionnels dans la gestion de l'autonomie automobile. In EPIQUE 2011 (Psychologie Ergonomique), Metz, Sept. 2011.
- [1408] C. Nguyen, B. Cahour, J. F. Forzy, and C. Licoppe. L'inquiétant risque de panne; des instruments pour anticiper et des instruments pour réagir. In Congrès de la SELF 2011 (Société d'Ergonomie de Langue Française), Issy-les-Moulineaux, Sept. 2011.
- [1409] I. R. on Socio-informatics, editor. *Proceedings of the International Workshop on Quality of Collabo- ration*, Bonn, Allemagne, June 2010. International Institute for Socio-informatics Publishers.
- [1410] M. Prost, B. Cahour, and F. Détienne. Le soutien mutuel sur le web: un nouveau mode d'adaptation aux vécus professionnels difficiles? In *SELF 2010*, Liège, Belgique, Sept. 2010.
- [1411] M. Prost, B. Cahour, and F. Détienne. Analysing online social support between professionals. In ECCE 2010, European Conference on Cognitive ergonomics, Delft, The Netherlands., Aug. 2010.
- [1412] S. Safin, A. Verschuere, J.-M. Burkhardt, and F. Détienne. Adaptation mutuelle du processus de conception, du rôle de l'enseignant et de la qualité de la collaboration dans une situation de conception collaborative à distance. In *SELF 2010*, Liège, Belgique, Sept. 2010.
- [1413] S. Safin, A. Verschuere, J.-M. Burkhardt, F. Détienne, and A.-M. Hébert. Quality of collaboration in a distant collaborative architectural educational setting. In COOP'2010, Cooperative Systems Design, Workshop Analysing the quality of collaboration in task-oriented computer-mediated interactions", Aix en Provence, F, May 2010.
- [1414] L.-J. Teitelbaum. What interfaces mean: a history and sociology of computer windows. In *23rd Symposium on User Interface Software and Technology*, pages 453–454, New York, USA, Oct. 2010. ACM.
- [1415] M. Verdier. Optimal interchange fees for card payments and cash withdrawals. In *Industrial Organization Conference*, Boston, USA, Apr. 2009.
- [1416] W. Visser. Characterising gestures according to their function in collaborative design. In GW 2009, the 8th International Gesture Workshop, Bielefeld (Germany), Feb. 2009.
- [1417] W. Visser. L'utilisation du geste dans des réunions de conception architecturale. In *Design & Complexity, the DRS 2010 Conference*, Montréal, Canada, July 2010.
- [1418] W. Visser. Use of metaphoric gestures in an architectural design meeting: Expressing the atmosphere of the building. In "Gesture. Evolution, brain, and linguistic structures", 4th Conference of the International Society for Gesture Studies (ISGS) (Abstracts), Frankfurt/Oder (Germany), July 2010.

11.4.4 OTHER: Other publications

- [1419] L. Gille and T. Houy. Rapport prospectif sur le devenir de l'écosystème de santé et les tic. 2010.
- [1420] L. Gille and T. Houy. Analyse prospective de l'offre de soins en france. 2011.
- [1421] L. Gille and T. Houy. Analyse prospective de la demande de soins en france. 2011.

Part IV Signal and Image Processing

Signal and Image Processing (TSI)

The research topics covered by the Signal and Image Processing department at TELECOM Paris-Tech are: the study of image processing in its various formats, digital, optical... for different applications like medical imaging, remote sensing, fine arts..., the study of speech, music and sound, the study of the multimedia chain, from production to distribution. Our goal is to develop new mathematical tools to process all these kinds of signals, and to apply these tools to a large variety of concrete situations.

The department is organized into four groups:

- "Statistics and applications" STA is a group that is devoted to the applications of statistics and probability to the field of information society at large, which has become increasingly dependent on the collection and interpretation of data and, more generally, quantitative information. The research area covers a wide spectrum from the development of new techniques and new algorithms to various applications. The activities of the group comprises the following topics: statistical learning, blind sourrce identification and separation, distributed estimators for sensor networks, time series, independent data and complex random systems, Markov Chain Monte-Carlo techniques, sequential Monte-Carlo techniques (particle filters), array processing, geolocalization, models estimation.
- "Image Processing and Interpretation" TII has, as its main purpose, the development of methodologies and theoretical tools for image processing, scene analysis and 3D objects. This implies global treatment of complex image processing problems, integrating multiple techniques that cover the path from raw data to high-level interpretation. The concerned applications are art items (sculptures, paintings), biomedical images, aerial and satellite images, natural image analysis. Contributions of the group can be found at theoretical level (knowledge and information representation and modeling, in 2D as well as 3D, processing, interpretation and reasoning on spatial data), at algorithmical level (in particular models for large and complex data sets), and at applicative level.
- "Audio, Acoustics and Waves" AAO develops signal processing techniques while keeping strong connections with the physical phenomenon that is at the source of the signals. In digital audio signal processing, the activities span the entire acquisition chain, from sound capture and transmission up to its restitution, with the goal of proposing solutions to the main problems centered around the sound, speech or music, in multimedia applications. Its contributions at the methodological level cover adaptive methods for high resolution sinusoïd tracking, sparse representations, nonnegative matrix factorisations, source separation. A central domain of applications is the analysis of audio and multimedia scenes: segmentation of broadcast streams, analysis of music, its decomposition and understanding (polyphonic separation, rythm, melody, chords). Research on biomedical signals has been recently reinforced in the group, and will be further stengenthed with the ongoing recruitment of an associate professor.
- "Multimedia" MM- is a group that covers the life cycle of multimedia documents in the framework of a complete chain going from authoring tools for on-line and offline production of multimedia contents to multimodal interaction for the final user; this also includes

automated processing like enhancement of degraded pictures, verification of the identity of the user, modification of auditive and visual appearance, image segmentation and pattern recognition. The group also works on techniques that allow the analysis, compression and robust transmission of these media in heterogeneous networks. It also works on the dynamic and distributed adaptation of the transmitted data flow (including meta-data and in particular those concerning the digital rights management) with respect to context, transport conditions and terminal type.

One research topic is common to all groups, this is indexation and data mining. Summarizing and extracting informations from multimodal databases requires statistical tool for learning and mining, which are among the activities of the STA group with a particular focus on text indexation and retrieval. Indexing satellite images, extricating informations from primitives to semantic annotations was the main goal of the "Center of Competence", a joint lab between CNES, DLR and the TII group, until mid 2010. This group also develops the same kind of tools for biomedical images and for 3D objects. The AAO group is concerned by many aspects of music information retrieval: identification of rhythms, main melodies, instruments, styles, moods, tonalities either from plain audio or from mixed audio and video. Video signals are also a core activity in the MM group together with complex documents analysis (mixing printed texts, handwritten texts, pictures, graphics) and with multimodal analysis for biometry (voice, faces, fingerprints).

Our most recent recruitments were aimed towards the reinforcement of two topics: 3D images and virtual worlds on one hand, biomedical signals on the other hand.

Permanent staff [Institut ; CNRS]; post-docs	[39,8 ; 13.5] ; 30.5
PhDs	58.9
Defended PhDs	58
Defended HDR	11
Journal papers [published, in press]	[238 ; 58]
Chapters and books [published, in press]	[38 ; 9]
Conference papers	455
Patents and software	2
Contractual income 2009 (july)–2011 [Private ; Public ; European] (k€)	[2255 ; 5950 ; 1218]

Chapter 12

Audio, Acoustics and waves (AAO)

Head G. Richard (P)

Permanent staff R. Badeau (MC), B. David (MC), Y. Grenier (P), N. Moreau (P, until March 2010), S. Essid (IE), J. Prado (MC);

PhD students N. Bertin (10/05-10/09), J-L. Durrieu (01/07-05/10), M. Ramona (10/06-06/10), C. Joder (11/07-09/11), L. Oudre (10/07-11/10), F. Vallet (11/07-09/11), S. Gulluni (02/08-12/11), R. Hennequin (10/08-11/11), M. Maazaoui (01/09-), S. Fenêt (01/10-); B. Fuentes (10/09-); R. Foucard (10/09-); M. Moussalam (10/09-); G. Ladreyt (10/10-); F. Rigaud (10/10-); A. Liutkus (01/10-); N. Lopez (05/11-); A. Masurelle (10/11-); X. Jaureguiberry (10/11-);

PostDocs, engineers and sabbaticals M. Lagrange (Postdoc,10/08-09/09), T. Fillon (Postdoc,10/08-), B. Mathieu (Engineer,10/08-12/10), A. Dielmann (PostDoc, 11/10-03/11), A. Drémeau (PostDoc, 09/11-).

External collaborators L. Daudet (ESPCI ParisTech), O. Derrien (LMA-Marseille), E. Vincent (IRISA), L. Devillers (LIMSI-CNRS), T. Sikora (Technical Univ. of Berlin), L. Girin (GIPSA-Lab), N. O'connor (Dublin City University).

Permanent staff [Institut ; CNRS]; post-docs	[6.3;0];1.9
PhDs	9.3
Defended PhDs	9
Defended HDR	1
Journal papers [published, in press]	[24 ; 2]
Chapters and books [published, in press]	[7;1]
Conference papers	64
Patents and software	[1;1]
Contractual income 07/2009–12/2011 [Private ; Public ; European] (k€)	[121 ; 673 ; 275]

The AAO (**A**udio, **A**coustical and waves) research group is now focused on the activities previously reported under the Audio Signal Processing (*AudioSig*) project. The activities of the Optical Signal Processing (*TOS*) project have been transferred to the INFRES department in March 2009 and are entirely reported in section 8.

12.1 Objectives

The aim of this research group is to develop digital audio signal processing methods in order to propose innovative solutions to the main problems linked to audio (speech, music,...) in multimedia applications. Our interests encompass the complete processing chain from sound capture and transmission to sound restitution. Work is conducted on a methodological level to develop new sound representations and models especially for musical signals on their application to practical problems. In particular, the group is interested in Adaptive methods for high resolution sinusoidal components tracking, sparse representations, Non-Negative Matrix factorization or hierarchical models and on their application to practical problems such as automatic indexing, compression or EEG signal processing. Source separation also appears to be at the heart of this research group with contributions at the methodological level and with applications in nearly all the individual research themes. Audio and multimedia scenes analysis and indexing currently is the central research theme of the group and includes topics such as broadcast streams segmentation into broad classes of audio events (speech/music/silence/singing,...), musical signals automatic analysis, decomposition and understanding (polyphonic audio source separation, rhythm extraction, multiple fundamental frequencies estimation, main melody extraction,...). Concurrently, a novel research direction on biological signals for Brain computer Interfaces is receiving a growing interest and will be further strengthened with the arrival in march 2012 of a new associate professor in the group.

On a different level, the group has initiated the development of a multimedia indexing and mining platform (called PLATO) which now involves several other groups and has developed a number of software tools, some of them being distributed in open source (YAAFE - an audio feature extractor [1511], DESAM toolbox - a set of tools for spectral analysis of musical audio [1504, 1436], ...).

The group is also maintaining tight links and collaborations with both academics (Queen Mary University of London, Dublin City University, Technical University of Berlin, Institut Langevin, IR-CAM, INRIA-IRISA, LABRI-CNRS, GIPSA-Lab,...) and industry (RTL, INA, Audionamix, Arkamys, Parrot, ...).

12.2 Results

12.2.1 Audio and multimedia scenes analysis and indexing

Researchers R. Badeau, B. David, S. Essid, Y. Grenier, J. Prado, G. Richard;

Highlights:

Collaborations: With industry (RTL, INA, Audionamix) and academics (Queen Mary University, Dublin City University, Institut Langevin, IRISA, IRCAM, LABRI,...)

Projects Network of Excellence IST-Kspace (*Knowledge Space of Semantic Inference for Automatic Annotation and Retrieval of Multimedia Content*), Network of Excellence 3DLife (*Bringing the Media Internet to Life*), OSEO-QUAERO (*Towards multimedia and multilingual search engines for professional and general public applications*); ANR DreAm (*Active music listening*);

Prize PhD prize in 2010 (jointly awarded by EEA club, GRETSI and ISIS) (N. Bertin)

Models and signal representations

This activity is following several research axes. The first direction, which is on a rather methodological level, aims at developing generic signal models and representations with a specific focus on audio signals, recently extended to multimodal signals. An increased effort was dedicated to sparse signal representations with a particular interest on those based on Matching Pursuit (MP), Probabilistic Latent Component Analysis (PLCA) or Non-negative Matrix factorisation (NMF), that allow to decompose a signal using a limited number of atoms or basis functions. Several very interesting results were for example obtained for NMF concerning the stability of multiplicative update algorithms ([1422, 1468], or the description of beta-divergence as a subclass of Bregman divergence [1431]. Several extensions of the NMF were also explored including the introduction of a new generalized model for High-Resolution NMF [1466], the extension to multichannel [1444], and the proposal of a general formulation of underdetermined source separation of Gaussian Processes [1438]. The applicability of these methods to generic problems such as audio indexing in the (scalable) compressed domain [1446], audio source separation or music signal indexing was demonstrated by introducing specific constraints deduced from the audio signal properties (use of harmonicity or temporal constraints for music transcription [1423, 1469, 1447], use of source production or timbre models for source separation [1425, 1426], use of time-frequency activations to model non-stationary audio events [1430],...). This methodological effort explores both deterministic and statistical approaches.

Audio indexing and blind source separation

The second direction concerns the different facets of audio indexing and audio source separation which are two intricate problems. Indeed, efficient source separation eases the transcription of the resulting sources and efficient audio indexing facilitates the source separation. In music signal transcription, the group is directly interested in the four main problems which are *multiple fundamental frequencies estimation* (e.g. detection of simultaneous notes in a polyphonic musical recording [1429, 1447, 1485]), *rhythmical information tracking* (tempo and beat estimation [1501], *harmonic information estimation* (recognition of the chords sequence [1528, 1442, 1443]) and *timbre recognition* (musical instrument recognition in polyphonic audio [1432]). Whenever possible, the results obtained are submitted to national or international evaluation campaigns. In particular in 2011, our group has obtained the best results in several subtasks of the Quaero competitive internal evaluation campaigns.

Source separation approaches were developed for specific music transcription tasks such as piano transcription [1429]) and main melody estimation (by use of a NMF-based source-filter model for separating the singing voice from the musical accompaniment [1426]) but also for specific audio rendering tasks such as stereo signal remastering [1444]. A novel research direction was also pursued along these lines for situations where prior information is available about the sources [1439]. This so called *Informed Source Separation* problem bares several similarities with multichannel audio coding in the extreme cases where the sources are available at the coding side and a novel framework was recently proposed to close the gap between audio source coding and source separation domains [1520].

Multimedia streams segmentation

The third research direction is dedicated to the multimedia streams segmentation into broad classes of events with application to *broadcast multimedia streams* (speech/music segmentation [1521], TV show structuring [1527, 1456]) and *musical streams* (Audio fingerprint [1481], musical sound objects decomposition for electroacoustic music [1489], music similarity [1482, 1483, 1435], audio-to-score alignment [1433] or more recently to dance performance analysis [1486, 1478]). At the methodological level, our efforts in this field are mostly based on statistical discriminative approaches and a special interest has been directed to kernel-based methods (Support Vector Machines, sequence kernels, probabilistic distances, kernel change detection, kernel LDA,...) and more recently to hybrid kernel and Bayesian network based methods. Our emphasis is targeted to the incorporation of prior knowledge on the nature and

structure of the streams processed, typically temporal dependencies and/or inter-stream correlations/dependencies, both at the signal level and the semantic level, possibly using ancillary information attached to the content (available meta-data, tags, notices,...) and/or user interaction (relevance feedback).

12.2.2 Sound capture, separation and rendering

Researchers B. David, Y. Grenier, J. Prado, S. Essid, G. Richard;

Highlights:

Collaborations: K. Abed-Meraim (STA), European project partners

Projects CapDigital-ROMEO (a project within "¡pôle de compétitivité"¿ CapDigital, led by Aldebaran Robotics and aiming at creating a humanoid robot), Network of Excellence 3DLife (Bringing the Media Internet to Life), FP-7 Reverie (REal and Virtual Engagement in Realistic Immersive Environments)

The objective of this theme is to improve sound field analysis and synthesis capabilities by developing specific digital signal processing methods.

Current work tackles the difficult problem of humanoid robot audition which needs, using a limited number of sensors, to be robust to movements of the robot and to highly variable environments.

This work is part of the Romeo project that aims at building a humanoid robot (Romeo) that can act as a comprehensive assistant for persons suffering from loss of autonomy. Our approach follows a two-stage blind source separation strategy. The first stage consists in a fixed beamforming preprocessing to reduce the reverberation and the environmental noise. Due to the highly constrained context of robot audition, pre-recorded Head Related Transfer Functions (HRTFs) are used to estimate the beamforming filters. The use of the HRTF to estimate the beamformers allows to capture the head and torso effect on the manifold of the microphone array. The second stage is a blind source separation algorithm based on a l_1 norm minimization sparsity criterion. Promising results were obtained with several different configurations and highlighted the merit of the fixed beamforming preprocessing for improving the separation performances [1509, 1440]. A recent extension was also proposed by using a modified l_p norm blind source separation criterion based on the source sparsity in the time-frequency domain. We followed a tempered approach where the sparsity constraint could be reinforced by varying the parameter p of the l_p to dynamically change from l_1 to l_0 norm. This variation is driven by a sigmoid function which allows to obtain smooth transition and to avoid the divergence of this tempered approach. The merits of this method were demonstrated and compared to more classical scheme [1510].

Another axis in this domain relates to signal capture in reverberant environment using a single sensor and a dedicated collaboration with the company Arkamys has been recently started to develop novel dereverberation algorithms. Finally, under the framework of the two European projects 3Dlife and Reverie, a growing effort has been dedicated to multimedia scene capture (e.g. dance scenes) using a large variety of heterogeneous sensors. Such parallel heterogeneous data captures imply complex synchronization mechanisms but permit to tackle unexplored directions for complex multimedia scenes analysis and interpretation. This was already highlighted by the two preliminary studies on dance scene analysis that were selected as finalist for the 2011 Grand Challenge of the ACM Multimedia [1486],[1478].

12.2.3 Sound sources compression and informed source separation

Researchers N. Moreau, G. Richard, R. Badeau

Highlights ANR-Dream, academic collaborations (Univ. of Toulon, INPG Grenoble, ESPCI ParisTech, IRISA-Rennes)

In audio compression, the work was mostly dedicated to low to medium bit rate parametric audio coding. For low bit rate music coding applications, parametric coders are an efficient alternative to transform coders. In particular, sinusoidal modeling is widely used in response to the fact that most real-world audio signals are dominated by tonal components. Less used, the exponentially damped sinusoidal model (EDS) combined with a variable-length time segmentation is however considered as more powerful, but at the cost of an increased number of parameters. Our work has shown, however, that it is possible to design a joint scalar quantizer for amplitude, damping and phase parameters and obtain increased coding capabilities compared to the more traditional sinusoidal model [1474].

On the other hand, investigations were pursued to develop highly scalable transform coders which can seamlessly operate from very low bit rate up to transparency. To that aim, sparse overcomplete representations are used to decompose the audio signals over a redundant union of bases (such as Modified Discrete Cosine Transform bases at different scales). It was also shown that the high flexibility of the signal representations used in this coder allows to tackle various audio indexing tasks (such as beat tracking or musical genre recognition) directly in the transform domain [1446] or to perform a large variety of music similarity tasks or structural-based audio coding [1512, 1515]. More recently, a novel Random Matching Pursuit algorithm was designed which allowed to simulate a local search in a larger dictionary while operating at the cost of a search in a sub-sampled dictionary. On a more transversal axis, a comparative study of sparse greedy algorithms that were separately introduced in speech and audio research communities was conducted. It was in particularly shown that the Matching Pursuit (MP) family of algorithms (MP, OMP, and OOMP) are equivalent to multi-stage gain-shape vector quantization algorithms previously designed for speech signals coding. Following this unified view, a new family of algorithms was introduced based on cyclic minimization principles and on the recent Cyclic Matching Pursuit [1427].

In parallel, our work on Informed source separation allowed us to propose a novel framework to link the two domains by exploiting source separation models and principles for multichannel audio coding. This novel method led to higher performance than those possibly achievable by standard approaches such as the standardized Spatial Audio Object Coding (SAOC) [1520].

12.2.4 Biomedical signals analysis

Researchers J. Prado, S. Essid, Y. Grenier;

Highlights DGA Project MEEGAPERF (Monitoring EEG pour l'Anticipation des PERFormances European Project FP7-Verve (Vanquishing fear and apathy through E-inclusion: Personalised and populated Realistic Virtual Environments for clinical, home and mobile platforms)

The other research direction is dedicated to the analysis of biomedical signals and especially electroencephalogram (EEG) signals recorded on asleep subjects using a single pair of sensors. Our approach to this problem has two technological breakthroughs since it aimed at an automated analysis (and not only visual) and uses a single channel EEG. The efficiency and robustness of the method developed have been measured and experimentally validated. Another application of interest concerned the analysis of biological data about colonic transit time (CTT). In particular, a dedicated approach was designed to robustly estimate this colonic transit time even in situations where the patient omits to ingest the radiopaque markers for one or two days [1424].

The effort of the group in the domain of biological signals processing (and especially multichannel EEG analysis) has been recently strengthened with the acceptation of two research projects. The first project (MEEGAPERF), started in september 2009, aims at automatically providing information in real time on the psychological state of a patient from the analysis of cerebral activity using portable devices. The second project (FP7-Verve) aims at developing dedicated tools to support the treatment of people who are at risk of social exclusion due to fear and/or apathy associated with a disability. Our planed work is to automatically analyze the user's emotional state based on the processing and fusion of various biological signals, be it the audio-visual

stimuli presented to the patient, or the signals captured by the different audio-visual, motion and biological sensors (including EEG and ECG electrodes) used to monitor him/her. The arrival of a new associate professor in biomedical signal processing for Brain Computer interfaces will also allow to further develop this research direction.

12.3 References

12.3.1 ACLN: Articles in Refereed Journals

- [1422] R. Badeau, N. Bertin, and E. Vincent. Stability analysis of multiplicative update algorithms and application to non-negative matrix factorization. *IEEE Transactions on Neural Networks*, 21(12): 1869–1881. Dec. 2010.
- [1423] N. Bertin, R. Badeau, and E. Vincent. Enforcing harmonicity and smoothness in bayesian non-negative matrix factorization applied to polyphonic music transcription. *IEEE Transactions on Audio, Speech and Language Processing*, 18(3):538–549, Mar. 2010.
- [1424] M. Bouchoucha, J. Prado, L. Chtourou, G. Devroede, C. Atanassiu, and R. Benamouzig. Non-compliance does not impair qualitative evaluation of colonic transit time. *Neurogastroenterology and Motility*, 23(1):103–108, Jan. 2011.
- [1425] J.-L. Durrieu, G. Richard, B. David, and C. Févotte. Source/filter model for unsupervised main melody extraction from polyphonic audio signals. *IEEE Transactions on Audio, Speech and Language Processing*, Mar. 2010.
- [1426] J.-L. Durrieu, B. David, and G. Richard. A musically motivated mid-level representation for pitch estimation and musical audio source separation. *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Signal Processing*, 5(6):1180–1191, Oct. 2011.
- [1427] P. Dymarski, N. Moreau, and G. Richard. Greedy sparse decompositions: A comparative study. EURASIP Journal on Advances in Signal Processing, Aug. 2011.
- [1428] K. Ege, X. Boutillon, and B. David. High-resolution modal analysis. *Journal of Sound and Vibration*, 325(4):852–869, May 2009.
- [1429] V. Emiya, R. Badeau, and B. David. Multipitch estimation of piano sounds using a new probabilistic spectral smoothness principle. *IEEE Transactions on Audio, Speech and Language Processing*, 18 (6):1643–1654, Aug. 2010.
- [1430] R. Hennequin, R. Badeau, and B. David. Nmf with time-frequency activations to model non stationary audio events. *IEEE Transactions on Audio, Speech and Language Processing*, 19(4):744–753, May 2011.
- [1431] R. Hennequin, B. David, and R. Badeau. Beta-divergence as a subclass of bregman divergence. *IEEE Signal Processing Letters*, 18(2):83–86, Feb. 2011.
- [1432] C. Joder, S. Essid, and G. Richard. Temporal integration for audio classification with application to musical instrument classification. *IEEE Transaction on Audio, Speech and Language Processing*, 17(1):174–186, Jan. 2009.
- [1433] C. Joder, S. Essid, and G. Richard. A conditional random field framework for robust and scalable audio-to-score matching. *IEEE Transaction on Audio, Speech and Language Processing*, 19(8): 2385–2397, Nov. 2011.
- [1434] M. Lagrange and M. Raspaud. Spectral similarity metrics for sound source formation based on the common variation cue. ACM Multimedia Tools and Applications Journal on Content-Based Multimedia Indexing, 48(1):185–205, 2010.
- [1435] M. Lagrange, M. Raspaud, R. Badeau, and G. Richard. Explicit modeling of temporal dynamics within musical signals for acoustical unit formation and similarity. *Pattern Recognition Letters* (*PRNSA*), 31(12):1498–1506, Sept. 2010.
- [1436] M. Lagrange, R. Badeau, B. David, N. Bertin, O. Derrien, S. Marchand, and L. Daudet. Décompositions en éléments sonores et applications musicales. *Traitement du Signal*, Oct. 2011.
- [1437] J.-L. Le Carrou, F. Gautier, and R. Badeau. Sympathetic string modes in the concert harp. *Acta Acustica united with Acustica*, 95(4):744–752, July 2009.
- [1438] A. Liutkus, R. Badeau, and G. Richard. Gaussian processes for underdetermined source separation. *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, 59(7):3155–3167, July 2011.
- [1439] A. Liutkus, J. Pinel, R. Badeau, L. Girin, and G. Richard. Informed source separation through spectrogram coding and data embedding. *Signal Processing*, Sept. 2011.

- [1440] M. Maazaoui, Y. Grenier, and K. Abed-Meraim. Blind source separation for robot audition using fixed hrtf beamforming. *Eurasip Journals*, Jan. 2012.
- [1441] M. Mueller, D. Ellis, A. Klapuri, and G. Richard. Signal processing for music analysis. *IEEE Journal of Selected Topics in Signal Processing*, 5(6):1088–1110, Oct. 2011.
- [1442] L. Oudre, C. Févotte, and Y. Grenier. Probabilistic template-based chord recognition. *IEEE Transactions on Audio, Speech and Language Processing*, 19(8):2249–2259, Nov. 2011.
- [1443] L. Oudre, Y. Grenier, and C. Févotte. Chord recognition by fitting rescaled chroma vectors to chord templates. *IEEE Transactions on Audio, Speech and Language Processing*, 19(7):2222–2233, Sept. 2011.
- [1444] A. Ozerov and C. Févotte. Multichannel nonnegative matrix factorization in convolutive mixtures for audio source separation. *IEEE Trans. Audio, Speech and Language Processing*, 3(18), Mar. 2010.
- [1445] M. Ramona, S. Fenet, R. Blouet, H. Bredin, T. Fillon, and G. Peeters. A public audio identification evaluation framework for broadcast monitoring. *Applied Artificial Intelligence*, Sept. 2011.
- [1446] E. Ravelli, G. Richard, and L. Daudet. Audio signal representations for indexing in the transform domain. *IEEE Transactions on Audio, Speech and Language Processing*, Mar. 2010.
- [1447] E. Vincent, N. Bertin, and R. Badeau. Adaptive harmonic spectral decomposition for multiple pitch estimation. IEEE Transactions on Audio, Speech and Language Processing, 18(3):528–537, Mar. 2010.

12.3.2 OS: Books and Book Chapters

- [1448] G. Adda, G. Chollet, S. Essid, T. Fillon, M. Garnier-Rizet, C. Hory, and L. Zouari. Traitement des modalités "audio" et "parole". In *Sémantique et multimodalité en analyse de l'information*, chapter 4. Hermes/Lavoisier, 2011.
- [1449] C. Baras, N. Moreau, and T. Dutoit. How could music contain hidden information. In *Applied Signal Processing*, chapter 7, pages 223 264. Springer, 2009.
- [1450] R. Benmokhtar, B. Huet, G. Richard, T. Declerck, and S. Essid. Feature extraction for multimedia analysis. In *Multimedia Semantics: Metadata, Analysis and Interaction*, chapter 4. Wiley, 2011.
- [1451] C. Clavel and G. Richard. Reconnaissance acoustique des émotions,. In *Systèmes d'Interaction Emotionnelle*, chapter 5. Hermès, 2010.
- [1452] T. Dutoit and N. Moreau. How is sound processed in an mp3 player. In *Applied Signal Processing*, chapter 3, pages 65–101. springer, 2009.
- [1453] T. Dutoit, N. Moreau, and P. Kroon. How is speech processed in a cell phone conversation. In *Applied Signal Processing*, chapter 1, pages 1–31. Springer, 2009.
- [1454] S. Essid, M. Campedel, G. Richard, T. Piatrik, R. Benmokhtar, and B. Huet. Machine learning techniques for multimedia analysis. In *Multimedia Semantics: Metadata, Analysis and Interaction*, chapter 5. Wiley, 2011.
- [1455] N. Moreau. *Outils pour la compression des signaux, applications aux signaux audio.* Hermès Lavoisier, Paris, 2009.
- [1456] F. Vallet, S. Essid, J. Carrive, and G. Richard. *High-Level TV talk show structuring centered on speakers' interventions"*. CRC Press, Taylor Francis LLC, 2012.

12.3.3 THE: PhD Theses

- [1457] N. Bertin. Les factorisations en matrices non-négatives. Approches contraintes et probabilistes, application à la transcription automatique de musique polyphonique. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Oct. 2009.
- [1458] J.-L. Durrieu. *Transcription et Séparation automatique de la mélodie principale dans les signaux de musique polyphoniques.* PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, May 2010.
- [1459] S. Gulluni. *Un système interactif pour l'analyse des musiques électroacoustiques*. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Dec. 2011.
- [1460] R. Hennequin. Décomposition de spectrogrammes musicaux informée par des modèles de synthèse spectrale : modélisation des variations temporelles dans les objets musicaux. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Nov. 2011.
- [1461] C. Joder. Alignement temporel musique-sur-partition par modèles graphiques discriminatifs. PhD thesis, Telecom ParisTech, Sept. 2011.
- [1462] V. S. Nguyen. Etude de caractéristiques de la langue vietnamienne en vue de sa synthèse et de sa

- connaissance automatique. Aspects statiques et dynamiques. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Dec. 2009.
- [1463] L. Oudre. Reconnaissance d'accords à partir de signaux audio par l'utilisation de gabarits théoriques. PhD thesis, TELECOM ParisTech, Nov. 2010.
- [1464] M. Ramona. *classification automatique de flux radiophoniques par machines à vecteurs de support.* PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, June 2010.
- [1465] F. Vallet. Structuration automatique de talk shows télévisés. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Sept. 2011

12.3.4 ACTI: Articles in Proceedings of International Conferences

- [1466] R. Badeau. Gaussian modeling of mixtures of non-stationary signals in the time-frequency domain (hr-nmf). In *Workshop on Applications of Signal Processing to Audio and Acoustics (WASPAA)*, pages 253–256, New Paltz, New York, USA, Oct. 2011. IEEE.
- [1467] R. Badeau, V. Emiya, and B. David. Expectation-maximization algorithm for multi-pitch estimation and separation of overlapping harmonic spectra. In *ICASSP'09*, pages 3073–3076, Taipei, Taiwan, Apr. 2009.
- [1468] R. Badeau, N. Bertin, and E. Vincent. Stability analysis of multiplicative update algorithms for non-negative matrix factorization. In *36th International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing ICASSP'11*, Prague, Czech Republic, May 2011. IEEE.
- [1469] N. Bertin, R. Badeau, and E. Vincent. Fast bayesian NMF algorithms enforcing harmonicity and temporal continuity in polyphonic music transcription. In *IEEE Workshop on Applications of Signal Processing to Audio and Acoustics (WASPAA)*, pages 29–32, New Paltz, New York, USA, Oct. 2009.
- [1470] N. Bertin, C. Févotte, and R. Badeau. A tempering approach for Itakura-Saito non-negative matrix factorization. With application to music transcription. In *IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP'09)*, pages 1545–1548, Taipei, Taiwan, Apr. 2009.
- [1471] R. Boyer, R. Badeau, and G. Favier. Fast orthogonal decomposition of volterra cubic kernels using oblique unfolding. In 36th International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing ICASSP'11, Prague, Czech Republic, May 2011. IEEE.
- [1472] S. Bozonnet, F. Vallet, N. Evans, S. Essid, J. Carrive, and G. Richard. A multimodal approach to initialisation for top-down speaker diarization of television shows. In *Eusipeo*, Aug. 2010.
- [1473] B. David, R. Hennequin, J.-L. Durrieu, and R. Badeau. Including parametric models in spectrogram decomposition. In 2nd Pan-American/Iberian Meeting on Acoustics, Cancun, Mexique, Nov. 2010.
- [1474] O. Derrien, R. Badeau, and G. Richard. Entropy-constrained quantization of exponentially damped sinusoids parameters. In 36th International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing ICASSP'11, Prague, Czech Republic, May 2011. IEEE.
- [1475] E. Dupraz and G. Richard. Robust frequency-based audio fingerprinting. In ICASSP, Dallas, USA, Mar. 2010.
- [1476] J.-L. Durrieu, A. Ozerov, C. Févotte, G. Richard, and B. David. Main instrument separation from stereophonic audio signals using a source/filter model. In *European Signal Processing Conference (EUSIPCO)*, Glasgow, Scotland, Aug. 2009.
- [1477] J.-L. Durrieu, G. Richard, and B. David. An iterative approach to monaural musical mixture desoloing. In *IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing*, Taipei, Taiwan, Apr. 2009.
- [1478] S. Essid, Y. Grenier, M. Maazaoui, G. Richard, and R. Tournemenne. An audio-driven virtual dance-teaching assistant. In *ACM Multimedia*, Scottsdale, Arizona, USA, Nov. 2011.
- [1479] S. Essid, X. Lin, M. Gowing, G. Kordelas, A. Aksay, P. Kelly, T. Fillon, Q. Zhang, A. Dielmann, V. Kitanovski, R. Tournemenne, N. E. O'Connor, P. Daras, and G. Richard. A multimodal dance corpus for research into real-time interaction between humans in online virtual environments. In ICMI WORK-SHOP ON MULTIMODAL CORPORA FOR MACHINE LEARNING, Alicante, Spain, Nov. 2011.
- [1480] S. Fenet, Y. Grenier, and G. Richard. Une empreinte audio à base de cqt appliquée à la surveillance de flux radiophoniques. In GRETSI, page NA, Bordeaux, France, Sept. 2011.
- [1481] S. Fenet, G. Richard, and Y. Grenier. A scalable audio fingerprint method with robustness to pitchshifting. In ISMIR, pages 121–126, Miami, USA, Oct. 2011.
- [1482] R. Foucard, J.-L. Durrieu, M. Lagrange, and G. Richard. Multimodal similarity between musical streams for cover version detection. In *ICASSP*, Dallas, USA, Mar. 2010.
- [1483] R. Foucard, S. Essid, M. Lagrange, and G. Richard. Multi-scale temporal fusion by boosting for music classification. In ISMIR, pages 663–668, Miami, USA, Oct. 2011.

- [1484] B. Fuentes, R. Badeau, and G. Richard. Analyse des structures harmoniques dans les signaux audio: modéliser les variations de hauteur et d'enveloppe spectrale. In XXIIIème Colloque GRETSI, Bordeaux, France, Sept. 2011.
- [1485] B. Fuentes, R. Badeau, and G. Richard. Adaptive harmonic time-frequency decomposition of audio using shift-invariant plca. In 36th International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing ICASSP'11, Prague, Czech Republic, May 2011. IEEE.
- [1486] M. Gowing, P. Kell, N. E. O'Connor, E. Izquierdo, V. Kitanovski, X. Lin, Q. Zhang, C. Concolato, S. Essid, J. Le Feuvre, and R. Tournemenne. Enhanced visualisation of dance performance from automatically synchronised multimodal recordings. In *ACM Multimedia*, Scottsdale, Arizona, USA, Nov. 2011.
- [1487] S. Gulluni, S. Essid, O. Buisson, E. Favreau, and G. Richard. Interactive segmentation of electroacoustic music. In 2nd International Workshop on Machine Learning and Music (MML - ECML -PKDD), Bled, Slovenia, Sept. 2009.
- [1488] S. Gulluni, S. Essid, O. Buisson, and G. Richard. Interactive classification of sound objects for polyphonic electro-acoustic music annotation. In AES Conference, Ilmenau, Allemagne, July 2011.
- [1489] S. Gulluni, S. Essid, O. Buisson, and G. Richard. An interactive system for electro-acoustic music analysis. In *ISMIR*, Miami, USA, Oct. 2011.
- [1490] Z. Harchaoui, F. Vallet, A. Lung-Yut-Fong, and O. Cappé. A regularized kernel-based approach to unsupervised audio segmentation. In *ICASSP 2009*, pages 1665–1668, Taiwan, Apr. 2009.
- [1491] R. Hennequin, R. Badeau, and B. David. Spectral similarity measure invariant to pitch shifting and amplitude scaling. In *10ème Congrès Français d'Acoustique (CFA)*, Lyon, France, Apr. 2010.
- [1492] R. Hennequin, R. Badeau, and B. David. Time-dependent parametric and harmonic templates in non-negative matrix factorization. In *13th International Conference on Digital Audio Effects (DAFx 2010)*, Graz, Austria, Sept. 2010.
- [1493] R. Hennequin, R. Badeau, and B. David. NMF with time-frequency activations to model non-stationary audio events. In *International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, pages 445–448, Dallas, Texas, USA, Mar. 2010. IEEE.
- [1494] R. Hennequin, R. Badeau, and B. David. Scale-invariant probabilistic latent component analysis. In *Workshop on Applications of Signal Processing to Audio and Acoustics (WASPAA)*, pages 129–132, New Paltz, New York, USA, Oct. 2011. IEEE.
- [1495] R. Hennequin, B. David, and R. Badeau. Score informed audio source separation using a parametric model of non-negative spectrogram. In *36th International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing ICASSP'11*, Prague, Czech Republic, May 2011. IEEE.
- [1496] C. Joder, S. Essid, and G. Richard. étude des descripteurs acoustiques pour l'alignement temporel audio-sur-partition musicale. In *GRETSI*, Dijon, Sept. 2009.
- [1497] C. Joder, S. Essid, and G. Richard. A conditional random field viewpoint of symbolic audio-to-score matching. In *ACM Multimedia*, Florence, Italie, Oct. 2010.
- [1498] C. Joder, S. Essid, and G. Richard. Approche hiérarchique pour un alignement musique-sur-partition efficace. In *CORESA 2010*, Lyon, France, Apr. 2010.
- [1499] C. Joder, S. Essid, and G. Richard. A comparative study of tonal acoustic features for a symbolic level music-to-score alignment. In *ICASSP*, Dallas, TX, E-U, Mar. 2010.
- [1500] C. Joder, S. Essid, and G. Richard. An improved hierarchical approach for music-to-symbolic score alignment. In *ISMIR*, Utrecht, Holland, Aug. 2010.
- [1501] C. Joder, S. Essid, and G. Richard. Hidden discrete tempo model: a tempo-aware timing model for audio-to-score alignment. In *ICASSP*, Prague, Rep. Tchèque, May 2011.
- [1502] C. Joder, S. Essid, and G. Richard. Optimizing the mapping from a symbolic to an audio representation for music-to-score alignment. In *Workshop on Applications of Signal Processing to Audio and Acoustics (WASPAA)*, New Paltz, New York, USA, Oct. 2011.
- [1503] M. Lagrange and M. Raspaud. Spectral similarity metrics for sound source formation based on the common variation cue. In Seventh International Workshop on Content- Based Multimedia Indexing (CBMI 2009), Chania (Greece), Sept. 2009. IEEE.
- [1504] M. Lagrange, R. Badeau, B. David, N. Bertin, J. Echeveste, O. Derrien, S. Marchand, and L. Daudet. The DESAM toolbox: spectral analysis of musical audio. In 13th International Conference on Digital Audio Effects (DAFx 2010), Graz, Austria, Sept. 2010.
- [1505] M. Lagrange, R. Badeau, and G. Richard. Robust similarity metrics between audio signals based on asymmetrical spectral envelope matching. In *International Conference on Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, pages 405–408, Dallas, Texas, USA, Mar. 2010. IEEE.
- [1506] M. Lardeur, S. Essid, G. Richard, M. Haller, and T. Sikora. Incorporating prior knowledge on the

- digital media creation process into audio classifiers. In *IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing*, Taipei, Taiwan, Apr. 2009.
- [1507] A. Liutkus, R. Badeau, and G. Richard. Informed source separation using latent components. In Ninth International Conference on Latent Variable Analysis and Signal Separation (LVA/ICA), volume 6365, pages 498–505, Saint Malo, France, Sept. 2010. Springer.
- [1508] A. Liutkus, R. Badeau, and G. Richard. Multi-dimensional signal separation with gaussian processes. In *IEEE Workshop on Statistical Signal Processing (SSP2011)*, Nice, France, June 2011. IEEE.
- [1509] M. Maazaoui, Y. Grenier, and K. Abed-Meraim. Frequency domain blind source separation for robot audition using a parameterized sparsity criterion. In *The European Signal Processing Conference* (EUSIPCO-2011), pages 1869–1873, Barcelone, Espagne, Sept. 2011.
- [1510] M. Maazaoui, Y. Grenier, and K. Abed-Meraim. Blind source separation for robot audition using fixed beamforming with hrtfs. In *12th Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association (Interspeech-2011)*, Florence, Italie, Sept. 2011.
- [1511] B. Mathieu, S. Essid, T. Fillon, J. Prado, and G. Richard. Yaafe, an easy to use and efficient audio feature extraction software. In *ISMIR*, Utrecht, Pays-bas, Aug. 2010.
- [1512] M. Moussalam, T. Fillon, G. Richard, and L. Daudet. How sparsely can a signal be approximated while keeping its class identity? In MML10 workshop, satellite to ACM MM 2010, firenze, Italy, Oct. 2010.
- [1513] M. Moussallam, P. Leveau, and S.-M. Aziz Sbaï. Sound enhancement using sparse approximation with speclets. In *ICASSP*, Dallas US, Mar. 2010.
- [1514] M. Moussallam, G. Richard, and L. Daudet. How sparsely can a signal be approximated while keeping its class identity? In ACM 2010: Workshop MML, Florence, Italie, Nov. 2010.
- [1515] M. Moussallam, L. Daudet, and G. Richard. Audio signal representations for factorization in the sparse domain. In *ICASSP*, Prague, May 2011.
- [1516] L. Oudre, Y. Grenier, and C. Févotte. Template-based chord recognition: influence of the chord types. In *International Symposium on Music Information Retrieval (ISMIR)*, pages 153–158, Kobe, Japan, Oct. 2009.
- [1517] L. Oudre, Y. Grenier, and C. Févotte. Chord recognition using measures of fit, chord templates and filtering methods. In *IEEE Workshop on Applications of Signal Processing to Audio and Acoustics* (WASPAA), pages 9–12, New York, USA, Oct. 2009.
- [1518] L. Oudre, C. Févotte, and Y. Grenier. Probabilistic framework for template-based chord recognition. In *IEEE International Workshop on Multimedia Signal Processing (MMSP)*, pages 183–187, St Malo, France, Oct. 2010.
- [1519] A. Ozerov, C. Févotte, and M. Charbit. Factorial scaled hidden markov model for polyphonic audio representation and source separation. In *IEEE Workshop on Applications of Signal Processing to Audio and Acoustics (WASPAA'09)*, Mohonk, NY, Oct. 2009.
- [1520] A. Ozerov, A. Liutkus, R. Badeau, and G. Richard. Informed source separation: source coding meets source separation. In *Workshop on Applications of Signal Processing to Audio and Acoustics (WASPAA)*, pages 257–260, New Paltz, New York, USA, Oct. 2011. IEEE.
- [1521] M. Ramona and G. Richard. Comparison of different strategies for a sym-based audio segmentation. In *European Signal Processing Conference (EUSIPCO)*, Glasgow, UK, Sept. 2009.
- [1522] F. Rigaud, B. David, and L. Daudet. A parametric model of piano tuning. In *Proc. of the 14th Conf. on Digital Audio Effects (DAFx-11)*, Paris, France, Sept. 2011.
- [1523] M. Robine, M. Lagrange, and P. Hanna. Meter class profile for music similarity and retrieval. In Proceedings of the International Conference on Music Information Retrie- val (ISMIR), Sept. 2009.
- [1524] T. Rocher, M. Robine, P. Hanna, and L. Oudre. Concurrent estimation of chords and keys from audio. In *International Society for Music Information Retrieval Conference (ISMIR)*, Utrecht, Netherlands, Nov. 2010.
- [1525] V. Y. F. Tan and C. Févotte. Automatic relevance determination in nonnegative matrix factorization. In Workshop on Signal Processing with Adaptative Sparse Structured Representations (SPARS'09), St-Malo, France, Apr. 2009.
- [1526] F. Vallet, S. Essid, J. Carrive, and G. Richard. Descripteurs visuels robustes pour l'identification de locuteurs dans des émissions télévisées de talk-shows. In CORESA, Oct. 2010.
- [1527] F. Vallet, S. Essid, J. Carrive, and G. Richard. Robust visual features for the multimodal identification of unregistered speakers in tv talk-shows. In *ICIP*, Sept. 2010.
- [1528] J. Weil, J.-L. Durrieu, G. Richard, and T. Sikora. Automatic generation of lead sheets from polyphonic music signals. In *International Society for Music Information Retrieval Conference*, pages 603–608, Kobe, Japon, Oct. 2009.

[1529] F. Weninger, J.-L. Durrieu, F. Eyben, G. Richard, and B. Schüller. Combining monaural source separation with long short-term memory for increased robustness in vocalist gender recognition. In *ICASSP 2011*, Prague, May 2011.

Chapter 13

Multimedia (MM)

Team leader B. Pesquet-Popescu (P).

- **Faculty** M. Cagnazzo (MC), G. Chollet (DR CNRS), C. Concolato (MC), F. Dufaux (DR CNRS 10/10 –), J.-C. Dufourd (DE), C. Faure (CR CNRS), J. LeFeuvre (IE), L. Likforman-Sulem (MC), J.-C. Moissinac (MC), C. Pelachaud (DR CNRS), M. Sigelle (MC)
- PhD students M. Abid (05/09–), A.B. El Ailah (10/09–), S. Ben Fredj (), G. Chierchia (10/11–), M. Chollet (10/11–), M. Decombas (11/10–), Y. Ding (10/10-), N. Fourati (10/11–), H. Khemiri (05/10–), P. Lauga (10/11–), H. Medina (10/10–), E. Mora (12/10–), O. Morillot (10/11–), I. Nemoianu (10/09–), C. Oprean (10/11–), G. Petrazzuoli (11/09–), T. Maugey (10/07–11/10), M. Kaaniche (10/06–12/10), S. Hyniewska (10/08–), Q. Anh Le (07/09 –), J. Huang (10/09 –), C. Greco (09/08 –), R. de Oliveira (01/09 –), A-L Bianne (09/08–11/11), B. Rodriguez (02/09–),
- Post-docs, engineers and sabbaticals R. Niewiadomski (01/09), M. Kieffer, Univ. Paris Sud (sabbatical, 10/09 –), A.-M. Pez(10/08 –01/10), P. Philippe (10/10–), K. Prepin (01/09-08/11), E. de Sevin (01/09 06/10), Cong Kinh Nguyen (01/11–12/11), Vlad Atanasiu (08/10–04/11), Jérémy Lardon (02/11–), C. Boufenar (sabbatical 1 month, 05/10), J. Le Tanou (11/11–), B. Qu (10/10–), M. Ochs (09/09), E. Sanchez-Soto (05/09–12/09), J. Razik (02/08–08/09), C. Riedinger (11/08–12/09), G. Valenzise (07/11–), R. Gaetano (10/10–), M. Kaaniche (01/11–), P. Milhorat (10/11–), A. Koz (10/11–), E. D'Acunto (03/10–12/10), A. Gnecchi (05/10–10/10), A. Amehraye (11/08–05/09), J.Lardon (02/11 –), S.Thomas (01/10 12/11), S.Stelle (01/10 11/11), L. Daud (01/10 12/11), J. Sillan (01/09 12/11), N. Mahler (), S. Pammi (11/11–), K. Bailly (10/10–09/11) Dirk Heylen, Twente University (sabbatical, 3 months, 2010), Candy Sidner, Worcester Polytechnic Institute (1 month, Oct. 2011)
- External collaborators A. Bennazza (SupCom Tunis), C. Mokbel (UOB, Liban), C. Kermorvant (A2IA), I. Jermyn (INRIA Sophia), S. Perreau (ITR, Adelaide), E. Bratsolis (Univ. Athens), J. Farah (USEK, Liban), M. van der Schaar (UCLA, USA), C. Guillemot (INRIA Rennes), A. Esposito (Univ. Naples), T. Hueber and G. Bailly (GIPSA-Labs)

Faculty [IT, CNRS]	[7, 3.6]
PhD students	13.6
Post-docs, engineers and sabbaticals	14.6
Defended PhD theses	7
Defended HDR	2
Journal papers [published, in press]	[44, 13]
Papers in conference proceedings	126
Chapters, edited books	[6, 8]
Standardization contributions	60
Grants [public, private, european] (k€)	[3190; 455; 942]

13.1 Objectives

The research in the "Multimedia" (MM) group covers the life cycle of multimedia documents in the framework of a complete chain, going from authoring tools for on-line and off-line production of multimedia contents to multimodal interaction for the final user; this also includes automated processing like enhancement of degraded pictures, verification of the identity of the user, modification of auditive and visual appearance, image segmentation and pattern recognition. The group also works on techniques that allow the analysis, compression and robust transmission of these media in heterogeneous networks. It also works on the dynamic and distributed adaptation of the transmitted data flow (including meta-data and in particular those concerning the digital rights management) with respect to context, transport conditions and terminal type.

13.2 Main Results

The main research results obtained during the period July 2009 - December 2011 are presented below for the research areas of the Multimedia team.

13.2.1 Robust Compression and Transmission of Visual Data

Faculty B. Pesquet-Popescu, F. Dufaux, M. Cagnazzo

Main events F. Dufaux is Editor-in-Chief of the *Elsevier Signal Processing: Image Communication journal.*

In this period, B. Pesquet-Popescu was a member of the IEEE SPS Image, Video and Multidimensional Signal Processing (IVMSP) TC, of the IEEE SPS Industry DSP Technology (IDSP) standing TC, a member of the IEEE SPS Multumedia Signal Processing (MMSP) TC, Associate Editor for *IEEE Trans.on Circuits and Systems for Video Technology, IEEE Trans. on Image Processing, IEEE Trans. on Multimedia* and *Elsevier Signal Processing: Image Communication* journals. She was also a General Co-Chair of the IEEE MMSP conference (Oct.2010).

M. Cagnazzo is Area Editor of *Elsevier Signal Processing: Image Communication* and of *Elsevier Signal Processing*.

Projects pôle CapDigital Sebastian2 (2008-2010), pôle CapDigital PINGO (2008-2010), CEDRE (2009-2010), ANR blanc PERSEE (2009-2012), ITEA2 AC/DC (2010-2012), FUI8 NEXEX (2011-2014)

2D and 3D video coding

Even though traditional (or 2D) video coding has been studied by the research community for more than twenty years, new methods for improving the existing compression techniques steadily pop up. This is testified by the fact that a new coding standard is under development by ISO and ITU. Our group contributed to 2D video coding with new and efficient methods based on motion vector quantization [1530], differential motion estimation [1598], efficient lossless coding [1535], adaptive wavelet coding [1678, 1599, 1576].

However, much attention has been addressed to three-dimensional and multiview video, since they are the *enabling technology* of many exciting new applications, such as 3D TV, immersive communication, immersive gaming, *etc.* Our team has been studing novel representation formats for this kind of data, proposing new compression techniques.

We have designed novel techniques for *disparity* estimation and coding in multiview video (disparity describes the spatial relationships between a couple of images taken from different points of view), allowing improved performances with respect to standards for multiview video coding. [1546, 1538, 1568]

We have also been considering an emerging representation format called multi-view plus depth (MVD). In MVD, for each view we have a traditional color image plus a *depth image*. The latter allows to synthesize new viewpoints at the decoder. We developed several techniques to efficiently encode the depth information [1568, 1615, 1600], or to use it to improve the user experience (jointly with distributed video coding techniques, see Section 13.2.1 [1693]).

The research of the group in 2D and 3D video compression perfectly fits the framework of the project *ANR Blanc PERSEE* (PERceptual Scheme for 2D and 3D vidE(E)o coding), in which the members of the group are involved.

Robust video streaming through cooperative networks

Real-time multimedia streaming over computer networks is one of the most active research fields in the last years. The best performing solutions are based on the concept of *cooperative networks*, i.e. networks where each node contributes to the distribution of the content. We studied this problem in the cases of wired and wireless networks.

For the wired case, we built over an existing protocol with the aim of a system meeting video multicast requirements. We developed a new algorithm which mitigates the main problems of the previous one (slow overlay construction and potentially high end-to-end delay) [1558].

For the wireless case, we considered mobile ad-hoc networks (MANETs), which are an active research field since they promise scalable and robust audio/video delivery without infrastructure. We studied the problem of real-time video streaming over MANETs and proposed a content routing/delivery protocol inherently designed for the ad-hoc wireless case, exploiting the intrinsic broadcast property of the medium [1547]. This problem has several common features with peer-to-peer routing, but the additional sensible parameters of MANETs make wired solutions unfit to this case; therefore, we had to design a brand new protocol.

The resulting protocol is very effective in building and managing the overlay network. Nevertheless, it can suffer from congestion if high density or sudden churns are considered. Therefore we designed and implemented a new version of the protocol that optimizes the rate/congestion trade off. The result is a remarkable reduction of delays and of undecodable images, with a clear improvement of the user's *quality of experience*.

All these systems for video streaming must face with the problem of unreliable connections. Packets can be lost on wireless networks, or can be too delayed on wired networks. In both cases, the video decoder must be able to cope with the case where not all data produced by the encoder are available at the play-back time. A common solution to mitigate this problem is multiple description coding (MDC). In MDC, the encoded stream is structured into independently decodable elements, called descriptions, such that the decoded video quality increases for any new description received. This robustness comes at the price of a reduced rate/distortion performance. All the proposed streaming protocols work on a MDC video stream. Instead of

using some existing MDC scheme, we proposed some new methods, based on temporal split and motion-compensated image interpolation [1639].

Finally, MDC is not the only technique used to adapt a video stream to a lossy channel. Among the alternatives, network coding (NC) is gathering a lot of attention. We are working on the combination of MDC and NC to obtain a robust and low-delay technique for video streaming over unreliable networks [1667].

Distributed video coding

Distributed video coding (DVC) is an emerging framework for video compression that allows to greatly reduce the encoder complexity provided that the decoder can sustain an increased computational burden. Theorems from information theory assure that this paradigm has the same performance bounds as the classical encoding schemes. Therefore DVC perfectly lends itself to applications such as low-complexity video communications, sensor networks, and, more recently interactive multiview video streaming [1694, 1693].

We have proposed several methods to improve the performance of DVC systems, based on high-order motion interpolation [1692, 1690, 1691], resulting in considerable gains with respect to state-of-the-art solutions.

We also proposed a new approach that iteratively improves the side information after decoding of each DCT sub-band [1585, 1586]. This leads to significant rate-distortion gains compared to state-of-the-art, especially for video sequences with complex motion. Another direction explores the combination of global and local motion estimation to improve side information [1657]. A second activity focuses on the multi-view distributed coding. In this context, we proposed the use of machine learning (Support Vector Machine) to fuse side information obtained from temporal and inter-view predictions [1623].

Semantic Video Coding

Compression standards such as H.264/AVC encode video sequences to maximize fidelity at a given bitrate. However, semantic-oriented and content-aware compression remains a challenge. In this activity, which is part of a CIFRE thesis with Thales, we have developed a new semantic video compression method using seam carving [1620]. Seam carving changes the dimension of an image/video with a non-uniform resampling of each row and column while keeping the rectangular shape of the image. Our main contribution is a new approach to identify areas where seams are concentrated. On the one hand, it allows to transmit supplemental seams data at low cost. On the other hand, seams can be synthesized at the decoder in order to recover the original frame size and to preserve the scene geometry. Experiments show that our seam carving method results in significant bitrate savings while maintaining the same quality in semantically significant regions. A patent has been filed.

High Dynamic Range Video

This activity is part of the FUI project NEVEX which began in October 2011. A complete HDR (High Dynamic Range) video system, from content creation to display offers the user the possibility to receive more immersive images. Indeed, HDR images offer a wide range of brightness that can reproduce details in all areas of the image, even bright or dark. This more realistic rendering is closer to human vision than standard HDTV images.

A first objective is to develop new algorithms for inverse tone-mapping to convert existing videos to HDR. In the absence of sensor capable of directly acquiring HDR images, the operation of inverse tone-mapping is a method to create HDR content. Moreover, inverse tone-mapping is also interesting to view legacy video content on new HDR displays, which are now becoming commercially available, maximizing the potential of these screens and thus the quality of the rendered image.

A second objective is to develop a specific coding scheme suitable for HDR video. It should take into account the constraints of backward compatibility with existing schemes. The standardization of such a format will also be explored.

Visual Quality Assessement

Research in the field of video quality assessment relies on the availability of subjective scores (Mean Opinion Scores or MOS), collected by means of experiments in which groups of people are asked to rate the quality of video sequences. The availability of subjective scores is fundamental to enable validation and comparative benchmarking of the objective algorithms that try to predict human perception of video quality by automatically analyzing the video sequences. In this activity, a publicly available database of subjective quality scores and corrupted video sequences has been created, including 156 sequences at CIF and 4CIF spatial resolutions, encoded with H.264/AVC and corrupted by simulating the transmission over an error-prone network, along with MOS [1542].

Current and future activities are looking into visual quality assessment for 3D video.

13.2.2 Rich Media, Adaptation and Open Source Software

Faculty C. Concolato, J.-C. Dufourd, J. LeFeuvre, J.-C. Moissinac

Main events Edition of several ISO and W3C standards, Organization of SVG Open 2010

Projects ANR Radio+(11/08–11/10), ANR HybRadio (), Cap Digital PINGO(04/08–04/10), IST FP6 NoE INTERMEDIA (10/06–10/10), ANR Georacing (01/07–03/09), FUI8 OpenHbb (10/09 – 02/12), SOA2M project/Alcatel Lucent/Institut Telecom joint laboratory (12/08–12/11), FEDER Project VUE (11/10–11/11), FUI8 End2ToEnd, ANR Calder.

Rich Media Representation

The term "Rich Media" designates the methods, algorithms, tools or technlogies required for the processing of the new generation of multimedia content, i.e. content that encompasses natural or synthetic audio-visual material but adds animation and interactive capabilities. Rich Media technologies target a wide range of application domains: from digital TV or radio, to mobile multimedia and the Web 2.0.

The research topic that the team pursued in this area are numerous. Some work has been done towards finding the best representation for such content, as well as designing compression approaches for multimedia scene description languages, with features such as error protection and scalability. Other works focused on improving the visualization of such content [1565], in particular on mobile phones. Finally, the problems related to the delivery of such content on diverse networks such as broadcast networks have been also investigated. As part of this work, the team is an active participant to standardization bodies such as W3C and ISO. The team has contributed (more than 80 contributions) and participated to the editing of the following international standards: MPEG-4 Systems, MPEG-4 BIFS, MPEG-4 LASeR, and W3C SVG.

Interactive Services and Transmedia

New ways to structure, package and transport interactive content have been studied. The first form is "widgets": the team is an active contributor and implementer of the W3C Widgets suite of standards. In order to investigate the full potential of widgets, in particular in the home environment, the team has spearheaded the development of the MPEG-U standard, which extends W3C widgets to add communication capabilities between widgets and to/from external services. The team is now reformulating the developed concepts for use within the home network with web technologies, as part of the work in the W3C Web and TV IG and the Device API WG. The

second form is interactive TV: the team is active in the development and promotion of the Hybrib Broadband Broadcast TV standard, opening the way for a convergence of TV, Internet and mobile into a new model for distributed, communicating services [1536].

Multimedia Adaptation and Multimodal Interaction

The adaptation of multimedia content to its context of use (terminal capabilities, network characteristics, user preference) is a very active research topic, with tight link with standardization activities such as MPEG-21 or W3C. The team explores specific problems in the adaptation of multimedia content: adaptation of protected content, adaptation of human-computer interface, and the authoring of adaptable services [1565]. These problems are addressed along different axis either by defining software architectures for such adaptations (in relationship with the ASTRE Team) or by defining methods and languages facilitating the adaptation of multimedia documents. A new form of multimedia consumption is emerging: our environment is days after days enriched by more and more multimedia capabilities -displays, sensors, speakers, microphones, touch screens... Our work places the user at the center of such environment and defines tools to get the best benefits of such environment when using multimedia services. Work has been done about implementation and extension of the MMI framework proposed by the W3C [1613].

Multimedia Transport

Starting from 2010, the group has been actively involved in the MPEG standardization process of adaptive streaming over HTTP, through the MPEG DASH specification (Dynamic Adaptive Streaming over HTTP, ISO/IEC 23009-1). The group has proposed various modifications to the specification, published articles on the topic of DASH and interactive content delivery, and hosted one of the DASH standardization meeting in Paris. Technical tools helping creation and consumption of DASH content have been released as part of the GPAC project, and some of these tools will be given to MPEG as utility software. These tools will also be used to generate conformance sequences to be given to MPEG in early 2012.

GPAC Open Source Software

The team maintains an Open Source platform called GPAC [1653], GPAC Project on Advanced Content (http://gpac.sourceforge.net), distributed under an LGPL license. This platform offers various tools for the encoding, the delivery and the playback of multimedia content, ranging from simple audio/video to full-fledge Rich Media. These tools implement state-of-the-art algorithms, methods and protocols from many standards organizations (MPEG, W3C, IETF, ETSI) and are kept in close sync with new industrial deployments. GPAC is used by the academic world (42 citations in journals or international conferences), the industrial world (integrated in several R&D projects) and the internet community (e.g. used for iPod file management). GPAC constitues the back-bone for the implementation of the team's work (Rich Media representations and adaptation) and is often demonstrated in conferences or standardization meetings.

13.2.3 Document Imaging and Interaction

Faculty L. Likforman, M. Sigelle, C. Faure

Main events L. Likforman was the General Chair of the Document Recognition and Retrieval (DRR) DRR 2010 conference.

Projects FUI Rome Mobile (2010-2012), DGA and Futur et Ruptures (2010-2013), A2iA (2008-2010), Itesoft (2011-2014)

The team has developed several HMM-based (Hidden Markov Models) approaches for hand-writing recognition (work performed within projects A2iA, DGA, Futur & Rupture and Itesoft). These approaches are based on the Hidden Markov Model framework, especially sliding window systems. In such systems, it is not required to segment the word into smaller units (words or characters). Context-dependent character models have been constructed during the PhD of A-L Bianne for a word recognition approach. Parameter tying is performed through a clustering process based on binary decision trees. Original questions on characters' shapes have been proposed [1534]. The word recognition approach has been extended to text-line recognition [1666]. Different language models have been constructed and the whole approach evaluated on a mail reading task (DGA, Futur & Rupture; PhD thesis Olivier Morillot).

A related and new study (started in 2010) is the characterisation of handwriting for retrieving similar documents (with respect to the handwriting). A retrieving application, REX, [1584] has been developed which compares documents from orientation-based features [1583]. Such features are extracted from normalized histograms of edge pixel orientations.

A new subject (within project Rome Mobile) started in 2010 which aims at decomposing web pages into functional blocs (header, content, footer, title...). Such decomposition is useful for web page adaptation to small screens and mobile phones. Our approach is based on machine learning (Support Vector Machines) using a set of efficient features (based on both content and typography) extracted from web page's blocks.

Document Image restoration based on seminal work of J. Darbon and M. Sigelle on Total Variation has been applied to ancient documents [1588]. A new approach resulting from the combination of Total Variation (TV) and Non Local Means has been proposed [1554] in collaboration with J. Darbon (CMLA and UCLA) and E. Barney Smith (Boise State Univ.) TV was also used for image denoising, by exact sampling (CFTP) and a relation was highlighted with the submodularity for Markovien models by Marc Sigelle, in collaboration with J. Darbon (CMLA ENS Cachan) and S. Peyronnet (LRI Orsay).

M. Sigelle continued the collaboration with I. Jermyn (INRIA ARIANA) and S. Perreau (UNISA Adelaide Australia) on the topics of (discrete) diffusion processes, which can be applied both to modelling of traffic routing in ad hoc networks and to image restoration [1703, 1702]. The same techniques have been applied with success in stochastic and markovian optimization of the base station placement, in collaboration with M. Coupechoux (INFRES) and J-M. Kélif (Orange Labs)

Finally, we continued the work on markovian segmentation of multispectral and multivariate images and Stochastic Expectation Maximization (SEM) hyperparameter estimation, with application in teledection (joint work with E. Bratsolis from Univ. of Athenes).

13.2.4 Audio-visual Identity/Imposture and Virtual Worlds

Faculty G. Chollet, C. Pelachaud, M. Sigelle, M. Charbit

Main events C. Pelachaud and T. Boubekeur, co-editors special issue on Facial Modeling, IEEE Computer Graphics and Applications, to appear in 2010; C. Pelachaud co-organizer of a Workshop held in conjunction with AAMAS 2009; she is since 2007 secretary of the Humaine association on emotion; she is part of the selection committee of ANR CONTINT (since 2008), ANR Blanc CSD9 Sciences Humaines et sociales (in 2009).

Projects ANR-SurfOnHertz (2010-2013), ANR-ORGAMI2 (2010-2013), AAL-vAssist (2011-2014), FUI-ARHOME (2011-2013), ANR KIVAOU (2008-2010), ANR MYBlog3D (2006-2010), CompanionAble: IP de IST (2008-2012), ANR blanc OUISPER (2006-2009), IST IP-CALLAS (2006-2010), IST STREP-SEMAINE (2008-2011), IST NoE-SSPNet (2009-2013), COST Action 2102 (2006-2010), ANR CECIL (2009-2011), ANR GV-Lex (2009-2011), ANR IMMEMO (2009-2011), Projet Web2.0 MyPresenting Avatar (2009-2011), ANR IMMEMO (2009-2011), Bilateral Contract Dialonics (2011-2013), Feder Anipev (2011-2014), FUI Play Serious (2011-2014), ILHAIRE (2011-2014), TARDIS (2011-2014), REVERIE (2011-2014), VERVE (2011-2014), STIC-Asie IMEI (2011-2013)

Two main directions of investigation are present in this theme:

Biometry and Speech/Face Synthesis/Recognition/Verification

The speech team was created in 1983 when Gérard Chollet joigned TELECOM-ParisTech (called ENST at the time). The focus was centered on coding, synthesis and recognition. In the 1990, speaker verification was added, followed by language identification seven years ago. At that time, audio-visual speech and speaker recognition became a topic of interest. The Biosecure network of excellence was an opportunity to promote open-source software for major biometric modalities (face, voice, audio-visual speaker, signature, iris, hand shape...) This led to the publication of a reference book ([1724]) and to the development of databases, reference systems and benchmarking protocols. The FP6-Securephone project was an opportunity to integrate audiovisual identity verification on a mobile phone. Audio-visual identification also finds applications in video indexing (InfoM@gic project, PhD theses supported by OrangeLabs, ANR-SurfOnHertz...) Face tracking, super-resolution and 3D morphable models of faces are issues under study in the ANR-KIVAOU, ANR-ORIGAMI2 and FET-ILHAIRE projects and are evaluated in the context of the NIST-MBGC campaigns. Multilingual speech recognition is still a major topic for our team. Languages of interest include french, english, dutch, spanish, german and italian. Speech recognition and synthesis are being experimented in projects such as the ANR-MyBlog3D, the FP7-IP-Companionable, AAL-vAssist and FUI-ARHOME in the context of Spoken Dialogue Systems. Our team contributed to the development of the french version of the OpenMary TTS system. Our coder still needs to be improved in terms of speaker and language independence. A similar approach is developped in the context of the ANR OUISPER project aiming at the development of a Silent Speech Interface (driven from tongue and lip movements).

Interaction and Embodied Conversational Agent

We have been developing an interactive platform of an Embodied Conversational Agent GRETA (virtual entity endowed with human-like communication capabilities) (work done within the National projects MyPresentingAvatar, ANR IMMEMO, ANR CECIL, ANR GV-Lex and European projects NoE SSNet, Fet-Open ILHAIRE, STREP TARDIS, IP VERVE) [1563, 1673],[1540]. Greta is open source platform under GPL licence (http://www.tsi.enst.fr/pelachau/Greta/; more than 100 downloads in 1 year; it is used in several international projects as well as material for academic purposes).

We have continued our research on expressive embodied conversational agents over several research directions:

- Emotional behaviors: we have developed a model to compute expressions of emotions as sequences of multimodal signals ordered through time and space [1560, 1671, 1669, 1668]. A language was derived to encapsulate these temporal and spatial relationships. Evaluation of this model has been undertaken. Perceptual studies were conducted to measure if such an approach increases recognition rate of emotions from the six basic set or of complex emotions. We use this model to increase the lexicon of emotional behaviors of the virtual agent. This work is part of the project ARN CECIL. Within this project, we have also developed a realistic skin rendering model of the face [1640]. Within the project ANR IMMEMO, we are investigating the relationship between emotions and nonverbal behaviors using machine learning approach.
- Social behaviors: we are studying one particular behavior: smile [1562, 1672],[1676]. It can take several conformational shapes (asymmetry of lip corners), temporal values (fast onset, short duration) and communicative functions (amused, polite, embarrassed smiles). At first we have developed an interface to allow human users to design a large variety of smiles onto a virtual agent. Then we have evaluated these signals in a discourse context. We are using the obtained results to develop a model to compute the user's potential perception of the virtual character's social stance depending on its smiling behavior. This work is part of the project EU NoE SSPNet.
- Interactive agents: within the EU project SEMAINE, we have developed a real-time platform allowing users to converse with virtual agents exhibiting different personality traits [1532, 1557,

1570, 1540],[1593, 1619, 1595, 1594, 1618, 1592, 1658]. We are using this platform to several of our work. In particular regarding the modeling of behavior synchrony as a sign of engagement (part of SSPNet and Telecom-ParisTech Synch project) [1574, 1698, 1697].

- The platform of the virtual agent Greta has been rewritten to be independent on the technology it runs on, as well as on its embodiment (part of the project Web 2.0 MyPresentingAvatar) [1673]. The new version can also control the NAO robot [1649, 1651, 1650, 1635, 1679]. This work is part of the ANR project GV-Lex.

Perspectives: in the near future we will continue our work on social signals (EU project SSP-Net) and will work on laughter (EU project ILHAIRE). We will continue our work on synchrony not only in dyads but also in large conversational groups (EU project VERVE). We will extend our work on human-agent interaction system, in particular regarding dialog system (EU project TARDIS).

13.3 References

13.4 References

13.4.1 ACL: Journal Papers

- [1530] M. Agostini, M. Cagnazzo, M. Antonini, G. Laroche, and J. Jung. A new coding mode for hybrid video coders based on quantized motion vectors. *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems for Video Technology*, 21(7):946–956, July 2011.
- [1531] K. Berkner and L. Likforman-Sulem. Special issue on documeny recognition and retrieval 2009. International Journal on Document Analysis and Recognition, 13(2), Oct. 2010.
- [1532] E. Bevacqua, E. de Sevin, S. Hyniewska, and C. Pelachaud. A listener model: Introducing personality traits. *Journal on Multimodal User Interfaces, special issue Interacting ECAs*, 2012.
- [1533] A.-L. Bianne, C. Kermorvant, L. Likforman-Sulem, and C. Mokbel. Modélisation de hmms en contexte avec des arbres de décision pour la reconnaissance de mots manuscrits. *Document Numerique*, Aug. 2011.
- [1534] A.-L. Bianne, F. Menasri, R. El-Hajj, C. Mokbel, C. Kermorvant, and L. Likforman-Sulem. Dynamic and contextual information in hmm modeling for handwritten word recognition. *IEEE PAMI*, 33(10), Apr. 2011.
- [1535] M. Cagnazzo, M. Antonini, and M. Barlaud. Mutual information-based context quantization. EURASIP Signal Processing: Image Communication, 25(1):64–74, Jan. 2010.
- [1536] C. Concolato, J. C. Dufourd, J. Le Feuvre, K. Park, and J. Song. Communicating and migratable interactive multimedia documents. *Multimedia Tools and Applications*, May 2011.
- [1537] O. Crave, B. Pesquet-Popescu, and C. Guillemot. Robust video coding based on multiple description scalar quantization with side information. *IEEE Trans.on Circuits and Systems for Video technology*, 20(6):769 779, Oct. 2010.
- [1538] I. Daribo, M. Wided, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Joint depth-motion dense estimation for multiview video coding. *Journal of Visual Communication and Image Representation*, Dec. 2009.
- [1539] S. De Bruyne, P. Hosten, C. Concolato, M. Asbach, J. De Cock, M. Unger, J. Le Feuvre, and R. Van de Walle. Annotation based personalized adaptation and presentation of videos for mobile applications. *Multimedia Tools and Applications*, 50:1–25, July 2010.
- [1540] E. de Sevin, R. Niewiadomski, E. Bevacqua, A.-M. Pez, M. Mancini, and C. Pelachaud. Greta, une plateforme d'agent conversationnel expressif et interactif. *Technique et science informatiques, le* numéro spécial "Agents conversationnels animés", 29:751–776, Sept. 2010.
- [1541] E. de Sevin, E. Bevacqua, S. Hyniewska, and C. Pelachaud. Un modèle d'interlocuteur virtuel avec des comportements d'écoute crédibles. *Journal: Technique et science informatiques*, (31), 2012.
- [1542] F. De Simone, M. Naccari, M. Tagliasacchi, F. Dufaux, S. Tubaro, and T. Ebrahimi. Subjective quality assessment of h.264/avc video streaming with packet losses. EURASIP Journal on Image and Video Processing, 2011, 2011.
- [1543] V. Demeure, R. Niewiadomski, and C. Pelachaud. How believability of virtual agent is linked to warmth, competence, personnification and embodiment? *International journal Presence*, 2012.

- [1544] B. Denby, T. Schultz, K. Honda, T. Hueber, J. Gilbert, and J. Brumberg. Silent speech interfaces. Speech Communication, 52(4):270–287, Apr. 2010.
- [1545] R. El-Hajj, L. Likforman-Sulem, and C. Mokbel. Combining slanted-frame classifiers for improved hmm-based arabic handwriting recognition. *IEEE PAMI*, 31(7):1165–1177, July 2009.
- [1546] J. Garbas, B. Pesquet-Popescu, and A. Kaup. Methods and tools for wavelet-based scalable multiview video coding. *IEEE Trans.on Circuits and Systems for Video technology*, Feb. 2011.
- [1547] C. Greco and M. Cagnazzo. A cross-layer protocol for cooperative content discovery over mobile adhoc networks. *International Journal of Communication Networks and Distributed Systems*, 7(1/2): 49–63, July 2011.
- [1548] T. Hueber, L. Benaroya, G. Chollet, B. Denby, G. Dreyfus, and M. Stone. Development of a silent speech interface driven by ultrasound and optical images of the tongue and lips. *Speech Communication*, 52(4):288–300, Apr. 2010.
- [1549] M. Kaaniche, A. Benazza-Benyahia, B. Pesquet-Popescu, and J.-C. Pesquet. Vector lifting schemes for stereo image coding. *IEEE Transactions on Image Processing*, 8(11):2463–2475, Nov. 2009.
- [1550] M. Kaaniche, J.-C. Pesquet, A. Benazza-Benyahia, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Non separable lifting scheme with adaptive update step for still and stereo image coding. *Elsevier Signal Processing*, Jan. 2011
- [1551] M. Kieffer and E. Walter. Guaranteed estimation of the parameters of nonlinear continuous-time models: contributions of interval analysis. *Int. J. Adap. Contr. Sig. Proc.*, Feb. 2010.
- [1552] G. Laroche, J. Jung, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Intra coding with prediction mode information inference. *IEEE Trans.on Circuits and Systems for Video technology*, 20(12):1786 1796, Feb. 2010.
- [1553] G. Laroche, J. Jung, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Codage par compétition des vecteurs mouvement : que doit-on vraiment transmettre ? *Traitement du Signal*, Feb. 2011.
- [1554] L. Likforman-Sulem, J. Darbon, and E. Barney Smith. Enhancement of historical printed document images by combining total variation regularization and non local means filtering. *IMAVIS*, 29(5): 351–363, Apr. 2011.
- [1555] M. Mancini and C. Pelachaud. distinctive behavior for embodied conversational agents. *Journal on Multimodal User Interfaces*, pages 1–13, 2010.
- [1556] C. Marin, K. Bouchireb, M. Kieffer, and P. Duhamel. Joint exploitation of residual source information and mac layer crc redundancy for robust video decoding. *IEEE trans. on Wireless Communications*, 9(7):2165 – 2175, July 2010.
- [1557] M. McRorie, I. Sneddon, G. McKeown, E. Bevacqua, E. de Sevin, and C. Pelachaud. Building and evaluating personality in virtual agents. *IEEE Transactions of Affective Computing*, Nov. 2011.
- [1558] E. G. Mora, C. Greco, B. Pesquet-Popescu, M. Cagnazzo, and J. Farah. Cedar: An optimized network-aware solution for p2p video multicast. In *International Conference on Telecommunications* (*ICT*) 2012, Jounieh, Liban, Apr. 2012.
- [1559] R. Niewiadomski and C. Pelachaud. Affect expression in ecas: application to politeness displays. *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies*, 68(11):851–871, Sept. 2010.
- [1560] R. Niewiadomski, S. Hyniewska, and C. Pelachaud. Constraint-based model for synthesis of multi-modal sequential expressions of emotions. *IEEE Transactions in Affective computing*, 2(3):134–146, July 2011.
- [1561] M. Ochs, D. Sadek, and C. Pelachaud. A formal model of emotions for an empathic rational dialog agent. *International Journal of Autonomous Agents and Multi-Agent Systems*, Nov. 2010.
- [1562] M. Ochs, R. Niewiadomski, P. Brunet, and C. Pelachaud. Smiling virtual agent in social context. *International journal Cognitive Processing*, 2012.
- [1563] C. Pelachaud. Modelling multimodal expression of emotion in a virtual agent. *Philosophical Transactions B*, (364):3539–3548, 2009.
- [1564] C. Pelachaud. Studies on gesture expressivity for a virtual agent. *Speech Communication*, special issue in honor of Björn Granstrom and Rolf Carlson(51):630–639, Oct. 2009.
- [1565] B. Pellan and C. Concolato. Authoring of Scalable Multimedia Documents. Multimedia Tools and Applications, 43(3):225–252, July 2009.
- [1566] B. Pesquet-Popescu, J. Farah, and C. Yaacoub. New adaptive algorithms for gop size control with return channel suppression in wyner-ziv video coding. *International Journal of Digital Multimedia Broadcasting*, July 2009.
- [1567] B. Pesquet-Popescu, A. Fraysse, and J.-C. Pesquet. On the uniform quantization of a class of sparse sources. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 55(7):3243–3263, July 2009.
- [1568] B. Pesquet-Popescu, C. Tillier, and I. Daribo. Motion vector sharing and bit-rate allocation for 3d video-plus-depth coding. *EURASIP Journal on Advances in Signal Processing (JASP)*, July 2009.

- [1569] M. Rupp, F. Gini, A. Perez, B. Pesquet-Popescu, A. Pikrakis, B. Sankur, P. Vandevalle, and A. E. H. Zoubir. Special issue on reproducible research in signal processing", editorial. *EURASIP Journal on Advances in Signal Processing*, Aug. 2011.
- [1570] M. Schröder, E. Bevacqua, R. Cowie, F. Eyben, H. Gunes, D. Heylen, M. ter Maat, G. McKeown, S. Pammi, M. Pantic, C. Pelachaud, B. Schüller, E. de Sevin, M. Valstar, and M. Wollmer. Building autonomous sensitive artificial listeners. *IEEE Transactions of Affective Computing*, pages 134–146, Oct. 2011.
- [1571] N. Tizon and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Bitrate adaptation of scalable bitstreams in a umts environnement, streaming media architectures, techniques, and applications: Recent advances. Eds. Ce Zhu, Yuenan Li and Xiamu Niu, IGI Global, Aug. 2010.
- [1572] M. Trocan, T. Maugey, J. E. Fowler, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Disparity-compensated compressedsensing reconstruction for multiview images. *IEEE Communications Society Multimedia Communications Technical Committee (MMTC) Review Letters (R-Letters)*, Aug. 2011.
- [1573] J. Urbain, E. Bevacqua, T. Dutoit, A. Moinet, R. Niewiadomski, C. Pelachaud, B. Picart, J. Tilmanne, and J. Wagner. Enabling a virtual agent to join in laughing with a conversational partner using a similarity-driven audiovisual laughter animation. *Journal on Multimodal User Interfaces*, 4(1):47–58, Oct. 2010.
- [1574] A. Vinciarelli, M. Pantic, D. Heylen, C. Pelachaud, I. Poggi, F. D'Errico, and M. Schröder. Social signal processing: Bridging the gap between social animal and unsocial machine. *IEEE Transactions of Affective Computing*, pages 134–146, Aug. 2011.
- [1575] C. Weidmann and M. Kieffer. Evaluation of the distance spectrum of variable-length finite-state codes. *IEEE Trans. on Communications*, 58(3):724 –728, Mar. 2010.

13.4.2 ACTI: Articles in Proceedings of International Conferences

- [1576] M. Abid, M. Cagnazzo, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Image denoising by adaptive lifting schemes. In *European Workshop on Visual Information Processing*, pages 1–4, Paris, France, July 2010.
- [1577] M. Abid, M. Kieffer, and M. Cagnazzo. Robust decoding of a 3d-escot bitstream transmitted over a noisy channel. In *IEEE International Conference on Image Processing*, Sept. 2010.
- [1578] M. Abid, M. Kieffer, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Joint source-channel coding/decoding of 3d-escot bitstreams. In *IEEE International Workshop on Multimedia Signal Processing*, St Malo, France, Oct. 2010.
- [1579] M. Abid, M. Kieffer, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Consistent reconstruction of the input of an oversampled filter bank from noisy subbands. In *EUSIPCO2011*, Barcelona, Spain, Sept. 2011.
- [1580] M. Abid, M. Kieffer, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Reconstruction cohérente de l'entrée d'un banc de filtres suréchantillonnés à partir de sa sortie bruitée. In GRETSI 2011, Bordeaux, France, Sept. 2011.
- [1581] U. Ali, M. Kieffer, and P. Duhamel. Frame synchronization based on robust header recovery and bayesian testing. In *IEEE International Symposium on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Communications*, Istambul, Turquie, Nov. 2010.
- [1582] M. Antonini, M. Cagnazzo, and M. Oger. The "secure media sim" bitstream structure for video encryption and fingerprinting. In *The Smart Event*, Sophia Antipolis, France, Sept. 2009.
- [1583] V. Atanasiu, L. Likforman-Sulem, and N. Vincent. Writer retrieval exploration of a novel biometric scenario using perceptual features derived from script orientation. In *ICDAR 2011*, Pékin, Chine, Aug. 2011.
- [1584] V. Atanasiu, L. Likforman-Sulem, and N. Vincent. Rex. retrieve documents by describing them. In *Image Analysis and Systematic Paleography Symposium*, Paris, Apr. 2011.
- [1585] A. b. Abou-Elailah, J. Farah, M. Cagnazzo, B. Pesquet-Popescu, and F. Dufaux. Successive refinement of motion compensated interpolation for transform-domain dvc. In *EUSIPCO2011*, Barcelona, Spain, Sept. 2011.
- [1586] A. b. Abou-Elailah, J. Farah, M. Cagnazzo, B. Pesquet-Popescu, and F. Dufaux. Improved side information generation for distributed video coding. In EUVIP2011, Paris, France, July 2011.
- [1587] A. b. Abou-Elailah, J. Farah, M. Cagnazzo, B. Pesquet-Popescu, and F. Dufaux. Amelioration progressive de l'information adjacente pour le codage video distribue. In *GRETSI 2011*, Bordeaux, France. Sept. 2011.
- [1588] E. Barney Smith, L. Likforman-Sulem, and J. Darbon. Effect of pre-processing on binarization. In *Electronic Imaging-Document Recognition and Retrieval XVII*, San Jose (USA), Jan. 2010.
- [1589] E. Barney Smith, J. Darbon, and L. Likforman-Sulem. A mask-based enhancement method for

- historical documents. In SPIE-Document Recognition and Retrieval XVIII, San Francisco, USA, Jan. 2011.
- [1590] F. Bassi, M. Kieffer, and C. Weidmann. Wyner-ziv coding with uncertain side information quality. In *IEEE International Workshop on Multimedia Signal Processing*, St Malo, France, Oct. 2010.
- [1591] M. Bendris, D. Charlet, and G. Chollet. Talking faces indexing in tv-content. In CBMI, Grenoble, France, June 2010.
- [1592] E. Bevacqua, E. de Sevin, C. Pelachaud, M. McRorie, and I. Sneddon. Building credible agents: behaviour influenced by personality and emotional traits. In KEER International Conference on KANSEI Engineering and Emotion Research 2010, Paris, France, Mar. 2010.
- [1593] E. Bevacqua, S. Hyniewska, and C. Pelachaud. Positive influence of smile backchannels in ecas. In *International Workshop on Interacting with ECAs as Virtual Characters (AAMAS 2010)*, Toronto, Canada, Oct. 2010.
- [1594] E. Bevacqua, S. Hyniewska, and C. Pelachaud. Evaluation of a virtual listener's smiling behavior. In 23rd International Conference on Computer Animation and Social Agents (CASA 2010), Saint-Malo, France, June 2010.
- [1595] E. Bevacqua, S. Pammi, S. Hyniewska, M. Schröder, and C. Pelachaud. Multimodal backchannels for embodied conversational agents. In *10th International Conference on Intelligent Virtual Agents*, pages 194–200, Philadelphie (PA) USA, Sept. 2010. Allbeck et al.
- [1596] A.-L. Bianne, C. Kermorvant, and L. Likforman-Sulem. Modélisation de hmms en contexte avec des arbres de décision pour la reconnaissance de mots manuscrits. In *Colloque International Franco-phone sur l'Écrit et le Document (CIFED2010)*, Sousse, Tunisie, Mar. 2010.
- [1597] A.-L. Bianne, C. Kermorvant, and L. Likforman-Sulem. Context-dependent hmm modeling using tree-based clustering for the recognition of handwritten words. In XVII SPIE Document Recognition and Retrieval (DRR2010), Mar. 2010.
- [1598] M. Cagnazzo and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Introducing differential motion estimation into hybrid video coders. In SPIE/IEEE Visual Communications and Image Processing Conference, Huang Shan, An Hui, China, July 2010.
- [1599] M. Cagnazzo and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Perceptual impact of transform coefficients quantization for adaptive lifting schemes. In *International Workshop on Video Processing and Quality Metrics for Consumer Electronics*, Scottsdale, AZ, USA, Jan. 2010.
- [1600] M. Cagnazzo and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Depth map coding by dense disparity estimation for mvd compression. In *IEEE Digital Signal Processing*, volume 1, pages 1–6, Corfu, Greece, July 2011.
- [1601] M. Cagnazzo, W. Miled, T. Maugey, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Image interpolation with edgepreserving differential motion refinement. In *IEEE International Conference on Image Processing*, Cairo, Egypt, Nov. 2009.
- [1602] J. Cai, T. Hueber, B. Denby, L. Benaroya, G. Chollet, P. Roussel, G. Dreyfus, and L. Crevier-Buchman. A visual speech recognition system for an ultrasound-based silent speech interface. In *International Congress of Phonetic Sciences*, Hong Kong, Aug. 2011.
- [1603] D. R. Caon, A. Amehraye, J. Razik, G. Chollet, R. V. Andreao, and C. Mokbel. Experiments on acoustic model supervised adaptation and evaluation by k-fold cross validation technique. In ISIVC, page 4, Rabat, Morocco, Oct. 2010.
- [1604] N. Changuel, N. Mastronarde, M. van der Schaar, B. Sayadi, and M. Kieffer. End-to-end stochastic scheduling of scalable video over time varying channels. In ACM Multimedia, Florence, Italy, Oct. 2010.
- [1605] N. Changuel, B. Sayadi, and M. Kieffer. Joint encoder and buffer control for statistical multiplexing of multimedia contents. In *IEEE Globecom*, Miami, FL, Dec. 2010.
- [1606] C. Chaux, M. El-Gheche, J.-C. Pesquet, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Proximal methods for disparity map estimation. In Symposium on Variation Image Analysis, Heidelberg, Allemagne, July 2011.
- [1607] G. Chollet, H. Bredin, S. Kanade, W. Karam, C. Mokbel, P. Perrot, and D. Petrovska-Delacrétaz. Identities, forgeries and disguises. In *Jornadas de Reconocimiento Biometrico de Personas*, page 7, Huertas, Spain, Sept. 2010.
- [1608] C. Concolato. Adaptive video and metadata display using multimedia documents. In *International Workshop on Social, Adaptive and Personalized Multimedia Interaction and Access*, Florence, Italy, Oct. 2010. ACM.
- [1609] C. Concolato and J.-C. Moissinac. A model for the delivery of interactive applications over broadcast channels. In Workshop on Mobile Video Delivery (Movid 2010), Florence, Italy, Oct. 2010. ACM.
- [1610] C. Concolato and J. Sillan. Svg electronic program guides. In SVG Open 2010, Paris, France, Sept. 2010.

- [1611] C. Concolato, J. Le Feuvre, and J. C. Dufourd. Declarative Interfaces for Dynamic Widgets Communications. In *Document Engineering*, pages 241–244, Munich, Germany, Sept. 2009. ACM New York, NY, USA.
- [1612] C. Concolato, J. Le Feuvre, and R. Bouqueau. Usages of dash for rich media services. In *Multimedia Systems Conference*, San Jose, USA, Feb. 2011.
- [1613] D. D. Dahl, J. A. Larson, B. H. Rodriguez, and M. Selvaraj. Best practices for creating mmi modality components. Technical report, Mar. 2011.
- [1614] I. Daribo and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Depth-aided image inpainting for novel view synthesis. In IEEE MMSP2010, St. Malo, Oct. 2010.
- [1615] I. Daribo, M. Kaaniche, W. Miled, M. Cagnazzo, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Dense disparity estimation in multiview video coding. In *IEEE Workshop on Multimedia Signal Processing*, Rio de Janeiro, Bresil, Oct. 2009.
- [1616] V. Davidoiu, T. Maugey, B. Pesquet-Popescu, and P. Frossard. Rate distortion analysis in a disparity compensated scheme. In *IEEE ICASSP2011*, Prague, May 2011.
- [1617] S. De Bruyne, J. De Cock, R. Van de Walle, P. Hosten, M. Asbach, M. Wien, and C. Concolato. Personalized adaptation and presentation of annotated videos for mobile applications. In 5th international ICST Mobile Multimedia Communications Conference, London, United Kingdom, Sept. 2009.
- [1618] E. de Sevin, E. Bevacqua, S. Pammi, C. Pelachaud, M. Schröder, and B. Schüller. A multimodal listener behaviour driven by audio input. In *International Workshop on Interacting with ECAs as Virtual Characters, In conjunction with AAMAS 2010*, Toronto, Canada, May 2010.
- [1619] E. de Sevin, S. Hyniewska, and C. Pelachaud. Influence of personality traits on backchannel selection. In *10th International Conference on Intelligent Virtual Agents*, Philadelphia, USA, Oct. 2010.
- [1620] M. Décombas, F. Capman, E. Renan, F. Dufaux, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Seam carving for semantic video coding. In SPIE 2011 Applications of Digital Image Processing XXXIV, San Diego, USA, Aug. 2011.
- [1621] B. Denby, J. Cai, T. Hueber, P. Roussel, G. Dreyfus, L. Crevier-Buchman, C. Pillot-Loiseau, G. Chollet, S. Manitsaris, and M. Stone. Towards a practical silent speech interface based on vocal tract imaging. In 9th International Seminar on Speech Production (ISSP), Montréal Canada, June 2011.
- [1622] A. Diallo, C. Weidmann, and M. Kieffer. Optimizing the free distance of error-correcting variable-length codes. In *IEEE International Workshop on Multimedia Signal Processing*, St Malo, France, Oct. 2010.
- [1623] F. Dufaux. Support vector machine based fusion for multi-view distributed video coding. In 17th International Conference on Digital Signal Processing (DSP2011), Corfu, Greece, July 2011.
- [1624] F. Dufaux. Video scrambling for privacy protection in video surveillance recent results and validation framework. In SPIE Mobile Multimedia/Image Processing, Security and Applications, Orlando, FL, USA, Apr. 2011.
- [1625] F. Dufaux and T. Ebrahimi. Encoder and decoder side global and local motion estimation for distributed video coding. In *IEEE International Workshop on Multimedia Signal Processing (MMSP 2010)*, Saint-Malo, France, Oct. 2010.
- [1626] J. C. Dufourd, C. Concolato, and J. Le Feuvre. Svg communicating widgets. In SVG Open, Mountain View, CA, USA, Oct. 2009.
- [1627] J. C. Dufourd, S. Thomas, and C. Concolato. Recording and delivery of hbbtv applications. In EuroITV, pages 51–54, Lisbonne, Portugal, June 2011. Springer.
- [1628] M. El-Gheche, C. Chaux, J.-C. Pesquet, B. Pesquet-Popescu, and J. Farah. Méthodes proximales pour l'estimation du champ de disparité à partir d'une paire d'images stéréoscopiques en présence de variations d'illumination. In GRETSI 2011, Bordeaux, France, Sept. 2011.
- [1629] M. El-Gheche, J.-C. Pesquet, J. Farah, C. Chaux, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Disparity map estimation under convex constraints using proximal algorithms. In *IEEE SIPS*, Beyrut, Lebanon, Oct. 2011.
- [1630] M. El-Gheche, J.-C. Pesquet, J. Farah, M. Kaaniche, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Proximal splitting methods for depth estimation. In *IEEE ICASSP2011*, Prague, May 2011.
- [1631] C. Faure and N. Vincent. Detection of figure and caption pairs based on disorder measurements.". In *17th Document Recognition and Retrieval Conference (DRR 2010 Electronic Imaging)*, volume 75340S, San Jose, USA, Jan. 2010. SPIE.
- [1632] R. Gaetano and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Opencl implementation of motion estimation for cloud video processing. In *IEEE MMSP2011*, China, Oct. 2011.
- [1633] R. Galvão de Oliveira and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Intra-frame prediction with lapped transforms for image coding. In *IEEE ICASSP2011*, Prague, May 2011.

- [1634] R. Galvão de Oliveira, M. Trocan, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Inter prediction with lapped transforms for advanced video coding. In *IEEE ICIP2011*, Bruxelles, Belgium, Sept. 2011.
- [1635] R. Gelin, O. Deroo, S. Rosset, A. Rilliard, C. d'Alessandro, J.-C. Martin, D. Doukhan, Q. A. Le, and C. Pelachaud. Towards a storytelling humanoid robot. In 2010 AAAI Fall Symposium Series, page 2, Arlington, Virginia, USA, Nov. 2010.
- [1636] M. Gowing, P. Kell, N. E. O'Connor, E. Izquierdo, V. Kitanovski, X. Lin, Q. Zhang, C. Concolato, S. Essid, J. Le Feuvre, and R. Tournemenne. Enhanced visualisation of dance performance from automatically synchronised multimodal recordings. In *ACM Multimedia*, Scottsdale, Arizona, USA, Nov. 2011.
- [1637] C. Greco, M. Cagnazzo, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. H.264-based multiple description coding using motion compensated temporal interpolation. In 2010 International Workshop on Multimedia Signal Processing (MMSP'10), pages 239–244, Saint-Malo (France), Oct. 2010. IEEE.
- [1638] C. Greco, M. Cagnazzo, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Abcd: Un protocole cross-layer pour la diffusion vidéo dans des réseaux sans fil. In GRETSI 2011, Bordeaux, France, Sept. 2011.
- [1639] C. Greco, G. Petrazzuoli, M. Cagnazzo, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. An mdc-based video streaming architecture for mobile networks. In *IEEE MMSP*, Hangzhou (Chine), Oct. 2011.
- [1640] J.-F. Huang, T. Boubekeur, T. Ritschel, M. Holländer, and E. Eisemann. Separable approximation of ambient occlusion. In *Eurographics*, Llandudno / UK, June 2011.
- [1641] T. Hueber, L. Benaroya, G. Chollet, B. Denby, G. Dreyfus, and M. Stone. Visuo-phonetic decoding using multi-stream and context-dependent models for an ultrasound-based silent speech interface. In *Interspeech*, pages 640–643, Brighton, UK, Sept. 2009.
- [1642] T. Hueber, L. Benaroya, B. Denby, and G. Chollet. Statistical mapping between articulatory and acoustic data for an ultrasound-based silent speech interface. In *InterSpeech*, Florence Italie, Aug. 2011.
- [1643] S. Hyniewska, S. Kaiser, and C. Pelachaud. Non-verbal behaviour and attribution of mental states. In *Doctoral Consortium, International conference on Affective Computing & Intelligent Interaction ACII'09*, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, Sept. 2009.
- [1644] M. Kaaniche, J.-C. Pesquet, A. Benazza-Benyahia, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Schémas de lifting adaptatifs via des critères parcimonieux. In *GRETSI 2011*, Bordeaux, France, Sept. 2011.
- [1645] C. Kermorvant, F. Menasri, A.-L. Bianne, R. Al-Hajj Mohamed, L. Likforman-Sulem, and C. Mokbel. The a2ia-telecom paristech-uob system for the icdar 2009 handwriting recognition competition. In ICFHR'2010, Calcutta, Jan. 2010.
- [1646] H. Khemiri, G. Chollet, and D. Petrovska-Delacrétaz. Automatic detection of known advertisements in radio broadcast with data-driven alisp transcriptions. In *International Workshop on Content-Based Multimedia Indexing (CBMI)*, pages 223–228, Spain, Madrid, June 2011.
- [1647] K. Khurshid, C. Faure, and N. Vincent. Fusion of word spotting and spatial information for figure caption retrieval in historical document image. In *Inter. Conference on Document Analysis and Recognition (ICDAR)*, Barcelone Espagne, July 2009.
- [1648] Q. A. Le and C. Pelachaud. Expressive gesture model for storytelling humanoid agent. In *Le quatrième Workshop sur les Agents Conversationnels Animés*, page 2, Lille, France, Nov. 2010.
- [1649] Q. A. Le and C. Pelachaud. Expressive gesture model for humanoid robot. In The fourth bi-annual International Conference of the HUMAINE Association on Affective Computing and Intelligent Interaction (ACII2011), Memphis, Tennessee, USA, Oct. 2011. Springer Computer Science Editorial.
- [1650] Q. A. Le and C. Pelachaud. Generating co-speech gestures for the humanoid robot nao through bml. In The 9th International Gesture Workshop: Gesture in Embodied Communication and Human-Computer Interaction, page 4, Athens, Greece, May 2011.
- [1651] Q. A. Le, S. Hanoune, and C. Pelachaud. Design and implementation of an expressive gesture model for a humanoid robot. In *The 2011 IEEE-RAS International Conference on Humanoid Robots*, Bled, Slovenia, Oct. 2011. IEEE Xplore digital library.
- [1652] J. Le Feuvre, C. Concolato, and J. C. Dufourd. Widgets Mobility. In *International Conference on Mobile Technology, Applications and Systems*, Nice, France, Sept. 2009.
- [1653] J. Le Feuvre, C. Concolato, J. C. Dufourd, R. Bouqueau, and J.-C. Moissinac. Experimenting with multimedia advances using gpac. In *ACM Multimedia*, Scottsdale, USA, Nov. 2011.
- [1654] L. Likforman-Sulem, J. Darbon, and E. Barney Smith. Pre-processing of degraded printed documents by non-local means and total variation. In *ICDAR'09*, Barcelona, July 2009.
- [1655] A. Lorenz, M. Jentsch, C. Concolato, and E. Rukzio. A Formative Analysis of Mobile Devices and Gestures to Control a Multimedia Application from the Distance. In *MELECON*, pages 796 – 801, Malte, Apr. 2010.

- [1656] T. Maugey, W. Miled, M. Cagnazzo, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Fusion schemes for multiview distributed video coding. In EUSIPCO, Glasgow, Royaume Uni, Aug. 2009.
- [1657] T. Maugey, C. Yaacoub, J. Farah, M. Cagnazzo, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Side information enhancement using an adaptive hash-based genetic algorithm in a wyner-ziv context. In *IEEE MMSP2010*, St. Malo, Oct. 2010.
- [1658] M. McRorie, I. Sneddon, E. Bevacqua, E. de Sevin, and C. Pelachaud. A model of personality and emotional traits. In *International Working Conference on Intelligent Virtual Agents*, Amsterdam, NL, Sept. 2009.
- [1659] W. Miled, T. Maugey, M. Cagnazzo, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Image interpolation with dense disparity estimation in multiview distributed video coding. In *International Conference on Distributed Smart Cameras*, Como, Italie, Sept. 2009.
- [1660] R. Miletitch, N. Sabouret, and M. Ochs. De la description de scénarios socio-émotionnels au narrateur virtuel expressif. In Workshop Francophone sur les Agents Conversationnels Animés (WACA), pages 1–8, Lille, France, Sept. 2010.
- [1661] R. Miletitch, N. Sabouret, and M. Ochs. From socio-emotional scenarios to expressive virtual narrators. In *IEEE Symposium Series on Computational Intelligence (SSCI), Workshop on Affective Computational Intelligence*, pages 1–8, Paris, France, July 2011.
- [1662] J.-C. Moissinac. Re-doing papyrus. In SVG Open 2009, Mountain View, USA, Oct. 2009.
- [1663] J.-C. Moissinac. Découverte et composition automatique de services d'adaptation multimédia. In *INFORSID*, Lille, France, May 2011.
- [1664] J.-C. Moissinac, C. Concolato, and J. Le Feuvre. SuperPath: a necessary primitive for vector graphics formats. In MMEDIA 2010, Athen, Grèce, June 2010.
- [1665] A. Mokadem, M. Charbit, and G. Chollet. Age regression based on local image features. In PSIVT, page 6, Singapore, Nov. 2010.
- [1666] O. Morillot, L. Likforman-Sulem, and E. Grosicki. Construction of language models for an handwritten mail reading system. In *Electronic Imaging-Document Recognition and Retrieval XIX*, San Francisco, USA, Jan. 2012.
- [1667] I. D. Nemoianu, C. Greco, M. Cagnazzo, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. A framework for joint multiple description coding and network coding over wireless ad-hoc networks. In *ICASSP'12*, Kyoto, Japon, Mar. 2011.
- [1668] R. Niewiadomski, S. Hyniewska, and C. Pelachaud. Evaluation of multimodal sequential expressions of emotions in eca. In *International Conference on Affective Computing and Intelligent Interaction*, pages 635–641, Amsterdam, NL, Sept. 2009.
- [1669] R. Niewiadomski, S. Hyniewska, and C. Pelachaud. Modeling emotional expressions as sequences of behaviors. In *International Working Conference on Intelligent Virtual Agents*, pages 316–322, Amsterdam, NL, Sept. 2009.
- [1670] R. Niewiadomski, V. Demeure, and C. Pelachaud. Warmth, competence, believability and virtual agents. In *International conference on Intelligent virtual agents IVA'10*, pages 272–285, Philadelphia, USA. Sept. 2010.
- [1671] R. Niewiadomski, S. Hyniewska, and C. Pelachaud. Introducing multimodal sequential emotional expressions for virtual characters. In *KEER International Conference on KANSEI Engineering and Emotion Research 2010*, pages 1041–1050, Paris, France, Mar. 2010.
- [1672] R. Niewiadomski, K. Prépin, E. Bevacqua, M. Ochs, and C. Pelachaud. Toward a smiling eca: Studies on mimicry, timing and types of smiles. In *Workshop on Social Signal Processing, in conjunction with ACM Multimedia 2010*, pages 65–70, Florence, Italy, Oct. 2010.
- [1673] R. Niewiadomski, E. Bevacqua, Q. A. Le, M. Obaid, J. Looser, and C. Pelachaud. Cross-media agent platform. In ACM Web-3D, pages 11–19, Paris, May 2011.
- [1674] M. Obaid, R. Mukundan, M. Billinghurst, and C. Pelachaud. Expressive mpeg-4 facial animation using quadratic deformation models. In Seventh International Conference on Computer Graphics, Imaging and Visualization, 2010.
- [1675] M. Obaid, R. Niewiadomski, and C. Pelachaud. Perception of spatial relations and of coexistence with virtual agents. In *Proceedings of the 11th International Conference on Intelligent Virtual Agents*, Reykjavík, Iceland, Sept. 2011.
- [1676] M. Ochs, R. Niewiadomski, and C. Pelachaud. How a virtual agent should smile? morphological and dynamic characteristics of virtual character's smiles. In *International conference on Intelligent* virtual agents IVA'10, pages 427–440, Philadelphia, USA, Sept. 2010.
- [1677] M. Ochs, E. Bevacqua, K. Prépin, Q. A. Le, Y. Ding, J.-F. Huang, R. Niewiadomski, and C. Pelachaud. La compréhension de la machine à travers l'expression non-verbale. In *III : Intercompréhension de*

- l'intraspécifique à l'interspécifique, Nantes, France, Nov. 2011.
- [1678] S. Parrilli, M. Cagnazzo, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Estimation of quantization noise for adaptive-prediction lifting schemes. In *IEEE Workshop on Multimedia Signal Processing*, Rio de Janeiro, Bresil, Oct. 2009.
- [1679] C. Pelachaud, R. Gelin, J.-C. Martin, and Q. A. Le. Expressive gestures displayed by a humanoid robot during a storytelling application. In AISB'2010 Symposium "New Frontiers in Human-Robot Interaction", Leicester, GB, May 2010.
- [1680] B. Pesquet-Popescu, J. Farah, and C. Yaacoub. A genetic frame fusion algorithm for side information enhancement in wyner-ziv video coding. In *EUSIPCO'09*, Glasgow, UK, Aug. 2009.
- [1681] B. Pesquet-Popescu, J. Farah, and C. Yaacoub. Nouvelle technique d'adaptation dynamique de la taille du gop dans le codage wyner-ziv des séquences vidéo. In GRETSI'09, Dijon, France, Sept. 2009.
- [1682] B. Pesquet-Popescu, J. Farah, and C. Yaacoub. Nouvelle technique de génération de l'information adjacente en codage vidéo distribué basée sur les algorithmes génétiques. In GRETSI'09, Dijon, France, Sept. 2009.
- [1683] B. Pesquet-Popescu, J. Farah, and C. Yaacoub. A genetic algorithm for side information enhancement in distributed video coding. In *IEEE ICIP'09*, Cairo, Egypt, Nov. 2009.
- [1684] B. Pesquet-Popescu, J. Farah, and C. Yaacoub. Content adaptive gop size control with feedback channel suppression in distributed video coding. In *IEEE ICIP'09*, Cairo, Egypt, Nov. 2009.
- [1685] B. Pesquet-Popescu, J. Farah, and C. Yaacoub. Improving hash-based wyner-ziv video coding using genetic algorithms. In *MobiMedia'09*, London, UK, Sept. 2009.
- [1686] B. Pesquet-Popescu, C. Guillemot, T. Maugey, and J.-P. Gauthier. Amélioration du modèle statistique de bruit pour le codage vidéo distribué. In GRETSI'09, Dijon, France, Sept. 2009.
- [1687] B. Pesquet-Popescu, J.-C. Pesquet, and A. Fraysse. Une méthode d'allocation de débit basserésolution pour des données parcimonieuses. In GRETSI'09, Dijon, France, Sept. 2009.
- [1688] B. Pesquet-Popescu, M. Trocan, and J. E. Fowler. Block-based graph-cut rate allocation for subband image compression and transmission over wireless networks. In *MobiMedia'09*, London, UK, Sept. 2009.
- [1689] B. Peter, S. Hyniewska, R. Niewiadomski, C. Pelachaud, and P. Marc. Emotional interaction story-teller system. In KEER International Conference on KANSEI Engineering and Emotion Research 2010, pages 1716–1726, Paris, France, Mar. 2010.
- [1690] G. Petrazzuoli, M. Cagnazzo, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Fast and efficient side information generation in distributed video coding by using dense motion representations. In *EUSIPCO*, Aalborg, Aug. 2010.
- [1691] G. Petrazzuoli, M. Cagnazzo, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. High order motion interpolation for side information improvement in dvc. In *IEEE International Conference on Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing*, Dallas, TX, USA, Mar. 2010.
- [1692] G. Petrazzuoli, T. Maugey, M. Cagnazzo, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Side information refinement for long duration gops in dvc. In MMSP 2010, Saint Malo, Oct. 2010.
- [1693] G. Petrazzuoli, M. Cagnazzo, F. Dufaux, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Wyner-ziv coding for depth maps in multiview video-plus-depth. In *ICIP*, pages 1857–1860, Bruxelles (Belgique), Sept. 2011.
- [1694] G. Petrazzuoli, M. Cagnazzo, F. Dufaux, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Using distributed source coding and depth image based rendering to improve interactive multiview video access. In *ICIP*, volume 1, pages 605–608, Bruxelles (Belgique), Sept. 2011.
- [1695] P. Philippe, M. Ochs, and C. Pelachaud. From biologically inspired model of emotions to strategic expressions for a virtual agent. In Workshop "Standards in Emotion Modeling", Leiden, Hollande, Aug. 2011.
- [1696] K. Prépin and P. Gaussier. How an agent can detect and use synchrony parameter of its own interaction with a human? In COST Action2102, Int. Traing School 2009, Active Listening and Synchrony. LNCS 5967, pages 50–65. Springer-Verlag, June 2010.
- [1697] K. Prépin and C. Pelachaud. Shared understanding and synchrony emergence: Synchrony as an indice of the exchange of meaning between dialog partners. In *Third International Conference on Agents and Artificial Intelligence, ICAART2011*, pages 1–10, Rome, Italie, Jan. 2011. Springer.
- [1698] K. Prépin and C. Pelachaud. Effect of time delays on agents' interaction dynamic. In *The Tenth International Conference on Autonomous Agents and Multi Agents Systems, AAMAS2011*, pages 1–8, Taipei, Taiwan, May 2011.
- [1699] B. Reiterer, C. Concolato, and H. Hellwagner. Natural-Language-based Conversion of Images to Mobile Multimedia Experiences. In *International Conference on User Centric Media*, volume 40,

- pages 87-90, Venezia, Italy, Dec. 2009. Springer.
- [1700] B. H. Rodriguez, J.-C. Moissinac, and I. Demeure. Multimodal services for the pervasive semantic web. In *UBIMOB 2010*, Lyon, June 2010.
- [1701] M. Schröder, P. Baggia, F. Burkhardt, C. Pelachaud, C. Peter, and E. Zovato. Emotionml an upcoming standard for representing emotions and related states. In *Affective Computing and Intelligent Interaction*, Memphis, USA, Oct. 2011.
- [1702] M. Sigelle, I. Jermyn, and S. Perreau. Markov chains, diffusion and green functions applications to traffic routing in ad hoc networks and to image restoration. Technical report, TELECOM PARISTECH CNRS UMR 5141, Jan. 2009.
- [1703] M. Sigelle, I. Jermyn, S. Perreau, and A. Jayasuriya. Lattice green functions and diffusion for modelling traffic routing in ad hoc networks. In *PHYSCOMNET 2009*, Seoul (Sud-Coree), June 2009.
- [1704] T. Simonnet and G. Chollet. Services over voip for robot companion. In 5th CRI Workshop, Bruxelles, Mar. 2011.
- [1705] N. Tizon, B. Pesquet-Popescu, and M. Cagnazzo. Adaptive video streaming with long term feed-backs. In *IEEE ICIP'09*, Cairo, Egypt, Nov. 2009.
- [1706] M. Trocan, T. Maugey, J. E. Fowler, and B. Pesquet-Popescu. Multistage compressed-sensing reconstruction of multiview images. In *IEEE MMSP2010*, St. Malo, Oct. 2010.
- [1707] J. Urbain, E. Bevacqua, T. Dutoit, A. Moinet, R. Niewiadomski, C. Pelachaud, B. Picart, J. Tilmanne, and J. Wagner. La base de données avlaughtercycle. In *Actes des 28emes Journées d'Etude sur la Parole (JEP 2010)*, pages 61–64, Mons, Belgique, May 2010.
- [1708] J. Urbain, E. Bevacqua, T. Dutoit, A. Moinet, R. Niewiadomski, C. Pelachaud, B. Picart, J. Tilmanne, and J. Wagner. The avlaughtercycle database. In *Seventh conference on International Language Resources and Evaluation (LREC'10)*, pages 2996–3001, Valletta, Malta, May 2010. European Language Resources Association (ELRA).

13.4.3 BC: Book Chapters

- [1709] G. Bailly and C. Pelachaud. Parole et expression des émotions sur le visage d'humanoïdes virtuels. In S. Donikian and C. Andriot, editors, *cinquième édition du traité de la réalité virtuelle*. Presses de l'Ecole des Mines de Paris, 2009.
- [1710] G. Chollet, A. Esposito, A. Gentès, P. Horain, W. Karam, Z. Li, C. Pelachaud, P. Perrot, D. Petrovska-Delacretaz, D. Zhou, and L. Zouari. Multimodal human machine interactions in virtual and augmented reality. In A. Esposito, editor, *Multimodal Signals: Cognitive and Algorithmic Issues Interaction*, chapter Multimodal Human Machine Interactions in Virtual and Augmented Reality., pages 1–23. Springer, LNCS Vol 5398, 2009.
- [1711] G. Chollet, A. Amehraye, J. Razik, L. Zouari, H. Khemiri, and C. Mokbel. Spoken dialogue in virtual worlds. In *Development of Multimodal Interfaces: Active Listening and Synchrony*, pages 423–443. Springer Verlag, LNCS, Volume 5967, 2010.
- [1712] R. Cowie, E. Douglas-Cowie, I. Sneddon, A. Batlinder, and C. Pelachaud. *Principles and History*, chapter Principles and History. Springer, 2011.
- [1713] E. Douglas-Cowie, C. Cox, J. C. Martin, L. Devillers, R. Cowie, I. Sneddon, M. McRorie, C. Pelachaud, C. Peters, O. Lowry, A. Batlinder, and F. Hönig. *The HUMAINE database*, chapter The HUMAINE database. Springer, 2011.
- [1714] S. Hyniewska, R. Niewiadomski, M. Mancini, and C. Pelachaud. Expression of affects in embodied conversational agent. In E. R. K. Scherer, T. Banziger, editor, *Blueprint for Affective Computing: A sourcebook*, chapter 5.1, pages pp. 213–221. Oxford University Press, Oxford, U.K., 2010.
- [1715] B. Krenn, H. Pirker, C. Pelachaud, and C. Peters. Markup languages for ecas. In R. C. P. Petta, C. Pelachaud, editor, *Emotion-Oriented Systems: The Humaine Handbook*. Springer, 2011.
- [1716] J.-C. Martin, L. Devillers, A. Raouzaiou, G. Caridakis, Z. Ruttkay, C. Pelachaud, M. Mancini, R. Niewiadomski, H. Pirker, b. krenn, I. Poggi, E. Caldognetto, F. Cavicchio, G. Merola, A. Garcia Rojas, and F. Vexo. Coordinating the Generation of Signs in Multiple Modalities in an Affective Agent, chapter Coordination of signs in multiple modalities, pages 349–368. Springer, 2011.
- [1717] M. Pantic, R. Cowie, F. D'Errico, D. Heylen, M. Mehu, C. Pelachaud, I. Poggi, M. Schröder, and A. Vinciarelli. Social Signal Processing: The Research Agenda, pages 511–538. Springer Verlag, 2011.
- [1718] C. Pelachaud. Embodied conversational agent e.c.a. In K. R. Scherer and D. Sander, editors, *Oxford Companion to the affective sciences*. Oxford University Press, New-York, 2009.

13.4.4 BP: Books and Proceedings Edition

- [1719] J. Allbeck, N. Badler, T. Bickmore, C. Pelachaud, and A. Safonova. *Proceedings of 10th International Conference on Intelligent Virtual Agents, IVA 2010.* Springer, 2010.
- [1720] P. Duhamel and M. Kieffer. *Joint Source-Channel Decoding. A Cross-Layer Perspective with Applications in Video Broadcasting over Mobile and Wireless Networks.* Academic Press, Oxford, 2009.
- [1721] C. Pelachaud. Systèmes d'Interaction Emotionnelle. Hermes, 2010.
- [1722] C. Pelachaud. Systèmes d'Interaction Emotionnelle. Lavoisier Hermes Science, Paris, 2010.
- [1723] C. Pelachaud. Emotional Interaction System. John Wisley, London, 2011.
- [1724] D. Petrovska-Delacretaz, G. Chollet, and B. Dorizzi. *Guide to Biometric Reference Systems and Performance Evaluation*. Computer Imaging, Vision, PR and Graphics. Springer, 2009.
- [1725] P. Petta, C. Pelachaud, and R. Cowie. *Introduction to Emotion-Oriented Systems The HUMAINE Handbook*,. Springer, 2011.
- [1726] A. Vinciarelli, R. Cowie, C. Pelachaud, and C. Pelachaud. Proc. of the Doctoral Consortium of 3rd International Conference on Affective Computing and Intelligent Interaction, ACII. Twente University, 2009.

13.4.5 THE: PhD Theses

- [1727] I. Daribo. Codage et rendu de séquence vidéo 3D, et applications à la télévision tridimensionnelle (TV3D) et à la télévision à base de rendu de vidéos (FTV). PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech – Site Barrault – Amphi B310, Nov. 2009.
- [1728] T. Hueber. Reconstitution de la parole par imagerie ultrasonore et vidéo de l'appareil vocal : vers une communication parlée silencieuse. PhD thesis, UPMC, Dec. 2009.
- [1729] G. Laroche. Modules de codage par compétition et suppression de l'information de compétition pour le codage de séquences vidéo. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech – Site Barrault – Amphi B312, May 2009.
- [1730] B. Pellan. Multimedia scenes scalability. PhD thesis, Telecom ParisTech, Oct. 2010.
- [1731] T. Petrisor. Décomposition en ondelettes redondantes pour le codage par descriptions multiples des images fixes et des séquences vidéo. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech Site Barrault Amphi Grenat, Sept. 2009.
- [1732] N. Tizon. Codage vidéo scalable pour le transport dans un réseau sans fil Scalable video coding for wireless transmission. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech – Site Barrault – Amphi B312, Dec. 2009.

Chapter 14

Statistics and Applications (STA)

- **Team leader** F. Roueff (P, on sabbatical leave at Univ. Catholique de Louvain, Belgium, 09/2010–12/2010).
- Faculty K. Abed Meraïm (MC), G. Blanchet (DE), P. Bianchi (MC), O. Cappé (DR CNRS), J-F. Cardoso (DR CNRS), M. Charbit (P), S. Clémençon (P), C. Févotte (CR CNRS), G. Fort (CR CNRS), A. Garivier (CR CNRS), J. Jakubowicz (MC, until 10/11), C. Lévy-Leduc (CR CNRS), E. Moulines (P), J. Najim (CR CNRS), F. Roueff (P).
- PhD students A. Attaya (11/10–), S. Audière (10/08–12/11), S. Barembruch (10/07–09/10), A. Bader (12/10–), E. Chautru (10/09–), A. Dematteo (10/11–),M. Depecker (10/07–12/10), M. Jala (11/10–, also with Orange Labs Issy-Les-Moulineaux), E. Kaufmann (09/11–), M. Kharouf (01/07–06/10), O. Kouamo (09/07–01/11, also at Univ. Yaoundé 1, Cameroon), N. Ksairi (10/08–03/10, also with Supélec), S. Le Corff(10/09–), A. Lefèvre (10/10–, also with INRIA/Sierra) A. Lung-Yut-Fong (10/08–12/11), N. Mahler (02/08–12/11, also at ENS Cachan), G. Morral Adell (10/11–), S. Philippi (10/07–11/10), S. Robbiano (10/09–), P. Sendorek (04/11–),A. Schreck (09/2011–), N. Sokolovska (11/06–02/10), M. Thameri (10/10–), J. Villard (11/08–12/11, also with Supélec), T. Wohlfarth (02/10–), J. Yao, R. Zhang (10/10–), B. Zheng (02/10–).
- Post-docs, sabbaticals T. Rebafka (12/09–09/10), O. Dikmen (02/10–01/12), C. Dhanjal (11/09–10/11), B. Miasojedow (10/11–08/12), R. Gaudel (09/10–08/11), A. Kammoun, L.-V. Lozada (02/10–08/10,02/11–08/11, N. Mahler (08/11–), L. Oudre (10/11–01/12), D. Rohde (07/10–06/11), A. Saumard (11/10–11/11); M.S. Taqqu (Prof. at Boston Univ., 3 months), V. Reisen (MC, Vitória Univ., Brazil, 3 months).

Faculty [IT, CNRS]	[5.5, 5.3]
PhD students	7.2
Post-docs, sabbaticals	4
Defended theses	6
Defended HDR	4
Journal papers [published, to appear]	[75,32]
Papers in conference proceedings	96
Grants [public, private] (k€)	[655,576]

14.1 Objectives

During the last twenty years, scientific discovery has become increasingly dependent on the collection and interpretation of data and, more generally, quantitative information. There's a general consensus that the core academic disciplines that are most relevant to the information society encompass computer science, mathematics and statistics. The Statistics and Applications (STA) group at LTCI plays an important role in this context by focussing on statistical methods and their application in domains relevant to the information society at large.

The members of the STA group are actively participating to teaching, typically at the master level and in the fields of probability, statistics, signal processing, machine learning and applied mathematics, at Télécom ParisTech but also in several other Grandes Ecoles of the ParisTech institute (Ecole Polytechnique, ENSAE) and universities (M2 *Modélisation aléatoire* at Paris 7 Denis Diderot, M2 *Modélisation Vision Apprentissage* at ENS Cachan, M1 *Mathématiques de la Modélisation et de la Décision* at University Paris-Dauphine).

The STA group has developed long term research collaborations with several academic Parisian partners such as Univ. Paris 7 Denis Diderot (LPMA and ADAMIS), Univ. Paris 10 Nanterre (MODAL'X), Univ. Paris-Est (IGM), Institut d'Astrophysique de Paris, Univ. Paris-Dauphine (Cérémade), research groups in other ParisTech schools (CMBIO, Mines and CERMICS and CERTIS, Ponts) and with the Ecoles Normales Supérieures Ulm (INRIA projects TREC and WILLOW) and Cachan (CMLA). Such collaborations are essential to the group for achieving long term research programs, and, more generally, for exchanging ideas and views within a stimulating academic environment.

These academic relationships parallel industrial partnerships. The latter have been developed in the framework of national research projects (ANR), bilateral contracts, or the funding of Phd theses (through CIFRE conventons). Beside favoring our financial autonomy, such partnerships bring practical applications which are helpful for our opening and to remaining active on new research prospects. In the last years, regular industrial partners include the Commissariat à l'Energie Atomique (CEA), Thales Avionics, Renault, France Télécom R&D and Direction Générale de l'Armement (DGA), Amesys, Natixis, Liligo.com.

The group enjoys a high national and international recognition with editorial board members in high quality journals such as Bernoulli, ESAIM P&S, Stoch. Proc. and their Appl. (E. Moulines) and the Journal of the Royal Statistical Society, Series B (O. Cappé), DSP journal (K. Abed Meraïm) as well as regular participation as program comity members in the major international conferences(IEEE ICASSP, IEEE statistical Signal Processing workshop, International Conference on Machine Learning, Neural Information Processing Systems, European Signal Processing Conference) or associate editors of special issues (Journal on Advances in Signal Processing). The group regularly organizes or co-organizes scientific events such as the summer school (C. Févotte, *Ecole d'Eté en traitement du signal et des images* in Peyresq (2010)), special sessions in international conference (G. Fort, AMSDA 06/11); national workshop (G. Fort, GDR ISIS

11/11, P. Bianchi, GDR ISIS 02/12), as well as recurrent scientific seminars in the Parisian region (séminaire parisien de statistiques, ParisTech Machine Learning reading group Smile). E. Moulines received the Silver Medal of CNRS in October 2010, for his work on Probabilities applied to Signal Processing and Machine Learning. He was awarded the FRANCE TÉLÉCOM award of the french Science Academy (grand prix de l'Académie des sciences).

C. Lévy-Leduc and F. Roueff were invited to give talks at the 58th World Statistics Congress of the International Statistical Institute (2011) and at the "Journées MAS" in 2010. P. Bianchi was invited to give talks at the 5th ICST International Conference on Performance Evaluation Methodologies and Tools (2011) and at the "Journées MAS" in 2010, along with C. Lévy-Leduc and F. Roueff.

14.2 Main results

14.2.1 Statistical Learning

Contributors O. Cappé, A. Garivier, S. Clémençon, C. Févotte, C. Lévy-Leduc, E. Moulines, F. Roueff.

Projects ANR projects MGA (Graphical Models and Applications, 2008–2011), BEMOL (Prediction of internet users' behavior, simulation and collaborative filtering, 2008–); Contracts with France Telecom R&D (two theses) and and Liligo.com (1 phd thesis), Renault (1 phd thesis).

The group has a long standing interest in **graphical models** and, more generally **Bayesian methods**. In the context of the MGA project, we contributed both to general methodological questions (in particular regarding the online learning of parameters [1977, 1952]) and to the advance of methods for statistical natural language processing. On the latter topic, as a follow up to our work on the use of Lasso (or L1) type regularization for training of large scale conditional random field (CRF) models [1814], we developed an highly efficient software called Wapiti [1928]. Wapiti is faster than existing alternatives and is highly competitive for sequence tagging tasks as demonstrated, in particular, by the independent evaluations posted on MLcomp http://mlcomp.org/, a community website for objective comparison of machine learning programs. On the other hand, we have continued our statistical investigations on Variable Length Markov Models (see for instance [1778]).

Since 2007, the group has a raising interest in **reinforcement learning** and its applications to telecommunications. The PhD of Sarah Filippi (2007-2010), funded by Orange Labs, was motivated by cognitive radio problems [1752] and targetted internet advertisement [1906]. These non-stationary applications brought us into investigating adapted bandit algorithms [1909]. We also strongly defend the use of Kullback-Leibler divergence in optimistic algorithms: we proved in [1908] the optimality of a resulting upper-confidence bound algorithm for bandit problems, and we proposed in [1872] an improved algorithm for reinforcement learning in discrete Markov Decision Processes. Recently, we joined the ANR project Bandhits and co-advise a new PhD thesis on Bayesian methods for bandit problems. Moreover, in the PhD thesis of Marjorie Jala funded by Orange Labs, we propose active learning methods for the estimation of upper quantiles of the exposition to electromagnetic fields which are strongly inspired by bandits algorithms.

In the context of supervised learning, significant advances in the ranking problem from practical and theoretical perspectives both at the same time have been made in [1758], [1759], [1760] and [1762]. Strong empirical evidence supporting the efficiency of the techniques thus developed are presented in the PhD thesis defended by Marine Depecker (2007/10, in collaboration with Renault Technocentre). This work is now prolongated by the PhD thesis of S. Robbiano, currently considering "multi-class" extensions and plug-in approaches, see [1880].

Unsupervised ranking, sometimes termed as "rank aggregation", is also a crucial issue in e-commerce, in database middleware or in information retrieval. In the context of the Digiteo project

Bemol (in collaboration with ENS Cachan and the company "Mille-Mercis"), novel techniques for rank aggregation have been developed in [1879], [1892] and [1910], offering promising alternatives to the classical "median approach". In the unsupervised domain, theoretical grounds for pairwise clustering methods are set in [1876].

Statistical learning based on functional data is another emerging topic of the group. Whereas, the PhD thesis of N. Mahler (2008/10, in collaboration with ENS Cachan and Strategic Risk Management) and that of R. Zhang (2010/13, in collaboration with ENS Cachan and BNP Exane) deal with applications of machine-learning to Finance, where input and output data are naturally multivariate time-series, the PhD thesis of Till Wohlfarth focuses on travel price forecasting, *cf* [1956] and [1955], and also faces issues raised by time-series in the context of nonparametric prediction. Extensions of recently developed nonparametric scoring methods have also been proposed in the functional situation, see [1877]. More generally, techniques for dealing with structured data such as graphs have also been studied within the group (projects ANR Viroscopy, Digiteo Bemol), see [1878], [1888], [1889], [1980] or [1891].

Finally, the design of model selection techniques based on data-dependent complexity penalization is a future line of research of the group, see [1954] (Futur & Rupture "Meta-Rank" 2010/11, Digiteo project "Crank-Up" in collaboration with the Lip6 of UPMC 2011/12).

14.2.2 Blind Source Separation and Identification

Contributors K. Abed Meraïm, J-F. Cardoso, C. Févotte, M. Charbit, E. Moulines, A. Garivier, P. Bianchi.

Projects ANR project TANGERINE (Theory and applications of nonnegative matrix factorization, 2009–), research contract with CEA, PEA project AINTERCOM with DGA/Amesys (Plan d'étude amont, 1 phd thesis), Cap Digital project ROMEO funded by Ile-de-France region (1 thesis with AAO team), research contract with WITHINGS (Master thesis).

Blind source separation is an important topic of statistical signal processing. In the ROMEO project, in collaboration with AAO team, our task is focused on the blind source separation (BSS) topic using a microphone array. Source separation is a very important step for human-robot interaction: it allows latter tasks like speakers identification, speech and motion recognition and environmental sound analysis to be achieved properly. Within this framework, we focused on the challenging problem of blind source separation in a real reverberant environment using combined beamforming and sparsity based BSS techniques [1940, 1941].

Data is often nonnegative by nature, consider for example pixel intensities, amplitude spectra, occurrence counts, food consumption, user scores or stock market values. Nonnegative matrix factorization (NMF) is a linear regression technique with growing popularity in the fields of machine learning and signal/image processing. NMF, and its extension to nonnegative tensor factorization (NTF), are young research topics that call for answers to many open problems. The background for most of the research on NMF in the Stats group is the ANR project TANGERINE. The following topics have been addressed: model selection and learning algorithms [1773],factorization with structural constraints [1932, 1902], online and stochastic algorithms [1933, 1905]. Several applications have been considered such as music transcription [1800, 1801], audio source separation [1802, 1978] and identification of dietary behaviors [1761].

A final field of interest for non-cooperative communications is **blind signal source identification** (or detection). It is assumed that the signal coming from an unknown transmitter has been intercepted. In the context of AINTERCOM project, we developed blind demodulation approaches using approximate Maximum Likelihood methods [1738], [1737].

14.2.3 Sensor Networks

Contributors K. Abed-Meraim, P. Bianchi, M. Charbit, G. Fort, J. Jakubowicz, E. Moulines, J. Najim, F. Roueff.

Projects ANR projects SESAME (consistent estimation and large random matrices), SVELTE (Système d'évaluation de la dépense énergétique et de la condition physique pour la prévention et le traitement de l'obésité), C-FLAM (Coordination Flotilla Localization and Mapping), research contracts with THALES-Valence (1 phd Thesis).

Our interest lies in applications of mathematical and statistical tools to the performance evaluation and the optimization of sensing and communication systems. The term *sensor* should be understood in a wide sense, including physical sensors (accelerometers, microphones, etc.), smart phones, processors or mobile robots. Both centralized and decentralized network architectures have been investigated. Centralized systems are characterized by the existence of a fusion center which gathers and processes the sensors' observations as a whole. On the opposite, decentralized systems are formed by autonomous sensors and rely on distributed algorithms to achieve the global mission. A large part of the results in this theme have been obtained in collaboration with the COMNUM research group (COMELEC) (see [1792, 1862] for some examples of joint works).

In the framework of **centralized systems**, a special attention has been devoted to applications to **source detection and localization**. In the context of a joint work with the CEA and CNRH-hospitals (ANR project SVELTE), signal processing and classification methods have been applied to accelerometric data collected by body sensors [1841]. An industrial contract with CEA leaded to original algorithms for the localization of infrasound sources and the estimation of their angles of arrival [1968].

Motivated by application to *cognitive radio* and sensor networks (ANR project SESAME), we investigated several problems related to hypothesis testing in centralized sensor networks. We analyzed the error probabilities of different test statistics for various probabilistic model [1747, 1748, 1841]. In the later references, original methodological tools are developped in the asymptotic regime where the number of sensors tends to infinity, allowing to obtain closed form expressions of the error exponents associated with the tests. In particular, the design of relevant quantizers maximizing the error exponent is an important issue, which has been studied in [1841]. On the other hand, random matrix theory has been used as a central tool for the analysis of detection problems in large sensor networks. For instance, the study of the fluctuations and the large deviations of the extreme eigenvalues of sampled covariance matrices are crucial to characterize error exponents [1747]. In parallel, random matrix theory has also been extensively used for solving wireless communication problems. We have recently been able to complete the performance analysis of Ricean Multiple Input Multiple Output (MIMO) channels [1770, 1783]. The analysis of Ricean channels is difficult because of the presence of a line-of-sight component. A thorough study of the mutual information of Ricean channels has been performed, culminating with the computation of the ergodic capacity.

In the framework of **decentralized systems**, we investigated the issue of distributed optimization and distributed statistical estimation by means of **gossip algorithms**. Gossip algorithms provide efficient cooperation techniques which allows the sensor to exchange messages and share their local information in an efficient fashion, in such a way that a consensus is eventually achieved in the network. We study the convergence of these algorithms in [1859] and in a recent journal submission, and analyzed the asymptotic behavior of the estimation error in [1862] where we also discuss application to power control. Applications to smart grids have been investigated in [1893]. In the context of ANR project C-FLAM, we also investigate an application to motion coordination of autonomous underwater vehicles in a recently submitted paper. In the scenario of large wireless communication networks, we also investigated distributed resource allocation in [1792]. Finally, a new communication protocol for *relay channels* has been proposed and analyzed in [1924] and in a journal paper currently in revision.

14.2.4 Monte Carlo Methods

Contributors O. Cappé, S. Clémençon, G. Fort, E. Moulines.

Projects ANR Projects BigMC (Issues in large scale Monte Carlo, 2009–2012), C-FLAM (Coordination Flotilla Localization and Mapping, 2008–2011); Siminole (Large-scale simulation-based probabilistic inference, optimization, and discriminative learning with applications in experimental physics, 2011–2014) and Viroscopy (Stochastic modeling and statistical inference for propagating infectious diseases: from micro to macroscopic behavior, 2008–2011). Digiteo project Bemol (2009–2011).

The group has acquired a high reputation in the domain of Monte Carlo methods by working on Sequential Monte Carlo (also called Particle Filtering), Markov chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) and novel Monte Carlo approaches at large. The group contributes actively to methodological and theoretical advances in Monte Carlo methods and also works on selected applications, most often in the context of collaborative projects.

New challenges in MCMC methods deal with adaptive methods and interacting Monte Carlo processes. The group has a strong expertise in convergence analysis of classical MCMC algorithms; in the past two years, the group answered to some of these new challenges by developing new tools for the theoretical study of these new MCMC samplers. These works have been developed in collaboration with researchers from Paris 6, Univ. Paris Est (in the context of the BigMC project), and Univ. of Michigan (USA) [1733, 1734, 1976, 1776].

In the context of the ANR project C-FLAM, lead by the LIRMM, the group developed new Simultaneous Localization and Mapping algorithms. Our approach consists in answering the Localization problem by using Sequential Monte Carlo methods, and the Mapping problem by adapting online Expectation-Maximization algorithms (previously proposed by our group [1750, 1977]) [1930, 1907].

Interacting and branching particle system techniques and sequential Monte-Carlo methods have been developed and used for *rare event simulation/probability estimation* in the context of food risk analysis and that of mathematical epidemiology (ANR project Viroscopy - 2008/11), see [1757] and [1743]. In [1910] (Digiteo project Bemol - 2009/11), dedicated MCMC techniques have been developed in the purpose of rank aggregation.

Following our past experience in the context of the ANR project ECOSSTAT, where the group contributed to the development of an original adaptive importance sampling scheme [1842, 1788] (with associated distributed software implementation [1788]) for Bayesian analysis of multi survey cosmological data, we launched a new project in this field in 2011. This project called Siminole and also funded by the ANR is lead by the LAL in Orsay and our contribution is focused on the exploitation of cosmic ray data gathered in the context of the Auger experiment.

14.2.5 Time Series

Contributors O. Cappé, M. Charbit, S. Clémençon, C. Lévy-Leduc, E. Moulines, F. Roueff.

Projects Research contract with Natixis (1 phd thesis), Research contract with Echosens (1 phd thesis), CNRS-FRS-WBI mobility program, Project DGA REI (Recherche Exploratoire et Innovation) ISREPTMu (Interception de signaux radar en présence de trajets multiples), ANR project Mataim (Anisotropic models for textures with applications to medical imaging).

Following the thorough analysis of semi-parametric Wavelet methods for estimating the **long memory parameter** that we conducted in the past years, we have explored new directions in this topic: robust estimation of the memory parameter ([1789]), non stationary (change-point and locally stationary) long memory modelling ([1979, 1790, 1810]), non-Gaussian and non-linear long memory processes ([1755, 1811]). We have studied the asymptotic properties of a new robust estimator of the autocovariance of Gaussian processes having either short or long-range dependence in [1796]. These results have been established thanks to the asymptotic properties of general *U*-processes in the long-range dependence context of [1795]. A large part of these works were conducted in a long standing collaboration with M.S. Taqqu (Boston Univ.).

We also pursued our work on the topic of **change point** detection. The method proposed in a previous research project for centralized anomaly detection in the Internet traffic has been

extended to deal with a decentralized anomaly detection approach in [1797] and [1938] in which a robust change-point detection method based on multivariate rank statistics is proposed. Finally, we proposed a multiple change-point estimation with LASSO in [1784].

The Markov assumption being among the weakest assumptions involved in time series modelling, renewal theory for **Markov processes** has been used for analyzing the (asymptotic and non asymptotic) behavior of sample means, U-statistics and extreme-value statistics based on general Markovian data, in [1742], [1756] and [1744]. Preliminary extensions to Hidden Markov Chains are developed in [1886].

Ongoing applications in statistical signal processing based on time series or random fields modelling include radar processing and medical diagnosis [1951, 1849].

14.3 References

14.3.1 ACL: Articles in ISI-Indexed Journals

- [1733] Y. Atchadé and G. Fort. Limit theorems for some adaptive mcmc algorithms with subgeometric kernels,. *Bernoulli*, 2010.
- [1734] Y. Atchadé and G. Fort. Limit theorems for some adaptive mcmc algorithms with subgeometric kernels, part ii. *Bernoulli*, 2011.
- [1735] A. Ayache, F. Roueff, and Y. Xiao. Linear fractional stable sheets: wavelet expansion and sample path properties. *Stochastic Processes and their Applications*, 119(4):1168–1197, 2009.
- [1736] A. Bader, K. Abed-Meraim, and M.-S. Alouini. An effi cient multi-carrier position-based packet forwarding protocol for wireless sensor networks. *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*,, Oct. 2011.
- [1737] S. Barembruch, A. Garivier, and E. Moulines. On approximate maximum likelihood methods for blind identification: How to cope with the curse of dimensionality. *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, Nov. 2009.
- [1738] S. Barembruch, E. Moulines, and A. Scaglione. The expectation and sparse maximization algorithm. *Journal of Communications and Networks*, Aug. 2010.
- [1739] S. Bartelmaos and K. Abed-Meraim. Fast adaptive algorithms for minor component analysis using householder transformation. *DSP Journal*, Sept. 2011.
- [1740] K. Benabed, J.-F. Cardoso, S. Prunet, and E. Hivon. Teasing: a fast and accurate approximation for the low multipole likelihood of the cosmic microwave background temperature. *Monthly Notices of* the Royal Astronomical Society, 400(1):219–227, Oct. 2009.
- [1741] T. Benjabeur, K. Abed-Meraim, and H. Boujemaa. Channel shortening techniques for differential encoded ofdm. *Elsevier Journal on Physical Communication*, Apr. 2011.
- [1742] P. Bertail and S. Clémençon. Sharp bounds for the tails of functionals of harris markov chains. *Theory of Probability and Its Applications*, 54(3):1–19, July 2010.
- [1743] P. Bertail, S. Clémençon, and J. Tressou. Statistical analysis of a dynamic model for food contaminant exposure with applications to dietary methylmercury contamination. *Journal of Biological Dynamics*, Sept. 2009.
- [1744] P. Bertail, S. Clémençon, and J. Tressou. Extreme values statistics for harris markov chains via the (pseudo-) regenerative method. *Extremes*, Dec. 2009.
- [1745] M. Betoule, E. Pierpaoli, J. Delabrouile, M. Lejeune, and J.-F. Cardoso. Measuring the tensor to scalar ratio from CMB B-modes in presence of foregrounds. *Astronomy and Astrophysics*, 503(3): 691–706, Sept. 2009.
- [1746] P. Bianchi, M. Debbah, and J. Najim. Asymptotic independence in the spectrum of the gaussian unitary ensemble. *Electronic Communications in Probability*, 15:376–395, Sept. 2010.
- [1747] P. Bianchi, M. Debbah, M. Maida, and J. Najim. Performance of statistical tests for single source detection using random matrix theory. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 57(4):2400–2419, Apr. 2011.
- [1748] P. Bianchi, J. Jakubowicz, and F. Roueff. Linear precoders for the detection of a gaussian process in wireless sensors networks. *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, 59(3):882–894, Mar. 2011.
- [1749] S. Boucheron, A. Garivier, and E. Gassiat. Coding on countably infinite alphabets. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 55(1):358–374, Jan. 2009.
- [1750] O. Cappé. Online em algorithm for hidden markov models. J. Comput. Graph. Statist., 2011.

- [1751] O. Cappé and E. Moulines. Online expectation-maximization algorithm for latent data models. J. Royal Statist. Soc. B, 71(3):593–613, 2009.
- [1752] O. Cappé, S. Filippi, and A. Garivier. Optimally sensing a single channel without prior information: The tiling algorithm and regret bounds. *Journal of Selected Topics in Signal Processing (IEEE)*, 5 (1):68–76, Feb. 2011.
- [1753] A. Chambaz, A. Garivier, and E. Gassiat. A mdl approach a mdl approach to hmm with poisson and gaussian emissions. *Journal of Statistical Planning and Inference*, 139(3):962–977, Mar. 2009.
- [1754] E. Chautru and S. Clémençon. Assessing simultaneous over-exposures to food chemicals using multivariate extreme value theory. *Annals of Applied Statistics*, Nov. 2011.
- [1755] M. Clausel, F. Roueff, M. S. Taqqu, and C. Tudor. Large scale behavior of wavelet coefficients of non-linear subordinated processes with long memory. Applied and Computational Harmonic Analysis, June 2011.
- [1756] S. Clémençon and P. Bertail. A renewal approach to markovian u-statistics. Mathematical Methods of Statistics, 20(2):1–27, June 2011.
- [1757] S. Clémençon and J. Tressou. Exposition aux risques alimentaires et processus stochastiques. Journal de la Société Française de Statistique, 150(1):3–29, Aug. 2009.
- [1758] S. Clémençon and N. Vayatis. Tree-based ranking methods. *IEEE IT*, 55(9):4316 4336, Sept. 2009.
- [1759] S. Clémençon and N. Vayatis. The rankover algorithm: overlaid classification rules for optimal scoring. *Constructive approximation*, 32(3):619–648, Oct. 2010.
- [1760] S. Clémençon, M. Depecker, and N. Vayatis. Adaptive partitioning schemes for bipartite ranking. Machine-Learning, 83(11):31–69, July 2010.
- [1761] S. Clémençon, M. Feinberg, P. Verger, and M. Zetlaoui. Extraction of food consumption systems by non-negative matrix factorization (nmf) for the assessment of food choices. *Biometrics*, May 2010.
- [1762] S. Clémençon, M. Depecker, and N. Vayatis. Avancées récentes dans le domaine de l'apprentissage d'ordonnancements. *Revue d'Intelligence Artificielle*, 25(3):345–368, July 2011.
- [1763] J. Delabrouille, J.-F. Cardoso, M. Le Jeune, M. Betoule, G. Fay, and F. Guilloux. A full sky, low foreground, high resolution CMB map from WMAP. Astronomy and Astrophysics, 493(3):835–857, Jan. 2009.
- [1764] A. Djebbar, K. Abed-Meraim, and A. Djebbari. Blind and semi-blind equalization of downlink mccdma system exploiting guard interval redundancy and excess codes. *Communications*, *IEEE Trans*actions, 57(1):156–163, Jan. 2009.
- [1765] R. Douc, E. Moulines, and J. Olsson. Optimality of the auxiliary particle filter. *Probability and Mathematical Statistics*, 29(I), Feb. 2009.
- [1766] R. Douc, E. Moulines, and Y. Ritov. Forgetting of the initial condition for the filter in general state-space hidden markov chain: a coupling approach. *Electronic Journal of Probability*, 14:27–49, Feb. 2009.
- [1767] R. Douc, E. Gassiat, B. Landelle, and E. Moulines. Forgetting of the initial distribution for nonergodic hidden Markov chains. *The Annals of Applied Probability*, 20(5):1638–1662, Sept. 2010.
- [1768] R. Douc, E. Moulines, and A. Garivier. Sequential monte carlo smoothing for general state space hidden markov models. *Annals of Applied Probability*, 2010.
- [1769] R. Douc, E. Moulines, J. Olsson, and R. Van Handel. Consistency of the maximum likelihood estimator for general hidden Markov models. *The Annals of Statistics*, 39(1):474–513, Sept. 2011.
- [1770] J. Dumont, S. Lasaulce, W. Hachem, P. Loubaton, and J. Najim. On the capacity achieving covariance matrix for rician MIMO channels: An asymptotic approach. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 56(3):1048–1069, Mar. 2010.
- [1771] P. Etoré, G. Fort, B. Jourdain, and E. Moulines. On adaptive stratification. *Annals of Operations Research*, 189(1):127–154, Sept. 2011.
- [1772] G. Fay, E. Moulines, F. Roueff, and M. S. Taqqu. Estimators of long-memory: Fourier versus wavelets. *Journal of Econometrics*, 151(2):159–177, Aug. 2009.
- [1773] C. Févotte and J. Idier. Algorithms for nonnegative matrix factorization with the beta-divergence. *Neural Computation*, Sept. 2011.
- [1774] C. Févotte, N. Bertin, and J.-L. Durrieu. Nonnegative matrix factorization with the Itakura-Saito divergence. With application to music analysis. *Neural Computation*, 21(3), Mar. 2009.
- [1775] G. Fort and S. Connor. State-dependent foster-lyapunov criteria for subgeometric convergence of markov chains. Stochastic Processes Appl., 119:4176–4193, May 2009.
- [1776] G. Fort, E. Moulines, and P. Priouret. Convergence of adaptive and interacting markov chain monte carlo algorithms. *Ann. Stat.*, Oct. 2011.

- [1777] A. Garivier. A lower-bound for the maximin redundancy in pattern coding. Entropy, 11(4):634–642, Oct. 2009.
- [1778] A. Garivier and F. Leonardi. Context tree selection: A unifying view. Stochastic Processes and their Applications, 121(11):2488–2506, Nov. 2011.
- [1779] H. Gazzah and K. Abed-Meraim. Optimum ambiguity-free directional and omni-directional planar antenna arrays for doa estimation. *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, 2009.
- [1780] J.-F. Germain and F. Roueff. Weak convergence of the regularization path in penalized m-estimation. Scandinavian Journal of Statistics, 37(3):477–495, Sept. 2010.
- [1781] T. Ghosh, J. Delabrouile, M. Remazeilles, J.-F. Cardoso, and T. Souradeep. Foreground maps in wilkinson microwave anisotropy probe frequency bands. *Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society*, 412(2):883–899, Apr. 2011.
- [1782] F. Guilloux, G. Fay, and J.-F. Cardoso. Practical wavelet design on the sphere. *Applied and computational harmonic analysis*, 26(2):143–160, Mar. 2009.
- [1783] W. Hachem, M. Kharouf, J. Najim, and J. Silverstein. A clt for information-theoretic statistics of non-centered gram random matrices. *Random Matrices and Their Applications*, Nov. 2011.
- [1784] Z. Harchaoui and C. Lévy-Leduc. Multiple change-point estimation with a total variation penalty. *Journal of the American Statistical Association*, 105(492):1480–1493, Dec. 2010.
- [1785] R. Iferroudjene, K. Abed-Meraim, and A. Belouchrani. A new jacobi-like method for joint diagonalization of arbitrary non defective matrices. *Journal of Applied Mathematics and Computation*, 211 (2):363–373, May 2009.
- [1786] A. Ikhlef, K. Abed-Meraim, and D. le Guennec. Blind signal separation and equalization with controlled delay for mimo convolutive systems. Signal Processing (Elsevier), pages 2655–2666, Sept. 2010
- [1787] A. Kammoun, K. Abed-Meraim, and S. Affes. Quasi-convexity of the asymptotic channel mse in regularized semi-blind estimation. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, July 2011.
- [1788] M. Kilbinger, D. Wraith, C. P. Robert, K. Benabed, O. Cappé, J.-F. Cardoso, G. Fort, S. Prunet, and F. R. Bouchet. Bayesian model comparison in cosmology with population monte carlo. *Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society*, 45:2381–2390, Feb. 2010.
- [1789] O. Kouamo, C. Lévy-Leduc, and E. Moulines. Central limit theorem for the robust log-regression wavelet estimation of the memory parameter in the gaussian semi-parametric context. *Bernoulli*, Aug. 2011.
- [1790] O. Kouamo, F. Roueff, M. Charbit, and E. Moulines. Inference of a generalized long memory process in the wavelet domain. *IEEE Transactions on Signal Processing*, PP:1, Sept. 2011.
- [1791] N. Ksairi, P. Bianchi, P. Ciblat, and W. Hachem. Resource allocation for downlink cellular OFDMA systems, Part I - Optimal allocation, Part II - Asymptotic analysis and applications. *IEEE Transactions* on Signal Processing, 58(2):735–749, 720–734, Feb. 2010.
- [1792] N. Ksairi, P. Bianchi, and P. Ciblat. Nearly optimal resource allocation fo downlink ofdma 2-d networks with multicell interference. *IEEE Transactions on Wireless Communications*, 10(7):2101–2115, July 2011.
- [1793] C. Lévy-Leduc and F. Roueff. Detection and localization of change-points in high-dimensional network traffic data. Annals Of Applied Statistics, 3(2):637–662, June 2009.
- [1794] C. Lévy-Leduc, H. Boistard, E. Moulines, V. Reisen, and M. S. Taqqu. Large sample behavior of some well-known robust estimators under long-range dependence. *Statistics*, 45(1):59–71, Feb. 2011.
- [1795] C. Lévy-Leduc, H. Boistard, E. Moulines, M. S. Taqqu, and V. Reisen. Asymptotic properties of u-processes under long-range dependence. *Annals of Statistics*, 39(3):1399–1426, June 2011.
- [1796] C. Lévy-Leduc, H. Boistard, E. Moulines, M. S. Taqqu, and V. Reisen. Robust estimation of the scale and of the autocovariance function of gaussian short and long-range dependent processes. *Journal of Time Series Analysis*, 32(2):135–156, Feb. 2011.
- [1797] A. Lung-Yut-Fong, C. Lévy-Leduc, and O. Cappé. Distributed detection/localization of change-points in high-dimensional network traffic data. *Statistics and Computing*, Feb. 2011.
- [1798] M. Maazaoui, Y. Grenier, and K. Abed-Meraim. Blind source separation for robot audition using fixed hrtf beamforming. *Eurasip Journals*, Jan. 2012.
- [1799] H. Misra, F. Yvon, O. Cappé, and J. M. Jose. Text segmentation: A topic modeling perspective. *Information Processing & Management*, Feb. 2011.
- [1800] L. Oudre, C. Févotte, and Y. Grenier. Probabilistic template-based chord recognition. IEEE Transactions on Audio, Speech and Language Processing, 19(8):2249–2259, Nov. 2011.
- [1801] L. Oudre, Y. Grenier, and C. Févotte. Chord recognition by fitting rescaled chroma vectors to chord

- templates. *IEEE Transactions on Audio, Speech and Language Processing*, 19(7):2222–2233, Sept. 2011.
- [1802] A. Ozerov and C. Févotte. Multichannel nonnegative matrix factorization in convolutive mixtures for audio source separation. *IEEE Trans. Audio, Speech and Language Processing*, 3(18), Mar. 2010.
- [1803] D. Pogosyan, C. Pichon, C. Gay, S. Prunet, J.-F. Cardoso, T. Sousbie, and S. Colombi. The local theory of the cosmic skeleton. *Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society*, 396(2):635–667, June 2009.
- [1804] T. Rebafka, F. Roueff, and A. Souloumiac. A corrected likelihood approach for the nonlinear transformation model with application to fluorescence lifetime measurements using exponential mixtures. International Journal of Biostatistics, 6(1), June 2010.
- [1805] T. Rebafka, F. Roueff, and A. Souloumiac. Information bounds and MCMC parameter estimation for the pile-up model. *Journal of Statistical Planning and Inference*, 141(1):1–16, Jan. 2011.
- [1806] M. Remazeilles, J. Delabrouile, and J.-F. Cardoso. Cmb and sz effect separation with constrained internal linear combinations. *Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society*, pages 1769–+, Oct. 2010.
- [1807] M. Remazeilles, J. Delabrouile, and J.-F. Cardoso. Foreground component separation with generalized internal linear combination. *Monthly Notices of the Royal Astronomical Society*, Sept. 2011.
- [1808] F. Roueff and M. S. Taqqu. Central limit theorems for arrays of decimated linear processes. *Stochastic Processes and their Applications*, 119(9):3006–3041, Sept. 2009.
- [1809] F. Roueff and M. S. Taqqu. Asymptotic normality of wavelet estimators of the memory parameter for linear processes. *J. Time Ser. Anal.*, 30(5):534–558, 2009.
- [1810] F. Roueff and R. von Sachs. Locally stationary long memory estimation. Stochastic processes and their applications, 121(4):813–844, Jan. 2011.
- [1811] F. Roueff, G. Samorodnitsky, and P. Soulier. Function-indexed empirical processes based on an infinite source Poisson transmission stream. *Bernoulli*, June 2011.
- [1812] A. Sarnaglia, V. Reisen, and C. Lévy-Leduc. Robust estimation of periodic autoregressive processes in the presence of additive outliers. *Journal of Multivariate Analysis*, 101(9):2168–2183, July 2010.
- [1813] N. Sokolovska, O. Cappé, and F. Yvon. Sélection de caractéristiques pour les champs aléatoires conditionnels par pénalisation I1. *Traitement Automatique des langues*, 50(3), 2009.
- [1814] N. Sokolovska, T. Lavergne, O. Cappé, and F. Yvon. Efficient learning of sparse conditional random fields for supervised sequence labelling. *IEEE J. Sel. Topics Signal Process.*, 4(6):953–964, Dec. 2010.
- [1815] W. Souidene, K. Abed-Meraim, and A. Beghdadi. A new look to multichannel blind image deconvolution. *IEEE Transactions on Image Processing*, July 2009.
- [1816] P. Soulier, V. Reisen, E. Moulines, and G. Franco. On the properties of the periodogram of a stationary long-memory process over different epochs with applications. *Journal of Time Series Analysis*, 31(1):20–36, Sept. 2010.
- [1817] J. Tauber, J.-F. Cardoso, and et al. Planck pre-launch status: The Planck mission. *Astronomy and Astrophysics*, 520:A1, Sept. 2010. This paper has 500 authors. I am not actually the second one.
- [1818] The Planck collaboration and J.-F. Cardoso. Planck early results. ii. the thermal performance of planck. *Astronomy and Astrophysics*, Oct. 2011.
- [1819] The Planck collaboration and J.-F. Cardoso. Planck early results. iv. first assessment of the high frequency instrument in-flight performance. *Astronomy and Astrophysics*, Oct. 2011.
- [1820] The Planck collaboration and J.-F. Cardoso. Planck early results. vi. the high frequency instrument data processing. *Astronomy and Astrophysics*, Oct. 2011.
- [1821] The Planck collaboration and J.-F. Cardoso. Planck early results. vii. the early release compact source catalogue. *Astronomy and Astrophysics*, Oct. 2011.
- [1822] The Planck collaboration and J.-F. Cardoso. Planck early results. viii. the all-sky early sunyaev-zeldovich cluster sample. *Astronomy and Astrophysics*, Oct. 2011.
- [1823] The Planck collaboration and J.-F. Cardoso. Planck early results. ix. xmm-newton follow-up for validation of planck cluster candidates. *Astronomy and Astrophysics*, Oct. 2011.
- [1824] The Planck collaboration and J.-F. Cardoso. Planck early results. x. statistical analysis of sunyaev-zeldovich scaling relations for x-ray galaxy clusters. *Astronomy and Astrophysics*, Oct. 2011.
- [1825] The Planck collaboration and J.-F. Cardoso. Planck early results. xi. calibration of the local galaxy cluster sunyaev-zeldovich scaling relations. *Astronomy and Astrophysics*, Oct. 2011.
- [1826] The Planck collaboration and J.-F. Cardoso. Planck early results. xii. cluster sunyaev-zeldovich optical scaling relations. *Astronomy and Astrophysics*, Oct. 2011.
- [1827] The Planck collaboration and J.-F. Cardoso. Planck early results. xiii. statistical properties of ex-

- tragalactic radio sources in the planck early release compact source catalogue. Astronomy and Astrophysics, Oct. 2011.
- [1828] The Planck collaboration and J.-F. Cardoso. Planck early results. xiv. ercsc validation and extreme radio sources. *Astronomy and Astrophysics*, Oct. 2011.
- [1829] The Planck collaboration and J.-F. Cardoso. Planck early results. xv. spectral energy distributions and radio continuum spectra of northern extragalactic radio sources. Astronomy and Astrophysics, Oct. 2011.
- [1830] The Planck collaboration and J.-F. Cardoso. Planck early results. xvi. the planck view of nearby galaxies. *Astronomy and Astrophysics*, Oct. 2011.
- [1831] The Planck collaboration and J.-F. Cardoso. Planck early results. xvii. origin of the submillimetre excess dust emission in the magellanic clouds. *Astronomy and Astrophysics*, Oct. 2011.
- [1832] The Planck collaboration and J.-F. Cardoso. Planck early results. xviii. the power spectrum of cosmic infrared background anisotropies. *Astronomy and Astrophysics*, Oct. 2011.
- [1833] The Planck collaboration and J.-F. Cardoso. Planck early results. xix. all sky temperature and dust optical depth from planck and iras: Constraints on the "dark gas" in our galaxy. Astronomy and Astrophysics, Oct. 2011.
- [1834] The Planck collaboration and J.-F. Cardoso. Planck early results. xx. new light on anomalous microwave emission from spinning dust grains. *Astronomy and Astrophysics*, Oct. 2011.
- [1835] The Planck collaboration and J.-F. Cardoso. Planck early results. xxi. properties of the interstellar medium in the galactic plane. *Astronomy and Astrophysics*, Oct. 2011.
- [1836] The Planck collaboration and J.-F. Cardoso. Planck early results. xxii. the submillimetre properties of a sample of galactic cold clumps. Astronomy and Astrophysics, Oct. 2011.
- [1837] The Planck collaboration and J.-F. Cardoso. Planck early results. xxiii. the first all-sky survey of galactic cold clumps. *Astronomy and Astrophysics*, Oct. 2011.
- [1838] The Planck collaboration and J.-F. Cardoso. Planck early results. xxiv. dust in the diffuse interstellar medium and the galactic halo. *Astronomy and Astrophysics*, Oct. 2011.
- [1839] The Planck collaboration and J.-F. Cardoso. Planck early results. xxv. thermal dust in nearby molecular clouds. *Astronomy and Astrophysics*, Oct. 2011.
- [1840] The Planck collaboration, J.-F. Cardoso, and et al. Planck early results. i. the planck mission. *Astronomy and Astrophysics*, Oct. 2011.
- [1841] J. Villard and P. Bianchi. High-rate vector quantization for the neyman-pearson detection of correlated processes. *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory*, 57(8):5387–5409, Aug. 2011.
- [1842] D. Wraith, M. Kilbinger, K. Benabed, O. Cappé, J.-F. Cardoso, G. Fort, S. Prunet, and C. P. Robert. Estimation of cosmological parameters using adaptive importance sampling. *Physical Review D*, 80 (2), July 2009.

14.3.2 ACTI: Articles in Proceedings of International Conferences

- [1843] A. Aissa El Bey, K. Abed-Meraim, and C. Laot. Adaptive blind estimation of sparse simo channels. In 7th International Workshop on Systems, Signal Processing and their Applications, TIPAZA, May 2011
- [1844] A. Attaya, P. Jallon, and P. Bianchi. Méthodes par graphe pour la reconnaissance d'activités à partir des signaux de capteurs de mouvements portés par la personne. In *GRETSI*, Bordeaux, Nov. 2011.
- [1845] S. Audiere, M. Yassine, M. Charbit, E. D. Angelini, M. Véronique, and S. Laurent. Ultrasound-based tool for vibration-controlled transient elastography real-time assistance: automatic liver localization and skin capsule distance measurement. In *IEEE International Ultrasonics Symposium*, Roma, Italy, Sept. 2009.
- [1846] S. Audiere, E. D. Angelini, M. Charbit, V. Miette, J. Oudry, and L. Sandrin. Finite element simulation of shear wave propagation induced by a vote probe. In *Comsol*, Versailles, France, Nov. 2010.
- [1847] S. Audiere, E. D. Angelini, M. Charbit, V. Miette, and L. Sandrin. Measurement of the skin-liver capsule distance on ultrasound rf data for 1d transient elastography. In *MICCAI*, volume LNCS, pages 34–41, Beijing, China, Sept. 2010.
- [1848] S. Audiere, M. Charbit, E. D. Angelini, V. Miette, and L. Sandrin. Finite element simulation of shear wave propagation induced by a vcte probe. In *Imaging of Tissue Elasticity Conference*, Snowbird, Etats Unis. Oct. 2010.
- [1849] S. Audiere, E. D. Angelini, M. Véronique, and M. Charbit. Evaluation of in vivo liver tissue characterization with spectral rf analysis versus elasticity. In *MICCAI*, volume LNCS 6891, pages 387–395, Toronto, Canada, Sept. 2011.

- [1850] A. Bader, K. Abed-Meraim, and M.-S. Alouini. Utilization of ofdm for efficient packet forwarding in wireless sensor networks. In *IEEE Globecom'* 11, Dec. 2011.
- [1851] S. Barembruch. A comparison of approximate viterbi techniques and particle filtering for data estimation in digital communications. In *ICASSP*, Dallas, USA, Mar. 2010.
- [1852] S. Barembruch, E. Moulines, and A. Scaglione. Maximum likelihood blind deconvolution for sparse systems. In *Cognitive Information Processing*, Elba, Italie, June 2010.
- [1853] S. Barembruch, E. Moulines, and A. Scaglione. A sparse em algorithm for blind and semi-blind identification of doubly selective ofdm channels. In *IEEE SPAWC*, Marrakech, Maroc, June 2010.
- [1854] T. Ben Jaber, K. Abed-Meraim, and H. Boujemaa. Blind channel shortening in mimo-ofdm systems using single block differential modulation. In *IWCMC*, June 2009.
- [1855] T. Ben Jaber, K. Abed-Meraim, and H. Boujemaa. Blind channel shortening in zp-ofdm systems with controlled tir quality. In *EUSIPCO*, Aug. 2009.
- [1856] T. Benjabeur, K. Abed-Meraim, M. Bonnet, and H. Boujemaa. Combined channel shortening and source separation with tir controlled in mimo-ofdm systems. In 10th Int. Conf. on Information Sciences, Signal Processing and Their Applications, May 2010.
- [1857] T. Benjabeur, K. Abed-Meraim, M. Bonnet, and H. Boujemaa. Channel shortening in ofdm system using differential space-frequency block encoding. In *The IEEE International Workshop on Signal Processing Advances for Wireless Communications*, June 2010.
- [1858] H. Benoudnine, S. Bartelmaos, and K. Abed-Meraim. An efficient imm-ukf-bias algorithm for mobile location in umts-fdd under nlos conditions. In *IEEE International Symposium on Signal Processing and Information Technology*, Dec. 2009.
- [1859] P. Bianchi and J. Jakubowicz. Distributed stochastic approximation for constrained and unconstrained optimization. In *VALUETOOLS*, Cachan, France, June 2011.
- [1860] P. Bianchi, J. Jakubowicz, and F. Roueff. Neyman-pearson detection of a gaussian source using dumb wireless sensors. In *IEEE Statistical Signal Processing 2009*, June 2009.
- [1861] P. Bianchi, J. Najim, M. Maida, and M. Debbah. Performance analysis of eigenbased hypothesis tests for collaborative sensing. In *SSP*, Cardiff, UK, Nov. 2009.
- [1862] P. Bianchi, G. Fort, W. Hachem, and J. Jakubowicz. Performance analysis of a distributed robbinsmonro algorithm for sensor networks. In *EUSIPCO*, Barcelona, Spain, Nov. 2011.
- [1863] P. Bianchi, G. Fort, W. Hachem, and J. Jakubowicz. Analyse d'un algorithme de robbins-monro distribué pour les réseaux multi-agent. In *GRETSI*, Bordeaux, Nov. 2011.
- [1864] P. Bianchi, G. Fort, W. Hachem, and J. Jakubowicz. On the convergence of a distributed parameter estimator for sensor networks with local averaging of the estimate. In *ICASSP*, May 2011.
- [1865] P. Bianchi, J. Najim, G. Alfano, and M. Debbah. Asymptotics of eigenbased collaborative sensing. In *ITW*, Taormina, Italy, Apr. 2011.
- [1866] A. Bouchouata, A. Belouchrani, and K. Abed-Meraim. Time frequency blind source separation using contrast functions: performance evaluation. In 5'eme S'eminaire sur les Syst'emes de D'etection: Architectures et technologies, Feb. 2011.
- [1867] A. Boudjellal, A. Belouchrani, and K. Abed-Meraim. Received signal strength based mobile positioning using extended and unscented kalman filters. In 5'eme S'eminaire sur les Syst'emes de D'etection: Architectures et technologies, Feb. 2011.
- [1868] A. Boudjellal, A. Belouchrani, and K. Abed-Meraim. A new toas' cacfar wiener rake estimator for downlink mobile positioning in umts-fdd system. In 7th International Workshop on Systems, Signal Processing and their Applications, May 2011.
- [1869] E. Bouton, N. Ksairi, P. Ciblat, P. Bianchi, and W. Hachem. On outage probability optimization in rician miso channels. In *IEEE International Conference on Wireless and Mobile Computing, Net*working and Communications (WiMob), Marrakech (Maroc), Oct. 2009.
- [1870] O. Cappé. Version récursive de l'algorithme em pour l'estimation en ligne des paramètres de modèles de markov cachés. In *Colloque GRETSI*, Dijon, France, Sept. 2009.
- [1871] O. Cappé. Online sequential monte carlo em algorithm. In IEEE Workshop on Statistical Signal Processing, Cardiff, Wales, UK, Sept. 2009.
- [1872] O. Cappé, S. Filippi, and A. Garivier. Optimism in reinforcement learning based on kullback-leibler divergence. In Allerton Conference on Communication, Control, and Computing, Monticello, US, Oct. 2010.
- [1873] O. Cappé, S. Filippi, A. Garivier, and C. Szepesvari. Apprentissage des bandits contextuels dans les modèles linéaires généralisés. In *CAP*, May 2010.
- [1874] O. Cappé, C. Févotte, and D. Rohde. Algorithme em en ligne simulé pour la factorisation non-négative probabiliste. In *Colloque du GRETSI*, Bordeaux, Sept. 2011.

- [1875] L. Cardoso, P. Bianchi, J. Najim, M. Debbah, and M. Maida. Ecoute coopérative de spectre pour la radio cognitive. In GRETSI, Dijon, Sept. 2009.
- [1876] S. Clémençon. On clustering performance and u-processes. In NIPS 2011, Grenade, Espagne, Dec. 2011.
- [1877] S. Clémençon and M. Depecker. A wavelet-based filtering approach to functional bipartite ranking. In *IEEE Workshop in Signal Processing*, Nice, July 2011.
- [1878] S. Clémençon and C. Dhanjal. Maximising the quality of influence. In *SIAM Data Mining 2011*, pages 1–12, Phoenix USA, Oct. 2011.
- [1879] S. Clémençon and J. Jakubowicz. Kantorovich distances between rankings with applications to rank aggregation. In *ECML 2010*, pages 248–263, Barcelone Espagne, May 2010.
- [1880] S. Clémençon and S. Robbiano. Minimax learning rates for bipartite ranking and plug-in rules. In *ICML 2011*, Seattle USA, May 2011.
- [1881] S. Clémençon and N. Vayatis. On partitioning rules for bipartite ranking. In *AISTATS 2009, JMLR: W&CP*, number 5, pages 97–104, TAMPA, USA, Apr. 2009.
- [1882] S. Clémençon and N. Vayatis. Adaptive estimation of the optimal roc curve and a bipartite ranking algorithm. In ALT 2009, Porto, Portugal, June 2009.
- [1883] S. Clémençon and N. Vayatis. Nonparametric estimation of the precision-recall curve. In *ICML 2009*, Montréal, Canada, June 2009.
- [1884] S. Clémençon, M. Depecker, and N. Vayatis. Bagging ranking trees. In IEEE ICMLA, Miami (USA), July 2009.
- [1885] S. Clémençon, M. Depecker, and N. Vayatis. Auc maximization and the two-sample problem. In NIPS 2009, Vancouver (Canada), July 2009.
- [1886] S. Clémençon, A. Garivier, and J. Tressou. Pseudo regenerative block-bootstrap for hidden markov models. In SSP 2009, Cardiff, UK, Sept. 2009.
- [1887] S. Clémençon, M. Depecker, and N. Vayatis. Données avec label binaire: avancées récentes dans le domaine de l'apprentissage statistique d'ordonnancements. In CAP 2010, pages 1–16, Clermont-Ferrand, France, May 2010.
- [1888] S. Clémençon, H. De Arazoza, F. Rossi, and V. C. Tran. Visual mining of epidemic networks. In 11th International Work-Conference on Artificial Neural Networks (IWANN 2011), volume 6692, pages 276–283, Malaga, Spain, June 2011.
- [1889] S. Clémençon, H. De Arazoza, V. C. Tran, and F. Rossi. Hierarchical clustering for graph visualization. In *European Symposium on Artificial Neural Networks (ESANN)*, pages 227–232, Bruges, Belgique, Apr. 2011.
- [1890] S. Clémençon, M. Depecker, and N. Vayatis. Nonparametric scoring methods as a support decision tool for medical diagnosis the treerank algorithm and its variants. In *ECML PKDD Workshop on Knowledge Discovery in Health Care and Medicine*, Athènes, Grèce, Sept. 2011.
- [1891] S. Clémençon, C. Dhanjal, and R. Gaudel. Incremental spectral clustering with the normalised laplacian. In NIPS, DISCML Workshop, Dec. 2011.
- [1892] S. Clémençon, R. Gaudel, and J. Jakubowicz. On clustering rank data in the fourier domain. In *European Conference in Machine-Learning*, Athènes, June 2011.
- [1893] R. Couillet, P. Bianchi, and J. Jakubowicz. Distributed convex stochastic optimization under few constraints in large networks. In CAMSAP, San Juan, USA, Dec. 2011.
- [1894] O. Dikmen and C. Févotte. Maximum marginal likelihood estimation for nonnegative dictionary learning. In ICASSP, Prague, May 2011.
- [1895] F. Djebbar, K. Abed-Meraim, and D. Guerchi. Text hiding in high frequency components of speech spectrum. In 10th Int. Conf. on Information Sciences, Signal Processing and Their Applications, May 2010.
- [1896] F. Djebbar, H. Hamam, K. Abed-Meraim, and D. Guerchi. Controlled distortion for high capacity data-in-speech spectrum steganography. In Sixth International Conference on Intelligent Information Hiding and Multimedia Signal Processing, June 2010.
- [1897] F. Djebbar, B. Ayad, H. Hamam, and K. Abed-Meraim. A view on latest audio steganography techniques. In *7th Int. Conf. on Innovations and Information Technology*, Apr. 2011.
- [1898] F. Djebbari, D. Guerchi, K. Abed-Meraim, and H. Hamam. Text hiding in high frequency components of speech spectrum. In IH, Allemagne, June 2009.
- [1899] F. Djebbari, K. Abed-Meraim, D. Guerchi, and H. Hamam. Dynamic energy based text-in-speech spectrum hiding using speech masking properties. In *Int. Conf. on Industrial Mechatronics and Automation*, May 2010.
- [1900] C. Dubarry and S. Le Corff. Fast computation of smoothed additive functionals in general state-space

- models. In SSP, Nice, France, June 2011.
- [1901] S. Essid, Y. Grenier, M. Maazaoui, G. Richard, and R. Tournemenne. An audio-driven virtual dance-teaching assistant. In ACM Multimedia, Scottsdale, Arizona, USA, Nov. 2011.
- [1902] C. Févotte. Majorization-minimization algorithm for smooth itakura-saito nonnegative matrix factorizations. In *ICASSP*, May 2011.
- [1903] C. Févotte and J. Idier. Algorithmes de factorisation en matrices non-négatives fondée sur la betadivergence. In *Colloque GRETSI sur le Traitement du Signal et des Images*, Bordeaux, 2011.
- [1904] C. Févotte and A. Ozerov. Notes on nonnegative tensor factorization of the spectrogram for audio source separation: statistical insights and towards self-clustering of the spatial cues. In Proc. 7th International Symposium on Computer Music Modeling and Retrieval (CMMR'2010), June 2010.
- [1905] C. Févotte, O. Cappé, and A. T. Cemgil. Efficient markov chain monte carlo inference in composite models with space alternating data augmentation. In *IEEE Workshop on Statistical Signal Process-ing*, Nice, France, June 2011.
- [1906] S. Filippi, O. Cappé, A. Garivier, and C. Szepesvari. Parametric bandits: The generalized linear case. In Adv. Neural Inf. Process. Syst. (NIPS), address = Vancouver, Canada, year = 2010, month = dec, annote = category=inproceedings language=en audience=2 state=published project=misstic dept=tsi group=sta id=10728.
- [1907] G. Fort, S. Le Corff, and E. Moulines. Un algorithme em récursif pour le slam. In GRETSI 2011, Bordeaux, Mar. 2011.
- [1908] A. Garivier and O. Cappé. The kl-ucb algorithm for bounded stochastic bandits and beyond. In Conference on Learning Theory (COLT), Budapest (Hongrie), July 2011.
- [1909] A. Garivier and E. Moulines. On upper-confidence bound policies for non-stationary bandit problems. In *Algorithmic Learning Theory (ALT)*, Espoo (Finlande), Oct. 2011.
- [1910] R. Gaudel and S. Clémençon. Le filtrage collaboratif vu comme un problème de consensus d'ordonnancements. In *Conférence Francophone d'Apprentissage (CAp'11)*, Chambéry, Feb. 2011. Publibook, collection des Presses Universitaires des Antilles et de la Guyane.
- [1911] H. Gazzah and K. Abed-Meraim. Optimum ambiguity-free isotropic antenna arrays. In *ICASSP*, Apr. 2009.
- [1912] S. Grimoud, S. Ben Jemaa, B. Sayrac, and E. Moulines. A rem enabled soft frequency reuse scheme. In *GLOBECOM Workshops (GC Wkshps), 2010 IEEE*, pages 819 823, Sept. 2010.
- [1913] Z. Harchaoui, F. Vallet, A. Lung-Yut-Fong, and O. Cappé. A regularized kernel-based approach to unsupervised audio segmentation. In *ICASSP 2009*, pages 1665–1668, Taiwan, Apr. 2009.
- [1914] R. Iferroudjene, K. Abed-Meraim, and A. Belouchrani. Joint diagonalization of non defective matrices using generalized jacobi rotations. In 10th Int. Conf. on Information Sciences, Signal Processing and Their Applications, May 2010.
- [1915] A. Ikhlef, K. Abed-Meraim, and D. le Guennec. On the constant modulus criterion: a new algorithm. In *International IEEE Communications Conference*, May 2010.
- [1916] F. lutzeler, P. Ciblat, W. Hachem, and J. Jakubowicz. Estimation distribuée du maximum dans un réseau de capteurs. In GRETSI, Bordeaux, France, Sept. 2011.
- [1917] F. lutzeler, J. Jakubowicz, W. Hachem, and P. Ciblat. Distributed estimation of the maximum value over a wireless sensor network. In *Asilomar Conference on Signals, Systems, and Computer*, Pacific Grove, USA, Nov. 2011.
- [1918] A. Kammoun, K. Abed-Meraim, and S. Affes. An efficient regularized semi-blind estimator. In *Conference ICC*, Allemagne, June 2009.
- [1919] A. Kammoun, K. Abed-Meraim, and S. Affes. Regularized semi-blind estimator over mimo-ofdm systems. In *IEEE International Symposium on Signal Processing and Information Technology*, Dec. 2009.
- [1920] A. Kammoun, K. Abed-Meraim, and S. Affes. Superimposed or time-multiplexed training: A performance comparison. In *EUSIPCO*, Aug. 2009.
- [1921] A. Kammoun, K. Abed-Meraim, and S. Affes. Blind nonzero delay mmse equalizer for simo fir sytems. In The IEEE International Workshop on Signal Processing Advances for Wireless Communications, June 2010.
- [1922] A. Kammoun, A. Aissa El Bey, K. Abed-Meraim, and S. Affes. Robustness of blind subspace based techniques using lp quasi-norms. In *IEEE International Workshop on Signal Processing Advances* for Wireless Communications, June 2010.
- [1923] O. Kouamo, C. Lévy-Leduc, and E. Moulines. Robust estimation of the memory parameter of gaussian time series using wavelets. In *IEEE International Workshop on Statistical Signal Processing*, Nice, France, June 2011.

- [1924] N. Ksairi, P. Bianchi, P. Ciblat, and W. Hachem. A practical scheme to achieve optimal diversity-multiplexing trade-off for high diversity gains for half-duplex relay channels. In *IEEE Information Theory Workshop (ITW)*, Toarmina, Italy, Oct. 2009.
- [1925] N. Ksairi, P. Ciblat, P. Bianchi, and W. Hachem. Compromis diversité-multiplexage pour un protocole de relayage df non-orthogonal. In *GRETSI*, Dijon, France, Sept. 2009.
- [1926] N. Ksairi, P. Bianchi, and P. Ciblat. A nearly optimal resource allocation algorithm for the downlink of ofdma 2-d networks with multicell interference. In *IEEE Workshop on Signal Processing Advances* in Wireless Communications (SPAWC), Marrakech (Maroc), June 2010.
- [1927] H. Lantéri, C. Theys, C. Richard, and C. Févotte. Split gradient method for nonnegative matrix factorization. In *Proc.* ~18th European Signal Processing Conference (EUSIPCO'10), Aug. 2010.
- [1928] T. Lavergne, O. Cappé, and F. Yvon. Practical very large scale crfs. In 48th Annual Meeting Association for Computational Linguistics (ACL), Uppsala, Sweden, July 2010.
- [1929] S. Le Corff and G. Fort. Block online em for hidden markov models with general state space. In *ASMDA*, Rome, Italie, May 2011.
- [1930] S. Le Corff, G. Fort, and E. Moulines. Online expectation maximization algorithm to solve the slam problem. In *SSP*, Nice, France, June 2011.
- [1931] A. Lefèvre, F. Bach, and C. Févotte. Factorisation de matrices structurée en groupes avec la divergence d'itakura-saito. In *Colloque GRETSI sur le Traitement du Signal et des Images*, Oct. 2011.
- [1932] A. Lefèvre, F. Bach, and C. Févotte. Itakura-saito nonnegative matrix factorization with group sparsity. In *ICASSP*, Prague, May 2011.
- [1933] A. Lefèvre, F. Bach, and C. Févotte. Online algorithms for nonnegative matrix factorization with the itakura-saito divergence. In *IEEE Workshop on Applications of Signal Processing to Audio and Acoustics (WASPAA)*, Mohonk, NY, Sept. 2011.
- [1934] C. Lévy-Leduc, M. S. Taqqu, E. Moulines, H. Boistard, and V. Reisen. Asymptotic properties of u-processes under long-range dependence and applications. In *Bulletin of the International Statistical Institute*, Dublin, Irlande, Aug. 2011.
- [1935] A. Lung-Yut-Fong, O. Cappé, C. Lévy-Leduc, and F. Roueff. Détection et localisation décentralisées d'anomalies dans le trafic internet. In *GRETSI*, Sept. 2009.
- [1936] A. Lung-Yut-Fong, C. Lévy-Leduc, and O. Cappé. Distributed detection/localization of network anomalies using rank tests. In *IEEE Workshop on Statistical Signal Processing*, 2009, pages 749–752, Cardiff, UK, Sept. 2009.
- [1937] A. Lung-Yut-Fong, O. Cappé, and C. Lévy-Leduc. Estimation robuste de ruptures multiples dans un signal multivarié. In *GRETSI*, Bordeaux, France, Sept. 2011.
- [1938] A. Lung-Yut-Fong, C. Lévy-Leduc, and O. Cappé. Robust changepoint detection based on multivariate rank statistics. In *IEEE Int. Conf. Acoust., Speech, Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, pages 3608–3611, Prague, Czech Republic, May 2011.
- [1939] A. Lung-Yut-Fong, C. Lévy-Leduc, and O. Cappé. Robust retrospective multiple change-point estimation for multivariate data. In *IEEE Workshop on Statistical Signal Processing*, pages 405–408, Nice, France, June 2011.
- [1940] M. Maazaoui, Y. Grenier, and K. Abed-Meraim. Frequency domain blind source separation for robot audition using a parameterized sparsity criterion. In *The European Signal Processing Conference* (EUSIPCO-2011), pages 1869–1873, Barcelone, Espagne, Sept. 2011.
- [1941] M. Maazaoui, Y. Grenier, and K. Abed-Meraim. Blind source separation for robot audition using fixed beamforming with hrtfs. In *12th Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association (Interspeech-2011)*, Florence, Italie, Sept. 2011.
- [1942] M. Maazaoui, Y. Grenier, and K. Abed-Meraim. From binaural to multichannel blind source separation using fixed beamforming with hrtfs. In *The 19th International Conference on Systems, Signals and Image Processing, IWSSIP 2012*, Vienne, Autriche, Apr. 2012.
- [1943] F. Maire, S. Lefebvre, E. Moulines, and R. Douc. Aircraft classification with a low resolution infrared sensor. In *IEEE Statistical Signal Processing Workshop (SSP)*, 2011, pages 761–764, Nice, France, Sept. 2011.
- [1944] I. Mendoume, M. Charbit, B. Godefroy, and J.-B. Prost. Gnss positioning enhancement based on statistical modeling in urban environment. In *ION2010*, Portland, Oregon, USA, Sept. 2010.
- [1945] H. Misra, J. M. Jose, F. Yvon, and O. Cappé. Text segmentation via topic modeling: An analytical study. In ACM Conference on Information and Knowledge Management (CIKM), Hong Kong, China, Nov. 2009.
- [1946] L. Oudre, C. Févotte, and Y. Grenier. Probabilistic framework for template-based chord recognition. In *IEEE International Workshop on Multimedia Signal Processing (MMSP)*, pages 183–187, St Malo,

- France, Oct. 2010.
- [1947] L. Oudre, A. Lung-Yut-Fong, and P. Bianchi. Segmentation of accelerometer signals recorded during continuous treadmill walking. In *European Signal Processing Conference (EUSIPCO)*, Barcelone, Espagne, Sept. 2011.
- [1948] L. Oudre, A. Lung-Yut-Fong, and P. Bianchi. Segmentation automatique de signaux issus d'un accéléromètre triaxial en période de marche. In Groupe de Recherche et d'Etudes en Traitement du Signal et des Images (GRETSI), Bordeaux, France, Sept. 2011.
- [1949] A. Ozerov, C. Févotte, R. Blouet, and J.-L. Durrieu. Multichannel nonnegative tensor factorization with structured constraints for user-guided audio source separation. In *ICASSP*, Prague, May 2011.
- [1950] T. Rebafka, F. Roueff, and A. Souloumiac. Désempilement de mesures de temps de réponse par un algorithme e.m. modifié. In GRETSI 2009, Dijon, Sept. 2009.
- [1951] T. Rebafka, C. Levy-Leduc, and M. Charbit. Regularization methods for intercepted radar signals. In *RadarCon 2011*, Kansas-City, May 2011.
- [1952] D. Rohde and O. Cappé. Online maximum-likelihood estimation for latent factor models. In IEEE Workshop on Statistical Signal Processing, Nice, France, June 2011.
- [1953] F. Roueff. Nonstationary models with long memory. In *International Statistical Institute (58th congress)*, Dublin, Irelande, Aug. 2011.
- [1954] A. Saumard, S. Clémençon, N. Baskiotis, and N. Usunier. Calibrating syms with v-fold penalization. In NIPS 2011 - Workshop on Model Order Selection, Grenade, Espagne, Nov. 2011.
- [1955] t. wohlfarth, S. Clémençon, F. Roueff, and X. Casellato. Prédiction de l'occurence d'une baisse de prix pour le conseil à l'achat d'un billet en ligne. In GRETSI, BORDEAUX FRANCE, Sept. 2011.
- [1956] t. wohlfarth, S. Clémençon, F. Roueff, and X. Casellato. A data-mining approach to travel price forecasting. In ICMLA, Honolulu (Hawaï), USA, Dec. 2011.
- [1957] M. THAMERI, K. Abed-Meraim, and A. Belouchrani. Algorithmes adaptatifs rapides pour l'estimation des vecteurs propres mineurs. In *Coloque GRETSI*, Sept. 2011.
- [1958] M. THAMERI, A. Kammoun, K. Abed-Meraim, and A. Belouchrani. Fast principal component analysis and data whitening algorithms. In *7th International Workshop on Systems, Signal Processing and their Applications*, May 2011.
- [1959] J. Villard and P. Bianchi. High-rate vector quantization for the neyman-pearson detection of some mixing processes. In ISIT, Oct. 2010.
- [1960] J. Villard and P. Bianchi. Quantification vectorielle haute résolution pour la détection de processus stationnaires. In *GRETSI*, Bordeaux, Sept. 2011.
- [1961] J. Villard, P. Bianchi, E. Moulines, and P. Piantanida. High-rate quantization for the neyman-pearson detection of hidden markov processes. In *ITW*, Oct. 2010.

14.3.3 COM: Talks in Conferences Which Do Not Publish Proceedings

- [1962] P. Bianchi. Analyse en grandes dimensions de tests d'hypothèses pour la détection d'émetteur. In Jounées MAAS 2009, Bordeaux, Nov. 2009.
- [1963] O. Cappé. Inside sequential monte carlo methods. In *Tutorial at the 2009 IEEE Workshop on Statistical Signal Processing*, Cardiff Wales, UK, Aug. 2009.
- [1964] O. Cappé. Online em algorithms for mixtures, hmms and beyond. In *Mixture estimation and applications Workshop, International Centre for Mathematical Sciences*, Edinburgh, UK, Mar. 2010.
- [1965] O. Cappé. Méthodes bayésiennes pour les modèles à variables latentes. In 5ème école d'été de Peyreq en traitement du signal et des images, Peyresq, France, June 2010.
- [1966] O. Cappé. From importance sampling to sequential monte carlo methods. In *Tutorial at the Second Training School of the EU MC Impulse Network*, Windermere, Cumbria, UK, Sept. 2011.
- [1967] O. Cappé, S. Filippi, and A. Garivier. Bandits contextuels: apprentissage par renforcement dans les modèles linéaires généralisés. In *JFPDA*, Besançon, June 2010.
- [1968] M. Charbit, K. Abed-Meraim, G. Blanchet, A. Le Pichon, and Y. Cansi. Maximum likelihood approach to detect and localize infrasound sources. In the Infrasound Technology Workshop, Jordanie, Nov. 2011
- [1969] G. Fort. On adaptive stratification. In 2009 INFORMS Applied Probability Society, July 2009.
- [1970] G. Fort. Limit theorems for adaptive mcmcalgorithms. In 41eme journées de Statistiques de la SFDS, Bordeaux, France, July 2009.
- [1971] G. Fort. Adaptive mcmc: theory and methods. In Optimization in MCMC, Warwick, GB, July 2009.
- [1972] T. Rebafka and F. Roueff. Minimax estimation of the mixing density of a mixture of exponential distributions. In *European Meeting of Statisticians*, Toulouse, France, Aug. 2009.

- [1973] F. Roueff. Asymptotic statistics for the scalogram of time series. In *Fourier meets wavelets in statistics -*, Karlsruhe, Allemagne, Sept. 2010.
- [1974] F. Roueff. Time-varying long memory estimation. In *Self-similarity and related fields*, Le Touquet, France, Sept. 2011.
- [1975] B. Zheng. Price jump detection in limit order book. In *Interdisciplinary workshop on "Econometric and statistical modelling of multivariate time series"*, Louvain-La-Neuve, Belgique, May 2011.

14.3.4 OS: Books and Book Chapters

- [1976] Y. Atchadé, G. Fort, E. Moulines, and P. Priouret. Adaptive Markov chain Monte Carlo: Theory and Method, chapter 2, pages 33–53. Cambridge Univ. Press, 2011.
- [1977] O. Cappé. Online Expectation-Maximisation. Wiley, 2011.
- [1978] C. Févotte. *Itakura-Saito nonnegative factorizations of the power spectrogram for music signal de- composition*, chapter 11. IGI Global Press, 2010.
- [1979] O. Kouamo, E. Moulines, and F. Roueff. Testing for homogeneity of variance in the wavelet domain. In G. S. D. T. G. Doukhan, Paul Lang, editor, *Dependence in probability and statistics*, pages 175–205. Springer, Berlin, 2010.
- [1980] A. Rona-Tas, S. Clémençon, S. Blanchemanche, F. Rossi, and C. Dhanjal. *The Unexpected Link: Dissemination of Health Information within Social Networks*. Cambridge University Press, 2010.

Chapter 15

Image processing and understanding (TII)

Team leader I. Bloch (P).

Faculty A. Almansa (CR1 CNRS, HDR), E. Angelini (Assoc. P, HDR in 2011, on leave in Australia for six months in 2010), I. Bloch (P), T. Boubekeur (Assoc. P), H. Brettel (CR1 CNRS, HDR), M. Campedel (Assoc. P), J. Delon (CR1 CNRS, HDR in 2011), E. Eisemann (Assoc. P, since 12/09), Y. Gousseau (P, HDR in 2009), S. Ladjal (Assoc. P), H. Maître (P), P. Memari (CR2 CNRS, since 10/11), J.-M. Nicolas (P), S. Rital (Research Engineer), M. Roux (Assoc. P), H. Sahbi (CR1 CNRS, HDR in 2011), T. Tanzi (P, until 2010), J. Tierny (CR2 CNRS, since 10/10), F. Tupin (P).

PhD students Defended (dates are for the defense): E. Aldea (12/09), J. Anquez (9/09), C. Le Men (9/09), D. Lesage (10/09), J. Rabin (12/09), N. Sabater (12/09, with ENS Cachan). J. Baussé (10/10), M. Bredif (5/10), D. Cerra (5/10), N. Chenouard (1/10), D. Craciun (7/10), G. Fouquier (2/10), B. Galerne (12/10, with ENS Cachan), G. Lehureau (4/10), C. Mallet (11/10), F. Mosca (10/10), T. Napoléon (7/10), G. Palma (2/10), A. Shabou (11/10), H. Sportouche (12/10), N. Widynski (11/10, with UPMC), J. Wojak (12/10). S. Audière (12/11), P. Birjandi (9/11), P. Blanchart (9/11), M. Bouali (6/11), E. Bughin (10/11, with ENS Cachan), C. Deledalle (11/11), V. Duval (6/11), G. Facciolo (3/11, with Univ. Pompeu Fabra), G. Hochard (3/11), M. Marim (4/11), B. Petitpas (12/11, with Univ. Marne la Vallée), H. Soubaras (1/11), M. Tepper (3/11, with Univ. Buenos Aires), C. Vanegas (1/11), G.-S. Xia (3/11).

Current (dates are for the beginning of PhD): C. Aguerrebere (4/11), N. Bourdis (1/10), B. Buchholz (10/09), J. Caron (10/08, with Univ. Amiens), F. Dellinger (10/10), N. Faraj (12/09), M. Gargouri (11/11), N. Geeraert (9/11), I. Ghorbel (2/09), A. Graciano (9/08, with Univ. Sao Paulo), T. Guillemot (10/10), C. Herold (12/10), M. Hollander (1/10), J. Huang (10/09), Q. A. Le (10/09), Y. Le Montagner (10/10), B. Mazin (9/10), A. Newson (9/10), G. Pizaine (6/09), J.-B. Poisson (10/10), G. Quin (9/10), A. Roman Gonzalez (9/09), L. Schemali (1/11), P. Schmitt (10/11), X. Su (10/11), G. Tartavel (10/11), J.-M. Thiery (10/09), Y. Traonmilin (7/11), G. Vialaneix (12/09), U. Verma (10/10), P. Vo (10/10), Y. Yang (10/10), F. Yuan (9/10-9/11).

Post-docs, engineers and sabbaticals J. Anquez (1/10-6/10), L. Babou (7/09-2/11), A. Bretto (1/10-8/10), F. Cao (9/10-4/11), S. Chevallier (3/11-8/11), S. Dahdouh (10/11-12/11), J.-P. De la Plata (8/09-7/11), E. Erdem (7/09-3/10), F. Fayard (5/10-4/11), G. Fouquier (7/09-3/11), M. Horta (4/11-9/11), S. Lee (7/09-2/11), X. Li (6/09-6/10), M. Lindenbaum (3/11-8/11), K. Loquin (3/10-10/11), A. Marquez (9/9-10/10), M. Moghrani (9/09-8/10), V. Pascucci (6/11), Y. Pinto (3/11-10/11), T. Ritschel (5/10-9/11), X. Rondeau (10/09-3/11), Y. Rouchdy

(10/09-12/10), H. Sportouche (4/11-12/11), O. Tankyevych (1/11-8/11), C. Vanegas (1/11-4/11), A. Zureiki (7/09-10/09).

External collaborators M. Datcu (CoC chair, until 6/10).

Faculty [IT, CNRS]	[11, 4.6]
PhD students	29
Post-docs, engineers and sabbaticals	10
Defended PhD theses	36
Defended HDR	4
Journal papers [published, in press]	[105, 12]
Papers in conference proceedings	177
Chapters and books	25
Grants [public, private, european] (k€)	[1461, 1203, 120]

Table 15.1: The reference period for the main TII figures is from July 2009 to December 2011, except for publications in journals, conferences and books where it covers January 2009 to December 2011.

15.1 Objectives

The objective of the group is to develop methodologies and theoretical tools for image, scene and 3D object processing and interpretation. The main approach consists in solving globally complex problems, based on rigorous theoretical bases, and integrating multiple and complementary techniques, for deriving interpretations from data. Applications focus on medical imaging, aerial and satellite imaging, natural image analysis. Contributions of the group can therefore be found at theoretical level (knowledge and information representation and modeling, in 2D as well as 3D, processing, interpretation and reasoning on spatial data), at algorithmical level (in particular to implement the developed models for large and complex data sets), and at applicative level. The group is well recognized, in both academic, institutional and industrial domains. It has numerous collaborations with other universities, and is supported by grants and contracts. The different research activities are closely linked together, which is one of the strong features of the group.

Over the last two and a half years, two professors left, one to join a research team in Sophia-Antipolis at Mines ParisTech, and the other at the end of the CoC joint laboratory with CNES and DLR. On the other hand, during this period the group has benefited from the appointment of two CNRS researchers and one associate professor, strengthening research axes mainly in computer graphics, but also in medical imaging. The good reputation of the group and its visibility, in France as well as at an international level, are confirmed by the number of publications, but also by the number of collaborations, mentioned below for each research axis, and by its attractiveness for CNRS candidates, post-docs and PhDs.

The scientific animation of the team includes a general seminar and several specific ones (medical imaging, compressed sensing, radar imaging, 3D and computer graphics...). PhD candidates are invited to present their work at the end of the first year of their PhD, so as to gather comments from the whole team and initiate discussions among them, thus favoring cross-fertilization of ideas. A mid-term evaluation is also organized for all PhD candidates. We also pay attention to the accompanying process of the PhD theses, beside the direct scientific supervision, including a help to prepare their future.

15.2 Main results

The main research results obtained during the period mid-2009-2011 are presented below for the research areas of the TII team, both from a theoretical and methodological point of view, and from an application perspective.

15.2.1 Mathematical methods for images

Faculty A. Almansa, I. Bloch, J. Delon, Y. Gousseau, S. Ladjal, H. Sahbi, F. Tupin.

Projects ANR projects (CALLISTO, MATAIM, OTARIE, FREEDOM), FUI (9th call) CEDCA, Cifre and CNES PhD fundings, CNES research funding, DGA/REI MRIS and Tracking, ECOS Sud (U06E01), STIC AmSud (MMVPSCV).

Collaborators L. Alvarez (U. Gran Canaria, Spain), J.-F. Aujol (U. Bordeaux 1), F. Cao (DxO Labs), V. Caselles (UPF, Spain), T. Buades, A. Desolneux, S. Durand, B. Galerne, T. Hurtut, L. Moisan (U. Paris Descartes), S. Dubuisson (UPMC), M. Lindenbaum (Technion, Israël), S. Masnou (U. Lyon 1), J. Darbon, J.-M. Morel, M. Nikolova (ENS-Cachan), L. Denis (U. Saint-Etienne), P. Musé (U. de la República, Uruguay), J.-C. Olivo-Marin (Institut Pasteur), A. Pardo (U. Catolica, Uruguay), M. Mejail (UBA, Argentine), P. Pérez (Technicolor, Rennes), G. Peyré and J. Salomon (U. Dauphine), J. Rabin (U. Caen), J. Salmon (U. Denis Diderot), M. Sigelle (Télécom ParisTech), A. Sobolevskii (Poncelet Lab., Moscou), L. Vese (UCLA, USA), W. Wang (U. Wuhan, China), A. Bretto (U. Caen).

Texture and natural images modeling

This research theme deals with the stochastic modeling of natural images. First, generative models taking into account scaling phenomena in natural images have been developed. These models (dead leaves, shot-noise, transparent models) are grounded in the theory of marked point processes, whose marks are geometrical structures. The most recent works in this area are concerned with texture synthesis using spot-noise models, see [2039] and the companion online IPOL demo ¹, as well as the stochastic modeling of transparency [2038]. Much effort has also been devoted to the study of the impact of various restoration image models on the textured aspects of natural images, as explained below, see [2009, 2022, 2023]. An important achievement is that a model previously developed in our team, the *scaling dead leaves model*, has been retained by the company DxO to evaluate the ability of imaging devices to preserve textures in natural images, and as such is routinely used by the main industrial actors in the domain, ranging from Nikon to the NASA. Oriented toward public audience, the model has appeared in the 2011 FNAC summer catalogue for DSLR cameras.

Image analysis and computer vision.

These last years, we have developed or applied various mathematical tools for the analysis, indexing or matching of images.

Among these tools, let us first mention optimal transportation equations. These equations enable the definition of metrics between weighted features and yield elegant ways to compare images. We have recently proposed two complementary studies on the subject of optimal transportation on the circle, one in a continuous setting [2012] and the other one in a discrete setting [2072, 2074]. This last study compares for different retrieval tasks the transportation metrics with the classical distances used in computer vision.

Another methodological aspect of our researches deals with *a contrario* methods, developed by Desolneux et al. to automatically fix detection thresholds for image analysis. In particular,

¹http://www.ipol.im/pub/algo/ggm_random_phase_texture_synthesis

we applied these methods to the problem of image matching. We have developed a complete chain for the matching of images from local descriptors (such as SIFTs). This procedure encompasses the descriptors themselves, a transportation metric adapted to circular histograms (relying on optimal transportation), an unsupervised matching criterion, and a validation, RANSAC-like step [2072, 2275]. In the particular case of block-matching of epipolarly-rectified stereo pairs, the *a contrario* methodology, complemented with more classical criteria to avoid self-similarity and fattening effects has proven very efficient to build up dense sets of reliable matches [2079]. This yields disparity maps computed up to an unprecedented accuracy level, closely matching our theoretical accuracy estimation [2080]. Check also the accompanying online demo ². The a contrario methodology also allows for parameterless and unsupervised graph-based clustering [2087] without any shape prior. Applications ranging from high-dimensional data analysis to restoration of images and 3D data are being explored.

Another approach for point matching was developed for change detection problems: a change detection algorithm was introduced, based on a new interest point matching approach combined with the epipolar geometry. The main contribution of our method includes: (i) a statistical-based criterion combined with the geometry of scenes, able to reliably detect changes in pairs of images and (ii) the extension of the method in order to handle archives of videos where the temporal coherency is exploited to further enhance the performances. In this context, the validity of our method is demonstrated through a realistic ground truth including many labeled changes [2170].

Still in a probabilistic framework, during the PhD of A. Shabou, new graph-cut based optimization approaches of Markovian models have been proposed. They rely on a random sampling of sub-sets of states for three global moves (expansion, swap and jump) with associated graph constructions. They allow an efficient compromise between memory size and quality of the obtained optimum [2289].

Among the other tools that we have investigated and applied, let us quote topographic maps. This tool turns out to be particularly efficient for the indexing of satellite images [2057], the indexing of texture [2093] or the analysis of artistic line-drawings [2047], even in the presence of a wide range of geometrical and radiometric changes. The method developed in [2093] is an extension of the classical granulometry from mathematical morphology.

Restoration of images and image sequences

In the last few years, our group has become quite active in the field of image restoration.

In the case of single-frame restoration, many denoising problems have been tackled. We have proposed several extensions and in-depth studies of Non-Local Means methods. In [2023], we propose an in-depth study of such denoising methods and give a method for the automatic and local setting of parameters. In [2009], it is proposed to use adaptive and generic patches to improve denoising results. In [2007], the method is extended in a probabilistic approach, allowing to process images for which a distribution of the parameters of interest is available (Poisson, Gamma, Wishart distributions...). This framework also permits to process vectorial data [2008].

In the domain of impulsive degradations, we have conducted an extensive study of the popular TV-L1 model, showing that it is equivalent to some morphological filtering and acts as a granulometry [2022]. The TV regularization model under local L2 constraints showed effective in the context of irregularly sampled blurred and noisy data [2032, 2146]. It was also shown useful for destriping MODIS images [2062].

In order to restore larger and more extreme degradations of images, we also took interest in image inpainting. We developed an approach relying on the automatic combination of patch-based methods and geometrical interpolation [1994], permitting the restoration of both the texture and the geometry of images over large regions. This subject has also been addressed in a related work on the variational interpretation of copy-paste methods [2051]. Some of the previous works require an accurate knowledge of internal camera parameters like the intrinsic blur kernel (PSF). In [2006] we showed that accurate estimation of the PSF is well posed, without regularization,

² http://www.ipol.im/pub/demo/bms_binocular_stereo_pipeline/

provided an appropriate white noise image is used for calibration. See the accompanying IPOL demos ³ ⁴.

Recently, we have oriented an important part of our restoration activity toward multi-frame restoration. This research direction is intimately related to different research projects, in particular one ANR project (ANR FREEDOM JCJC 2007-2011) on movie restoration, one collaborative project with the firm DxO Labs, and one PHD thesis supervised in collaboration with the firm Technicolor. As part of the research project FREEDOM, we have proposed two contributions related to contrast and color: the first one concerns the restoration of local radiometric problems in image sequences [2010], and the second one is an efficient method for the removal of artifacts [2073] introduced by contrast and color changes. Another contribution deals with the detection and restoration of occluding defects in movies [2174].

Tracking

Another contribution based on probabilistic methods addresses tracking issues in image sequences, by incorporating different types of information in the probabilistic model [2029, 2092]. Our approach is based on particle filtering, and we have proposed original ways to introduce spatial relations, represented in a fuzzy set framework (see Section 15.2.2), either between different positions of one object during time, or between several objects for multiple object tracking problems (PhD of N. Widynski). In this case, we also proposed a ranked partitioned sampling method, so as to handle the most visible objects first. Multiple appearance models and adaptive fusion of multiple cues have also been proposed. These new models and the associated algorithms provide better results than state of the art methods, in terms of accuracy of tracking, object association, and handling partially occluded objects. Multiple object tracking has also been addressed using multiple hypotheses methods, for biological applications in cluttered environment [2186, 2187] (collaboration with Institut Pasteur).

Another topic is multi-view tracking of objects in video surveillance, which consists in segmenting and automatically following objects through different camera views. In this work, we present a multi-view object matching and tracking approach based on canonical correlation analysis. Our method is purely statistical and encodes intrinsic object appearances while being viewpoint invariant. We have shown that our technique is easy-to-set, theoretically well grounded and provides robust matching and tracking results for traffic surveillance [2220].

Tracking has also been exploited in segmentation problems, in particular for elongated structures such as blood vessels, using particle filters and minimal paths according to adaptive metrics (see also Section 15.2.5).

A new project on multi-view tracking has also been launched, based on particle filter, to estimate the shape parameters and the pose of a face for authentication based on face matching (collaboration with LIP6 and Morpho, PhD of C. Herold).

Mathematical morphology

In parallel to the work mentioned above on granulometry and TV restoration, our contribution in mathematical morphology concerns the representation and handling of qualitative and imprecise information in different settings, such as formal logics [1981, 2152], including description logics for ontological reasoning, fuzzy sets [1989], and more recently hypergraphs [2167] and bipolar information [2166, 1990, 2237] to model both positive information (observations, preferences) and negative information (constraints). In all these frameworks, we proposed appropriate complete lattices and connectives, leading to good properties of mathematical morphology operations. These operations can then be used for various tasks, such as preference modeling and spatial reasoning.

³http://www.ipol.im/pub/algo/admm_non_blind_psf_estimation/

⁴http://www.ipol.im/pub/algo/damm_blind_psf_estimation_from_scaled_image_pairs/

15.2.2 Image understanding and spatial reasoning

Faculty I. Bloch, M. Campedel, H. Maître.

Main events CIARP 2010 conference.

Projects ANR DAFOE, CNES PhD thesis and research projects funding, collaboration with J. Atif (LRI), C. Hudelot (ECP), J. Inglada (CESBIO), R. Cesar (U. Sao Paulo, Brazil).

Our work on modeling spatial relations within the fuzzy set framework has evolved towards complex relations such as along, surrounds, to go across, parallel to, both for individual objects and for groups of objects [2086, 2137, 2303]. New fuzzy connections have also been proposed, and applied to filtering problems [2067, 2071]. These relations are based on mathematical morphology operators, and their use for spatial reasoning was formalized in different settings (PhD of G. Fouquier, C. Vanegas, A. Graciano). One relies on graph-based reasoning, where a graph modeling the available knowledge about a scene (on objects and their spatial relations) guides a sequential segmentation and recognition process [2037]. The order in which structures are segmented is adapted to each image, by combining spatial relations and saliency information. In case of failure of a segmentation step, a backtracking procedure was proposed as well. Another approach relies on the search for a global solution by expressing the recognition as a constraint satisfaction problem [2068, 2137], or as an inexact graph matching problem [2069]. Finally ontological reasoning was proposed, by introducing mathematical morphology operators in description logics in order to define spatial relation concepts [2237]. In the same line, a preliminary work associating description logics, formal concept analysis and mathematical morphology was developed. The first reasoning service we proposed within this framework is abduction, in order to provide the best explanation of a scene according to the available knowledge [2152].

During the project DAFOE4app (ANR project, 2007-2010), an engineering collaboration between Telecom ParisTech and Mondeca has been initiated. The common goal was to create and develop an interactive tool to assist satellite image interpreters. Results have been obtained, with the support of CNES, in the creation (and free diffusion) of two OWL ontologies: the image ontology is able to describe the image content and the feature extraction process whereas the scene ontology identifies land cover classes; these ontologies integrate spatial relationships between image objects as well as other semantic relationships. A prototype of the annotation tool, based on Mondeca technology has also been proposed. However further engineering development would have been necessary to make it really operational. Such a tool is an ideal way to demonstrate the usefulness of both low-level image processing algorithms and semantic reasoning in the context of satellite image interpretation.

15.2.3 Learning, indexing and retrieval

Faculty M. Campedel, M. Datcu (until 2010), H. Sahbi.

Projects Infomagic, K-space.

Besides recognition and spatial reasoning, spatial relations have also been used in structural learning for image classification, based on original graph kernels including spatial relations [2322] (PhD of E. Aldea).

Two important projects were completed during this period, Infomagic and K-space, leading to the publications of two books [2331, 2335], as major outcomes of the work carried out within these projects.

This research theme was also developed specifically in the context remote sensing imaging, as described in Section 15.2.6.

Most of the work in machine learning during this period was devoted to visual recognition and search, along three main lines.

Image annotation in interconnected networks & activity recognition. In this work, we introduced a novel image annotation and retrieval approach based on support vector machines

(SVMs) and a new class of kernels referred to as context-dependent (CD). The main contribution of our method includes (i) a variational approach which helps designing our CD kernel using both intrinsic features and the underlying contextual information, and (ii) the proof of convergence of the CD kernel to positive definite fixed-point, usable for SVM training and other kernel methods. When plugged in SVMs, our CD kernel consistently improves the performance of image annotation and retrieval, compared to context-free kernels, on hundreds of thousands of Flickr images [2284, 2081, 2285]. We also extended this CD kernel in order to handle activity indexing and recognition in video sequences [2320].

Conditional random fields for Object Class Segmentation (OCS). In this work, we proposed a novel superpixel-based framework for object class segmentation using conditional random fields (CRFs). The framework proceeds in two steps: (i) superpixel label estimate, and (ii) CRF label propagation. Step (i) is achieved using multi-scale boosted classifiers over superpixels and makes it possible to find coarse estimates of initial labels. Fine labeling is afterward achieved in Step (ii), using an anisotropic contrast sensitive pairwise function designed in order to characterize the intrinsic interaction potentials between objects according to 4-neighborhoods. Finally, a higher-order criterion is applied to enforce region label consistency of OCS. Experimental results demonstrate the effectiveness of the proposed framework [2250].

2D to **3D** object retrieval. In this work, we introduced a complete "2D to 3D object" retrieval framework. Given a (collection of) picture(s) or sketch(es) of the same scene or object, the method allows us to retrieve the underlying similar objects in a database of 3D models. The contribution of our method includes (i) a generative approach for alignment able to find canonical views consistently through scenes/objects, and (ii) the application of an efficient and effective matching method used for ranking. The results are reported through the Princeton Shape Benchmark and the Shrec benchmarking consortium evaluated/compared by a third-party. In the two gallery sets, our approach achieves good performance and outperforms the other runs [2066].

15.2.4 Computer graphics, digital geometry and rendering

Faculty T. Boubekeur, E. Eisemann, J. Tierny (and P. Memari since October 2011).

Main events Eurographics Young Researcher Award (E. Eisemann), Honorable mention of the Dirk Bartz Prize for Visual Computing in Medicine [2005].

Projects IP Reverie, NoE 3DLife, ANR Ispace&time, MediaGPU, CeCil, KidPocket, FETUS, CIFRE EDF, CIFRE Useful Progress, "Chaire Modélisation des Imaginaires".

The computer graphics team of the TII group conducts its research activities in 3D geometric modeling, rendering, perception, visualization and computer vision.

In modeling, the group has developed several fast methods for surface simplification, filtering and reconstruction based on linear and adaptive stochastic approaches [1991], separability [2305], locality principles, and variational geometry [2085]. A structuring-curve system has been proposed for deformation, 2D painting [2156], and shape learning to reconstruct scans [2049]. A quad remesher for polygonal surfaces as well as an interactive one has been designed to integrate user constraints in real time [2089]. Another approach has been presented to reuse examplar databases for generating new quadrangulations from predefined styles [2088]. Some of these contributions have been applied for realistic anatomical modeling (see Section 15.2.5).

In rendering, the group has developed new algorithms for global illumination on GPU [2045], in screen- [2236], object- [2077] and hybrid [2279] spaces, and has proposed a new static [1993] and/or spatio-temporal scene analysis for expressive [2176], amortized [2233], and stereo rendering [2204]. A new real time geometry synthesis stage has also been proposed [2330, 2235]. Optical phenomena stemming from virtual cameras (depth of field, lens flare, motion, etc.) have been studied in detail to improve realism but also to offer artistic control [2046, 2053]. Finally, a remote rendering system has been developed [2070].

Several projects have been conducted on the perceptual component of rendering techniques and have led to new methods offering a higher (perceived) screen resolution than the physical one [2016], and a better detail preservation [2017], as well as higher quality stereo rendering [2018].

In visualization, a new approach was proposed to explore interactively large-scale simulations based on a topology pre-analysis [1992]. Also, a new method for topological verification was able to illustrate the shortcomings of various realizations of isosurface-extraction methods that are publicly available [2031].

In computer vision, a benchmark and a visual research engine [2025] based on a new set of local descriptors and a machine-learning approach have been developed, built around a new system for interactive 2D [2026] and 3D [2085] design, to discover and create content from huge data bases. Another technique registers photos and 3D terrain models to perform automatic geo-localization, object recognition and to add annotations [2155].

15.2.5 Medical imaging

Faculty E. Angelini, I. Bloch, T. Boubekeur, J. Delon (and P. Memari since October 2011).

Main events Joint Lab with Orange Labs (WHIST), Honorable mention of the Dirk Bartz Prize for Visual Computing in Medicine [2005].

Projects ANR (FETUS, Kidpocket, IPHOT), Visiting Scientist fellowship at CSIRO (Australia), MINIARA, CIFRE PhD theses funding. Collaborations with Siemens, Philips, General Electric, Dosisoft, Fovea, Orange Labs (J. Wiart), Institut Pasteur (J.C. Olivo-Marin), ISEP (F. Rossant), U. Columbia (A. Laine), hospitals (Cochin - Saint Vincent de Paul, Bicêtre, XV-XX, Lariboisière...).

Our work on segmentation of normal and pathological brain structures is strongly related to our research in spatial reasoning (see Section 15.2.2), where anatomical knowledge is represented using structural formalisms, and used to guide the segmentation and recognition [2037, 2068] (PhD of G. Fouquier). These ideas have also been exploited in other medical applications. Analysis of longitudinal changes of brain pathologies has been an important focus of research, supported by very active collaborations with several academic and clinical sites. The project on low-grade brain tumor growth has matured [1984, 2147] and has led to the launch of a new PhD co-supervised with the Hospital Lariboisière. A new collaboration with CSIRO was launched, on the topic of longitudinal analysis of brain white matter lesions on Alzheimer patients. Quantitative longitudinal image analysis is likely to become a major field of investigation for our group, with close links being built with the University Paris Descartes, specialized in human and small animal vascular and tumoral imaging for longitudinal evaluation and identification of biomarkers.

Anatomical modeling has also benefited from great activities and new strong links between the medical imaging and the computer graphics teams (see Section 15.2.4). Several joint supervisions of PhD students, post-doctoral fellows and research engineers have led to the strengthening of this activity, focusing on the segmentation of obstetrical images in US and MRI [2148, 2150, 2149] (PhD of J. Anquez), and the design of dedicated modeling tools for the construction of pregnant women bodies from segmented medical images [1985, 1986, 2005], deformed in various positions for dosimetry simulations. In the same line, segmentation of whole body MRI children images for anatomical modeling at different ages is currently addressed [2222]. These works were carried out in close collaboration with Orange Labs, within the joint laboratory WHIST.

Vascular imaging was also an important focus of research, with a collaboration with Siemens Corporate Research (PhD of D. Lesage) and then Philips Healthcare (PhD of G. Pizaine). Stochastic, discrete and continuous methods were investigated for the segmentation of small and large vessels [2249, 2273], with various types of geometric constraints and various levels of supervision and training. A new direction of investigation focuses on the combination of geometric constraints and vessel tree labeling constraints. The long-term collaboration with Columbia University has led to the graduation of a jointly supervised PhD student working on IVUS images,

for the segmentation of coronary vessels [2239, 2240, 2241] and the joint supervision of a PhD candidate on the quantification of myocardial strain from 3DUS images. We have also continued the work on the reformulation of deformable models with Surface Function Active [2020, 2021] for real-time segmentation performance.

During this period, the MINIARA project on oncological applications was completed, with contributions on the segmentation of tumors and organs at risk, exploiting complementary information from PET and CT data (PhD of J. Wojak), and on the follow-up of patients, using constrained level sets approaches [2313]. Dedicated registration tools for protontherapy were also developed (PhD of J. Baussé).

In mammography, we focused on the analysis of tomosynthesis images and developed original filters [2071] (see Section 15.2.1), and segmentation methods, dedicated to masses, using fuzzy approaches, and spiculated lesions, using *a contrario* approaches [2151, 2269, 2267] (PhD of G. Palma).

A few years ago, a new research track was investigated in biological imaging, in collaboration with Institut Pasteur (PhD of N. Chenouard), with new results on multiple objects tracking in cluttered environment, both in 2D and in 3D [2186, 2187] (see Section 15.2.1). Regarding the activity in optical imaging, the group has launched a fruitful collaboration with Institut Pasteur and the ESPCI/Institut Langevin for the exploitation of Compressed Sensing in microscopy imaging. The Phd of M. De Moraes Marim has led to breakthrough publications introducing CS-based denoising [2255], temporal acquisition schemes and digital holography imaging [2258, 2060] for fast image sampling and efficient image reconstruction in realistic microscopy imaging setups. This work has received a best student paper award at the conference ISBI 2010 [2258]. A new PhD student is now working on the optimization of the image reconstruction process dedicated to temporal CS microscopy imaging [2246, 2247].

A close collaboration with ISEP and XV-XX hospital was launched on eye imaging, using multiple modalities. In optical coherence tomography (OCT) we proposed an original method to detect all retinal layers, using parallel deformable models, which applies in normal and pathological cases, and from which quantitative measures are derived, supporting the analysis of retinal structure variability and the early detection of alterations [2041] (PhD of I. Ghorbel). A recent technique based on adaptive optics was then exploited to detect photoreceptors and estimate their density [2252]. Finally, eye fundus images were used for the segmentation of blood vessels and their classification into arteries and veins [2078].

A new topic was recently launched within the WHIST lab, on brain-computer interfaces (BCI), for large public applications. The first contribution concerns the detection of eye movements and blinking in EEG signals, and their use as control signals for BCI tasks (PhD of Y. Yang). Optimal selection of spatial filters and of the number of electrodes is now addressed.

15.2.6 Aerial and satellite imaging

Faculty A. Almansa, M. Campedel, M. Datcu (until 2010), J. Delon, Y. Gousseau, H. Maître, J.-M. Nicolas, S. Rital, M. Roux, F. Tupin.

Projects CNES PhD theses and research projects funding, ANR EFIDIR, REI-DGA, Magellium, CIFRE Thales, Terra Numerica. Collaborations with DLR (A. Reigber), U. Parthenope II Italy (G. Ferraioli), U. Sao Paulo Brazil (T. Perciano, M. Horta), CEA (R. Binet), U. UPEMLV, IGN.

Within the TerraNumerica project (CapDigital), we extended our work on the processing of **3D point clouds** [2321]. The analysis of 3D point structures with the Hough transform associated to an entropic measure led to the detection of parallel planes and allowed the separation of building facade elements (walls, balconies, windows and doors).

Another axis was the analysis of full-waveform **lidar data** for the automatic classification of urban areas on one side and littoral scenes on the other side. This work demonstrated the

contribution of radiometric calibration features to high classification accuracies [2059, 2058] (PhD with MATIS, IGN).

Concerning the generation of **3D models from multiple images**, our focus was the construction of a low cost system allowing non-specialists to make 3D measurements with minimal set of constraints on the image acquisition [2272]. The concerned applications are related to surface roughness and dendrometric parameters measurements (PhD with UPEMLV).

In **stereovision**, recent research focused on high precision and subpixel approaches, in particular by estimating meaningful matches in order to improve disparity maps [2079, 2080].

For **SAR imagery**, research is led at different levels: at the signal level with the development of statistical models and denoising approaches, and at the region or object level, particularly for the fusion of radar and optical imagery.

At the signal level, works on the statistical modeling of SAR images based on Mellin transform have been completed with the introduction of Meijer distributions which allow the definition of a unifying framework. Concerning denoising approaches, non-local means extended to a probabilistic framework are very efficient either for amplitude images [2007], or interferometric / polarimetric data [2008] (PhD of C. Deledalle, see also Section 15.2.1). A Markovian formalism and different estimators with adapted optimization approaches define an elegant context for the fusion of multi-channel interferometric data [2036, 2082] (PhD of A. Shabou, REI project).

For pattern recognition and image interpretation, many efforts have been dedicated to the fusion of SAR and optical images (PhD of G. Lehureau, PhD of H. Sportouche) with SVM methods or with explicit object detection and likelihood optimization [2084]. Network extraction has also been investigated with Markovian approaches for SWOT images of rivers (CNES project) and for road detection in a multi-temporal and multi-sensor framework (PhD of T. Perciano). In the PhD of G. Hochard, the analysis of long temporal series on the Serre-Ponçon dam has led to a selection method for interferograms which could be applied for change detection applications.

During the EFIDIR project (ANR MDCO, 2008-2011), theoretical works have been conducted to better understand the problem of complex data interpolation and phase vortex. Concerning glacier monitoring, correlation based approaches on amplitude images have been developed with adapted similarity criteria [2033] (PhD of R. Fallourd). Man-made corner reflectors have been positioned on Argentiere glacier to serve as ground truth and help understanding the backscattering mechanisms of metric resolution images like TerraSAR-X and Cosmo-SkyMed.

The joint CNES-DLR-Télécom ParisTech Competence Center (CoC), created in June 2005, ended in June 2010. Its activities were focused on information extraction and satellite image understanding for both optical and SAR images. Numerous PhD theses have been defended since 2009 on a high variety of subjects going from low level image description [1987], classification [2055] to (semi-) supervised active learning tools [1988] and knowledge representation [2137].

Even if this project is now finished, strong collaborations with CNES⁵ are maintained on specific applicative projects (called EXITER, SAFER European project and KAL-Haïti ANR), which were initiated from 2008 to 2011, in the context of rapid mapping, or more methodological ones, for instance based on hypergraph representations [2207, 2076]. Close relationships with expert interpreters from SERTIT⁶ were also developed to better promote the competence center results related to the quick production of relevant land cover maps. SERTIT and CNES provided us with rich datasets to scientifically evaluate information extraction and classification tools and also to derive new products (as processing chains) to be used by interpreters. Hence scientific and applicative evaluations were performed exploiting platforms like KEO (ESA platform) as well as public tools like OTB (Orfeo Toolbox⁷) and GIS (Geographical Information System). Not restricted to engineering tasks, the rapid mapping application leads to research problems like: how to combine information from different images of the same scene? At different times? How to exploit different sources of information like old maps and images? How to integrate object description,

⁵http://www.cnes.fr

⁶http://sertit.u-strasbg.fr/

⁷http://orfeo-toolbox.org/otb/

semantics and reasoning in interpreters tools like GIS?

15.3 References

15.3.1 ACL: Articles in ISI-Indexed Journals

- [1981] M. Aiello, G. Bezhanishvili, I. Bloch, and V. Goranko. Logic for Physical Space from Antiquity to Present Days. *Synthese (special issue: Logic Meets Physics)*, 2011.
- [1982] C. B. Akgül, B. Sankur, Y. Yemez, and F. Schmitt. 3D model retrieval using probability density-based shape descriptors. *IEEE Pattern Analysis and Machine Intelligence*, 31(6):1117–1133, June 2009.
- [1983] C. B. Akgül, B. Sankur, Y. Yemez, and F. J. M. Schmitt. Similarity learning for 3D object retrieval using relevance feedback and risk minimization. *International Journal of Computer Vision*, 89(2-3): 392–407, Sept. 2010.
- [1984] E. D. Angelini, J. Delon, A. B. Bah, L. Capelle, and E. Mandonnet. Differential MRI analysis for quantification of low grade glioma growth medical image analysis. *Medical Image Analysis*, June 2011.
- [1985] L. Bibin, J. Anquez, E. D. Angelini, and I. Bloch. Hybrid 3D pregnant woman and fetus modeling from medical imaging for dosimetry studies. *International Journal of Computer Assisted Radiology and Surgery*, 5(1):49–56, July 2009.
- [1986] L. Bibin, J. Anquez, J. de la Plata Alcalde, T. Boubekeur, E. D. Angelini, and I. Bloch. Whole body pregnant woman modeling by digital geometry processing with detailed utero-fetal unit based on medical images. *IEEE Transactions on Biomedical Engineering*, 57(10):2346–2358, Oct. 2010.
- [1987] P. Birjandi and M. Datcu. Multiscale and dimensionality behavior of ICA components for satellite image indexing. IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters, 7(1):103–107, Jan. 2010.
- [1988] P. Blanchart and M. Datcu. A semi-supervised algorithm for auto-annotation and unknown structures discovery in satellite image databases. *IEEE JSTARS*, June 2010.
- [1989] I. Bloch. Duality vs. Adjunction for Fuzzy Mathematical Morphology and General Form of Fuzzy Erosions and Dilations. *Fuzzy Sets and Systems*, 160:1858–1867, Dec. 2009.
- [1990] I. Bloch. Lattices of fuzzy sets and bipolar fuzzy sets, and mathematical morphology. *Information Sciences*, 181:2002–2015, 2011.
- [1991] T. Boubekeur and M. Alexa. Mesh simplification by stochastic sampling and topological clustering. Computer and Graphics - Special Issue on IEEE Shape Modeling International 2009, 33(3):241–249, 2009.
- [1992] P. T. Bremer, G. Weber, J. Tierny, V. Pascucci, M. Day, and J. Bell. Interactive exploration and analysis of large scale simulations using topology-based data segmentation. *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, Feb. 2011.
- [1993] B. Buchholz, T. Boubekeur, D. DeCarlo, and M. Alexa. Binary shading using appearance and geometry. *Computer Graphics Forum Journal*, Aug. 2010.
- [1994] F. Cao, Y. Gousseau, S. Masnou, and P. Pérez. Geometrically guided exemplar-based inpainting. *SIAM Journal of Imaging Sciences*, 4(4):1143–1179, Dec. 2011.
- [1995] D. Cerra and M. Datcu. Compression-based hierarchical clustering of SAR images. Elsevier Remote Sensing Letters, May 2010.
- [1996] D. Cerra and M. Datcu. A multiresolution approach for texture classification in high resolution satellite imagery. *Italian Journal of Remote Sensing*, Feb. 2010.
- [1997] D. Cerra and M. Datcu. A fast compression-based similarity measure with applications to content-based image retrieval. *IEEE Transactions on Pattern Analysis and Machine Intelligence*, July 2010.
- [1998] D. Cerra, A. Mallet, L. Gueguen, and M. Datcu. Algorithmic information theory-based analysis of earth observation images: An assessment. *IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters*, 7(1): 13–18, Jan. 2010.
- [1999] H. Chaabouni-Chouayakh and M. Datcu. Coarse-to-fine approach for urban area interpretation using TerraSAR-X data. *IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters*, 7(1):78–81, Jan. 2010.
- [2000] H. Chaabouni-Chouayakh and M. Datcu. High resolution SAR image description by combining the PCA and the azimuth sub-band decompositions. *Transactions of Systems, Signals & Devices, an International Journal, Issues on Communication & Signal Processing*, Feb. 2010.
- [2001] S. Chambon, A. Moreno, A. Santhanam, J. Rolland, and I. Bloch. Mario: Modélisation de l'anatomie normale et pathologique pour le recalage non linéaire entre images TDM et TEP en oncologie. *Traitement du Signal*, 2011.

- [2002] C. Crassin, F. Neyret, M. Sainz, S. Green, and E. Eisemann. Interactive indirect illumination using voxel cone tracing. Computer Graphics Forum (Proc. of Pacific Graphics), 2011.
- [2003] M. Datcu, C. Cucu-Dumitrescu, F. Serban, and M. Buican. Data mining using PRDC technique. Romanian Astronomical Journal, 19(1):63–79, Jan. 2009.
- [2004] M. Datcu, R. King, and S. D'Elia. Introduction to the special issue on image information mining: Pursuing automation of geospatial intelligence for environment and security. *IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters*, 7(1):3–7, Jan. 2010.
- [2005] J. de la Plata Alcalde, J. Anquez, L. Bibin, T. Boubekeur, E. D. Angelini, and I. Bloch. Femonum: A framework for whole body pregnant woman modeling from ante-natal imaging data. Eurographics Medical Prize Awards (Honorable Mention of the Dirk Bartz Prize for Visual Computing in Medicine 2011), Medical Prize, Feb. 2011.
- [2006] M. Delbracio, P. Musé, A. Almansa, and J.-M. Morel. The non-parametric sub-pixel local point spread function estimation is a well posed problem. *International Journal of Computer Vision*, Sept. 2011.
- [2007] C.-A. Deledalle, L. Denis, and F. Tupin. Iterative weighted maximum likelihood denoising with probabilistic patch-based weights. IEEE Transactions on Image Processing, 18(12), Dec. 2009.
- [2008] C.-A. Deledalle, L. Denis, and F. Tupin. NL-InSAR: Nonlocal interferogram estimation. *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing*, PP(99), Mar. 2011.
- [2009] C.-A. Deledalle, V. Duval, and J. Salmon. Non-local methods with shape-adaptive patches (NLM-SAP). Journal of Mathematical Imaging and Vision, pages 1–18, May 2011.
- [2010] J. Delon and A. Desolneux. Stabilization of flicker-like effects in image sequences through local contrast correction. SIAM Journal of Imaging Sciences, 3(4):703–734, Oct. 2010.
- [2011] J. Delon, J. Salomon, and A. Sobolevskii. Local matching indicators for concave transport costs. Comptes Rendus Mathématiques Académie Sciences Paris, 348(2):901–905, May 2010.
- [2012] J. Delon, A. Sobolevskii, and J. Salomon. Fast transport optimization for monge costs on the circle. SIAM Journal on Applied Mathematics, 70(7):2239–2258, Apr. 2010.
- [2013] L. Denis, F. Tupin, J. Darbon, and M. Sigelle. SAR Image Regularization with Fast Approximate Discrete Minimization. IEEE Transactions on Image Processing, 18(7):1588–1600, 2009.
- [2014] L. Denis, F. Tupin, J. Darbon, and M. Sigelle. Joint Regularization of Phase and Amplitude of InSAR Data: Application to 3D reconstruction. *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing*, 47 (11):3774 3785, Nov. 2009.
- [2015] L. Denis, F. Tupin, J. Darbon, and M. Sigelle. Filtrage conjoint de la phase interférométrique et de l'amplitude en imagerie radar par champs de Markov et coupes minimales. *Traitement du Signal*, 2009.
- [2016] P. Didyk, E. Eisemann, T. Ritschel, K. Myszkowski, and H.-P. Seidel. Apparent display resolution enhancement for moving images. ACM Transactions on Graphics (Proceedings of SIGGRAPH), Dec. 2010.
- [2017] P. Didyk, E. Eisemann, T. Ritschel, K. Myszkowski, and H.-P. Seidel. Perceptually-motivated real-time temporal upsampling of 3D content for high-refresh-rate displays. *Computer Graphics Forum (Proc. of Eurographics)*, Dec. 2010.
- [2018] P. Didyk, T. Ritschel, E. Eisemann, K. Myszkowski, and H.-P. Seidel. A perceptual model for disparity. *ACM Transactions on Graphics (Proc. of SIGGRAPH)*, 4(30), 2011.
- [2019] Q. Duan, E. D. Angelini, S. L. Herz, C. M. Ingrassia, K. D. Costa, J. W. Holmes, S. Homma, and A. F. Laine. Region-based endocardium tracking on real-time three-dimensional ultrasound. *Ultrasound in Medicine and Biology*, 35(2):256–265, Feb. 2009.
- [2020] Q. Duan, E. D. Angelini, and A. F. Laine. Real-time segmentation by active geometric functions. *Computer Methods and Programs in Biomedicine*, 98(3):223–230, Oct. 2010.
- [2021] Q. Duan, E. D. Angelini, and A. F. Laine. Surface functions active. *Journal of Visual Communication and Image Representation*, 20(7):478–490, 2010.
- [2022] V. Duval, J.-F. Aujol, and Y. Gousseau. The TVL1 model: a geometric point of view. *SIAM Multiscale Modeling and Simulation*, 8(1):154–189, 2009.
- [2023] V. Duval, J.-F. Aujol, and Y. Gousseau. A bias-varance approach for the non-local means. *SIAM Journal on Imaging Sciences*, 4(2):760–788, 2011.
- [2024] M. Eitz, K. Hildebrand, T. Boubekeur, and M. Alexa. An evaluation of descriptors for large-scale image retrieval from sketched feature lines. Computer & Graphics Journal, July 2010.
- [2025] M. Eitz, K. Hildebrand, T. Boubekeur, and M. Alexa. Sketch-based image retrieval: Benchmark and bag-of-features descriptors. *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, 17(11): 1624 – 1636, Nov. 2011.
- [2026] M. Eitz, R. Ronald, K. Hildebrand, T. Boubekeur, and M. Alexa. Photosketcher: Interactive sketch-

- based image synthesis. IEEE Computer Graphics and Applications, 31(6):56-66, Dec. 2011.
- [2027] R. El-Berbari, I. Bloch, N. Kachenoura, E. Mousseaux, A. Herment, and F. Frouin. Quantification automatisée de la transmuralité de l'infarctus du myocarde sur des images de rehaussement tardif en IRM. *Ingénierie et Recherche Biomédicale*, 30:184–187, Oct. 2009.
- [2028] R. El-Berbari, N. Kachenoura, A. Redheuil, A. Giron, E. Mousseaux, A. Herment, I. Bloch, and F. Frouin. An automated estimation of regional mean transition times and radial velocities from cine magnetic resonance images. Evaluation in normal subjects. *Journal of Magnetic Resonance Imaging*, 30:236–242, 2009.
- [2029] E. Erdem, S. Dubuisson, and I. Bloch. Visual tracking by fusing multiple cues with context-sensitive reliabilities. *Pattern Recognition*, 45:1948–1959, Jan. 2012.
- [2030] D. Espinoza-Molina, D. Gleich, and M. Datcu. Gibbs random field models for model-based despeck-ling of SAR images. *IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters*, 7(1):73–77, Jan. 2010.
- [2031] T. Etiene, L. N. Gustavo, C. Scheidegger, J. Tierny, T. Peters, V. Pascucci, M. Kirby, and C. Silva. Topology verification for isosurface extraction. *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, Feb. 2011.
- [2032] G. Facciolo, A. Almansa, J. F. Aujol, and V. Caselles. Irregular to regular sampling, denoising and deconvolution. *SIAM Multiscale Modelling and Simulation*, 7(4):1574–1608, Apr. 2009.
- [2033] R. Fallourd, O. Harant, E. Trouvé, J. M. Nicolas, M. Gay, A. Walpersdorf, L. Bombrun, G. Vasile, N. Cotte, F. Vernier, F. Tupin, L. Moreau, and P. Bolon. Monitoring temperate glacier displacement by multi-temporal TerraSAR-X images and continuous GPS measurements. *IEEE Journal Of Selected Topics In Applied Earth Observations And Remote Sensing*, 4(2):372–386, June 2011.
- [2034] D. Faur, I. Gavat, and M. Datcu. Salient remote sensing image segmentation based on rate-distortion measure. *IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters*, 6(4):855–859, Oct. 2009.
- [2035] M. Ferecatu and D. Geman. A statistical framework for image category search from a mental picture. IEEE Transactions on Pattern Analysis and Machine Intelligence, 31(6):1087–1101, June 2009.
- [2036] G. Ferraioli, A. Shabou, F. Tupin, and V. Pascazio. Multichannel phase unwrapping with graph-cuts. *Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters*, 6(3):562 566, May 2009.
- [2037] G. Fouquier, J. Atif, and I. Bloch. Sequential model-based segmentation and recognition of image structures driven by visual features and spatial relations. *Computer Vision and Image Understanding*, 116(1):146–165, Jan. 2012.
- [2038] B. Galerne and Y. Gousseau. The transparent dead leaves process. Advanced Applied Probability, Sept. 2011.
- [2039] B. Galerne, Y. Gousseau, and J.-M. Morel. Random phase textures: theory and synthesis. *IEEE Transactions on Image Processing*, 20(1):257–267, May 2011.
- [2040] F. Galland, J. M. Nicolas, H. Sportouche, M. Roche, F. Tupin, and P. Réfrégier. Unsupervised Synthetic Aperture Radar image partitioning using Fisher distributions. *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing*, 47(8), Aug. 2009.
- [2041] I. Ghorbel, F. Rossant, I. Bloch, S. Tick, and M. Pâques. Automated Segmentation of Macular Layers in OCT Images and Quantitative Evaluation of Performances. *Pattern Recognition*, 44(8): 1590–1603, 2011.
- [2042] D. Gleich and M. Datcu. Wavelet-based SAR image despeckling and information extraction using particle filter. *IEEE Transactions on Image Processing*, 18(10):2167–2184, Oct. 2009.
- [2043] D. Gleich, M. Kseneman, and M. Datcu. Despeckling of TerraSAR-X data using second-generation wavelets. IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters, 7(1):68–72, Jan. 2010.
- [2044] I. M. Gomez Munoz and M. Datcu. System design considerations for image information mining in large archives. *IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters*, 7(1):13–18, Jan. 2010.
- [2045] M. Holländer, T. Ritschel, E. Eisemann, and T. Boubekeur. Manylods: Parallel many-view level-of-detail selection for real-timeglobal illumination. Computer Graphics Forum (Proc. of EGSR), 2011.
- [2046] M. Hullin, E. Eisemann, H.-P. Seidel, and S. Lee. Physically-based real-time lens flare rendering. *ACM Trans. Graph. (Proc. of SIGGRAPH)*, 4(30):108:1–108:9, 2011.
- [2047] T. Hurtut, Y. Gousseau, F. J. M. Schmitt, and F. Cheriet. Pictorial content analysis of line-drawings using geometrical shape information. ACM Journal on Computing and Cultural Heritage, 4(1):1–23, Aug. 2011.
- [2048] T. Ius, E. D. Angelini, M. Thiebaut de Schotten, E. Mandonnet, and H. Duffau. Evidence for potentials and limitations of brain plasticity using an atlas of functional resectability of WHO grade II gliomas: towards a minimal common brain. *Neuroimage*, 56(3):992–1000, June 2011.
- [2049] S. Jansen, M. Sunkel, M. Wand, E. Eisemann, and H.-P. Seidel. Learning line features in 3D geometry. *Computer Graphics Forum (Proc. Eurographics)*, 30(2), 2011.

- [2050] H. Khotanlou, O. Colliot, J. Atif, and I. Bloch. 3D Brain Tumor Segmentation in MRI Using Fuzzy Classification, Symmetry Analysis and Spatially Constrained Deformable Models. Fuzzy Sets and Systems, 160:1457–1473, 2009.
- [2051] S. Ladjal, J.-F. Aujol, and S. Masnou. Exemplar-based inpainting from a variational point of view. SIAM Journal on Mathematical Analysis, 42(3):1246–1285, Jan. 2010.
- [2052] S. Lee, E. Eisemann, and H.-P. Seidel. Depth-of-field rendering with multiview synthesis. ACM Transactions on Graphics (Proceedings of SIGGRAPH Asia), Dec. 2009.
- [2053] S. Lee, E. Eisemann, and H.-P. Seidel. Real-time lens blur effects and focus control. *ACM Transactions on Graphics (Proceedings of SIGGRAPH)*, Dec. 2010.
- [2054] D. Lesage, E. D. Angelini, G. Funka-Lea, and I. Bloch. A review of 3D vessel lumen segmentation techniques: Models, features and extraction schemes. *Medical Image Analysis*, 13:819–845, 2009.
- [2055] M. Lienou, M. Datcu, and H. Maître. Semantic annotation of satellite images using latent Dirichlet allocation. IEEE Geosciences and Remote Sensing Letters, 7(1):28–32, Jan. 2010.
- [2056] P. Lopez Quiroz, M. P. Doin, F. Tupin, P. Briole, and J. M. Nicolas. Time series analysis of Mexico city subsidence constrained by radar interferometry. *Journal of Applied Geophysics*, 2009.
- [2057] B. Luo, J. F. Aujol, and Y. Gousseau. Local scale measure from the topographic map and application to remote sensing images. *SIAM Multiscale Modeling and Simulation*, 8(1):1–29, 2009.
- [2058] C. Mallet, F. Lafarge, M. Roux, U. Soergel, F. Bretar, and C. Heipke. A marked point process for modeling lidar waveforms. *IEEE Transactions on Image Processing*, 19(12):3204–3221, Dec. 2010.
- [2059] C. Mallet, F. Bretar, M. Roux, U. Soergel, and C. Heipke. Relevance assessment of full-waveform lidar data for urban area classification. ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing, Oct. 2011.
- [2060] M. Marim, M. Atlan, E. D. Angelini, and J.-C. Olivo-Marin. Compressed sensing with off-axis frequency-shifting holography. Optics Letters, 35(6):871–873, Mar. 2010.
- [2061] M. Marim, M. Atlan, E. D. Angelini, and J.-C. Olivo-Marin. Off-axis compressed holography in low light conditions. Optics Letter, 36(1):79–81, Dec. 2011.
- [2062] B. Marouan and S. Ladjal. Toward optimal destriping of modis data using a unidirectional variational model. *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing*, 49(8):2924–2935, Aug. 2011.
- [2063] N. Milisavljevic and I. Bloch. How can dara fusion help humanitarian mine action? *International Journal of Image and Data Fusion*, 1(2):177–191, June 2010.
- [2064] C. Millet, I. Bloch, P. Hède, and P. A. Moellic. Automatic cleaning and segmentation of web images based on colors to build learning databases. *Image and Vision Computing*, 28:317–328, July 2010.
- [2065] J. M. Munoz-Ferreras and M. Datcu. A generalisation of ISAR autofocusing methods based on the minimisation of the Renyi entropy. *IET Radar, Sonar & Navigation*, May 2010.
- [2066] T. Napoléon and H. Sahbi. From 2D silhouettes to 3D object retrieval: Contributions and benchmarking. The EURASIP Journal on Image and Video Processing, Oct. 2010.
- [2067] O. Nempont, J. Atif, E. Angelini, and I. Bloch. A New Fuzzy Connectivity Measure for Fuzzy Sets and Associated Fuzzy Attribute Openings. *Journal of Mathematical Imaging and Vision*, 34:107–136, 2009.
- [2068] O. Nempont, J. Atif, E. D. Angelini, and I. Bloch. Propagation de contraintes pour la segmentation et la reconnaissance de structures anatomiques à partir d'un modèle structurel. *Information Interaction Intelligence (I3)*, 10(1), Dec. 2010.
- [2069] A. Noma, A. B. V. Graciano, R. M. Cesar, L. A. Consularo, and I. Bloch. Interactive image segmentation by matching attributed relational graphs. *Pattern Recognition*, 45:1159–1179, Nov. 2011.
- [2070] D. Pajak, R. Herzog, E. Eisemann, K. Myszkowski, and H.-P. Seidel. Scalable remote rendering with depth and motion-flow augmented streaming. Computer Graphics Forum (Proc. of Eurographics), 30(2), July 2011.
- [2071] G. Palma, I. Bloch, and S. Muller. Fast Fuzzy Connected Filter Implementation Using Max-Tree Updates. *Fuzzy Sets and Systems*, 161(1):118–146, Jan. 2010.
- [2072] J. Rabin, J. Delon, and Y. Gousseau. A statistical approach to the matching of local features. SIAM Journal of Imaging Sciences, 2(3):931–958, Oct. 2009.
- [2073] J. Rabin, J. Delon, and Y. Gousseau. Removing artefacts from color and contrast modification. IEEE Transactions on Image Processing, 20(11):3073–3085, Dec. 2011.
- [2074] J. Rabin, J. Delon, and Y. Gousseau. Transportation distances on the circle. *Journal of Mathematical Imaging and Vision*, 41(1):147–167, Dec. 2011.
- [2075] S. Raffaele, E. Bayer, D. Lafarge, S. Cluzet, S. German Retana, T. Boubekeur, N. Leborgne-Castel, J.-P. Carde, J. Lherminier, E. Noirot, B. Satiat-Jeunemaitre, J. Laroche-Traineau, P. Moreau, T. Ott, A. J. Maule, P. Reymond, F. Simon-Plas, E. E. Farmer, J.-J. Bessoule, and S. Mongrand. Remorin,

- a solanaceae protein resident in membrane rafts and plasmodesmata, impairs potato virus x movement. *Plant Cell*, Sept. 2009.
- [2076] S. Rital. Hypergraph cuts & unsupervised representation for image segmentation. *Fundamenta Informaticae*, 96:1–27, Oct. 2009.
- [2077] T. Ritschel, E. Eisemann, I. Ha, J. D. K. Kim, and H.-P. Seidel. Making imperfect shadow maps view-adaptive: High-quality global illuminationin large dynamic scenes. *Computer Graphics Forum* (presented at EGSR 2011), July 2011.
- [2078] F. Rossant, M. Badellino, A. Chavillon, I. Bloch, and M. Pâques. A morphological approach for vessel segmentation in eye fundus images, with quantitative evaluation. *Journal of Medical Imaging and Health Informatics*, 1(1):42–49, 2011.
- [2079] N. Sabater, A. Almansa, and J.-M. Morel. Meaningful matches in stereovision. IEEE Transactions on Pattern Analysis and Machine Intelligence, 99(Preprints):1–12, Oct. 2011.
- [2080] N. Sabater, J.-M. Morel, and A. Almansa. How accurate can block matches be in stereo vision? SIAM Journal on Imaging Sciences, 4(1):472–500, Mar. 2011.
- [2081] H. Sahbi, J.-Y. Audibert, and R. Keriven. Context-dependent kernels for object classification. IEEE Transactions on Pattern Analysis and Machine Intelligence (PAMI), 4(33):699–708, Apr. 2011.
- [2082] A. Shabou, F. Tupin, and J. Darbon. A Markovian Approach for InSAR Phase Reconstruction with Mixed Discrete and Continuous Optimization. *IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters*, 3(8): 527 – 531, 2011.
- [2083] M. Soccorsi, D. Gleich, and M. Datcu. Huber-Markov model for complex SAR image restoration. *IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters*, 7(1):63–67, Jan. 2010.
- [2084] H. Sportouche, F. Tupin, and L. Denise. Extraction and 3D Reconstruction of Isolated Buildings in Urban Scenes from High-Resolution Optical and SAR Spaceborne Images. *IEEE Transactions on Geoscience and Remote Sensing*, Oct. 2011.
- [2085] K. Takayama, R. Schmidt, K. Singh, T. Igarashi, T. Boubekeur, and O. Sorkine. Geobrush: Interactive mesh geometry cloning. Computer Graphics Forum - Eurographics, 30(2):613–622, Apr. 2011.
- [2086] C. M. Takemura, R. M. Cesar, and I. Bloch. Modeling and measuring the spatial relation "along": regions, contours and fuzzy sets. *Pattern Recognition*, 45:757–766, Oct. 2011.
- [2087] M. Tepper, P. Musé, A. Almansa, and M. Mejail. Automatically finding clusters in normalized cuts. *Pattern Recognition*, 44(7):1372–1386, July 2011.
- [2088] J. Tierny, J. Daniels, L. G. Nonato, V. Pascucci, and C. Silva. Inspired quadrangulation. *Computer Aided Design*, 43(11):1516–1526, Nov. 2011.
- [2089] J. Tierny, J. Daniels, L. G. Nonato, V. Pascucci, and C. Silva. Interactive quadrangulation with Reeb atlases and connectivity textures. *IEEE Transactions on Visualization and Computer Graphics*, Feb. 2011.
- [2090] Y. Wang, C. Han, and F. Tupin. PolSAR data segmentation by combining tensor space cluster analysis and Markovian framework. *IEEE Geoscience and Remote Sensing Letters*, 7(1):210 – 214, Jan. 2010.
- [2091] Y. Wang, F. Tupin, and C. Han. Building detection from high-resolution PolSAR data at the rectangle level by combining region and edge information. *Pattern Recognition Letters*, July 2010.
- [2092] N. Widynski, S. Dubuisson, and I. Bloch. Integration of fuzzy spatial information in tracking based on particle filtering. *IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man and Cybernetics SMCB*, 41(3):635–649, June 2011.
- [2093] G.-S. Xia, J. Delon, and Y. Gousseau. Shape-based invariant texture indexing. *International Journal of Computer Vision*, 88(3):382–403, July 2010.
- [2094] L. Xu, M. He, and M. Roux. Multifocus image fusion based on redundant wavelet transform. IET image processing, 4(4):283–293, Aug. 2010.
- [2095] W. Yang, D.-X. Dai, B. Tiggs, and G.-S. Xia. Scene segmentation via low-dimensional semantic representation and CRFs. EURASIP Journal on Advances in Signal Processing, 2010:14, Nov. 2010.
- [2096] W. Yang, D.-X. Dai, C. Lijun, and G.-S. Xia. Semantic labeling of SAR images with CRFs on region adjacency graph. IET Radar, Sonar and Navigation, 5(8):835–841, Nov. 2011.

15.3.2 THE: Theses

[2097] E. Aldea. Apprentissage de données structuées pour l'interprétation d'images. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Jan. 2009.

- [2098] J. Anquez. Modélisation de la femme enceinte à partir d'images 3D ultrasonores et IRM anténatales, pour l'étude de la dosimétrie. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, 2009.
- [2099] S. Audière. *Traitement du Signal et Simulations pour l'Elastographie Impulsionnelle*. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Dec. 2011.
- [2100] J. Baussé. Recalage et planification du traitement en radiothérapie et protonthérapie. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Oct. 2010.
- [2101] P. Birjandi. Modelling, Extraction and Description of Intrinsic Cues of High Resolution Satellite Images: Independent Component Analysis based approaches. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Sept. 2011.
- [2102] P. Blanchart. Fast learning methods adapted to the user specificities: application to earth observation image information mining. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Sept. 2011.
- [2103] J. B. Bordes. Inférence de connaissances sémantiques: application aux images satellitaires. PhD thesis, Ecole Nationale Supérieure des Télécommunications, Apr. 2009.
- [2104] M. Bouali. Destriping data from multidetector imaging spectrometers: a study on the MODIS instrument. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, June 2011.
- [2105] M. Brédif. Modélisation 3D de bâtiments: reconstruction automatique de superstructures de toits et recalage cinétique de toits polyédriques prenant en compte la topologie. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, May 2010.
- [2106] E. Bughin. Vers une vectorisation automatique, précise et validée en stéréoscopie satellitaire en milieu urbain. PhD thesis, ENS Cachan, Oct. 2011.
- [2107] D. Cerra. Pattern-oriented algorithmic complexity: towards compression-based information retrieval. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, May 2010.
- [2108] H. Chaabouni-Chouayakh. Multi-Layer Interpretation of High Resolution SAR Images. PhD thesis, Telecom ParisTech & DLR, June 2009.
- [2109] N. Chenouard. Advances in probabilistic particle tracking for biological imaging. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Jan. 2010.
- [2110] D. Craciun. *Image-laser fusion for 3D modeling of complex environments*. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, July 2010.
- [2111] C.-A. Deledalle. Débruitage d'images au-delà du bruit additif gaussien Estimateurs à patchs et leur application à l'imagerie SAR. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Nov. 2011.
- [2112] V. Duval. Méthodes variationnelles et non locales en traitement d'images : une étude géométrique. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, June 2011.
- [2113] R. El-Berbari. Segmentation d'images de contractions et de rehaussement tardif en IRM cardiaque. Application à l'étude de la fonction contractile et la viabilité myocardique. PhD thesis, Ecole Nationale Supérieure des Télécommunications, Jan. 2009.
- [2114] G. Facciolo. *Irregularly sampled image restoration and interpolation*. PhD thesis, Université Pompeu Fabra, Espagne, Mar. 2011.
- [2115] G. Fouquier. Optimisation de séquences de segmentation combinant modèle structurel et focalisation de l'attention visuelle. Application à la reconnaissance de structures cérébrales dans des images 3D. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Feb. 2010.
- [2116] B. Galerne. *Modèles d'image aléatoires et synthèse de texture*. PhD thesis, ENS Cachan, Dec. 2010.
- [2117] A. Ghaleb. Analyse de l'effet micro-Doppler de cibles mobiles en imagerie radar. PhD thesis, Ecole Nationale Supérieure des Télécommunications, Feb. 2009.
- [2118] G. Hochard. *Détection de changements en imagerie radar cohérente*. PhD thesis, Télécom Paris-Tech, Mar. 2011.
- [2119] C. Le Men. Segmentation spatio-temporelle d'une séquence temporelle d'images satellitaires à haute résolution. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, 2009.
- [2120] G. Lehureau. Fusion de données optique et radar à haute résolution en milieu urbain. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Apr. 2010.
- [2121] D. Lesage. Models, Features and Extraction Schemes for Vascular Segmentation: Application to the delineation of Coronary Arteries from 3D Computed Tomography Data. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Mar. 2009.
- [2122] M. Lienou. Apprentissage automatique de la production des cartes d'occupation du sol et représentation en mots visuels des images satellitaires. PhD thesis, Ecole Nationale Supérieure des Télécommunications, Mar. 2009.
- [2123] C. Mallet. Analyse de données lidar à retour d'onde complète pour la classification en milieux urbains. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Nov. 2010.

- [2124] M. Marim. Imagerie Compressée pour la Microscopie Biologique. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Apr. 2011.
- [2125] F. Mosca. *Synthèse d'émission spatio-temporelle pour l'imagerie acoustique.* PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Oct. 2010.
- [2126] T. Napoléon. Indexation multi-vues et recherche d'objets 3D. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, July 2010.
- [2127] O. Nempont. Modèles structurels flous et propagation de contraintes pour la segmentation et la reconnaissance d'objets dans les images. Application aux structures normales et pathologiques du cerveau en IRM. PhD thesis, Ecole Nationale Supérieure des Télécommunications, Mar. 2009.
- [2128] G. Palma. Détection automatique des opacités et distorsions architecturales en tomosynthèse du sein. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Feb. 2010.
- [2129] X. Perrotton. *Détection automatique d'objets dans des images numériques application aux images aériennes.* PhD thesis, Ecole Nationale Supérieure des Télécommunications, Jan. 2009.
- [2130] B. Petitpas. Extraction de paramètres bio-geo-physiques de surfaces 3D reconstruites par multistéréo-restitution d'images prises sans contraintes. PhD thesis, Université Marne la Vallée, Dec. 2011.
- [2131] J. Rabin. Approches robustes pour la comparaison d'images et la mise en correspondance d'objets. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Dec. 2009.
- [2132] N. Sabater. Reliability and accuracy in stereovision Application to aerial and satellite high resolution images. PhD thesis, CMLA ENS Cachan, Dec. 2009.
- [2133] A. Shabou. Minimisation multi-étiquette d'énergies markoviennes par coupe-minimum sur graphe : application à la reconstruction de la phase interférométrique en imagerie RSO. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Nov. 2010.
- [2134] H. Soubaras. Probabilistic and non-probabilistic measures of risk in Markov-type systems for planning under uncertainty. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Jan. 2011.
- [2135] H. Sportouche. Extraction et reconstruction des bâtiments en milieu urbain à partir d'images satellitaires optiques et radar à haute résolution. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Dec. 2010.
- [2136] M. Tepper. *Detecting clusters and boundaries: a twofold study on shape representation.* PhD thesis, université de Buenos Aires, Argentine, Mar. 2011.
- [2137] C. Vanegas. Spatial relations and spatial reasoning for the interpretation of earth observation images using a structural model. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Jan. 2011.
- [2138] N. Widynski. Intégration d'informations spatiales floues dans un filtre particulaire pour le suivi monoet multi-objets dans des séquences d'images 2D. PhD thesis, UPMC, Nov. 2010.
- [2139] J. Wojak. Analyse d'images multi-modales TEP-TDM du thorax. Application à l'oncologie : segmentation de tumeurs, d'organes à risque et suivi longitudinal pour la radiothérapie. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Dec. 2010.
- [2140] G.-S. Xia. *Méthodes géométriques pour l'analyse d'images et de textures*. PhD thesis, Télécom ParisTech, Mar. 2011.

15.3.3 HDR: HDR Theses

- [2141] E. D. Angelini. Modèles géométriques, formulations de contraintes, extraction d'informations pour la segmentation d'images méédicales saines et pathologiques. Technical report, Université de Nice -Sophia-Antipolis, Jan. 2011.
- [2142] J. Delon. Transport optimal et modélisations invariantes pour le traitement et l'analyse d'images. Technical report, ENS Cachan, Nov. 2011.
- [2143] Y. Gousseau. Texture, échelles et géométrie dans les images naturelles. Technical report, ENS Cachan, Oct. 2009.
- [2144] H. Sahbi. Apprentissage automatique pour la reconnaissance et la recherche d'images. Technical report, UPMC, Apr. 2011.

15.3.4 ACTI: Articles in Proceedings of International Conferences

- [2145] E. Aldea and I. Bloch. Vers une utilisation améliorée de relations spatiales pour l'apprentissage de données dans les modèles graphiques. In *Extraction et Gestion des Connaissances EGC'2009*, pages 271–282, Strasbourg, France, Jan. 2009.
- [2146] A. Almansa, C. Julien, and S. Durand. Deblurring of irregularly sampled images by tv regularization in a spline space. In *IEEE ICIP 2010*, pages 1181–1184, Hong Kong, Sept. 2011.

- [2147] E. D. Angelini, J. Delon, L. Capelle, and E. Mandonnet. Contrast mapping and statistical testing for low-grade glioma growth quantification on brain mri. In *International Symposium on Biomedical Imaging*, pages 872–875, Rotterdam, The Netherlands, Apr. 2010. IEEE.
- [2148] J. Anquez, E. Angelini, and I. Bloch. Automatic Segmentation of Head Structures on Fetal MRI. In IEEE International Symposium on Biomedical Imaging (ISBI), pages 109–112, Boston, USA, June 2009.
- [2149] J. Anquez, T. Boubekeur, L. Bibin, E. D. Angelini, and I. Bloch. Utero-fetal unit and pregnant woman modeling using a computer graphics approach for dosimetry studies. In *MICCAI*, volume LNCS 5761, pages 1025–1032, London, UK, Sept. 2009.
- [2150] J. Anquez, L. Bibin, E. D. Angelini, and I. Bloch. Segmentation of the fetal envelope on ante-natal MRI. In *IEEE International Symposium on Biomedical Imaging (ISBI)*, pages 896–899, Rotterdam, The Netherlands, Apr. 2010.
- [2151] L. Apffel, G. Palma, I. Bloch, and S. Muller. Fuzzy segmentation of masses in digital breast tomosynthesis images based on dynamic programming. In *IMAGAPP*, pages 7–13, Angers, France, May 2010.
- [2152] J. Atif, C. Hudelot, and I. Bloch. Abduction in description logics using formal concept analysis and mathematical morphology: application to image interpretation. In 8th International Conference on Concept Lattices and Their Applications (CLA2011), pages 405–408, Nancy, Paris, Oct. 2011.
- [2153] J. Atif, C. Hudelot, and I. Bloch. Abduction dans les logiques de description: apport de l'analyse formelle de concepts et de la morphologie mathématique. In *Représentation et Raisonnement sur le Temps et l'Espace (Atelier RTE 2011)*, Chambery, France, May 2011.
- [2154] S. Audiere, E. D. Angelini, M. Véronique, and M. Charbit. Evaluation of in vivo liver tissue characterization with spectral rf analysis versus elasticity. In *MICCAI*, volume LNCS 6891, pages 387–395, Toronto, Canada, Sept. 2011.
- [2155] L. Baboud, M. Cadik, E. Eisemann, and H.-P. Seidel. Automatic photo-to-terrain alignment for the annotation of mountain pictures. In *IEEE Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition (CVPR)*, oral presentation, 2011.
- [2156] H. Bezerra, E. Eisemann, D. DeCarlo, and J. Thollot. Diffusion constraints for vector graphics. In *NPAR*, Dec. 2010.
- [2157] L. Bibin, J. Anquez, E. Angelini, and I. Bloch. Hybrid 3D Modeling of Mother and Fetus from Medical Imaging for Dosimetry Studies. In CARS 2009 Computer Assisted Radiology and Surgery, pages 378–379, Berlin, Germany, June 2009.
- [2158] L. Bibin, J. Anquez, A. Hadjem, E. D. Angelini, J. Wiart, and I. Bloch. Dosimetry studies on a fetus model combining medical image information and synthetic woman body. In *11th World Congress on Medical Physics and Biomedical Engineering*, volume 25/III, pages 321–324, Munich, Germany, Sept. 2009.
- [2159] L. Bin, J. F. Aujol, and Y. Gousseau. Local scale measure in remote sensing images. In 2nd International Conference on Scale Space and Variational Methods in Computer Vision, pages 856–867, June 2009.
- [2160] P. Birjandi and M. Datcu. Bag of words model using ica components for high resolution satellite image characterization. In SPIE, volume 7477, Berlin, germany, Aug. 2009. SPIE.
- [2161] I. Bloch. Fuzzy and Bipolar Mathematical Morphology, Applications in Spatial Reasoning. In Symbolic and Quantitative Approaches to Reasoning with Uncertainty ECSQARU, volume LNAI 5590, pages 1–13, Verona, Italy, 2009.
- [2162] I. Bloch. Bipolar Fuzzy Mathematical Morphology for Spatial Reasoning. In *International Symposium on Mathematical Morphology ISMM'09*, volume LNCS 5720, pages 24–34, Groningen, Netherlands, Aug. 2009.
- [2163] I. Bloch. Morphologie mathématique floue bipolaire pour l'ordre lexicographique. In *LFA 2009*, pages 209–216, Annecy, France, 2009.
- [2164] I. Bloch. Geometry of Spatial Bipolar Fuzzy Sets based on Bipolar Fuzzy Numbers and Mathematical Morphology. In *International Workshop on Fuzzy Logic and Applications WILF*, volume LNAI 5571, pages 237–245, Palermo, Italy, June 2009.
- [2165] I. Bloch. Mathematical morphology, lattices, and formal concept analysis. In 8th International Conference on Concept Lattices and Their Applications (CLA 2011) Invited conference, page 1, Nancy, France, Oct. 2011.
- [2166] I. Bloch. Fuzzy bipolar mathematical morphology: A general algrebraic setting. In 10th International Symposium on Mathematical Morphology - ISMM 2011, volume LNCS 6671, pages 13–24, Intra, Lake Maggiore, Italy, July 2011.

- [2167] I. Bloch and A. Bretto. Mathematical morphology on hypergraphs: Preliminary definitions and results. In *Discrete Geometry for Computer Imagery (DGCI 2011)*, volume LNCS 6607, pages 429–440, Nancy, France, Apr. 2011.
- [2168] N. Bonnier, A. Lindner, F. Schmitt, and C. Leynadier. Compensation of printer MTFs. In SPIE Color Imaging XIV: Displaying, Hardcopy, Processing, and Applications, San Jose, California, USA, 2009.
- [2169] T. Boubekeur. A view-dependent adaptivity metric for real-time mesh tessellation. In *IEEE International Conference on Image Processing (ICIP)*, pages 3969 3972, Sept. 2010.
- [2170] N. Bourdis, D. Marraud, and H. Sahbi. Constrained optical flow for aerial image change detection. In *In International Geo-science and Remote Sensing Symposium (IGARSS)*, July 2011.
- [2171] A. Bretto, A. Ducournau, and B. Laget. A hypergraph reduction algorithm for joint segmentation and classification of satellite image content. In 15th Iberoamerican Congress on Pattern Recognition, Oct. 2010.
- [2172] A. Bretto, A. Ducournau, B. Laget, and S. Rital. Hypergraph coarsening for image superpixelization. In *International Symposium on I/V Communications and Mobile Networks*, Rabat, Maroc, Oct. 2010.
- [2173] A. Bretto, A. Ducournau, and S. Rital. A hypergraph-based image database clustering framework. In *International Symposium on I/V Communications and Mobile Networks*, Rabat, Maroc, Oct. 2010.
- [2174] A. Buades, J. Delon, Y. Gousseau, and S. Masnou. Adaptive blotches detection for film restoration. In *International Conference on Image Processing (ICIP) 2010*, pages 3317 – 3320, Hong-Kong, Sept. 2010.
- [2175] B. Buchholz, T. Boubekeur, U. Assarsson, S. Paris, N. Faraj, and E. Eisemann. Parameterizing animated lines for stylized rendering. In *Technical Talk at SIGGRAPH*, July 2011.
- [2176] B. Buchholz, N. Faraj, S. Paris, E. Eisemann, and T. Boubekeur. Spatio-temporal analysis for parameterizing animated lines. In *International Symposium on Non-Photorealistic Animation and Rendering (NPAR)*, July 2011.
- [2177] E. Bughin, A. Almansa, R. Grompone, and T. Yoan. Fast plane detection in disparity maps. In *IEEE ICIP 2010*, pages 2961 2964, Hong Kong, Sept. 2011.
- [2178] B. Cannelle, D. Craciun, N. Paparoditis, and D. Boldo. Bundle adjustement and pose estimation of images of a multiframe panoramic camera. In 9th Conference on Optical 3-D, Vienna, Austria, July 2009.
- [2179] F. Cao, C.-A. Deledalle, J. M. Nicolas, F. Tupin, L. Denis, L. Ferro-Famil, E. Pottier, and C. Lopez-Martinez. Influence of speckle filtering of polarimetric SAR data on different classification methods. In *IGARSS*, Vancouver, Canada, July 2011.
- [2180] F. Cao, F. Tupin, J. M. Nicolas, R. Fjortoft, and N. Pourthie. Extraction of water surface in simulated Ka-band SAR images of KaRIN on SWOT. In *IGARSS*, Vancouver, Canada, July 2011.
- [2181] D. Cerra and M. Datcu. Algorithmic cross-complexity and relative complexity. In *IEEE DCC'09*, pages 342–351, Snowbird, UT, USA, Mar. 2009. IEEE.
- [2182] D. Cerra and M. Datcu. A similarity measure using smallest context-free grammars. In *IEEE DCC'10*, Utah, USA, Mar. 2010. IEEE.
- [2183] D. Cerra and M. Datcu. Image retrieval using compression-based techniques. In *Proc. of SCC 10*, Siegen, Germany, May 2010. IEEE.
- [2184] F. Chaabane, M. Sellami, J. M. Nicolas, and F. Tupin. INSAR permanent scatterers selection using SAR SVA filtering. In *IGARSS* 2009, Cape Town, Afrique du Sud, July 2009.
- [2185] N. Chenouard, I. Bloch, and J.-C. Olivo-Marin. Particle tracking in fluorescent microscopy images improved by morphological source. In *IEEE International Conference on Image Processing ICIP*, pages 821–824, Cairo, Egypt, 2009.
- [2186] N. Chenouard, I. Bloch, and J.-C. Olivo-Marin. Multiple hypothesis tracking in cluttered condition. In IEEE International Conference on Image Processing ICIP, pages 3621–3624, Cairo, Egypt, 2009.
- [2187] N. Chenouard, I. Bloch, and J.-C. Olivo-Marin. Multiple Hypothesis Tracking in Microscopy Images. In *IEEE International Symposium on Biomedical Imaging (ISBI)*, pages 1346–1349, Boston, USA, June 2009.
- [2188] N. Chenouard, J. Buisson, I. Bloch, P. Bastin, and J.-C. Olivo-Marin. Curvelet analysis of kymograph for tracking bi-directional particles in fluorescence microscopy images. In *IEEE International Conference on Image Processing ICIP*, pages 3657–3660, Hong Kong, Sept. 2010.
- [2189] H. Chu, X. Deng, G.-S. Xia, W. Yang, and H. Sun. Topograhic gray level multiscale analysis and its application to histogram modeification. In *IEEE International Conference on Image Processing (ICIP)*, Hong Kong, Sept. 2010.
- [2190] D. Craciun, N. Paparoditis, and F. J. M. Schmitt. Automatic gigapixel mosaicing in large scale unstructured underground environments. In *IAPR Machine Vision Applications*, Yokohama, Japan, May

- 2009.
- [2191] C. Crassin, F. Neyret, and E. Eisemann. Building with bricks: Cuda-based gigavoxel rendering. In *Visual Computing Research Conference*, Dec. 2009.
- [2192] C. Crassin, F. Neyret, M. Sainz, and S. Green. Interactive indirect illumination using voxel cone tracing: An insight. In *Technical Talk at SIGGRAPH*, 2011.
- [2193] J. de la Plata Alcalde, L. Bibin, J. Anquez, T. Boubekeur, E. D. Angelini, and I. Bloch. Physics-based modeling of the pregnant woman. In *ISBMS*, volume LNCS 5958, pages 71–81, Phoenix, USA, Jan. 2010. Springer.
- [2194] C.-A. Deledalle, L. Denis, and F. Tupin. Débruitage non-local itératif fondé sur un critère de similarité probabiliste. In *GRETSI*, Dijon, 2009.
- [2195] C.-A. Deledalle, J. M. Nicolas, F. Tupin, L. Denis, R. Fallourd, and E. Trouvé. Glacier monitoring: correlation versus texture tracking. In *IGARSS2010*, Honolulu, USA, July 2010.
- [2196] C.-A. Deledalle, F. Tupin, and L. Denis. Poisson NL means: unsupervised non local means for poisson noise. In *ICIP2010*, July 2010.
- [2197] C.-A. Deledalle, F. Tupin, and L. Denis. A non-local approach for SAR and interferometric SAR denoising. In *IGARSS2010*, July 2010.
- [2198] C.-A. Deledalle, F. Tupin, and L. Denis. Polarimetric SAR estimation based on non-local means. In *IGARSS2010*, Honolulu, USA, July 2010.
- [2199] C.-A. Deledalle, J. Salmon, and A. Dalalyan. Image denoising with patch based PCA: local versus global. In *British Machine Vision Conference*, Dundee, Scotland, Aug. 2011.
- [2200] C.-A. Deledalle, F. Tupin, and L. Denis. Patch similarity under non gaussian noise. In *International Conference on Image Processing*, Bruxelles, Sept. 2011.
- [2201] J. Delon, J. Salomon, and A. Sobolevskii. Indicateurs d'appariement locaux pour le transport optimal en coût concave. In *ROADEF 2010*, Toulouse, Feb. 2010.
- [2202] L. Denis, F. Tupin, and X. Rondeau. Exact discrete minimization for tv+l0 image decomposition models. In ICIP 2010, Hong Kong, Sept. 2010.
- [2203] P. Didyk, E. Eisemann, T. Ritschel, K. Myszkowski, and H.-P. Seidel. A question of time: On the importance of high-refresh rate displays. In *Visual Computing Research Conference*, Dec. 2009.
- [2204] P. Didyk, T. Ritschel, E. Eisemann, K. Myszkowski, and H.-P. Seidel. Adaptive image-space stereo view synthesis. In *Vision, Modeling and Visualization*, Dec. 2010.
- [2205] Q. Duan, E. D. Angelini, A. Lorsakul, S. Homma, J. Holmes, and A. F. Laine. Coronary occlusion detection with 4d optical flow based strain estimation on 4D ultrasound. In *Functional Imaging and Modeling of the Heart (FIMH)*, volume 1, pages 211–219, Nice, France, June 2009.
- [2206] Q. Duan, K. Parker, A. Lorsakul, E. Angelini, E. Hyodo, S. Homma, J. Holmes, and A. Laine. Quantitative validation of optical flow based myocardial strain measures using sonomicrometry. In *IEEE International Symposium on Biomedical Imaging (ISBI)*, pages 454–457, June 2009.
- [2207] A. Ducournau, S. Rital, A. Bretto, and B. Laget. A multilevel spectral hypergraph partitioning approach for color image segmentation. In *IEEE International conference on signal and image processing applications*, Kuala Lumpur in Malaysia, Nov. 2009. IEEE Xplore.
- [2208] E. Eisemann, U. Assarsson, M. Schwarz, and M. Wimmer. Casting shadows in real time. In *Course at SIGGRAPH Asia*, 2009.
- [2209] E. Eisemann, U. Assarsson, M. Schwarz, and M. Wimmer. Shadow algorithms for real-time rendering. In *Tutorial Eurographics 2010*, July 2010.
- [2210] M. Eisemann, E. Eisemann, H.-P. Seidel, and M. Magnor. Photo zoom: High resolution from unordered image collections. In *Graphics Interface*, Dec. 2010.
- [2211] M. Eitz, K. Hildebrand, T. Boubekeur, and M. Alexa. A descriptor for large scale image retrieval based on sketched feature lines. In *Eurographics Symposium on Sketch-Based Interfaces and Modeling 2009*, New Orleans (co-located with SIGGRAPH), USA, Aug. 2009.
- [2212] M. Eitz, K. Hildebrand, T. Boubekeur, and M. Alexa. Photosketch: A sketch based image query and compositing system. In *ACM SIGGRAPH 2009 Talk Program*, New Orleans, USA, Aug. 2009.
- [2213] M. Eitz, K. Hildebrand, T. Boubekeur, and M. Alexa. Sketch-based 3D shape retrieval. In ACM SIGGRAPH 2010 - Talk Program, July 2010.
- [2214] R. El-Berbari, I. Bloch, N. Kachenoura, E. Mousseaux, A. Herment, and F. Frouin. Quantification automatisée de la transmuralité de l'infarctus du myocarde sur des images de rehaussement tardif en IRM. In *Journées de Recherche en Imagerie et Technologies de la Santé RITS*, Lille, France, Mar. 2009.
- [2215] R. El-Berbari, N. Kachenoura, F. Frouin, A. Herment, E. Mousseaux, and I. Bloch. An automated quantification of the transmural myocardial infarct extent using cardiac DE-MR images. In *31st An*-

- nual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC'09), pages 4403–4406, Minneapolis, USA, Sept. 2009.
- [2216] D. Espinoza-Molina, G. Schwarz, and M. Datcu. Experience gained with texture modeling and classification of 1 meter resolution SAR images. In SPIE, volume 7477, Berlin, Germany, Aug. 2009. SPIE.
- [2217] K. Falkenstern, N. Bonnier, H. Brettel, M. Pedersen, and F. Viénot. Using image quality metrics to evaluate an icc printer profile. In 18th Color and Imaging Conference (CIC18), volume 18, pages 244–249, San Antonio, Texas, USA, Nov. 2010. Society for Imaging Science and Technology, Springfield, VA 22151 USA. ISBN 978-0-89208-294-0.
- [2218] R. Fallourd, J. M. Nicolas, E. Trouvé, and F. Tupin. La phase en imagerie cohérente : application au suréchantillonnage d'images rso. In *GRETSI*, Dijon, Sept. 2009.
- [2219] R. Fallourd, F. Vernier, Y. Yan, E. Trouvé, P. Bolon, J. M. Nicolas, F. Tupin, O. Harant, M. Gay, G. Vasile, L. Moreau, A. Walpersdorf, and N. Cotte. Alpine glacier 3D displacement derived from ascending and descending TerraSAR-X images on Mont-Blanc test site. In *EUSAR*, Aix la Chapelle, Allemagne, June 2010.
- [2220] M. Ferecatu and H. Sahbi. Multi-view object matching and tracking using canonical correlation analysis. In *IEEE International Conference on Image Processing*, Nov. 2009.
- [2221] G. Ferraioli, A. Shabou, F. Tupin, and V. Pascazio. Fast InSAR multichannel phase unwrapping for DEM generation. In *Joint Urban Remote Sensing Event*, Shanghai-China, May 2009.
- [2222] G. Fouquier, J. Anquez, I. Bloch, C. Falip, and C. Adamsbaum. Subcutaneous adipose tissue segmentation in whole-body MRI of children. In CIARP 2011, volume LNCS 7042, pages 97–104, Chili, Nov. 2011.
- [2223] A. Gademer, B. Petitpas, S. Mobaied, L. Beaudoin, M. Roux, B. Riera, and J.-P. Rudant. Developing a low cost vertical take off and landing unmanned aerial system for centimetric monitoring of biodiversity the Fontainebleau forest case. In *Int. Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium, IGARSS'10*, Hawaï, USA, July 2010.
- [2224] I. Ghorbel, F. Rossant, I. Bloch, M. Pâques, and S. Tick. Segmentation des couches rétiniennes dans des images oct : méthode et évaluation quantitative. In *MajecSTIC 2009*, Avignon, France, Nov. 2009.
- [2225] I. Ghorbel, F. Rossant, I. Bloch, and M. Pâques. Modélisation du parallélisme dans les contours actifs. application à la segmentation d'images oct de la rétine et d'images de fond d'oeil. In GRETSI, Bordeaux, France, Sept. 2011.
- [2226] I. Ghorbel, F. Rossant, I. Bloch, and M. Pâques. Modeling a parallelism constraint in active contours. application to the segmentation of eye vessels and retinal layers. In *ICIP 2011*, pages 453–456, Brussels, Belgium, Sept. 2011.
- [2227] D. Gleich, M. Soccorsi, and M. Datcu. Markov random field model for non-quadratic regularization of complex SAR images. In *International Conference on Space Technology 2009*, Thessaloniki, Greece, Aug. 2009. IEEE.
- [2228] S. Hachicha, C.-A. Deledalle, F. Chaabane, and F. Tupin. Multi-temporal SAR classification according to change detection operators. In *MultiTemp*, Trento, Italy, July 2011.
- [2229] A. Hadjem, E. Conil, J. Anquez, L. Bibin, E. D. Angelini, I. Bloch, and J. Wiart. Analysis of the SAR induced in the fetus at different stages of gestation exposed to plane wave at 900MHz. In Bioelectromagnetics Society (BEMS) Annual Meeting, Seoul, Korea, June 2010.
- [2230] A. Hadjem, E. Conil, J. Anquez, L. Bibin, E. D. Angelini, I. Bloch, and J. Wiart. Analysis of the influence of the pregnant woman model on the whole body SAR of the fetus exposed to plane wave operating at 900MHz. In *European Bioelectromagnetism Association Conference (EBEA 2010)*, Bordeaux, France, May 2010.
- [2231] O. Harant, R. Fallourd, L. Bombrun, M. Gay, E. Trouvé, G. Vasile, and J. M. Nicolas. Preliminary Terrasar-X observations for temperate glaciers on the Chamonix Mont Blanc test site. In *IGARSS* 2009, Cape Town, Afrique du Sud, July 2009.
- [2232] O. Harant, L. Bombrun, G. Vasile, M. Gay, L. Ferro-Famil, R. Fallourd, E. Trouvé, J. M. Nicolas, and F. Tupin. Fisher PDF for Maximum Likelihood Texture Tracking with High Resolution PolSAR Data. In *EUSAR*, Aix la Chapelle, Allemagne, June 2010.
- [2233] R. Herzog, E. Eisemann, K. Myszkowski, and H.-P. Seidel. Spatio-temporal upsampling on the gpu. In *I3D-ACM SIGGRAPH Symposium on Interactive 3D Graphics and Games*, Dec. 2010.
- [2234] G. Hochard, R. Binet, and J. M. Nicolas. Stable coherent area in SAR interferometry. In *IGARSS* 2009, Cape Town, Afrique du Sud, July 2009.
- [2235] M. Holländer and T. Boubekeur. Synthesizing subdivision meshes using real time tessellation. In

- IEEE Pacific Graphics, Sept. 2010.
- [2236] J.-F. Huang, T. Boubekeur, T. Ritschel, M. Holländer, and E. Eisemann. Separable approximation of ambient occlusion. In *Eurographics*, Llandudno / UK, June 2011.
- [2237] C. Hudelot, J. Atif, and I. Bloch. Integrating bipolar fuzzy mathematical morphology in description logics for spatial reasoning. In ECAI 2010, pages 497–502, Lisbon, Portugal, Aug. 2010.
- [2238] M. Kasap, M. Holländer, A. Aksay, P. Kelly, D. Monaghan, C. O'Conaire, N. Magnenat-Thalmann, T. Boubekeur, E. Iziquierdo, and N. E. O'Connor. 3D realistic animation of a tennis player. In Proceedings of ENGAGE Summer School, June 2010.
- [2239] A. Katouzian, E. D. Angelini, and A. F. Laine. Classification of blood regions in IVUS images using three dimensional brushlet expansions. In *International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society*, pages 471–474, Minneapolis, USA, Sept. 2009.
- [2240] A. Katouzian, E. D. Angelini, A. Lorsakul, B. Sturm, and A. F. Laine. Lumen border detection of intravascular ultrasound via denoising of directional wavelet representations. In *Functional Imaging* and *Modeling of the Heart FIMH*, volume 1, pages 104–113, Nice, France, June 2009.
- [2241] A. Katouzian, E. D. Angelini, B. Sturm, and A. F. Laine. Automatic detection of luminal borders in ivus images by magnitude-phase histograms of complex brushlet coefficients. In *International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC'10)*, pages 3073 – 3076, Buenos Aires, Argentina, Sept. 2010.
- [2242] T. Kientega, J. Wiart, E. Conil, A. Hadjem, A. Gati, M.-F. Wong, O. Picon, J. Anquez, and I. Bloch. A statistical assessment to the multiple exposures in a truncated pregnant woman and her fetus and visible human induced by multiple plane waves. In *33rd Annual Meeting of the Bioelectromagnetics Society*, Halifax, Canada, June 2011.
- [2243] O. Klehm, T. Ritschel, E. Eisemann, and H.-P. Seidel. Bent normals and cones in screen-space. In *Vision, Modeling and Visualization*, Oct. 2011.
- [2244] C. Kurz, T. Ritschel, E. Eisemann, T. Thormählen, and H.-P. Seidel. Camera animation style transfer. In *Proc. of CVMP*, London, UK, 2010.
- [2245] Y. Le Montagner, E. D. Angelini, and J.-C. Olivo-Marin. étude comparative d'algorithmes rapides de reconstruction d'image adaptés pour le compressed sensing. In 23e colloque GRETSI, Bordeaux, France, Sept. 2011.
- [2246] Y. Le Montagner, E. D. Angelini, and J.-C. Olivo-Marin. Comparison of reconstruction algorithms in compressed sensing applied to biological imaging. In *International Symposium on Biomedical Imaging (ISBI)*, pages 105–108, Chicago, USA, Mar. 2011. IEEE.
- [2247] Y. Le Montagner, M. Marim, E. D. Angelini, and J.-C. Olivo-Marin. Numerical evaluation of sampling bounds for near-optimal reconstruction in compressed sensing. In *IEEE International Conference* on *Image Processing (ICIP)*, pages 3134–3137, Bruxelles, Belgium, Sept. 2011. IEEE.
- [2248] D. Lesage, E. Angelini, I. Bloch, and G. Funka-Lea. Design and Study of Flux-based Features for 3D Vascular Tracking. In *IEEE International Symposium on Biomedical Imaging (ISBI)*, pages 286–289, Boston, USA, June 2009.
- [2249] D. Lesage, E. D. Angelini, G. Funka-Lea, and I. Bloch. Bayesian maximal paths for coronary artery. In *MICCAI*, volume LNCS 5761, pages 222–229, London, UK, Sept. 2009.
- [2250] X. Li and H. Sahbi. Superpixel-based object class segmentation using conditional random fields. In *ICASSP*, May 2011.
- [2251] A. Lindner, N. Bonnier, C. Leynadier, and F. Schmitt. Measurement of printer mtfs. In *Electronic Imaging, San Jose, United States Of America*, volume 7242, San Jose, California, USA, Jan. 2009.
- [2252] K. Loquin, I. Bloch, K. Nakashima, F. Rossant, and M. Pâques. Photoreceptor detection in in-vivo adaptive optics images of the retina: towards a simple interactive tool for the physicians. In *IEEE International Symposium on Biomedical Imaging (ISBI)*, pages 191–194, Chicago, IL, USA, Mar. 2011.
- [2253] C. Mallet, F. Lafarge, F. Bretar, M. Roux, U. Soergel, and C. Heipke. A stochastic approach for modelling airborne lidar waveforms. In *Object Extraction for 3D City Models, Road Databases and Traffic Monitoring - Concepts, Algorithms and Evaluation (CMRT 2009)*, volume 38 (Part 3/W8), pages 201–206, Paris, Sept. 2009. International Archives of Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences.
- [2254] M. Marim, E. Angelini, and J.-C. Olivo-Marin. A compressed sensing approach for biological microscopic image processing. In *IEEE International Symposium on Biomedical Imaging (ISBI)*, pages 1374–1377, Boston, USA, June 2009.
- [2255] M. Marim, E. D. Angelini, and J.-C. Olivo-Marin. Compressed sensing in microscopy with random projections in the fourier domain. In *IEEE International Conference on Image Processing (ICIP)*,

- pages 2121-2124, Cairo, Egypt, Nov. 2009.
- [2256] M. Marim, E. D. Angelini, and J.-C. Olivo-Marin. Compressed sensing in biological microscopy. In SPIE International Symposium, Wavelets XIII., volume 7446, San Diego, CA, USA, Aug. 2009.
- [2257] M. Marim, E. D. Angelini, and J.-C. Olivo-Marin. Denoising in fluorescence microscopy using compressed sensing with multiple reconstructions and non-local merging. In *International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC'10)*, pages 3394 3397, Buenos Aires, Argentina, Sept. 2010. IEEE.
- [2258] M. Marim, M. Atlan, E. D. Angelini, and J.-C. Olivo-Marin. Compressed sensing for digital holographic microscopy. In *International Symposium on Biomedical Imaging (ISBI)*, pages 684–687, Rotterdam, The Netherlands, Apr. 2010. IEEE.
- [2259] M. Marim, M. Atlan, E. D. Angelini, and J.-C. Olivo-Marin. Compressed sensing applications for biological microscopy. In *IEEE Workshop on Signal Processing Systems (SIPS)*, pages 216 – 221, San Francisco, USA, Oct. 2010.
- [2260] D. Martinez, I. Bloch, and J. T. Hernandez. Assessing the Variability of Internal Brain Structures Using PCA on Sampled Surface Points. In *International Conference on Computer Vision Theory and Applications VISAPP 2009*, volume 2, pages 172–179, Lisbon, Portugal, Feb. 2009.
- [2261] N. Milisavljevic, D. Closson, and I. Bloch. Detecting potential human activities using coherent change detection. In *IEEE Image Processing Theory, Tools and Applications, IPTA'10*, pages 482–485, Paris. France, July 2010.
- [2262] N. Milisavljevic, D. Closson, and I. Bloch. Detecting human-induced scene changes using coherent change detection in SAR images. In *ISPRS Commission VII Symposium*, volume XXXVIII-7B, pages 389–394, Vienna, Austria, July 2010.
- [2263] L. Moreau, A. Polti, J.-L. Danger, J. M. Nicolas, R. Fallourd, and E. Trouvé. De la roue au radar : quelques innovations en métrologie glaciaire. In *Cinquième Colloque Interdisciplinaire en Instru*mentation, le mans, France, Jan. 2010.
- [2264] T. Napoléon and H. Sahbi. Content-based 3D object retrieval using 2D views. In IEEE International Conference on Image Processing, Nov. 2009.
- [2265] T. Napoléon and H. Sahbi. Sketch-driven mental 3D object retrieval. In *The IS&T/SPIE Electronic Imaging Conference, "3D Image Processing (3DIP) and Applications"*, Jan. 2010.
- [2266] G. Palma, I. Bloch, S. Muller, and R. Iordache. Fuzzifying Images using Fuzzy Wavelet Denoising. In IEEE International Conference on Fuzzy Systems FUZZ-IEEE'09, pages 135–140, Jeju, Korea, 2009.
- [2267] G. Palma, S. Muller, I. Bloch, and R. Iordache. Fast Detection of Convergence Areas in Digital Breast Tomosynthesis. In *IEEE International Symposium on Biomedical Imaging (ISBI)*, pages 847–850, Boston, USA, June 2009.
- [2268] G. Palma, S. Muller, I. Bloch, and R. Iordache. Convergence Areas Detection in Digital Breast Tomosynthesis Volumes using a Contrario Modeling. In SPIE Symposium on Medical Imaging: Computer-Aided Diagnosis, Lake Buena Vista, FL, USA, Feb. 2009.
- [2269] G. Palma, I. Bloch, and S. Muller. Spiculated lesions and architectural distortions detection in digital breast tomosynthesis datasets. In *International Workshop on Digital Mammography (IWDM 2010)*, volume LNCS 6136, pages 712–719, Girona, Spain, June 2010.
- [2270] T. Perciano, F. Tupin, R. Hirata, and R. M. Cesar Junior. A hierarchical Markov random field for road network extraction and its application with optical and SAR data. In *IGARSS*, Vancouver, Canada, July 2011.
- [2271] X. Perrotton, M. Sturzel, and M. Roux. Mining families of features for efficient object detection. In 16th IEEE Int. Conf. on Image Processing (ICIP), pages 857–860, Cairo, Egypt, Nov. 2009.
- [2272] B. Petitpas, L. Beaudoin, M. Roux, and J.-P. Rudant. Roughness measurement from multi-stereo reconstruction. In ISPRS Commission III Symposium on Photogrammetry Computer Vision and Image Analysis, Paris, France, Sept. 2010.
- [2273] G. Pizaine, E. D. Angelini, I. Bloch, and S. Makram-Ebeid. Vessel geometry modeling and segmentation using convolution surfaces and an implicit medial axis. In *IEEE International Symposium on Biomedical Imaging (ISBI)*, pages 1421–1424, Chicago, IL, USA, Mar. 2011.
- [2274] G. Pizaine, E. D. Angelini, I. Bloch, and S. Makram-Ebeid. Implicit medial representation for vessel segmentation,. In SPIE Medical Imaging, volume SPIE 7962, Orlando, FL, USA, Feb. 2011.
- [2275] J. Rabin, J. Delon, and Y. Gousseau. MAC-RANSAC: a robust algorithm for the recognition of multiple objects. In 3DPVT 2010, Paris, May 2010.
- [2276] J. Rabin, J. Delon, and Y. Gousseau. Regularization of transportation maps for color and contrast transfer. In *International Conference on Image Processing (ICIP) 2010*, pages 1933 1936, Hong-

- Kong, Sept. 2010.
- [2277] J. Rabin, J. Delon, and Y. Gousseau. Mac-Ransac : reconnaissance automatique d'objets multiples. In RFIA 2010, Caen, France, Jan. 2010.
- [2278] J. Rabin, G. Peyré, J. Delon, and M. Bernot. Wasserstein barycenter and its application to texture mixing. In SSVM'11, Israel, Oct. 2011.
- [2279] C. K. Reinbothe, T. Boubekeur, and M. Alexa. Hybrid ambient occlusion. In *Eurographics 2009 Areas Papers*, pages 51–57, Munich, Germany, Apr. 2009.
- [2280] S. Réjichi, F. Chaabane, F. Tupin, and I. Bloch. Morphological filtering of SAR interferometric images. In *IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium (IGARSS 2010)*, pages 1581–1584, Honolulu, Hawai, USA, July 2010.
- [2281] F. Rossant, I. Ghorbel, I. Bloch, M. Pâques, and S. Tick. Segmentation des images oct de la rétine pour l'étude quantitative de la variabilité rétinienne. In *GRETSI*, Dijon, France, Sept. 2009.
- [2282] F. Rossant, I. Ghorbel, I. Bloch, M. Pâques, and S. Tick. Automated Segmentation of Retinal Layers in OCT Imaging and Derived Ophtalmic Measures. In *IEEE International Symposium on Biomedical Imaging (ISBI)*, pages 1370–1373, Boston, USA, June 2009.
- [2283] Y. Rouchdy and I. Bloch. A chance-constrained programming level set method for longitudinal segmentation of lung tumors in CT. In *33rd Annual International Conference of the IEEE EMBS (EMBC 2011)*, pages 3407–3410, Boston, USA, Sept. 2011.
- [2284] H. Sahbi and J.-Y. Audibert. Network dependent kernels for image ranking. In *In IEEE international conference on image processing*, Sept. 2010.
- [2285] H. Sahbi and X. Li. Context based support vector machines for interconnected image annotation ("the saburo tsuji" best regular paper award). In In the Asian Conference on Computer Vision (ACCV), Nov. 2010.
- [2286] H. Sahbi and X. Li. Context dependent syms for interconnected image network annotation. In ACM Multimedia Conference, Oct. 2010.
- [2287] L. Schemali, J.-M. Thiery, and T. Boubekeur. Déformation 3D intercative par lignes caractéristiques. In AFIG, Oct. 2011.
- [2288] D. Scherzer, L. Yang, O. Mattausch, D. Nehab, P. V. Sander, M. Wimmer, and E. Eisemann. A survey on temporal coherence methods in real-time rendering. In *In State of the Art Reports Eurographics*, 2011.
- [2289] A. Shabou, J. Darbon, and F. Tupin. A graph-cut based algorithm for approximate MRF optimization. In *ICIP*, Nov. 2009.
- [2290] A. Shabou, G. Ferraioli, F. Tupin, and V. Pascazio. Three dimensional reconstruction of urban areas using jointly phase and amplitude multichannel images. In *IGARSS*, Dec. 2010.
- [2291] H. Sportouche and F. Tupin. A Processing Chain for Simple 3D Reconstruction of Buildings in Urban Scenes from High Resolution Optical and SAR Images. In EUSAR - 2010, Aachen, GERMANY, June 2010.
- [2292] H. Sportouche, F. Tupin, and L. Denise. Building Detection by Fusion of Optical and SAR Features in Metric Resolution Data. In *IGARSS 2009*, Cap Town, SOUTH AFRICA, July 2009.
- [2293] H. Sportouche, F. Tupin, and L. Denise. Building Extraction and 3D Reconstruction in Urban Areas from High-Resolution Optical and SAR Imagery. In URBAN - 2009 - IEEE GRSS / ISPRS Joint Workshop on Data Fusion And Remote Sensing over Urban Areas, Shanghai, CHINA, May 2009.
- [2294] H. Sportouche, F. Tupin, and L. Denise. Building Detection and Height Retrieval in Urban Areas in the Framework of High Resolution Optical and SAR Data Fusion. In *IGARSS 2010*, Honolulu, Hawaii, USA, July 2010.
- [2295] H. Sportouche, F. Tupin, and L. Denise. A Symmetric Scheme for 3D Building Reconstruction from a Couple of HR Optical and SAR Data. In *URBAN 2011 IEEE GRSS / ISPRS Joint Workshop on Data Fusion And Remote Sensing over Urban Areas*, Munich, GERMANY, Apr. 2011.
- [2296] T. Tanzi and F. Lefeuvre. Apport des radio-sciences à la gestion des catastrophes. In *journées Scientifiques 2009 d'URSI-France, Propagation et Télédétection*, page 28, Paris France, June 2009.
- [2297] K. Templin, P. Didyk, T. Ritschel, E. Eisemann, K. Myszkowski, and H.-P. Seidel. Apparent resolution enhancement for animations. In *Proc. of the 27th Spring Conference on Computer Graphics*, pages 85–92, 2011.
- [2298] M. Tepper, F. Gómez Agis, P. Musé, A. Almansa, and M. Mejail. Morphological shape context: Semi-locality and robust matching in shape recognition. In 14th Iberoamerican Congress on Pattern Recognition (CIARP 2009), volume 5856, pages 129–136, Guadalajara, Mexico, Nov. 2009.
- [2299] J.-M. Thiery, T. Boubekeur, and B. Buchholz. Curve skeleton from topological disks & cylinders decomposition. In ACM SIGGRAPH/Eurographics Symposium on Geometry Processing 2010 -

- Poster Session., June 2010.
- [2300] C. Vanegas, I. Bloch, H. Maître, and J. Inglada. Approximate Parallelism Between Fuzzy Objects: Some Definitions. In *International Workshop on Fuzzy Logic and Applications WILF*, volume LNAI 5571, pages 12–19, Palermo, Italy, June 2009.
- [2301] M.-C. Vanegas, I. Bloch, H. Maître, and J. Inglada. Fuzzy Spatial Relations for High Resolution Rmote Sensing Image Analysis: The Case of "To Go Across". In *IEEE IGARSS 2009*, volume IV, pages 773–776, Cape Town, July 2009.
- [2302] M.-C. Vanegas, I. Bloch, and J. Inglada. Detection of aligned objects for high resolution image understanding. In *IEEE International Geoscience and Remote Sensing Symposium (IGARSS 2010)*, pages 464–467, Honolulu, Hawai, USA, July 2010.
- [2303] M.-C. Vanegas, I. Bloch, and J. Inglada. Searching aligned groups of objects with fuzzy criteria. In *IPMU 2010*, volume LNAI 6178, pages 605–613, Dortmund, Germany, June 2010.
- [2304] M.-C. Vanegas, I. Bloch, and J. Inglada. A fuzzy definition of the spatial relation "surround" Application to complex shapes. In EUSFLAT-LFA, pages 844–851, Aix-les-Bains, France, July 2011.
- [2305] G. Vialaneix and T. Boubekeur. Sbl mesh filter: A fast approximation of bilateral mesh filtering. In Vision, Modeling and Visualization (VMV) 2011, Berlin, Sept. 2011.
- [2306] G. Vialaneix and T. Boubekeur. A fast separable approximation of bilateral mesh filtering. In ACM SIGGRAPH 2011 Talk Program, Vancouver, Aug. 2011.
- [2307] J. Wiart, S. Watanabe, I. Bloch, J. Anquez, J. de la Plata Alcalde, E. D. Angelini, T. Boubekeur, N. Faraj, and et al. Exposure to fetus to RF. Preliminary results assessed with different realistic 3D numerical models. In 33rd Annual Meeting of the Bioelectromagnetics Society, Halifax, Canada, June 2011.
- [2308] N. Widynski, S. Dubuisson, and I. Bloch. Intégration de relations spatiales floues dans un filtre particulaire pour le suivi d'objets. In *GRETSI*, Dijon, France, Sept. 2009.
- [2309] N. Widynski, S. Dubuisson, and I. Bloch. Particle filtering with fuzzy spatial relations for object tracking. In *IEEE Image Processing Theory, Tools and Applications, IPTA'10*, pages 391–396, Paris, France, July 2010.
- [2310] N. Widynski, S. Dubuisson, and I. Bloch. Introducing fuzzy spatial constraints in a ranked partitioned sampling for multi-object tracking. In *6th International Symposium on Visual Computing (ISVC'10)*, volume LNCS 6453, pages 393–404, Las Vegas, Nevada, USA, Nov. 2010.
- [2311] N. Widynski, S. Dubuisson, and I. Bloch. Intégration d'informations spatiales floues dans le filtre particulaire : application au suivi de formes. In *RFIA*, pages 591–598, Caen, France, Jan. 2010.
- [2312] N. Widynski, E. Aldea, S. Dubuisson, and I. Bloch. Object tracking based on particle filtering with multiple appearance models. In *VISAPP*, pages 604–609, Algarve, Portugal, Mar. 2011.
- [2313] J. Wojak, E. D. Angelini, and I. Bloch. Joint variational segmentation of CT-PET data for tumoral lesions. In *IEEE International Symposium on Biomedical Imaging (ISBI)*, pages 217–220, Rotterdam, Netherlands, Apr. 2010.
- [2314] J. Wojak, E. D. Angelini, and I. Bloch. Segmentation multimodale de tumeurs pulmonaires et de ganglions lymphatiques par une méthode variationnelle. In *RFIA*, pages 199–205, Caen, France, Jan. 2010.
- [2315] J. Wojak, E. D. Angelini, and I. Bloch. Introducing shape constraint via Legendre moments in a variational framework for cardiac segmentation on non-contrast CT images. In VISAPP, pages 209– 214, Angers, France, May 2010.
- [2316] G.-S. Xia and F. Yuan. Texture segmentation by grouping ellipse ensembles via active contours. In *British Machine Vision Conference (BMVC)*, Dundee, Scotland, Aug. 2011.
- [2317] G.-S. Xia, W. Yang, J. Delon, and Y. Gousseau. Structural high-resolution satellite image indexing. In Symposium: 100 Years ISPRS - Advancing Remote Sensing Science, Vienna, Austria, May 2010.
- [2318] Y. Yan, P. Lopez Quiroz, M. P. Doin, F. Tupin, and B. Fruneau. Comparaison of two methods in multi-temporal differential SAR interferometry:. In *Multi-Temp*, Groton, Connecticut, USA, July 2009.
- [2319] W. Yang, B. Tiggs, D.-X. Dai, and G.-S. Xia. Fast semantic scene segmentation with conditional random field. In *IEEE Int. Conf. on Image Processing (ICIP)*, Hong Kong, Sept. 2010.
- [2320] F. Yuan, H. Sahbi, and V. Prinet. Spatio-temporal context kernel for activity recognition. In ACPR, Nov. 2011.
- [2321] A. Zureiki and M. Roux. Ortho-rectified facade image by fusion of 3D laser data and optical images. In *Laserscanning09*, volume XXXVIII, pages 305–310, Paris, France, Sept. 2009.

15.3.5 OS: Books and Book Chapters

- [2322] E. Aldea and I. Bloch. Toward a better integration of spatial relations in learning with graphical models. In G. R. H. Briand, F. Guillet and D. Zighed, editors, *Advances in Knowledge Discovery and Management*, pages 77–94. Springer, 2010.
- [2323] E. D. Angelini and O. Gerard. Imagerie cardiaque ultrasonore dynamique. In Imagerie dynamique cardiaque et thoracique (Traité Information et Science du Vivant, IC2), chapter 5. Hermes, 2011.
- [2324] I. Bloch. Bipolar Fuzzy Spatial Information: Geometry, Morphology, Spatial Reasoning. In *Methods for Handling Imperfect Spatial Information (Robert Jeansoulin, Odile Papini, Henri Prade, Steven Schockaert, Eds.)*, pages 75–102. Springer, 2010.
- [2325] I. Bloch. Fuzzy sets and mathematical morphology. In Mathematical Morphology (H. Talbot and L. Najman, Eds.), chapter 6, pages 155–176. ISTE Ltd, 2010.
- [2326] I. Bloch. Knowledge-driven recognition and segmentation of internal brain structures in 3D MRI. In *Computional Surgery and Dual Training (M. Garbey, B. Lee Bass, C. Collet, M. de Mathelin, and R. Tran-Son-Tay, Eds)*, pages 75–90. Springer, 2010.
- [2327] I. Bloch. Bipolar Fuzzy Spatial Information: First Operations in the Mathematical Morphology Setting. In R. K. De, D. P. Mandal, and A. Ghosh, editors, *Machine Interpretation of Patterns: Image Analysis and Data Mining*, chapter 5, pages 91–112. World Scientific Press, 2010.
- [2328] I. Bloch. Ensembles flous et morphologie mathématique. In *Morphologie Mathématique 2 (L. Najman and H. Talbot ed.)*, chapter 3, pages 67–90. Hermès-Lavoisier, Paris, France, 2010.
- [2329] I. Bloch. Fuzzy methods in medical imaging. In *The Handbook of Biomedical Image Analysis (N. Ayache, J. Duncan and N. Paragios Eds.)*. Springer, 2010.
- [2330] T. Boubekeur. As-simple-as possible tessellation for interactive applications. In GPU Pro Advanced Rendering Techniques. AK Peters, 2010.
- [2331] M. Campedel and P. Hoogstoël. Sémantique et multimodalité en analyse de l'information. Hermes Lavoisier, Paris, France, 2011.
- [2332] C. Crassin, F. Neyret, M. Sainz, and E. Eisemann. Efficient rendering of highly detailed volumetric scenes with gigavoxels. In *GPU Pro*, chapter X.3, pages 643–676. AK Peters, 2011.
- [2333] J. Delon and A. Almansa. Reconstruction stéréo en imagerie satellitaire ou aérienne. In *Problèmes inverses en imagerie et en vision*, chapter 12, pages 425–451. Hermès Science Lavoisier, 11 rue Lavoisier, 75008 Paris, France, 2009.
- [2334] E. Eisemann, M. Schwarz, U. Assarsson, and M. Wimmer. Real-time Shadows. AK Peters (CRC Press), USA, 1 edition, 2011.
- [2335] S. Essid, M. Campedel, G. Richard, T. Piatrik, R. Benmokhtar, and B. Huet. Machine learning techniques for multimedia analysis. In *Multimedia Semantics: Metadata, Analysis and Interaction*, chapter 5. Wiley, 2011.
- [2336] I. M. Gomez Munoz and M. Datcu. Image information mining systems. In Geoscience and Remote Sensing. INTECH, 2010.
- [2337] S. Lefebvre, F. Neyret, C. Crassin, and E. Eisemann. Special effects using gigavoxels. In *GPU Pro 2*. AK Peters, 2010.
- [2338] N. Milisavljevic and I. Bloch. Possibilistic and fuzzy multi-sensor fusion for humanitarian mine action. In G. Jedlovec, editor, Advances in Geoscience and Remote Sensing, chapter 23, pages 491–504. InTech Croatia, 2009.
- [2339] N. Milisavljevic and I. Bloch. Why is information fusion useful for mined area reduction? In S. Yokota and D. Chugo, editors, *Introduction to Modern Robotics*. iConcept Press, 2011.
- [2340] N. Milisavljevic, I. Bloch, V. Alberga, and G. Satalino. Three strategies for fusion of land cover classification results of polarimetric SAR data. In Sensor and Data Fusion (N. Milisavljevic Ed.), chapter 16, pages 277–298. InTech, Croatia, 2009.
- [2341] V. Pascucci, X. Tricoche, H. Hagen, and J. Tierny. Topological Methods in Data Analysis and Visualization. Springer, 2010.
- [2342] T. Tanzi and P. Perrot. Télécoms et ingénierie des risques. Collection Technique et Scientifique des Télécoms, Paris - France, 2009.
- [2343] F. Tupin. Fusion of optical and sar observations. In *Multivariate Image Processing*, chapter chapitre 2, pages 39–51. ISTE Wiley, 2010.
- [2344] F. Tupin. Fusion of optical and sar images. In Radar Remote Sensing of Urban Areas, chapter 6, pages 133–157. Springer, 2010.
- [2345] F. Tupin and C. Tison. Estimation of urban dsm from mono-aspect insar images. In Radar Remote Sensing of Urban Areas, chapter 7, pages 161–184. Springer, 2010.
- [2346] F. Viénot and H. Brettel. Noirs métamères et blancs métamères. In Ecole thématique interdisci-

CHAPTER 15. IMAGE PROCESSING AND UNDERSTANDING (TII) 15.3. REFERENCES

plinaire du CNRS "Le noir et le blanc ", pages 89–98. Okhra, Roussillon, 2011.





